Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)

Paleornithological Research 2013





Proceedings of the 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceedings of the 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution, Vienna, 2012

URSULA B. GÖHLICH & ANDREAS KROH (EDS)



Naturhistorisches Museum Wien 2013

Imprint

Publisher: Naturhistorisches Museum Wien Contact: Andreas Kroh Naturhistorisches Museum Wien Burgring 7, 1010 Wien, Österreich (Austria) Tel.: +43 (1) 521 77 / 576 Fax: +43 (1) 521 77 / 459 e-mail: andreas.kroh@nhm-wien.ac.at

10 December 2013

ISBN 978-3-902421-82-1

© 2013 Naturhistorisches Museum Wien All rights reserved.

Layout by Andreas Kroh Cover design by Josef Muhsil Printed by Holzhausen Druck GmbH

Cover: A skeleton and reconstruction of a Dodo (*Raphus cucullatus* LINNAEUS, 1758), a flightless bird from Mauritius Island, which went extinct in historic times. This skeleton on display in the Natural History Museum of Vienna, is one of few preserved examples of this species. Photograph by Josef Muhsil (Vienna).



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Paleornithological Research 2013: Proceedings of the 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution, Vienna, 2012

URSULA B. GÖHLICH & ANDREAS KROH (EDS)

Natural History Museum Vienna, Department of Geology & Palaeontology, Vienna, Austria

Dedicated to Cécile Mourer-Chauviré

Table of contents

- vii Preface
- ix Group photograph
- xi Cécile Mourer-Chauviré life and works URSULA B. GÖHLICH
- 1 **A new taxon of stem group Galliformes and the earliest record for stem group Cuculidae from the Eocene of Djebel Chambi, Tunisia** CÉCILE MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, RODOLPHE TABUCE, EL MABROUK ESSID, LAURENT MARIVAUX, HAYET KHAYATI, MONIQUE VIANEY-LIAUD, MUSTAPHA BEN HAJ ALI
- 17 **The tarsometatarsus of the Middle Eocene loon** *Colymbiculus udovichenkoi* GERALD MAYR, LEONID GOROBETS, EVGENIJ ZVONOK
- 23 Galliformes, Upupiformes, Trogoniformes, and other avian remains (?Phaethontiformes and ?Threskiornithidae) from the Rupelian stratotype in Belgium, with comments on the identity of "*Anas*" *benedeni* Sharpe, 1899 GERALD MAYR, THIERRY SMITH
- 37 A review of avian remains from the Oligocene of the Outer Carpathians and Central Paleogene Basin ZBIGNIEW M. BOCHENSKI, TERESA TOMEK, EWA SWIDNICKA
- 43 A fossil stone-curlew (Aves: Burhinidae) from the Late Oligocene/Early Miocene of South Australia WALTER E. BOLES, MELANIE A. FINCH, RENE H. HOFHEINS, PATRICIA VICKERS-RICH, MARY WALTERS, THOMAS H. RICH

- 63 **Miocene fossils show that kiwi (***Apteryx***, Apterygidae) are probably not phyletic dwarves** TREVOR H. WORTHY, JENNIFER P. WORTHY, ALAN J. D. TENNYSON, STEVEN W. SALISBURY, SUZANNE J. HAND, R. PAUL SCOFIELD
- 81 **A new roller (Aves: Coraciiformes s. s.: Coraciidae) from the early Miocene of the Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area, Allier, France** CÉCILE MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, JEAN-BAPTISTE PEYROUSE, MARGUERITE HUGUENEY
- 93 **A** *Haematopus*-like skull and other remains of Charadrii (Aves, Charadriiformes) from the Early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France) VANESA L. DE PIETRI, MARCEL GÜNTERT, GERALD MAYR
- 103 A new barn owl (Aves: Strigiformes: Tytonidae) from the Middle Miocene of the Nördlinger Ries (Germany) with remarks on the history of the owls URSULA B. GÖHLICH, PETER BALLMANN
- 123 Who discovered the Phorusrhacidae? An episode in the history of avian palaeontology ERIC BUFFETAUT
- 135 **The Early Pliocene avifauna of Langebaanweg (South Africa): a review and update** ALBRECHT MANEGOLD, ANTOINE LOUCHART, JULIE CARRIER, ANDRZEJ ELZANOWSKI
- 153 New finds and revised taxa of Early Pliocene birds from Western Mongolia NIKITA V. ZELENKOV
- 171 Early Pleistocene fossil birds from Cava Sud, Soave (Verona, North-Eastern Italy) MARCO PAVIA, CLAUDIA BEDETTI
- 185 **Revisiting** *Asio priscus*, the extinct eared owl of the California Channel Islands KENNETH E. CAMPBELL, JR.
- 195 **A synopsis of the pre-human avifauna of the Mascarene Islands** JULIAN P. HUME
- 239 Holocene fossil bird remains from subantarctic Macquarie Island ALAN J.D. TENNYSON, R. PAUL SCOFIELD
- 253 Notes on Pelvic and Hindlimb Myology and Syndesmology of *Emeus crassus* and *Dinornis robustus* (Aves: Dinornithiformes) ANDREI V. ZINOVIEV
- 279 **Ontogenetic change of morphology and surface texture of long bones in the Gray Heron** (*Ardea cinerea*, Ardeidae) JUNYA WATANABE, HIROSHIGE MATSUOKA



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Paleornithological Research 2013 — Preface

URSULA B. GÖHLICH & ANDREAS KROH

Naturhistorisches Museum Wien, Vienna, Austria

The "8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution" took place from 11th to 16th June 2012 at the Natural History Museum Vienna, Austria, and was organised and hosted by Ursula Göhlich (NHMW, Vienna). Fifty-two participants from 19 countries attended the quadrennial meeting and presented 40 oral talks and 10 posters covering a wide range of topics in paleornithology. The abstract and programme volume of the meeting is available as pdf on the SAPE homepage.

The SAPE meeting 2012 and the present proceedings volume are dedicated to Cécile MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, in order to honor her outstanding paleornithological contributions and her long-lasting, active commitment for the Society. A special tribute session was performed by the former president Per ERICSON (NRM, Stockholm), Ursula Göhlich, and Kenneth CAMPBELL (LACM, Los Angeles), who held a laudation.

LI Ping, Olivier MARIDET, and Thomas NEUBAUER (all NHMW) acted as organisation-assistants during the meeting and Hilde ADAMEK (NHMW) took care of the coffee breaks. Peter SZIEMER (NHMW) kindly acted as guide for an early morning bird watching tour through the Park of the Imperial Schönbrunn Palace and guided one of the tours through the exhibition of the NHMW. Anita GAMAUF (NHMW) received several participants of the meeting in the ornithological collection. Martin RIESING (Vienna) co-guided an ornithological excursion to the National Park Lake Neusiedl-Seewinkel and to Marchegg in the National Park March-Zaya-flood plains. Mathias HARZHAUSER, Director of the Department for Geology and Paleontology, and several colleagues of the department assisted in the organization of the welcome reception.

Christian Köberl, Director General and CEO of the NHMW, and Herbert KRITSCHER, Vice Director and CFO of the NHMW, are thanked for the possibility to hold the meeting at the Natural History Museum Vienna and for funding of this volume.

The editors gratefully acknowledge the effort by the reviewers Federico Agnolin (Argentina, Buenos Aires), Peter Ballmann (Germany, Cologne), Zbigniew Bocheński (Poland, Kraków), Zlatozar Boev (Bulgaria, Sofia), Walter Boles (Australia, Sydney), David Burney (Kalahao, Hawai), Kenneth Campbell (USA, Los Angeles), Adrian Casinos Pardos (Spain, Barcelona), Luis Chiappe (USA, Los Angeles), Joanne Cooper (United Kingdom, Tring), Pietri, De Vanesa (Germany, Frankfurt), Andrzej Elzanowski (Poland, Warsaw), Růžena Gregorovà (Czechia, Brno), Antoine Louchart (France, Lyon), Gerald Mayr (Germany, Frankfurt), Hanneke J. M. Meijer (USA, Washington), Colin Miskelly, (New Zealand, Wellington), Cécile Mourer-Chauviré (France, Lyon), Jorge Noriega (Argentina, Diamante), Marco Pavia (Italy, Turino), Adam Smith (USA, Durham), Claudia Tambussi (Argentina, Buenos Aires), Alan Tennyson (New Zealand, Wellington), Allison Tumarkin-Deratz-Ian (USA, Philadelphia), Trevor Worthy (Australia, Adelaide), Nikita Zelenkov (Russia, Moscow), Andrei V. Zinoviev (Russia, Tver), and numerous anonymous colleagues.

All articles of this peer-reviewed volume are freely available as pdfs via the NHMW hompepage.





FIGURE 1. Participants of the 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution, held 11th-16th June 2012 at the Natural History Museum in Vienna (Photo: A. SCHUMACHER, NHMW)

SAPE Proceedings 2013

Participants of the 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution, held 11th-16th June 2012 at the Natural History Museum in Vienna

1 ELZANOWSKI Andrzej (Poland, Warsaw) 2 MANEGOLD Albrecht (Germany, Frankfurt) 3 PAVIA Marco (Italy, Turino) 4 Scofield Paul (New Zealand, Christchurch) 5 HUME Julian (United Kingdom, Tring) 6 VAN TUINEN Marcel (USA, Wilmington) 7 COOPER Joanne (United Kingdom, Tring) 8 ZELENKOV Nikita (Russia, Moscow) 9 ATTERHOLT Jessie (USA, Albany) 10 HAARHOFF Philippa (South Africa, Langebaanweg) 11 MICHAILIDIS Dimitrios (Greece, Athens) 12 WALSH Stig (United Kingdom, Edinburgh) 13 TYRBERG Tommy (Sweden, Kimstad) 14 SERRANO-ALARCÓN Francisco J. (Spain) 15 WANG Min (China, Beijing) 16 WATANABE Junya (Japan, Kyoto) 17 CAMPBELL Kenneth (USA, Los Angeles) 18 MARIDET Olivier (Austria, Vienna) 19 TORRES Chris (USA, Wilmington) 20 ZINOVIEV Andrei V. (Russia, Tver) 21 BOCHEŃSKI Zbigniew (Poland, Kraków) 22 WALSH Maureen (USA, Los Angeles) 23 MARJANOVIĆ David (Germany, Berlin) 24 PANDIT Meelyn (USA, Noblesville) 25 WORTHY Jennifer (Australia, Adelaide) 26 WORTHY Trevor (Australia, Adelaide) 27 CHIAPPE Luis (USA, Los Angeles) 28 TENNYSON Alan (New Zealand, Wellington) 29 Hu Dongyu (China, Schenyang)

- 30 O'CONNOR Jingmai (China, Beijing) 31 DE PIETRI, Vanesa (Germany, Frankfurt) 32 CANOVILLE Aurore (South Africa, Cape Town) 33 MEIJER Hanneke J.M. (USA, Washington) 34 MAYR Gerald (Germany, Frankfurt) 35 SMITH Adam (USA, Durham) 36 ERICSON Per (Sweden, Stockholm) 37 KAISER Gary (Canada, Victoria) 38 KESSLER Eugen (Hungary, Szigetszentmiklós) 39 ANGST Delphine (France, Lyon) 40 BUFFETAUT Eric (France, Paris) 41 Göhlich Ursula (Austria, Vienna) 42 MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ Cécile (France, Lyon) 43 BOURDON Estelle (France, Paris) 44 NGUYEN Jacqueline (Australia, Sydney) 45 CHINSAMY-TURAN Anusuya (South Africa, Cape Town) 46 LI Ping (Austria, Vienna) 47 SHUTE Elen (Australia, Adelaide). Registrants not shown:
- GAMAUF Anita (Austria, Vienna) GREGOROVÁ Růžena (Czechia, Brno) GOEDERT James (USA, Wauna) SZIEMER Peter (Austria, Vienna) ZHOU Shuang (China, Beijing) NEUBAUER Thomas (Austria, Vienna).



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Cécile Mourer-Chauviré Life and works

URSULA B. GÖHLICH

Naturhistorisches Museum Wien, Vienna, Austria; E-mail: ursula.goehlich@nhm-wien.ac.at

When meeting Cécile MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ for the first time, one might get the impression that she is a very shy and diffident person. After knowing her a little bit better one will be surprised by her splendid humor as well as her directness and will be fascinated by her outstanding educational background in so many different

kinds of topics. When working with her one will profit by her collegiality and will be impressed by her broad paleontological and extraordinary osteological knowledge - and this not only in avian anatomy. And one would wonder how this apparently shy and cautious woman can be combative in professional discussions when disagreeing. She is always good for a surprise.

Cécile retired in 2005, but this had no real impact on her activity as researcher. She remains unfailingly very active and productive, publishing scientific articles, reviewing a vast quantity of manuscripts per month, and participating annually in paleontological as well as archaeological field campaigns.

Cécile can look back to an eventful and highly

productive scientific career. She significantly impacted paleornithological research in and outside of Europe for the last 50 years and is in high demand as an expert and favored collaborator for researchers all over the world, but especially for the next generation of paleornithologists.

Cécile CHAUVIRÉ was born November 5th, 1939 in Lyon (France), as the second of six children (four sisters and 1 brother) in a well-known Lyonnais family, her father being a reputable ophthalmologist.

She went to primary and secondary school in Lyon. The latter was a very strict neighboring school, from which she received the Baccalauréat in 1955 (first part) and in 1956 (second part). After a very hard selection, with only one candidate out of ten passing the competitive examination at the end of the year, she entered the University of Lyon and oriented towards natural sciences with different diplomas in Zoology, Botany and Geology. Since that period she acquired a degree of

fame among the students, not only because of

her excellent results, but also for her significant



- x -

FIGURE 1. A) Roland MOURER and Cécile MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ in 1967 in their rickety straw hut close to Laang Spean cave (Cambodia) (photo by self-timer), where they had discovered a prehistoric settlement and performed annual archaeological excavations for several years. B) Back again at the Laang Spean cave locality in 2012, Roland (2.f.l.) and Cécile (r) together with Heng SOPHADY (left) and Hubert FORESTIER (2.f.r.), the responsible khmer and french researchers, respectively, for the resumed excavations.

repertoire of bawdy songs ("Qu'y a t-il dans le grenier de ton grand-père?" [What's in your grandfather's attic?]) – an unexpected knowledge for a mannerly bachelor girl of that time, as remembered by Marguerite HUGUENEY, a long-time friend and colleague at Lyon University. However, Cécile explains that she came by the songs honestly while listening to her father sing them in the morning while shaving.

The beginning of Cécile's scientific career did not immediately reveal that she would become one of the most important paleornithologists, as she started with a "thèse de 3^{ème} cycle de Géologie du Quarternaire" on a fauna of large Quarternary mammals from the locality of Châtillon-Saint-Jean, (Drôme, France), that she finished in 1962. Due to this topic she initially acquired a certain fame as a "quarternarist", for which she is still consulted nowadays.

Professor Henri GAUTHIER, the then director of the laboratory in the University in Lyon, proposed Cécile to be candidate for a position in the CNRS (Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique), with a doctoral thesis subject on Pleistocene birds. At that time almost no one was working on fossil birds in France, and there were not many of them in the rest of Europe either.

Cécile succeeded in securing the CRNS position in 1961 and began her research on fossil birds. She started to gather as many fossil and extant birds as possible in order to create a comparative collection. She visited different collections in France and abroad, and took advantage of the knowledge of Prof. D. JANOSSY in Budapest (Hungary), one of the few specialists at that time in Europe. Between 1961 and 1964 she was first "Stagiaire", then "Attachée de Recherche au CNRS" at the University of Lyon.

In 1964, Cécile married Roland MOURER, an ethnologist, whom she had met during excavation campaigns during her 3rd cycle thesis. The same year she left with her husband, who was sent to Cambodia for his military service as "coopérant", to the small city of Kompong Chhnang. The sojourn was originally supposed to last one year, for which Cécile had received permission from the CRNS for unpaid leave, but finally they decided to stay longer. She quit her post at the CNRS and in the end remained six years in Cambodia, during which her two sons, Alexis and Ivan, were born. During the first year in Cambodia (1964-1965), Cécile worked as a French teacher at the Lycée Preah Bat Suramarit in Kompong Chhnang. In 1965, she obtained a post as a Professor in Geology at the Université Royale of Phnom Penh where she taught for five years until 1970, when the civil war began in Cambodia.

During their time in Cambodia, Roland MOURER and Cécile went archaeological prospecting in the limestone massifs of the Battambang province, in northwestern Cambodia. Already in 1965, they had discovered a prehistoric settlement in the Laang Spean cave on top of a phnom [mountain, hill] between Battambang and Païlin. They started excavating there and because the location was out of range of any infrastructure, they spent all week there, just the two of them,



FIGURE 2. A) Cécile MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ in August 1983 working in the office of Prof. Pierce BRODKORB during her second research sojourn in Gainsville at the Zoological Department of the University of Florida and B) in 1981 in the garden of P. BRODKORB (2.f.r.) with her sons Ivan (2.f.r., 12 years old at that time) and Alexis (r., 16 years old at that time), who came to visit Cécile during their school holidays (photo: R. MOURER).

sleeping on straw mats on the ground under a mosquito net and under the stony arches of the partly collapsed cave roof. In the following years and excavation periods, they slept in a tiny rickety straw hut on stilts at the foot of the phnom that local farmers had built for them. One morning Roland and Cécile detected a carnivore's paw print in the dust close to their hut, the size of a plate. A tiger had come along while they were sleeping in their shaky hut. "We never told this story because we did not want people to think we were mad" remembers Cécile. But the presence of a tiger that used to come to drink in a nearby waterhole was confirmed much later by the local people. Forty-four years after they stopped excavating in this cave, Roland and Cécile were invited in 2012 to come back to Cambodia and to visit "their" cave to contemplate new important discoveries that have been made since 2009, when a Khmero-French team had resumed excavations in Laang Spean. They were surprised to see that local people had put a small propitiatory altar in the cave, with small wooden tiger statuettes, where they intended to placate the spirits of the tigers.

In 1970, during vacation back in France, the situation in Cambodia worsened as the Viet Nam War expanded; Cécile decided not to return to Cambodia and instead remained in France with the two children, while her husband Roland spent two more years in Cambodia.

Back again in France, she again succeeded in obtaining a position in the CNRS at the Univer-

sité Claude Bernard – Lyon 1 in 1971, first as "Attachée" and then until 1984 as "Chargée de Recherche au CNRS". During this period she finished her "Thèse d'Etat" (a long and important diploma that no longer exists) in 1975, which instated her as the specialist in fossil birds in France and even in Europe at that time. She followed up with a "Habilitation à diriger des recherches (HDR)" in 1984 and subsequently became "Directeur de Recherche" at the CNRS in 1985 until her retirement in 2005 and has been emeritus "Directeur de Recherche" at the CNRS since then. During all this time and until today (and hopefully for the years to come) she devoted herself to avian research. She was always willing to assist geologist colleagues in identifying fossils they found, she warmly received paleornithologists coming to see her, and took under her wing numerous students and young academics from France and abroad, who came to be trained under her care. I had the pleasure to be among these fortunate individuals. All of us profited from her generosity in sharing her immense paleornithological and paleontological knowledge, by her warm reception and hospitality – among the many reasons she is so popular among a group of younger palaeornithologists such as Gerald MAYR (Frankfurt), Marco PAVIA (Torino), Antoine LOUCHART (Lyon), Estelle BOURDON (Paris), and myself (Vienna). She warmly welcomed me in her lab for a Postdoc sojourn in spite of the fact that a few years earlier I had accidentally dropped a drawer full of fossil holotype bird bones in her office - one of the blackest and most awkward days of my career. But my 15-month postdoc sojourn in Lyon, with Cécile as my host, is one of my highlights and most wonderfully remembered times of my career. PhD students supervised or co-supervised by Cécile Mourer-CHAUVIRÉ are: Jacques CHENEVAL, Joëlle PICHON, Philippe VILETTE, Christine LEFÈVRE, and Antoine LOUCHART.

During her scientific career Cécile herself also took advantage of experience gained abroad. In each of the years 1981 and 1983 she spent six months in the lab of Prof. Pierce BRODKORB at the University of Florida at Gainsville (USA). The latter welcomed her kindly in his houseaviary, which, if you were not afraid of guano accumulation, was an ideal observatory of the life of parrots, budgerigars and allies ... in wild conditions. Cécile had started to study the Paleogene birds from the famous Quercy localities in France, but in France the required comparative material of extant bird skeletons was insufficient. The extensive bird collection of Pierce BRODKORB allowed these necessary comparative works. Cécile MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ and Pierce BRODKORB also collaborated on several studies on fossil birds (Anhingas, Cormorants, Strigiformes) from Olduvai, Tanzania, that he kept in his collection. From 1983 to 1984, Cécile became Adjunct Professor of Zoology at the University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.

Later, in 1993 and in 1996, she again enjoyed stays of two months and one month respectively at the Smithsonian Institution, in Washington, D.C., where she was warmly welcomed and hosted by Storrs OLSON and Helen JAMES.

In 1985, Cécile organized, with the help of Jacques CHENEVAL, the international meeting "Table ronde internationale du CNRS" under the title "L'évolution des oiseaux d'après le témoignage des fossiles" [evolution of birds based on fossil evidence]. This meeting was held in Lyon-Villeurbanne, from September 18th to 21st, 1985. It was during this meeting that an informal society called the "Society for Avian Paleontology and Evolution" was initiated, and would meet every four years. Cécile was elected Secretary of the SAPE with the task of gathering information and sending a newsletter each year. The first "Information Letter" was sent in September

1987, and from 1987 to 1999, she has taken care of this time-consuming task as the secretary of the SAPE.

Almost annually she participated and still participates in paleontological or archaeological excavations. One of the most outstanding of these was on Réunion Island, where excavations in a swamp, the "Marais de l'Ermitage", were carried out with the aim of finding any evidence of the so-called Réunion White Dodo. Standing in the swamp that was made up of about 80 cm of organic soil, overlying a fossiliferous layer about 40 cm deep, the only way to find the bone remains was to explore the mud in the bottom of the swamp with the fingertips. But after four excavation campaigns, as they kept finding Réunion Ibis bones and no Dodo bones, they finally realized that the Réunion Solitaire, described by early travelers, was not a White Dodo but an Ibis.

Cécile has worked on a wide array of avian groups, periods, and geographic regions. During her entire career she continued to work on Paleogene birds, mainly from the "Phosphorites du Quercy", but also studied Neogene and Quaternary birds. Among the latter, her bibliography indicates a noticeable interest in insular avifaunas from the Balearic Islands, Corsica, Sardinia, Cyprus, La Réunion, and New Caledonia. Antoine LOUCHART, a former PhD student, points to the fact that she pioneered the revival of the study of extinct birds of the Mascarene Islands, with a special effort to integrate data from concomitantly historical and paleontological archives.

Finally, in most recent years, Cécile studied many African avifaunas from the Paleogene of Algeria, Tunisia, Morocco, and Namibia, and the Miocene to Pliocene of Namibia, Kenya, and Morocco.

Cécile's longtime friend and colleague, Marguerite HUGUENEY (Lyon), witnessed that, in addition to Cécile's research work, she contributed actively to the life of the lab at the Université Claude Bernard, Lyon 1, taking on a large part of the syndical and administrative responsibilities; she continued managing the lab during very difficult times for her, when a series of great misfortunes entered her life: illness, the death of her younger sister, and, above all, that of her elder son Alexis in 1996, in whose memory she dedicated the species *Ameripodius alexis*. She thrived



FIGURE 3. Cécile MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ at different occasions. A) on excavation in Céreste (France) in 2004, B) together with Gerald MAYR (Frankfurt, left) and Marco PAVIA (Torino, middle) during the SAPE meeting 2012 in Vienna, C) together with Bernard SIGÉ (Lyon, left) and Evgeny KUROCHKIN (Moscow, middle) during the field trip of the SAPE meeting 2004 in Quillan, D) during the field trip of the SAPE meeting 2004 in Quillan, E) with Ursula GÖHLICH (Vienna, left) during the SAPE meeting 2012 in Vienna, and F) with Pippa HAARHOFF (Laangebanweg, left), Ursula GÖHLICH (Vienna, ^{2nd} from right), and Anusuya CHINSAMY-TURAN (Cape Town, right) during the SAPE meeting 2012 in Vienna.

to overcome all these events by her dedication to all her family (with four grandchildren, including triplets), to her numerous friends, and to her work.

Several colleagues have expressed their respect for Cécile and her work by naming birdtaxa after her. So far eight fossil bird species or genera carry her name: *Aythya chauvirae* CHE-NEVAL, 1987, *Cypseloides mourerchauvireae* MLÍKOVSKÝ, 1989, *Chauvireria* BOEV, 1997, *Pica mourerae* SEGUÍ, 2001, *Oligosylphe mourerchauvireae* MAYR & SMITH, 2002, *Tyto mourerchauvireae* PAVIA, 2004, *Afrocygnus chauvireae* LOUCHART *et al.*, 2005, *Asphaltoglaux* nov. spec. (named after Cecile) CAMPBELL & BOCHEN-SKÍ, in press.

In order to honor Cécile MOURER-CHAUVI-RÉ's outstanding paleornithological contribution and her long-lasting, active commitment as cofounder and as secretary for the "Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution", the "8th international meeting of the SAPE" held in 2012 in Vienna was dedicated to her, including a special tribute-session and a laudatio by Ken CAMPBELL during the meeting. Subsequently, a new fund was also established by the Executive Council of the SAPE, "The Cécile Mourer-Chauviré Travel Grant", a travel fund supporting graduate students and other scholars presenting papers at future SAPE meetings.

And, last but not least, the present proceedings volume is dedicated to you, Cécile, accompanied by the warmest wishes for the years to come and with the hope that you enjoy this volume, that you continue enriching paleontological research with your contributions, and with the sincerest hope that there will be many additional occasions for colleagues and me to collaborate with you.

With admiration and sympathy,

Ursula

Acknowledgements

Cécile MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (Université Claude Bernard, Lyon) kindly provided all necessary data of her biography, a complete bibliography and some photos. I am grateful to Marguerite HUGUENEY (Université Claude Bernard, Lyon), who shared her memories with me and contributed several additional data and anecdotes. Antoine LOUCHART (École Normal Supérieur, Lyon) also provided some information. I thank Gerald MAYR (Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg Frankfurt a. M.) for delivering the list of bird taxa named after Cécile and him and Marguerite HUGUENEY for comments on this manuscript, Anusuya CHINSAMY-TURAN (Cape Town) for the photoraph shown in Fig. 3F, and Rich Mooi (California Academy of Sciences, San Francisco) for improving the English.

References

- BOEV, Z. (1997): Chauvireria balcanica gen. n., sp. n. (Phasianidae – Galliformes) from the Middle Villafranchian of Western Bulgaria. – Geologica Balcanica, 27/3–4: 69–78.
- CAMPBELL, K.E, Jr. & BOCHEŃSKI, Z.M. (in press): Two new late Pleistocene miniature owls from Rancho La Brea, California. – *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica*. http://dx.doi.org/10.4202/app.2011.0125
- CHENEVAL, J. (1987): Les Anatidae (Aves, Anseriformes) du Miocène de France. Révision systematique et évolution. – In: MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ, C. (ed.): L'évolution des Oiseaux d'apres le Témoignage des Fossiles. – Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie Lyon, 99: 137–157.
- MAYR, G. & SMITH, R. (2002): A new record of the Prophaethontidae (Aves: Pelecaniformes) from the Middle Eocene of Belgium. – *Bulletin de l'Institut Royal des Sciences Naturelles de Belgique*, 72: 135–138.
- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (1989): A new guineafowl (Aves: Phasianidae) from the late Eocene of France. – Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums in Wien, Serie A, **90**: 63–66.
- PAVIA, M. (2004): A new large barn owl (Aves, Strigiformes, Tytonidae) from the Middle Pleistocene of Sicily, Italy, and its taphonomical significance. – *Geobios*, **37**:631–641.
- SEGUI, B. (2001): A new species of Pica (Aves: Corvidae) from the Plio-Pleistocene of Mallorca, Balearic Islands (Western Mediterranean). – *Geobios*, **34**(3): 339–347.
- LOUCHART, A., VIGNAUD, P., LIKIUS, A., MACKAYE, T.H & BRUNET, M. (2005): A new swan (Aves: Anatidae) in Africa, from the latest Miocene of Chad and Libya. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 25/2: 384–392.

Bibliography of Cécile MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ

1962-1969

- CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1962): Les gisements fossilifères quaternaires de Châtillon-Saint-Jean (Drôme). – unpubl. thèse de 3^{ème} cycle, **62**: 216 pp. Lyon (Faculté des Sciences Lyon).
- CHAUVIRÉ, C., GAUTHIER, H. & SAUVAGE, J. (1962): Étude palynologique des sables de la carrière Fournier, à Châtillon-Saint-Jean (Drôme). – Compte Rendu Sommaire des Séances de la Société géologique de France, 7^{ème} sér., 4/3: 84–86.
- CHAUVIRÉ, C. & WEISS, J. (1962): Découverte d'une nouvelle faune de Mammifères dans une haute terrasse de la basse vallée de l'Isère.). – Compte Rendu Sommaire des Séances de la Société géologique de France, 7^{ème} sér., 4/1: 18–19.
- CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1963): Révision des oiseaux quaternaires de la Balme-les-Grottes (Isère). – Compte Rendu Sommaire des Séances de la Société géologique de France, 2: 52–53.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1964): Les oiseaux du Locus VIII de la grotte du Lazaret à Nice (A.-M.). – Bulletin du Musée d'anthropologie préhistorique de Monaco, **11**: 61–80.

- CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1965): Les oiseaux du gisement magdalénien du Morin (Gironde). – 89e Congrès national des Sociétés savantes (Lyon, 1964): 255–266.
- CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1965): Note préliminaire sur les oiseaux du remplissage quaternaire des Abîmes de la Fage à Noailles (Corrèze). – Compte Rendu Sommaire des Séances de la Société géologique de France, 1: 8–9.
- COLLIGNON, M., DESREUMAUX, C. & MOURER, C. (1968): Découverte d'une faune triasique (anisienne) dans la région de Kratié (Cambodge). – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences, 267, sér. D: 1555–1556.
- OLIVIER, G. & MOURER, C. (1968): Les dermatoglyphes des Vietnamiennes. Application au métissage. – Bulletins et Mémoires de la Société d'Anthropologie, 3, 12^{ème} sér.: 351–354.
- GUÉRIN, C. & MOURER, C. (1969): Le Rhinoceros sondaicus Desmarest du gisement néolithique de Loang Spean, Province de Battambang (Cambodge). – Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, **31**: 39–53.

1970-1979

- MOURER, C. & MOURER, R. (1970): Note préliminaire sur la présence d'une industrie préhistorique dans la grotte de Loang Spean, Province de Battambang, Cambodge. – Proceedings of the VIIIth International Congress of Anthropological and Ethnological Sciences (Tokyo, 1968), vol. III, Ethnology and Archaeology, Abstract, p. 141–142.
- MOURER, C. & MOURER, R. (1970): The prehistoric industry of Laang Spean, Province of Battambang, Cambodia. – Archaeology and Physical Anthropology in Oceania, V/2: 128–146.
- MOURER, C., MOURER, R. & THOMMERET, Y. (1970): Premières datations de l'habitat préhistorique de la grotte de Laang Spean, province de Battambang (Cambodge). – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences, 270, sér. D: 471–473.
- MOURER, C. & MOURER, R. (1971): La coupe à pied annulaire de Laang Spean, Phnom Teak Trang, Province de Battambang, Cambodge. – Bulletin de la Société préhistorique française, 68/5: 156–158.
- MOURER, C. & MOURER, R. (1971): Prehistoric research in Cambodia during the Last Ten Years. – *Asian Perspectives*, XIV: 35–41.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1971): Rapport sur les travaux de l'Ecole française en 1970. Grotte de Kitsos (Laurion). V. La faune. B. Oiseaux. – Bulletin de Correspondance Hellénique, 95/2:730–732.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1972): Les oiseaux des couches moustériennes de la grotte de l'Hortus (Valflaunès, Hérault). – Études quaternaires, 1: 271–288.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1972): Les oiseaux des couches paléochrétiennes de la grotte de l'Hortus (Valflaunès, Hérault). – Études quaternaires, 1: 289–295.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1972): Comparaison entre les faunes d'Oiseaux de l'Hortus et de Combe-Grenal pendant le Würmien II. In: BORDES, F., LAVILLE, H., DE LUMLEY, H., MISKOVSKY, J.C., PAQUEREAU, M.M., PILLARD, B., PRAT, F. & RENAULT-MISKOVSKY, J. (eds): Le Würmien II. Tentative de corrélation entre le Languedoc méditerranéen (l'Hortus) et le Périgord (Combe-Grenal). Études quaternaires, 1: 359–360.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1972): Étude de nouveaux restes de vertébrés provenant de la carrière Fournier à Châtillon-Saint-Jean (Drôme). III. Artiodactyles, Chevaux et Oiseaux. – Bulletin de l'Association française pour l'Étude du Quaternaire, 4: 271–305.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & PHILIPPE, M. (1972): Géométrie du gisement paléontologique de la Fage. – Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle, 10: 11–20.
- Desbrosse, R. & Mourer-Chauviré, C. (1972–73): Les Oiseaux magdaléniens de Pierre-Châtel

(Ain). - Quartär, 23-24:149-164.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1973): La faune magdalénienne de la grotte du Colombier: Les Oiseaux. – Études préhistoriques, 5: 24.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1974): Étude préliminaire des Oiseaux de la grotte du Rond-du-Barry (Magdalénien et Post-glaciaire). – *L'Anthropologie*, **78**/1: 37–48.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1975): Les oiseaux du Pléistocène moyen et supérieur de France. – Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, 64/2: 624 pp.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1975): Les oiseaux (Aves) du gisement pléistocène moyen des Abîmes de la Fage à Noailles (Corrèze). Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, **13**: 89–112.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. with the collaboration of BALLESIO, R., BEDEN, M., BOUCHUD, J., CHALINE, J., DAVID, L., GUERIN, C., HUGUENEY, M., JAMMOT, D., MEIN, P., RAGE, J.C. & VILAIN, R. (1975): Conclusions générales sur les faunes de l'Aven I des Abîmes de la Fage (Corrèze). Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 13: 123–129.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1975): Faunes d'oiseaux du Pléistocène de France: Systématique, évolution et adaptation, interprétation paléoclimatique. – *Geobios*, Lyon, **8**/5: 333–352.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1975): Un exemple d'évolution chez les oiseaux au Quaternaire: *Buteo rufinus jansoni* nov. subsp. (*Aves, Falconida, Accipitridae*) du Pléistocène moyen de Saint-Estève-Janson (Bouches-du-Rhône, France). – Problèmes actuels de Paléontologie – Evolution des Vertébrés. – *Colloques internationaux du CNRS* (Paris, 1973), 218: 533–542.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., ADROVER, R. & PONS, J. (1975): Présence de *Grus antigone* (L.) dans l' "Avenc de Na Corna" à Majorque (Espagne). – Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 13 suppl.: 45–50.
- CLOT, A., CHALINE, J., HEINTZ, E., JAMMOT, D., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & RAGE, J.C. (1976): Montoussé 5 (Hautes-Pyrénées), un nouveau remplissage de fissure à faune de vertébrés du Pléistocène inférieur. – *Geobios*, 9/4:511–514.
- CLOT, A., CHALINE, J., JAMMOT, D., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & RAGE, J.C. (1976): Les poches ossifères du Pléistocène moyen et inférieur de Montoussé (Hautes-Pyrénées). – Bulletin de la Société d'histoire naturelle de Toulouse, 112/1–2:146–161.
- DEMARCQ, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1976): L'indice thermique, un essai de méthode pour comparer et utiliser climatologiquement les gisements quaternaires. Application aux oiseaux du Pléistocène français. – *Geobios*, 9/2: 125–141.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1976): Les oiseaux des niveaux

gallo-romains de la Bourse à Marseille. – In: JOURDAN, L. (ed.): La faune du site gallo-romain et paléochrétien de la Bourse (Marseille). – p. 284– 287, Aix-Marseille (CNRS édit.).

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1976): Les oiseaux du gisement de Cottier à Retournac (Haute-Loire). – *Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon*, **14**: 41–42.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1976): Les Oiseaux. In: DE LUMLEY, H. (ed.): La Préhistoire française (IX^{ème} congrès UISPP, Nice, 1976), 1/1: p.430–434, Paris (CNRS édition).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1976): Les gisements de Châtillon-Saint-Jean. – In: Livret-guide de l'excursion A8 (IX^{ème} congrès UISPP, Nice, 1976): 166–169.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1976): Le gisement de Saint-Romans. – In: Livret-guide de l'excursion A8 (IX^{ème} congrès UISPP, Nice, 1976): 170–172.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & CARBONNEL, G. (1976): La recherche des facteurs dans l'analyse de groupe. Un exemple: les oiseaux du Quaternaire français. – Bulletin de l'Association française pour l'étude du Quaternaire, 47/2: 59–69.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & DESBROSSE, R. (1976) Le gisement de Villereversure. Livret-guide de l'excursion A8 (IX^{ème} congrès UISPP, Nice, 1976): 64–68.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1977): Die Vogelreste aus den mittelpleistozänen Sanden von Mosbach bei Wiesbaden (Hessen). – Mainzer Naturwissenschaftliches Archiv, 16: 35–46.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1977): The indications provided by birds in the reconstitution of palaeoenvironment during the Lower and Middle Pleistocene of Western Europe. – Xth INQUA Congress (Birmingham, 1977), Abstracts: p. 316.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1977): Les oiseaux de la grotte de la Carrière à Gerde (Hautes-Pyrénées). – Bulletin de la Société Ramond (Bagnères-de-Bigorre), 112: 51–70.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., MOYA, S. & ADROVER, R. (1977): Les oiseaux des gisements quaternaires de Majorque. – Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle (Lyon), 15 suppl.: 61–64.
- CANTET, M., CLOT, A., GEAY, A., GRANIER, J., JEAN-NET, M., MARSAN, G., MOURER, C. & RAGE, J.C. (1978): Le gisement du Paléolithique supérieur de La Brette 2, à Condom (Gers). – Bulletin de la Société d'Histoire naturelle de Toulouse, 114/3–4: 332–359.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1978): La poche à phosphate de Sainte-Néboule (Lot) et sa faune de Vertébrés du Ludien supérieur. 6. Oiseaux. – Palaeovertebrata, 8/2–4: 217–229.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1978): Les oiseaux recueillis en 1977 au Rond du Barry. – In: DE BAYLE DES HER-MENS, R. (ed.): Campagne de fouilles 1977 et 1978

dans la grotte du Rond du Barry, Polignac, Haute-Loire. – *Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon*, **16** suppl.: 23.

- PAICHELER, J.C., BROIN, F. DE, GAUDANT, J., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., RAGE, J.C. & VERGNAUD-GRAZZINI, C. (1978): Le bassin lacustre miocène de Bes-Konak (Anatolie, Turquie): Géologie et introduction à la paléontologie des Vertébrés. – *Geobios*, 11/1:43–65.
- AUJARD-CATOT, R., CRÉGUT, E., GAGNIÈRE, S., GRU-NEISEN, A. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1979): Un squelette complet de renne, *Rangifer tarandus* (*Mammalia, Artiodactyla*) dans le Pléistocène supérieur de l'Aven des Planes (Monieux, Vaucluse, France). – Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 17 suppl.: 15–20.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1979): La chasse aux oiseaux pendant la préhistoire. *La Recherche*, **10**/106: 1202–1210.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1979): Les oiseaux de la fin des temps glaciaires en France. La disparition des

espèces froides. – In: ANONYMUS (ed.): Colloque international CNRS: La fin des temps glaciaires en Europe (Talence, 1977). – p. 106–111. Paris (CNRS édition).

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1979): Le gisement pléistocène supérieur de la grotte de Jaurens à Nespouls, Corrèze, France: Les oiseaux (Aves). – Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 17: 57–58.
- THEVENIN, A., CAMPY, M., GEISSERT, F., HEIM, J., HOFFERT, M., MARQUET, J.C., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., POULAIN-JOSIEN, T., SAINTY, J., SCHAAF, O., SCHWEINGRUBER, F.H., VELASQUEZ, C. & VOGT, H. (1979): Fondements chronostratigraphiques des niveaux à industrie épipaléolithique de l'abri de Rochedane à Villars-sous-Dampjoux (Doubs) et de l'abri du Mannlefelsen à Oberlarg (Haut-Rhin). In: ANON-YMUS (ed.): Colloque international CNRS: La fin des temps glaciaires en Europe (Talence, 1977). p. 215–230, Paris (CNRS édition).

1980-1989

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1980): Las Aves del sitio de ocupacion achelense de Aridos 1 (Arganda, Madrid). In: SANTONJA, M. LOPEZ, N. & PEREZ, A. (eds): Ocupaciones achelenses en el Valle del Jarama. Publicaciones de la Excelentisima Diputacion provincial de Madrid, Arqueologia e Paleoecologia, 1: 145–160.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1980): La faune d'oiseaux du Pléistocène en Europe occidentale. – In: CHA-LINE, J. & Table ronde internationale Problèmes de stratigraphie quaternaire en France et dans les pays limitrophes (eds): Problèmes de stratigraphie quaternaire en France et dans les pays limitrophes. – Supplement Bulletin de l'Association française pour l'Étude du Quaternaire, nouv. sér., 1: 353–358.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1980): Le gisement pléistocène supérieur de la grotte de Jaurens à Nespouls, Corrèze, France: Les Equidés (Mammalia, Perissodactyla). – Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 18: 17–60.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1980): The Archaeotrogonidae from the Eocene and Oligocene deposits of "Phosphorites du Quercy", France. – *Contributions in Science, Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County*, **330**: 17–31
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1980): Les oiseaux. In: OMNES, J. (ed.): Le gisement préhistorique des Espélugues à Lourdes (Hautes-Pyrénées). Essai d'inventaire des fouilles anciennes. – Mémoire – Centre aturien de recherche sous terre (Tarbes), 1: 212–218.
- Mourer-Chauviré, C., Alcover, J.A., Moya, S. &

Pons, J. (1980): Une nouvelle forme insulaire d'effraie géante, *Tyto balearica* n. sp. (Aves, Strigiformes) du Plio-Pléistocène des Baléares. – *Geobios*, **13**/5: 803–811.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & RENAULT-MISKOVSKY, J. (1980): Le paléoenvironnement des chasseurs de Terra Amata (Nice, Alpes-maritimes) au Pléistocène moyen. La flore et la faune de grands mammifères. – *Geobios*, 13/3: 279–287.
- PHILIPPE, M., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & EVIN, J. (1980): Les gisements paléontologiques quaternaires des Causses de Martel et de Gramat (Corrèze et Lot): Faunes et chronologie. – Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 18 suppl.: 57–67.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1981): Les oiseaux de la grotte de Kitsos (Attique, Grèce). – In: LAMBERT, N. (ed.): La grotte préhistorique de Kitsos (Attique). – p. 595–606. Paris (Editions A.D.P.F. et Ecole française d'Athènes, II).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1981): Les oiseaux du gisement du Piage, commune de Fajoles, Lot. – In: CHAMPAGNE, F. & ESPITALIE, R. (eds): Le Piage, site préhistorique du Lot. – Mémoire de la Société préhistorique française, 15: 193–195.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1981): Etude de l'avifaune. In: DELLUC, B. & DELLUC, G. (eds): La grotte ornée de Comarque à Sireuil (Dordogne). – *Gallia-Préhistoire*, 24/1: 94.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1981): Les oiseaux du Pléistocène moyen de la Caune de l'Arago à Tautavel. – In: Colloque international CNRS (Tautavel, 1981). Prétirage. – p. 205–212. Paris (CNRS)

édition).

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1981): Première indication de la présence de Phorusrhacidés, famille d'oiseaux géants d'Amérique du Sud dans le Tertiaire européen: *Ameghinornis* nov. gen. (Aves, Ralliformes) des Phosphorites du Quercy, France. – *Geobios*, 14/5: 637–647.
- BRODKORB, P. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1982): Fossil Anhingas (*Aves: Anhingidae*) from Early Man Sites of Hadar and Omo (Ethiopia) and Olduvai Gorge (Tanzania). – *Geobios*, **15**/4: 505–512.
- GUÉRIN, C., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BALLESIO, R. & DEBARD, E. (1982): Comparative biostratigraphy of Pleistocene faunas of Western Europe and USSR. – *XIth Inqua Congress* (Moscow), Abstracts, I: 122.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1982): Réponse aux observations de E. BUFFETAUT & J.C. RAGE à propos de la note: Première indication de la présence de Phorusrhacidés, famille d'oiseaux géants d'Amérique du Sud dans le Tertiaire européen: *Ameghinornis* nov. gen. (Aves, Ralliformes) des Phosphorites du Quercy, France. – *Geobios*, 15/2: 268–269.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1982): Paleolithic hunters and birds. – In: 4th International Conference of the International Council for Archaeozoology (ICAZ) (London, 1982). Abstract of papers
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1982): New discoveries of Eocene and Oligocene birds in the "Phosphorites du Quercy". – In: Abstracts of Symposia and Poster presentation, XVIIIth international Congress of Ornithology (Moscow 1982). – p.11, Moscow (Nauka edition).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1982): Les oiseaux fossiles des Phosphorites du Quercy (Eocène supérieur à Oligocène supérieur): Implications paléobiogéographiques. – In: BUFFETAUT, E., JANVIER, P., RAGE, J.C. & TASSY, P. (eds): Phylogénie et Paléobiogéographie. Livre jubilaire en l'honneur de R. HOFFSTETTER. – *Geobios*, Mém. spéc. 6: 413–426.
- CRÉGUT-BONNOURE, E., GUÉRIN, C. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1983): La faune des Auzières II à Méthamis (Vaucluse). – Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 21 suppl.: 53–58.
- FAGES, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1983): La flûte en os d'oiseau de la grotte sépulcrale de Veyreau (Aveyron) et inventaire des flûtes préhistoriques d'Europe. – Mémoire de la Société préhistorique française, 16: 95–103.
- GUÉRIN, C., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BALLESIO, R., FAURE, M. & DEBARD, E. (1983): Biostratigraphie comparée des faunes du Pléistocène moyen et supérieur en Europe occidentale et en URSS d'Europe. – Bulletin de l'Association française pour l'Étude du Quaternaire, 2 sér., 14–15/2–3: 133–144.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1983): Les Gruiformes (Aves) des Phosphorites du Quercy (France). 1. Sous ordre Cariamae (Cariamidae et Phorusrhacidae). Systématique et Biostratigraphie. – Palaeovertebrata, 13/4: 83–143.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1983): Les oiseaux dans les habitats paléolithiques: gibier des hommes ou proies des Rapaces? – In: CLUTTON-BROCK, J. & GRIGSON, C. (eds): Animals and Archaeology, vol. 2: Shell Middens, Fishes and Birds. – British Archaeological Reports, International series, 183: 111–124.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1983): Les oiseaux des gisements magdaléniens de Petersfels, fouilles 1974–1976. In: ALBRECHT, G., BERKE, H. & POPLIN, F. (eds): Recherches scientifiques sur les inventaires magdaléniens de Petersfels, fouilles 1974–1976. Tübinger Monographien zur Urgeschichte, 8: 129–132.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1983): Les oiseaux de la couche 5 de la grotte du Coléoptère à Bomal-sur-Ourthe (Belgique). – Mémoire - Société Wallonne de Palethnologie (Liège). 5: 53–65.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1983): *Minerva antiqua* (Aves: Strigiformes), an Owl mistaken for an Edentate Mammal. – *American Museum Novitates*, **2773**: 11 pp.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & BRODKORB, P. (1983): Pleistocene Cormorants from Early Man Sites at Olduvai Gorge. – In: Proceedings of the 101st Stated Meeting of the American Ornithological Union, (New York, 1983), Abstracts of presented Posters and Papers. – p. 65, New York (American Museum of Natural History).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & CHENEVAL, J. (1983): Les Sagittariidae fossiles (Aves, Accipitriformes) de l'Oligocène des Phosphorites du Quercy et du Miocène inférieur de Saint-Gérand-le-Puy. – Geobios, 16/4: 443–459.
- POPLIN, F., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & EVIN, J. (1983): Position systématique et datation de Sylviornis neocaledoniae, Mégapode géant (Aves, Galliformes, Megapodiidae) éteint de la Nouvelle Calédonie. – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences, 297, sér. II: 301–304.
- VILETTE, P., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & MEIGNEN, L. (1983): Les oiseaux de la grotte du Salpêtre de Pompignan (Gard). – Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturell de Lyon, 21 suppl.: 45–48.
- BRODKORB, P. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1984): A new species of Cormorant (Aves: Phalacrocoracidae) from the Pleistocene of Olduvai Gorge (Tanzania). *Geobios*, **17**/3: 331–337.
- BRODKORB, P. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1984): Fossil Owls from Early Man Sites of Olduvai Gorge, Tanzania. – *Ostrich*, **55**: 17–27.

- BRODKORB, P. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1984): Pleistocene birds from Cumberland Cave, Maryland. *Carnegie Museum of Natural History, spec. public.*, 8: 39–43.
- CHENEVAL, J., GINSBURG, L. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1984): Découverte d'une avifaune dans le Miocène du Nord de la Thaïlande. – *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences*, **299**, sér. II, 19: 1369–1372.
- CLOT, A., with the collaboration of BROCHET, G., CHALINE, J., DESSE, G., EVIN, J., GRANIER, J., MEIN, P. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., OMNES, J., & RAGE, J.C. (1984): Faune de la grotte préhistorique du Bois du Cantet (Espèche, Haute-Garonne, France). *Munibe Antropologia Arkeologia*, 36: 33–50.
- CLOT, A. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1984): Les oiseaux quaternaires dans les Pyrénées françaises. – *Acta biologica montana*, 4: 405–412.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1984): Les Oiseaux du grand abri de La Ferrassie. – In: DELPORTE, H. (ed.): Le Grand Abri de La Ferrassie. – *Etudes quaternaires*, 7: 99–103.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1984): Die Vögel der würmzeitlichen und holozänen Fundstelle Spitzbubenhöhle. – In: HAHN, J. (ed.): Die steinzeitliche Besiedlung des Eselsburger Tales bei Heidenheim. – p. 80–83, Stuttgart (Konrad Theiss Verlag).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1984): Die Vögel der würmzeitlichen und holozänen Fundstelle Malerfels I. – In: HAHN, J. (ed.): Die steinzeitliche Besiedlung des Eselsburger Tales bei Heidenheim. – p. 134–136, Stuttgart (Konrad Theiss Verlag).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1984): Tableau synthétique des échelles biostratigraphiques du Quaternaire du Sud-Est de la France. – In: DEBRAND-PASSARD, S. (ed.): Synthèse géologique du Sud-Est de la France. – Mémoires du Bureau de recherches géologiques et minières, 125: 526–528, 530 and 534.
- CHALINE, J., RENAULT-MISKOVSKY, J., BROCHET, G., CLEMENT-DELS, R., JAMMOT, D., MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ, C., BONVALOT, J., LANG, J., LENEUF, N. & PASCAL, A. (1985): L'Aven des Valerots (Nuits-Saint-Georges, Côte d'Or), site de référence du Pléistocène inférieur. – Revue de géologie dynamique et de géographie physique, 26/2: 109–118.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1985): Les Todidae (Aves, Coraciiformes) des Phosphorites du Quercy (France). – *Proceedings of the Koninklijke Nederlandse Akademie*, sér. B, **88**/4: 407–411.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1985): Le Paon de Perpignan. In: Les Articles du present fascicule ont fait l'object d'une présentation orale aux Journeés d'Hommage a Charles Deperet (1854–1929) (Perpignan, 1985), Résumés des communications. p. 27. Perpignan (Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle de

Perpignan).

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1985): Nouvelles découvertes d'oiseaux éocènes et oligocènes dans les Phosphorites du Quercy (France): les Idiornithinae (Ralliformes, Cariamidae). – In: ILVICHEV, V.D. & GAVRILOV, V.M. (eds): Acta XVIII Congressus Internationalis Ornithologici (Moscow, 1982). – Nauka, I: 234–240.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1985): Les oiseaux. In: CHA-LINE, J. (ed.): Les climats de la Préhistoire (Dijon, 1985). – Les dossiers d'Histoire et Archéologie, 93: 56–59.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1985): book review of P. VILETTE (1983): Avifaunes du Pléistocène final et de l'Holocène dans le Sud de la France et en Catalogne espagnole. *Cahiers ligures de Préhistoire et Protohistoire* (Carcassonne), nouv. sér. **2**: 314–315.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BALOUET, J.C., JEHENNE, Y. & HEINTZ, E. (1985): Une nouvelle espèce de grue, *Grus afghana*, (Aves, Gruiformes) du Miocène supérieur de Molayan, Afghanistan. – Bulletin du Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, 4 sér., 7, section C, 3: 179–187.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & POPLIN, F. (1985): Le mystère des tumulus de Nouvelle-Calédonie. *La Recherche*, 169: 1094.
- Northcote, E.M. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1985): The distinction between the extinct Pleistocene European Crane, *Grus primigenia*, and the extant Asian Sarus Crane, *G. antigone. – Geobios*, **18**/6: 877–881.
- POPLIN, F. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1985): Sylviornis neocaledoniae (Aves, Galliformes, Megapodiidae), oiseau géant éteint de l'Ile des Pins (Nouvelle-Calédonie). – Geobios, 18/1: 73–97.
- POPLIN, F. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1985): Le Du ou Sylviornis, oiseau géant éteint de l'Ile des Pins. – Bulletin de la Societé d'etudes historique de la Nouvelle-Calédonie, **65**: 67–72.
- CLOT, A. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1986): Inventaire systématique des oiseaux quaternaires des Pyrénées françaises. – *Munibe Antropologia Arkeologia*, **38**: 171–184.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1986): Les Caprimulgiformes et les Coraciiformes de l'Eocène et de l'Oligocène des Phosphorites du Quercy, France. – In: Abstracts of the XIX congressus internationalis ornithologici (Ottawa, 1986). – p. 170.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1986): book review of RENAULT-MISKOVSKY, J. (1986). L'environnement au temps de la Préhistoire, 183pp, Paris (Masson). – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 57: 344–345.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & POPLIN, F. (1986): Le mystère des tumulus. – Bulletin de la Societé d'etudes historique de la Nouvelle-Calédonie, **68**: 63–65.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & WEESIE, P.D.M. (1986): Bubo insularis n. sp., forme endémique insulaire de grand-duc (Aves, Strigiformes) du Pléistocène de Sardaigne et de Corse. – Revue de Paléobiologie, 5/2: 197–205.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (ed.) (1987): L'Evolution des Oiseaux d'après le témoignage des Fossiles. Table Ronde internationale du CNRS (Lyon-Villeurbanne, 1985). – Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, 99: 248 pp.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1987): Les Strigiformes (Aves) des Phosphorites du Quercy (France): Systématique, Biostratigraphie et Paléobiogéographie. In: MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (ed.) (1987): L'Evolution des Oiseaux d'après le témoignage des Fossiles. Table Ronde internationale du CNRS (Lyon-Villeurbanne, 1985). Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, 99: 89–135.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1987): The Aegialornithidae (Aves: Apodiformes) from the "Phosphorites du Quercy". Comparison with the form of Messel. – *Eocene Lake Messel: international symposium* (Frankfurt am Main, 1987), Abstract.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1987): Les oiseaux de la grotte de la Carrière à Gerde. In: CLOT A. (dir.):
 La Grotte de Gerde (Hautes-Pyrénées), site préhistorique et paléontologique. pp. 139–157, Bagnères-de-Bigorre (Société Ramond édit.).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & MOUTOU, F. (1987): Découverte d'une forme récemment éteinte d'ibis endémique insulaire de l'Ile de la Réunion: *Borbonibis latipes* n. gen. n. sp. – *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris*, **305**, sér. II: 419–423.
- EISENMANN, V., ADROVER, R., MOISSENET, E. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1988): Le cheval de Monteagudo del Castillo (Province de Teruel, Espagne). – In: Colloquium "Bioeventos y sucesiones faunisticas en el terciario continental iberico" (Sabadell, 1988), Abstracts: 16.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1988): Le gisement du Bretou (Phosphorites du Quercy, Tarn-et-Garonne, France) et sa faune de Vertébrés de l'Eocène supérieur. II. Oiseaux. – *Palaeontographica* (Stuttgart), Abt. A, **205**: 29–50.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1988): Les Aegialornithidae (Aves: Apodiformes) des Phosphorites du Quercy. Comparaison avec la forme de Messel. – In: FRANZEN, J.L. & MICHAELIS, W. (eds): Der eozäne

Messelsee – Eocene Lake Messel. – *Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg*, **107**: 369–381.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1988): Compte-Rendu de réunion: II International Symposium of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (S.A.P.E.). 28.-30. Septembre 1988, Los Angeles (U.S.A.). *Geobios*, 21/6: 829.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & SANCHEZ MARCO, A. (1988): Présence de *Tyto balearica* (Aves, Strigiformes) dans des gisements continentaux du Pliocène de France et d'Espagne. – *Geobios*, 21/5: 639–644.
- Northcote, E.M. & Mourer-Chauviré, C. (1988): The extinct crane *Grus primigenia* Milne-Edwards in Majorca (Spain). *Geobios*, **21**/2: 201–208.
- CAMPY, M., CHALINE, J., HEIM, J., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & VUILEMEY, M. (1989): La séquence chronoclimatique de Gigny. – In: CAMPY, M., CHALINE, J. & VUILLEMEY, M. (eds): La Baume de Gigny (Jura). – *Gallia-Préhistoire*, XXVII suppl: 243–251.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1989): Les Oiseaux. In: CAMPY, M., CHALINE, J. & VUILLEMEY, M. (eds): La Baume de Gigny (Jura). – Gallia-Préhistoire XXVII suppl: 121–129.
- FLORIT, X., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & ALCOVER, J.A. (1989): Els Ocells pleistocènics d'Es Pouas, Eivissa. Nota preliminar. – Bulletí de la Institució Catalana d'Història Natural (Barcelona), 56 (Sec. Geol., 5): 35–46.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1989): A Peafowl (Aves, Galliformes) from the Pliocene of Perpignan, France. *Paleontology*, **32**/2: 439–446.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1989): Les Caprimulgiformes et les Coraciiformes de l'Eocène et de l'Oligocène des Phosphorites du Quercy, et description de deux genres nouveaux de Podargidae et Nyctibiidae. – In: QUELLET, H. (ed.): Acta XIX congressus internationalis ornithologici (Ottawa, 1989). – pp. 2047–2055. Ottawa (University of Ottawa Press)
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1989): book review of VIGNE, J.D. (1988). Les mammifères postglaciaires de Corse. Etude Archéozoologique. Gallia-Préhistoire, XXVI suppl., Paris (Editions du CNRS). – Geobios, 22/4: 544.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., HUGUENEY, M. & JONET, P. (1989): Découverte de Passeriformes dans l'Oligocène de France. – *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris*, sér. II, **309**: 843–849.

1990-1999

CAMPY, M., CHALINE, J., HEIM, J., MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ, C. & VUILLEMEY, M. (1990): La séquence pléistocène de Gigny (Jura), référence chronoclimatique de l'Est de la France. – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, sér. II, 310: 927–934.

MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1990): Les paons du Pliocène et du Pléistocène inférieur d'Europe. Biostratigraphie et Paléoécologie. – In: Département des Sciences de la Terre, Université Lyon I (ed.): Journée Louis David (Lyon, 1988). – Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, H.S., 9: 77–91.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1990): Une nouvelle famille de Perroquets (Aves, Psittaciformes) dans l'Eocène supérieur des Phosphorites du Quercy. – In: Congrès national de Paléontologie, résumés des communications presentées (Paris, 1990), Abstracts, p. 78, Paris (Société Géologique de France).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1990): Présence de Paons en Europe occidentale à la fin de l'ère tertiaire. *Alauda*, **58**/1: 49.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1990): La chasse aux oiseaux au Paléolithique. La chasse au harfang à l'époque magdalénienne. – Livre de l'Exposition "L'Homme et l'Oiseau". Archéodrome de Beaune-Tailly. – pp. 7–9, Paris (Société d'Editions Régionales).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1990): book review of ANDERSON, A. (1989). Prodigious Birds. Moas and Moa-hunting in Prehistoric New Zealand (Cambridge University Press). – Annales de Paléontologie, 76/4: 286–287.
- CHENEVAL, J., GINSBURG, L., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & RATANASTHIEN, B. (1991): The Miocene avifauna of the Li Mae Long locality, Thailand. Systematics and Paleoecology. *Journal of Southeast Asian Earth Sciences*, 6/2: 117–126.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1991): Une nouvelle famille d'Accipitriformes de l'Eocène des Phosphorites du Quercy. – In: Réunion de Paléontologie, 25ème anniversaire de l'URA 11 (Lyon, 1991), Abstracts, p. 30.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1991): book review of AGEN-BROAD, L.D., MEAD, J.L. & NELSON L.W. (eds) (1990). Megafauna and Man. Discovery of America's heartland. Hot Springs, South Dakota (Northern Arizona University). – *Geobios*, 24/4: 482.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1991): Les Horusornithidae nov. fam. (Aves, Accipitriformes) à articulation intertarsienne hyperflexible de l'Eocène du Quercy. – *Geobios*, Mém. spéc. **13**: 183–192.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & ANTUNES, M.T. (1991): Présence du grand pingouin, *Pinguinus impennis* (Aves, Charadriiformes) dans le Pléistocène du Portugal. – *Geobios*, 24/2: 201–205.
- ALCOVER, J.A., FLORIT, F., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., & WEESIE, P.D.M. (1992): The avifauna of the isolated Mediterranean islands during the Middle and Late Pleistocene. – In: CAMPBELL, K.E. Jr. (ed.): Papers in avian paleontology honoring Pierce Brodkorb. – Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County Sciences Series, 36: 273–283.
- ANTUNES, M.T. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): The Roman site (2nd to 5th centuries A.D.) at Quinto do Marim near Olhao (Algarve, Portugal): Ver-

tebrate faunas. – *Setubal Arqueologica*, **IX-X**: 375–382.

- BOEUF, O. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): Les oiseaux des gisements d'âge Pliocène supérieur de Chilhac, Haute-Loire, France. – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, 314, Sér. II: 1091–1096.
- COOPER, A., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., CHAMBERS, G.K., HAESELER, A.V., WILSON, A.C. & PÄÄBO, S. (1992): Independant origins of New Zealand moas and kiwis. – Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A., 89: 8741–8744.
- EISENMANN, V., ADROVER, R., MOISSENET, E. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): Le cheval de Monteagudo del Castillo (Province de Teruel, Espagne). – *Paleontologia i Evolucio*, **23** (1989–1990): 239–252.
- GUÉRIN, C., HUGUENEY, M., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & FAURE, M. (1992): Paléoenvironnement pléistocène dans l'aire archéologique de Sao Raimundo Nonato (Piaui, Brésil): apport des mammifères et des oiseaux. – In: Table Ronde Européenne. Paléontologie et Stratigraphie d'Amérique latine (Lyon, 1992), Abstracts, p. 25.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): The Galliformes (Aves) from the Phosphorites du Quercy (France): Systematics and Biostratigraphy. – In: CAMPBELL, K.E. Jr. (ed.): Papers in avian paleontology honoring Pierce Brodkorb. – Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County Sciences Series, 36: 67–95.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): Un ganga primitif (Aves, Columbiformes, Pteroclidae) de très grande taille dans le Paléogène des Phosphorites du Quercy (France). – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, **314**, sér. II: 229–235.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): The Messelornithidae (Aves: Gruiformes) from the Paleogene of France.– In: *3. Symposium der "Society for Avian Paleontology and Evolution (S.A.P.E.)"*, Frankfurt am Main (Juni 1992), Abstracts, p. 31.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): Aperçu sur les Oiseaux. – In Crégut-Bonnoure, E. (ed.): Les Animaux de la préhistoire entre Provence et Toscane. partie II. – pp. 83–84, Avignon (Societé d'Étude des Sciences Naturelles de Vaucluse édition).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): Une nouvelle famille de Perroquets (Aves, Psittaciformes) dans l'Eocène supérieur du Quercy. – *Geobios*, Mém. spéc. 14: 169–177.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): Origine et Evolution des Dindons. – In: POPLIN, F. (ed.): Le Dindon. Journée d'étude de la Société d'Ethnozootechnie. – *Ethnozootechnie*, **49**: 15–23.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): Pleistocene Avifaunas of Europe. – In: Bird working group ICAZ (ed): Ornithoarchaeology: Birds of the past from a paleocultural perspective (Madrid, 1992). – Archaeofauna. Technical paper No 1., Abstracts,

p. 27.

- GUÉRIN, C., CURVELLO, M.A., FAURE, M., HUGUENEY, M. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1993): Paleoecological and biochronological implications of the Pleistocene vertebrate fauna of Piaui (Nordeste of Brazil). – In: Conferência internacional sobre o povoamento das Americas (Sao Raimundo Nonato, 1993), Abstract.
- GUÉRIN, C., CURVELLO, M.A., FAURE, M., HUGUENEY, M. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1993): La faune pléistocène du Piaui (Nordeste du Brésil): implications paléoécologiques et biochronologiques. – Quaternaria nova, 3: 303–341.
- GUÉRIN, C., HUGUENEY, M., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & FAURE, M. (1993): Paléoenvironnement pléistocène dans l'aire archéologique de Sao Raimundo Nonato (Piaui, Brésil): apport des mammifères et des oiseaux. In: GAYET, M. (coord.): Paléontologie et Stratigraphie d'Amérique latine. Table Ronde Européenne (Lyon, 1992). Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, 125: 187–202.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1993): Les Gangas (Aves, Columbiformes, Pteroclidae) du Paléogène et du Miocène inférieur de France. – *Palaeovertebrata*, **22**/2–3: 73–98.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1993): The Pleistocene Avifaunas of Europe. *Archaeofauna*, **2**: 53–66.
- GUÉRIN, C. with the collaboration of BALLESIO, R., CRÉGUT-BONNOURE, E., EISENMANN, V., FAURE, M. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., MEIN, P., PHILIPPE, M. & RAGE, J.C. (1994): Conclusions sur la faune pléistocène de l'affluent R. de Joly. – In: PHILIPPE, M. (ed.): L'autre Padirac, spéléologie, karstologie, paléontologie et préhistoire dans l'affluent R. de Joly. – Coedition Spelunca Mémoire, 20 and Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 31: 188–190.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1994): L'Amérique du Sud, continent isolé? – Included in an article of MAR-SHALL, L.: Des oiseaux carnivores en Amérique du Sud. – *Pour la Science* (Paris) **198**: 80.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1994): Etude associée 7. Liste des Oiseaux. In: PACCARD, M. & BOUVILLE, C. (eds): La grotte d'Unang à Malemort-du-Comtat. *Documents d'Archéologie vauclusienne*, 4: 147–148.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1994): A large Owl from the Palaeocene of France. *Palaeontology*, **37**/2: 339–348.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1994): L'avifaune tardiglaciaire et holocène de Jean Pierre 1. – In: BINTZ, P. (ed.): Les grottes Jean Pierre 1 et 2 à Saint-Thibaud-de-Couz (Savoie). Première partie: Paléoenvironnement du Tardiglaciaire à l'Holocène dans les Alpes du Nord. – Gallia-Préhistoire, **36**: 210–218.
- Mourer-Chauviré, C., Bour, R. & Ribes, S. (1994):

Mascarenotus nov. gen. (Aves, Strigiformes), genre endémique éteint des Mascareignes et *M.* grucheti n. sp., espèce éteinte de La Réunion. – *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris*, **318**, sér. II: 1699–1706.

- PHILIPPE, M. with the collaboration of BALLESIO, R., CRÉGUT-BONNOURE, E., EISENMANN, V., FAURE, M., GUÉRIN, C., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., MEIN, P. & RAGE, J.C. (1994): Liste du matériel paléontologique sorti et laissé sur place. – In: PHILIPPE, M. (ed.): L'autre Padirac, spéléologie, karstologie, paléontologie et préhistoire dans l'affluent R. de Joly. – Coedition Spelunca Mémoire, 20 and Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 31: 128–138.
- FERRANDINI, J. & SALOTTI, M. with the collaboration of BAILON, S., BONIFAY, M.F., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & RÉAL-TESTUD, A.M. (1995): Découverte d'importants remplissages fossilifères d'âge Pléistocène supérieur et Holocène dans le karst de la région d'Oletta (Haute-Corse). – *Geobios*, 28/1:117–124.
- FOREST, V., PETERS, J. & MANHART H. with the participation of DUTOUR, Y., DE LIGNEREUX, Y. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1995): Avifaune du XVIe siècle à Lyon (Rhône, France). – Revue de Médecine vétérinaire, 146/10: 637–646.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1995): Les Garouillas et les sites contemporains (Oligocène, MP 25) des Phosphorites du Quercy (Lot, Tarn-et-Garonne, France) et leurs faunes de vertébrés. 3. Oiseaux. – Palaeontographica, Abt. A, 236: 33–38.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1995): The Messelornithidae (Aves: Gruiformes) from the Paleogene of France. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 181: 95–105.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1995): Dynamics of the avifauna during the Paleogene and the Early Neogene of France. Settling of the Recent fauna. – *Acta zoologica cracoviensia*, **38**/3: 325–342.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., MOUTOU, F. & RIBES, S. (1995): Témoignages fossiles de l'existence du Petit-duc de Commerson à Maurice et d'espèces affines sur les autres Mascareignes. – In: Actes du 21^{ème} Colloque francophone d'Ornithologie (Paris, 1994). – Alauda, 63/1: 75.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. (1995): Position systématique du Solitaire de la Réunion: nouvelle interprétation basée sur les restes fossiles et les récits des anciens voyageurs. – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, 320, sér. IIa: 1125–1131.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. (1995): Was the Solitaire of Réunion an Ibis?. – *Nature*, **373** (6515): 568.
- Guérin, C., Curvello, M.A., Faure, M., Hugueney, M. & Mourer-Chauviré, C. (1996): The Pleis-

tocene fauna of Piaui (Northeastern Brazil): paleoecological and biochronological implications. – Proceedings of the International meeting on the Peopling of the Americas, Sao Raimundo Nonato, Piaui, Brasil, 1993. – *Fumdhamentos*, 1: 55–103.

- LEGENDRE, S., SIGÉ, B., ASTRUC, J.-G., BONIS, L. DE, CROCHET, J.-Y., DENYS, C., GODINOT, M., HARTEN-BERGER, J.-L., MARANDAT, B., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., RAGE, J.-C., RÉMY, J.-A., SUDRE, J. & VIANEY-LIAUD, M. (1996): Les Phosphorites du Quercy: 30 ans de recherche. Bilan et perspective. – In: RACHEBOEUF, P.R. & GAYET, M. (eds): Journées Claude Babin (Lyon, 1996). Actualités paléontologiques, Abstracts: 12
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1996): Paleogene avian localities of France. – In: MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (ed.): Tertiary Avian Localities of Europe. – Acta Universitatis Carolinae, **39**/3–4: 567–598.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1996): Pliocene avian localities of France. – In: MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (ed.): Tertiary Avian Localities of Europe. – *Acta Universitatis Carolinae*, **39**/3–4: 613–618.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. (1996): The puzzle of the Réunion Solitaire solved. – Working Group on birds in the Madagascar Region, Newsletter, 6/1: 2–5.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. (1996): Le Solitaire de la Réunion était-il un ibis?. – In: Actes du 22^{ème} Colloque francophone d'Ornithologie (Paris, 1995). – *Alauda*, **64**/1: 68.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. & MOUTOU, F. (1996): The avifauna of Réunion Island at the time of arrival of the first Europeans and its relationships with the avifauna of the other Mascarene Islands. – In: 4th International meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Washington D.C., 1996), Abstracts: 13.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & HUME, J. (1996): The colonization of Réunion by birds in relation with the volcanic phenomena. – In: 4th International meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution, (Washington D.C., 1996), Abstracts: 14.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., SENUT, B., PICHFORD, M. & MEIN, P. (1996): Le plus ancien représentant du genre *Struthio* (Aves, Struthionidae), *Struthio coppensi* n. sp., du Miocène inférieur de Namibie. – *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris*, **322**, sér. IIa: 325–332.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C C., SENUT, B., PICKFORD, M., MEIN, P. & DAUPHIN, Y. (1996): Ostrich legs, eggs and phylogenies. – *South African Journal of Science*, **92**: 492–495.
- PAVIA, M. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1996): The Middle Pleistocene avifauna of Spinagallo Cave (Sicily, Italy). – In: 4th International meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Washington

D.C., 1996), Abstracts: 16

- SCHMIDER, B., VALENTIN, B., BAFFIER, D., DAVID, F., JULIEN, M., LEROI-GOURHAN, A., MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ, C., POULAIN, T., ROBLIN-JOUVE, A. & TABORIN, Y. (1996): L'abri du Lagopède (Fouilles Leroi-Gourhan) et le Magdalénien des grottes de la Cure (Yonne). – *Gallia-Préhistoire*, **37**: 55–114.
- LEGENDRE, S., SIGÉ, B., ASTRUC, J.-G., BONIS, L. DE, CROCHET, J.-Y., DENYS, C., GODINOT, M., HARTEN-BERGER, J.-L., MARANDAT, B., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., RAGE, J.-C., RÉMY, J.-A., SUDRE, J. & VIANEY-LIAUD, M. (1997): Les Phosphorites du Quercy: 30 ans de recherche. Bilan et perspectives. – In: Université Claude Bernard, Lyon 1 (ed.): Actualités paléontologiques en l'honneur de Claude Babin. – *Geobios*, Mém. spéc., 20: 331–345.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1997): Le triste exemple des Moas, p. 90. – In: VIGNE, J.C. (ed.): Iles, vivre entre ciel et mer. – p. 90. Paris (Nathan et Muséum National d'Histoire naturelle).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1997): Souvenirs de Jean Bouchud. – Bulletin de la Société préhistorique française, 94/1: 13–14.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1997): book review of J. MLÍK-OVSKÝ (1996), Tertiary Avian Localities of Europe. Praha (Univerzita Karlova). – *Ibis*, **139**/4: 715.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., SALOTTI, M., PEREIRA, E., QUINIF, Y., COURTOIS, J.-Y., DUBOIS, J.-N. & LA MILZA, J.-C. (1997): Athene angelis n. sp. (Aves, Strigiformes), nouvelle espèce endémique insulaire éteinte du Pléistocène moyen et supérieur de Corse (France). – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, **324**, sér. IIa: 677–684.
- SALOTTI, M., BAILON, S., BONIFAY, M.-F., COURTOIS, J.-Y., DUBOIS, J.-N., FERRANDINI, J., FERRAN-DINI, M., LA MILZA, J.-C., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., POPELARD, J.-B., QUINIF, Y., REAL-TESTUD, A.-M., MINICONI, C., PEREIRA, E. & PERSIANI, C. (1997): Castiglione 3, un nouveau remplissage fossilifère d'âge Pléistocène moyen dans le karst de la région d'Oletta (Haute Corse, France). – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, 324, sér. IIa: 67–74.
- SEGUI, B., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & ALCOVER, J.A. (1997): Upper Pleistocene and Holocene fossil avifauna from Moleta Cave (Mallorca, Balearic Islands). – Bolleti de la Societat d'Historia Natural de les Balears, 40: 223–252.
- BLONDEL, J. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1998): Evolution and history of the western palearctic avifauna. – *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 13/12: 488–492.
- BONIFAY, E., BASSIAKOS, Y., BONIFAY, M.-F., LOUCHART, A., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., PEREIRA, E., QUINIF, Y. & SALOTTI, M. (1998): La Grotte de la Coscia (Rogliano, Macinaggio): Etude préliminaire d'un nouveau site du Pléistocène supérieur de Corse. – *Paléo*, **10**: 17–41.

- LOUCHART, A., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., GULEC, E., CLARK HOWELL, F. & WHITE, T.D. (1998): L'avifaune de Dursunlu, Turquie, Pléistocène inférieur: climat, environnement et biogéographie. – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, 327/5: 341–346.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., MOUTOU, F. & RIBES, S. (1998): Mascarenotus nov. gen. (Aves, Strigiformes), genre endémique éteint des Mascareignes et M. grucheti n. sp., espèce éteinte de La Réunion. – Info-Nature (Ile de la Réunion), 24: 80–93.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. (1998): Position systématique du Solitaire de la Réunion: Nouvelle interprétation basée sur les restes fossiles et les récits des anciens voyageurs. – *Info-Nature* (Ile de la Réunion), 24: 94–106.
- SIGÉ, B., HUGUENEY, M., CROCHET, J.-Y., LEGENDRE, S., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., RAGE J.-C. & SIMON-COINÇON, R. (1998): Baraval, nouvelle faune de l'Oligocène inférieur (MP 22) des Phosphorites du Quercy. Apport à la signification chronologique des remplissages karstiques. – Bulletin de la Société d'Histoire naturelle de Toulouse, 134: 85–90.
- BLONDEL, J. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): Histoire et Evolution des Avifaunes d'Europe. – Actes du Colloque national (24ème) et interrégional (38ème) francophone d'Ornithologie (Lyon-Bron, 1998). Résumés des communications. – *Alauda*, **67**/4: 337.
- GUÉRIN, C., FAURE, M., SIMÕES, P.R., HUGUENEY, M.
 & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): A jazida pleistocênica da Toca da Janela da Barra do Antoniao (Sao Raimundo Nonato, Piaui). In: SCHOBBENHAUS, C., CAMPOS, D.A., QUEIROZ, E.T., WINGE, M.
 & BERBERT-BORN, M. (eds): Sítios Geológicos e Paleontológicos do Brasil. *Publicado na Internet em 27/10/1999 no endereço*, 9 p.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): Les relations entre les avifaunes du Tertiaire inférieur d'Europe et d'Amérique du Sud. – *Bulletin de la Société* géologique de France, **170**/1: 85–90.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): Position systématique

de Nupharanassa bohemica Mlikovsky, 1999. – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, Sér. IIa, **329**/1: 149–152.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): Tertiary barn owls of Europe. Comments on the paper by Mlikovsky J. (1998): A new barn owl (Aves: Strigidae) from the early Miocene of Germany, with comments on the fossil history of the Tytonidae. – *Journal für Ornithologie*, **140**: 363–364.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): The Tertiary avifauna of Italy. – Atti X Convegno italiano di Ornitologia. – Avocetta, 23/1: 149.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): Avifauna. In: SIM-MONS A.H. and assoc. (eds): Faunal Extinction in an Island Society. Pygmy Hippopotamus Hunters of Cyprus. – pp. 170–181, New York (Kluwer Academic/Plenum Press).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): Réponse aux observations de J.-C. Rage à la note: Les relations entre les avifaunes du Tertiaire inférieur d'Europe et d'Amérique du Sud. – Bulletin de la Société géologique de France, 1999/6: 953–954.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): Influence de l'homme préhistorique sur la répartition de certains oiseaux marins: l'exemple du Grand pingouin, *Pinguinus impennis*. – Actes du Colloque national (24ème) et interrégional (38^{ème}) francophone d'Ornithologie (Lyon-Bron, 1998). Résumés des communications. –*Alauda*, **67**/4: 273–279.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): book review of TYBERG, T. (1998). Pleistocene Birds of the Palearctic: A Catalogue (Nuttall Ornithological Club). – *Ibis*, 141/2: 343.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., RIBES, S. & MOUTOU, F. (1999): The avifauna of Réunion Island (Mascarene Islands) at the Time of the Arrival of the First Europeans. – *Smithsonian Contribution to Paleobiology*, **89**: 1–38.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., LEGENDRE, S., MARANDAT, B., & B. SIGÉ (1999): Le Quercy tropical. – Pour la Science, 262: 60–67.

2000-2009

- BRUNET, M. & Mission Paléoanthropologique Franco-Tchadienne (2000): Chad: Discovery of a vertebrate fauna biochronologically close to the Mio-Pliocene boundary. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 20/1: 205–209.
- MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2000): Rollers (Aves: Coraciiformes s. s.) from the Middle Eocene of Messel (Germany) and the Upper Eocene of the Quercy (France). – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 20/3: 533–546.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2000): A new species of *Ameripodius* (Aves: Galliformes:

Quercymegapodiidae) from the Lower Miocene of France. – *Palaeontology*, **43**/3: 481–493.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2000): Revision of the Cathartidae (Aves, Ciconiiformes) from the Middle Eocene to the Late Oligocene of Phosphorites du Quercy, France. – In: 5th International Meeting of the Society for Avian Paleontology and Evolution and Symposium of the Jehol Biota. Abstracts. – *Vertebrata PalAsiatica*, **38** suppl.: 21.
- Mourer-Chauviré, C. & Antunes, M.T. (2000): L'avifaune pléistocène et holocène de Gruta da Figueira Brava (Arrabida, Portugal). – In: Antunes,

M. T. (ed.): Colloquium. Last Neanderthals in Portugal. –*Memorias da Adademia das Ciências de Lisboa, Classe de Ciências*, **38**: 117–149.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., RIBES, S. & MOUTOU, F. (2000): Match Ibis contre Dodo blanc, troisième manche. – Le Taille-Vent, 5–6: 14–18.
- PAVIA, M. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2000): An Overview of the genus *Athene* in the Pleistocene Mediterranean Islands with the description of a new species of *Athene* (Aves, Strigiformes). In: SHI, L. & ZHANG, F. (eds): 5th International Meeting of the Society for Avian Paleontology and Evolution and Symposium of the Jehol Biota. Abstracts. *Vertebrata PalAsiatica*, **38** suppl.: 24–25.
- SALOTTI, M., BELLOT-GOURLET, L., COURTOIS, J.-Y., DUBOIS, J.-N., LOUCHART, A., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., OBERLIN, C., PEREIRA, E., POUPEAU, G. & TRA-MONI, P. (2000): La fin du Pléistocène et le début de l'Holocène en Corse: Apports paléontologique et archéologique du Site de Castiglione (Oletta, Haute-Corse). – *Quaternaire*, 11/3–4: 219–230.
- CRÉGUT, E. & FOSSE, P. with contributions of ARGANT,
 A., ARGANT, J., DEBARD, E., DONAT-AYACHE, B.,
 MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., MEIN, P., PHILIPPE, M.
 & THINON, M. (2001): Holocene Brown Bears (Ursus arctos L.) in natural traps: exceptional sites of Mont-Ventoux (Vaucluse, France). Cadernos Laboratorio Xeolóxico de Laxe, Coruña, 26: 325–340.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2001): The systematic position of the genus *Basityto* Mlíkovský 1998 (Aves: Gruiformes: Gruidae). – *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington*, **114**/4: 964–971.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2001): L'avifaune originelle de La Réunion et l'impact de l'arrivée de l'homme. – *Le Taille-Vent*, numéro spécial Braconnage: 2–4.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2001): book review of TOMEK, T. & BOCHENSKI, Z.M. (2000), The comparative osteology of European Corvids (Aves: Corvidae), with a key to the identification of their skeletal elements. Publications of the Institute of Systematics and Evolution of Animals (Kraków). – Archaeofauna, 10: 213–214.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., LOUCHART, A., PAVIA, M. & SEGUI, B. (2001): Les Avifaunes du Pléistocène moyen et supérieur des îles méditerranéennes. Bulletin de la Société des Sciences historiques et naturelles de la Corse, **696–697**: 223–244.
- GUÉRIN, C. with the collaboration of BALLESIO, R., BEDEN, M., BOUVIER, J., FAURE, M., LOPEZ-MAR-TINEZ, N., MALLYE, J.-B., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., MEIN P., PHILIPPE, M., RAGE J.-C., VALLI, A. & VILAIN, R. (2002): Conclusion générale sur la faune du Pléistocène supérieur de la Grotte de Jaurens (Commune de Nespouls, Corrèze, France). – *Cahiers scientifiques. Muséum d'Histoire naturelle*

de Lyon, **1**: 55–66.

- HUGUENEY, M., BERTHET, D., BODERGAT, A.-M., ESCUIL-LIÉ, F., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & WATTINE, A. (2002): Changements fauniques en Limagne à la limite Oligocène-Miocène: Les Mammifères, Oiseaux et Ostracodes des différents niveaux de Billy-Créchy (Allier). – In: Strati 2002 – 3^{ème} Congrès Français de Stratigraphie (Lyon, 2002). Abstracts. – Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, 156: 129.
- MERLE, D., BAUT J.-P., GINSBURG, L., SAGNE, C., HERVET, S., CARRIOL, R.-P., VÉNEC-PEYRÉ, M.-T., BLANC-VALLERON, M.-M., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., ARAMBOL, D. & VIETTE, P. (2002): Découverte d'une faune de Vertébrés dans l'Oligocène inférieur de Vayres-sur-Essonne (Bassin de Paris, France). – Comptes Rendus Palevol, 1: 111–116.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2002): Les oiseaux. In: SCHMIDER, B. (ed.) L'Aurignacien de la Grotte du Renne. Les fouilles d'André Leroi-Gourhan à Arcy-sur-Cure (Yonne). – *Gallia-Préhistoire*, XXXIV^{ème} suppl.: 103–105.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2002): Revision of the Cathartidae (Aves: Ciconiiformes) from the Middle Eocene to the Upper Oligocene Phosphorites du Quercy, France. – In: ZHOU Z. & ZHANG, F. (eds.): Proceedings of the 5th Symposium of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Beijing, 2000). – pp. 97–111, Beijing (Science Press).
- PAVIA, M. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2002) An Overview of the Genus *Athene* in the Pleistocene of the Mediterranean Islands, with description of *Athene trinacriae* n. sp. (Aves: Strigidae). . In: ZHOU Z. & ZHANG, F. (eds.): Proceedings of the 5th Symposium of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Beijing, 2000). pp. 13–27, Beijing (Science Press).
- VIGNAUD, P., DURINGER, P., TAÏSSO, M.H., ANDOSSA, L., BLONDEL, C., BOISSERIE, J.-R., BONIS, L. DE, EISEN-MANN, V., ETIENNE, M.-E., GERAADS, D., GUY, F., LEHMANN, T., LIHOREAU, F., LOPEZ-MARTINEZ, N., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., OTERO, O., RAGE, J.-C., SCHUSTER, M., VIRIOT, L., ZAZZO, A. & BRUNET, M. (2002): Geology and Palaeontology of the Upper Miocene hominid locality Toros Menalla, Chad. – Nature, 418: 152–155.
- Augé, M., GINSBURG, L., LAPPARENT DE BROIN, F., MAK-INSKY, M., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., POUIT, D. & SEN, S. (2002): Les Vertébrés du Miocène moyen de Contres (Loir-et-Cher, France). – *Revue de Paléobiologie*, **21**/2: 819–852.
- CRÉGUT-BONNOURE, E., ARGANT, A., ARGANT, J., BILLIOUD, D., BOCHERENS, H., DEBARD, E., DONAT-AYACHE, B., FOSSE, P., HÄNNI, C., LAUDET, F., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., OBERLIN, C., ORLANDO, L., PHILIPPE, M. & THINON, M. (2003): Les avenspièges du Mont Ventoux (Vaucluse, France):

Découverte de la plus grande accumulation européenne de restes d'ours bruns (*Ursus arctos* L.) et données sur l'environnement holocène en milieu d'altitude. – In: 9^{ème} Symposium sur l'Ours des Cavernes, Entremont-le-Vieux, Résumés: 82–83.

- FONTANA, L., LANG, L., CHAUVIÈRE, F.-X., JEANNET, M., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & MAGOGA, L. (2003): Paléolithique supérieur récent du nord du Massif Central: des données inattendues sur le site des Petits Guinards à Creuzier-le-Vieux (Allier, France). – Bulletin de Préhistoire du Sud-Ouest, n°10/2003–1: 77–93.
- GHEERBRANT, E., SUDRE, J., CAPPETTA, H., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOURDON, E., IAROCHENE, M., AMAGHZAZ, M. & BOUYA, B. (2003): Les localités à mammifères des carrières de Grand Daoui, bassin des Ouled Abdoun, Maroc, Yprésien: premier état des lieux. – Bulletin de la Société géologique de France, 174/3: 279–293.
- Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2003): Case 3266. Palaeortyx phasianoides MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869 (Aves, Galliformes): proposed conservation of the usage of the specific name by the designation of a neotype. – Bulletin of Zoological Nomenclature, 60/3: 211–214.
- Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2003): Revision of the phasianids (Aves, Galliformes) from the Lower Miocene of St.-Gérand-le-Puy. – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 23 (3 suppl.): 55A–56A.
- HUGUENEY, M., BERTHET, D., BODERGAT, A.-M., ESCUIL-LIÉ, F., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & WATTINE, A. (2003): La limite Oligocène-Miocène en Limagne: changements fauniques chez les mammifères, oiseaux et ostracodes des différents niveaux de Billy-Créchy (Allier, France). – *Geobios*, 36: 719–731.
- MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2003): Phylogeny and fossil record of the Brachypteraciidae: a comment on KIRCHMAN et al. (2001). – *The Auk*, **120**/1: 202–203.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2003): Birds (Aves) from the Middle Miocene of Arrisdrift (Namibia). Preliminary study with description of two new genera: *Amanuensis* (Accipitriformes, Sagittariidae), and *Namibiavis* (Gruiformes, Idiornithidae). – In: PICKFORD, M. & SENUT, B. (eds): Geology and Paleobiology of the Central and Southern Namib. Vol. 2: Paleontology of the Orange River Valley, Namibia. – *Memoir of the Geological Survey of Namibia*, 19: 103–113.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2003): Aperçu sur l'avifaune quaternaire de la Drôme. – In: Centre Ornithologique Rhône-Alpes (ed.): Oiseaux de la Drôme, Atlas des Oiseaux nicheurs de la Drôme. – pp. 267–271, Romans (Centre Ornithologique Rhône-Alpes, section Drôme).
- Mourer-Chauviré, C. & Balouet, J.-C. (2003):

Description of the skull of *Sylviornis neocaledoniae* Poplin, 1980 (Aves, Galliformes), giant extinct bird from the Holocene of New Caledonia. – In: International Symposium: Insular Vertebrate Evolution, The Palaeontological Approach (Palma de Mallorca, 2003). Programme & Abstracts. – *Societat d'Historia Natural de les Balears*: 41

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., PHILIPPE, M., QUINIF, Y., CHALINE, J., DEBARD, E., GUÉRIN, C. & HUGUENEY, M. (2003): Position of the palaeontological site of Aven I des Abimes de la Fage, at Noailles (Corrèze, France) in the European Pleistocene chronology. *Boreas*, **32**/3: 521–531.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & TELLES ANTUNES, M. (2003): Présence de *Palaeoperdix media* (Aves, Galliformes, Phasianidae) et d'autres oiseaux dans le Miocène du Portugal. – *Ciências da Terra (UNL)*, **15**: 191–198.
- Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2004): Comments on the proposed conservation of usage of the specific name *Palaeortyx phasianoides* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869 (Aves, Galliformes) by the designation of a neotype. – *Bulletin of Zoological Nomenclature*, **61**/3: 174–176.
- Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2004): Revision of the phasianids (Aves, Galliformes) from the Lower Miocene of St.-Gérand-le-Puy (France). – Sixth International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Quillan, 2004). Abstracts: 26
- GUÉRIN, C., FAURE, M., ARGANT, A., ARGANT, J., CRÉGUT-BONNOURE, E., DEBARD, E., DELSON, E., EISENMANN, V., HUGUENEY, M., LIMONDIN-LOZOUET, N., MARTIN-SUAREZ, E., MEIN, P., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ C., PARENTI, F., PASTRE, J.-F., SEN S. & VALLI, A. (2004): Le gisement pliocène supérieur de Saint-Vallier (Drôme, France): synthèse biostratigraphique et paléoécologique. – *Geobios*, Mém. spéc. 26/37: 349–360.
- LOUCHART, A. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ C. (2004): Zoom sur les oiseaux fossiles d'Afrique. – *Club. Le magazine de l'UCB Lyon* 1, 4: 7.
- LOUCHART, A., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., TAISSO MAC-KAYE, H., LIKIUS, A., VIGNAUD, P. & BRUNET, M. (2004): Les Oiseaux du Pliocène inférieur du Djourab, Tchad, Afrique Centrale. – Bulletin de la Société géologique de France, 175/4: 413–421.
- MAGNOL, J.-P., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & BERNEX, F. (2004): L'Origine des Oiseaux et la question de l'homologie des doigts de la main: Données contradictoires de la Systématique phylogénétique et de la Biologie du développement. – *Revue de Médecine Vétérinaire*, **155**/3: 187–196.
- MANEGOLD, A., MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2004): Miocene Songbirds and the composition of the European passeriform avifauna. – *The Auk*, **121**/4: 1155–1160.

- MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2004): Unusual tarsometatarsus of a mousebird from the Paleogene of France and the relationships of *Selmes* Peters, 1999. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontol*ogy, 24/2: 366–372.
- MAYR, G., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & WEIDIG, I. (2004): Osteology and systematic position of the Eocene Primobucconidae (Aves, Coraciiformes sensu stricto), with first records from Europe. – *Journal of Systematic Palaeontology*, **2**/1: 1–12.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2004): Les oiseaux du Pliocène supérieur de Saint-Vallier (Drôme, France). –
 In: FAURE, M. & GUÉRIN, C. (eds): Le gisement pliocène final de Saint-Vallier (Drôme, France). *Geobios*, Mém. spec. 26/37: 97–114.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2004): book review of MLíKovský, J., 2002, Cenozoic Birds of the World, part 1: Europe, Praha (Ninox press). – *The Auk*, **121**/2: 623–627.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2004): book review of CHI-APPE, L.M., & WITMER, L.M., 2002, Mesozoic Birds. Above the heads of Dinosaurs, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London (University of California Press) – *Geobios*, **37**/4: 554–555.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2004): The fossil birds from the Phosphorites du Quercy. – In: BUFFETAUT, E. & LE LOEUFF, J. (eds): Guide book for the excursion of the 6th International Meeting of the Society for Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Quillan, France, 2004): 11 pp.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BERTHET, D. & HUGUENEY, M. (2004): The late Oligocene birds of the Créchy quarry (Allier, France), with a description of two new genera (Aves: Pelecaniformes: Phalacrocoracidae, and Anseriformes: Anseranatidae). – Senckenbergiana lethaea, 84/1–2: 303–315.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. (2004): The taxonomic identity of Circus alphonsi (Newton & Gadow), the extinct Harrier from Mauritius. – *Ibis*, **146**: 168–172.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. (2004): The Recent avian extinctions on Réunion (Mascarene Islands) from the paleontological and historical sources.. – In: British Ornithologists' Union and the Linnean Society (ed.): Recent Avian Extinctions, Autumn Scientific Meeting (London, 2004), Abstracts: pp. 5–6.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & GERAADS, D. (2004): The Struthionidae and Pelagornithidae (Aves: Struthioniformes and Pelecaniformes) from the Late Pliocene of Ahl al Oughlam, Morocco. – In: BUFFETAUT, E. & LE LOEUFF, J. (eds): Sixth International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Quillan, France, 2004), Abstracts: p. 44.
- Pickford, M, Senut, B. & Mourer-Chauviré, C.

(2004): Early Pliocene Tragulidae and Peafowls in the Rift Valley, Kenya: evidence for rainforest in East Africa. – *Comptes Rendus Palevol*, **3**: 179–189.

- CRÉGUT-BONNOURE, E., ARGANT, A., ARGANT, J., AYACHE-DONAT, B., BILLIOU, D., BOCHERENS, H., BOUCHER, C., BUISSON-CATIL, J., DEBARD, E., FOSSE, P., HÄNNI, C., LAUDET, F., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., MEIN, P., OBERLIN, C., ORLANDO, L., PHILIPPE, M., QUILES, J. & THINON, M. (2005): Les cavités karstiques du Mont Ventoux (Vaucluse, France): des ours bruns (*Ursus arctos* L.) et des milieux d'altitude à l'Holocène. – Bulletin de la Société d'Histoire naturelle de Toulouse, 141/1: 5–18.
- Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2005): Revision of the Phasianids (Aves: Galliformes) from the Lower Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France). *Palaeontology*, **48**/6: 1331–1350.
- LOUCHART, A., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., VIGNAUD, P., MACKAYE, H.T. & BRUNET, M. (2005): A finfoot from the Late Miocene of Toros Menalla (Chad, Africa): Palaeobiogeographical and palaeoecological implications. – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 222: 1–9.
- MAITRE, E., HUGUENEY, M., ASTRUC, J.G., CROCHET, J.-Y., ESCARGUEL, G., GODINOT, M., LEGENDRE, S., MARANDAT, B., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., RAGE, J.-C., RÉMY, J.A., SIMON-COINÇON, R., SUDRE, J., VALETTE, P. & SIGÉ, B. (2005): Huit nouvelles faunes éocènes et oligocènes des phosphorites du Quercy. – In: ANONYMOUS (ed.): Journées Bernard Gèze (Lalbenque and Limogne-en-Quercy, 2005), Résumés des communications: p.18.
- MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2005): A specimen of *Parvicuculus* Harrison & Walker 1977 (Aves: Parvicuculidae) from the early Eocene of France. – *Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club*, **125**/4: 299–304.
- MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2005): An unusual avian coracoid from the Paleogene Quercy fissure fillings in France. – In: ANONYMOUS (ed.): Journées Bernard Gèze (Lalbenque and Limogneen-Quercy, 2005), Résumés des communications: p. 20.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2005): The avifauna of the Eocene and Oligocene Phosphorites du Quercy (France): An updated list. – Journées Bernard Gèze (Lalbenque and Limogne-en-Quercy, 2005), Résumés des communications: p. 21.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2005): Les oiseaux des niveaux néolithiques de la Redoute à Chassey. In: THEVENOT, J.P. (ed.): Le camp de Chassey (Chassey-le-Camp, Saône-et-Loire). Les niveaux néolithiques du rempart de "la Redoute". *Revue Archéologique de l'Est*, 22. suppl.: 415–416.
- Mourer-Chauviré, C. (2005): Un Colibri fossile dans l'Ancien Monde. – In: Gautier, Y & Collec-

tif (eds). La Science au présent 2005. Une année d'actualité scientifique et technique. – *Encyclopaedia Universalis France*: 52–53.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & BALOUET, J.C. (2005): Description of the skull of the genus *Sylviornis* Poplin, 1980 (Aves, Galliformes, Sylviornithdae new family), a giant extinct bird from the Holocene of New Caledonia. – In: ALCOVER, J.A. & BOVER, P. (eds): Proceedings of the International Symposium "Insular Vertebrate Evolution: the Palaeontological Approach". – *Monografies de la Societat d'Historia Natural de les Balears*, **12**: 205–218.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & SIGÉ, B. (2005): Une nouvelle espèce de Jungornis (Aves, Apodiformes) et de nouvelles formes de Coraciiformes sensu stricto dans l'Eocène supérieur du Quercy. – In: ANONY-MOUS (ed.): Journées Bernard Gèze (Lalbenque and Limogne-en-Quercy, 2005), Résumés des communications: p. 22.
- DAVID, F., CONNET, N., GIRARD, M., MISKOVSKY, J.-C., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & ROBLIN-JOUVE, A. (2006): Les niveaux supérieurs de la Grotte du Bison à Arcy-sur-Cure (Yonne). Couches A à D. – *Revue* archéologique de l'Est, 54: 5–50.
- LEGENDRE, S., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., HUGUENEY, M., MAITRE, E., SIGÉ, B. & ESCARGUEL, G. (2006): Dynamique de la diversité des mammifères et des oiseaux au Paléogène du Massif Central (Quercy et Limagnes, France). – In: Association STRATA (ed.): Journées Bernard Gèze. – *Strata*, sér. 1, 13: 275–282.
- MAITRE, E., HUGUENEY, M., ASTRUC, J.G., CROCHET, J.-Y., ESCARGUEL, G., GODINOT, M., LEGENDRE, S., MARANDAT, B., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., RAGE, J.-C., RÉMY, J.A., SIMON-COINÇON, R., SUDRE, J., VALETTE, P. & SIGÉ, B. (2005): Huit nouvelles faunes éocènes et oligocènes des phosphorites du Quercy. – In: Association STRATA (ed.): Journées Bernard Gèze. – *Strata*, sér. 1, 13: 113–127.
- MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2006): Threedimensionally preserved cranial remains of *Elaphrocnemus* (Aves, Cariamae) from the Paleogene Quercy fissure fillings in France. – *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Mitteilungsheft*, **2006**/1: 15–27.
- MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2006): An unusual avian coracoid from the Paleogene Quercy fissure fillings in France. – In: Association STRATA (ed.): Journées Bernard Gèze. – *Strata*, sér. 1, **13**: 129–133.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2006): The avifauna of the Eocene and Oligocene Phosphorites du Quercy (France): An updated list. – In: Association STRATA (ed.): Journées Bernard Gèze. – *Strata*, sér. 1, **13**: 135–149.
- Mourer-Chauviré, C. (2006): Oiseaux. In: Hume,

J.P., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. (eds): Les Animaux disparus. Biodiversité de La Réunion. – 32 pp. Département de La Réunion, (Muséum d'Histoire naturelle).

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R. & RIBES, S. (2006): Recent Avian Extinctions on Réunion (Mascarene Islands) from the paleontological and historical sources. – Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club, 126A: 40–48.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., PHILIPPE, M., GUILLARD, S. & MEYSSONNIER, M. (2006): Presence of the Northern Bald Ibis, *Geronticus eremita* (L.) during the Holocene in the Ardèche valley, Southern France. *The Ibis*, **148**: 820–823.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & SIGÉ, B. (2006): Une nouvelle espèce de *Jungornis* (Aves, Apodiformes) et de nouvelles formes de Coraciiformes s. s. dans l'Eocène supérieur du Quercy. – In: Association STRATA (ed.): Journées Bernard Gèze. – *Strata*, sér. 1, **13**: 151–159.
- CROCHET, J.-Y., GENCE, J., BOULBES, N., BOUTIÉ, P., CRETIN, C., CRÉGUT-BONNOURE, É., DUZER, D., JOLLY, D., LAUDET, F., LEFÉVRE, D., MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ, C., ROUSSELIÈRES, F. & THOUAND, E. (2007): Nouvelles données paléoenvironnementales dans le sud de la France vers 30000 ans ¹⁴C BP: le cas de la grotte Marie (Hérault). – *Comptes Rendus Palevol* 6: 241–251.
- LOUCHART, A., TOURMENT, N., CARRIER, J., ROUX, T., & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2007): Hummingbird with modern feathering: an exceptionally well-preserved Oligocene fossil from southern France. – Naturwissenschaften, 95/2: 171–175.
- BOURDON, E., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUYA, A. & AMAGHZAZ, M. (2008): New specimens of *Lithoptila abdounensis* (Aves, Prophaethontidae) from the Lower Paleogene of Morocco. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 28/3: 751–761.
- DUHIG, C., JONES, G., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., NICODE-MUS, A., REESE, D.S. & ROSE, M.J. (2008): Chapter 12. The organic remains. – In: TAYLOUR, W.D. & JANKO, R. (eds): Ayios Stephanos. Excavations at a Bronze Age and Medieval Settlement in Southern Laconia. – Annual of the British School at Athens, Suppl. Vol. 44: 485–525.
- Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2008): A new cormorant (Aves, Phalacrocoracidae) from the lower Miocene of Southeastern Germany. – In: ANONYMOUS (ed.): 7th International meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Sydney, 2008), Abstracts: 10
- MAYR, G & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2008): The peculiar scapula of the late Eocene *Elaphrocnemus phasianus* Milne-Edwards, 1892 (Aves, Cariamae). – Senckenbergiana lethaea, 88/2: 195–198.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2008): Birds (Aves) from the Early Miocene of the Northern Sperrgebiet,

Namibia. – In: SENUT, B & PICKFORD, M. (eds): Geology and Palaeobiology of the Namib Desert, Southwestern Africa. Vol. 3. Palaeobiology of the Northern Sperrgebiet. –*Memoir of the Geological Survey of Namibia, Ministry of Mines and Energy*, **20**: 147–167.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & GERAADS, D. (2008): The Struthionidae and Pelagornithidae (Aves: Struthioniformes, Odontopterygiformes) from the Late Pliocene of Ahl al Oughlam, Morocco. – In: BUFFETAUT, E. (guest-ed.): SAPE, Sixth International Meeting, Espéraza-Quillan (France), 2004. – Oryctos, 7: 169–194.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & GERAADS, D. (2008): The Late Pliocene avifauna of Ahl al Oughlam, Morocco. – In: ANONYMOUS (ed.): 7th International meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Sydney, 2008), Abstracts, p. 14.
- Faure, M., Guérin, C. & Mourer-Chauviré, C.

(2009): L'art rupestre du Parc national Serra da Capivara: bestiaire figuré et données paléontologiques. – In: International Federation of Rock Art Organizations (ed.): Congresso Internacional de Arte Rupestre. Parque Nacional Serra da Capivara, (Piaui, Brasil 2009), Abstract.

- GARCIA, G., ADACI, M., BENSALAH, M., MEBROUK, F., JAEGER, J.-J., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., SUDRE, J., VALENTIN, X., MAHBOUBI, M. & TABUCE, R. (2009): The discovery of avian egg and bone remains from the Gour Lazib (Eocene, Algeria). – In: Premier Congrès international sur la Paléontologie des Vertébrés du Nord de l'Afrique (Marrakech, Maroc, 2009), Abstract.
- Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2009): A new cormorant species (Aves, Phalacrocoracidae) from the early Miocene of South eastern Germany. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, Abstracts 29/3: 106A.

2010-today

- FAURE, M., GUÉRIN, C. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2010): L'art rupestre du Parc National Serra da Capivara (Piaui, Brésil): bestiaire figuré et données paléontologiques. –In: Anais do Congresso internacional de Arte Rupestre IFRAO «Global Rock Art». Parque Nacional Serra da Capivara (Piaui, Brasil, 2009). – FUNDHAMentos, IX/II: 1–15.
- Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2010): A new cormorant-like bird (Aves, Phalacrocoracoidea) from the Early Miocene of Rauscheröd (Southern Germany). In: BOLES, W.E. & WORTHY, T.H. (eds): Proceedings of the VII International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution. *Records of the Australian Museum*, 62/1: 61–70.
- LAURENT, Y., ADNET, S., BOURDON, E., CORBALAN, D., DANILO, L., DUFFAUD, S., FLEURY, G., GARCIA, G., GODINOT, M., LE ROUX, G., MAISONNAVE, C., MÉTAIS, G., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., PRESSEQ, B., SIGÉ, B. & SOLÉ, F. (2010): La Borie (Saint-Papoul, Aude): un gisement exceptionnel dans l'Eocène basal du Sud de la France. – Bulletin de la Société d'Histoire naturelle de Toulouse, 146: 89–103.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & GERAADS, D. (2010): The Late Pliocene avifauna of Ahl al Oughlam, Morocco. Systematics and Biogeography. In: Boles, W.E. & WORTHY, T.H. (eds): Proceedings of the VII International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution. *Records of the Australian Museum*, 62/1: 157–184
- PICKFORD, M., SENUT, B., HIPODONKA, M., PERSON, A., SEGALEN, L., PLET, C., JOUSSE, H., MEIN, P., GUÉRIN, C., MORALES, J. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2010): Etosha: A Miocene to Pleistocene lacustrine playa calcrete succession in the Greater Ovambo Basin,

Namibia. – In: ANONYMOUS (ed.) International Colloquium on Langebaanweg, Abstract.

- LOUCHART, A. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. 2011): The Dodo was not so slim: log dimensions and scaling with body mass. – *Naturwissenschaften*, 98: 357–358.
- MAYR, G., ALVARENGA, H. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2011): Out of Africa: Fossils shed light on the origin of the hoatzin, an iconic Neotropic bird. – *Naturwissenschaften*, **98**: 961–966.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., PICKFORD, M. & SENUT, B. (2011): The first Palaeogene galliform from Africa. *Journal of Ornithology*, **152**/3: 617–622.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., TABUCE, R., MAHBOUBI, M., ADACI, M. & BENSALAH, M. (2011): A Phororhacoid bird from the Eocene of Africa. – *Naturwissen*schaften, **98**: 815–823.
- PAVIA, M. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2011): Redescription of *Tyto sanctialbani* (Lydekker, 1893) (Aves, Strigiformes) from its type locality of La Grive-Saint-Alban (middle Miocene, France). – *Journal* of Vertebrate Paleontology, **31**/5: 1093–1101.
- PICKFORD, M., SENUT, B., HIPODONKA, M., PERSON, A., SEGALEN, L., PLET, C., JOUSSE, H., MEIN, P., GUÉRIN, C., MORALES, J. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2011): Mio-Plio-Pleistocene geology and palaeobiology of Etosha Pan, Namibia. – *Communs geological Survey of Namibia*, 14(2009): 95–139.
- PAVIA, M., GÖHLICH, U.B., & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2012): Description of the type-series of *Palaeocryptonyx donnezani* Depéret, 1892 (Aves: Phasianidae) with the selection of a lectotype. *Comptes Rendus Palevol* 11(2012): 257–263.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., TABUCE, R., ESSID, E.M., MARI-VAUX, L., KHAYATI, H., VIANEY-LIAUD, M., & BEN

HAJ ALI, M. (2012): A small Galliform and a small Cuculiform from the Eocène of Tunisia. – In: WOR-THY, T.H. & GÖHLICH, U.B. (eds): 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Vienna, Austria 2012), Abstracts, p. 21.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., PEYROUSE, J.-B. & HUGUENEY, M. (2012): A new roller (Aves, Coraciiformes s. s.: Coraciidae) from the early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area, Allier, France. – In: WORTHY, T.H. & GÖHLICH, U.B. (eds): 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Vienna, Austria, 2012), Abstracts, p. 22.
- PAVIA, M., LOUCHART, A. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2012): The extinct Barn owls (*Tyto* spp.) of the Western Palearctic Neogene. – In: WORTHY, T.H. & Göhlich, U.B. (eds): 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution (Vienna, Austria, 2012), Abstracts, p. 24.
- ANTUNES, M.T., BALBINO, A.C., CRESPO, E., LEGOINHA, P., MEIN, P. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2012): Arqueozoologia: Materiais de meados do século XIII. – In: VARELA GOMES, M. (ed.): Silo Islâmico de Albufeira (Rua Henrique Calado), p. 69–83, Lisboa (Instituto de Arqueologia e Paleociéncias. Universidade nova de Lisboa).

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2013): Idiornis Oberholser, 1899 (Aves, Gruiformes, Cariamae, Idiornithidae): a junior synonym of Dynamopterus Milne-Edwards, 1892 (Paleogene, Phosphorites du Quercy, France. – Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen, 270/1: 13–22.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (in press): New data concerning the familial position of the genus *Euronyctibius* (Aves, Caprimulgiformes) from the Paleogene of the Phosphorites du Quercy, France. – *Paleontological Journal* (Volume honoring E.N. Kurochkin).
- DE PIETRI, V., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., MENKVELD-GFELLER, U., MEYER, C.A. & COSTEUR, L. (in press): An assessment of the Cenozoic fossil avifauna of Switzerland, with a description of two fossil owls. – Swiss Journal of Geosciences (Volume honoring J.P. Berger).
- LOUCHART, A., SIRE, J.-Y., VIRIOT, L., GERAADS, D., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & BUFFRENIL, V. DE (in press): Structure and growth pattern of pseudoteeth in *Pelagornis mauretanicus* (Aves, Odontopterygiformes, Pelagornithidae). – PLOS ONE.



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



ZooBank LSID: urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:86C1ED2B-C74F-4624-BE10-1CA9D0EF0C77

A new taxon of stem group Galliformes and the earliest record for stem group Cuculidae from the Eocene of Djebel Chambi, Tunisia

CÉCILE MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ¹, RODOLPHE TABUCE², EL MABROUK ESSID³, LAURENT MARIVAUX², HAYET KHAYATI³, MONIQUE VIANEY-LIAUD² & MUSTAPHA BEN HAJ ALI³

¹ Université Claude Bernard-Lyon 1, Villeurbanne, France; E-mail: cecile.mourer@univ-lyon1.fr

² Université Montpellier 2, Montpellier, France

³ Office National des Mines de Tunis (Service Géologique National), Tunis, Tunisia

Abstract — A distal tarsometatarsus and a fragment of carpometacarpus of a small galliform, the size of a recent quail, have been found in the late Early or early Middle Eocene of Chambi, in Tunisia. Although a large number of stem group representatives of Galliformes are known from the Eocene of the Northern Hemisphere, and one from the middle Eocene of Namibia, the taxon from Chambi differs from them and is described as a new genus and species. A very small zygodactyl form, represented by three distal tarsometatarsi, is also present in the same locality. This form, described as a new genus and species, is a stem group representative of the recent family Cuculidae. It shows a plesiomorphic morphology compared to the recent members of the Cuculidae, but it is, however, more derived than the younger genus *Eocuculus*. It is the earliest Cuculidae known so far.

Key words: fossil bird, Eocene, Djebel Chambi, Tunisia, Galliformes, Cuculiformes

Introduction

The Djebel Chambi in central Tunisia is famous for having yielded a rich faunal and floral assemblage (HARTENBERGER *et al.* 2001), including indeterminate amphibians and squamates, a peradectid marsupial, and several eutherians among which there are chiropterans, a putative erinaceomorph, a strepsirhine primate, a zegdoumyid rodent, a stem macroscelidid, a hyracoid, and charophytes. HARTENBERGER *et al.* (2001) have proposed that the fauna is Early Eocene in age, roughly contemporaneous with that of the Glib Zegdou in Algeria. However, the age of Chambi and Glib Zegdou faunas have long remained a matter of discussion, and current data rather indicate a late Early or early Middle Eocene age, unfortunately without more precision (e. g. ADACI et al. 2007; SEIFFERT 2010). Recent fieldwork on the Djebel Chambi has led us to the recovery of a new vertebrate locality (Chambi 2) in the same lacustrine limestone strata as the former site (here named Chambi 1) (Fig. 1). Careful acid etching of the fossiliferous limestone from Chambi 1 and 2 has yielded numerous vertebrate elements, among them the few avian elements described here.

Material and methods

The anatomical terminology follows BAUMEL & WITMER (1993), and when necessary HOWARD (1929). The fossil material is deposited in the



FIGURE 1. A, Map of Tunisia, showing the location of the Djebel Chambi Mountain near the city of Kasserine. **B**, Northern flank of the Djebel Chambi outcrops, section to the northwest, showing the sites of Chambi 1 and Chambi 2. The site of Chambi 1 corresponds to the locality of HARTEN-BERGER *et al.* (2001, and references therein) (see also RAVEL *et al.* 2013, and BENOIT *et al.* 2013); Chambi 2 was discovered in 2009. Only 650 m separate the two sites; both are located in the same stratigraphic position and have delivered the same mammalian assemblage, indicating a late Early or early Middle Eocene age.

collection of the "*Office National des Mines de Tunis*", Tunisia. Acronyms: UCBL, Université Claude Bernard, Lyon 1, France; USNM, United States National Museum of Natural History, Smithsonian Institution, Washington D.C.; ONM, Office National des Mines de Tunis, Tunisia.

Systematic Paleontology

Aves LINNAEUS, 1758 Order Galliformes TEMMINCK, 1820 Family incertae sedis

Chambiortyx nov. gen.

Type species: Chambiortyx cristata nov. spec.

Diagnosis: Distal part of tarsometatarsus with trochlea met. IV extending distally to about the half of trochlea met. III; trochlea met. II slightly shorter than trochlea met. IV; presence of a ridge starting from trochlea met. II and extending proximally along the boundary between the dorsal and medial sides of the shaft; foramen vasculare distale wide and not situated at the end of an outer extensor groove; trochlea met. II slightly plantarly deflected; trochleae arranged along a weakly arched curve in distal view.

Derivatio nominis: Chambi, from Djebel

Chambi in Tunisia, and *ortyx*, Greek word for a quail.

Chambiortyx cristata nov. spec. (Figs 2A–D)

Holotype: CB1-548 left tarsometatarsus, distal part.

Paratype: CB1-549 left carpometacarpus, fragment of distal part.

Type locality: Chambi 1, Central Tunisia, Kasserine district.

Age: Late Early or early Middle Eocene.

Diagnosis: As for the genus.

Derivatio nominis: *cristata*, Latin word indicating the presence of a characteristic ridge.

Measurements: Tarsometatarsus, holotype: Length as preserved, 7.6 mm; width of shaft at the level of the break, 2.8 mm; depth of shaft at the same level, 1.3 mm; distal width, 5.3 mm; distal depth, 3.7 mm; width of tr. met. III, 2.0 mm; depth of tr. met. III, 2.3 mm. Carpometacarpus, paratype: Length as preserved, 8.7 mm; dorsoventral dimension of the major metacarpal at the level of the break, 1.8 mm; craniocaudal dimensions of the major metacarpal at the same level, 1.5 mm; dorsoventral dimension of the distal end, 1.8 mm; craniocaudal dimension of the distal end, 3.1 mm.

Description and comparisons — **Tarsometatarsus** (Fig. 2A–C)

On the distal part of the tarsometatarsus, trochlea met. III is relatively elongate, trochlea met. IV extends distally to a little less than the middle of trochlea met. III, and trochlea met. II is slightly shorter than trochlea met. IV. Trochlea met. II is slightly plantarly displaced. The foramen vasculare distale is wide and elongate. There is no visible outer extensor groove (HowARD 1929). Proximally compared to the opening of the distal foramen, the dorsal face of the shaft is practically flat. On the medial side of the shaft, proximally compared to trochlea met. II, there is a longitudinal ridge situated at the boundary between the cranial and the medial faces.

On the plantar side, although the lateral rim of trochlea met. III is incomplete; it is possible to see that it extends proximally farther than the medial rim. The fossa supratrochlearis plantaris is relatively narrow and shallow. It is included between two ridges, a medial one which prolongs the proximal part of trochlea met. II, and a lateral one which prolongs the proximal part of trochlea met. IV. The wings of both trochleae met. II and IV are incompletely preserved. The distal vascular foramen is widely open and is situated close to the incisura intertrochlearis lateralis. The canalis interosseus distalis is absent.

In distal view the trochleae are arranged along a weakly arched curve. The medial rim of trochlea met. III advances more dorsally than the lateral rim, and the lateral rim advances more plantarly than the medial rim.

Comparisons with recent galliforms

Chambiortyx differs from the Phasianidae because in this family trochlea met. II is always more strongly plantarly displaced. In the Megapodiuae, the trochleae are more splayed. In *Megapodius* there are also two ridges on the plantar face, but it differs in the morphology of trochlea met. II, which appears very globular on the dorsal face and extends farther distally than trochlea met. IV. In the Cracidae, trochlea met. II extends slightly farther distally than trochlea met. IV; the distal part of the tarsometatarsus is rather flat; on the plantar face, the two ridges, medial and lateral, are present but they are only slightly

raised; the fossa supratrochlearis plantaris is wide and shallow; the distal vascular foramen is small.

Comparisons with fossil galliforms

1. Austinornis — CLARKE (2004) has attributed to the "Pan-Galliformes" a distal tarsometatarsus from the upper Cretaceous of Texas, which was the holotype of the species *Ichthyornis lentus* (MARSH, 1877), and created for it the new generic name Austinornis. This genus differs from Cham*biortyx* in having the distal vascular foramen very small and situated at the distal extremity of a distinct outer extensor groove. In Austinornis a "slight groove extends proximally from the juncture of metatarsals II and III on the dorsal surface of the tarsometatarsus" (CLARKE 2004: p. 53). This groove is very short in *Chambiortyx* and its characteristic ridge, on the cranial face, medial side, proximal to trochlea met. II, does not exist in Austinornis. Lastly, in Austinornis, trochlea met. II is more plantarly displaced than in Chambiortyx.

2. Gallinuloididae — The Gallinuloididae were present in the early Eocene of North America and in the Early and Middle Eocene of Europe, with the two genera Gallinuloides and Paraortygoides (MAYR 2009). In both genera the metatarsal trochleae are splayed (MAYR & WEIDIG 2004). The relative extension of trochleae met. II and IV compared to trochlea met. III is different in these two genera (MAYR 2000a; WEIDIG 2010). In Paraortygoides messelensis MAYR, 2000a the crista medianoplantaris forks and splits into two ridges which reach the wings of trochleae met. II and IV (see MAYR 2000a: fig. 9A). In Chambiortyx the two ridges do not meet. In Paraortygoides radagasti DYKE & GULAS, 2002 from the Early Eocene of England, there are two ridges on the plantar face, and these two ridges do not meet. These two ridges are not situated on the medial and lateral borders of the bone, but closer to its median axis. There is no ridge on the dorsal surface, proximal to trochlea met. II, and this trochlea is more plantarly displaced than in Chambiortyx (see DYKE & GULAS 2002: fig. 2B and F; MAYR 2009: fig. 6.4i).

3. Paraortygidae — The Paraortygidae are known in the Late Eocene and Early Oligocene of the Phosphorites du Quercy, France, and in the



-4-

FIGURE 2. *Chambiortyx cristata* nov. gen., nov. spec. from the late Early or early Middle Eocene of the locality Chambi 1, Central Tunisia. A–C, holotype, left tarsometatarsus (CB1-548), distal part, dorsal view (A), plantar view (B), distal view (C). D, paratype, left carpometacarpus (CB1-549), fragment of distal part, dorsal view.

Early Oligocene of Germany (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992a; FISCHER 1990, 2003). They were also probably present in the Late Eocene and Early Oligocene of the United States (MAYR 2009). In this family trochlea met. IV extends farther distally than in *Chambiortyx* and reaches the middle of trochlea met. III. Trochlea met. II is more plantarly displaced and, in distal view, the trochleae are more dorsoplantarly elongate. The dorsal surface is more convex, the outer extensor groove is well marked, and there is no ridge proximal to trochlea met. II. However, on the plantar face, there are two well marked ridges, one starting from trochlea met. II, and the other one starting from trochlea met. IV. These two ridges run in proximal direction along the plantar surface and do not meet.

4. Quercymegapodiidae — The Quercymegapodiidae are known in the Middle Eocene (Le Bretou, see MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 2011a) and the Late Eocene of the Phosphorites du Quercy, France, with the genus Quercymegapodius, in the Late Oligocene or Early Miocene of Brazil, and finally in the Early Miocene of France, with the genus Ameripodius (ALVARENGA 1988, 1995; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992a, 2000). In Quercymegapodius trochleae met. II and IV are splayed, and trochlea met. II is very globular on the dorsal face. The relative length of the trochleae is the same as in Chambiortyx, but in Quercymegapodius the dorsal surface of the shaft, proximal of the trochleae, is convex, and the outer extensor groove is deeper. The ridge starting from trochlea met. II and situated on the boundary between the dorsal and medial faces is absent. On the plantar face the ridge starting from trochlea met. IV is present but not the ridge starting from trochlea met. II. In Ameripodius the trochleae are less splayed than in *Quercymegapodius*, and, in distal view, trochleae met. II and IV are more plantarly displaced than in Chambiortyx. In Ameripodius, the dorsal face, proximally to the trochleae, is strongly convex, thus differing from Chambiortyx, but the ridge starting from trochlea met. II is present. This ridge first follows the boundary between the dorsal and medial faces, then continues on the dorsal face and finally merges into the surface of the shaft. On the plantar face, the ridge starting from trochlea met. II is absent in Ameripodius, while it is present in Chambiortyx.

5. *Megapodiidae* — A small fossil megapode, *Ngawupodius minya* has been described from the Late Oligocene of Australia (BOLES & IVISON 1999). It differs from *Chambiortyx* by the following characteristics: trochleae met. more splayed; trochleae met. II and IV with the same distal extension; trochlea met. II more plantarly displaced; on the dorsal face no ridge starting from trochlea met. II.

6. Namaortyx — Namaortyx sperrgebietensis, from the Middle Eocene, (probably early Lutetian, about 47 to 49 million years ago), of Namibia, was described as the first Paleogene galliform from Africa (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 2011a). It is only known by a tarsometatarsus and has been left in family incertae sedis. Namaortyx resembles Chambiortyx by the relative length of the trochleae, and their arrangement along a weakly arched curve in distal view. But it differs from it by its wide and flattened shaft, the strongly developed wing of trochlea met. IV, and the oblique orientation of the trochlea met. III in distal view, compared to the dorsal surface of the shaft. On the dorsal face there is no ridge starting from trochlea met. II.

7. Nanortyx — Nanortyx inexpectatus WEIGEL, 1963, from the Late Eocene (Chadronian) of Canada, is a very small form, described from a distal part of a tarsometatarsus and an omal part of a coracoid. This genus has been attributed to the family Odontophoridae, which itself is part of the family Phasianidae s. l. (MAYR 2009: fig. 6.1). Although it is poorly preserved, the coracoid is more similar to the Quercymegapodiidae than to the Phasianidae (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992a). These elements, as well as a distal tarsometatarsus from the early Oligocene of Colorado, assigned to the Odontophorinae by TORDOFF (1951), are insufficient to confirm the presence of crown group Galliformes in the Eocene (MAYR 2009). The Nanortyx tarsometatarsus differs from that of *Chambiortyx* in the following characteristics: trochlea met. IV extending farther distally; trochlea met. II extending less far distally and more plantarly deflected; presence of an outer extensor groove; on the dorsal surface, absence of the ridge starting from trochlea met. II.

8. Comparisons with members of other orders — The genus Coturnipes HARRISON & WALKER, 1977 was described from a distal tarsometatarsus from the Early Eocene of the London Clay, England. This taxon was classified in the order Galliformes, and included in the family Phasianidae, but MAYR (2006a) suggested that this genus could be closely related to the genus Masillaraptor from the Middle Eocene of Messel, which is classified in the "Falconiformes". The genus Coturnipes has also been reported from the Early Eocene of the Nanjemoy Formation, Virginia, United States (OLSON 1999), and from the Middle Eocene of the Geiseltal, Germany (MAYR 2002a). The different distal parts of tarsometatarsus of Coturnipes differ from that of Chambiortyx by the following characteristics: large and elongate distal vascular foramen; well defined outer exten-
sor groove; dorsal surface of the shaft proximal to the trochleae convex; trochlea met. II strongly plantarly deflected (see HARRISON & WALKER 1977: pl. 8, fig. T); no ridge starting from trochlea met. II; trochleae met. III and IV dorsoplantarly elongate in distal view. Among the buttonquails (Order Charadriiformes, family Turnicidae), the tarsometatarsus of the genus Turnix looks very similar to that of the galliforms. On the plantar face of this tarsometatarsus, the lateral rim of trochlea met. III extends farther proximally than the medial rim. This feature is present in all Galliformes, but occurs also in other avian clades (MAYR 2000a; KSEPKA 2009). Compared to Chambiortyx the tarsometatarsus of Turnix differs in the following characteristics: articular parts of the trochleae shorter; dorsal surface of the shaft, proximally to the trochleae, strongly convex; distal vascular foramen situated at the end of a well marked outer extensor groove; trochlea met. II more plantarly displaced (BOCK & MCEVEY 1969). In the genus Ortyxelos, the tarsometatarsus is more different from that of galliforms, because its trochleae are strongly splayed, and the articular parts of these trochleae are very short. Fossil Turnicidae have been described from the Middle Eocene of Germany, and from the Early Oligocene of France and Germany, but when this detail can be observed, trochlea met. II is more plantarly deflected than in *Chambiortyx* (MAYR 2000b; MAYR & KNOPF 2007).

Description and comparisons — Carpometacarpus (Fig. 2D)

The fragment of left carpometacarpus only includes the os metacarpale majus. It shows a well marked sulcus tendineus on the dorsal face. At the level of the symphysis metacarpalis distalis, on the dorsal face, there is a small groove for the tendon of the musculus interosseus distalis, but no osseous arch. This osseous arch is present in *Paraortygoides messelensis* (MAYR 2000a: text-fig. 5E). The morphology of this fragment resembles that observed in Gallinuloididae, Paraortygidae, and Quercymegapodiidae by the fact that the articular surface for the minor digit of the wing is situated at the same level as the articular surface for the major digit, while in the recent

galliforms this articular surface extends farther distally. The size of this fragment of bone is compatible with the size of the tarsometatarsus.

Remarks concerning the size of *Chambiortyx cristata* nov. spec.

The size of Chambiortyx cristata nov. spec. (distal width of tarsometatarsus 5.3 mm) is slightly larger than that of the recent Common Quail (Coturnix coturnix, distal width 4.8 mm) and larger than that of the smallest recent galliform, the Asian Blue Quail (Coturnix chinensis, distal width 3.7-3.8 mm). Among the stem group fossil galliforms the smallest known so far are Quercymegapodius cf. brodkorbi, Middle Eocene (distal width 3.8 mm) (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992a; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 2011), and Nanortyx *inexpectatus*, Late Eocene (distal width 5.2 mm) (WEIGEL 1963). The other fossil stem galliforms are larger: Austinornis lentus, Late Cretaceous, distal width ca. 10 mm (CLARKE 2004); Gallinuloides wyomingensis, Early Eocene, distal width ca. 7.1 mm (WEIDIG 2000); Paraortygoides messelensis, Middle Eocene, distal width ca. 7.6 mm (MAYR 2000a); Namaortyx sperrgebietensis, Middle Eocene, distal width 11.9 mm (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 2011); Quercymegapodius depereti, Late Eocene, distal width 5.5-6.1 mm (Mourer-Chauviré 1992a).

Order Cuculiformes WAGLER, 1830 Family Cuculidae LEACH, 1820

Chambicuculus nov. gen.

Type species: Chambicuculus pusillus nov. spec.

Diagnosis: Small zygodactyl form with a well-developed trochlea accessoria, separated from the condylus of trochlea metatarsi IV by a clearly expressed notch. Distal extension of trochlea metatarsi IV situated more proximally than the incisura intertrochlearis lateralis. Presence of a canalis interosseus distalis dorsally roofed by an osseous bridge. Trochlea accessoria oriented plantarly and slightly medially.

Derivatio nominis: Chambi from the Djebel Chambi, in Tunisia, and *cuculus*, Latin word for a cuckoo.

Chambicuculus pusillus nov. spec.

(Figs 3, 4, 5B, 6A–B)

Holotype: CB1-541, distal part of right tarsometatarsus, well preserved with the exception of a slight erosion of the crest which is situated on the dorsal side of trochlea met. IV.

Paratypes: CB2-1001, distal part of right tarsometatarsus, incompletely preserved on its dorsal side. Trochlea met. IV is incomplete but the sehnenhalter is well preserved and separated from the condylus by a well expressed notch. On this specimen the sehnenhalter is slightly more bulging than on the Chambi 1 specimen. CB1–560, fragment of a left tarsometatarsus, distal part, with only trochlea met. III preserved.

Type locality: Chambi 1, Central Tunisia, Kasserine district.

Age: Late Early or early Middle Eocene.

Diagnosis: As for the genus.

Derivatio nominis: *pusillus*, Latin word meaning tiny, quite small.

Measurements: Holotype, CB1-541, distal width, 2.66 mm; distal depth, 1.60 mm. Paratype, CB2-1001, distal width, 2.70 mm; distal depth, 1.72 mm. Paratype CB1-560, width of trochlea met. III, 1.00 mm.

Description and comparisons

This taxon is characterized by the presence of a sehnenhalter, or trochlea accessoria, on trochlea met. IV, with the shape of a wing-like flange. Trochleae met. II and IV are slightly plantarly deflected. Trochlea met. III shows two parallel rims, which are clearly separated by a deep groove, well visible in distal view. The lateral rim is slightly wider and more developed plantarly than the medial rim. This trochlea is proximodistally short. It bears a protuberance at the base of its lateral face, on the dorsal side. Trochlea met. II is shorter than trochlea met. III and it reaches distally about the mid-length of this trochlea. It is globular on its dorsal face and shows a slight groove and a short wing on its plantar face. Trochlea met. IV is much shorter and its distal end is situated slightly proximally compared to the incisura intertrochlearis. It shows a prominent crest on its dorsal side. On its lateral side it shows a bulging condyle and a thin and elongate sehnenhalter, plantarly and slightly medially oriented. The condyle is separated from the sehnenhalter by a distinct notch. The articular surface of the condyle does not extend on the sehnenhalter. The distal vascular foramen is very large. This is not clearly visible on Fig. 3A, because the orientation of this canal is oblique and medioplantarly directed, but when it is slightly more medially oriented, this foramen appears extremely wide (Fig. 6A). On the dorsal face this opening is not located at the distal extremity of an outer extensor groove. The canalis interosseus distalis is present. On its dorsal side, a thin osseous bridge joins the lateral side of trochlea met. III to the medial side of trochlea met. IV. Trochlea met. IV also shows a groove on its dorsal face, medial side, clearly visible in distal view. This groove is delimited medially by a protuberance which is situated at the base of trochlea met. III, and laterally by the dorsal crest of trochlea met. IV. On the plantar face, there is a short and shallow groove, proximodistally oriented, which ends in the medial intertrochlear notch. The fossa metatarsi I is situated entirely on the plantar face. It is elongate and made up of two lobes.

Comparison with crown group Cuculidae (Cuckoos) (Figs 5A, 6C–D): The morphological characteristics of the recent Cuculidae have been indicated by HUGUES (2000). On the distal part of the tarsometatarsus the first characteristic is the distal end of trochlea met. IV which is situated proximally compared to the incisura intertrochlearis lateralis. In some genera, which are relatively primitive, such as Geococcyx, Morococcyx, or Centropus, the distal end of trochlea met. IV is slightly proximal, whereas in some more derived genera, such as Cuculus, Clamator, or Coccyzus, this distal end is highly proximal compared to the incisura intertrochlearis lateralis. The other characteristic is the presence of a prominent sehnenhalter that is strongly inflected medially.

In the recent Cuculidae the canalis interosseus distalis is absent. At its location there is a groove on the dorsal face, between trochleae met. III and IV and the osseous strip (which bridged the canalis interosseus distalis) has disappeared. The condyle of trochlea met. IV is very globular on its lateral side and dorsoplantarly elongate. As in the Chambi specimens, there is a sharp crest on the dorsal face of trochlea met. IV and a protuberance at the base of trochlea met. III on its lateral side. *Chambicuculus* differs from the recent Cuculidae by the following features: Presence of a canalis interosseus distalis; condylus of trochlea met. IV less globular and less dorsoplantarly elongate; sehnenhalter more distally and plantarly oriented, while it is more medially oriented in the recent Cuculidae (see also STEINBACHER 1935: p. 253, figs 15–16; MAYR 1998: p. 48, fig. 28G; MAYR 2002b: p. 724, fig. 7C); more pronounced notch between the condylus and the sehnenhalter.

Comparisons with stem group Cuculidae and related forms: The genus *Eocuculus* CHANDLER, 1999, has been attributed to the Cuculidae by CHANDLER (1999) and to ?Cuculidae by MAYR (2006b). It is known by the species Eocuculus cherpinae, described from the Late Eocene of the United States (CHANDLER 1999), and by Eocuculus cf. cherpinae, from the Early Oligocene of France (MAYR 2006b). The skeleton exhibits some derived characteristics of the recent Cuculidae but the tarsometatarsus is quite different. The foot is not zygodactyl but probably only semizygodactyl, and does not show a large trochlea accessoria. Both trochleae met. II and IV are more plantarly deflected than in *Chambicuculus*. Unlike Chambicuculus, the foramen vasculare distale is small, the canalis interosseus distalis is absent, and it is replaced by a narrow sulcus. In addition trochlea met. IV extends as far distally as trochlea met. II and it reaches the mid-section of trochlea met. III. Lastly trochlea met. II is wider than in Chambicuculus. The presence of a well-developed sehnenhalter in Chambicuculus indicates that this new taxon is different from the genus Eocuculus.

The other fossil Cuculidae are *Neococcyx mccorquodalei* and *Cursoricoccyx geraldinae*. *Neococcyx mccorquodalei* has been described from the Late Eocene (MAYR 2009) of Canada (WEIGEL 1963). It is represented by a distal part of

humerus, which presents morphological characteristics close to those found in the recent genus *Coccyzus. Cursoricoccyx geraldinae* has been described from the Early Miocene of Colorado (MARTIN & MENGEL 1984). It is known by several bone fragments which do not include any distal tarsometatarsus. This fossil is close to the recent genus *Geococcyx* and is placed in the subfamily Neomorphinae.

Pumiliornis tessellatus MAYR, 1999, is a very tiny form, known by two skeletons from the Middle Eocene of Messel, Germany (MAYR 1999; 2008). Its morphological characteristics remind those of Eocuculus (MAYR 2008). In Pumiliornis trochlea met. IV is oriented plantarly but it lacks a well-developed trochlea accessoria. In addition trochleae met. II and IV have approximately the same length. Both end distally at the level of the base of trochlea met. III. Trochlea met. III shows a well-developed trochlear furrow on its dorsal side and there is a depression at its base. The foramen vasculare distale is small. According to MAYR (2008: p. 251), its foot was at least semizygodactyl. These characteristics are different from those of Chambicuculus.

In the Early Eocene of Fur Fm., in Denmark, the partial skeleton of Morsoravis sedilis BERTELLI et al., 2010, attributed to the Charadriimorphae, has been described. A phylogenetic analysis performed by MAYR (2011) has shown the existence of close relationships between the Early and Middle Eocene Morsoravis and Pumiliornis, and the Late Eocene and Early Oligocene Eocuculus. In Pumiliornis and Morsoravis, the short and wide proximal phalanx of the fourth toe suggests the presence of a semizygodactyl foot. In Morsoravis trochleae met. II and IV have almost the same distal extension and reach about the middle of trochlea met. III (see BERTELLI et al. 2010: fig. 12), and the foramen vasculare distale is very small. In addition trochlea met. II bears a distinct groove on its medial surface, and it is bilobed (see MAYR 2011: fig. 7D). These morphological characteristics are different from those of *Chambicuculus*.

FIGURE 3. *Chambicuculus pusillus* nov. gen., nov. spec. from the late Early or early Middle Eocene of the locality Chambi 1, Central Tunisia. **A** and **D**, holotype, right tarsometatarsus (CB1-541), dorsal view (A), distal view (D). **B** and **C**, paratype, right tarsometatarsus (CB2-1001), lateral view, slightly plantarly oriented (B), plantar view (C). For figure B the bone has been slightly obliquely oriented in the scanning electron microscope, which gives to the bone a more elongated shape than in figure C.



MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ ET AL.: Stem group Galliformes and Cuculidae from the Eocene of Tunisia





FIGURE 4. Diagrams showing the different parts of the distal tarsometatarsus in *Chambicuculus pusillus* nov. gen., nov. spec., in distal (above) and plantar (below) views. Abbreviations: Bridge over the can. int. dist.: bridge over the canalis interosseus distalis; For. vasc. dist.: foramen vasculare distale; tr. met. II-IV, trochlea metatarsi II-IV; tr. acc. or sehnenhalter: trochlea accessoria or sehnenhalter.

Eutreptodactylus itaboraiensis, from the Late Paleocene of Brazil, was initially attributed to the Cuculidae (BAIRD & VICKERS-RICH 1997), but its morphological characteristics are different from those of the Cuculidae. MAYR (2005) has placed the genus Eutreptodactylus in the extinct family Gracilitarsidae that he considers related to the Piciformes. Eutreptodactylus differs from Chambicuculus by the following characteristics: trochlea met. II strongly projecting medially; trochlea met. IV ending more distally than incisura intertrochlearis lateralis; trochlea met. IV with a wide and short, plantarly directed, sehnenhalter: canalis interosseus distalis absent: foramen vasculare distale situated at the distal end of the outer extensor groove.

Comparison with crown group Galbulae (Jacamars and Puffbirds) (Figs 5C, 6E–F): Both Chambi specimens show similarities with the tar-

FIGURE 5. Distal views of the right tarsometatarsus (not to scale). A, Recent Cuculidae, *Centropus senegalensis*, coll. UCBL. B, *Chambicuculus pusillus* nov. gen., nov. spec., Eocene of Tunisia, coll. ONM, CB1-541. C, Recent Bucconidae, *Monasa nigrifrons*, coll. USNM 612064.

sometatarsus of the recent Galbulae, particularly in distal view. The Galbulae belong to the order Piciformes and include two families, the Galbulidae (Jacamars) and the Bucconidae (Puffbirds). Their distribution is restricted to the Neotropical zone, ranging from Southern Mexico to Southern Brazil for the Galbulidae (TOBIAS 2002), and from Southern Mexico to Northern Argentina for the Bucconidae (RASMUSSEN & COLLAR 2002). The distal extremity of the tarsometatarsus has been described in detail by STEINBACHER (1935). In these two families the foot is zygodactyl and trochlea met. IV bears a trochlea accessoria or sehnenhalter. In the Galbulidae, trochlea met. IV shows two articular facets for phalanx 1 of posterior digit IV. The first one is found only on the condylus itself of the trochlea, and the second one is on the sehnenhalter. Both articular facets are equivalent in size and are separated by a well marked groove (see Steinbacher 1935: p. 256,

fig. 18–19; SIMPSON & CRACRAFT 1981: p. 484, fig. 2B; Mayr 1998: p. 48, fig. 28E; MANEGOLD 2005: p. 124, fig. 39C-D).

In the Bucconidae, the articular facet for phalanx 1 of posterior digit I extends also on the sehnenhalter, but the two parts are not so clearly separated. In Notharchus the two articular surfaces are separated by a clearly expressed groove, visible in both lateral and distal views of the tarsometatarsus. In Hypnelus the articular surface situated on the condylus is larger than that situated on the sehnenhalter, and both surfaces are separated by a faintly visible groove. In Monasa and Chelidoptera both parts form an inflated and elongate surface, which is perpendicular to the long axis of the bone, and there is no visible groove between them. In the Bucconidae trochlea met. IV is very broad dorsoplantarly and the sehnenhalter is relatively short and thick (see also Feduccia & Martin 1976: p. 103, figs 2g-l; HOUDE & OLSON 1992: p. 145, figs 15-16; MAYR 1998: p. 48, fig. 28F; MAYR 2002b: p. 724, fig. 7E).

Chambicuculus differs from the Galbulae by the fact that the articular surface for phalanx 1 of posterior digit IV is situated only on the condyle and not on the sehnenhalter. In addition the distal end of trochlea met. IV is situated slightly proximally compared to the incisura intertrochlearis, while in the Galbulae it is situated slightly distally. *Chambicuculus* also differs from the Galbulae in the strong development of a crest on the dorsal face of trochlea met. IV. This strongly prominent crest seems to be characteristic of the Cuculidae (see STEINBACHER 1935: fig. 16 for *Centropus*, and MAYR 2002b: fig. 7C for *Coua*).

Comparison with putative stem group Galbulae: A large number of small forms from the Early Eocene of North America and Europe were attributed first to the family Bucconidae, then to the family Primobucconidae, but these Primobucconidae are now considered as ancestral forms of the Coraciiformes sensu stricto (MAYR 2009). Other forms previously attributed to Primobucconidae have been transferred to the family Sandcoleidae (HOUDE & OLSON 1992), which are stem group representatives of the Coliiformes. The only Paleogene form which can be attrib-



FIGURE 6. Dorsal and lateral views of the right tarsometatarsus (not to scale). A–B, *Chambicuculus pusillus* nov. gen., nov. spec.; A: dorsal view; B: lateral view slightly plantarly oriented. C–D, Recent Cuculidae, *Centropus senegalensis*, coll. UCBL; C: dorsal view; D: lateral view slightly plantarly oriented. E–F, Recent Bucconidae, *Monasa nigrifrons*, coll. USNM 612064; E: dorsal view; F: lateral view.

uted to ?Galbulae is "*Neanis*" *kistneri* (FEDUCCIA, 1973), represented by two almost complete skeletons from the Early Eocene of the Green River Formation in the United States (WEIDIG 2010). On the holotype it is possible to see that the foot is zygodactyl and shows a sehnenhalter but no more details are available. However "*Neanis*" *kistneri* shares morphological characteristics with the Galbulae in the skull, the coracoid, and the humerus. *Chambicuculus* is probably different from "*Neanis*" *kistneri* since its morphological characteristics are closer to the Cuculidae than to the Galbulae. Comparisons with Quercypsittidae: The tarsometatarsus of Chambicuculus looks superficially similar to that of the Quercypsittidae, stem group representatives of the Psittaciformes (see MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992b and MAYR et al. 2010). However it differs from them by the following characteristics: in Chambicuculus the distal part of the tarsometatarsus is constricted (more splayed in *Quercypsitta*); trochlea met. II more elongate (it reaches only the basis of trochlea met. III in *Quercypsitta*); trochlea accessoria oriented plantarly and slightly medially (oriented more medially in *Quercypsitta*); distinct notch between trochlea accessoria and trochlea met. IV (more strongly expressed furrow in Quercypsitta); canalis interosseus distalis covered by a bony bridge (dorsally open in *Quercypsitta*); groove in the middle of trochlea met. II slightly indicated on the plantar face (present and well visible in distal and plantar views in Quercypsitta). In Chambi*cuculus* a prominent crest is present on the dorsal face of trochlea met. IV. This part is incompletely preserved on all the specimens of Quercypsitta, but it is a characteristic of the Cuculidae and it is absent in the other stem group representatives of the Psittaciformes (MAYR et al. 2010).

Remarks concerning the size of Chambicuculus pusillus: In Chambicuculus the only measurement which can be compared with other forms is the distal width of the tarsometatarsus which is about 2.7 mm. In Pumiliornis tessellatus, which resembles the genus *Eocuculus*, this distal width can be estimated at 2.3 and 2.4 mm after the illustrations given by MAYR 1999 and MAYR 2008; this form is thus still smaller than Chambicuculus. In Morsoravis sedilis the distal width is 3.0 mm (Bertelli et al. 2010). In Eocuculus cherpinae it is 4.2 mm (CHANDLER 1999) and in Eocuculus cf. cherpinae it can be estimated at 4.3 mm (MAYR 2006b). Recent Cuculidae are generally middle- to large-sized, but there are a few very small forms, such as Chrysococcyx minutillus, the Little Bronze-cuckoo, which measures 15-16 cm and weights 17g (PAYNE 1997). The size of Chambicuculus was probably comparable to that of the smallest recent Cuculidae.

Discussion

The early evolutionary history of birds in Africa is still poorly known. Their Paleogene fossil record is limited to a handful of localities. Marine forms have been described in the Late Paleocene and Early Eocene of Morocco, and also in the Middle Eocene of Nigeria and Togo (BOURDON *et al.* 2010, and references therein). Among the terrestrial birds only a galliform in the early Middle Eocene of Namibia, and a phororhacoid in the early Middle Eocene of Algeria, are known (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 2011a, 2011b). The other Paleogene African forms come from the Late Eocene and Early Oligocene of the Fayum, in Egypt (RASMUSSEN *et al.* 1987, 2001).

According to the fossil record of the Northern Hemisphere, the Galliformes seem to have been abundant and diversified during the Paleogene. Several stem group families have been found in the Early Eocene (MAYR 2009). However their record is not limited to the Paleogene but it extends back to the Late Cretaceous (HOPE 2002). In the Southern Hemisphere, until recently, they were only known from the Late Oligocene, with a Quercymegapodiidae in South America (ALVA-RENGA 1995) and a Megapodiidae in Australia (BOLES & IVISON 1999). The presence of two galliforms in Africa, one in the late Early or early Middle Eocene of Tunisia, and the other in the Middle Eocene of Namibia, shows that this group was also present and diversified in this landmass during the Paleogene. Namaortyx, from Namibia, and Chambiortyx, from Tunisia, do not belong to the same families as those recorded in the Northern Hemisphere. They probably belong to stem group families but, for confirmation, it would be necessary to have some other elements of the postcranial skeleton. Recent African galliforms belong to the family Phasianidae s. l., which are crown group representatives of the Galliformes, and which are only known since the second part of the Oligocene (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992a; MAYR 2009).

Concerning the Cuculiformes, a large number of semizygodactyl or zygodactyl forms have been described in the Paleogene of Eurasia and North America, and also in South America (MAYR 2009), but for Africa, this group was so far undocumented in the Paleogene. The new taxon described here, *Chambicuculus*, represents therefore the first and oldest occurrence of this group in Africa. Another zygodactyl form, *Miopico benimellalensis* MAYR, 1998, family Miopiconidae, was described from the Middle Miocene of Beni Mellal, Morocco. According to MAYR (1998), the Miopiconidae are the sister-group of the Pici, and thus *Chambicuculus* is not related to it.

Chambicuculus is older than the other fossil Cuculidae known so far. In this taxon the presence of a canalis interosseus distalis is a plesiomorphic condition for birds (MAYR *et al.* 2003). By the presence of this canal, *Chambicuculus* could appear somewhat more primitive than *Eocuculus* from the Late Eocene and Early Oligocene. However in *Chambicuculus*, the presence of a well-developed sehnenhalter, which is a derived condition indicating that this taxon was fully zygodactyl, and the lesser distal extension of trochlea met. IV suggests that *Chambicuculus* was morphologically more derived than *Eocuculus*.

Acknowledgments

We thank AnneLise CHARRUAULT, from UM2– CNRS, for technical assistance, Arlette ARMAND, from UCBL, for the scanning electron microscope pictures, James P. DEAN, Christina A. GEBHARD, from the USNM, and Christine LEFÈVRE, from the Paris NMHN, for the loan of comparative material. We also thank Gerald MAYR and an anonymous reviewer for their useful comments.

References

- ADACI, M., TABUCE, R., MEBROUK, F., BENSALAH, M., FABRE, P.-H., HAUTIER, L., JAEGER, J.-J., LAZZARI, V., MAHBOUBI, M., MARIVAUX, L., OTERO, O., PEIGNÉ, S., & TONG, H. (2007): Nouveaux sites à vertébrés paléogènes dans la région des Gour Lazib (Sahara nord-occidental, Algérie). – Comptes Rendus Palevol, 6/2007: 535–544.
- ALVARENGA, H.M.F. (1988): Ave fóssil (Gruiformes: Rallidae) dos Folhelhos da Bacia de Taubaté, Estado de São Paulo, Brasil. – Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências, 60: 321–332.

- ALVARENGA, H.M.F. (1995): Um Primitivo Membro da Ordem Galliformes (Aves) do Terciário Médio da Bacia de Taubaté, Estado de São Paulo, Brasil. – Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências, 67: 33–44.
- BAIRD, R.F. & VICKERS-RICH, P. (1997): Eutreptodactylus itaboraiensis gen. et sp. nov., an early cuckoo (Aves: Cuculidae) from the Late Paleocene of Brazil. – Alcheringa, 21: 123–127.
- BAUMEL, J.J., & WITMER, L.M. (1993): Osteologia. –In: BAUMEL, J. J. (ed.): Handbook of Avian Anatomy. Nomina Anatomica Avium, 2nd edition. – *Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 45–132.
- BENOIT J., ORLIAC M., & TABUCE R. (2013): The petrosal of *Chambius* (Macroscelidea, Afrotheria) from the Eocene of Djebel Chambi (Tunisia) and the evolution of the ear region in elephantshrews. – *Journal of Systematic Palaeontology*, DOI: 10.1080/14772019.2012.713400
- BERTELLI, S., LINDOW, B.E.K., DYKE, G.J., & CHIAPPE, L.M. (2010): A well-preserved "Charadriiform-like" fossil bird from the early Eocene Fur Formation of Denmark. – *Palaeontology*, 53/3: 507–531.
- Воск, W.J., & McEvey, A. (1969): Osteology of *Pedionomus torquatus* (Aves: Pedionomidae) and its allies. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria*, **82**: 187–232.
- BOLES, W.E., & IVISON, T.J. (1999): A New Genus of Dwarf Megapode (Galliformes: Megapodiidae) from the Late Oligocene of Central Australia. – In: OLSON, S. L. (ed.): Avian Paleontology at the Close of the 20th Century: Proceedings of the 4th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution, Washington, D.C., 4–7 June 1996. – Smithsonian Contributions to Paleobiology, 89: 199–206.
- BOURDON, E., AMAGHZAZ, M., & BOUYA, B. (2010): Pseudotoothed birds (Aves, Odontopterygiformes) from the Early Tertiary of Morocco. – American Museum Novitates, 3704: 71 pp.
- CHANDLER, R. (1999): Fossil birds of Florissant, Colorado: with a description of a new genus and species of cuckoo. – *Geologic Resources Division, Technical Report*, NPS/NRGRD/GRDTR-99: 49–53.
- CLARKE, J.A. (2004): Morphology, phylogenetic taxonomy, and systematics of *Ichthyornis* and *Apatornis* (Avialae: Ornithurae). – Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History, **286**: 1–179.
- DYKE, G.J., & GULAS, B.E. (2002): The fossil Galliform Bird *Paraortygoides* from the lower Eocene of the United Kingdom. – *American Museum Novitates*, **3360**: 1–14.
- FEDUCCIA, A. (1973): A New Eocene Zygodactyl bird. *Journal of Paleontology*, **47**/3: 501–503.
- FEDUCCIA, A., & MARTIN, L.D. (1976): The Eocene

zygodactyls birds of North America (Aves: Piciformes). – *Smithsonian Contributions to Palaeobiology*, **27**: 101–110.

- FISCHER, K. (1990): Der Hühnervogel Pirortyx major (Gaillard, 1939) aus dem marinen Mitteloligozän bei Leipzig (DDR). – Mitteilungen aus dem Zoologischen Museum Berlin, 66 (Suppl. Ann. Ornith. 14): 133–136.
- FISCHER, K. (2003): Weitere Vogelknochen von Diomedeoides (Diomedeoidae, Procellariiformes), und Paraortyx (Paraortygidae, Galliformes) aus dem Unteroligozän des Weißelsterbeckens bei Leipzig. – Mauritiana, 18: 387–395.
- HARRISON, C.J.O., & WALKER, C.A. (1977): Birds of the British Lower Eocene. – *Tertiary Research Special Paper*, **3**: 52 pp.
- HARTENBERGER, J.-L., CROCHET, J.-Y., MARTINEZ, C., MARANDAT, B. & SIGÉ, B. (2001): The Eocene mammalian fauna of Chambi (Tunisia) in its geological context. – In: GUNNELL, G.F. (ed.): Eocene biodiversity: unusual occurrences and rarely sampled habitats. – pp. 237–249, New York (Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers).
- HOPE, S. (2002): The Mesozoic radiation of Neornithes. – In: CHIAPPE, L.M. & WITMER, L.M. (eds): Mesozoic Birds: above the heads of Dinosaurs. – pp. 339–388, Berkeley (University of California Press).
- HOUDE, P., & OLSON, S.L. (1992): A radiation of colylike birds from the Eocene of North America (Aves: Sandcoleiformes new order). – Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Sciences Series, 36:137–160.
- HOWARD, H. (1929): The avifauna of the Emeryville shellmound. – University of California Publications in Zoology, 32: 301–394.
- HUGUES, J.M. (2000): Monophyly and phylogeny of cuckoos (Aves, Cuculidae) inferred from osteological characters. – Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 130: 263–307.
- KSEPKA, D.T. (2009): Broken gears in the avian molecular clock: new phylogenetic analyses support stem galliform status for *Gallinuloides wyomingensis* and rallid affinities for *Amithaba urbsinterdictensis. – Cladistics*, 25: 173–197.
- MANEGOLD, A. (2005): Zur Phylogenie und Evolution der "Racken"-, Specht- und Sperlingsvögel ("Coraciiformes", Piciformes und Passeriformes: Aves). – 274 pp. Berlin (Dissertation.de).
- MARSH, O.C. (1877): New fossil vertebrates. American Journal of Science, 3. Ser., 14: 249–256.
- MARTIN, L.D., & MENGEL, R.M. (1984): A new cuckoo and a chachalaca from the early Miocene of Colorado. – *Special Publication Carnegie Museum of Natural History*, **9**: 171–177.
- MAYR, G. (1998): "Coraciiforme" und "piciforme" Kleinvögel aus dem Mittel-Eozän der

Grube Messel (Hessen, Deutschland) – *Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg*, **205**: 101 pp.

- MAYR, G. (1999): Pumiliornis tessellatus n. gen. n. sp., a new enigmatic bird from the Middle Eocene of Grube Messel (Hessen, Germany). – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 216: 75–83.
- MAYR, G. (2000a): A new basal galliform bird from the Middle Eocene of Messel (Hessen, Germany). – *Senckenbergiana Lethaea*, **80**: 45–57.
- MAYR, G. (2000b): Charadriiform birds from the early Oligocene of Céreste (France) and the middle Eocene of Messel (Hessen, Germany). – *Geobios*, **33**/5: 625–636.
- MAYR, G. (2002a): Avian Remains from the Middle Eocene of the Geiseltal (Sachsen-Anhalt, Germany). – In: ZHOU, Z. & ZHENG, F. (eds): Proceedings of the 5th Symposium of the Society of Vertebrate Paleontology and Evolution. Beijing, 1–4 June 2000. – pp. 77–96, Beijing (Science Press).
- MAYR, G. (2002b): On the osteology and phylogenetic affinities of the Pseudasturidae Lower Eocene stem-group representatives of parrots (Aves, Psittaciformes). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **136**: 715–729.
- MAYR, G. (2005): Phylogenetic affinities and composition of the Early Eocene Gracilitarsidae (Aves, ?Piciformes). – *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie Mh.*, **2005**/1: 1–16.
- MAYR, G. (2006a): A new raptorial bird from the Middle Eocene of Messel, Germany. – *Historical Biology*, 18/2: 95–102.
- MAYR, G. (2006b): A specimen of *Eocuculus* Chandler, 1999 (Aves, ? Cuculidae) from the early Oligocene of France. *Geobios*, **39**: 865–872.
- MAYR, G. (2008): *Pumiliornis tessellatus* MAYR, 1999 revisited – new data on the osteology and possible phylogenetic affinities of an enigmatic Middle Eocene bird. – *Paläontologische Zeitschrift*, **82**/3: 247–253.
- MAYR, G. (2009): Paleogene Fossil Birds. xiii + 262 pp. Berlin Heidelberg (Springer Verlag).
- MAYR, G. (2011): On the osteology and phylogenetic affinities of *Morsoravis sedilis* (Aves) from the early Eocene Fur Formation of Denmark. *Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark*, **59**: 23–35.
- MAYR, G. & KNOPF, C. W. (2007): A stem lineage representative of buttonquails from the Lower Oligocene of Germany – fossil evidence for a Charadriiform origin of the Turnicidae. – *Ibis*, **149**: 774–782.
- MAYR, G., MANEGOLD, A., & JOHANSSON, U.S. (2003): Monophyletic groups within "higher land birds" – comparison of morphological and molecular data. – *Journal of Zoological Systematics and Evolutionary Research*, **41**: 233–248.
- MAYR, G., RANA, R. S., ROSE, K.D., SAHNI, A., KUMAR,

K., SINGH, L., & SMITH, T. (2010): *Quercypsitta*like birds from the Early Eocene of India (Aves, ?Psittaciformes). – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, **30** (2): 467–478.

- MAYR, G., & WEIDIG, I. (2004): The Early Eocene bird *Gallinuloides wyomingensis* a stem group representative of Galliformes. *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica*, **49**: 211–217.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992a): The Galliformes (Aves) from the Phosphorites du Quercy (France): systematics and biostratigraphy. – In: CAMPBELL, K.E. (ed.): Papers in avian paleontology honoring Pierce Brodkorb. – Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Science Series, 36: 67–95.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992b): Une nouvelle famille de Perroquets (Aves, Psittaciformes) dans l'Eocène supérieur des Phosphorites du Quercy, France. – *Geobios*, mémoire spécial **14**: 169–177.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2000): Anew species of Ameripodius (Aves: Galliformes: Quercymegapodiidae) from the lower Miocene of France. – Palaeontology, 43: 481–493.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., PICKFORD, M., & SENUT, B. (2011a): The first Paleogene galliform from Africa. – Journal of Ornithology, 152/3: 617–622.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., TABUCE, R., MAHBOUBI, M., ADACI, M., & BENSALAH, M. (2011b): A Phororhacoid bird from the Eocene of Africa. – *Naturwissenschaften*, 98: 815–823.
- OLSON, S.L. (1999): Early Eocene Birds from Eastern North America: a faunule from the Nanjemoy Formation of Virginia. – In: WEEMS, R.E. & GRIMSLEY, G.J. (eds): Early Eocene vertebrates and plants from the Fisher/Sullivan Site (Nanjemoy Formation) Stafford County, Virginia. – Virginia Division of Mineral Resources, Publication 152: 123–132.
- PAYNE, R.B. (1997): Family Cuculidae (Cuckoos). In: DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A., & SARGATAL, J. (eds): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 4. Sandgrouse to Cuckoos. – pp. 508–607, Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- RASMUSSEN, P.C., & COLLAR, N.J. (2002): Family Bucconidae (Puffbirds). In: DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (eds): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 7. Jacamars to Woodpeckers. pp. 102–138, Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).

- RASMUSSEN, D.T., OLSON, S.L., & SIMONS, E.L. (1987): Fossil birds from the Oligocene Jebel Qatrani Formation, Fayum Province, Egypt. – *Smithsonian Contribution to Paleobiology*, 62: iv + 20 pp.
- RASMUSSEN, D.T., SIMONS, E. L., HERTEL, F., & JUDD, A. (2001): Hindlimb of a giant terrestrial bird from the Upper Eocene, Fayum, Egypt. – *Palaeontology*, 44/2: 325–337.
- RAVEL A., MARIVAUX L., TABUCE R., BEN HAJ ALI M., ESSID E.M., & VIANEY-LIAUD M. (2013). A new large philisid (Mammalia, Chiroptera, Vespertilionoidea) from the late Early Eocene of Chambi, Tunisia. – *Palaeontology*, **56**/5: 1035–1041.
- SEIFFERT, E.R. (2010): Chronology of Paleogene mammal localities. – In: WERDELIN, L. & SANDERS, W.J. (eds): Cenozoic Mammals of Africa. – pp. 19–26, Berkeley (University of California Press).
- SIMPSON, S.F., & CRACRAFT, J. (1981): The phylogenetic relationships of the Piciformes (Class Aves). – *The Auk*, **98**: 481–494.
- STEINBACHER G. (1935): Funktionell-anatomische Untersuchungen an Vogelfüßen mit Wendenzehen und Rückzehen. – Journal für Ornithologie, 83: 214–282.
- TOBIAS, J.A. (2002): Family Galbulidae (Jacamars). In: DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A., & SARGATAL, J. (eds): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 7. Jacamars to Woodpeckers. – pp. 74–101, Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- TORDOFF, H. B. (1951): A Quail from the Oligocene of Colorado. *Condor*, **53**: 203–204.
- WEIDIG, I. (2010): New Birds from the Lower Eocene Green River Formation, North America. –*Records* of the Australian Museum, **62**: 29–44.
- WEIGEL, R. D. (1963): Oligocene birds from Saskatchewan. – Quarterly Journal of the Florida Academy of Sciences, 26/3: 257–262.





Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



The tarsometatarsus of the Middle Eocene loon Colymbiculus udovichenkoi

GERALD MAYR¹, LEONID GOROBETS² & EVGENIJ ZVONOK³

¹ Senckenberg Research Institute and Natural History Museum Frankfurt, Frankfurt am Main, Germany; E-mail: Gerald.Mayr@senckenberg.de

² Taras Shevchenko National University of Kiev, Dept. of Ecology and Environmental Protection, Kiev, Ukraine

³ Institute of Geological Sciences of NAS of Ukraine, Branch of Paleontology and Stratigraphy, Kiev, Ukraine

Abstract — We describe the previously unknown tarsometatarsus of the earliest unambiguously identified loon, *Colymbiculus udovichenkoi*, from the Middle Eocene of the Ukraine. Except for being more elongate and apart from details of the hypotarsus morphology, the bone resembles the tarsometatarsus of the Early Miocene *Colymbioides minutus*. We consider the hypotarsus morphology of *Colymbiculus* to be plesiomorphic for Gaviiformes. *Colymboides* and crown group Gaviiformes are each characterized by an autapomorphic hypotarsus morphology, which precludes the former from being directly ancestral to the latter. The similarities shared by *C. udovichenkoi* and *C. minutus*, including their small size, are likely to be plesiomorphic for Gaviiformes. Although the disappearance of small stem group Gaviiformes may be related to the retreat of loons to cold Northern latitudes, more data are needed to firmly establish this hypothesis. We finally note that early Paleogene stem group Gaviiformes markedly differ from putative Late Cretaceous loons, whose identification needs to be verified by further fossil specimens.

Key words: Colymbiculus, Colymboides, fossil birds, Gaviiformes, Eocene, Lutetian, Ukraine

Introduction

Loons (Gaviiformes) have a fairly comprehensive Neogene fossil record (OLSON 1985; MAYR 2009a), but the early evolutionary history of these foot-propelled diving birds is still incompletely known. The first fossil loon recognized as such, and also one of the best-represented species, is *Colymboides minutus* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1867 from the Early Miocene of France and the Czech Republic (MILNE-EDWARDS 1867–71, STORER 1956; CHENEVAL 1984; MLIKOVSKÝ 2002). Other species from the Neogene of Europe were assigned to *Gavia*, the taxon that includes the four extant species, with *Gavia egeriana* ŠVEC, 1982 from the Early Miocene of the Czech Republic (ŠvEC 1982), the earliest stem lineage representative, being distinctly smaller than its modern congeners. Disregarding the poorly known *Gaviella pusilla* (SHUFELDT, 1915), whose exact age is uncertain but possibly Oligocene (WETMORE 1940), loons first appear in North America in the Early Miocene (RASMUSSEN 1998). All Neogene North American species were classified in the taxon *Gavia* (OLSON 1985; OLSON & RASMUSSEN 2001).

Pre-Miocene Gaviiformes are morphologically clearly distinguished from their extant relatives. Most of the fossils were, at least tentatively, assigned to *Colymboides*, and the two named Paleogene species of this taxon are *Colymboides anglicus* LYDEKKER, 1891 from the Late Eocene of England (HARRISON 1976; HARRISON & WALKER 1976) and *?Colymboides metzleri* MAYR, 2004 from the Early Oligocene of Germany and Belgium (MAYR 2004, 2009b). Contemporaneous with the latter species there was also a large gaviiform species of undetermined affinities in the Early Oligocene of Belgium (MAYR & SMITH 2002). A *Colymboides*-like loon of uncertain species identity was further reported from the Late Oligocene of Germany (MAYR & POSCHMANN 2009), and undescribed remains of *Colymboides* were also found in the Late Oligocene of Kazakhstan (KUROCHKIN 1976).

Putative Upper Cretaceous records of Gaviiformes were described from Chile (Neogaeornis wetzeli OLSON, 1992) and Antarctica (Polarornis gregorii CHATTERJEE, 2002), but these are based on a single bone and a very fragmentary partial skeleton, respectively, and their identification needs to be corroborated with more material (see also below). The earliest well-documented stem group representative of Gaviiformes is Colymbiculus udovichenkoi MAYR & ZVONOK, 2011, which occurs in Middle Eocene (about 48 million years ago) marine sediments of the eastern Tethys Sea in Ukraine (MAYR & ZVONOK 2011, 2012). Colymbiculus udovichenkoi is quite abundant at the type locality, but up to now the material assigned to this small species consisted only of four skeletal elements, *i.e.*, the humerus, ulna, radius, and tibiotarsus. In light of the fact that loons are highly specialized foot-propelled diving birds, one of the most significant bones of C. udovichenkoi - the tarsometatarsus - remained thus unknown. This bone was found in the 2012 excavation campaign at the type locality and is described in the present study.

Material and methods

Osteological terminology follows BAUMEL & WITMER (1993). Measurements are in millimeters. The fossils are deposited in Naturhistorisches Museum Basel, Switzerland (NMB) and Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, Frankfurt am Main (SMF).

Systematic Paleontology

Gaviiformes Wetmore & Miller, 1926 Gaviidae Allen, 1897

Colymbiculus udovichenkoi MAYR & ZVONOK, 2011

Referred specimen: SMF Av 592 (complete left tarsometatarsus).

Locality and horizon: Ikovo sand quarry, about 1 km west Novopskov, Luhansk Province, Ukraine (49°31'42"N, 39°3'59.5"E); Middle Eocene (Lower Lutetian).

Measurements: Length, 39.4; proximal width, 7.0; distal width, 6.0; minimum mediolateral width of shaft, 2.9.

Description and comparisons: The tarsometatarsus of Colymbiculus udovichenkoi resembles that of Colymboides minutus, but is proportionally longer relative to the humerus (the tarsometatarsus of other Colymboides species is unknown or too poorly preserved for detailed comparisons): Whereas the lengths of humerus and ulna of Colymbiculus correspond with the lower size range of C. minutus (~63.3 and 49.1 versus 62.0-66.0 and 49.8-56.0, respectively; STORER 1956, MAYR & ZVONOK 2011, 2012), that of the tarsometatarsus is distinctly larger (39.4 mm versus 30.8-32.8 mm; STORER 1956). Further unlike C. minutus, the hypotarsus of C. udovichenkoi does not exhibit a canal for the tendon of musculus flexor digitorum longus (Fig. 1E, I). Instead, there are three well-developed sulci for, from medial to lateral, musculus flexor digitorum longus, m. flexor perforatus digiti II, and m. flexor hallucis longus. The lateral surface of the crista medialis hypotarsi bears a shallow furrow for the tendon of musculus flexor perforans et perforatus digiti II. The small foramina vascularia proximalia are closely adjacent. The distal end of the bone corresponds well with Colymboides minutus, and as in the latter and modern loons the trochlea metatarsi II is short and plantarly deflected. The foramen vasculare distale is situated farther distally than in extant loons. The canalis interosseus distalis is dorsally open. A fossa metatarsi I is absent.

The tarsometatarsus of *Colymbiculus* is less mediolaterally compressed than that of extant



- 19 -

FIGURE 1. Tarsometatarsus of A–F, *Colymbiculus udovichenkoi* from the Middle Eocene of Ukraine in comparison with G–I, the Early Miocene *Colymboides minutus* and J–L, the extant *Gavia stellata*. A–F, left tarsometatarsus (SMF Av 592) in dorsal (A), medial (B), lateral (C), plantar (D), proximal (E), and distal (F) view. G, H, left tarsometatarsus (NMB MA. 2668) in plantar (G) and dorsal (H) view. I, right tarsometatarsus (NMB S.G. 20829) in proximal view. J–L, left tarsometatarsus in plantar (J), dorsal (K), and proximal (L) view. M, left carpometacarpus (SMF Av 593, ventral view) of an unidentified small bird from the Middle Eocene of the Ikovo sand quarry. Abbreviations: adII, sulcus for tendon of musculus abductor digiti II; fdl, canal for tendon of musculus flexor digitorum longus; fhl, canal for tendon of musculus flexor perforans et perforatus digiti II; fvp2, canal for tendon of musculus flexor perforans et perforatus digiti II; fvd, foramen vasculare distale; pex, base of broken processus extensorius; sft, canal for superficial flexor tendons. In (F) the trochleae are numbered. Scale bars equal 5 mm.

Gaviidae. There is further no marked sulcus for the tendon of musculus abductor digiti II. Proximal of the foramen vasculare distale, on the dorsal surface of the bone, the sulcus extensorius is less marked than in extant loons. In the hypotarsus of modern Gaviidae the cristae mediales et lateralis hypotarsi are much better developed and fuse plantarly, thus enclosing a large canal for the superficial flexor tendons (Fig. 1L; WILCOX 1952). There is a marked sulcus for these tendons on the plantar surface of the tarsometatarsus, which is absent in *Colymbiculus*.

Discussion

Like C. minutus (STORER 1956), C. udovichenkoi

was less specialized for foot-propelled diving than extant Gaviiformes, in which the tarsometatarsus is much more mediolaterally compressed and in which the tibiotarsus exhibits much better developed cnemial crests (MAYR & ZVONOK 2012). Colymbiculus udovichenkoi further distinctly differs from Colymboides minutus and extant loons in the much more pronounced crista deltopectoralis of the humerus (MAYR & ZVONOK 2012), and reduction of the deltopectoral crest is here considered a synapomorphy of Colymboides and Gavia. With Colymbiculus thus being the sister taxon of the clade (*Colymboides+Gavia*), the similar tarsometatarsus morphology shared by Colymbiculus and Colymboides is likely to be plesiomorphic for Gaviiformes.

We also regard the hypotarsus morphology

ymbiculus, Colymboides, and Gavia. Absence of hypotarsal canals is certainly primitive for Neornithes, the clade including all modern birds, as such canals are absent in non-neornithine Mesozoic taxa close to the crown group as well as in palaeognathous birds. Aequornithes, the "waterbird clade" to which Gaviiformes belong (ERICSON et al. 2006; HACKETT et al. 2008; MAYR 2011), includes taxa with and without hypotarsal canals, but in those where canals are present (i.e., Pelecanidae, Scopidae, Balaenicipitidae, Fregatidae, Sulidae, Phalacrocoracidae, Anhingidae) hypotarsus morphology is different from that of loons. Moreover, in the phylogeny of HACKETT et al. (2008) these latter taxa form a clade within Aequornithes, whereas the basally branching Spheniscidae, Procellariiformes, and Ciconiidae lack hypotarsal canals. We thus conclude that the hypotarsus morphologies of Colymboides (closed canal for tendon of musculus flexor digitorum longus; Fig. 11) and Gavia (cristae medialis et lateralis forming large canal; Fig. 1L) constitute two independently acquired derived states, and that Colymboides is not directly ancestral to crown group Gaviiformes.

Stem group Gaviiformes were much smaller than their extant relatives for more than 30 million years, from the Middle Eocene (48 mya [Colymbiculus udovichenkoi]; MAYR & ZVONOK 2012) to the Early Miocene (17 mya [Colymboides minutus]; MLÍKOVSKÝ 2002). Although species with a size approaching that of extant loons did occur in the Late Eocene and Early Oligocene of Europe (HARRISON & WALKER 1976; MAYR & SMITH 2002), the disappearance of small gaviiform species is notable. In the Paleogene and early Neogene loons still inhabited warm tropical and subtropical environments, which is vividly illustrated by the recent discovery of a loon leg in association with a crocodile tooth (MAYR & POSCHMANN 2009); the remains of Colymbiculus were also found in the same horizon as crocodilians (ZVONOK & SKUTSCHAS 2011). It may thus be near at hand to assume that extinction of small stem group Gaviiformes was related to the retreat of loons to cold environments, where larger-bodied animals have a selective advantage (reduced heat loss) owing to a lower body surface area to volume ratio (Bergmann's rule; *e.g.*, MEIRI & DAYAN 2003). Still, however, there are many avian species with a small body size, which occur in aquatic habitats of far Northern or Southern latitudes today (*e.g.*, Pelecanoididae, Phalaropidae, and some Alcidae), and more data on the exact correlation between the size, distribution, and extinction dates of stem group Gaviiformes are needed to firmly establish, or refute, this hypothesis.

The two Late Cretaceous putative loons, Neogaeornis wetzeli LAMBRECHT, 1929 and Polarornis gregorii CHATTERJEE, 2002, are larger than Colymbiculus udovichenkoi and Colymboides minutus. We note, however, that the tarsometatarsus of N. wetzeli is very different from that of Colymbiculus (the tarsometatarsus of P. gregorii is unknown). Instead of four cristae as in C. udovichenkoi, the hypotarsus of N. wetzeli only exhibits two widely separated ones with a very indistinct sulcus in between (OLSON 1992). The shaft is much more mediolaterally compressed in N. wetzeli and, most unusually and unlike Colymbiculus, Colymboides, and extant Gaviidae, the trochlea metatarsi IV reaches farther distally than the trochlea metatarsi III (OLSON 1992 considered this to possibly be an artifact of preparation, but this is not evident from the published figures). With regard to the latter feature, the tarsometatarsus of Neogaeornis is in fact more similar to the tarsometatarsus of grebes (Podicipedidae) than that of Cenozoic and extant loons. We acknowledge the possibility that there was a derived lineage of gaviiform birds in the Late Cretaceous of the Southern Hemisphere, where Gaviiformes do not occur today. However, we also note that evidence for gaviiform affinities of both, Neogaeornis and Polarornis, is not yet compelling, and their identification should be regarded tentative until more material becomes available (see also VAN TUINEN & HEDGES 2004).

We finally note that the new material from the Ikovo sand quarry also includes an incomplete carpometacarpus (Fig. 1M). Although the bone resembles the carpometacarpus of *Colymboides minutus* in overall proportions, the (broken) processus extensorius was not proximodistally elongated as in *Colymboides* and extant loons. Moreover, the specimen is significantly short than the tarsometatarsus, whereas carpometacarpus and tarsometatarsus are of equal length in *C. minutus* (STORER 1956). Another, morphologically distinct, carpometacarpus from the Ikovo sand quarry was reported by MAYR & ZVONOK (2012), who discussed the possibility that it is from *Colymbiculus udovichenkoi*. This latter specimen likewise significantly differs from the carpometacarpus of *Colymboides* and extant Gaviiformes, and despite the relative abundance of other postcranial bones of *C. udovichenkoi* at the type locality, an unambiguous identification of its carpometacarpus has to await further specimens.

Acknowledgements

We thank Oleksandra KARPIUK (Universitätsmedizin Göttingen) for assisting in the transport of the fossil and Vanesa DE PIETRI (SMF) for providing pictures of *Colymboides minutus*. All other photos were taken by Sven TRÄNKNER (SMF). We further acknowledge reviews by Claudia TAMBUSSI (CIC-TERRA, Cordoba, Argentina) and Jorge NORIEGA (CICYTTP-CONICET, Diamante, Argentina).

References

- BAUMEL, J.J. & WITMER, L.M. (1993): Osteologia. In: BAUMEL, J.J., KING, A.S., BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E. & VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (eds): Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium. – *Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 45–132.
- CHATTERJEE, S. (2002): The morphology and systematics of *Polarornis*, a Cretaceous loon (Aves: Gaviidae) from Antarctica. – In: ZHOU, Z. & ZHANG, F. (eds): Proceedings of the 5th Symposium of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution, Beijing, 1-4 June 2000. – pp. 125–155. Beijing (Science Press).
- CHENEVAL, J. (1984): Les oiseaux aquatiques (Gaviiformes à Ansériformes) du gisement aquitanien de Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France): Révision systématique. – *Palaeovertebrata*, 14: 33–115.
- ERICSON, P.G.P., ANDERSON, C.L., BRITTON, T., ELZANOWSKI, A., JOHANSSON, U.S., KÄLLERSJÖ, M., OHLSON, J.I., PARSONS, T.J., ZUCCON, D. & MAYR, G. (2006): Diversification of Neoaves: integration of molecular sequence data and fossils. – *Biology Letters*, 2: 543–547.
- Hackett, S.J., Kimball, R.T., Reddy, S., Bowie, R.C.K., Braun, E.L., Braun, M.J., Chojnowski,

J.L., Cox, W.A., HAN, K.-L., HARSHMAN, J., HUD-DLESTON, C.J., MARKS, B.D., MIGLIA, K.J., MOORE, W.S., SHELDON, F.H., STEADMAN, D.W., WITT, C.C. & YURI, T. (2008): A phylogenomic study of birds reveals their evolutionary history. – *Science*, **320**: 1763–1767.

- HARRISON, C.J.O. (1976): The wing proportions of the Eocene Diver Colymboides anglicus. – Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club, 96: 64–65.
- HARRISON, C.J.O. & WALKER, C.A. (1976): Birds of the British Upper Eocene. – Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 59: 323–351.
- KUROCHKIN, E.N. (1976): A survey of the Paleogene birds of Asia. – *Smithsonian Contributions to Paleobiology*, **27**: 75–86.
- LAMBRECHT, K. (1929): *Neogaeornis wetzeli* n. g. n. sp. der erste Kreidevogel der südlichen Hemisphäre. – *Paläontologische Zeitschrift*, **11**: 121–129.
- LYDEKKER, R. (1891): Catalogue of the fossil birds in the British Museum (Natural History). – 368 pp., London (British Museum [Natural History]).
- MAYR, G. (2004): A partial skeleton of a new fossil loon (Aves, Gaviiformes) from the early Oligocene of Germany with preserved stomach content. – *Journal of Ornithology*, **145**: 281–286.
- MAYR, G. (2009a): Paleogene fossil birds. 262 pp., Heidelberg (Springer).
- MAYR, G. (2009b): A small loon and a new species of large owl from the Rupelian of Belgium (Aves: Gaviiformes, Strigiformes). – *Paläontologische Zeitschrift*, 83: 247–254.
- MAYR, G. (2011): Metaves, Mirandornithes, Strisores, and other novelties — a critical review of the higher-level phylogeny of neornithine birds. – Journal of Zoological Systematics and Evolutionary Research, **49**: 58–76.
- MAYR, G. & POSCHMANN, M. (2009): A loon leg (Aves, Gaviidae) with crocodilian tooth from the late Oligocene of Germany. – *Waterbirds*, **32**: 468–471.
- MAYR, G. & SMITH, R. (2002): Avian remains from the lowermost Oligocene of Hoogbutsel (Belgium). – Bulletin de l'Institut royal des sciences naturelles de Belgique, 72: 139–150.
- MAYR, G. & ZVONOK, E. (2011): Middle Eocene Pelagornithidae and Gaviiformes (Aves) from the Ukrainian Paratethys. – *Palaeontology*, **54**: 1347–1359.
- MAYR, G. & ZVONOK, E. (2012): A new genus and species of Pelagornithidae with well-preserved pseudodentition and further avian remains from the middle Eocene of the Ukraine. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, **32**: 914–925.
- MEIRI, S. & DAYAN, T. (2003): On the validity of Bergmann's rule. – *Journal of Biogeography*, 30: 331–351.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1867–1871): Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire

des oiseaux fossiles de la France. – 627 pp.+103 pls, Paris (Victor Masson et fils).

- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (2002): Cenozoic birds of the world. Part 1: Europe. – 406 pp., Praha (Ninox Press).
- OLSON, S.L. (1985): The fossil record of birds. In: FARNER, D.S., KING, J.R. & PARKES, K.C. (eds): Avian Biology, Vol. 8: 79–238 pp., New York (Academic Press).
- OLSON, S.L. (1992): Neogaeornis wetzeli Lambrecht, a Cretaceous loon from Chile (Aves: Gaviidae). – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 12: 122–124.
- OLSON, S.L. & RASMUSSEN, P.C. (2001): Miocene and Pliocene birds from the Lee Creek Mine, North Carolina. – Smithsonian Contributions to Paleobiology, 90: 233–365.
- RASMUSSEN, P.C. (1998): Early Miocene avifauna from the Pollack Farm Site, Delaware. – In: BENSON, R.N. (ed.): Geology and paleontology of the lower Miocene Pollack Farm Fossil Site, Delaware. – Delaware Geological Survey Special Publication, 21: 149–151.
- SHUFELDT, R.W. (1915): Fossil birds in the Marsh Collection of Yale University. Transactions of the Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, 19: 1–110.

- STORER, R.W. (1956): The fossil loon, *Colymboides* minutus. Condor, **58**: 413–426.
- ŠVEC, P. (1982): Two new species of diving birds from the Lower Miocene of Czechoslovakia. – Časopis pro mineralogii a geologii, 27: 243–260.
- VAN TUINEN, M. & HEDGES, S.B. (2004): The effect of external and internal fossil calibrations on the avian evolutionary timescale. – *Journal of Paleontology*, **78**: 45–50.
- WETMORE, A. (1940): Fossil bird remains from Tertiary deposits in the United States. – *Journal of Morphology*, **66**: 25–37.
- WILCOX, H.H. (1952): The pelvic musculature of the loon, Gavia immer. – American Midland Naturalist, 48: 513–573.
- ZVONOK, E.A. & SKUTSCHAS, P.P. (2011): On a tomistomine crocodile (Crocodylidae, Tomistominae) from the middle Eocene of Ukraine. – *Paleontological Journal*, **45**: 661–664.



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Galliformes, Upupiformes, Trogoniformes, and other avian remains (?Phaethontiformes and ?Threskiornithidae) from the Rupelian stratotype in Belgium, with comments on the identity of "*Anas*" *benedeni* SHARPE, 1899

GERALD MAYR¹ & THIERRY SMITH²

¹ Senckenberg Research Institute and Natural History Museum Frankfurt, Frankfurt am Main, Germany; E-mail: Gerald.Mayr@senckenberg.de

² Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Brussels, Belgium

Abstract — We describe new avian fossils from the Boom Formation of Belgium, which almost double the number of bird taxa known from this part of the Rupelian stratotype. Three galliform species can, at least tentatively, be assigned to the paraortygid species *Paraortyx brancoi*, *P. lorteti*, and *Pirortyx major*. Among the fossils is a partial sternum, which shows that *Paraortyx lacks* a spina interna. The absence of this structure is plesiomorphic for Galliformes and probably related to the absence of a large crop, thus indicating that Paraortygidae were not yet adapted to the regular processing of coarse and dry food. Two distal humeri belong to Trogoniformes (trogons) and Upupiformes (hoopoes, woodhoopoes, and allies), respectively. A femur is tentatively assigned to Phaethontiformes (tropicbirds), and a carpometacarpus is, likewise tentatively, referred to Threskiornithidae (ibises and spoonbills). We finally comment on the affinities of "*Anas*" *benedeni* SHARPE, 1899 and detail that this species most likely belongs to Gaviformes (loons).

Key words: fossil birds, early Oligocene, Boom Formation, Paraortygidae

Introduction

The Lower Oligocene Boom Formation of the Rupelmonde area in Belgium was deposited in a shallow open sea in the southwestern part of the North Sea Basin, and is part of the Rupelian stratotype (*e.g.*, VAN SIMAEYS & VANDENBERGHE 2006). The formation is exposed at various localities in the Rupelmonde area near Antwerp and has yielded numerous avian remains, most of which were collected in the late 19th and early 20th century.

The majority of the bird fossils belongs to the diomedeoidid procellariiform *Rupelornis definitus* (MAYR & SMITH 2012a). Remains of other marine birds are much rarer and were assigned to Diomedeidae (albatrosses; MAYR & SMITH 2012b) and Gaviiformes (loons; MAYR 2009a). LAMBRECHT (1931) reported a large, putatively anseriform bird (*Cygnopterus affinis*), whose affinities are in need of a revision (MAYR 2009b). More recently, MAYR (2009a) identified a new species of Selenornithidae, an extinct and poorly known group of Strigiformes (owls), and fossils of the gruiform taxon Parvigruidae were described by MAYR (2013). Most of these species have been described after CHENEVAL's (1996) review of the Belgian avifauna, who at that time could mainly list various poorly established and largely incorrectly identified species described by VAN BENEDEN (1871).

Despite the progress made in recent years, our knowledge of the Rupelian avifauna of Belgium, and the North Sea Basin in general, is still anecdotal. Because of the marine origin of most fossil deposits the avian record is biased towards aquatic taxa, and very small birds are underrepresented in the old collections due to the fact that most fossils are surface finds. Here we report on further avian remains from the Boom clay, including the first remains of small land birds, and revise the affinities of "*Anas*" benedeni SHARPE, 1899, one of the species introduced by VAN BENEDEN (1871) under the preoccupied name "*Anas creccoides*".

Material and methods

Osteological terminology follows BAUMEL & WITMER (1993). Measurements are in millimeters. Institutional abbreviations: IRSNB, Institut royal des Sciences naturelles de Belgique, Belgium; SMF, Senckenberg Research Institute and Natural History Museum Frankfurt.

Systematic Palaeontology

Galliformes TEMMINCK, 1820 Paraortygidae Mourer-Chauviré, 1992 *Paraortyx* Gaillard, 1908

Taxonomic remarks: Paraortygidae is a taxon of stem group Galliformes, which was established by MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (1992) for fossils from the Quercy fissure fillings in France. In these deposits, three species can be distinguished, which occur in Late Eocene/Early Oligocene (*Paraortyx brancoi* and *P. lorteti*) and Late Oligocene (*Pirortyx major*) localities; FISCHER (1990) further reported *P. major* from the Lower Oligocene of Germany.

Paraortygidae are distinguished from crown group Galliformes by plesiomorphic features of the humerus (lack of a transverse ridge at the beginning of the incisura capitis) and the coracoid (presence of an excavated cotyla scapularis). The Rupelmonde material includes remains of at least three paraortygid species, which can, at least tentatively, be assigned to the three species reported from the Quercy deposits.

Paraortyx cf. *lorteti* GAILLARD, 1908 (Fig. 1A)

Referred specimen: IRSNB Av 115 (proximal end of right humerus; collection Delheid IG 8289, found in 1896).

Locality and horizon: Niel-Boom; Early Oligocene, between 30.5 and 31.5 Ma (lower part of the Boom Formation, Rupel Group, middle Rupelian).

Measurements: Length as preserved, 22.3; proximal width, 10.2 [9.2–11.2] (dimensions of Quercy specimens of *P. lorteti* in brackets, after MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992).

Remarks: The specimen is identified as a stem group galliform by the lack of a transverse ridge at the beginning of the incisura capitis. It exhibits a marked second (dorsal) fossa pneumotricipitalis (weakly developed in *Pirortyx*), and closely matches the Quercy specimens of *P. lorteti* in size and morphology (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992: fig. 2). Assignment to this latter species is nevertheless tentative because of the fragmentary nature of the fossil.

Paraortyx brancoi GAILLARD, 1908 (Fig. 1B–H)

Referred specimens: IRSNB Av 116a–c (cranial portion of corpus sterni, left coracoid, proximal end of right ulna; collection Delheid IG 8289, found in 1891).

Locality and horizon: Steendorp; Early Oligocene, between 30.5 and 31.5 Ma (lower part of the Boom Formation, Rupel Group, middle Rupelian).

Measurements: Coracoid, maximum length, 35.3; estimated length from processus acrocoracoideus to broken angulus medialis, ~32 [31.0]. Ulna, dorsoventral width across cotylae, 6.8 (dimensions of Quercy specimens of *P. brancoi* in brackets, after MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992).

Remarks: These three bones are from a single individual. In size and morphology, the coracoid (Fig. 1B) corresponds with that of *Paraortyx brancoi* from the Late Eocene (MP 18/19) of the Quercy fissure fillings in France (MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ 1992). As in other stem group Galliformes



FIGURE 1. Galliformes from the Rupelian of Belgium. A, Paraortyx cf. lorteti, proximal end of right humerus (IRSNB Av 115) in caudal view. B-H, P. brancoi, B, left coracoid (IRSNB Av 116a) in dorsal view; C-G, cranial portion of corpus sterni (IRSNB Av 116b) in dorsal (C), craniodorsal (D), ventral (E), cranial (F), and cranioventral (G) view; H, proximal end of right ulna (IRSNB Av 116c) in cranial view. I-O, cf. Pirortyx major, I, left coracoid (IRSNB Av 117) in dorsal view; J, extremitas omalis of left coracoid (IRSNB Av 118a) in dorsal view; K, extremitas cranialis of left scapula (IRSNB Av 118b) in lateral view; L, proximal end of left humerus (IRSNB Av 119) in caudal view; M, distal end of right humerus (IRSNB Av 120) in cranial view; N, O, incomplete left carpometacarpus (IRSNB Av 122) in ventral (N) and dorsal (O) view. Abbreviations: csc, cotyla scapularis; fpn, second (dorsal) fossa pneumotricipitalis; ntc, notch in rim of ventral portion of trochlea carpalis; pnf, pneumatic foramen; spe, spina externa. Bones were coated with ammonium chloride.

-25-

IRSNB Av 116a–c also includes the cranial portion of a sternum (Fig. 1C–G). This bone was unknown for *Paraortyx* and other Early Oligocene Galliformes before and distinctly differs from the sternum of crown group Galliformes in the absence of a spina interna, which in crown group Galliformes is fused with the spina externa to form a spina communis (see discussion).

?Pirortyx Brodkorb, 1964 cf. Pirortyx major (Gaillard, 1939) (Fig. 1I–O)

Referred specimens: IRSNB Av 117 (Fig. 1I; left coracoid; collection Hasse IG 20664, found in 1904). IRSNB Av 118a+b (Fig. 1J, K; extremitas omalis of left coracoid, extremitas cranialis of left scapula; collection Delheid IG 8289, found in 1895). IRSNB Av 119 (Fig. 1L; proximal end of left humerus; collection Delheid IG 8289, found in 1901). IRSNB Av 120 (Fig. 1M; distal end of right humerus; collection Delheid IG 8289). IRSNB Av 121 (extremitas cranialis of right scapula; collection Delheid IG 8289). IRSNB Av 122 (Fig. 1N, O; incomplete left carpometacarpus; collection Delheid IG 8289, found in 1901).

Locality and horizon: Steendorp (IRSNB Av 119, IRSNB Av 118a+b), Niel-Boom (IRSNB Av 117), Rumst (IRSNB Av 120), Terhagen (IRSNB Av 122); all Early Oligocene, between 30.5 and 31.5 Ma (lower part of the Boom Formation, Rupel Group, middle Rupelian).

Measurements: Coracoid (IRSNB Av 117), maximum length, 41.0; length from tip of processus acrocoracoideus to angulus medialis, 38.5. Humerus (IRSNB Av 119), proximal width (est.), ~13.5 [13.5]. Humerus (IRSNB Av 120), distal width, 10.8 [9.7]. Carpometacarpus (IRSNB Av 122), length, 30.6 (in brackets the dimensions of Quercy specimens of *Pirortyx major*, after MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992).

Remarks: *Pirortyx major*, the only species of the taxon *Pirortyx*, is known from the holotype (a complete humerus from an unknown horizon of

the Quercy fissure fillings), a referred proximal humerus from the Late Oligocene of the Quercy fissure fillings (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992), as well as a proximal and another distal humerus from the Lower Oligocene of the Weißelster Basin in Germany (FISCHER 1990). The proximal humerus IRSNB Av 119 agrees with Pirortyx and differs from *Paraortyx* in that the second fossa pneumotricipitalis is shallower, less extensive, and bears a pneumatic opening (Fig. 1L; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992). The tentatively referred distal humerus IRSNB Av 120 is larger than that of previously reported P. major fossils (10.8 mm versus 9.7 mm in the P. major holotype and 8.7 mm in a specimen referred to the species by FISCHER 1990), but a comparable range of individual size variation is known from humeri referred to Paraortyx brancoi (Mourer-Chauviré 1992: tab. 1).

The coracoid and scapula of *Pirortyx* have not been described before, and the above-listed specimens are referred to the taxon based on their large size. We note, however, that if our assignment is correct, *Pirortyx major* had a proportionally shorter humerus than the species of *Paraortyx*, as the ratio humerus length: coracoid length would then be 1.46 for *Pirortyx major* (holotype of *P. major*: IRSNB Av 117), whereas it is 1.62 in *Paraortyx lorteti* and 1.63 in *P. brancoi* (calculated after the mean dimensions given by MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992: tab. 1). Morphologically, the Belgian coracoids and scapulae closely resemble the corresponding bones of *Paraortyx lorteti*.

The carpometacarpus IRSNB Av 122 is too large to belong to either of the two Paraortyx species (the bone measures only 19.5-21.7 mm in the larger *P. brancoi*; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992), but would correspond in size to Pirortyx major, with the ratio humerus length: carpometacarpus length being 1.84 (P. major holotype: IRSNB Av 122) and 1.90 in Paraortyx brancoi (calculated after the mean dimensions given by MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992: tab. 1). IRSNB Av 122 agrees with the carpometacarpus of Paraortyx in its proportions, and as in other stem group Galliformes the intermetacarpal tuberosity is only weakly developed. The ventral surface of the proximal portion of the os metacarpale minus does, however, not exhibit a well-developed tubercle, which is found in *Paraortyx* and some other taxa of stem group Galliformes (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ



FIGURE 2. Trogoniformes and Upupiformes from the Rupelian of Belgium. **A**, **B**, *Primotrogon* sp., distal end of right humerus (IRSNB Av 123) in cranial (**A**) and caudal (**B**) view, in comparison to **C**, the distal humerus of the Orange-breasted Trogon, *Harpactes oreskios* (Trogonidae). **D**, distal end of right humerus of *Messelirrisor halcyrostris* (Messelirrisoridae) from the early Eocene of Messel in Germany (from MAYR 1998: pl. 6). **E**, **F**, Upupiformes, gen. et sp. indet., distal end of right humerus (IRSNB Av 124) in cranial (**E**) and caudal (**F**) view, in comparison to the distal humerus of **G**, the Green Woodhoopoe, *Phoeniculus purpureus* (Phoeniculidae). Abbreviations: dpr, depression on cranial surface of condylus ventralis; ecd, epicondylus dorsalis; fmb, fossa musculi brachialis; tsd, tuberculum supracondylare dorsale; tsv, tuberculum supracondylare ventrale. Fossil bones were coated with ammonium chloride.

1992: pl. 2; MAYR 2006: fig. 5d). Further unlike *Paraortyx*, the caudal rim of the ventral portion of the trochlea carpalis is distinctly notched (Fig. 1N).

Trogoniformes AMERICAN ORNITHOLOGISTS' UNION, 1886 ?Primotrogon Mayr, 1999

Primotrogon sp. (Fig. 2A, B)

Referred specimen: IRSNB Av 123 (distal right humerus; collection Delheid IG 8289).

Locality and horizon: Steendorp; Early Oli-

gocene, between 30.5 and 31.5 Ma (lower part of the Boom Formation, Rupel Group, middle Rupelian).

Measurements: Length as preserved, 21.9; distal width, 6.5.

Remarks: IRSNB Av 123 is from a species about the size of the extant Orange-breasted Trogon, *Harpactes oreskios*. It is identified as a trogon by its stout overall proportions and by the marked and sharply delimited fossa musculi brachialis; this latter fossa is very distinct in most of the studied species of *Harpactes* (oreskios, diardii, ardens) as well as in Trogon rufus, whereas it is shallower in *H. erythrocephalus*, *Apalharpactes reinwardtii, Trogon viridis*, and *Pharomachrus* spp. The tuberculum supracondylare dorsale of IRSNB Av 123 is more marked and dorsally protruding than in all studied crown group Trogoniformes (specimens of *Apaloderma* were not available for comparisons) (Fig. 2). In this latter, possibly plesiomorphic feature, the Belgian fossil is also distinguished from *Paratrogon gallicus* from the Lower Miocene of France (MILNE-EDWARDS (1869–71: pl. 177). The tuberculum supracondylare ventrale is large as in *Trogon* and *Pharomachrus*, whereas it is proximodistally less elongate in *Harpactes*.

IRSNB Av 123 is tentatively assigned to *Pri-motrogon*, which is the only trogoniform taxon from the Lower Oligocene of Europe that has been named (MAYR 1999, 2001, 2005, 2009b). It is larger than an Early Oligocene trogon fossil from the German locality Frauenweiler (the distal width of the humerus of SMF Av 498, described by MAYR 2005, is only 4.7 mm), but corresponds well in size with *Primotrogon wintersteini* from the Early Oligocene of the Luberon in southern France (the distal width of SMF Av 423, described by MAYR 2001, is 6.1 mm).

Upupiformes sensu MAYR (2000)

Upupiformes gen. et sp. indet. (Fig. 2E, F)

Referred specimen: IRSNB Av 124 (distal right humerus; IG 17702).

Locality and horizon: Steendorp; Early Oligocene, between 30.5 and 31.5 Ma (lower part of the Boom Formation, Rupel Group, middle Rupelian).

Measurements: Length as preserved, 15.9; distal width, 6.3.

Remarks: This specimen is identified as an upupiform bird by the shape of the small condylus dorsalis, which is proximodistally low and oriented at a very oblique angle towards the longitudinal humerus axis, and by the protruding epicondylus dorsalis. In these features it differs from the humerus of the otherwise similar coraciiform Geranopteridae (MAYR & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2000). The tuberculum supracondylare dorsale is low but distinct. There is a marked depression on the cranial surface of the condylus ventralis. This depression is less marked in crown group Upupiformes, but present in middle Eocene stem group representatives (MAYR 1998: fig. 10A–C). The tuberculum supracondylare ventrale is situated far distally, with its proximal margin being on a level with the proximal margin of the condylus dorsalis. The processus flexorius is not protruding distally and somewhat shorter than in crown group Upupiformes (Fig. 2G); again the shape of this process is more similar to middle Eocene stem group Upupiformes (Fig. 2D; MAYR 1998: fig. 10A–C) than to the extant representatives. The fossa brachialis is shallow and ventrally situated.

Stem group representatives of Upupiformes are already known from the Early Eocene of Europe and were classified in the extinct taxon Messelirrisoridae (MAYR 1998, 2009b). Upupiform birds have not yet been described from lower Oligocene localities, but there exist fossils from the Luberon (southern France) in private collections (MAYR 2009b). An undescribed upupiform species occurs also in the Late Eocene of the Quercy fissure fillings (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2006). Two upupiform species of the taxon Laurillardia were further reported from the Late Eocene of the Paris Basin in France (MAYR 1998, 2009b), but the very poor preservation of the fossils does not allow for closer comparisons with IRSNB Av 124. The latter is slightly larger than the Early Miocene Phirriculus pinicola (distal width of humerus 6.3 mm versus 4.9-5.2 mm; MLÍKOVSKÝ & GÖHLICH 2000), from which it further differs in the less strongly distally protruding processus flexorius. The small size of IRSNB Av 124, as well as its close similarity to the humerus of messelirrisorids (Fig. 2D), suggest that the fossil is from a stem group representative of Upupiformes.

Phaethontiformes Christidis & Boles, 2008

?Phaethontiformes gen. et sp. indet. (Fig. 3A, B)

Referred specimen: IRSNB Av 125 (right femur; collection Hasse IG 20664, found in 1904).

Locality and horizon: Niel-Boom; Early Oligocene, between 30.5 and 31.5 Ma (lower part of the Boom Formation, Rupel Group, middle Rupelian).



FIGURE 3. Phaethontiformes and ?Threskiornithidae from the Rupelian of Belgium. **A**, **B**, ?Phaethontiformes, gen. et sp. indet., right femur (IRSNB Av 125) in cranial (**A**) and caudal (**B**) view, in comparison to **C**, **D**, the right femur of the Red-tailed Tropicbird, *Phaethon rubricauda*, in cranial (**C**) and caudal (**D**) view. **E**, **F**, ?Threskiornithidae, gen. et sp. indet., proximal portion of left carpometacarpus (IRSNB Av 126) in ventral (**E**) and dorsal (**F**) view, in comparison to the left carpometacarpus of **G**, the Northern Bald Ibis, *Geronticus eremita*, and **H**, an immature Madagascar Ibis, *Lophotibis cristata*. Abbreviations: cpf, caput femoris; csm, crista supracondylaris medialis; ctr, crista trochanteris; ext, processus extensorius; ntd, notch in dorsal portion of trochlea carpalis; tgl, tuberculum musculi gastrocnemialis lateralis. Fossil bones were coated with ammonium chloride. Scale bars equal 10 mm.

Measurements: Length, 29.0; proximal width, 6.2; distal width, 5.9.

Remarks: This femur exhibits a characteristic morphology in that the caput femoris is proximomedially directed, *i.e.*, oriented obliquely to the shaft and not perpendicular as in most other birds. The facies articularis acetabularis is large and globular. The crista trochanteris is very low in proximal direction, but distally continuous with a ridge along the craniolateral margin of the bone. The shaft of the bone is straight and the distal end narrow. At the beginning of its distal third, the bone is broken in two pieces, which were glued together at a slightly inaccurate angle. The crista supracondylaris medialis on the distal end is welldeveloped (Fig. 3B). The tuberculum musculi gastrocnemialis lateralis is moderately developed, the sulcus patellaris is shallow and wide. A similar femur morphology is found in some pelecaniform birds, of which only the femora of Phaethontidae are, however, as small as the fossil one, with IRSNB Av 125 being slightly smaller than the femur of the extant White-tailed Tropicbird, *Phaethon lepturus*, which in the one individual available to us measures 32.1 mm. Despite a similar overall morphology, the fossil differs, however, from extant Phaethontidae in the more proximomedially directed caput femoris, the less proximally projecting crista trochanteris, and the more marked fossa poplitea.

The earliest fossils assigned to Phaethontiformes belong to the Prophaethontidae, which occur in the Late Paleocene of Maryland (USA; OLSON 1994) and Kazakhstan (BOURDON et al. 2008), the Early Eocene of England (HARRISON & WALKER 1976a) and Morocco (BOURDON et al. 2008a), and the Middle Eocene of Belgium (MAYR & SMITH 2002a). The earliest unambiguous fossil record of true Phaethontidae dates from the Miocene, with Heliadornis ashbyi having been reported from the middle Miocene of Maryland (USA) and Belgium (OLSON 1985, OLSON & WALKER 1997), and H. paratethydicus from the Late Miocene of Austria (MLÍKOVSKÝ 1997). Another record of putative Phaethontidae, Phaethusavis pelagicus from the Early Eocene of Morocco (BOURDON et al. 2008b), needs confirmation of its affinities within Phaethontiformes by more material (MAYR 2009b).

Among the fossil species, the femur is only known from the prophaethontid *Lithoptila abdounensis* (BOURDON *et al.* 2008a: fig. 2). In this species the crista trochanterica is as low as in IRSNB Av 125, but the caput femoris is not proximally directed, the distal end more medially inflected, the condylus medialis larger, and the crista supracondylaris medialis more prominent.

?"Ciconiiformes" sensu Christidis & Boles (2008)

?Threskiornithidae RICHMOND, 1917

?Threskiornithidae gen. et sp. indet. (Fig. 3E, F)

Referred specimen: IRSNB Av 126 (proximal portion of left carpometacarpus; collection Hasse IG 20664).

Locality and horizon: Steendorp; Early Oligocene, between 30.5 and 31.5 Ma (lower part of the Boom Formation, Rupel Group, middle Rupelian).

Measurements: Length as preserved, 54.8; estimated total length, ~65; proximal width, 14.5.

Remarks: This fossil is from a medium-sized bird and, compared to extant taxa, most similar to the carpometacarpus of Threskiornithidae (ibises). The bone is characterized by a distinct notch in the caudal rim of the ventral portion of the trochlea carpalis, and another notch in the proximocranial rim of the dorsal portion of this trochlea (Fig. 3E, F). In these features it differs from extant Threskiornithidae and other taxa with a similar carpometacarpus shape. The processus extensorius is straight and protrudes perpendicular to the long axis of the bone; in most extant Threskiornithidae it is lower and with a more proximally directed tip (Fig. 3G), but a similar shape of the processus extensorius is found in the Madagascar Ibis, Lophotibis cristata (Fig. 3H).

In the Paleogene of Europe, Threskiornithidae were reported from the Early Oligocene of the Luberon in France (ROUX 2002) and the Late Eocene of England (HARRISON & WALKER 1976b), but meaningful comparisons with the Belgian fossil are not possible because the carpometacarpus is either poorly preserved (in the case of the Luberon fossil) or unknown (in the case of the Late Eocene *Actiornis anglicus*).

Discussion

By adding six new species to the seven previously described ones, the present study almost doubles the number of bird species known from the Rupelian stratotype (Table 1). MAYR (2009a) already commented on biogeographic affinities between the Rupelmonde avifauna and those of other Lower Oligocene localities in Europe, and Table 2 provides an updated overview of some taxa and localities. In Belgium, Early Oligocene avifaunas are also known from Hoogbutsel and Boutersem, some 60 km southeast of the Rupelmonde area. The fluvio-lacustrine deposits of these fossil sites yielded several taxa so far unknown from the Boom Formation, including duck-like Anseriformes, Charadriiformes, Rallidae, Picidae, and Coliiformes (MAYR & SMITH 2001, 2002b). In part this probably reflects different palaeohabitats (marine versus fluvio-lacustrine) and depositional environments, but a collection bias towards larger fossils may have also contributed to the scarcity of very small bird remains in the Rupelmonde avifauna.

Diomedeoidid Procellariiformes and other aquatic birds that occur in the Boom Formation were widespread in the Rupelian epicontinental sea system, which covered Europe in the Early Oligocene (MAYR 2009b). Some of the terrestrial taxa also appear to have had a wide distribution across Europe, and the newly reported fossils add Paraortygidae and Trogoniformes to those avian groups, which are also known from Lower Oligocene localities in southern Europe.

As detailed above, the sternum of *Paraortyx* lacks a spina interna. A spina interna is likewise absent in the Early Eocene Gallinuloididae (MAYR 2006: fig. 3a, 2009b), which further differ from crown group Galliformes in a much more robust furcula and a more cranially prominent apex of the carina sterni. These differences in the

morphology of the pectoral girdle bones were ascribed to the presence of a large crop in crown group Galliformes, which, through the shift of the center of gravity and the caudal displacement of the pectoral muscles, led to modifications in the morphology of the pectoral girdle bones (STEG-MANN 1964; MAYR 2006). The plesiomorphic sternum morphology found in *Paraortyx* indicates that a large crop, one of the key innovations of crown group Galliformes, was not developed in Paraortygidae, and these birds were thus probably not yet adapted to regular processing of very coarse and dry plant matter (MAYR 2006).

Trogons are predominantly frugivorous or insectivorous birds with poor migration capabilities and are today only found in subtropical and tropical regions. However, these birds had a long evolutionary history in Europe (MAYR 2009b), and in the Early Eocene they even occurred in the northern part of Denmark (Fig. 4A; KRISTOF-FERSEN 2002). The Belgian fossil reported here is the so far northernmost occurrence of trogons in post-Eocene deposits (Fig. 4A), and indicates the presence of forests or at least woodlands in the

Order Family Species References ?Anseriformes family inc. sed. Cygnopterus affinis LAMBRECHT (1931) Procellariiformes Diomedeidae Tydea septentrionalis MAYR & SMITH (2012b) Diomedeoididae MAYR, 2009b; MAYR & SMITH Rupelornis definitus (incl. Vanellus selvsii van Beneden, (2012a) 1871) Gaviiformes Gaviidae "Anas" benedeni (= Anas crec-MAYR (2009a); this study coides VAN BENEDEN, 1871) Galliformes Paraortygidae Paraortyx cf. lorteti this study Paraortyx brancoi this study cf. Pirortyx major this study "Gruiformes" Parvigruidae cf. Parvigrus pohli MAYR (2013) Rupelrallus (?) belgicus Mayr (2013) Strigiformes Selenornithidae Selenornis steendorpensis MAYR (2009a) Trogoniformes Trogonidae ?Primotrogon sp. this study Upupiformes family inc. sed. gen. et sp. indet. this study ?Phaethontiformes family inc. sed. gen. et sp. indet. this study ?"Ciconiiformes" ?Threskiornithidae this study gen. et sp. indet. species of doubtful affinities order inc. sed. family inc. sed. "Puffinus" ("Larus") raem-VAN BENEDEN (1871) donckii order inc. sed. family inc. sed. "Fulica" dejardinii VAN BENEDEN (1871)

TABLE 1. List of avian taxa reported from the Rupelian of the Boom Formation

palaeoenvironment of the Boom Formation.

We finally comment on the affinities of "Anas" benedeni SHARPE, 1899, a species originally described by VAN BENEDEN (1871) under the preoccupied name "Anas creccoides". The original material assigned to "A." benedeni includes a humerus lacking the proximal end, a proximal humerus, and two proximal ulnae. BRODKORB (1962) removed the species from Anseriformes, considering its affinities uncertain and designating the more complete humerus as the lectotype. Whereas other material referred to "A. creccoides" by VAN BENEDEN (1871) belongs to the procellariiform Diomedeoididae (MAYR 2009b; MAYR & SMITH 2012a), the lectotype humerus closely resembles a humerus of a gaviiform bird from the Boom Clay, which was assigned by MAYR (2009a) to Colymboides (?) *metzleri*, a species originally described from the Early Oligocene Rhine Graben locality Frauenweiler (MAYR 2004) (Fig. 4B, C). Based on the published figure of the lectotype humerus, we consider it most likely that "*Anas*" benedeni is a gaviiform bird. However, because the condylus dorsalis shows slight differences to *Colymboides* (?) *metzleri* in size and orientation (Fig. 4B, C), we refrain from any taxonomic action until the "*Anas*" benedeni lectotype, which is not in the collection of IRSNB, is located.

Acknowledgements

We thank A. FOLIE (IRSNB) for assisting in the loan of the fossil birds to GM, and S. TRÄNKNER (SMF) for taking the photographs. We are further

TABLE 2. Comparison of the Rupelmonde avifauna with other early Oligocene (MP 21–23) European localities (after MAYR 2009b and references listed in the reference list); entries for the middle Eocene to late Oligocene Quercy fissure fillings include only records with a proven early Oligocene age (after MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2006).

	Belgium		Germany		France	
	Rupel- monde	Boutersem/ Hoogbutsel	Weißelster Basin	Frauen- weiler	Luberon	Quercy
Paraortygidae	+	_	+	_	_	+
Diomedeidae	+	_	_	_	_	_
Diomedeoididae	+	_	+	+	_	_
Gaviiformes	+	+	_	+	—	-
Parvigruidae	+	_	+	-	+	-
Selenornithidae	+	_	_	-	—	+
Upupiformes	+	_	_	-	$+^{b}$	-
Trogoniformes	+	_	_	+	+	_
Pelecanidae	_	_	_	_	+	_
Phalacrocoracidae	_	_	_	_	$+^{b}$	_
Anatidae	_	+	_	_	_	_
Charadriiformes	_	+	_	+	+	_
Rallidae	_	+	_	_	_	_
Idiornithidae	_	?ª	_	_	_	+
Archaeotrogonidae	-	_	_	-	—	+
Coliiformes	-	+	_	+	—	-
Todidae	-	_	_	+	—	+
Sylphornithidae	-	+	_	-	—	-
Piciformes	_	+	-	+	_	_
Passeriformes	_	_	-	+	+	_

^a a fragmentary distal tarsometatarsus was tentatively identified by MAYR & SMITH (2001)

^b unpublished fossils in private collections (MAYR 2009b)



FIGURE 4. A, Map of Central Europe with localities where fossil Trogoniformes were found (after MLikovský 2002; MAYR 2009b, 2011): 1 – Fur Formation, Denmark (Early Eocene); 2 – London Clay (Clacton-on-Sea), England (Early Eocene); 3 – Messel, Germany (Middle Eocene); 4 – Frauenweiler, Germany (Early Oligocene); 5 – Luberon, France (Early Oligocene); 6 – Steendorp, Belgium (Early Oligocene); 7 – Saint-Gérand-le-Puy, France (Early Miocene); 8 – Dolnice, Czech Republic (Early Miocene; undescribed record mentioned by MLikovský 2002: 227). **B**, **C**, Humeri of loons (Gaviiformes) from the Boom Formation. **B**, lectotype of *Anas benedeni* SHARPE, 1899 (from VAN BENEDEN 1871: fig. 3). **C**, right humerus (reversed as to appear from the left side to facilitate comparison) from the Rupelian of Niel-Boom (IRSNB Av 85), which was assigned to *Colymboides* (?) *metzleri* by MAYR (2009a). Scale bar in B and C equals 10 mm; scale for *A. benedeni* based on the assumption that figures in VAN BENEDEN (1871) represent the natural size of the bones.

indebted to E. STEURBAUT (IRSNB) for information about the age of the Boom Formation, and to the reviewers, C. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ and N. ZELENKOV, for thoughtful comments, which improved the manuscript. This study is a contribution to project MO/36/020 supported by the Federal Science Policy Office of Belgium.

References

- BAUMEL, J.J. & WITMER, L.M. (1993): Osteologia. In: BAUMEL, J.J., KING, A.S., BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E. & VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (eds.): Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium. – *Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 45–132.
- BOURDON, E., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., AMAGHZAZ, M. & BOUYA, B. (2008a): New specimens of *Lithoptila abdounensis* (Aves, Prophaethontidae) from the Lower Paleogene of Morocco. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 28: 751–761.

- BOURDON, E., AMAGHZAZ, M. & BOUYA, B. (2008b): A new seabird (Aves, cf. Phaethontidae) from the Lower Eocene phosphates of Morocco. – *Geobios*, 41: 455–459.
- BRODKORB, P. 1962. The systematic position of two Oligocene birds from Belgium. – Auk, 79: 706–707.
- BRODKORB, P. (1964): Catalogue of fossil birds. Part 2 (Anseriformes through Galliformes). – Bulletin of the Florida State Museum, Biological Sciences 8/3: 195–335.
- CHENEVAL, J. (1996): Tertiary avian localities of Belgium. – In: MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (ed.): Tertiary Avian Localities of Europe. – Acta Universitatis Carolinae, Geologica, 39: 535–540.
- CHRISTIDIS, L. & BOLES, W. (2008): Systematics and taxonomy of Australian birds. – 277 pp., Melbourne (CSIRO publishing).
- FISCHER, K. (1990): Der Hühnervogel Pirortyx major (Gaillard, 1939) aus dem marinen Mitteloligozän bei Leipzig (DDR). – Mitteilungen aus dem Zoologischen Museum in Berlin, 66 (Supplement Annalen für Ornithologie, 14): 133–136.

- GAILLARD, C. (1908): Les oiseaux des Phosphorites du Quercy. Annales de l'Université de Lyon (nouvelle série), 23: 1–178.
- GAILLARD, C. (1939): Contribution à l'étude des oiseaux fossiles. *Nouvelles archives du Muséum d'histoire naturelle de Lyon*, **15**/2: 1–100.
- HARRISON, C.J.O. & WALKER, C.A. (1976a): A reappraisal of *Prophaethon shrubsolei* Andrews (Aves). *Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History), Geology*, **27**: 1–30.
- HARRISON, C.J.O. & WALKER, C.A. (1976b): Birds of the British Upper Eocene. – Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 59: 323–351.
- KRISTOFFERSEN, A.V. (2002): An early Paleogene trogon (Aves: Trogoniformes) from the Fur Formation, Denmark. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 22: 661–666.
- LAMBRECHT, K. (1931): Cygnopterus und Cygnavus, zwei fossile Schwäne aus dem Tertiär Europas. – Bulletin du Musée royal d'histoire naturelle de Belgique, 7/31: 1–6.
- MAYR, G. (1998): "Coraciiforme" und "piciforme"
 Kleinvögel aus dem Mittel-Eozän der Grube
 Messel (Hessen, Deutschland). Courier
 Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 205: 1–101.
- MAYR, G. (1999): A new trogon from the Middle Oligocene of Céreste, France. – *Auk*, **116**: 427–434.
- MAYR, G. (2000): Tiny hoopoe-like birds from the Middle Eocene of Messel (Germany). *Auk*, **117**: 968–974.
- MAYR, G. (2001): A second skeleton of the early Oligocene trogon *Primotrogon wintersteini* Mayr 1999 (Aves: Trogoniformes: Trogonidae) in an unusual state of preservation. – *Senckenbergiana lethaea*, **81**: 335–338.
- MAYR, G. (2004): A partial skeleton of a new fossil loon (Aves, Gaviiformes) from the early Oligocene of Germany with preserved stomach content. – *Journal of Ornithology*, **145**: 281–286.
- MAYR, G. (2005): New trogons from the early Tertiary of Germany. *Ibis*, **147**: 512–518.
- MAYR, G. (2006): New specimens of the early Eocene stem group galliform *Paraortygoides* (Gallinuloididae), with comments on the evolution of a crop in the stem lineage of Galliformes. *Journal of Ornithology*, **147**: 31–37.
- MAYR, G. (2009a): A small loon and a new species of large owl from the Rupelian of Belgium (Aves: Gaviiformes, Strigiformes). – *Paläontologische Zeitschrift*, 83: 247–254.
- MAYR, G. (2009b): Paleogene fossil birds. 262 pp., Heidelberg (Springer).
- MAYR, G. (2011): Two-phase extinction of "Southern Hemispheric" birds in the Cenozoic of Europe and the origin of the Neotropic avifauna. – *Palaeobiodiversity and Palaeoenvironments*, **91**: 325–333.

- MAYR, G. (2013): Parvigruidae (Aves, core-Gruiformes) from the early Oligocene of Belgium. – Palaeobiodiversity and Palaeoenvironments, 93: 77–89.
- MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2000): Rollers (Aves: Coraciiformes s.s.) from the Middle Eocene of Messel (Germany) and the Upper Eocene of the Quercy (France). – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, **20**: 533–546.
- MAYR, G. & SMITH, R. (2001): Ducks, rails, and limicoline waders (Aves: Anseriformes, Gruiformes, Charadriiformes) from the lowermost Oligocene of Belgium. – *Geobios*, 34: 547–561.
- MAYR, G. & SMITH, R. (2002a): A new record of the Prophaethontidae (Aves: Pelecaniformes) from the Middle Eocene of Belgium. – Bulletin de l'Institut royal des sciences naturelles de Belgique, 72: 135–138.
- MAYR, G. & SMITH, R. (2002b): Avian remains from the lowermost Oligocene of Hoogbutsel (Belgium). – Bulletin de l'Institut royal des sciences naturelles de Belgique, **72**: 139–150.
- MAYR, G. & SMITH, T. (2012a): Phylogenetic affinities and taxonomic composition of the Oligocene Diomedeoididae, and the basal divergences amongst extant Procellariiformes (Aves). – Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 166: 854–875.
- MAYR, G. & SMITH, T. (2012b): A fossil albatross from the early Oligocene of the North Sea Basin. – *Auk*, **129**: 87–95.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1869–1871): Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire des oiseaux fossiles de la France. – 627 pp. + 103 pls., Paris (Victor Masson et fils).
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (1997): A new tropicbird (Aves: Phaethontidae) from the late Miocene of Austria. – Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums in Wien, 98A: 151–154.
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (2002): Cenozoic birds of the world. Part 1: Europe. – 406 pp., Praha (Ninox Press).
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. & GÖHLICH, U.B. (2000): A new woodhoopoe from the early Miocene of Germany and France. – Acta Societatis Zoologicae Bohemicae, 64: 419–424.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): The Galliformes (Aves) from the Phosphorites du Quercy (France): Systematics and Biostratigraphy. – In: CAMPBELL, K.E. (Ed.): Papers in Avian Paleontology honoring Pierce Brodkorb. – Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Science Series, 36: 67–95.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2006): The avifauna of the Eocene and Oligocene Phosphorites du Quercy (France): an updated list. *Strata, série* 1, **13**: 135–149.
- OLSON, S.L. (1985): A new genus of tropicbird (Pelecaniformes: Phaethontidae) from the Middle

Miocene Calvert Formation of Maryland. – *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington*, **98**: 851–855.

- OLSON, S.L. (1994): A giant *Presbyornis* (Aves: Anseriformes) and other birds from the Paleocene Aquia Formation of Maryland and Virginia. – *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington*, **107**: 429–435.
- OLSON, S.L. & WALKER, C.A. (1997): A trans-Atlantic record of the fossil tropicbird *Heliadornis ashbyi* (Aves: Phaethontidae) from the Miocene of Belgium. – *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington*, **110**: 624–628.
- Roux, T. (2002): Deux fossiles d'oiseaux de l'Oligocène inférieur du Luberon. – Courrier Scientifique du Parc Naturel Régional du Luberon, 6: 38–57.

- SHARPE, R.B. (1899): A hand-list of the genera and species of birds, vol. 1. – 368 pp. London (British Museum Natural History).
- STEGMANN, B. (1964): Die funktionelle Bedeutung des Schlüsselbeines bei den Vögeln. – Journal für Ornithologie, 105: 450–463.
- VAN BENEDEN, P.J. (1871): Les oiseaux de l'argile rupélienne. – Bulletins de l'Académie Royale des Sciences, des Lettres, et des Beaux-Arts de Belgique, série 2, 32: 256–261.
- VAN SIMAEYS, S. & VANDENBERGHE, N. (2006): Rupelian. – Geologica Belgica, 9: 95–101.





Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



A review of avian remains from the Oligocene of the Outer Carpathians and Central Paleogene Basin

ZBIGNIEW M. BOCHENSKI¹, TERESA TOMEK¹ & EWA SWIDNICKA²

¹ Institute of Systematics and Evolution of Animals, Polish Academy of Sciences, Kraków, Poland; E-mail: bochenski@isez.pan.krakow.pl, tomek@isez.pan.krakow.pl

² Division of Palaeozoology, Department of Evolutionary Biology and Ecology, University of Wrocław, Wrocław, Poland; E-mail: gama@biol.uni.wroc.pl

Abstract — The paper is a brief review of avian specimens that were found in marine deposits of the Paratethys in the Oligocene sites of Poland, Slovakia and Czech Republic. It provides additional information on the localities and comments on their faunas.

Key words: Oligocene, birds, Poland, Slovakia, Czech Republic, Paratethys

Introduction

Several bird specimens were described from the Oligocene of Poland, Slovakia and Czech Republic during the last few years. This paper summarizes our knowledge on the avian specimens from that part of the Paratethys and presents additional information on the sites.

During the Oligocene, large parts of central and eastern Europe were covered by the Paratethys, a northern branch of the Tethys Ocean (Fig. 1). During the Alpine orogeny, the Paratethys was separated from the Tethys by the Alps, Carpathians and other mountains but the separation was not a single event because the Paratethys was at times reconnected with the Tethys. It gradually became shallower and finally disappeared during the Late Miocene, becoming an isolated inland sea. Today's remnants of the Paratethys include the Black Sea, Caspian Sea and Aral Sea (Rögl 1999; SCHULZ *et al.* 2005).

The Menilite beds of the Carpathian flysch zone (northeastern Czech Republic and south-

eastern Poland) and the Central Paleogene basin (northern Slovakia) are very rich in Oligocene fish fossils. The ichthyofauna is not only very rich and diverse but also very characteristic for particular strata. Therefore the palaeoecological assemblages are successfully used in biostratigraphy, especially in the Polish part of the Carpathians (Fig. 2). The fish-bearing levels have been assigned to the respective IPM (Ichthyofauna, Paleogene, Menilite-Krosno Series) zones (IPM1 to IPM6) and correlated with the calcareous nannoplankton in the standard zonation (comprising NP22 to NP25 zones) and together they indicate the geological age (KOTLARCZYK & JERZMAŃSKA 1976; KOTLARCZYK et al. 2006). In Poland, many thousand of fish fossils have been recovered mainly during the late 1970s until the mid 1990s from more than 200 outcrops (Kot-LARCZYK et al. 2006). Since that time many of the localities have been overgrown with vegetation and partly or completely destroyed by natural processes or people. The state of preservation of the sites (Fig. 3) that yielded avian remains and



FIGURE 1. Early Oligocene paleogeography, with all known sites with bird remains from Poland, Slovakia and Czech Republic (inlet). Grey areas indicate the extent of the Oligocene sea. Modified from RögL (1999).

their GPS positions (Tab. 1) were recorded during a survey of Polish sites conducted between 2010 and 2012.

Animal fossils other than fishes are found only sporadically in the Carpathian Flysch. Birds are also extremely rare (BOCHENSKI et al. 2012). They are usually preserved as incomplete but articulated imprints on slabs; only on one occasion (?Diomedeoides lipsiensis from Pogorzany, Poland) a three-dimensional bone fragment was extracted from a breccia (Tab. 1). Skeletons or their fragments remain in articulation in marine environments only if they reach the burial place soon after death because soft tissues begin to decompose rapidly and skeletal elements disarticulate fast (SCHÄFER 1972). Therefore, it seems that all but one of the birds must have got into the water, drowned and sank to the bottom rather than being transported in streams or flushed to the sea. This is in agreement with taphonomic studies carried out on fish remains where it was suggested that articulated fish specimens have been preserved due to a quiet environment, pelagic sedimentation and anoxic conditions (BIEŃKOWSKA-WASILUK 2010; KOTLARCZYK et al. 2006). The single bone from Pogorzany (Poland) was probably deposited as a result of submarine debris flow or turbidity currents (ELZANOWSKI *et al.* 2012).

The avifauna

The nine avian specimens described so far from the marine deposits of eight localities of the Outer Carpathians and Central Paleogene Basin represent taxonomically very diversified groups: Procellariiformes (ELZANOWSKI et al. 2012; GREGOROVÁ 2006), Apodiformes (BOCHENSKI & BOCHENSKI 2008), Coraciiformes (KUNDRAT et al. in press), Piciformes (MAYR & GREGOROVÁ 2012), Passeriformes (BOCHENSKI et al. 2011, 2013, in press) and Aves indet. (BOCHENSKI et al. 2010). A big taxonomic diversity of fossil birds points to complex habitats and very rich avifauna in that part of the Paratethys which agrees with the fossil records from other parts of Europe (MAYR 2009). It is noteworthy that seven of the nine specimens are land birds that must have lived in the forests near the shoreline and were blown off to sea or perished during migration. The predominance of terrestrial birds in marine deposits is not an

FIGURE 2. Chronostratigraphy of the Oligocene. The characteristic ichthyofaunal zones (IPM) are correlated with the calcareous nannoplankton zonation (NP) and together they indicate the geological age. Modified from KOTLARCZYK *et al.* (2006).

unusual phenomenon (MAYR 2009). A similar tendency is also observed in many other Paleogene localities including the Eocene Fur Formation of Jutland in Denmark (KRISTOFFERSEN 2002) and London Clay Formation in southern England (MLIKOVSKÝ 2002), as well as in the Oligocene Wiesloch-Frauenweiler in southern Germany (MAYR 2009). In addition to skeletal specimens, a number of isolated feather imprints have been found in the Carpathians. These specimens are housed in various collections and are sometimes mentioned in the publications but none of them

		Chronos	Ichthiofauna	
Time (Ma)	Standard		Standard Calcareous nannoplankton	
²⁴ 1		\sim		
-		Chattian	NP25	IPM6
27 -	ШN			
1	ЧU			IPM5
-	8	Rupelian	NP24	IPM4
	OLIG			IPM4A
30 -				IPM3
-			NP23	IPM2
			NP22	IPM1
33 -	ш	Priabonian	NP21	

TABLE 1. Data on all avian specimens from the Oligocene of the Outer Carpathians and Central Paleogene Basin. Asterisk (*) indicates approximate geographic coordinates.

Taxon	Preservation	Coordinates	Age	Publications	Site
Procellariiformes					
?Diomedeoides lipsiensis (FISCHER, 1983)	isolated coracoid	49°47.06' N 20°10.49' E	Rupelian	Elzanowski <i>et al.</i> (2012)	Pogorzany*
Procellariidae	part of wing and legs	49°11.56' N 17°12.16' E	Rupelian	Gregorová (2006)	Litenčice*
Apodiformes					
Eurotrochilus noniewiczi Bochenski & Bochenski, 2008	nearly complete	49°37.94' N, 021°40.44' E	Rupelian, NP23, IPM2	Bochenski & Bochenski (2008)	Winnica
Coraciiformes					
Putative upupiform	articulated leg	49°00.20' N 21°32.39' E	Rupelian	Kundrat <i>et al.</i> (in press)	Bystré nad Topľou*
Piciformes					
<i>Picavus litencicensis</i> Mayr & Gregorová, 2012	postcranial ske- leton	49°11.56' N 17°12.16' E	Rupelian, NP23	Mayr & Gregoro- vá (2012)	Litenčice*
Passeriformes					
Jamna szybiaki Bochenski, Tomek, Bujoczek, Wertz, 2011	nearly complete	49°38.67′ N, 022°33.52′ E	Rupelian, NP23,IPM2	Воснелякі <i>et al.</i> (2011)	Jamna Dolna
<i>Resoviaornis jamrozi</i> Bochenski, Tomek, Wertz, Swidnicka, 2013	nearly complete	49°59.25′ N, 022°09.53′ E	Rupelian, NP24, IPM4	Воснелякі <i>et al.</i> (2013)	Wola Rafałowska*
Passeriformes indet.	articulated leg	49°43.98' N, 022°03.02' E	Rupelian, NP24, IPM4A	BOCHENSKI <i>et al.</i> (in press)	Przysietnica
Aves indet.					
Aves indet.	articulated foot	49°46.18' N, 022°29.52' E	Chattian, NP25, IPM6	Bochenski <i>et al.</i> (2010)	Bachów



FIGURE 3. Photographs of Polish Oligocene sites that yielded avian remains. **A**, Bachów: high bank of a stream (an avian foot of inresolved affinities); **B**, Winnica: high bank of the Jasiolka River (a near-complete hummingbird, *Eurotrochilus noniewiczi*); **C**, Przysietnica: steep slope bordering a dirt road (a passerine leg); **D**, Jamna Dolna: high bank of Jamninka stream, a tributary of the Wiar (a near-complete passerine, *Jamna szybiaki*); **E**, Wola Rafałowska: high bank of a stream, a tributary of the river Strug (a near-complete passerine, *Resoviaornis jamrozi*); **F**, Pogorzany: high bank of a stream (an isolated coracoid of ?*Diomedeoides lipsiensis*). has been described so far, probably because they are not attributable to particular avian taxa (BIEńKOWSKA-WASILUK 2010; BOUÉ 1829; KALA-BIS 1950; personal observations). The fossil record from Poland, Slovakia and Czech Republic increases our knowledge on the Oligocene bird fauna of Europe by at least four new taxa.

Acknowledgments

We thank the reviewers of the manuscript, Andrzej ELZANOWSKI (Museum and Institute of Zoology, Warsaw) and Růžena GREGOROVÁ (Moravian Museum, Brno), for their valuable comments.

References

- BIEŃKOWSKA-WASILUK, M. (2010): Taphonomy of Oligocene teleost fishes from the Outer Carpathians of Poland. – *Acta Geologica Polonica*, **60**/4: 479–533.
- BOCHENSKI, Z. & BOCHENSKI, Z.M. (2008): An Old World hummingbird from the Oligocene: a new fossil from Polish Carpathians. – *Journal of Ornithology*, **149**/2: 211–216.
- BOCHENSKI, Z., BOCHENSKI, Z.M. & TOMEK, T. (2012): A history of Polish birds. – 226 pp. Kraków (Publications of the Institute of Systematics and Evolution of Animals).
- BOCHENSKI, Z.M., TOMEK, T. & SWIDNICKA, E. (2010): A columbid-like avian foot from the Oligocene of Poland. – *Acta Ornithologica*, **45**/2: 233–236.
- BOCHENSKI, Z.M., TOMEK, T., BUJOCZEK, M. & WERTZ, K. (2011): A new passerine bird from the early Oligocene of Poland. – *Journal of Ornithology*, **152**/4: 1045–1053.
- BOCHENSKI, Z.M., TOMEK, T. & SWIDNICKA, E. (in press): The first complete leg of a passerine bird from the early Oligocene of Poland. – *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica*. DOI: 10.4202/app.2012.0021
- BOCHENSKI, Z.M., TOMEK, T., WERTZ, K. & SWIDNICKA, E. (2013): The third nearly complete passerine bird from the early Oligocene of Europe. – *Journal of Ornithology*, **154**/4: 923–931.
- Boué, A. (1829): Geognostische Gemälde von Deutschland. – 623 pp. Frankfurt am Main (Leonhard).
- ELZANOWSKI, A., BIEŃKOWSKA-WASILUK, M., CHODYŃ, R. & BOGDANOWICZ, W. (2012): Anatomy of the coracoid and diversity of the Procellariiformes (Aves) in the Oligocene of Europe. – *Palaeontol*-

ogy, 55/6: 1199–1221.

- FISCHER, K. (1983): Möwenreste (Laridae, Charadriiformes, Aves) aus dem mitteloligozänen Phosphoritknollenhorizont des Weisselsterbeckens bei Leipzig (DDR). – Mitteilungen aus dem Zoologischen Museum in Berlin 59, Supplement: Annalen für Ornithologie, 7: 151–155.
- GREGOROVÁ, R. (2006): A new discovery of a seabird (Aves: Procellariiformes) in the Oligocene of the "Menilitic Formation" in Moravia (Czech Republic). – Hantkeniana, 5: 90.
- KALABIS, V. (1950): Nové paleontologické nálezy v moravském paleogénu. – Přírodovědecký sborník ostravského kraje, 21: 322–324.
- KOTLARCZYK, J. & JERZMAŃSKA, A. (1976): Biostratigraphy of Menilite beds of Skole Unit from the Polish Flysch Carpathians. – Bulletin de l'Académie Polonaise des Sciences. Série des Sciences Géologiques et Géographiques, 24: 55–62.
- KOTLARCZYK, J., JERZMAŃSKA, A., ŚWIDNICKA, E. & WISZNIOWSKA, T. (2006): A framework of ichthyofaunal ecostratigraphy of the Oligocene–early Miocene strata of the Polish Outer Carpathian basin. – Annales Societatis Geologorum Poloniae, 76: 1–111.
- KRISTOFFERSEN, A.V. (2002): The avian diversity in the latest Paleocene-earliest Eocene Fur Formation, Denmark. A synopsis. – PhD thesis. – Copenhagen (University of Copenhagen).
- KUNDRAT, M., SOTAK, J. & AHLBERG, P.E. (in press): A putative upupiform bird from the Early Oligocene of the Central Western Carpathians and a review of fossil birds unearthed in Slovakia. *Acta Zoologica*.
- MAYR, G. (2009): Paleogene fossil birds. 262 pp. Berlin (Springer).
- MAYR, G. & GREGOROVÁ, R. (2012): A tiny stem group Representative of Pici (Aves: Piciformes) from the early Oligocene of the Czech Republic). – *Paläontologische Zeitschrift*, **86**/3: 333–343.
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (2002): Cenozoic birds of the world. Part 1: Europe. – 416 pp. Prague (Ninox Press).
- Rögl, F. (1999): Mediterranean and Paratethys. Facts and hypotheses of an Oligocene to Miocene paleogeography (short overview). – *Geologica Carpathica*, **50**/4: 339–349.
- SCHÄFER, W. (1972): Ecology and palaeoecology of marine environments. – 520 pp. Chicago (The University of Chicago Press).
- SCHULZ, H.-M., VAKARCS, G. & MAGYAR, I. (2005): The birth of the Paratethys during the Early Oligocene: From Tethys to an ancient Black Sea analogue? – *Global and Planetary Change*, **49**/3–4: 163–176.




Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



ZooBank LSID: urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:2BE243F0-2119-4F59-9F1F-0CF16A8D00EC

A fossil stone-curlew (Aves: Burhinidae) from the Late Oligocene/Early Miocene of South Australia

WALTER E. BOLES¹, MELANIE A. FINCH², RENE H. HOFHEINS², PATRICIA VICKERS-RICH², MARY WALTERS² & THOMAS H. RICH³

¹ Ornithology Section, Australian Museum, Sydney, N.S.W., Australia; E-mail: walter.boles@austmus.gov.au

² School of Geosciences, Monash University, Clayton, Victoria, Australia,

³ Museum Victoria, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

Abstract — *Wilaru tedfordi* nov. gen. et nov. spec. is a fossil burhinid from Upper Oligocene/Lower Miocene sites in northern South Australia. Almost all specimens come from Lake Pinpa, with a few recovered from Lake Palankarinna and Billeroo Creek. Numerous specimens have been recovered, representing most elements of the pectoral girdle, forelimb and hindlimb. This is the oldest known burhinid. It shares several morphological character states with the genus *Esacus* and, like that taxon, had a proportionally long humerus and short tarsometatarsus, although the difference is much more pronounced. Also like species of *Esacus*, and in contrast to those of *Burhinus, Wilaru* may have frequented the shorelines of lakes and rivers.

Key words: Burhinidae, stone-curlew, Wilaru tedfordi, Late Oligocene/Early Miocene, Australia

Introduction

The Burhinidae is a distinct but low diversity group in the order Charadriiformes. Currently, it includes nine extant species, two named fossil species and one fossil subspecies, found globally in a variety of habitats. These fossil and extant species are placed in two genera, *Burhinus* ILLIGER, 1811 (containing nine species and the fossil subspecies) and *Esacus* LESSON, 1831 (two species). Colloquially, burhinids are known as thick-knees owing to their prominent ankle joints.

Burhinids are long-legged, terrestrially foraging and breeding birds. They are good fliers, but prefer to spend most of their time on the ground. Most species of *Burhinus* are similar in structure, with moderately long wings and legs (body length 320–480 mm, wing length measured from bend of wrist to longest primary 200-248 mm, mass 290-535 g). The considerably larger B. grallarius (LATHAM, 1802) (body length 540-590 mm, wing length 270-288 mm, mass 580-860 g) has similar proportions except for its markedly elongated tarsometatarsus. The two species of Esacus are more stocky birds than those of Burhinus. Esacus magnirostris (VIEILLOT, 1818) is of similar general size to *B. grallarius* (body length 530–570 mm, wing length 270–300 mm), but it has proportionally shorter legs and a larger bill and is notably heavier (870-1130 g). Burhinus and Esacus species also differ in habitat preferences. Modern burhinids occur in temperate and warm zones of the Americas, Africa, Middle East and Indo-Australasia. The species of Esacus are found on the shorelines of oceans and rivers, while those of Burhinus "tend to frequent a variety of exposed, largely low-lying, flat or

rolling landscapes" (HUME 1996) from temperate open woodland to semi-arid to arid country with little vegetation and avoiding forest and heavily vegetated areas.

Two extant species, one from each genus, occur in Australia. *Burhinus grallarius*, the Bush Thick-knee, commonly inhabits grassy wood-lands and rarely associates with water bodies (GEERING *et al.* 2007). *Esacus magnirostris*, the Beach Thick-knee, is strictly coastal, inhabiting a variety of types of beaches (GEERING *et al.* 2007).

There has been limited osteological work on burhinids. SHUFELDT (1915) described the skeleton of *E. magnirostris* but did not compare this taxon to other species. STRAUCH (1978) and LIVEZEY (2010) incorporated all species in larger studies of the Charadriiformes, but detected very little variation in the post-cranial skeletons. Differences were largely confined to the skull, with members of *Esacus* having more massive bills than those of *Burhinus* (GEERING *et al.* 2007).

The fossil record of the Burhinidae is sparse. Of reliably identified fossil burhinids, there are two named palaeospecies, *Burhinus lucorum* BICKART, 1981 (Lower Miocene Sheep Creek Formation, late Hemingfordian, Nebraska, United States) and the Late Pleistocene *B. aquilonaris* FEDUCCIA, 1980 (Sanborn Formation, Kansas). Quaternary-aged burhinid fossils (living neospecies and undetermined species *Burhinus* sp.) are known from several continents (BRODKORB 1967; HOWARD 1971), and a palaeosubspecies of the living *B. bistriatus (B. bistriatus nanus* BRODKORB, 1959) has been described from the Bahamas. BAIRD (1991) noted the presence of *B. grallarius* in Quaternary cave deposits in Australia.

A supposed burhinid from Upper Cretaceous sediments in Antarctica was reported by CORDES (2002) in a conference abstract, but no formal paper on this material has been published. Burhinid-like post-cranials from Eocene of Australia (BOLES 1999) were referred to the Graculavidae, a form-family created to accommodate various taxa with similar post-cranial skeletons and for which the cranial material was unknown. The possibility has been raised that these may be anseriform (ELZANOWSKI & BOLES 2012). HAR-RISON & WALKER (1976) reported a burhinid from the Late Eocene of England, but this was dismissed by MAYR (2006) as not being even assigned to the Charadriiformes with certainty.

VICKERS-RICH (1991) cited a large collection of burhinid fossils recovered from several Late Oligocene/Early Miocene-aged sites in the Lake Eyre region of northern South Australia, with most elements of the skeleton represented. This taxon was regarded as "clearly a form distinct from the Australian forms of today, at least rating a new specific recognition" (VICKERS-RICH 1991, p. 760). Here, on the basis of this material, the most extensive for any paleospecies in this family, we describe the first burhinid fossil genus and species from Australia.

Study Area

The fossils discussed in this paper were recovered from fluvio-lacustrine sites in two depositional regions of the Lake Eyre Basin in South Australia (Fig. 1). A small number of fossils came from Lake Palankarinna (28°46–47' S, 138° 24' E) in the western Tirari Sub-basin (= Lake Eyre Subbasin) from localities in the Etadunna Formation. Burhinids from the Ngapakaldi Fauna were collected from several sites on the western side of Lake Palankarinna, while a single burhinid bone from the Ngama Local Fauna was recovered from Mammalon Hill at the northern end of the lake.

Lake Pinpa (= Pine Lake) (31°8' S, 140° 13' E) and the neighbouring Billeroo Creek (31° 6' S, 140° 14' E) in the eastern Callabonna Sub-basin (= Tarkarooloo Sub-basin) contain the Pinpa Fauna, which occurs in sediments that lie near the top of the Namba Formation in the green dolomitic claystones cropping out on the west side of Lake Pinpa. Three bones came from Billeroo Creek, while the vast majority of all specimens were found at Lake Pinpa, in particular, Site C ("an area on the western shore of the lake that extends north from the E-W cross lake track to about the location of the base of my measured section of 1971, e.g., grid coord. 317148, Curnamona [1:250.000] sheet, (R. Tedford, pers. comm., 30 August 2006)", cited by WORTHY (2009). Within Site C, almost all were found at a single location, QMAM 47, by two of us (P. VICKERS-RICH and T. RICH), who participated in the 1971 joint Queensland Museum-American Museum of Natural History Museum expedition led by R. (Dick) H. TEDFORD.

A review of the available evidence by Wood-BURNE et al. (1994, p.485) concluded "that all of the isotopic, foraminifera and magnetostratigraphic data are consistent with an approximate age of 24–26 my for the Etadunna Formation in the Lake Eyre Basin". WOODBURNE et al. (1994) are followed regarding correlation between the Etadunna and Ngama Formations and nomenclature of local faunas and mammal zones. They correlated Zone A of the Etadunna Formation, the oldest mammal zone, containing the Minkina LF, with the Pinpa Fauna in the Namba Formation and Zone B, containing the Ditjimanka Local Fauna at Lake Palankarinna, with the Ericmas Fauna in the upper part of the Namba Formation. WOODBURNE (1986) and WOODBURNE et al. (1994) identified the black and brown claystone beds at Mammalon Hill as the youngest part of the Etadunna Formation cropping out at Lake Palankarinna. In sum, the oldest is the Pinpa Fauna, followed by the Ngapakaldi Fauna, with the Ngama Local Fauna youngest. The setting is dominantly lacustrine and partly fluviatile and outcrop sporadic.

The collections have been made through several field visits by various institutions and these often have locality site codes. Most of the specimens were collected during joint Queensland Museum–American Museum expeditions in 1971 and 1973; these have site localities with prefix QMAM (1971: 41, 47, 59; 1973: 125, 133, 151, 199, 243, 264). A few fossils were obtained during fieldwork by the University of California, Museum of Paleontology (site codes V-5375, V-5762, V-5764).

Material and Methods

Anatomical terminology follows that of BAUMEL & WITMER (1993). Measurements (mm) were generally taken following STEADMAN (1980) except where explained below. All measurements were taken with electronic digital callipers and rounded to 0.1 mm.

All major elements of the limbs and pectoral girdle are represented in the fossil collection. The material studied here is housed in several institutions, but the vast majority is in the Ameri-



FIGURE 1. Locations in northeastern South Australia, central Australia, at which *Wilaru tedfordi* nov. spec. material was found: Lake Pinpa, Lake Palanka-rinna and Billeroo Creek.

can Museum of Natural History, New York (specimen registration number prefix AMNH); a few are in the collections of the University of California Museum of Paleontology, Berkeley (UCMP), Museum Victoria, Melbourne (MV) and South Australian Museum, Adelaide (SAM). Representative specimens of the elements were transferred to the South Australian Museum from the American Museum holdings.

Comparative skeletons were made available from the collections of Museum Victoria, Melbourne (MV), Australian Museum, Sydney (AM) and Australian National Wildlife Collection, Canberra (ANWC): Burhinus grallarius (MV B20430, B25090, AM 0.43444, 0.44452, O.63417, O.66366, ANWC B30772, B30774, B30775), B. oedicnemus (LINNEAUS, 1758) (AM O.69165), B. bistriatus (WAGLER, 1829) (MV B13715), B. capensis (LICHTENSTEIN, 1823) (MV B13648, ANWC B23045), Esacus magnirostris (MV W6587, B13191, B14255, AM 0.65024, ANWC B23052). These were supplemented by images of material of additional species provided by the United States Museum National Museum, Washington (USNM), Los Angeles County Museum of Natural History, Los Angeles (LACM), and Natural History Museum

(British Museum), Tring (BM): *B. senegalensis* (SWAINSON, 1837) (USNM 553053, 322589), *B. vermiculatus* (CABANIS, 1868) (USNM 291425, 430630), *B. superciliaris* (TSCHUDI, 1843) (LACM Ecuador 1–6, 9–12) and *B. oedicne-mus* (BM A5582). These were used to assist in assessing characters but not for measurements. The extant *Esacus recurvirostris* (CUVIER, 1829) was not represented, but it is similar to *E. mag-nirostris*. The fossil burhinid species *Burhinus lucorum* and *B. aquilonaris* were represented by a cast (AMNH 10215) and by an image from the University of Kansas Natural History Museum, Lawrence (KNHM 6822), respectively.

Abbreviations: art., articularis; d, distal; L, left; o, omal; lig., ligamentum/ligamentum/ligmentosa; m, musculus/musculi; p, proximal; R, right; s, shaft; tub., tuberculum/tuberculi. For institutional acronyms, see above.

Systematic Palaeontology

Order Charadriiformes Huxley, 1867 Family Burhinidae Mathews, 1912

The characters on which the skeletal elements are referred to the Burhinidae are given in the descriptions below. For those elements for which diagnostic characters could not be identified on the material available assignment to this family was made for those most comparable to modern burhinid morphology.

Genus Wilaru nov. gen.

Type and only species: Wilaru tedfordi nov. spec.

Diagnosis: *Wilaru* differs from *Burhinus* and *Esacus* by having a unique combination of characters, including the following. Humerus: caput humeri merges with tuberculum dorsale without being separated by a notch; fossa pneumotricipitalis larger and deeper and extends to margo caudalis; fossa m. brachialis extends across proximal sides of condyli to dorsal and ventral borders of cranial face. Scapula: acromion much longer; tub. coracoideum larger and more bulbous. Coracoid: omal half deflected further medially; sulcus m. supracoracoidei with flatter dorsal border; processus procoracoideus short and triangular,

lacking cranially-directed strap-like projection; projection on the sternal end of the medial margin more distally located. Carpometacarpus: dorsal and ventral rims of the trochlea carpalis extend caudally to about the same extent; sulcus tendineus deeper. Femur: collum femoris more constricted; facies art. antitrochanterica with more prominent caudally protruding lip. Tarsometatarsus: much shorter in proportion to humerus; proximal and distal ends proportionally wider; apex of the eminentia intercotylaris broader and more rounded; crista lateralis hypotarsi longer and thinner; sulcus extensorius much shallower on distal half of shaft: trochlea metatarsi II with greater medial inflection; trochlea metatarsi II with greater plantar extent. Additional characters are given below.

Etymology: 'Wilaru' for 'stone curlew' in the language of the Australian Dieri tribe of the Lake Eyre region of South Australia (BLAKE 1981).

Wilaru tedfordi, nov. spec. (Figs 2–4, 5A–B)

Holotype (Fig. 3D, E): Left humerus SAM P48925 (formerly AMNH 11442) missing proximodorsal corner of processus deltopectoralis, ventral border of processus bicipitalis, with the shaft fractured and repaired. Collected by T.H. RICH and P. VICKERS-RICH in 1971 on joint Queensland Museum-American Museum of Natural History expedition led by R.H. TEDFORD.

Diagnosis: As for genus.

Etymology: After Richard H. TEDFORD (1929–2011) of the American Museum of Natural History, who led the 1971 expedition during which these fossils were collected and, who along with R.A. STIRTON (University of California, Berkeley), spent many field seasons in South Australia, the first comprehensive surveys of the region for fossil vertebrates.

Type locality: Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM 47 (31° 07′ S, 140° 13′ E), South Australia.

Horizon and age: Namba Formation, late Oligocene–early Miocene (24–26 my) (WOOD-BURNE *et al.* 1994), Pinpa LF.

Distribution: Late Oligocene (24–26 my), South Australia, Australia: Lake Pinpa and Billeroo Creek, Namba Formation, Pinpa LF; Lake



FIGURE 2. Pectoral girdle elements of *Wilaru tedfordi* nov. spec.: **A**, furcula AMNH 11983 (caudal view); **B**, **C**, proximal right scapula SAM P48923 (formerly AMNH 11438) (lateral and medial views); **D**, **E**, left coracoid AMNH 11426 (dorsal and ventral views). a, acromion; am, angulus medialis; ai, apophysis interclavicularis; csc, cotyla scapularis; css, corpus scapulae; fcc, facies art. clavicularis; fcs, facies art. clavicularis; fhc, facies art. humeralis; fhs, facies art. humeralis; fs, facies art. sternalis; ia, impressio lig. acrocoracohumeralis; is, impressio m. sternocoracoidei; mp, medial projection on sternal end of coracoid; pa, processus acrocoracoideus; pp, processus procoracoideus; s, symphysis; sc, scapus claviculae; ss, sulcus m. supracoracoidei; tc, tub. coracoideum. Scale bar equals 10 mm.

Palankarinna, Etadunna Formation, Ditjimanka LF, Zone B.

Measurements of holotype: Length=123.3 mm, depth of caput humeri=6.2 mm, distal width=15.1 mm, distal depth=8.8 mm.

Paratypes: Humeri (Fig. 3C), Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 11402 pR, AMNH 11403 pR, AMNH 11404 pR and AMNH 11405 pL, each retaining only caput humeri and tuberculum dorsale; AMNH 11406 pR retaining caput humeri and proximal section of crista deltopectoralis; AMNH 11407 pR lacking caput humeri and proximal edges of cristae deltopectoralis and bicipitalis; AMNH 11409 dL lacking fragment of shaft; AMNH 11441 dR retaining about half the shaft; AMNH 11451 L in two parts with the proximal end retaining some shaft and missing the edge of the crista deltopectoralis; AMNH 11452 dL retaining about half the shaft; AMNH 11454 pR with crista deltopectoralis and crista bicipitalis damaged; AMNH 11470 dR in good condition; AMNH 11476 dR lacking shaft with damage to surface of condylus lateralis. Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM133, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10836 dR with condyli heavily abraded. Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM243, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10859 dL missing condylus ventralis. Lake Pinpa, Site C, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10723 dL quite abraded. Lake Palankarinna, Site 5 (V5765), RHT#455, Etadunna Formation, Ditjimanka LF: UCMP 57005 dL with about 50% of shaft.

Description: Humeri: Assignment of the humeral fossils to the Burhinidae is based on the following suite of characters. The non-pneumatic fossa pneumotricipitalis is broad, relatively deep, rather rectangular and has its major axis directed about 145° to shaft. The impressio coracobrachialis is wide and shallow, poorly defined ventrally and distally (in cranial view). The processus supracondylaris dorsalis, strongly developed in most charadriiforms, is small and relatively close to the distal end, roughly level with proximal border of the condylus dorsalis.

Wilaru differs from living burhinids in the following features: The caput humeri merges more smoothly with the tuberculum dorsale, rather than being separated by a depression or notch (cranial view). The proximal third of the shaft on both the dorsal and ventral sides slopes sharply away from the margo caudalis. On the ventral side, this results because the fossa pneumotricipitalis is large and deep and extends to the margo caudalis, rather than being separated by a gap c. 30% of the fossa width as in other burhinids. A crus dorsale fossae does not appear to be present;



FIGURE 3. Forelimb elements of Wilaru tedfordi nov. spec.: A, B, left humerus SAM P48925 (formerly AMNH 11442; holotype) (cranial and caudal views); C, proximal left humerus AMNH 11451 (caudal view); D, E, proximal left radius AMNH 11464 (ventral and dorsal views); F, G, distal left radius AMNH 11464 (ventral and dorsal views); H, I, proximal right ulna unnumbered; J, K, right carpometacarpus SAM P48928 (formerly AMNH 10997) (dorsal and proximal views); L, right carpometacarpus AMNH 11448 (ventral view). cb, crista bicipitalis; cd, condylus dorsalis; cdp, crista deltopectoralis; cdu, cotyla dorsalis; chh, caput humeri; chr, cotyla humeralis; ci, crista intercotylaris; cvh, condylus ventralis; cvu, cotyla ventralis; dfp, dorsal fossa pneumotricipitalis; ev, epicondylus ventralis; faa, facies art. alularis; fau, facies art. ulnaris; fb, fossa m. brachialis; fdII, facies art. digitalis major; fdIII, facies art. digitalis minor; fi, fossa infratrochlearis; fp, fossa pneumotricipitalis; ib, impressio brachialis; ica, incisura capitis; ico, impressio coracobrachialis; ir, incisura radialis; ist, impressio m. scapulotricipitalis; mc, margo caudalis; mII, os metacarpale majus; mIII, os metacarpale minus; o, olecranon; pe, processus extensorius; pp, processus pisiformis; psd, processus supracondylaris dorsalis; sht, sulcus humerotricipitalis; si, sulcus interosseus; sm, symphysis metacarpalis distalis; sp, spatium intermetacarpale; sst, sulcus scapulotricipitalis; slt, sulcus lig, transversus; stc, sulcus tendineus; str, sulcus tendineus; tav, tub, aponeurosis ventralis; tb, tub. bicipitale radii; tcd, dorsal rim of trochlea carpale; tcv, ventral rim of trochlea carpale; td, tub. dorsale; tv, tub. ventrale. Scale bar equals 10 mm.

this absence, whether natural or owing to breakage, might overemphasise the medial extension of fossa deltopectoralis.

The shaft appears to be more or less straight; this may be an artefact of how damage to this area was reconstructed, but specimens retaining smaller sections of shaft are similar in this regard; the distal quarter of the shaft is only slightly curved (ventral view) with less curvature on the ventral margin where it merges with the epicondylus ventralis (cranial view); in other burhinds, the shaft is more sigmoid and has a more ventrally directed curve (cranial view). The fossa m. brachialis is pronounced, extending across the proximal sides of condyli to the dorsal and ventral borders of the cranial face. The proc. supracondylaris dorsalis is flatter and even less developed than in modern burhinids. The condylus ventralis is more prominent both cranially (distal view) and distally, protruding further, and being spherical rather than oblong (cranial view).

Overall the humerus in *Wilaru* is large and similar in robustness to that of *Esacus* (distal width slightly less than *Esacus* and similar to that of *B. grallarius*) but substantially more so than in other burhinids. The caput humeri is fairly large and hemielliptical. The sulcus lig. transversus is broad but occupies only the ventral side of the caput humeri (cranial view). The proximal end of the fossa pneumotricipitalis undercuts the prominently developed tuberculum ventrale and produces a triangular indentation in the border.

MAYR (2011) scored burhinids as having a single fossa pneumotricipitalis and STRAUCH (1978) scored *Esacus* has having a single fossa. T.H. WORTHY (pers. comm.), however, noted that, in some specimens of *Esacus* at least, there is a narrow but distinct second fossa located dorsally. The area immediately distal to the caput humeri on the caudal face is excavated in such a manner to create a second fossa in both *Esacus* and *Wilaru*, but not in *Burhinus*.

The tuberculum dorsale is extensive and flat (but clearly elevated off the shaft facies). The crista deltopectoralis is moderately extensive distally, joining the shaft rather smoothly; in no specimen is the crista sufficiently undamaged to provide further description. The crista bicipitalis follows the curve of the fossa pneumotricipitalis. The epicondylus ventralis does not protrude far from the ventral corner of the distal end (cranial view). The sulcus humerotricipitalis is wide and shallow and the ridge between this and the sulcus scapulotricipitalis is low.

Referred specimens: None of the specimens were associated, although several were in close proximity and most were found in the same small area at one site at Lake Pinpa (Site C, QMAM47). It was assumed that, given the number of burhinid remains at the site, these represented most skeletal elements. Ongoing examination indicates that some specimens initially assigned to the Burhinidae more likely represent one or more other taxa. These are omitted here. Likewise, among the remaining putative burhinid specimens, some are too fragmentary or damaged to assign to this family with any confidence and so are not considered further. Of those that are here referred to the new taxon, some are done so more tentatively than others. When diagnostic characters cannot be identified on the material available, assignment is made for those most comparable to modern burhinid morphology. Measurements are given in Table 1 (Appendix).

Furcula (Fig. 2A) — Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10983, furcula missing articular ends to both scapus claviculae; SAM P48922 (formerly AMNH 11479), symphysial fragment retaining part of the left scapus clavicula. For the material, there are no readily distinguishable characteristics except for size, which seems more massive than in most other burhinds (but similar in size to that of *Esacus*), with thicker scapus claviculae, especially near the apophysis interclavicularis. The symphysis is longer than the adjacent scapus claviculae and the apophysis interclavicularis projects caudally as a low but prominent ridge.

Scapula (Fig. 2B, C) — Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10989 pR retaining a third of shaft; AMNH 10990 pL end missing acromion; AMNH 11434 pL; AMNH 11435 pL; SAM P48923 (formerly AMNH 11438) pR and about half the shaft; AMNH 11463 pR, retaining about half of shaft with tip of acromion missing; AMNH 11477 pR with tip of the acromion damaged.

These specimens are referred to *Wilaru* because of their relative abundance in the site with the other burhinid fossils and the absence of any other potential scapular specimens. This is while recognising that there are some major morphological differences between them and the scapulae of modern burhinids: The acromium is much longer and more pointed overall and the bulbous tuberculum coracoideum is much larger than in any other burhinid.

The facies art. clavicularis is folded laterally, also seen in *Esacus*. The facies art. humeralis is more rounded and less elongate proximodistally than in modern burhinids and it has a distinct indentation running through its proximodistal midline (lateral view). The facies art. humeralis is separated from the tuberculum coracoideum by a low but distinct notch, rather than being confluent with it. The portion of the corpus scapulae that is preserved is straight and rather thin. The extremitas caudalis are missing; preserved lengths are 52.1 mm (SAM P48923) and 43.4 mm (AMNH 11463).

Coracoid (Fig. 2D, E) — Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: SAM P48924 (formerly AMNH 11412) R missing processus lateralis and tip of angulus medialis; AMNH 11414 oR; AMNH 11426 L missing processus lateralis and tip of angulus medialis; AMNH 11428 R in two non-joining pieces retaining sections of shaft, a proximal fragment with abrasion to processus procoracoideus and a distal end with abraded sternal end and missing tips of processus lateralis and angulus medialis; AMNH 11433 R missing distal border, processus lateralis and angulus medialis; AMNH 11458 L abraded and missing processus lateralis; AMNH 11473 oL with general abrasion to edges; AMNH 11478 oR broken through about midshaft. Lake Palankarinna, Mammalon Hill, Etadunna Formation, Ngama LF: SAM P23625 R without processus lateralis.

These fossils are referred to the Burhinidae because there is a well developed projection on the sternal end of the medial margin, identified by MAYR (2011) as characteristic of the burhinid coracoid. The omal end is large, rather bulbous and more massive than in many families with similarly sized coracoids. The facies art. clavicularis overhangs, and is deeply undercut by the sulcus m. supracoracoidei; the distal border of the facies is more or less straight across most of its length (slight protrusion at midpoint), not sloping sternomedially as in some taxa (*e.g.*, *Haematopus*).

The coracoid is a stout and strong bone. The facies art. clavicularis is expanded dorsoventrally and extends beyond the proximal shaft on the dorsal and ventral sides (lateral view). The processus procoracoideus is rather short and triangular at base. The sulcus m. sternocoracoidei is deep, strongly bordered dorsally and ventrally. The facies art. humeralis is large, slightly longer than the impressio lig. acrocoracohumeralis. The cotyla scapularis is deep and distinct. The impressio m. sternocoracoidei is shallow, very broad mediolaterally and extends omally along shaft. The facies art. sternalis is deep with a prominent ridge separating it from the impressio m. sternocoracoidei (dorsal view). The sternomedial corner is squared off between the project on the medial border and the angulus medialis. The processus lateralis is missing in all specimens.

Wilaru differs from modern burhinids in having the omal half deflected further medially $(30-40^{\circ})$ in relation to the main shaft (ventral view), with the medial border of the shaft more curved (ventral view). The sulcus m. supracoracoide i has a flatter dorsal border. The processus acrocoracoideus extends dorsally and ventrally beyond the fossa art. humeralis, rather than being slightly narrower than, or subequal to the width of the fossa (lateral view). The cranially-directed strap-like projection on the end of the processus procoracoideus, seen in modern taxa, is not present. The projection on the sternal end of the medial margin is placed more distally than in modern burhinids.

Radius (Fig. 3D, E, F, G) - Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 11410 pR with abrasion to edges of cotyla humeralis; AMNH 11411 dL damaged on distal end, particularly tub. aponeurosis ventralis and ventral face; AMNH 11453 R most of the shaft missing the proximal and distal ends; AMNH 11464 L in two pieces comprising both ends and almost complete shaft; AMNH 11468 dR slightly abraded particularly on distocaudal corner; AMNH 11469 dL retaining about third of shaft; AMNH 11471 dR; and SAM P48927 (formerly AMNH 11431) pR including distal half of shaft with slight abrasion to cotyla humeralis. Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM125, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10800 dL abraded on surface of dorsal face. Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM151, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10943 dL abraded on distal surface. Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM243, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10744 pL with abrasion on edges of cotyla humeralis and tub. bicipitale radialis; and AMNH 10813 dR with detailed features lost to abrasion. Billeroo Creek,

SAPE Proceedings 2013

Site 3, collection code QMAM 199, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10777 dL with abraded end; AMNH 11060 pR with abraded edges to cotyla humeralis. Lake Palankarinna, White Sands Basin, Etadunna Formation, Zone B, Ditjiminka LF: MV P.199593 dL.

The fossil fragments of the radius referred to this family agree with the morphology of modern burhinids in overall shape. The radius of *Wilaru* is slightly less robust than that of *Esacus*, comparable in size with that of *B. grallarius*, and larger than that of other extant species.

Wilaru has a more prominent facies art. ulnaris produced as a ridge running proximodistally on the ventral surface of the distal end. The cotyla humeralis is rather rectangular (deeper than wide) in (proximal view), agreeing with the modern configuration, although abrasion to the edges of this structure in most specimens adds some uncertainty to ascertaining the shape. The tuberculum bicipitale radii is a pronounced ridge. The shaft is smooth and slender; the degree of curvature cannot be assessed owing to breakage and repair of the specimen. The distal end is relatively flat and compressed (cranial view), with the distomedial corner rounded. The sulcus tendineus is shallow. The tuberculum aponeurosis ventralis is short and triangular, protruding cranially.

Ulna (Fig. 3H, I) — Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10992 pL with abraded edges and missing olecranon; AMNH 10994 pL retaining about a quarter of shaft; SAM P48926 (formerly AMNH 11422) pL retaining about a quarter of shaft; AMNH 11456 pL includes an associated section of mid-shaft although pieces do not match neatly; AMNH 11457 pR retaining about a quarter of shaft; unnumbered pR in good condition.

There are no complete specimens of this element, all of which are proximal fragments. The specimens provide a good match in structure with modern burhinid species, having the incisura radialis prominently developed and moderately deep and the tuberculum lig. collateralis ventralis obsolete. The ulnae are slightly smaller than in *Esacus*, comparable in size with *B. grallarius* and larger than in other burhinids, and are tentatively referred to *Wilaru*. The olecranon is prominent with a bluntly rounded point. The incisura radialis bounded distally by a well developed and rugose ridge. The impressio m. scapulotricipitalis is a very shallow circular depression, separated from the shaft surface by low ridge, although like other burhinids, features of the dorsal face of the distal end are not strongly expressed. The crista intercotylaris is low (dorsal view). The cotyla ventralis is circular with moderately high borders. The impressio m. brachialis is long and narrow with parallel sides (ventral view). The shaft, where represented on the proximal fragment, is cylindrical, smooth and straight.

Carpometacarpus (Fig. 3J, K, L) — Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: SAM P48928 (formerly AMNH 10997) R missing os metacarpale minus; AMNH 10998 pL proximal end with a third of os metacarpale minus; AMNH 11401 pL lacking os metacarpale majus and minus with facies artic. digitalis major damaged; AMNH 11432 R missing os metacarpale minus; AMNH 11448 R near complete but os metacarpale minus broken and embedded in plasticine and distal end damaged; AMNH 11460 L complete but os metacarpale minus broken and embedded in plasticinem; AMNH 11462 pL missing distal third of os metacarpale major and all of os metacarpale minus; AMNH 11467 R complete but os metacarpale minus repaired and reattached in approximate position; AMNH 11474 dL symphysis metacarpalis distalis and distal half of os metacarpale majus. Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM 243, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10962 pR missing distal third of os metacarpale majus and all of os metacarpale minus.

The carpometacarpi are referred to the Burhinidae because the processus extensorius is elongated (proximal view), the dorsal surface of the os metacarpale majus is angular at mid length (but rectangular in cross section) and the facies art. digitalis minus projects distally about same extent as the facies art. digitalis majus, rather than further.

This element in *Wilaru* differs from that of modern burhinids in several aspects. The dorsal rim of the trochlea carpalis is roughly circular with its proximodistal length roughly equal to its



- 52 -

FIGURE 4. Hindlimb elements of *Wilaru tedfordi* nov. spec.: **A**, **B**, left femur SAM P48929 (formerly AMNH 11439) (cranial and caudal views); **C**, **D**, **E**, distal right tibiotarsus SAM P48930 (formerly AMNH 11440) (lateral, cranial and medial views); **F**, **G**, **H**, **I**, right tarsometatarsus AMNH 11413 (dorsal, plantar, proximal and distal views); **J**, distal left tarsometatarsus SAM P48931 (formerly AMNH 10980) (dorsal view). ai, area interco-tylaris; caf, caput femoris; cof, collum femoris; cl, condylus lateralis; clh, crista lateralis hypotarsi; clta, cotyla lateralis; clti, condylus lateralis; cm, condylus medialis; cmta, cotyla medialis; cmti, condylus medialis; csm, crista supracondylaris medialis; ct, crista trochanteris; de, depressio epicondylaris lateralis; ei, eminentia intercotylaris; el, epicondylus lateralis; em, epicondylus medialis; fa, facies art. antitrochanterica; fp, fossa poplitea; ft, fossa trochanteris; fvd, foramen vasculare distale; h, hypotarsus; ic, incisura intercondylaris; II, trochlea metatarsi II; III, trochlea metatarsi IV; lca, linea intermuscularis caudalis; lcr, linea intermuscularis cranialis; oeg, outer extensor groove; ps, pons supratendeus; sp, sulcus patellaris; seta, sulcus extensorius; seti, sulcus extensorius; tf, trochanter femoris; tfhl, tendon for m. flexor hallucis longus; tmtc, tuberculum m. tibialis cranials; trf, tub. retinaculi m. fibularis. Scale bar equals 10 mm.

craniocaudal width (in other burhinids it is more oblong and longer than wide) and extends further caudally, to roughly the same extent or slightly further as the caudal edge of the os metacarpale minus (dorsal view). The ventral rim of the trochlea carpalis extends to about the same extent. In *Esacus* and *Burhinus*, the dorsal rim only slightly exceeds caudally the caudal face of os metacarpale majus, while the ventral rim has a markedly greater extent compared to the dorsal rim and to the ventral rim in *Wilaru*. The sulcus tendineus, on the distal half of the dorsal face adjacent to the spatium intermetacarpale, is deeper (shallow to obsolete in extant burhinids).

The processus extensorius is bluntly pointed (proximal view). The borders of the facies art. alularis are well defined. The fossa infratrochlearis is entirely proximocaudal of the processus pisiformis (the cranial and distal borders are level with the processus extensorius); it is more proximocranially-distocaudally oblong than the round shape in *Burhinus*, agreeing more closely with the condition in *Esacus*. The processus pisiformis is pronounced, with little excavation around its base. The os metacarpale majus and os metacarpale minus are straight and roughly parallel. The symphysis metacarpalis distalis is long, about 22–24% of the length of the spatium intermetacarpale. The sulcus interosseus spans the length of the symphysis metacarpalis distalis from the distal end of the spatium intermetacarpale (dorsal view).

Femur (Fig. 4A, B) — Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: SAM P48929 (formerly AMNH 11439) L

with damage to caput femoris, both condyli and parts of proximal shaft; AMNH 11444 dR, fragment with damage to condyli.

The specimens are referred to the Burhinidae because of their overall similarity in size and morphology, and because of the suite of characters identified by HOWARD (1973): the trochanter femoris bends medially, the caput femoris projects abruptly, the shaft is straight and stocky, the sulcus intercondylaris is wide, the fossa popliteal is deep and the crista supracondylaris medialis is high and sharp.

Compared to living burhinids, the collum femoris in *Wilaru* is more constricted (proximal view) and the facies art. antitrochanterica has a more prominent lip protruding caudally over the shaft with the area immediately distal to this more excavated.

This is a sturdy, robust element, larger than in most burhinids, but noticeably smaller than in Esacus. The caput femoris is round and bulbous with a shallow but extensive fovea lig. capitis. The trochanter femoris is distinctly rounded on its cranial border (medial view), curving over the facies art. antitrochanterica (proximal view) and projecting proximally beyond the caput femoris (by about same distance as dorsoventral diameter of caput). The crista trochanteris recurves slightly over the facies art. antitrochanterica, with the mediocranially directed apex forming the fossa trochanteris. The ridge extending distally from the base of the trochanter femoris on the cranial face is sharply delineated, creating a deep and distinct depression between the caput and trochanter. The fossa on the pretrochanteric facies is moderately excavated between the strong linea intermuscularis cranialis and the cranial border of facies art. antitrochanterica. The shaft is straight in lateral, cranial and caudal views, lacking any pronounced curvature, is parallel-sided, and subcylindrical in cross-section. The fossa poplitea is extensive and bounded medially by the crista supracondylaris medialis, which links to the linea intermuscularis caudalis running proximally along the shaft's midline (caudal view). The sulcus patellaris is deep and broad. The condyli lateralis and medialis merge smoothly, almost confluently, with the shaft on the cranial side (lateral and medial views).

Tibiotarsus (Fig. 4C, D, E) — Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 11417 dR with caudal side of condylus medialis missing; AMNH 11423 dL with damage to caudal surface; AMNH 11424 dR damaged on cranial side of condylus medialis; AMNH 11427 dL retaining section of shaft; AMNH 11430 dL with repaired damage to condyli and shaft; SAM P48930 (formerly AMNH 11440) dR; AMNH 11445 dR missing caudal face with shaft crushed and repaired; AMNH 11455 dL with condyli abraded. Billeroo Creek, Site 3, collection code QMAM199, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: AMNH 10885 dR with heavy abrasion to condyli lateralis and medialis and damage to attached shaft. Lake Palankarinna, Tedford Locality Site 3, (V5762), RHT#465, Etadunna Formation, Ditjiminka LF, collected R. H.Tedford 1957: UCMP 57152 dL with condylus lateralis damaged on caudal surface and missing distal edge. Lake Palankarinna, SAM North, Etadunna Formation, Zone B, Ditjimanka LF: MV P.199595 dR with a portion of the adjoining shaft.

The distal fragments are referred to Burhinidae on the basis of agreement in size and morphology. They are intermediate in size between Esacus and B. grallarius. The sulcus extensorius is shallow and situated between the midline and medial border (cranial view). The degree of curvature of the shaft to meet the condylus medialis (cranial view) shows some variability among individuals from rather minimal (condylus more or less in line with shaft's medial border) to more pronounced (condylus medial to shaft border). The tuberculum retinaculi m. fibularis is large and flat, extending proximally well beyond the pons supratendineus. The condyli are of roughly equal widths (cranial view) and are parallel to each other and to the midline of the shaft. Both have raised borders and meet the shaft abruptly on their caudally and cranially sides. The condylus lateralis is a rounded oval in profile, the epicondylus lateralis is a low peak and the depressio epicondylaris lateralis is moderately deep. The condylus medialis is a more elongate oval and has a notch in the midpoint of its distal border (medial view). The caudal half of the condylus medialis slopes sharply medially from the epicondylus medialis

(expressed as a strong ridge) and has a strongly raised border. The incisura intercondylaris is wide, much more so than width of either condyli.

A single proximal fragment (AMNH 10986) lacks the end (cotylae and cristae), but the remaining sections agree in overall size and in the configuration of the crista fibularis. Despite these few similarities, it is too damaged to be referred to this taxon.

Tarsometatarsus (Fig. 4F, G, H, I, J) — Lake Pinpa, Site C, collection code QMAM47, Namba Formation, Pinpa Fauna: SAM P48931 (formerly AMNH 10980) dL with damage to trochlea metatarsi IV (this is accompanied in its box by an unnumbered pL fragment that has been repaired and is missing the hypotarsus; the two pieces do not fit comfortably together); AMNH 10981 dR; AMNH 11413 R with hypotarsus damaged and trochlea metatarsi IV missing.

The fossils agree with that of Burhinidae by being long, straight and slender and having both cotylae lateralis and medialis rounded (not oval) and deep. The trochlea metatarsi II is not recessed far plantarly relative to trochlea metatarsi III; its dorsal border is level with the midline of the trochlea metatarsi III, while its distal border is only slightly more proximal than that for trochlea metatarsi IV (STRAUCH 1978); it is not recurved dorsally. The angle formed between the trochleae metatarsi II and IV about 40° (distal view). Although only a dorsal fragment of the hypotarsus is preserved, the remaining section shows that it was rather deep on the lateral side, caudal to the cotyla lateralis, and retains a groove for the tendon of m. flexor hallucis longus. Esacus is also deeper in this section of the hypotarsus; Burhinus is less so, as are some other charadriiform groups, such as Haematopus, in which this lateral side of the hypotarsus is shallower. Unfortunately, the relative positions of the canalis for the tendon of m. flexor digitorum longus and the sulcus for the tendon of musculi perforans et perforatus digiti 2, identified by MAYR (2011) as important feature characterising some charadriiform groups, cannot be ascertained. He also reported that in burhinids the tendon of musculus flexor digitorum longus is enclosed in a bony canal (this is not so in some specimens of *B. grallarius*).

The area intercotylaris is round, smaller, more

excavated than in *Haematopus*. The plantar rim of the cotyla lateralis is lower than in taxa such as *Haematopus* and is not visible in dorsal view. The tuberculum m. tibialis cranialis is broad and low, not projecting as far as in many charadriiform groups.

Wilaru differs from living burhinids in several features of the tarsometatarsus. In the fossil taxon, the proximal and distal ends are proportionally wider, both roughly 16-17% of the element length (compared to roughly 7.5-8% in other burhinids). The apex of the eminentia intercotylaris is broader and more rounded (dorsal view). The crista lateralis hypotarsi (as preserved) is longer and thinner than the short, broad condition in other burhinids (plantar view). The sulcus extensorius is much shallower distally from about midpoint of shaft. The foramen vasculare distale is larger and more obvious and the outer extensor groove (Howard 1929) leading into the foramen longer, wider and more excavated into shaft surface (dorsal view). The trochlea metatarsi II has greater medial inflection, particularly on the dorsal side (dorsal view), and its plantar extent is greater than 50% of that of the trochlea metatarsi III (<50% in other burhinids) (medial view).

The eminentia intercotylaris protrudes noticeably proximally. The sulcus extensorius is elongate and deep dorsally. The cotyla medialis is slightly larger than the cotyla lateralis. The lateral and medial borders of the shaft are straight and parallel until they converge slightly distally towards the trochleae, with the cross-section of the distal half roughly rectangular (wider than deep). The trochleae metatarsi II is not grooved. The widths of trochleae metatarsi II and IV are subequal. The rims of trochleae metatarsi III and IV have a marked groove along the midline of the dorsal surface.

Discussion

Most *Burhinus* species have more or less similar proportions (tarsus length:wing length 0.30–0.42). *Burhinus grallarius* is similar except for its markedly elongated tarsometatarsus (tarsus length:wing length 0.49). *Esacus magnirostris* has proportionally shorter legs (tarsus



FIGURE 5. Size comparisons of humeri (caudal view) and tarsometatarsi (dorsal view) of fossil and extant burhinids: A, *Wilaru tedfordi* nov. spec. SAM P48925 (formerly AMNH 11442). B, *Wilaru tedfordi* nov. spec. (AMNH 11413), C, D, *Esacus magnirostris*, E, F, *Burhinus grallarius* and G, H, *B. oedicnemus*.

length:wing length 0.30), comparable to the lower end of the *Burhinus* range. This difference between the fore and hind limbs is expressed in most skeletal elements of *Esacus*. Its humerus and carpometacarpus are larger, but its tarsometatarsus is actually and proportionally shorter, than those of *B. grallarius* and several of the smaller species of *Burhinus* (Fig. 5, Appendix: Tab. 2). *Esacus* is also more robust in most of its skeletal elements than is *B. grallarius*.

The evidence suggests that *Wilaru* had a forearm length markedly greater than that of the hindlimb (Fig. 5). Demonstrating this is confounded by the fact that the available elements likely come from several individuals, which might have shown the same intraspecific size variation as seen in living taxa. Among living species of *Burhinus*, the ratio of humeral length to tarsometatarsal length varies from 0.72 to 0.86. Except for *B. grallarius*, however, the comparative samples are too small to give an indication of intraspecific variation. In this species, the range of hum:tmt ratios is 0.77–0.83. Comparing the longest humerus in the sample with the short-

est tarsometatarsus gives a value of 0.86. The reverse (shortest humerus versus longest tarsometatarsus) yields a ratio of 0.69. A comparative figure for the single humerus and tarsometatarsus of Wilaru, regardless of being from different individuals of possible different sizes, is 1.89. A similar finding comes from comparing the carpometacarpus and tarsometatarsus: in modern taxa, the ratio is 0.37–0.39, whereas in Wilaru (again with the same caveats) it is 0.80. For *Esacus* magnirostris, values for hum:tmt and cmc:tmt are 0.57 and 1.13, respectively, again outside the range of Wilaru. The values for Wilaru are well outside the range of modern taxa and thus likely valid indications that the fossil taxa had a much longer forelimb relative to the hindlimb than occurs in modern burhinid species.

Do these limb proportions suggest that *Wilaru* may have been less cursorially adapted than extant burhinids? The relatively short-legged *Esacus magnirostris* is not obviously less cursorial than the much longer-legged *B. grallarius*. The longer wings of *Wilaru* might be indicative of a greater reliance on flight than modern forms,

but there is no obvious evidence to support this. Alternatively, the limb proportions of Wilaru may reflect the ancestral condition in this lineage. Recent molecular studies (e.g., ERICSON et al. 2003) have placed the Burhinidae in a clade with the sheathbills (Chionidae) and the Magellanic Plover Pluvianellus socialis GRAY, 1846. Both are southern groups, suggesting that they and burhinds may have had southern origins. Morphological comparisons by MAYR (2011) identified cranial synapomorphies in the Burhinidae and Egyptian Plover Pluvianus aegyptius (LINNEAUS, 1758), a taxon not included in the molecular analyses. All these putatively related taxa have comparatively short tarsi compared to wing length. In living burhinids, the ratio of tarsal length to wing length is 0.30-0.49. Pluvianus *aegyptius*, with a tarsus: wing ratio of 0.25, may be most similar to the proportions and appearance of Wilaru.

When *W. tedfordi* lived in northern South Australia, fluvio-lacustrine conditions with inland seas existed where today open desert occurs (ALLEY 1998; MARTIN 2006). The marine regression that occurred during the Miocene and the northward drift of Australia into drier latitudes saw the development of more open landscape by the end of the Miocene (ALLEY 1998; MARTIN 2006), likely opening new niches and making flight less important in more open grassland conditions. As such, more cursorial burhinids took advantage of new ecospace.

FEDUCCIA (1980) considered that "species of *Burhinus* are . . . good indicators of tropical, dry savannah". BICKART (1981), citing habitat preferences across the living species of burhinids, disagreed, noting that "such inferences . . . cannot be safely based merely being a burhinid". It is suggested here that that *Wilaru* likely occupied shorelines of water bodies, much like species of *Esacus* do today.

Attempts to reconstruct the evolution and biogeography of the burhinids are hampered by the sparse fossil record and limited systematic attention to the family. The presence of *Burhinus lucorum* in North America in the early Miocene demonstrates that burhinids were widespread

by this time, and the living genus *Burhinus* was contemporaneous with *Wilaru*. The latter was thus unlikely to be directly ancestral to extant taxa. MEINERTZHAGEN (1924) published a revision of the family, recognising only a single genus, *Burhinus*. The traditional practice of most classifications has been to accept *Burhinus* and *Esacus*. LIVEZEY (2010), however, segregated *B. grallarius* from *Burhinus* and created two subfamilies, placing *grallarius* with *Esacus* in one and the remaining species of *Burhinus* in the other. Many of the diagnostic characters that LIVEZEY (2010) used were from the skull, not available in the material of *Wilaru*. Thus, the fossil taxon cannot be incorporated within Livezey's classification.

In terms of limb proportions, *Wilaru* most closely resembles *Esacus*. These taxa also share several character states to the exclusion of *Burhinus*, including a small second dorsal fossa pneumotripicitalis, laterally folded facies art. clavicularis, more oblong fossa infratrochlearis and laterally deeper hypotarsus. Whether these similarities are phylogenetically important is uncertain. Determination of this and the placement of *Wilaru* in the classification of Burhinidae await further clarification of modern intrarelationships in the family (including molecular studies) and analysis using a greater coverage of the skeletal elements and incorporating *Wilaru*.

Acknowledgments

We thank the staff of Museum Victoria, American Museum of Natural History, United States National Museum, Los Angeles County Museum of Natural History, Kansas University Natural History Museum, University of California Museum of Paleontology, South Australian Museum and Australian National Wildlife Collection who provided fossil and Recent specimens and images for this study. Trevor WORTHY (Flinders University, Adelaide) and an anonymous referee made valuable criticisms and suggestions. Carl BENTO, Australian Museum Photography Section, took the photographs.

References

- ALLEY, N.F. (1998): Cainozoic stratigraphy, palaeoenvironments and geological evolution of the Lake Eyre Basin. – *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatol*ogy, *Palaeoecology*, **144**: 239–263.
- BAIRD, R.F. (1991): Avian fossils from the Quaternary of Australia. – In: VICKERS-RICH, P., MONAGHAN, J.M., BAIRD, R.F. & RICH, T.H. (eds): Vertebrate palaeontology of Australasia. – pp. 809–870, Melbourne (Pioneer Design Studio).
- BAUMEL, J.J. & WITMER, L.M. (1993): Osteologia. In: BAUMEL, J.J., KING, A.S., BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E. & VANDEN BERGE, C. (eds): Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina anatomica avium. 2nd Edition. – *Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 45–132.
- BICKART, K.J. (1981): A new thick-knee, *Burhinus*, from the Miocene of Nebraska, with comments on the habitat requirements of the Burhinidae (Aves: Charadriiformes). *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 1/3-4: 273–277.
- BLAKE, B.J. (1981): Australian Aboriginal languages. 137 pp. Sydney (Angus & Robertson).
- BOLES, W.E. (1999): Early Eocene shorebirds (Aves: Charadriiformes) from the Tingamarra Local Fauna, Murgon, Queensland, Australia. – In: BAYNES, A. & LONG, J.A. (eds): Papers in Vertebrate Palaeontology. – *Records of the Western Australian Museum*, Supplement 57: 229–238.
- BRODKORB, P. (1959): Pleistocene birds from New Providence Island, Bahamas. – Bulletin of the Florida State Museum, Biological Sciences, 4: 349–371.
- BRODKORB, P. (1967): Catalogue of fossil birds: Part 3 (Ralliformes, Ichthyornithiformes, Charadriiformes). – Bulletin of the Florida State Museum, Biological Sciences, 11: 99–220.
- CABANIS, J.L. (1868): [Untitled]. Journal für Ornithologie, 16: 408–415.
- CORDES, A.H. (2002): A new charadriiform avian specimen from the early Maastrichtian of Cape Lamb, Vega Island, Antarctic Peninsula. Abstracts of papers; 62nd annual meeting, Society of Vertebrate Paleontology. – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 22/Supplement: 46A.
- CUVIER, G.L. (1829): Le Règne animal distribué d'après son organisation, pour servir de base à l'histoire naturelle des animaux et d'introduction à l'anatomie comparée. Edition 2, Volume 1. – 584 pp. Paris (Deterville et Crochard).
- ELZANOWSKI, A. & BOLES, W.E. (2012): Australia's oldest anseriform fossil: A quadrate from the Early Eocene Tingamarra Fauna. *Palaeontology*, **55**: 903–911.
- FEDUCCIA, A. (1980): A thick-knee (Aves: Burhinidae) from the Pleistocene of North America, and its

bearing on ice age climates. – *Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County Contributions in Science*, **330**: 115–118.

- GEERING, A., AGNEW, L. & HARDING, S. (2007): Shorebirds of Australia. – 256 pp. Collingwood, Victoria (CSIRO Publishing).
- GRAY, G.R. (1846): The genera of birds. Volume 3. 185 pp. London (Longman, Brown, Green, and Longmans).
- HARRISON, C.J.O. & WALKER, C.A. (1976): Birds of the British Upper Eocene. – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **59**: 323–351.
- HOWARD, H. (1929): The avifauna of Emeryville shellmound. – University of California Publications in Zoology, 32: 301–394.
- Howard, H. (1971): Quaternary avian remains from Dark Canyon Cave, New Mexico. – *Condor*, **73**: 237–240.
- HUME, R.A. (1996): Family Burhinidae (Thickknees). – In: DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (eds): Handbook of birds of the world. Volume 3. Hoatzin to Auks. – pp. 348–363, Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- ILLIGER, J.K.W.(1811): Prodromus systematis mammalium et avium additis terminis zoographicis uttriusque classis. – I–XVIII+101–301pp. Berlin (Sumptibus C. Salfeld).
- LATHAM, J. (1802): Supplementum indicis ornithologici, sive systema ornithologiae. – 74 pp. London (Leigh & Sotheby).
- LESSON, R. (1831): Traité d'ornithologie, ou, Tableau méthodique des ordres, sous-ordres, familles, tribus, genres, sous-genres et races d'oiseaux. Livr 7. – 79 pp. Paris (F.G. Levrault).
- LICHTENSTEIN, M.H.K. (1823): Verzeichniss der Doubletten des Zoologischen Museums der Königl. Universität zu Berlin nebst Beschreibung vieler bisher unbekannter Arten von Säugethieren, Vögeln, Amphibien und Fischen. Volume X. – 118 pp. Berlin (J.F. Starcke).
- LINNAEUS, C. VON (1758): Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Vol. 1: Regnum animale Edition decima, reformata. – 823 pp. Stockholm (Laurentii Salvii).
- LIVEZEY, B.C. (2010): Phylogenetics of modern shorebirds (Charadriiformes) based on phenotypic evidence: Analysis and discussion. – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **160**: 567–618.
- MARTIN, H.A. (2006): Cenozoic climatic change and the development of arid vegetation in Australia. – *Journal of Arid Environments*, **66**: 533–563.
- MAYR, G. (2009): Paleogene fossil birds. 262 pp. Berlin, Heidelberg (Springer).
- MAYR, G. (2011): The phylogeny of charadriiform birds (shorebirds and allies) reassessing the

conflict between morphology and molecules. – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **161**: 916–934.

- MEINERTZHAGEN, A.C. (1924): XVI. A review of the genus *Burhinus. Ibis*, **66**: 329–356.
- SHUFELDT, R.W. (1915): On the comparative osteology of Orthorhamphus magnirostris (the Long-billed Stone-Plover). *Emu*, **15**: 1–25.
- STRAUCH, J. (1978): The phylogeny of the Charadriiformes (Aves): a new estimate using the method of character compatibility analysis. – *Transactions* of the Zoological Society of London, 34: 263–345.
- STEADMAN, D.W. (1980). A review of the osteology and paleontology of turkeys (Aves: Meleagridinae). – In: CAMPBELL, K.E. jr. (ed): Papers in Avian Paleontology Honoring Hildegard Howard. – Contributions in Science, Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, 330: 131–207.
- SWAINSON, W. (1837): The Natural History of the Birds of Western Africa. Vol. 2. – 263 pp. Edinburg (W.H. Lizars).
- TSCHUDI, J.J. (1843): Diagnosen einiger neuer Peruanischer Vögel. – Archiv Naturgeschiche, 9: 385–390.
- VICKERS-RICH, P. (1991): The Mesozoic and Tertiary history of birds on the Australian plate. – In: VICKERS-RICH, P., MONAGHAN, J.M., BAIRD, R.F. & RICH, T.H. (eds): Vertebrate palaeontology of

Australasia. – pp. 722–808, Lilydale (Pioneer Design Studio).

- VIEILLOT, L.J.P. (1818): Nouveau Dictionnaire d'Histoire Naturelle, Appliquée aux Arts. Volume 23. – 612 pp. Paris (Deterville).
- WAGLER, J.G. (1829): Beiträge und Bemerkungen zu dem ersten Bande seines Systema Avium. – *Isis von Oken*, 22: columns 505–519, 645–654, 736–762.
- WOODBURNE, M.O. (1986): Biostratigraphy and biochronology. – In: WOODBURNE, M.O. & CLEMENS, W.A. (eds): Revision of the Ektopodontidae (Mammalia: Marsupialia; Phalangeroidea) of the Australian Neogene. – University of California Publications, Geological Sciences, 131: 87–93.
- WOODBURNE, M.O., MACFADDEN, B.J., CASE, J.A., SPRINGER, M.S., PLEDGE, N.S., POWER, J.D., WOOD-BURNE, J.M. & SPRINGER, K.B. (1994): Land mammal biostratigraphy and magnetostratigraphy of the Etadunna Formation (Late Oligocene) of South Australia. – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 13: 483–515.
- WORTHY, T.H. (2009): Descriptions and phylogenetic relationships of two new genera and four new species of Oligo-Miocene waterfowl (Aves: Anatidae) from Australia. – Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 156: 411–454.

Appendix.

TABLE 1. Measurements of specimens of *Wilaru tedfordi* nov. spec. (mm). Scapula: *acro.-fac. art. hum.* measured from tip of the acromion to the distal edge of the facies art. humeralis. Coracoid: *proc. acro.-cot. scap.* measured from tip of the proc. acrocoracoideus to the sternal edge of the cotyla scapularis. Ulna: *olecranon-cot. dorsalis* measured from the tip of the olecranon to the cranial edge of the cotyla dorsalis. Tibiotarsus: *cond. lat.*, condylus lateralis; *cond. med.*, condylus medialis.

FURCULA	length, symphysis	depth, symphysis	breadth, widest point
AMNH 10983	7.7	6.0	33.0
SAM P48922 (=	6 1	5 1	
AMNH 11479)	0.4	5.1	
SCAPULA	proximal width	depth. fac. art. hum.	acrofac. art. hum.
AMNH 10989	10.1	3.3	12.5
AMNH 10990		3.5	
AMNH 11434	8.3	4.1	12.5
AMNH 1143	9.7	4.3	11.6
AMNH 11463		4.3	
AMNH 11477		4.2	12.0
SAM P48923 (=	9.4	4.0	12 (
AMNH 11438)	8.4	4.0	13.0

CORACOID	length	proximal width	width. fac. art. hum.	proc. acrocot. scap.
AMNH 11414		4.1	5.1	15.5
AMNH 11426		4.9	6.0	17.4
AMNH 11428		5.4	5.7	15.9
AMNH 11433		4.4	5.3	15.9
AMNH 11458	36.9	4.9	6.1	17.0
AMNH 11473		<i>c</i> . 4.5	5.7	15.8
AMNH 11478			6.0	18.1
SAM P23625	38.9		6.9	19.6
SAM P48924 (= AMNH 11412)	35.9	4.7	6.1	17.0

HUMERUS	length	prox. width	prox. depth	depth caput humeri	distal width	distal depth
AMNH 10836					<i>c</i> . 13.9	
AMNH 10723					14.7	
AMNH 10859					15.9	
AMNH 11402				6.4		
AMNH 11403				5.8		
AMNH 11404				5.9		
AMNH 11405				5.9		
AMNH 11406				6.1		
AMNH 11409					13.3	
AMNH 11441					14.6	8.3
AMNH 11451		22.8	8.9	5.9	15.1	8.3
AMNH 11452					15.2	9.3
AMNH 11454		23.2		6.7		
AMNH 11470					14.0	7.9
AMNH 11476					15.1	
SAM P48925 (= AMNH 11442)	123.3			6.2	15.1	8.8
UCMP 57005					14.9	8.8

RADIUS	length	prox. width	prox. depth	distal width
AMNH 10744		4.5	4.7	
AMNH 10777				6.7
AMNH 10800				7.4
AMNH 10813				<i>c</i> . 6.8
AMNH 10943				6.9
AMNH 11060		<i>c</i> . 4.2	c. 5.3	
AMNH 11410		4.6	4.8	
AMNH 11411				7.9
AMNH 11464	c. 113.5	4.5	4.8	6.7
AMNH 11468				6.9
AMNH 11469				6.6
AMNH 11471				7.3
MV P.199593				7.3
SAM P48927 (=		4 4	4 7	
AMNH 11431)		4.4	4./	

BOLES ET AL .: A fossil stone-curlew from the Oligo-Miocene of South Australia

ULNA	prox. width	olecranon-cot. dorsalis
AMNH 10992	9.4	
AMNH 10994	10.8	8.8
SAM P48926 (= AMNH 11422)	11.3	8.6
AMNH 11456	11.0	7.6
AMNH 11457	9.6	7.7
unnumbered	9.2	7.8

CARPOMETA-	longth	www.width	nuov donth	distal danth
ARPUS		prox. wiath	prox. deptn	distai depth
AMNH 10962		13.6	4.6	
AMNH 10998		12.9	4.7	
AMNH 11401		12.0	4.7	
AMNH 11448	54.8	15.2	5.2	5.6
AMNH 11460	52.2	12.2	4.9	5.6
AMNH 11462		13.6	4.9	
AMNH 11467	53.5	13.3	5.6	4.6
AMNH 11474				5.0
SAM P48928 (= AMNH 10997)	50.7	13.3	4.7	6.0

FEMUR	length as pre- served	prox. width	prox. depth	distal width	distal depth. medial side
AMNH 11444				10.6	8.1
SAM P48929 (=	52.8	10.5	10.3	17 /	
AMNH 11439)	52.0	10.5	10.5	17.4	

TIBIOTARSUS	distal width	distal depth. cond. lat.	distal depth. cond. med.
AMNH 10885	9.9	7.7	9.8
AMNH 11417	10.6	8.8	
AMNH 11423	10.6	8.2	
AMNH 11424	9.6	7.2	
AMNH 11427	10	7.6	9.2
AMNH 11430	9.8	7.6	9.2
AMNH 11445	10.2	9.1	10
AMNH 11455	10.2	7.5	9.6
MV P.199595	9.8	7.9	9.3
SAM P48930 (= AMNH 11440)	10.1	7.6	9.6

longth	nroy width	distal width	distal donth
length	prox. width	uistai wiutii	uistai ueptii
		10.6	8.0
66.0	11.5		7.7
		11.5	8.1
	10.6		
	length 66.0	length prox. width 66.0 11.5 10.6	length prox. width distal width 10.6 10.6 10.5 11.5 11.5 11.5

TABLE 2. Comparative measurements (mm) of the humerus, carpometacarpus and tarsometatarsus of *Wilaru tedfordi* nov. spec. and extant species of *Burhinus* and *Esacus*.

	Burhinus	Burhinus	Burhinus	Burhinus gral-	Esacus magni-
	oedicnemus	capensis	bistriatus	larius	rostris
Humerus	76.7	79.0-80.6	84.7	87.2–101.3	102.5-103.7
Carpometacarpus	39.2	41.4-41.6	40.5	46.0-50.9	51.1-52.4
Femur	47.2	47.5-50.9	51.9	53.1-61.2	62.2-65.9
Tarsometatarsus	73.4	97.4	98.1	118.3-147.5	91.0-91.1





Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



ZooBank LSID: urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:C82E1D42-D3BA-443D-8476-486221A16CF0

Miocene fossils show that kiwi (*Apteryx*, Apterygidae) are probably not phyletic dwarves

TREVOR H. WORTHY¹, JENNIFER P. WORTHY¹, ALAN J. D. TENNYSON², STEVEN W. SALISBURY³, SUZANNE J. HAND⁴ & R. PAUL SCOFIELD⁵

¹ School of Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia;

E-mail: trevor.worthy@flinders.edu.au; Present address: School of Biologial Sciences, Flinders University

² Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa, Wellington, New Zealand

³ School of Biological Sciences, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia

⁴ School of Biological, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of New South Wales, Australia

⁵ Canterbury Museum, Christchurch, 8013, New Zealand

Abstract — Until now, kiwi (*Apteryx*, Apterygidae) have had no pre-Quaternary fossil record to inform on the timing of their arrival in New Zealand or on their inter-ratite relationships. Here we describe two fossils in a new genus of apterygid from Early Miocene sediments at St Bathans, Central Otago, minimally dated to 19–16 Ma. The new fossils indicate a markedly smaller and possibly volant bird, supporting a possible overwater dispersal origin to New Zealand of kiwi independent of moa. If the common ancestor of this early Miocene apterygid species and extant kiwi was similarly small and volant, then the phyletic dwarfing hypothesis to explain relatively small body size of kiwi compared with other ratites is incorrect. *Apteryx* includes five extant species distributed on North, South, Stewart and the nearshore islands of New Zealand. They are nocturnal, flightless and comparatively large birds, 1–3 kg, with morphological attributes that reveal an affinity with ratites, but others, such as their long bill, that differ markedly from all extant members of that clade. Although kiwi were long considered most closely related to sympatric moa (Dinornithiformes), all recent analyses of molecular data support a closer affinity to Australian ratites (Casuariidae). Usually assumed to have a vicariant origin in New Zealand (*ca* 80–60 Ma), a casuariid sister group relationship for kiwi, wherein the common ancestor was volant, would more easily allow a more recent arrival via overwater dispersal.

Key words: Apterygidae, fossil record, evolution, new species, flightlessness

Introduction

Kiwi (*Apteryx*, Apterygidae) are the most iconic of New Zealand birds. Smallest of the extant ratites, the five species of *Apteryx* now recognised (GILL *et al.* 2010) are all chicken-sized, flightless, nocturnal birds that are superficially convergent on mammals with their fur-like plumage, burrowbreeding behaviour, and dependence on olfactory and tactile rather than optical senses (CALDER 1978). One of the most extraordinary peculiarities of kiwi (kiwi and moa may be both singular and plural because in Māori there is no 's' to denote the plural) is the huge egg that they produce – more than four times the size of that predicted from their body weight – which allows the production of an extremely precocial chick (CALDER 1978). This characteristic led to the hypothesis that kiwi are phyletic dwarfs, as first espoused by CALDER (1978, 1984) and championed by GOULD (1986, 1991). This hypothesis suggested that extant kiwi were the outcome of an evolutionary trajectory of a reduction in body size based on a perceived sister-group relationship with the giant moa (Dinornithiformes) and a lack of any Cenozoic fossil record.

Ratites (ostrich, rhea, cassowary, emu, elephant bird, moa and kiwi) are flightless palaeognaths with greatly reduced wings, or, in the case of moa, completely lost. In the absence of an informative fossil record, interpretation of ratite origins has been limited to inference from the highly modified extant representatives. In recent decades, ratites have come to be regarded as one of the best vertebrate exemplars of a group with vicariant origins e.g., ROFF (1994), following initial promotion of the idea by CRACRAFT (1974). However, analyses of molecular data, e.g., COOPER et al. (2001) and HADDRATH & BAKER (2001), cast doubt on the vicariant origin of various ratite clades with unanimous support for kiwi having a closer relationship to Australian ratites (Casuariidae) than to moa. Thus the first premise underpinning the phyletic dwarfing hypothesis of kiwi origins – a sister-group relationship with moa - is now doubtful. With the divergence of kiwi from casuariids then calculated to have occurred at about 60 Ma, it has been suggested that the occurrence of kiwi in New Zealand required dispersal over a significant oceanic barrier following Zealandia's separation from East Gondwana approximately 80 Ma (McNAB 1994; COOPER et al. 2001). However, it is now recognised that the unzipping of Zealandia (inclusive of New Zealand) from East Gondwana took over 27 Ma, commencing 82 Ma and finishing approximately 55 Ma (GAINA et al. 1998; SCHEL-LART et al. 2006). If this was indeed the case, then a vicariant origin for kiwi remains a possibility (TENNYSON 2010). This is especially so given that the most recent estimates for the divergence of kiwi from casuariids continue to support their ancient origin, e.g., 53.5 (95% CIs 36.9-72.1) Ma, estimated with both external and internal fossil calibrations (PHILLIPS et al. 2010), and 73 (95% CIs 50-100) Ma as estimated in BEAST by HAD-DRATH & BAKER (2012). But the question arises, was the common ancestor of kiwi and casuariids large and flightless, or was it small and volant as might be predicted by the multiple loss of flight hypothesis invoked for ratites (HARSHMAN et al. 2008; PHILLIPS et al. 2010)? More recently, even the vicariant origin of moa has been questioned, as molecular analyses suggest multiple independent origins of ratites involving dispersal by volant ancestors and subsequent convergent evolution towards the ratite form (HARSHMAN *et al.* 2008; PHILLIPS *et al.* 2010), although morphological data (JOHNSTON 2011; WORTHY & SCOFIELD 2012) still supports a vicariant origin. It is therefore possible that both moa and kiwi may have dispersed as volant, and therefore small, birds to New Zealand after its separation from East Gondwana.

Resolution of these contrasting hypotheses will be helped by a fossil record that establishes limits such as lineage presence and actual morphological form at crucial times. The fossil history of moa prior to the Quaternary remains elusive, but eggshell and tantalising fragments from the St Bathans Fauna, South Island (WOR-THY *et al.* 2007; TENNYSON *et al.* 2010) show that moa ancestors were present and were large birds in the Early Miocene.

The St Bathans Fauna has produced a diverse assemblage of terrestrial vertebrates including leiopelmatid frogs, reptiles including skinks, geckos, turtles and crocodilians, and mammals (JONES et al. 2009; LEE et al. 2009; WORTHY et al. 2006, 2011a, 2011b). The terrestrial vertebrate fauna (non-fish) is however dominated in diversity and abundance by about 40 species of birds, principally of waterfowl (Anatidae), with a minimum of eight taxa in five genera. It includes moa (Dinornithiformes), a tubenose (Procellariiformes), birds of prey (Accipitriformes), several gruiforms (Rallidae), a gull (?Laridae) and other charadriiforms, herons (Ardeidae), a palaelodid (Phoenicopteriformes), pigeons (Columbidae), parrots (Psittaciformes), a swiftlet (Apodidae), an owlet-nightjar (Aegothelidae), and passerines (Passeriformes) (Scofield et al. 2010; TENNYSON et al. 2010; WORTHY et al. 2007, 2009, 2010a, 2010b, 2011c, 2011d). The fauna includes representatives of all the quintessential endemic New Zealand terrestrial vertebrates such as leiopelmatids (WORTHY et al. 2011b), sphenodontids (JONES et al. 2009), moa (TENNYSON et al. 2010), the basal gruiform Aptornis (WORTHY et al. 2011c), and acanthisittid wrens (WORTHY et al. 2010a). It has, however, not revealed any evidence of that most iconic of all New Zealand taxa, the kiwi. This absence is now informed by the discovery of two fossils referrable to Apterygidae. They allow assessment of the phyletic dwarfing hypothesis and have bearing on when kiwi joined the New Zealand biota.

Material and methods

Nomenclature: We follow GILL *et al.* (2010) for nomenclature of kiwi and use names from specimen labels interpreted via DAVIES (2002) for tinamous. We use the anatomical nomenclature given in BAUMEL *et al.* (1993) and ELZANOWSKI & STIDHAM (2010) and abbreviate common terms as follows: artic., articularis; cond., condyle; m., musculus; proc., processus; tuber., tuberculum.

Abbreviations: AM, Australian Museum, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia; CM, Canterbury Museum, Christchurch, New Zealand; MV, Museum Victoria, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia; NMB, Naturhistorisches Museum, Basel, Switzerland; NMNZ, Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa, Wellington, New Zealand; NMW, Naturhistorisches Museum, Vienna, Austria; SAM, South Australian Museum, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia; SMF, Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, Sektion Ornithologie, Frankfurt am Main, Germany. Ma, million years ago.

Comparative material examined: Comparisons were made widely among birds using the skeletal collections of the Australian Museum and South Australian Museum. Following determination of the apterygid affinity of the fossils, detailed observations were made of the following kiwi and tinamou specimens.

Apteryx owenii: SAM B.5051, MV B56009, AMS535, AM A.1980, AM A.1992, AM A.4570; NMNZ OR.22815a; NMNZ OR.23044; NMNZ OR.23717a; NMNZ OR.24415; NMNZ OR.24416; A. haastii: MV B40905, CM Av31538; NMNZ NMNZ OR.19773a; OR.23022a: NMNZ OR.23038; NMNZ OR.23045; NMNZ OR.23648a; **NMNZ** OR.27983; **NMNZ** OR.28010a; A. australis: CM Av14447, CM Av32404, CM Av36637, CM Av36638, CM Av39065, AM O. unregistered; A. a. australis: NMNZ OR.22089a; NMNZ OR.27761a; NMNZ OR.27965; A. a. lawryi: NMNZ OR.23591; NMNZ OR.23756; A. mantelli: CM Av5492; NMNZ DM.909-S; NMNZ OR.13588; NMNZ OR.14964; NMNZ OR.17206; NMNZ OR.17207; NMNZ OR.17208; NMNZ OR.17209; NMNZ OR.17210; NMNZ OR.17211; NMNZ OR.17212; NMNZ OR.17213; NMNZ OR.24640; NMNZ OR.24984; *A. rowi*: CM Av16691, CM Av16717, CM Av16718.

Crypturellus obsoletus, SMF 2148; C. noctivagus noctivagus, SMF 11394; C. tataupa, SMF 11392; C. parvirostris, SMF 2164, SMF 9357, SMF 8184; C. cinnamomeus, SMF 2537; C. undulatus vermiculatus, SMF 2149; Eudromia elegans, NMW 3.071, SMF 9306, SMF 9260, SMF 6111, SMF 5415, SMF 6416, SMF 6298; Nothoprocta perdicaria, NMNZ OR.22983, NMW 4.068; Nothura maculosa, NMW 1061; Tinamus major robusta, SAM B.31339; T. major major, NMNZ OR.1433; T. major, NMW 4.559; T. (Trachpilmus Cab.) robustus, NMB C.2004; T. solitarius, SMF 2150; SMF 2146; Rhynchotus fasciatus =rufescens, NMW 161, NMW 160; R. rufescens, SMF 2147, NMB 5537.

We describe two fossil bones from the Early Miocene St Bathans Fauna, from Central Otago, New Zealand. The locality details and general stratigraphy of the sites producing this fauna have been described already (WORTHY *et al.* 2007; SCHWARZHANS *et al.* 2012).

We estimated mass for the fossil kiwi based on its femoral circumference using six different algorithms, including four from the literature based on all kinds of birds (ANDERSON et al. 1985; CAMPBELL & MARCUS 1992) and ratites (DICKIN-SON 2007), as well as two newly derived ones based on kiwi and tinamous. Circumference was determined by wrapping a narrow and thin piece of cellotape (or string for extant kiwi specimens in NMNZ) around the mid-shaft and marking the point where it overlapped itself, then measuring the length with callipers. Given apterygids are rather atypical palaeognaths, we also computed algorithms for mass from data for tinamous and for apterygids separately, and used these to estimate the mass of the fossil kiwi. We reasoned that if the fossil taxon was volant the value based on tinamou may be more pertinent but if it were flightless then that based on kiwi would be relevant. Measurements were taken with dial callipers or a graticule in a binocular microscope and rounded to the nearest 0.1 mm.



FIGURE 1. Apterygid right femora. *Proapteryx micromeros* (NMNZ S.53324, A-C, E) and *Apteryx owenii* (MV 56009, D, F), in medial (A), cranial (B), caudal (C, D), and lateral (E, F) views. Scale bars are 10 mm. Numbers refer to family attribution characters.

Systematic Palaeontology

Order Casuariiformes: Cassowaries, Emus and Kiwi

Family Apterygidae G.R. GRAY, 1840: Kiwi

The fossil is identified as an apterygid by the following combination of femoral characters (Figs 1, 2): the facies artic. antitrochanterica is convex in cranial-caudal section (1) and lateromedially about same width as the caput femoris (2); in caudal view, the proximal profile has a marked notch between the caput femoris and the facies artic. antitrochanterica (3); the collum femoris is constricted proximodistally and craniocaudally (4); the caudal facies distal to the facies artic. antitrochanterica is flat (5), forming a near right angle with the lateral facies (6), not a curved transition, as in *e.g.* galliforms; the insertion area for the major part of m. obturatorius medialis is on a distinct bulge traversing the caudal facies distolaterally, ending laterally level with the insertion area for m. ischiofemoralis (7); the depth of the crista trochanteris is about twice the depth of the caput femoris (8); the crista trochanteris not extending proximad of the facies artic. antitrochanterica, no fossa trochanteris (9), rounded cranially (10), merges gradually to the corpus femoris distally (11), and lateromedially broad adjacent to the collum femoris such that a narrow groove, less than the diameter of the caput, connects the pretrochanteric surface to the facies artic. antitrochanterica (12); the pretrochanteric surface is shallowly concave cranially, lacking pneumatic foramina (13); the linea intermuscularis cranialis extends to the distal end of the crista trochanteris (14); the area for the insertion of the m. obturatorius lateralis on an elevated bulge, not marked by any scar (15); large sulcus centred on the lateral facies proximally for insertion areas of the m. iliotrochantericus caudalis cranially and the m. iliofemoralis externus caudally (McGOWAN 1979), is elongate, extending about half the length of the crista trochanteris (16); insertion areas for the mm. iliotrochanterici medius et cranialis form a narrow elongate groove, slightly separated from the insertion area for the m. iliofemoralis externus, extending distally to point level with end of the crista trochanteris (17); insertion area of the m. ischiofemoralis forms a short, broad sulcus, caudal of and overlapping, in the proximodistal plane, the distal end of the insertion area for the m. iliofemoralis externus and the proximal end of the insertion area for the m. iliotrochantericus

medius (18); the corpus femoris is elongate relative to its proximal width (19), arched dorsally at mid-length (20), and bent medially at the distal end of the crista trochanteris, such that the lateral facies beside the trochanter is markedly inclined medially relative to more distal parts (21).

The insertion area for the m. iliotrochantericus caudalis being centred craniocaudally on the lateral facies, not more cranially, may be a synapomorphy of Casuariiformes. Characters 15 and 16 are considered apterygid autapomorphies. Femora of all other birds are further distinguished from those of apterygids by numerous features (see Appendix 1).

Proapteryx gen. nov.

Types species: Proapteryx micromeros spec. nov.

Diagnosis: An apterygid distinguished from *Apteryx* by the facies artic. antitrochanterica of the femur having a well-formed lobe overhanging the caudal facies; insertion area for the minor part of the m. obturatorius medialis a marked scar about a third the length of and located proximocaudal to the insertion area of the m. ischiofemoralis, not immediately caudal to it; and by its markedly smaller size with a femoral shaft diameter about half that of *A. owenii*, the smallest *Apteryx* species.

Etymology: Addition of the Latinised Classical Greek prefix $\pi\rho\sigma$ - (pro-), meaning before, to the scientific name of kiwi (*Apteryx*). *Apteryx* is Latinised Classical Greek and derives from the Greek " α ", a prefix indicating to be without or absent, and " $\pi\tau\epsilon\rho\nu\gamma\alpha\varsigma$ "=wings; neuter noun. Denoting that this taxon precedes *Apteryx* in the geological record.

Proapteryx micromeros spec. nov. (Figs 1–3)

Holotype: NMNZ S.53324 (Figs 1, 2), right femur missing distal condyles; collected 20 April 2012.

Diagnosis: As for genus.

Etymology: Latinised Classical Greek μικρός (mikros) for small or little and μηρία (meros) for thigh; neuter noun. For the markedly smaller femur than in extant apterygids.

Type locality: In a clay layer enveloping



FIGURE 2. Apterygid right femora. *Proapteryx micromeros* (NMNZ S.53324, A, B) and *Apteryx owenii* (a small example, SAM B.5095, C), in lateral (A, C), and caudal (B), views. Numbers refer to family attribution characters. Abbreviations: mic, insertion area of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis; mie, insertion area of m. iliofemoralis externus; mom, insertion area of m. obturatorius medialis pars minor.

stromatolites, Site FF1 (LINDQVIST 1994), a fossil stromatolite bed at 44.90359°S, 169.85840°E, Manuherikia River, Otago, New Zealand. Fossil Record Number (FRN) in the archival Fossil Record File of the Geological Society of New Zealand is H41/f0058 (stromatolites) and H41/ f0059 (clay draping stromatolites).

Stratigraphy/Age/Fauna: Bannockburn Formation, Manuherikia Group, Early Miocene (Altonian); 19–16 Ma; St Bathans Fauna. The stratigraphic relationship of site FF1 to other Bannockburn Formation exposures is presently unknown but the associated faunas are similar.

Measurements of holotype: Preserved (incomplete) length 42.2 mm, proximal width 8.4 mm, maximum proximal depth 7.6 mm; shaft width at former mid length 3.6 mm, shaft depth at former mid length 4.0 mm.

Comparison and description: In addition to the listed diagnostic characters, there are few differences between *Proapteryx* and *Apteryx*. The nutrient foramen caudally on the shaft is distinctly proximal to mid-length in *Apteryx*, but near original mid-length in *Proapteryx*. The linea intermuscularis caudalis extends proximally towards the lateral facies laterad of an elongate prominence for the insertion of m. puboischiofemoralis pars medialis (as in Casuariidae). This



FIGURE 3. Apterygid left quadrates. *Apteryx owenii* (SAM 5051 A-C, G, I) and *Proapteryx micromeros* (NMNZ S.53209, D-F, H, J) in medial (A, D), lateral (B, E), anterolateral (C, F), anterior (G, H) and ventral (I, J) views. Abbreviations: cm, crista medialis; cml, cond. mandibularis lateralis; cmm, cond. mandibularis medialis; co, capitulum oticum; cp, cond. pterygoideus; cqj, cotyla quadrateojugalis; cr, crista; cs, capitulum squamosum; faqv, facies artic. quadrateojugalis ventralis; fqj, fovea quadrateojugalis; mcpc, medial process cond. pterygoideus; po, proc. orbitalis; pot, proc. oticus; ts, tuber. subcapitulare.

prominence in *Proapteryx* is relatively more proximally located, ending level with the caudal bulge that is the insertion area for the major part of m. obturatorius medialis, rather than distal to the crista trochanteris.

Referred specimen: NMNZ S.53209, a left quadrate (Fig. 3).

Locality of referred specimen: Bed HH1b,

10–15 cm thick sand and cobble layer 9.5–9.58 m above the base of the Bannockburn Formation, Trench Excavation, at 44.90780° S 169.85844° E, Manuherikia River section; FRN is H41/f0103.

Stratigraphy/Age/Fauna: As for holotype.

Measurements of referred specimen: Total height from proc. oticum to cond. medialis 9.2 mm; height above cotyla quadratojugalis 4.9 mm.

Comparison and description: The fossil is worn and damaged with the proc. orbitalis lost anterior to the cond. pterygoideus, loss of much of the cond. mandibularis lateralis including the caudoventral rim of the fovea quadratojugalis, and the anteriomedial tip of the cond. mandibularis medialis is worn.

NMNZ S.53209 differs markedly from quadrates of all birds except those of Apteryx with which it shares the following combination of features (Fig. 3) and so it is referred to Apterygidae: 1, the head of the proc. oticus is expanded laterally and medially into a broad 'dumbell' shape, about three times wider than long, aligned at right angles to the proc. orbitalis; 2, caudally, there are pneumatic foramina at the base of the capitulum oticum; 3, the capituli oticum et squamosum are linked by a craniocaudally narrow articular surface lacking an incisura intercapitalis; 4, the capitulum squamosum widens laterally and its articular surface extends caudoventrally as a small oval lobe protuberant over the caudal facies; 5, the tuber. subcapitulare on the anterior side of the capitulum squamosum is prominent, robust, and about twice as wide as high; 6, the proc. oticus has a flat caudal facies, straight in lateral aspect, centred above the cond. mandibularis medialis, and forming an angle of approximately 100 degrees with the proc. orbitalis; 7, the crista medialis is acute, extending from the medial prominence of the cond. pterygoideus towards the capitulum oticum, forming the caudal boundary to a deep triangular sulcus without a foramen pneumaticum rostromediale; 8, the corpus lacks pneumatic foramina both caudally and laterally; 9, the cotyla quadratojugalis is very prominent laterally, the fovea quadratojugalis is deep, and the facies artic. quadratojugalis ventralis is proportionately large; 10, the proc. orbitalis is lateromedially thin with a shallow sulcus medially; 11, the cond. pterygoideus is rectilinear, separated by a sulcus from and lies dorsal to the medial half of the cond. mandibularis medialis, broader than high, dorsally convex in section, lateromedially concave, and extends continuously from a prominence medially onto the ventromedial part of the proc. orbitalis; 12, in ventral view, the condyli mandibularis medialis et lateralis are aligned roughly at right angles to the proc. orbitalis; 13, the articular surface of the cond. mandibularis lateralis is laterocaudal of, narrower than, subparallel to, and overlaps the cond. mandibularis medialis; 14, the cond. mandibularis medialis has two distinct parts: a ventrally convex medial part, and an anterocaudally broader lateral part that extends dorsally onto the lateral facies on the anterior side of the cotyla quadratojugalis.

In addition, NMNZ S.53209 reveals the following features. The preserved dorsal surface of the capitilum squamosum is level with the eroded surface of the capitulum oticum, indicating that the latter was originally slightly more prominent dorsally. Medially, the tuber. subcapitulare abuts a crest linking the capituli to the proc. orbitalis. A deep partially pneumatic sulcus at the base of the capitulum oticum lies medial to this crest. The proc. oticus is robust, extending dorsad of the cotyla quadratojugalis by slightly over half (53%) of total quadrate height, anterior and caudal borders are subparallel in anterolateral view, being formed respectively from crests extending from the proc. orbitalis to the capituli anteriorly and from the cotyla quadratojugalis to the capitulum squamosum posteriorly. The anterior margin of the proc. oticus meets the dorsal margin of the proc. orbitalis in a broad (approximately 140°) angle level with the dorsal side of the cotyla quadratojugalis. Anterior to the cond. mandibularis lateralis and lateral to the cond. medialis a shallow sulcus undercuts the cotyla quadratojugalis ventrally.

Quadrates of Apteryx species differ from NMNZ S.53209 as follows. (1) They are relatively more robust, although the smallest extant species, A. owenii, has a similar height (Table 1; Appendix 2). (2) They lack a pneumatic fossa anteriorly under the capitulum oticum. (3) The proc. oticus is relatively shorter with its height above the cotyla quadratojugalis slightly less than half of the maximum dorsoventral height. (4) The laterocaudal margin of the proc. oticus above the cotyla quadratojugalis is more rounded (in NMNZ S.53209, the corpus is notably craniocaudally compressed forming a ridge extending from under the capitulum squamosum down nearly to the cotyla quadratojugalis). (5) The cond. mandibularis medialis is proportionally larger but relatively less protuberant ventrally, and less offset ventrally from the ventral margin

of the base of the proc. orbitalis, creating a deeper sulcus under the cond. pterygoideus. (6) In lateral view, the proc. orbitalis meets the proc. oticus below the dorsal margin of the cotyla quadratojugalis, a result of the more robust ventral half of the quadrate compared to NMNZ S.53209. (7) The tuber. subcapitulare is sometimes (*A. owenii*) not bound medially by a ridge extending from the proc. orbitalis, but in other species, *e.g.*, *A. haastii* and *A. australis*, a ridge is present, as in

While the fossil quadrate was only similar to those of apterygids among a large range of compared taxa, we present detailed comparisons with three other palaeognath groups, the dinornithiforms because they were previously considered the sister group of kiwi (CRACRAFT 1974) and the tinamids and extinct lithornithids, because their volant nature makes them or taxa in their lineages potential candidates for the ancestral kiwi in New Zealand via dispersal across oceans (Houde 1988; PHILLIPS *et al.* 2010).

NMNZ S.53209.

Dinornithiformes. Apart from being considerably larger, moa quadrates differ markedly from those of the fossil and Apteryx as follows: proc. orbitalis short, relatively about half the length in kiwi, robust, dorsally convex (not laminar in nature, elongate and concave dorsally); they have a large foramen pneumaticum rostromediale (lacking in *Apteryx*); the capitulum oticum is relatively smaller, more poorly differentiated from the capitulum squamosum, not pneumatic caudally; in ventral view, the articular surfaces of the condyles differ markedly such that the articular facies of the cond. mandibularis medialis has very little medial prominence, and so rather than being lateromedially broad and sub-parallel to the cond. mandibularis lateralis as in kiwi, is craniocaudally elongate and aligned at near right angles to the cond. mandibularis lateralis. The fossil therefore has little similarity with dinornithiform quadrates.

Lithornithidae. Lithornithids are volant palaeognaths found in the Northern Hemisphere in the Early Tertiary (HOUDE 1988) and could conceivably have been ancestral to Casuariiformes, which are not known to be older than Late Oligocene ca. 24 Ma (Boles 2001). If so, a closer relationship and hence greater osteological similarity with Apteryx than to most other ratites might be predicted. We compared images of quadrates of Lithornis celetius Houde, 1988 (USNM 290601) with Apteryx quadrates. Similarities include: the proc. oticus is dorsally expanded with poorly separated capituli aligned at right angles to the proc. orbitalis, the cond. mandibularis medialis is medially prominent below the saddle-like cond. pterygoideus whose articular facet curves around onto the ventral part of the proc. orbitalis; the proc. orbitalis is relatively low (dorsoventrally) with a sulcus medially. However, the Lithornis quadrate differed from Aptervx quadrates and the fossil as follows: the proc. oticus is dorsally convex across the capituli, rather than the capituli being separated by a slight hollow; the capitulum oticum is markedly convex dorsally, does not overhang the corpus either posteriorly or anteriorly (not comparable in fossil); the capitulum squamosum is less protuberant laterally; the tuber. subcapitulare is lacking or poorly developed; the cotyla quadratojugalis is located relatively more ventrally, its ventral margin aligned with the ventral margin of the proc. orbitalis, has subequal ventral extent with the cond. mandibularis medialis; the cotyla quadratojugalis is not as protuberant laterally, has a crest extending from the dorsal margin to the corpus at slightly above mid height; the rostromediale facies of the corpus lacks a distinct sulcus at midheight (present in Apteryx) where the foramen

	A. mantelli	A. rowi	A. australis	A. lawyri	A. owenii	A. haastii
Mean	48.6	45.8	47.1	45.0	48.2	45.4
Standard Error	1.08	1.14	1.47	1.34	1.04	1.13
Standard Deviation	3.42	1.98	3.90	3.00	3.28	2.53
Minimum	44.4	43.6	40.9	41.7	42.6	42.5
Maximum	53.5	47.5	50.8	49.4	54.8	49.1
Count	10	3	7	5	10	5

TABLE 1. Summary statistics for Apteryx species of % TH above cotyla quadrateojugalis from Appendix 2.

pneumaticum is present in dinornithiforms; and the cond. pterygoideus is not so prominent above the medial side of the cond. mandibularis medialis. Thus, *Lithornis* quadrates differ substantially and in the same way from both *Apteryx* quadrates and the fossil quadrate referred to *Proapteryx*.

Tinamidae. The South American small volant palaeognaths in Tinamidae potentially could be related to the bird represented by this fossil as tinamous render ratites paraphyletic in recent analyses (HARSHMAN et al. 2008; PHILLIPS et al. 2010) and potentially are the sister taxon to moa (PHILLIPS et al. 2010). Moreover, the oldest tinamou fossils, clearly recognisable as similar to modern tinamous, are of similar Early Miocene age to the St Bathans Fauna (BERTELLI & CHIAPPE 2005). However, tinamou quadrates differ markedly from those of the fossil and Apteryx in having the cotyla quadratojugalis and condyli mandibularis medialis et lateralis displaced caudally relative to the proc. oticus, and the cotyla quadratojugalis more separated vertically from the cond. mandibularis medialis, being located above the base of the proc. orbitalis (see SILVEIRA & HÖFLING 2007: figs 40, 41). Tinamous or their recent ancestors can thus be ruled out as being closely related to the fossil or as ancestral to apterygids.

Assignment to Proapteryx

In summary, NMNZ S.53209 is more similar to Apteryx than to any other palaeognath group, which supports its referral to the Apteryx lineage. While NMNZ S.53209 is most similar to kiwi quadrates among known birds, the above features 2-5 are notable departures from the quadrate form of all extant Aptervx species and support the generic distinction based on femoral differences. We tentatively refer NMNZ S.53209 to Proaptervx micromeros because it represents a kiwi of similar size to that estimated for the holotype (see below) and it is presently most parsimonious to consider that only one such species is represented in the St Bathans Fauna. With several thousand bird bones having been collected from various sites sourcing this fauna, it seems unlikely that the two apterygid elements collected thus far would belong to separate taxa. The collection of additional material will hopefully confirm this idea.

Mass estimate for *Proapteryx*

The measured femoral circumference of the holotype femur of *Proapteryx* is 12.4 mm. We assessed body mass with several techniques.

Assessment of mass using algorithms based on a range of birds

1. Body mass (W) in g was estimated using the power function $W=0.16C^{2.73}$ (ANDERSON *et al.* 1985; MURRAY & VICKERS-RICH 2004). This equation suggests that a bird with a femoral circumference of 12.4 mm would weigh 154.6 g.

2. We also used equations from CAMP-BELL & MARCUS (1992) based on Group AL (all 795 species from diverse families), using Ordinary Least Squares regression (OLS), the intercept is -0.065 and the slope is 2.411: thus log10W=2.411log10C+0.065 or W=1.1645C^2.411, and the estimated weight is 502 g.

3. Using the equation based on heavy-bodied (HB) birds using Reduced Major Axis regression (RMA) from CAMPBELL & MARCUS (1992), where the intercept is 0.11 and the slope is 2.268: thus log10W=2.268log10C-0.11 or $W=0.775427C^{2.268}$, the estimated weight is 234.1 g (95% CIs 166–337.3 g.

Assessment of mass using only palaeognaths: Because kiwi are palaeognaths and not typical birds and because the above values varied widely, we assessed mass using formulae based only on palaeognaths. Assessing the mass of flightless ratites and the estimating the mass of extinct forms has a sizable literature (see review in DICK-ISON 2007), however most studies found mass estimates of Apterygidae are not well predicted by algorithms based on other ratites, probably because kiwi measurements lie well outside of the data generating those equations.

4. Ratite-specific algorithms. First we used DICKISON'S (2007) formula from OSL regression of known ratite body mass on bone measurements: $W=0.114815C^{2.83}$. This gives a predicted mass of 142.69 g. This estimate suffers from being based on a data range that does not encompass that for the fossil and further which is biased towards large size of extant ratites and is considerably smaller than other estimates.

5. Palaeognaths – tinamous. It is possible *Proapteryx* was volant, so for this reason



FIGURE 4. The least-squares regression of the raw data between the log circumference and log body mass in a sample of 28 tinamous of 14 species from Appendix 3. The coefficient of determination (R^2) was 0.8613.

we compared femoral diameter with mass in the volant and similar-sized palaeognaths, the tinamous (Tinamidae). Using the data in Appendix 3, and Fig. 4, we computed a RMA regression of log10W=2.4639log10C-0.1173 thus $W = 0.763308 \times C^{2}.4639$. This equation suggests the fossil femur with circumference of 12.4 mm was from a bird weighing 377 g (95% CIs 307.2–463.6 g). This predicted mass is greater than the result from the heavy-birds algorithm of CAMPBELL & MARCUS (1992), which is consistent with the observation that Tinamidae include some of the more bulky birds among those listed as heavy birds by CAMPBELL & MARCUS (1992). We note, however, that this estimate would only be valid if *Proapteryx* was volant and of similar proportions to tinamous.

6. Palaeognaths – apterygids. If *Proapteryx* had body proportions similar to *Apteryx* then an algorithm based on kiwi would be the most accurate way of estimating its mass. We took measurements of femora from 30 individuals of kiwi of known weight in the collection of the National Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa (Appendix 5) and generated a kiwi-specific algorithm. The calculated RMA regression equation for kiwi was log10W=2.654307log10C-0.56 108 thus $W=0.274739C^2.1496$. This equation suggests that a bird with a femoral circumference

of 12.4 mm would weigh 281.9 g (95% CIs 141.2–339.5 g).

These various calculations suggest that the predicted mass of *Proapteryx* probably lay within the range of 234.1 g (95% CIs 166–337.3 g), using CAMPBELL & MARCUS'S (1992) equation based on heavy-bodied birds, and 377 g (95% CIs 307.2–463.6 g), assuming it was volant and based on tinamou. We note that the equation based on extant kiwi gave an intermediate value of 281.9 g (95% CIs 141.2–339.5 g). It seems the algorithm based on all birds from CAMPBELL & MARCUS (1992) probably over-estimated the weight of *Proapteryx* at 502 g. Therefore, *Proapteryx* was markedly smaller than all extant *Apteryx* species (Appendix 4) and similar in mass to the banded rail *Gallirallus philippensis* (Linnaeus).

Discussion

The fossils we describe as *Proapteryx micromeros* reveal, minimally, that a small apterygid species was present in New Zealand, about 19–16 Ma. The holotype femur derives from site FF1, an isolated outlier of the Bannockburn Formation (LINDQVIST 1994) whose stratigraphic relationships to bed HH1b 9.5–9.58 m above the base of the Bannockburn Formation in the extensive

Manuherikia River section (SCHWARZHANS *et al.* 2012) which lies 300 m south, are presently undeterminable, so the two fossils may represent two species. However, we favour conspecificity of these fossils because they indicate a similar-sized bird (see below) and the associated fossils from FF1 are of species found in bed HH1b indicating the same source fauna. The addition of *Proapteryx* to the St Bathans Fauna reveals the assembly of all extant iconic terrestrial vertebrates of New Zealand, *e.g.*, leiopelmatid frogs, *Sphenodon*, moa, *Aptornis*, and acanthisittid wrens (see above), was complete by the Early Miocene: not one has arrived in the subsequent 16 Ma.

The holotype femur reveals that, at an estimated 234.1 g (95% CIs 166.0–337.3 g) – 377 g (95% CIs 307.2-463.6 g), Proapteryx was only 0.27-0.43 times the mass of the smallest individual (880 g) of the smallest extant kiwi species (A. owenii), or 0.2-0.3 times the mass of the approximate modal size (1200 g) of A. owenii (Appendix 5). In contrast, the quadrate is about the size of that in a small individual of A. owenii, and assuming it reflects skull size, might indicate that *Proapteryx* and A. owenii had similar sized skulls. However, Proapteryx has a more gracile proc. oticus, which may indicate a shorter bill than in Apteryx. The proportion of femur size to quadrate size seen in Proapteryx lies intermediate between those observed in similar-sized but distantly related birds such as Banded Rail, Gallirallus philippensis, e.g., SAM B36299, and the Australian Little Bittern, Ixobrychus dubius (a species that has a relatively large head), e.g., SAM B48804, (height quadrate 7.1 mm and 7.5 mm, respectively, versus 9.2 mm; femur proximal width 8.6 mm and 5.9 mm, respectively, versus 8.4 mm; femur mid shaft width 3.5 mm and 2.3 mm, respectively, vs 3.6 mm). Thus assuming the two bones belong to the same species, *Proapteryx* had a quadrate to femur proportion not greatly different from the Banded Rail. The two fossils, if conspecific, point to a bird with a head only slightly smaller than A. owenii, but with proportionally much smaller, more gracile legs, more like those of an average terrestrial bird, rather than with the relatively large legs modern kiwi have.

The presence of *Proapteryx* in the Early Miocene of New Zealand places the apterygid lineage in New Zealand at this time. If, as we prefer to interpret the fossils, only a single taxon is represented, then this taxon was of very small size compared to extant kiwi, being only about 0.195-0.314 times the mass of A. owenii, the smallest extant kiwi. We do not know whether Proapteryx was the only apterygid present in Zealandia during the Early Miocene, but the large sample size of birds from the St Bathans Fauna, some 5000 specimens, makes the undiscovered presence of another larger apterygid in this local fauna unlikely. However, our samples for this period derive from a single local fauna from one lacustrine environment in a rather large and diverse landscape, so there is a reasonable possibility that other forms existed elsewhere in Zealandia at that time. Despite this, given Proapteryx is an undoubted apterygid, it seems reasonable to assume that if its morphology was similar to that of a shared (hypothetical) common ancestor with extant apterygids, then small size was plesiomorphic for the clade. If so, it then follows that since the early Miocene, kiwi have evolved into larger birds with proportionately larger legs. Most terrestrial flightless birds have smaller volant relatives with proportionately smaller legs (ROFF 1994; McNAB 1994). The small size and slenderness of the femur makes it distinctly possible that *Proapteryx* was volant, supporting an overwater dispersal origin to New Zealand of kiwi that was independent of moa (ROFF 1994; COOPER et al. 2001; PHILLIPS et al. 2010). Further fossils will be required to confirm this suggestion. The divergence of kiwi from casuariids, for which estimates range from 53.5 Ma (PHILLIPS et al. 2010) to 73 Ma (HADDRATH & BAKER 2012) long preceded *Proapteryx* leaving a large gap in the lineage history. This is significant because if Proapteryx was volant then the common ancestor of kiwi and Australian casuariids was also likely to have been volant, as is predicted by the multiple loss of flight hypothesis for ratites (PHIL-LIPS et al. 2010). Given that the oldest Australian casuariid fossil presently known, Emuarius gidju a species similar to a small emu, is about 25 Ma (BOLES 1992), then a ghost lineage in Australia of between 25 and 50 Ma, is inferred, providing more than enough time for the lineage to produce flightless and large species. If Proapteryx was flightless, a flightless lineage minimally spanning 16 Ma has to be invoked. The crown radiation of kiwi has a recent basal divergence most recently estimated at 6.3 Ma (2.3-1.4 Ma, 95% CIs) in BEAST by HADDRATH & BAKER (2012). Therefore, if *Proapteryx* was similar to the shared common ancestor with the crown radiation of kiwi and if it were volant, there was minimally a 10 Ma period during which the flightless condition could have been attained and body size of taxa increased. Even more rapid loss of flight and attainment of similar large body size is advocated for such divergent taxa as Porphyrio rails in New Zealand over only 1 Ma (TREWICK 1997) and for ancestral ducks becoming moa-nalos in Hawaii in just the last 3.6 Ma (SORENSON et al. 1999). The phyletic dwarfing hypothesis advocated by CALDER (1978, 1984) and GOULD (1986, 1991) explains the large size of kiwi eggs as the result of an emu-sized ancestor evolving smaller body size while retaining the large size of the ancestor's egg. Regardless of its position on the volant-flightless continuum, Proapteryx reveals that ancestral kiwi were probably small in the Early Miocene. There remains no evidence in the fossil record to support the idea that geologically older kiwi were large like the emu and the cassowary, which are the sister taxa of Apterygidae. If this was so, then whether the ancestor of kiwi arrived in New Zealand vicariantly or by overwater dispersal is irrelevant; it was already small and probably volant – it cannot have been large and flightless like modern casuariids. This reasoning further suggests that the Apteryx lineage evolved larger size over the last 19–16 Ma. Thus the super-large egg of kiwi is probably not an historic holdover, but rather is more likely to be the result of adaptive advantage. It results in a highly precocial chick, which on emerging from the egg is independent of adults. We contend that this feature and the nocturnal habits of kiwi are perhaps best interpreted as adaptations to avoid avian predators, including terrestrial Aptornis and aerial raptors, both present in the Early Miocene and subsequently (WORTHY et al. 2007; WORTHY et al. 2011b), to which the evolution of flightlessness made them more vulnerable. The discovery of *Proapteryx* provides strong evidence to suggest that the origin of *Apteryx* by phyletic dwarfing is probably incorrect and that the opposite is instead more likely, that kiwi are the result of an evolutionary trajectory towards increased body mass during the Neogene and that their large eggs are an evolutionary novelty resulting from development towards extreme precociality.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge generous support from the landowners A. and E. JOHNSTONE (Home Hills Station, St Bathans) from whose land the fossils were excavated. We thank Walter Boles (Australian Museum), Wayne LONGMORE (Museum Victoria), Philippa HORTON (South Australia Museum), Gerald MAYR (Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, Frankfurt am Main, Germany), Vanesa DE PIETRI and Loic COSTEUR (Naturhistorisches Museum, Basel, Switzerland), and Anita GAMAUF (Naturhistorisches Museum, Vienna, Austria) for access to comparative material. We thank Helen JAMES (Smithsonian Institution) for images of Lithornis. We acknowledge the comments of Andrei ZINO-VIEV and another anonymous reviewer that helped to improve the text. This research supported by the Australian Research Council (DP120100486) and a UNSW Goldstar award (PS22963). R.P.S. was funded by a grant from The Brian Mason Foundation.

References

- ANDERSON, J., HALL-MARTIN, A, & RUSSELL, D. (1985): Long bone circumference and weight in mammals, birds and dinosaurs. – *Journal of Zoology*, 207: 53–61.
- BAUMEL, J.J., KING, A.S., BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E.& VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (1993): Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium. 2nd edition. *Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 1–779 pp.
- BERTELLI, S. & CHIAPPE, L.M. (2005): Earliest tinamous (Aves: Palaeognathae) from the Miocene of Argentina and their phylogenetic position. – Contributions in Science, Natural History Museum Los Angeles County, 502: 1–20.
- BOLES, W.E. (1992): Revision of *Dromaius gidju* Patterson and Rich, 1987, with a reassessment of its generic position. In: CAMPBELL K.E., Jr, (ed.): Papers in avian paleontology honoring Pierce Brodkorb. *Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Sciences Series*, **36**: 195–208.
- Boles, W.E. (2001): A new emu (Dromaiinae) from the Late Oligocene Etadunna Formation. – *Emu*,

101: 317–321.

- CALDER, W.A. (1978): The Kiwi. Scientific American, 239/1: 132–142.
- CALDER, W.A. (1984): Size Function and Life History. 448 pp. Cambridge (Harvard Univ. Press).
- CAMPBELL, K.E. & MARCUS, L. (1992): The relationship of hindlimb bone dimensions to body weight in birds. – In: CAMPBELL, K.E. (ed.): Papers in avian paleontology honoring Pierce Brodkorb. – Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Science Series 36: 395–412.
- COOPER, A., LALUEZA-FOX, C., ANDERSON, S., RAMBAUT, A., AUSTIN, J. & WARD, R. (2001): Complete mitochondrial genome sequences of two extinct moas clarify ratite evolution. – *Nature*, **409**: 704–707.
- CRACRAFT, J. (1974): Phylogeny and evolution of the ratite birds. *Ibis*, **116**: 494–521.
- DAVIES, S.J.J.F. (2002): Ratites and Tinamous: Tinamidae, Rheidae, Dromaiidae, Casuariidae, Apterygidae, Struthionidae (Bird Families of the World). – 360 pp. Oxford (Oxford University Press).
- DE QUEIROZ, S.A. & COOPER, R.G. (2011): Genderbased differences in stride and limb dimensions between healthy red-wing tinamou (*Rhynchotus rufescens*) Temminck, 1815. – *Turkish Journal of Zoology*, 35: 103–108.
- DICKISON, M.J. (2007): Allometry of giant flightless birds. Unpublished PhD thesis. – 114 pp. Durham, USA (Duke University).
- ELZANOWSKI, A. & STIDHAM, T.A. (2010): Morphology of the quadrate in the Eocene anseriform *Presbyornis* and the extant Galloanserine birds. – *Journal of Morphology*, **271**: 305–323.
- GAINA, C., ROEST, W.R., MÜLLER, R.D. & SYMONDS, P. (1998): The opening of the Tasman Sea: a gravity anomaly animation. *Earth Interactions*, **2–004**: 1–23.
- GILL, B.J., BELL, B.D., CHAMBERS, G.K., MEDWAY, D.G., PALMA, R.L., SCOFIELD, R.P., TENNYSON, A.J.D. & WORTHY, T.H. (2010): Checklist of the Birds of New Zealand, Norfolk and Macquarie Islands, and the Ross Dependency, Antarctica. 4th Edition. – 500 pp. Wellington (Ornithological Society of NZ & Te Papa Press).
- GOULD, S.J. (1986): Of Kiwi eggs and the Liberty Bell. *Natural History*, **95(11)**: 20–29.
- GOULD, S. J. (1991): Of Kiwi Eggs and the Liberty Bell. – In: GOULD, S.J. (ed.): Bully for Brontosaurus. – pp. 109–123, New York (W. Norton).
- HADDRATH, O. & BAKER, A.J. (2001): Complete mitochondrial DNA genome sequences of extinct birds: Ratite phylogenetics and the vicariance biogeography hypothesis. – *Proceedings of the Royal Society* of London, B, 268: 939–945.
- HADDRATH, O. & BAKER, A.J. (2012): Multiple nuclear genes and retroposons support vicariance and

dispersal of the palaeognaths, and an Early Cretaceous origin of modern birds. – *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, B*, **279**: 4617–4625.

- HARSHMAN, J., BRAUN, E.L., BRAUN, M.J., HUDDLESTON, C.J., BOWIE, R.C.K., CHOJNOWSKI, J.L., HACKETT, S.J., HAN, K.-L., KIMBALL, R.T., MARKS, B.D, MIGLIA, K.J., MOORE, W.S., REDDY, S., SHELDON, F.H., STEADMAN, D.W., STEPPAN, S.J., WITT, C.C., YURI, T. (2008): Phylogenomic evidence for multiple losses of flight in ratite birds. – *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 105: 13462–13467.
- HOUDE, P.W. (1988): Paleognathous birds from the early Tertiary of the Northern Hemisphere. – Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club, 22: 1–148.
- JOHNSTON, P. (2011): New morphological evidence supports congruent phylogenies and Gondwana vicariance for palaeognathous birds. – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **163**: 959–982.
- JONES, M.E.H., TENNYSON, A.J.D., WORTHY, J.P., EVANS, S.E. & WORTHY, T.H. (2009): A sphenodontine (Rhynchocephalia) from the Miocene of New Zealand and palaeobiogeography of the tuatara (Sphenodon) – Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, B, 276: 1385–1390.
- LEE, M.S.Y., HUTCHINSON, M.N., WORTHY, T.H., ARCHER, M., TENNYSON, A.J.D., WORTHY, J.P. & SCOFIELD, R.P. (2009): Miocene skinks and geckos reveal long-term conservatism of New Zealand's lizard fauna – *Biology Letters*, 5: 833–837.
- LINDQVIST, J.K. (1994): Lacustrine stromatolites and oncoids: Manuherikia Group (Miocene), New Zealand. – In: BERTRAND-SARFATI, J. & MONTY, C. (eds): Phanerozoic Stromatolites II. – pp. 227–254, Dordrecht (Kluwer Academic Publishers).
- MARCHANT, S. & HIGGINS, P.J. (co-ordinators) (1990): Handbook of Australian, New Zealand and Antarctic Birds. Volume 1, Ratites to Ducks. – 1400 pp. Melbourne (Oxford Univ. Press).
- McGowan, C. (1979): The hind limb musculature of the Brown kiwi *Apteryx australis mantelli* – Journal of Morphology, **160**: 33–74.
- MCNAB, B.K. (1994): Energy-conservation and the evolution of flightlessness in birds. – American Naturalist, 144: 628–642.
- MURRAY, P.F. & VICKERS-RICH, P. (2004): Magnificent mihirungs. The colossal flightless birds of the Australian Dreamtime. – 416 pp. Bloomington (Indiana University Press).
- Ратак, А.Е. & BALDWIN, J. (1998): Pelvic limb musculature in the Emu *Dromaius novaehollandiae* (Aves: Struthioniformes: Dromaiidae): adaptations to high-speed running. – *Journal of Morphology*, **238**: 23–37.
- PHILLIPS, M.J., GIBB, G.C., CRIMP, E.A. & PENNY, D. (2010): Tinamous and moa flock together: mito-

chondrial genome sequence analysis reveals independent losses of flight among ratites. – *Systematic Biology*, **59**: 90–107.

- ROFF, D.A. (1994): The evolution of flightlessness: is history important? – *Evolutionary Ecology*, **8**: 639–657.
- SCHELLART, W.P., LISTER, G.S. & TOY, V.G. (2006): A Late Cretaceous and Cenozoic reconstruction of the Southwest Pacific region: tectonics controlled by subduction and slab rollback processes. – *Earth Science Revues*, **76**: 191–233.
- SCHWARZHANS, W., SCOFIELD, R.P., TENNYSON, A.J.D., WORTHY, J.P. & WORTHY, T.H. (2012): Fish remains, mostly otoliths, from the non-marine Early Miocene of Otago, New Zealand. – Acta Palaeontologica Polonica, 57: 319–350.
- SCOFIELD, R.P., WORTHY, T.H. & TENNYSON, A.J.D. (2010): A heron (Aves: Ardeidae) from the Early Miocene St Bathans Fauna of southern New Zealand. – *Records of the Australian Museum*, 62: 89–104.
- SILVEIRA, L.F. & HöFLING, E. (2007): Osteologia craniana dos Tinamidae (Aves: Tinamiformes), com implicações sistemáticas. – Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi Ciências Naturais, Belém, 2: 15–54.
- SORENSON, M.D., COOPER, A., PAXINOS, E.E., QUINN, T.W., JAMES, H.F., OLSON, S.L., FLEISCHER, R.C. (1999): Relationships of the extinct moa-nalos, flightless Hawaiian waterfowl, based on ancient DNA. – Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, B, 266: 2187–2193.
- TENNYSON, A.J.D. (2010): The origin and history of New Zealand's terrestrial vertebrates. – New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 34: 6–27
- TENNYSON, A.J.D., PALMA, R.L., ROBERTSON, H., WOR-THY, T.H., & GILL B.J. (2003): A new species of kiwi (Aves, Apterygiformes) from Okarito, New Zealand. – *Records of the Auckland Museum*, 40: 55–64.
- TENNYSON, A.J.D., WORTHY, T.H., JONES, C.M., SCO-FIELD, R.P. & HAND, S.J. (2010): Moa's Ark: Miocene fossils reveal the great antiquity of moa (Aves: Dinornithiformes) in Zealandia. – *Records of the Australian Museum*, **62**: 105–114.
- TREWICK, S.A. (1997): Flightlessness and phylogeny amongst endemic rails (Aves: Rallidae) of the New Zealand region. – *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences*, **352**: 429–446.
- VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (1982): Notes on the myology of the pelvic limb in kiwi (*Apteryx*) and in other birds. *The Auk*, **99**: 309–315.
- VANDEN BERGE, J.C. & SWEERS, G.A. (1993): Myologia. – In: BAUMEL, J.J., KING, A.S., BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E. & VANDEN BERGE, C. (eds): Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina anatomica avium, 2nd edition. – *Publications of the Nuttall Ornithologi*-

cal Club, **23**: 189–247.

- WORTHY, T.H., HAND, S.J., NGUYEN, J.M.T., TENNYSON,
 A.J.D., WORTHY, J.P., SCOFIELD, R.P., BOLES, W.E.
 & ARCHER, M. (2010a): Biogeographical and phylogenetic implications of an early Miocene wren (Aves: Passeriformes: Acanthisittidae) from New Zealand. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 30: 479–498.
- WORTHY, T.H., HAND, S.J., WORTHY, J.P., TENNYSON, A.J.D. & SCOFIELD, R.P. (2009): A large fruit pigeon (Columbidae) from the early Miocene of New Zealand. – *The Auk*, **126**: 649–656.
- WORTHY, T.H. & SCOFIELD, R.P. (2012): Twenty-first century advances in knowledge of the biology of moa (Aves: Dinornithiformes): a new morphological analysis and diagnoses revised. – New Zealand Journal of Zoology, **39**: 87–153.
- WORTHY, T.H., TENNYSON, A.J.D., ARCHER, M., MUSSER, A.M., HAND, S.J., JONES, C., DOUGLAS, B.J., MCNA-MARA, J.A. & BECK, R.M.D. (2006): Miocene mammal reveals a Mesozoic ghost lineage on insular New Zealand, southwest Pacific. – *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 103: 19419–19423.
- WORTHY, T.H., TENNYSON, A.J.D., ARCHER, M. & SCO-FIELD, R.P. (2010b): First record of *Palaelodus* (Aves: Phoenicopteriformes) from New Zealand. – *Records of the Australian Museum*, **62**: 77–88.
- WORTHY, T.H., TENNYSON, A.J.D., HAND, S.J., GOD-THELP, H. & SCOFIELD, R.P. (2011a): Terrestrial turtle fossils from New Zealand refloat Moa's Ark. – *Copeia*, 2011: 72–76.
- WORTHY, T.H., TENNYSON, A.J.D., JONES, C., MCNA-MARA, J.A. & DOUGLAS B.J. (2007): Miocene waterfowl and other birds from Central Otago, New Zealand. – *Journal of Systematic Palaeontol*ogy, 5: 1–39.
- WORTHY, T.H., TENNYSON, A.J.D. & SCOFIELD, R.P. (2011c): Fossils reveal an early Miocene presence of the aberrant gruiform Aves: Aptornithidae in New Zealand. – *Journal of Ornithology*, **152**: 669–680.
- WORTHY, T.H., TENNYSON, A.J.D. & SCOFIELD, R.P. (2011d): An Early Miocene diversity of parrots (Aves, Strigopidae, Nestorinae) from New Zealand. – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 31: 1102–1116.
- WORTHY, T.H., WORTHY, J.P., ARCHER, M., HAND, S.J., SCOFIELD, R.P., MARSHALL, B.A. & TENNYSON, A.J.D. (2011b): A decade on, what the St Bathans Fauna reveals about the Early Miocene terrestrial biota of Zealandia. – In: LITCHFIELD, N.J. & CLARK, K. (eds), Abstract volume, Geosciences 2011 Conference, Nelson, New Zealand. – Geoscience Society of New Zealand Miscellaneous Publication, 130A: 120.

Appendix 1

Femoral features distinguishing Apterygidae from other birds.

Other modern birds, with an emphasis on those likely to be related for reasons of geographic proximity, have femora that differ from those of apterygids by the following features, which are considered sufficient to distinguish them, but which are not intended to be a comprehensive list of differences.

Dinornithiformes. All species of moa are vastly larger; facies artic. antitrochantica concave; pattern of ligament insertions proximolaterally differ greatly as follows (terminology after McGowan (1979) with preferred synonyms from VANDEN BERGE (1982) and VANDEN BERGE & SWEERS (1993) in brackets, although we note McGowan's caveat that size and the presence of few muscles in Apteryx can be correlated with impressions on bones): large elongate sulcus for insertions for m. iliotrochantericus posterior (m. iliotrochantericus caudalis), m. gluteus medius et minimus (m. iliofemoralis externus), and m. iliotrochantericus medius et anterior (mm. iliotrochanterici medius et cranialis) shallower, located well craniad, nearly adjacent to cranial margin of crista trochanteris; insertion area for m. ischiofemoralis broad, well separated from the latter, just caudad of centre; impression for m. obturator internus (m. obturatorius medialis) closer to caudal margin, small, just caudad of the insertion area for m. ischiofemoralis; impression for M. obturator externus (m. obturatorius lateralis), shallow, broad.

Casuariidae. Similarities include lack of fossa trochanteris, notably convex facies artic. antitrochantica separated from caput by marked notch and ligamental insertion for m. iliotrochantericus caudalis largest and at mid craniocaudal depth. Differences include markedly larger size and a distinct pattern of sulci for ligamental insertions proximolaterally, interpreted by PATAK & BALDWIN (1998) as follows: a large oval sulcus at mid-craniocaudal depth for m. iliofemoralis externus, but the bipartite appearance of this sulcus suggests it also houses the insertion for m. iliotrochantericus caudalis; distal to this sulcus lies a circular and deep impression for m. ischiofemoralis; impression for m. obturator externus (=m. obturatorius lateralis), shallow, relatively small, stronger-marked in Casuarius.

Tinamidae, Galliformes. Proportions similar, but differ with a well-marked fossa trochanteris; facies artic. antitrochantica concave; impressio m. iliotrochantericus caudalis shallower and more cranially located; insertion area of m. obturatorius lateralis well marked; proximally, caudal and lateral facies meet in even curve; facies artic. antitrochanterica connected via broad groove to cranial surface. All the following taxa lack a marked notch proximally separating the caput from facies artic. antitrochanterica, have a well-marked impression for m. obturatorius lateralis, and are further distinguished as follows:

Gruiformes (Gruiidae, Otididae, *Rhynochetos jubatus*, and Rallidae). Proportions similar, but have a fossa trochanteris; and lateral facies is markedly convex adjacent to the crista trochanteris.

Ardeidae. Proportions similar, but the shaft lacks dorsal curvature; crista trochanteris craniocaudal depth is much shallower and proximally is lateromedially narrow, so a broad flat groove connects the cranial surface to the facies artic. antitrochanterica.

Anseriforms. Femoral shaft relatively much shorter; caput on shorter neck.

Podicipedidae, Spheniscidae, Procellariiformes, Anhingidae, Phalacrocoracidae, Sulidae, Phaethontidae. Femoral shaft much shorter; craniocaudal depth crista trochanteris subequal or only slightly deeper than caput depth; neck with little or no constriction.

Pelecanidae. Femoral shaft relatively shorter, thinwalled, no dorsal curvature, crista trochanteris shorter, arrangement of insertion areas laterally differs.

Threskiornithidae. Femoral shaft relatively shorter, no dorsal curvature, crista trochanteris relatively short (proximodistally) with little cranial elevation.

Ciconiidae, Phoenicopteridae, Accipitriformes, Cathartidae and Falconidae. Femora as for Theskiornithids, but with pneumatic foramina in cranial pretrochanteric area and linea intermuscularis cranialis extends mesad of crista trochanteris.

Charadriiformes. Shaft lacks dorsal curvature; fossa trochanteris present. In addition, in Haemato-podidae, Recurvirostridae, Charadriidae, Laridae, and Glareolidae, linea intermuscularis cranialis extends mesad of and parallel to crista trochanteris.

Columbidae, Psittaciformes, Caprimulgiformes, Cuculidae, Strigiformes, Coraciiformes and Passeriformes. Crista trochanteris cranially low, often with craniocaudal depth subequal to caput depth. Columbidae further differ with a fossa trochanteris and Caprimulgiformes and Strigiformes have crista trochanteris proximodistally shorter, and passed medially by well-marked crista intermuscularis cranialis.
Appendix 2

Measurements (mm) of quadrates of *Apteryx* species. TH is total height. Catalogue numbers starting with OR, DM, and S are all prefixed by NMNZ.

Catalogue number		Taxon TH (capitulum	TH above cotyla	% TH above cotvla
8		squamosum – base of	quadratojugalis	quadratojugalis
		cond. medialis)		
DM.492-S	australis	11.1	5.6	50.5
OR.4738	australis	11.0	4.5	40.9
OR.21035	australis	10.5	5.3	50.5
OR.22114	australis	11.6	5.5	47.4
OR.22115	australis	11.9	5.5	46.2
OR.27965	australis	12.0	6.1	50.8
CM Av 39065	australis	11.5	5.0	43.2
OR.21415	haastii	11.3	5.1	45.1
OR.23045	haastii	11.4	5.6	49.1
OR.27983	haastii	12.3	5.7	46.3
MV B40905	haastii	12.1	5.3	43.8
CM Av31538	haastii	12.4	5.3	42.5
OR.21832	lawryi	12.1	5.3	43.8
CM Av 14447	lawryi	11.7	4.9	41.7
CM Av 32404	lawryi	13.5	6.7	49.4
CM Av 36637	lawryi	13.0	5.7	43.6
CM Av 36638	lawryi	12.0	5.6	46.4
DM.909-S	mantelli	11.1	5.9	53.2
OR.23048	mantelli	11.1	5.4	48.6
OR.24640	mantelli	10.1	5.4	53.5
OR.24984	mantelli	11.3	5.8	51.3
OR.27604	mantelli	11.3	5.2	46.0
OR.28614	mantelli	11.3	5.1	45.1
OR.28615	mantelli	11.7	5.2	44.4
OR.28616	mantelli	10.8	5.5	50.9
OR.29374	mantelli	11.3	5.1	45.1
CM Av 5492	mantelli	10.8	5.2	48.1
OR.20990	owenii	9.6	4.6	47.9
OR.22369	owenii	9.3	4.8	51.6
OR.23214	owenii	9.3	5.1	54.8
OR.24414	owenii	8.4	4.0	47.6
OR.24415	owenii	8.9	4.4	49.4
OR.24416	owenii	9.0	4.3	47.8
OR.25100	owenii	10.0	4.8	48.0
OR 25794	owenii	9.4	4.0	42.6
MV B56009	owenii	10.1	4.7	46.2
SAM B5051	owenii	9.3	4.3	46.5
CM Av 16691	rowi	12.2	53	43.6
CM Av 16717	rowi	11.0	5.2	47.5
CM Av 16718	rowi	12.3	5.2	46.2
USNM 290601	Lithornis celetit	45 10.8	7.6	70.7
S.53209	Proapteryx	9.2	4.9	53.3

Appendix 3

Relationship of Tinamidae estimated femoral circumference (using the formula circumference=PI* SQRT(2*((POWER((1/2*SD),2))+(POWER((1/2*SW),2))))) to average weight. SW is width at mid shaft, SD is shaft depth at mid shaft, C is circumference, measurements in mm. Weights were taken from DAVIES (2002) except for SMF 2147, which was from QUEIROZ & COOPER (2011).

Reg. No.	Таха	SW	SD	С	Weight	log C	log mass
SAM B.31339	Tinamus major robusta	5.6	5.8	17.9	1140	1.253092	3.056905
NMNZ OR.1433	Tinamus major major	4.7	5.5	16.1	1028.5	1.206052	3.012204
NMNZ OR.22983	Nothoprocta perdicaria	3.9	4.5	13.2	458	1.121504	2.660865
NMW 4.559	Tinamus major	6.1	6.2	19.3	1140	1.286039	3.056905
NMW 1061	Nothura maculosa	4.2	4.0	12.9	300	1.110063	2.477121
NMW 3.071	Eudromia elegans	5.5	5.0	16.5	703.5	1.217801	2.847264
NMW 160	<i>Rhynchotus fasciatus = rufescens</i>	5.6	5.7	17.8	770	1.249215	2.886491
NMW 161	<i>Rhynchotus fasciatus = rufescens</i>	6.1	5.9	18.9	770	1.275361	2.886491
NMW 4.068	Nothoprocta perdicaria	4.6	4.1	13.7	458	1.136355	2.660865
NMB 5537	Rhynchotus rufescens	5.8	5.3	17.3	770	1.238748	2.886491
NMB C.2004	Tinamus (Trachypilmus Cab.) robustus	5.9	5.8	18.4	1140	1.26507	3.056905
SMF 2148	Crypturellus obsoletus	4.1	3.7	12.3	480	1.089952	2.681241
SMF 11394	Crypturellus noctivagus noctivagus	4.2	4.2	13.2	800	1.119375	2.90309
SMF 11392	Crypturellus tataupa	3.4	3.8	11.3	202	1.053995	2.305351
SMF 2164	Crypturellus parvirostris	3.0	2.8	9.0	180	0.955935	2.255273
SMF 8184	Crypturellus parvirostris	3.5	3.1	10.4	220	1.015069	2.342423
SMF 9357	Crypturellus parvirostris	3.4	3.1	10.2	220	1.0081	2.342423
SMF 2537	Crypturellus cinnamomeus	3.9	4.0	12.4	419	1.092696	2.622214
SMF 2149	Crypturellus undulatus vermiculatus	4.4	4.6	14.2	540	1.151456	2.732394
SMF 2146	Tinamus solitarius	5.7	5.9	18.2	1200	1.260642	3.079181
SMF 2150	Tinamus solitarius	6.5	6.9	21.1	1500	1.324752	3.176091
SMF 5415	Eudromia elegans	5.5	4.9	16.5	703.5	1.216318	2.847264
SMF 6111	Eudromia elegans	5.8	5.1	17.1	703.5	1.233381	2.847264
SMF 6416	Eudromia elegans	5.6	5.0	16.7	703.5	1.222983	2.847264
SMF 9260	Eudromia elegans	5.6	5.1	16.8	703.5	1.225977	2.847264
SMF 9306	Eudromia elegans	5.0	4.5	14.9	703.5	1.172044	2.847264
SMF 6298	Eudromia elegans	5.4	5.4	16.9	703.5	1.227935	2.847264
SMF 2147	Rhynchotus rufescens	5.2	5.2	16.3	747	1.213153	2.873321

Appendix 4

The range in mass values (grams) by sex for *Apteryx* species from MARCHANT & HIGGINS (1990) and for *A. rowi* from TENNYSON *et al.* (2003).

Species	Males	Females
Apteryx owenii	880-1356	1000-1400
Apteryx mantelli	1820-2590	2090-3270
Apteryx rowi	1575-2250	1950-3570
Apteryx australis lawryi	2300-3060	2700-3600
Apteryx haastii	1215-2320	1530-2718

Appendix 5

Relationship of *Apteryx* femoral circumference to weight of individual recorded at death. (SW is width at mid shaft, SD is shaft depth at mid shaft, circumference is estimated using the formulae PI*SQRT (2*((POWER((1/2*SD),2))+(POWER((1/2*SW),2)))). All specimens are from the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa.

Taxon	Reg no.	SD	SW	Circumference	weight (g)
A. mantelli	DM.909-S	9.6	8.5	25.1607	785
A. mantelli	OR.13588	11	11	29.6656	2428
A. mantelli	OR.14964	10	9	27.0852	1988
A. mantelli	OR.17206	10	9.6	27.0332	1366
A. mantelli	OR.17207	11	10	28.4908	2563
A. mantelli	OR.17208	9.8	9.2	26.13	1729
A. mantelli	OR.17209	11	10	28.1212	2336
A. mantelli	OR.17210	12	11	30.7656	2919
A. mantelli	OR.17211	12	12	32.0138	2495
A. mantelli	OR.17212	11	11	29.9376	2526
A. mantelli	OR.17213	10	8.9	26.4356	930
A. mantelli	OR.24640	9.1	8.6	24.3134	815
A. mantelli	OR.24984	9	9.5	24.948	1055
A. a. australis	OR.22089a	14	12	36.9381	2488
A. a. australis	OR.27761a	13	12	33.6873	3400
A. a. australis	OR.27965	11	10	28.842	2200
A. a. lawryi	OR.23591	11	11	28.8394	2800
A. a. lawryi	OR.23756	12	11	31.1584	4335
A. owenii	OR.22815a	8.4	8	22.497	910
A. owenii	OR.23044	7.8	7.4	20.865	885
A. owenii	OR.23717a	7.7	7.4	20.6809	1285
A. owenii	OR.24415	6.8	6.9	18.5919	670
A. owenii	OR.24416	7.8	7.8	21.2215	875
A. haastii	OR.19773a	9.6	8.5	25.1607	1215
A. haastii	OR.23022a	12	12	32.6507	2232
A. haastii	OR.23038	9.5	9.5	25.8466	1890
A. haastii	OR.23045	12	10	29.9895	2435
A. haastii	OR.23648a	11	11	29.8414	2015
A. haastii	OR.27983	9.6	9.2	25.7611	2550
A. haastii	OR.28010a	12	11	31.3853	2843



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



ZooBank LSID: urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:FD580E82-70FA-40F8-A733-EBB22C53E8A2

A new roller (Aves: Coraciiformes s. s.: Coraciidae) from the Early Miocene of the Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area, Allier, France

CÉCILE MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ¹, JEAN-BAPTISTE PEYROUSE² & MARGUERITE HUGUENEY¹

¹ Université Claude Bernard-Lyon1, CNRS UMR 5276, Villeurbanne Cedex, France;

E-mail: cecile.mourer@univ-lyon1.fr, marguerite.hugueney@univ-lyon1.fr

² 7, rue de la Grange Vertu, 71400 Autun, France; E-mail: jbpeyrouse@wanadoo.fr

Abstract — *Miocoracias chenevali*, nov. gen., nov. spec., a new genus and species of roller (Aves: Coraciiformes s. s.: Coraciidae) is described from the Early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy. This family had not yet been reported from the rich fossil avifauna of this area. Although the material is fragmentary it shows morphological characteristics different from those of the extinct family Geranopteridae, and can be attributed to the Recent family Coraciidae. The rodents found in the same locality make it possible to attribute it to the MN2a zone. An appendix gives an updated list of the fossil birds identified in the Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area.

Key words: Fossil birds, Early Miocene, Saint-Gérand-le-Puy, Mont Merle, Coraciidae, rollers

Introduction

The Coraciiformes sensu stricto include three extinct families, the Primobucconidae, the Eocoraciidae, the Geranopteridae, and two Recent families, the Coraciidae and the Brachypteraciidae (MAYR 2009). The Primobucconidae are known from the Early Eocene of Europe and North America and the Eocoraciidae are known from the Middle Eocene of Messel, Germany. In addition a nearly complete skeleton of a new genus and species has been described from the Lower Eocene of the Green River Fm., Wyoming, United States (CLARKE et al. 2009). This new form, Paracoracias occidentalis, is placed in the suborder Coracii. Incidentally, the name Coracii has been applied to a clade that has been defined as follows: "the stem clade including all taxa more closely related to Coracioidea than to its nearest outgroup" (CLARKE et al. 2009: p. 587). This clade definition is equivalent to the content of the Coraciiformes sensu stricto of MAYR (1998).

The Geranopteridae have been described in the Late Eocene or Oligocene of the Phosphorites du Quercy, in France, but in the new excavations they have been found only in Upper Eocene layers (MAYR & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2000; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ & SIGÉ 2006). They include the species Geranopterus alatus MILNE-EDWARDS, 1892, Geranopterus milneedwardsi MAYR & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, 2000, and some indeterminate Geranopteridae from the locality of Perrière (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ & SIGÉ 2006). In the old collections from Quercy, the age of which is not accurately known, there is also a Coraciiforme s. s. incertae sedis species A, represented by an almost complete tarsometatarsus (PQ 1216) (Mayr & Mourer-Chauviré 2000).

The species *Nupharanassa bohemica* MLIKO-VSKÝ, 1999, described from the Lower Miocene locality of Dolnice, Czechia, (MN 4b), initially



FIGURE 1. Location map of the Mont Merle locality, between the classical localities of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy and Montaigu-le-Blin. The contour lines indicate the height above sea level.

placed in the family Jacanidae, has been transferred to the genus *Geranopterus* and has become *Geranopterus bohemicus* (MLIKOVSKÝ, 1999) (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1999).

In Africa Coraciiformes of indeterminate family had been reported from the Early Pliocene of Langebaanweg, South Africa (RICH 1980). These Coraciiformes belong to the family Alcedinidae (OLSON 1994) and thus Coraciidae are still unknown at the present time in this avifauna. In Europe, the genus *Eurystomus* is known by an extinct species, *Eurystomus beremendensis* KES-SLER, 2010, from the Late Pliocene of Beremend 26, Hungary (MN 16) and by *Eurystomus* sp., from the Early Pleistocene of Betfia 2 and Betfia 9, Romania (KESSLER 2010). In more recent localities the Coraciidae are represented by the Recent species, *Coracias garrulus* LINNAEUS, 1758 (TYRBERG 1998).

The Mont Merle locality (Fig. 1) is situated near the town of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France), an area known for its rich Agenian vertebrate fauna (VIRET 1929; CHENEVAL 1983a; HUGUENEY 1997). It is a limestone hill constituted by stromatolitic bioconstructions and marly sediments deposited in a lacustrine environment (WATTINNE *et al.* 2003). A quarry was opened here, but it is now filled in. Washing and sieving of marl on the top of this hill yielded various fossil remains from fishes (mainly Cyprinidae), amphibians (Salamandridae), lizards (Lacertidae, Anguidae), amphisbaenians, snakes (Scolecophidians, Natricinae, Viperidae), marsupials (Didelphidae), insectivores (Soricidae, Talpidae), small carnivores, ungulates (Cainotheriidae, "Moschidae"), rodents (Sciuridae, Cricetidae, Eomyidae, Gliridae) and a lagomorph. Bird remains are not numerous and include only some crushed fossil bones of Palaelodidae, Laricolidae and a new Coraciidae.

Mont Merle is an unpublished new locality that has not been studied before. Some rodents make it possible to give it a dating. The Eomyid Rhodanomys schlosseri Depéret & Douxami, 1902, is represented by upper molars characterized by a continuous longitudinal ridge, and by their size which is included in the variation range observed at Fornant 11 (ENGESSER 1990) and at Chavroches (HUGUENEY et al. 2006). As the distribution of R. schlosseri covers only a short period, these teeth place the Mont Merle locality between the Paulhiac level (MN1) where R. transiens, predecessor of R. schlosseri, is present, and the upper part of the MN 2a level (top of the quarry of Montaigu-le-Blin and locality of La Chaux in Switzerland) where the species is not reported but is replaced by the Eomyid genus Ritteneria.

Material and methods

The anatomical terminology follows BAUMEL & WITMER 1993, and when necessary HOWARD 1929, and BALLMANN 1969a. The fossil specimens are deposited in the collection of the Université Claude Bernard-Lyon1 (acronym FSL for Faculté des Sciences de Lyon) and in the collection of the Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle de Lyon (acronym ML). Other acronyms are: EC (locality of Escamps); EC3 (locality of Escamps 3), EC4 (locality of Escamps 4), MN (Mammal Neogene), PQ (Phosphorites du Quercy), PRR (locality of Perrière), and STG (Saint-Gérand-le-Puy).

Systematic Palaeontology

Order Coraciiformes sensu stricto (see Mayr 1998) Family Coraciidae Batsch, 1788 (see Dubois

& Bour 2010)

Miocoracias nov. gen.

Type species: Miocoracias chenevali nov. spec.

Diagnosis: Distal part of tarsometatarsus showing a foramen vasculare distale situated relatively proximally, proximodistally elongate, and obliquely oriented. Trochlea metatarsi IV slightly shorter than trochlea metatarsi III, and trochlea metatarsi II slightly shorter than trochlea metatarsi IV. On the dorsal face trochlea metatarsi III raised and extended by a longitudinal ridge. Trochlea metatarsi III distally splayed. On the plantar face, opening of foramen vasculare distale elongate and narrow. Canalis interosseus distalis open on the plantar side and forming an elongate and narrow sulcus. Trochlea metatarsi II showing a narrow and projecting wing. Proximal rim of trochlea metatarsi III raised compared to the surface of the fossa supratrochlearis plantaris. In distal view trochleae arranged along a weakly arched line.

Included species: Type species only.

Distribution: Early Miocene, Agenian, MN 2a, Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area, Allier, France.

Etymology: Greek, *Mio*, from the Miocene, and *Coracias*, modern genus of roller.

Miocoracias chenevali nov. sp.

(Fig. 2.1-2.7)

Holotype: FSL 444 229 right tarsometatarsus, distal part.

Paratype: FSL 444 320 right tibiotarsus, distal part, incompletely preserved.

Diagnosis: As for the genus.

Horizon and locality: Locality of Mont Merle, district of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy, Allier, France. Early Miocene, Agenian, Mammal Neogene Zone MN 2a.

Referred material: ML STG 4048 right ulna. This ulna comes from the old collections and it is not possible to know from which locality it has been gathered.

Dimensions (in mm): Right tarsometatarsus, holotype: Length as preserved, 9.0; Distal width, 5.8; Distal depth, 3.1; Width of trochlea metatarsi III, 2.1; Depth of trochlea metatarsi III, 2.4. Right tibiotarsus: Length as preserved, 11.4; Width of shaft at the level of apophysis interna ligamenti obliqui, 2.6; Depth of shaft at the same level, 2.9; Depth of lateral condyle, 4.5. Right ulna: Total length, 53.7; Proximal width, 5.5; Proximal depth, 3.7; Width of shaft in the middle, 2.3; Depth of shaft in the middle, 2.5; Distal width from the cranial border of condylus dorsalis to top of tuberculum carpale, 5.5; Depth of condylus dorsalis, 4.8.

Etymology: This species is named after Jacques CHENEVAL in recognition of his numerous and valuable studies on the avifauna of the Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area.

Description and comparisons with the two Recent genera *Coracias* and *Eurystomus*

Tarsometatarsus (Fig. 2.1–2.3): On the dorsal face, the foramen vasculare distale is situated more proximally in *Miocoracias* and it is more proximodistally elongated than in the Recent genera. In *Coracias* and *Eurystomus*, the opening is dorsoplantarly orientated, while in *Miocoracias* the opening is slit-shaped, obliquely heading from the dorsolateral side to the plantaromedial side of the bone. This foramen is situated at the end of the outer extensor groove (HOWARD 1929).

This extensor groove is deeper in *Eurystomus* than in *Coracias*, and it is also very deep in *Miocoracias*. In *Miocoracias*, as in *Eurystomus* and *Coracias*, trochlea metatarsi IV is slightly shorter than trochlea metatarsi III and trochlea metatarsi II is slightly shorter than trochlea metatarsi IV. In the genus *Eurystomus* trochlea metatarsi III shows two projecting rims, separated by a well-expressed groove. This groove is fainter in the genera *Coracias* and *Miocoracias*. In *Eurystomus* and *Coracias* trochlea metatarsi III is relatively narrow, while it is slightly distally splayed in *Miocoracias*.

On the plantar face, in Miocoracias, the opening of the foramen vasculare distale is elongate and narrow, while it is more rounded in Eurystomus and Coracias. The canalis interosseus distalis, which runs from the foramen vasculare distale to the incisura intertrochlearis lateralis is not covered by a bony blade, and forms a narrow, elongate groove on the plantar side. This character is one of the main characteristics of the Coraciiformes s. s. Trochlea metatarsi II is more clearly separated from trochlea metatarsi III in Miocoracias than in Eurystomus and Coracias, it is narrower than in Eurystomus and it shows a wing less projecting plantarly than in Coracias. The proximal rim of trochlea metatarsi III is clearly raised compared to the surface of the fossa supratrochlearis plantaris, while in Eurystomus and Coracias this proximal part is not raised. Trochlea metatarsi IV shows a narrow and projecting wing in Miocoracias and Eurystomus, while this wing is less developed in Coracias. Fossa metatarsi I extends far distally in Miocoracias and Eurystomus, while it is situated more proximally in Coracias.

In distal view the trochleae are arranged on a faintly arched line as in both Recent genera.

Tibiotarsus (Fig. 2.4–2.5): The condylus medialis is not preserved. On the cranial face, the sulcus extensorius and the pons supratendineus are situated on the median axis of the bone, as in the Recent Coraciidae and Brachypteraciidae, while in most of the other Recent birds they are situated on the medial side of the bone. At the proximal part of the condylus lateralis, and on the lateral side of the pons supratendineus, there is a strong, point-shaped tubercle, the apophysis externa ligamenti obliqui (BALLMANN 1969a), and

on the medial side there is also a thin, elongate, and well projecting apophysis interna ligamenti obliqui.

Compared to the Recent genera *Coracias* and *Eurystomus*, the distal part of the tibiotarsus is less mediolaterally compressed, and the sulcus extensorius is shallower. The apophysis externa ligamenti obliqui is very sharp and projecting while its development is variable in the Recent forms: some specimens have an almost flat apophysis, situated in the continuation of the condylus lateralis, while some others have a sharp apophysis.

On the caudal face, the condylus medialis shows a wing which projects weakly medially, as in the genera *Eurystomus* and *Coracias*, and the condylus lateralis shows a wing less projecting laterally than in *Eurystomus*, but comparable to that of *Coracias*.

On the lateral face, the condylus lateralis is very rounded and the epicondylus lateralis is hardly indicated, as in *Eurystomus* and *Coracias*.

Ulna (Fig. 2.6–2.7): This ulna shows the characteristic shape of the rollers' ulnae. It is elongate and slender, with a slight curvature at its proximal part. The shaft is slightly flattened on its caudal side. Compared to the genus Coracias, the olecranon is less projecting proximally and wider at its basis. The cotyla dorsalis is extended distally by a long, narrow lip, clearly separated from the cotyla ventralis. This lip is more rounded in *Coracias*. The distal part of the fossil is not very well preserved, but the condylus ventralis is more projecting distally and the tuberculum carpale is sharper in Miocoracias than in Coracias. Still in *Miocoracias* there is a small depression on the proximal border of the tuberculum carpale, on its cranial side. This depression is absent in the Recent genera Coracias and Eurystomus.

The shape of the olecranon looks more similar to that of *Eurystomus*, the olecranon of which is short and wide at its basis. In *Miocoracias* the distal lip of the cotyla dorsalis is incurved and medially directed, while in *Eurystomus* it is dorsally directed. On the ventral side the tuberculum ligamenti collateralis ventralis is more projecting ventrally in *Eurystomus*. At the distal part the condylus ventralis is longer in proximodistal direction in *Eurystomus*.



FIGURE 2. *Miocoracias chenevali* nov. gen. et nov. spec. from the Early Miocene of Mont Merle, district of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy, Allier, France. 1–3, Right tarsometatarsus, distal part, holotype, FSL 444 229 (1: dorsal view, 2: plantar view, 3: distal view); 4–5, Right tibiotarsus, distal part, paratype, FSL 444 230 (4: cranial view, 5: lateral view); 6–7, Referred material, right ulna, ML STG 4048 (6: dorsal view, 7: Ventral view).

Comparison with the extinct family Geranopteridae

Tarsometatarsus: The distal part of the tarsometatarsus is known in *Geranopterus alatus* by two specimens from the Late Eocene of Escamps, EC4 n°5 (MAYR & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2000: fig. 8, Y–Z), and ES n°4. In *Geranopterus* the metatarsal trochleae are shorter and less individualized than in *Miocoracias*. In *Miocoracias* trochlea metatarsi III is more raised on the dorsal face, and it is extended by a longitudinal ridge; the outer extensor groove is deeper. In *Geranopterus* the dorsal surface of the tarsometatarsus is flatter. On the plantar face the proximal rim of trochlea metatarsi III is raised compared to the surface of fossa supratrochlearis plantaris in *Miocoracias* while in *Geranopterus* the two ridges, lateral and

medial, of trochlea metatarsi III gradually merge into the surface of this fossa. Trochlea metatarsi III is narrower in *Geranopterus* than in *Miocoracias*. The same characteristics are found on a distal tarsometatarsus of *G. milneedwardsi*, from the Late Eocene of Perrière, n° FSL 330 856, different from *G. alatus* by its smaller size.

In their phylogenetic analysis CLARKE et al. (2009: p. 607) have used the character 68. Tarsometatarsus, distal interosseal canal: present, canal open on plantar side, forming a deep narrow sulcus between trochleae III and IV (0); absent (1). This open canal is coded as absent (1) in Geranopterus while it is coded as present (0) in *Eocoracias* and in the Recent Coraciidae and Brachypteraciidae. It is coded as (?) for the three species of Primobucconidae included in the analysis. This is clearly inaccurate because this character is an important synapomorphy of the clade including the Primobucconidae, Eocoraciidae, Geranopteridae, Coraciidae and Brachypteraciidae (MAYR et al. 2004; MAYR 2009). This character is not visible in Eocoracias and it is present in the Primobucconidae from the Eocene of France (MAYR et al. 2004) as well as in the Geranopteridae (MAYR & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2000; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ & SIGÉ 2006).

Geranopterus bohemicus looks very similar to G. alatus and differs from Miocoracias by its shorter trochleae metatarsi with narrow incisurae intertrochlearis, its trochlea metatarsi III which is not raised compared to the dorsal surface of the shaft and not distally splayed. It differs also by the dorsal surface of the shaft, which is flat, and by trochlea metatarsi IV, which is narrower. Finally MLIKOVSKÝ indicates in the diagnosis of this species "a rather smooth transition between the trochlea metatarsi tertii and fossa supratrochlearis plantaris" (MLIKOVSKÝ 1999: p. 122). This characteristic corresponds well to the genus Geranopterus and differs from the genus Miocoracias.

Tibiotarsus: In *Geranopterus alatus* the tibiotarsus is known by two distal extremities from the locality of Escamps, EC3 n°7 and EC4 n°3 (MAYR & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2000: fig. 8, T–U), and in *G. milneedwardsi* by a distal part from the locality of Perrière, n° PRR 2621. In *G. alatus* the sulcus extensorius and the pons supratendineus are deeper inside the shaft. On the medial side the epicondylus medialis is very projecting. In *Miocoracias* the pons supratendineus is more cranially brought forward, the apophysis externa ligamenti obliqui is more projecting and the epicondylus medialis is hardly visible.

In *G. milneedwardsi* the shaft is very narrow compared to the condyles; the sulcus extensorius is faintly indicated; both condyles, lateral and medial, are narrow, very close together, and strongly projecting cranially. The apophysis externa ligamenti obliqui is projecting. The pons supratendineus is situated between the proximal parts of the condyles. Both epicondyles, lateral and medial, are not well marked.

Ulna: In the genus *Geranopterus* only the distal part of the ulna is known. In this genus, as in *Miocoracias*, the tuberculum carpale is very sharp but the condylus ventralis is flatter and more proximodistally elongate in *Geranopterus* (see MAYR & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2000: fig. 8, K-L).

Comparison with the small forms from Perrière

Two other, smaller forms, designated as Geranopteridae, genus and species indeterminate, have been reported from the late Eocene locality of Perrière, in the Quercy, level MN 17b (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ & SIGÉ 2006). A distal part of tibiotarsus, n° FSL 367088, corresponds to a bird smaller than G. milneedwardsi. It differs from Miocoracias by the fact that the sulcus extensorius and the pons supratendineus are deeper between the condyles. A distal part of tarsometatarsus, n° FSL 367073, corresponds to a bird which was still smaller than the preceding one (Mourer-Chauviré & Sigé 2006: pl. 1, i-j). In this form the shaft is very narrow, and triangular in cross section. Trochlea metatarsi IV is not preserved but trochlea metatarsi II is strongly plantarly displaced. This form differs from Miocoracias by its very narrow shaft and its trochlea metatarsi II plantarly displaced.

Comparison with a Coraciiformes s. s., incertae sedis, species A (n° PQ 1216)

This form is known by an almost complete tarsometatarsus illustrated in MAYR & MOURER-

CHAUVIRÉ (2000: fig. 9G–I). *Miocoracias* shares with this form the presence of an elongate and oblique distal vascular foramen, situated at the bottom of a deep outer extensor groove. But it differs from it because in *Miocoracias* trochlea metatarsi II is slightly shorter than trochlea metatarsi III while in PQ 1216 it is distinctly shorter. On the plantar face, unlike *Miocoracias*, trochlea metatarsi III does not have a raised rim, and its two ridges, lateral and medial, merge gradually into the surface of the fossa.

Discussion

The Coraciiformes sensu stricto are represented at the present time by two families, one restricted to Madagascar, and the other mainly distributed in the tropical regions of the Old World (FRY 2001). As it was first indicated by HARRISON (1979) small non-passerine birds were much diversified in the early Tertiary of the Northern Hemisphere and occupied the ecological niches which are now occupied by the passerines. Among these small non-passerine birds there are stem group representatives of Coraciiformes s. s., Alcediniformes, Upupiformes, Caprimulgiformes, Apodiformes, Coliiformes, Psittaciformes, etc. Stem group representatives of Coracii are known in the Early Eocene of North America (CLARKE et al. 2009; KSEPKA & CLARKE 2010) where rollers are no longer present. These stem group representatives have progressively disappeared and some orders are now only represented by a few relict families.

The stem group family Geranopteridae is still present in the locality of Dolnice, in Czechia, the age of which is MN 4b (MLIKOVSKÝ 2002) and thus clearly younger than the age of the type locality of *Miocoracias*.

The presence of the genus *Miocoracias* fills a gap between the Eocene and the Recent forms. The small quantity of material found in the Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area can be explained by the fact that this fossil avifauna is mainly composed of waterbirds and only includes a small proportion of terrestrial birds.

The Saint-Gérand avifauna includes a large quantity of forms belonging to families, or subfamilies, the recent distribution of which is mainly tropical. CHENEVAL (1989) already indicated this abundance in the aquatic avifauna, but the same observation can be made for the terrestrial avifauna. The taxa corresponding to a tropical climate are: Anatidae (genus Mionetta), Palaelodidae, Phoenicopteridae, Ciconiidae (tribe Leptoptilini), Threskiornithidae, Pelecanidae, Sagittariidae, Pteroclididae, Psittacidae, Coliidae, Trogonidae and Phoeniculidae. The presence of Coraciidae is in line with this presence of tropical taxa, whether exclusively (taxa with only tropical species, not migrating to temperate zones), or not. In the Recent Coraciidae, most of the species are migratory but they breed and winter inside the intertropical zone, or very close to it (FRY 2001). Two species only are long distance intercontinental migrants, the European Roller (Coracias garrulus) and the Dollarbird (Eurystomus orientalis). These tropical taxa retreated from the high and middle latitudes during the second half of the Miocene and the Pliocene, leaving in some cases emergent longdistance migrants (LOUCHART 2008).

Acknowledgements

We thank M. MALHURET who allowed us access to the Mont Merle, Marion PETIT who helps us to collect fossil remains, Didier BERTHET for the loan of the material from the Muséum de Lyon, and Christine LEFÈVRE, from the Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle de Paris, for the loan of comparative material. We thank Antoine LOUCHART and Marco PAVIA for their careful comments which have improved the manuscript.

References

- ALVARENGA, H.M.F. (1995): Um primitivó Membro da Ordem Galliformes (Aves) do Terciário Médio da Bacia de Taubaté, Estado de São Paulo, Brasil. – Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências, 67: 33–44.
- BALLMANN, P. (1966): Die Vögel aus der altburdigalischen Spaltenfüllung von Wintershof (West) bei Eichstätt in Bayern. – unpubl. PhD thesis, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, 115 pp., Munich (Ludwig-Maximilians-University).
- BALLMANN, P. (1969a): Die Vögel aus der altburdigalen Spaltenfüllung von Wintershof (West) bei Eichstätt in Bayern. – Zitteliana, 1: 5–60.

- BALLMANN, P. (1969b): Les oiseaux miocènes de La Grive-Saint-Alban (Isère). *Geobios*, **2**: 157–204.
- BAUMEL, J.J. & WITMER, L.M. (1993): Osteologia. In: BAUMEL, J. J. (ed.): Handbook of Avian Anatomy. Nomina Anatomica Avium, 2nd edition. – *Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 45–132.
- BOCHEŃSKI, Z. (1997): List of European fossil bird species. – *Acta zoologica cracoviensia*, **40**/2: 293–333.
- BRISSON, M.J. (1760): Ornithologia. Vol. 6, 543 + xlviii + 146 + xxiii pp. Paris (Bauche).
- BRODKORB, P. (1970): Two fossil owls from the Aquitanian of France. – *Quarterly Journal of the Florida Academy of Science*, **32**/2: 159-160.
- CHENEVAL, J. (1983a): Les gisements de Saint-Gérand-Le-Puy: 150 ans de Paléontologie, 1833–1983. – *Revue scientifique du Bourbonnais*, **1983**: 98–107.
- CHENEVAL, J. (1983b): Révision du genre *Palaelodus* Milne-Edwards, 1863 (Aves, Phoenicopteriformes) du gisement aquitanien de Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France). – *Geobios*, **16**/2: 179–191.
- CHENEVAL, J. (1984): Les oiseaux aquatiques (Gaviiformes à Ansériformes) du gisement aquitanien de Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France): Révision systématique. – *Palaeovertebrata*, Montpellier, 14/2: 33–115.
- CHENEVAL, J. (1989): Fossil bird study, and paleoecological and paleoenvironmental consequences: example from the Saint-Gérand-le-Puy deposits (Lower Miocene, Allier, France). – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 73: 295–309.
- CHENEVAL, J. & ESCUILLÉ, F. (1992): New data concerning *Palaelodus ambiguus* (Aves: Phoenicopteriformes: Palaelodidae): Ecological and Evolutionary Interpretations. – *Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Science Series*, **36**: 209–224.
- CLARKE, J.A., KSEPKA, D.T., SMITH, N.A., & NORELL, M. (2009): Combined phylogenetic analysis of a new North American fossil species confirms widespread Eocene distribution for stem rollers (Aves, Coracii). – Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 157: 586–611.
- DE PIETRI, V. L. (2013): Interrelationships of the Threskiornithidae and the phylogenetic position of the Miocene ibis *«Plegadis» paganus* from the Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area in central France. *Ibis*, **155**: 544–560.
- DE PIETRI, V.L., GÜNTERT, M., & MAYR, G. (2012): A *Haematopus*-like skull and other remains of Charadrii from the early Miocene of Saint-Gérandle-Puy (Allier, France), In: WORTHY, T.H. & U.B. GÖHLICH (eds) 8th International Meeting of the Society for Avian Paleontology and Evolution, Abstracts, pp 15.

- DE PIETRI, V.L., MANEGOLD, A., COSTEUR, L., & MAYR, G. (2011a): A revision of the Lari (Aves: Charadriiformes) from the early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France). *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, **31**/4: 812–818.
- DE PIETRI, V.L., MANEGOLD, A., COSTEUR, L. & MAYR, G. (2011b): A new species of woodpecker (Aves: Picidae) from the early Miocene of Saulcet (Allier, France). – *Swiss Journal of Palaeontology*, **130**/2: 307–314.
- DE PIETRI, V.L. & MAYR, G. (2012): An assessment of the diversity of early Miocene Scolopaci (Aves, Charadriiformes) from Saint-Gérandle-Puy (Allier, France). – *Palaeontology*, 55/6: 1177–1197.
- DEPÉRET, C. & DOUXAMI, H. (1902): Les vertébrés oligocènes de Pyrimont-Challonges (Savoie). – Mémoires de la Société paléontologique Suisse, 29: 1–90.
- DUBOIS, A. & BOUR, R. (2010): The distinction between family-series and class-series nomina in zoological nomenclature, with reemphasis on the nomina created by Batsch (1788, 1789) and on the higher nomenclature of turtles. – *Bonn zoological Bulletin*, 57: 149–171.
- ENGESSER, B. (1990): Die Eomyidae (Rodentia, Mammalia) der Molasse der Schweiz und Savoyens. Systematik und Biostratigraphie. – Schweizerische Paläontologische Abhandlungen, 112: 1–144.
- FRY, C.H. (2001): Family Coraciidae (Rollers). In: DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (eds): Handbook of the Birds of the World, vol. 6, Mousebirds to Hornbills, – pp. 342–376, Barcelona (Lynx edicions).
- GAILLARD, C. (1939): Contribution à l'étude des oiseaux fossiles. – Archives du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle de Lyon, 15, mém. 2: 1–100.
- GERVAIS, P. (1848–1852): Zoologie et Paléontologie françaises (Animaux vertébrés), ou Nouvelles recherches sur les animaux vivants et fossiles de la France. – Vol. I, iv + 271 pp.; Vol. II, Explication des planches et divers mémoires relatifs aux animaux vertébrés; Vol. III, Atlas, 80 pls., Paris (Arthus Bertrand).
- GILL, F. & DONSKER, D. (eds) (2012): IOC World Bird Names (v2.11). Available at http://www.worldbirdnames.org
- Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2005): Revision of the Phasianids (Aves: Galliformes) from the Lower Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France). – *Palaeontology*, **48**/6: 1331–1350.
- HARRISON, C.J.O. (1975): The taxonomic status of Milne-Edward's fossil Sulids. – Bulletin of the British Ornithologists Club, 95: 51–54.
- HARRISON, C.J.O. (1979): Small non-passerine birds of the Lower Tertiary as exploiters of ecological niches now occupied by passerines. – *Nature*, 281: 562–563.

- HARRISON, C.J.O. (1984): A revision of the fossil swifts (Vertebrata, Avec, Suborder Apodi), with description of three new genera and two new species. – Mededelingen van der Werkgroepvoor Tertiaire en Kwartaire Geologie, 21/4: 157–177.
- HOWARD, H. (1929): The avifauna of Emeryville shellmound. – University of California Publications in Zoology, 32/2: 301–394.
- HUGUENEY, M. (1997): Biochronologie mammalienne dans le Paléogène et le Miocène inférieur du Centre de la France: Synthèse réactualisée. In: AGUILAR, J.P., LEGENDRE, S. & MICHAUX, J. (eds): Actes du Congrès BiochroM'97, Montpellier, 14–17 Avril. Ecole Pratique des Hautes Etudes, Mémoires et Travaux de l'Institut de Montpellier, 21: 417–430.
- HUGUENEY, M., BERTHET, D., BODERGAT, A.-M., ESCUILLIÉ, F., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & WAT-TINNE, A. (2003): La limite Oligocène-Miocène en Limagne : changements fauniques chez les mammifères, oiseaux et ostracodes des différents niveaux de Billy-Créchy (Allier, France). – *Geobios*, **36**: 719–731.
- HUGUENEY, M., BERTHET, D., ESCUILLIÉ, F. & RIVAL, J. (2006): Eomyids (Rodentia, Mammalia) in the St-Gérand-le-Puy area (Allier, France; MN2a). – *Beiträge zur Paläontologie*, **30**: 205–222.
- KESSLER, J. (=E.) (2010): Új eredmények a Kárpát-medence neogén és negyedidőszaki madárvilágához III. [New results with regard to the Neogene and Quaternary Avifauna of the Carpathian Basin, part III]. – Földtany Közlöny, 140/1: 53–72.
- KSEPKA, D.T. & CLARKE, J.A. (2010): Primobucco mcgrewi (Aves: Coracii) from the Eocene Green River Formation: New anatomical data from the earliest constrained record of stem rollers. – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 30/1: 215–225.
- LAMBRECHT, K. (1931): Cygnopterus und Cygnavus, zwei fossile Schwäne aus dem Tertiär Europas. – Bulletin du Musée royal d'Histoire naturelle de Belgique, 7/31: 1–6.
- LACÉPÈDE, B.G.E. de (1799): Tableaux méthodiques des mammifères et des oiseaux. Première édition, 3ème partie, Tableau des sous-classes, divisions, sous-divisions, ordres et genres des oiseaux. – 20 pp. Paris (Plassan).
- LAMBRECHT, K. (1933): Handbuch der Palaeornithologie. – 1024 pp. Berlin (Gebrüder Borntraeger).
- LINNAEUS, C. (1758): Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus differentiis, synonymis, locis, I. – 824 pp. Stockholm. (Laurentii Salvii)
- LIVEZEY, B.C. & MARTIN, L.D. (1988): The systematic position of the Miocene anatid Anas [?] blanchardi Milne-Edwards. – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 8/2: 196–211.

- LOUCHART, A. (2008): Emergence of long distance bird migrations: a new model integrating global climate changes. – *Naturwissenschaften*, **95**: 1109–1119.
- LYDEKKER, R. (1891a): Catalogue of the Fossil Birds. 368 pp. London (British Museum).
- LYDEKKER, R. (1891b): On remains of a large stork from the Allier Miocene. – *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London* **29**: 476–479.
- MAYR, G. (1998): «Coraciiforme» und «Piciforme» Kleinvögel aus dem Mittel-Eozän der Grube Messel (Hessen, Deutschland). – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 205: 1–101.
- MAYR, G. (2009): Paleogene Fossil Birds. xiii + 262 pp. Berlin, Heidelberg (Springer-Verlag).
- MAYR, G. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2000): Rollers (Aves: Coraciiformes s. s.) from the Middle Eocene of Messel (Germany) and the Upper Eocene of the Quercy (France). – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, **20**/3: 533–546.
- MAYR, G., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & WEIDIG, I. (2004): Osteology and systematic position of the Eocene Primobucconidae (Aves, Coraciiformes sensu stricto), with first records from Europe. – Journal of Systematic Palaeontology, 2/1: 1–12.
- MAYR, G. & SMITH, T. (2012): A fossil albatross from the Early Oligocene of the North Sea Basin. – *The Auk*, **129**/1: 87–95.
- MILLER, A.H. (1944): An avifauna from the Lower Miocene of South Dakota. – University of California Publications, Bulletin of the Department of Geological Sciences, 27: 85–100.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1863): Mémoire sur la distribution géologique des oiseaux fossiles et description de quelques espèces nouvelles. – Annales des Sciences Naturelles (4), 20: 132–176.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1867–1868): Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire des oiseaux fossiles de la France, I. – 472 pp., Atlas I: pls 1–96, Paris (Victor Masson et Fils).
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1869–1871): Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire des oiseaux fossiles de la France, II. – 627 pp., Atlas II: pls 97–200, Paris (Librairie de G. Masson).
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1892): Sur les oiseaux fossiles des dépôts éocènes de phosphate de chaux du Sud de la France. – Compte-Rendu du Second Congrès Ornithologique International, Budapest: 60–80.
- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (1998): Two new owls (Aves: Strigidae) from the early Miocene of the Czech Republic, with comments on the fossil history of the subfamily Striginae. – *Buteo*, **10**: 5–21.
- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (1999): A new jacana (Aves: Jacanidae) from the Early Miocene of the Czech Republic. – *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris*, sér. IIa, **328**: 121–123.
- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (2002): Cenozoic Birds of the World. Part 1: Europe. – 406 pp. Praha (Ninox Press).

- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. & GÖHLICH, U.B. (2000): A new woodhoopoe (Aves: Phoeniculidae) from the early Miocene of Germany and France. – *Acta Societatis Zoologicae Bohemicae*, **64**: 419–424.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1993): Les Gangas (Aves, Columbiformes, Pteroclidae) du Paléogène et du Miocène inférieur de France. – *Palaeovertebrata*, 22/2–3: 73–98.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1995): Dynamics of the Avifauna during the Paleogene and the Early Neogene of France. Settling of the Recent fauna. – *Acta zoologica cracoviensia*, **38**/3: 325–342.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1999): Position systématique de Nupharanassa bohemica Mlíkovský, 1999. – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, sér. IIa, **329**: 149–152.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2000): A new species of *Ameripodius* (Aves: Galliformes: Quercymegapodiidae) from the Lower Miocene of France. – *Palaeontology*, **43**/3: 481–493.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & SIGÉ, B. (2006): Une nouvelle espèce de *Jungornis* (Aves, Apodiformes) et de nouvelles formes de Coraciiformes s. s. dans l'Eocène supérieur du Quercy. Journées Bernard Gèze. – *Strata*, sér. 1, **13**: 151–159.
- OLSON, S.L. (1994): Early Pliocene grebes, buttonquail and kingfishers from south-western Cape Province, South Africa (Aves: Podicipedidae, Turnicidae, Halcyornithidae). – Annals of the South African Museum, **104**/4: 49–61.
- PATON, T.A., BAKER, A.J., GROTH, J.G. & BARROW-CLOUGH, G.F. (2003): RAG-1 sequences resolve phylogenetic relationships within Charadriiform birds. – *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 29: 268–278.
- PORTIS, A. (1884): Contribuzione alla ornithologia Italiana. – *Estr. dalle Memorie della Reale Accademia delle Scienze di Torino*, (2) **36**: 2–26.
- RICH, P.V. (1980): Preliminary report on the fossil avian remains from the late Tertiary sediments at Langebaanweg (Cape Province), South Africa. – South African Journal of Science, 76: 166–170.
- STEJNEGER, L. (1885): Birds. In: KINGSLEY J. S. (ed.): The standard Natural History. Vol. 4, vii + 558 pp. Boston (S. E. Cassino).
- TYRBERG, T. (1998): Pleistocene birds of the Palearctic: a Catalogue. – Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club, 27: 1–720.
- VIRET, J. (1929): Les faunes de mammifères de l'Oligocène de la Limagne bourbonnaise. – Annales de l'Université de Lyon, N. S., 1: 1–328.
- WATTINNE, A., VENNIN, E. & DE WEVER, P. (2003): Evolution of carbonated, lacustrine environment, with stromatolites: a paleoecological approach (quarry of Montaigu-le-Blin, Limagne graben, Allier, France). – Bulletin de la Société géologique de France, 174/3: 243–260.

WETMORE, A. (1958): Miscellaneous notes on fossil birds. – Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections, 135/8: 11 pp.

Appendix

Updated list of the avian species reported in the whole of the localities known as "Saint-Gérand-le-Puy". The material from the old collections comes from different quarries and its age is not accurately known; this age can be MN 1, MN 1/2, or MN 2a (HUGUENEY 1997). However the largest part of the quarries has yielded fossil material corresponding to the MN 2a zone. This list is founded upon the following works: BALLMANN 1969b; CHENEVAL 1983b, 1984; CHENEVAL & ESCUILLIÉ 1992; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1995; Bocheński 1997; Mlikovský 1998; Mourer-Chauviré 2000; MLIKOVSKÝ & GÖHLICH 2000; MLIKOVSKÝ 2002; HUGUENEY et al. 2003; GÖHLICH & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2005; DE PIETRI et al. 2011a, 2011b, 2012; MAYR & Smith 2012; DE Pietri & Mayr 2012; DE Pietri 2013. The systematic order follows the list of the International Ornithologists' Union (GILL & DONSKER 2012). Some modifications brought by MLIKOVSKÝ (2002) have not been integrated because they do not seem well-founded.

- O. Galliformes
- F. Quercymegapodiidae Mourer-Chauviré, 1992 Genus Ameripodius Alvarenga, 1995 Ameripodius alexis Mourer-Chauviré, 2000
- F. Phasianidae Horsfield, 1821

Genus Palaeortyx MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869 Palaeortyx gallica MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869 Palaeortyx brevipes MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869 Palaeortyx prisca (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869) syn. Palaeortyx intermedia BALLMANN, 1966 Palaeortyx phasianoides MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869

Palaeortyx media MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869 (nomen nudum)

- O. Anseriformes
- F. Anatidae LEACH, 1820
 - Genus Mionetta Livezey & Martin, 1988 Mionetta blanchardi (Milne-Edwards, 1863) Mionetta consobrina (Milne-Edwards, 1867) Mionetta natator (Milne-Edwards, 1867)
 - Genus Cygnopterus LAMBRECHT, 1931 Cygnopterus alphonsi CHENEVAL, 1984
- O. Gaviiformes
- F. Gaviidae Coues, 1903
 - Genus Colymboides MILNE-EDWARDS, 1867 Colymboides minutus MILNE-EDWARDS, 1867

- O. Procellariiformes
- F. Procellariidae LEACH, 1820
 - Indeterminate genus

Indeterminate genus *arvernensis* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871), syn. *Puffinus arvernensis* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871, and *Plotornis arvernensis* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871) (CHENEVAL 1984; MAYR & SMITH 2012)

- O. Phoenicopteriformes
- F. Palaelodidae (STEJNEGER, 1885)

Genus Palaelodus MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863 Palaelodus ambiguus MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863, syn. Ibidopodia palustris MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871, syn. pro parte Probalearica problematica (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868) (CHENEVAL & ESCUILLÉ 1992) Palaelodus gracilipes MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863,

syn. *Palaelodus minutus* Milne-Edwards, 1868 (Cheneval 1983)

Palaelodus crassipes MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863 Genus *Megapaloelodus* MILLER, 1944

Megapaloelodus goliath (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868)

- F. Phoenicopteridae BONAPARTE, 1831 Genus Phoenicopterus LINNAEUS, 1758 Phoenicopterus croizeti GERVAIS, 1852
- O. Ciconiiformes
- F. Ciconiidae Gray, 1840 Genus *Grallavis* Cheneval, 1984 *Grallavis edwardsi* (Lydekker, 1891b)
- O. Pelecaniformes
- F. Threskiornithidae RICHMOND, 1917

Genus Gerandibis DE PIETRI, 2013 Gerandibis pagana (MILNE-Edwards, 1868) syn. Milnea gracilis Lydekker, 1891a (Che-NEVAL 1984)

- F. Ardeidae LEACH, 1820 Genus Proardeola HARRISON, 1979 Proardeola walkeri HARRISON, 1979
- F. Pelecanidae RAFINESQUE, 1815 Genus *Miopelecanus* CHENEVAL, 1984 *Miopelecanus gracilis* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863)
- O. Suliformes
- F. Sulidae Reichenbach, 1849 cf. Genus *Empheresula* Harrison, 1975 cf. *Empheresula arvernensis* (Milne-Edwards, 1867)
- F. Phalacrocoracidae Reichenbach, 1850 Genus Oligocorax Lambrecht, 1933 Oligocorax littoralis (Milne-Edwards, 1863)

Genus Nectornis Cheneval, 1984 Nectornis miocaenus (Milne-Edwards, 1867)

O. Accipitriformes

F. Sagittariidae Grandori & Grandori, 1935 Genus Pelargopappus Stejneger, 1885 Pelargopappus magnus (Milne-Edwards, 1868)

- F. Accipitridae VIEILLOT, 1816 Genus Aquilavus LAMBRECHT, 1933 Aquilavus depredator (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871) Aquilavus priscus (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863)
 - Genus *Milvus* Lacépède, 1899 *Milvus deperditus* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871 Genus *Promilio* WETMORE, 1958 *Promilio incertus* (GAILLARD, 1939)
 - Genus Palaeohierax MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871 Palaeohierax gervaisii (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863)
- O. Otidiformes
- F. Otididae RAFINESQUE, 1815 (?) Genus Otis LINNAEUS, 1758 (?) Otis agilis MILNE-Edwards, 1871 (nomen nudum)
- O. Gruiformes
- F. Rallidae VIGORS, 1825
 - Genus Palaeoaramides LAMBRECHT, 1933 Palaeoaramides christyi (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869), syn. Palaeoaramides eximius (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869)
 - Genus Paraortygometra LAMBRECHT, 1933 Paraortygometra porzanoides (MILNE-Edwards, 1869)
- F. Gruidae VIGORS, 1825 Genus Palaeogrus PORTIS, 1884

Palaeogrus excelsus (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868) Genus Probalearica LAMBRECHT, 1933 Probalearica problematica (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868)

- O. Charadriiformes
- F. Haematopodidae BONAPARTE, 1838 New material to be described (DE PIETRI *et al.* 2012)
- F. Recurvirostridae BONAPARTE, 1854 Genus *Himantopus* BRISSON, 1760 *Himantopus brevipes* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871 (nomen nudum)
- F. Charadriidae VIGORS, 1825 New material to be described (DE PIETRI *et al.* 2012)

Scolopaci sensu PATON et al. 2003

F. incertae sedis

- Genus Scolopacimilis DE PIETRI & MAYR, 2012 Scolopacimilis lartetianus (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863) Scolopacimilis sp.
- Genus *Becassius* DE PIETRI & MAYR, 2012 *Becassius charadriioides* DE PIETRI & MAYR, 2012
- F. Scolopacidae RAFINESQUE, 1815 Genus *Elorius* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868 *Elorius paludicola* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868 Genus ? *Elorius* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868
 - ? *Elorius limosoides* DE PIETRI & MAYR, 2012 Genus *Parvelorius* DE PIETRI & MAYR, 2012
 - Parvelorius gracilis (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868) Genus ? Parvelorius De Pietri & Mayr, 2012
 - ? Parvelorius calidris DE PIETRI & MAYR,
 2012
 Genus and species indeterminate
- Suborder Laromorphae DE PIETRI et al., 2011a

F. Laricolidae DE PIETRI et al., 2011a

Genus Laricola MLIKOVSKÝ, 2002 Laricola desnoyersii (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863) Laricola elegans (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868) Laricola totanoides (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868) Laricola intermedia DE PIETRI et al., 2011a Laricola robusta DE PIETRI et al., 2011a

Family incertae sedis

- Genus Sternalara DE PIETRI et al., 2011a Sternalara minuta DE PIETRI et al., 2011a Sternalara milneedwardsi DE PIETRI et al., 2011a
- O. Pteroclidiformes
- F. Pteroclididae BONAPARTE, 1831
 - Genus *Leptoganga* MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, 1993 *Leptoganga sepultus* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869) Genus *Gerandia* LAMBRECHT, 1933 *Gerandia calcaria* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1869)
- O. Psittaciformes
- F. Psittacidae ILLIGER, 1811
- Genus Archaeopsittacus Lambrecht, 1933 Archaeopsittacus verreauxi (Milne-Edwards, 1871)
- O. Strigiformes
- F. Tytonidae Ridgway, 1914 Genus *Necrobyas* Milne-Edwards, 1892
 - *Necrobyas arvernensis* (Milne-Edwards, 1863)

- Genus Prosybris BRODKORB, 1970 Prosybris antiqua (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863)
- F. Strigidae VIGORS, 1825 Genus Mioglaux MLIKOVSKÝ, 1998 Mioglaux poirrieri (MILNE-Edwards, 1863)
- O. Apodiformes
- F. Apodidae HARTERT, 1897 Genus Procypseloides HARRISON, 1984 Procypseloides ignotus (MILNE-Edwards, 1871)
- O. Coliiformes
- F. Coliidae Swainson, 1837
 - Genus *Limnatornis* MILNE-Edwards, 1871 *Limnatornis paludicola* MILNE-Edwards, 1871 *Limnatornis archiaci* (MILNE-Edwards, 1871)
- O. Trogoniformes
- F. Trogonidae Lesson, 1828 Genus Paratrogon LAMBRECHT, 1933 Paratrogon gallicus (MILNE-Edwards, 1871)
- O. Coraciiformes
- F. Coraciidae BATSCH, 1788 Genus *Miocoracias* nov. gen. *Miocoracias chenevali* nov. spec. (this paper)
- O. Bucerotiformes
- F. Phoeniculidae BONAPARTE, 1831
 - Genus *Phirriculus* MLIKOVSKÝ & GÖHLICH, 2000 *Phirriculus pinicola* MLIKOVSKÝ & GÖHLICH, 2000
- O. Piciformes
- F. Picidae VIGORS, 1825 Genus *Piculoides* DE PIETRI *et al.*, 2011b *Piculoides saulcetensis* DE PIETRI *et al.*, 2011b
- O. Passeriformes
- F. Laniidae Rafinesque, 1815 Genus Lanius Linnaeus, 1758 Lanius miocaenus Milne-Edwards, 1871
- F. Ploceidae Sundevall, 1836 Genus *Passer* Brisson, 1760 *Passer* sp.
- F. Motacillidae Horsfield, 1821 Genus Motacilla Linnaeus, 1758 Motacilla humata Milne-Edwards, 1871 Motacilla major Milne-Edwards, 1871
- F. Fringillidae VIGORS, 1825 Genus *Loxia* LINNAEUS, 1758 *Loxia* sp. 1 *Loxia* sp. 2



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



A *Haematopus*-like skull and other remains of Charadrii (Aves, Charadriiformes) from the Early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France)

VANESA L. DE PIETRI¹, MARCEL GÜNTERT² & GERALD MAYR¹

¹ Senckenberg Research Institute and Natural History Museum Frankfurt, Germany; E-mail: vanesa.depietri@ senckenberg.de, gerald.mayr@senckenberg.de

² Naturhistorisches Museum der Burgergemeinde Bern, Bern, Switzerland; E-mail: marcel.guentert@nmbe.ch

Abstract — Among Charadriiformes (shorebirds and allies), Charadrii (plovers and allies) have the poorest fossil record. The lacustrine, early Miocene deposits of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy in France have yielded several charadriiform birds, but so far no members of the Charadrii. We identified a *Haematopus* (oystercatcher)-like skull from the early Miocene locality of Montaigu-le-Blin, in the Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area. Affinities to extant Haematopodidae are, apart from an overall similarity, supported by two features of the occipital region not present in any other of the examined charadriiforms. The fossil nevertheless differs from recent oystercatchers in some osteological features, including much shallower temporal fossae. Additionally, we report two fossil remains of plover-like Charadrii, a humerus and a tarsometatarsus, which also represent the first record of this charadriiform clade in Saint-Gérand-le-Puy. The specimens resemble the corresponding bones of Charadriidae but a definitive assignment to that taxon is not possible.

Key words: Fossil birds, shorebirds, plovers, oystercatcher, Charadriidae

Introduction

Most knowledge of early Miocene (Aquitanian, MN 1–2, 23–20.5 Ma) fossil avifaunas from Europe has been gleaned from few fossil rich localities, predominantly in France and Germany (MLIKOVSKÝ 1992, 1996). Amongst these, the localities that make up Saint-Gérand-le-Puy are perhaps the best known and, being of lacustrine origin, it is not surprising that most fossil remains recovered from these localities can be referred to aquatic or semi-aquatic taxa. Despite relative abundant remains of Scolopaci and Lari (*e.g.*, DE PIETRI *et al.* 2011; DE PIETRI & MAYR 2012), as yet no representatives of Charadrii (plovers, oystercatchers, thick-knees, and allies) have been described or mentioned.

The clade Charadrii encompasses the fol-Chionidae lowing families: (sheathbills), Pluvianellidae (Magellanic Plover), Pluvianidae (Egyptian Plover) Charadriidae (plovers and allies), Haematopodidae (oystercatchers), Recurvirostridae (stilts and avocets). Ibidorhynchidae (Ibisbill), and Burhinidae (thick-knees). Although phylogenies based on molecular data (BAKER et al. 2007; FAIN & HOUDE 2007) have recovered a paraphyletic Charadriidae, with Pluvialis (golden plovers and the Grey Plover) in a clade together with Recurvirostridae, Haematopodidae, and Ibidorhynchidae, more recent phylogenies (BAKER et al. 2012) support a monophyletic Charadriidae, with Pluvialis occupying a basal position within the family.



FIGURE 1. The fossil skull NMB S.G.20252 (A, C-E, G) from the early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy in comparison to the extant Eurasian Oystercatcher, *Haematopus ostralegus* (B, F). A, B, dorsal views; C, D, right lateral views; E, F, occipital views, and G, ventral view. C and D not to scale. Abbreviations: csd, crescent-shaped deep depression dorsal to the crista nuchalis transversa; cnt, crista nuchalis transversa; dfg, caudal portion of fossa glandulae nasalis; fgn, fossae glandularum nasales; fm, foramen magnum; fo, fonticuli occipitales; fsc, fossa subcondylaris; ft, fossa temporalis; fur, furrow at interorbital surface of the frontal bone; mps, scar marking the attachment for musculus pseudotemporalis superficialis; ol, os lacrimale; pbp, articulation facets for processus basipterygoidei; ppo, processus postorbitales. Scale bars equal 10 mm.

The fossil record of the Charadrii is very poor in comparison to that of other shorebirds (i.e., Scolopaci and Lari), and the scarcity of Paleogene examples is particularly remarkable. Several specimens have been misassigned to this clade (Olson 1985; Mlíkovský 2002; Mayr 2009), whereas better supported records are mostly of dubious affinities. Paleogene remains of the Charadrii include an almost complete skeleton of uncertain affinities from the early Oligocene of France (BESSONAT & MICHAUT 1973) and Jiliniornis huadianensis Hou & ERICSON, 2002, from the middle Eocene of China, tentatively placed in the Charadriidae by the authors. A putative record of the Recurvirostridae, Recurvirostra sanctaeneboulae MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, 1978, from the early Eocene of France, was based on the proximal end of an ulna, but genus level assignment of this specimen certainly needs to be corroborated by further material (see OLSON 1985). A yet undescribed burhinid from Late Oligocene deposits in Australia was mentioned by BOLES (2001).

Miocene Charadrii are somewhat better represented than their Paleogene counterparts. The existence of Charadriidae from the Middle Miocene of France was briefly acknowledged by BALLMANN (1972), and further material was reported from the Early Miocene of the Czech Republic (MN 4b; MLÍKOVSKÝ 2002), although unfortunately it was neither described nor figured. A species of Charadrius from the Late Miocene-Early Pliocene of Arizona was noted by BICKART (1990), and from the same locality, this author also described members of the Recurvirostridae, notably the species Himantopus olsoni, as well as a species of Recurvirostra. A distal ulna from the Middle Miocene of California was assigned to the extant genus Recurvirostra by MILLER (1961), but because of the uninformative nature of the remains this assignation remains uncertain (see OLSON 1985). The only known Miocene representative of the Burhinidae is *Burhinus lucorum*, from the Early Miocene of Nebraska (BICKART 1982), which was described on the basis of a humerus. Determining a well-resolved phylogenetic placement for most of these Miocene specimens is nevertheless likely to remain an elusive task, owing to the fragmentary nature of the material.

In this study we describe a skull of a putative oystercatcher collected from the locality of Montaigu, Allier, France, in the 1920s, which is housed in the Natural History Museum Basel, Switzerland. In addition, we describe a humerus of a plover-like bird and a tarsometatarsus, both of uncertain affinities within the Charadrii. Due to the rarity of Charadrii in early Neogene deposits, these remains contribute importantly to closing a vast gap in the fossil record of the group.

Materials and methods

Institutional abbreviations: *MNHN*, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris, France; *NMB*, Natural History Museum Basel, Switzerland; *SMF*, Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, Frankfurt am Main, Germany.

Anatomical terminology follows BAUMEL & WIT-MER (1993); measurements are in millimetres (mm). The following species of extant Charadriiformes were used in comparisons (from NMB and SMF):

Charadrii: Burhinidae: Burhinus oedicnemus; "Charadriidae": Charadrius hiaticula, C. morinellus, Vanellus chilensis, V. coronatus, V. vanellus, Pluvialis apricaria, P. squatarola; Chionididae: Chionis minor; Haematopodidae: Haematopus moquini, H. ostralegus; Pluvianidae: Pluvianus aegyptius; Recurvirostridae: Recurvirostra avosetta. Lari: Dromadidae: Dromas ardeola; Glareolidae: Cursorius temminckii, Glareola pratincola; "Sternidae": Anous stolidus, Chlidonias niger, Larosterna inca, Sterna paradisaea, S. saundersi, Thalasseus bergii; Stercorariidae: Catharacta skua, Stercorarius parasiticus; Laridae: Larus argentatus, L. canus, L. fuscus, L. hyperboreus, L. marinus, L. ridibundus, Rissa tridactyla, Xema sabini, Rhodostethia rosea. Scolopaci: Scolopacidae: Actitis hypoleucos, Arenaria interpres, Calidris alpina, Limosa lapponica, L. limosa, Numenius arquata, N. phaeopus, Phalaropus fulicarius, Philomachus pugnax, Scolopax rusticola, Tringa erythropus, T. totanus; Rostratulidae: Rostratula benghalensis, R. semicollaris; Jacanidae: Actophilornis africanus, Hydrophasianus chirurgus, Jacana jacana.

Systematic Palaeontology

Aves Linnaeus, 1758 Charadriiformes Huxley, 1867 Charadrii sensu Paton *et al.* (2003)

Family incertae sedis, cf. Haematopodidae gen. et sp. indet. (Fig. 1)

Material: NMB S.G.20252 (cranium).

Locality and age: Montaigu, "Saint-Gérandle-Puy" area, Allier Basin; Early Miocene, MN2 (22.5–20.5 Ma).

Measurements: Maximum width of cranium across the widest part of the braincase (across processus postorbitales): 19.4 mm; maximum length as preserved: 34.5 mm; greatest diagonal diameter of foramen magnum: 5.2 mm; width across lacrimals: 14.4 mm; condylus occipitalis to ossa lacrimalia: 25.2 mm.

Description and comparisons: NMB S.G.20252 can be assigned to the Charadrii, and particularly a close relationship with Charadriidae, Recurvirostridae, and Haematopodidae can be presumed, based on the combination of the following characters: the presence of well developed, caudally extensive, fossae glandularum nasales, a distinct second opening caudal of foramen nervi maxillomandibularis, the presence of functional processus basipterygoidei, and the presence of well-developed fonticuli occipitales (see description and also MAYR 2011).

The specimen (NMB S.G.20252) is approximately the size of the Pied Avocet, *Recurvirostra avosetta*, and is smaller than all species of extant Haematopodidae. There is a close resemblance between NMB S.G.20252 (Fig. 1A) and the skull of *Haematopus ostralegus* (Fig. 1B).). The fossae

glandularum nasales are distinct and separated by a midline furrow. As in most charadriiforms, the interorbital surface of the frontal bone displays a marked furrow between the fossae glandularum nasales (Fig. 1A), whereas in Haematopus there is a ridge (Fig. 1B), which is also present in members of the Lari, such as Stercorariidae, Alcidae, and Laridae. The presence of this ridge is likely to be related to the depth of the fossae glandularum nasales, which are deeper in Haematopus and the above mentioned taxa. Unlike in Recurvirostra, this frontal furrow is well marked. The supraorbital rims of the fossae are not as wide or elevated as that of members of the Charadriidae, and most closely resembles the condition found in species of Haematopus. Contrary to the condition present in members of the Charadriidae, there is no marked circular incision or foramen formed by the duct of the nasal gland on the frontal (MAYR 2011). The lacrimals (Fig. 1A) are fused to the nasals, and are wide and dorsally projecting, similar to those of Haematopus ostralegus (Fig. 1B), but larger. Only a small portion of the descending process is preserved, which appears to have been mediolaterally compressed.

The processus postorbitales are short (Fig. 1C) and, unlike in oystercatchers, the fossae temporales (Fig. 1D) are weakly developed. The attachment for musculus pseudotemporalis superficialis (Fig. 1D) rostral to the processus postorbitales on the dorsocaudal rim of the orbit is very well marked, as in species of *Haematopus* and some charadriids (*e.g., Vanellus*), ending in a marked projection dorsal to the processus postorbitalis at the orbital rim. A processus zygomaticus is present, but whether it is shorter or approximately the same length as the processus suprameaticus (as in most members of the Scolopaci and Charadrii), cannot be established owing to the skull's preservation.

The general shape of the occipital region of NMB S.G.20252 (Fig. 1E) is also very similar to that of *Haematopus ostralegus* (Fig. 1F). Contrary to the condition in all other examined charadriiforms (except some members of the Alcidae), there is a deep crescent-shaped depression dorsal to the crista nuchalis transversa (Fig. 1E). In addition, the foramen magnum, in occipital view, displays a subsquare shape, with a straight dorsal rim (Fig. 1E); among extant charadriiforms

these features are only observed in species of *Haematopus* and NMB S.G.20252. The fossa subcondylaris is deep and wide (Fig. 1G). The fonticuli occipitales (Fig. 1E) are much larger than those of most examined Recent Charadrii-formes, but similar to those of some charadriids (*e.g., Charadrius hiaticula, C. morinellus*). The presence of functional but weakly developed processus basipterygoidei is demonstrated by the marked articulation surface on the base of the skull (Fig. 1G). Basipterygoid processes are present in most members of the Scolopaci and

Family incertae sedis, gen. et sp. indet. (Fig. 2, Table 1)

Charadrii (see Strauch 1978).

Material: MNHN Av. 4102 (left tarsometatarsus).

Locality and age: "Saint-Gérand-le-Puy", possibly Langy or Montaigu; Early Miocene, MN2 (22.5–20.5 Ma).

Measurements: see Table 1.

Remarks: MNHN Av. 4102 (Fig. 2A) is about the size of the Grey Plover, *Pluvialis squatarola*, which is the largest member of the Charadriidae. This bone was found in MNHN among the material attributed to *Laricola desnoyersii* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868; see also DE PIETRI *et al.* 2011), but was neither figured nor mentioned by Milne-Edwards (1867–1868).

Description and comparison: MNHN Av. 4102 can be assigned to the Charadrii based on the shape of the hypotarsus (Fig. 2C), in which the sulcus for the tendon of musculus flexor digitorum longus is centrally positioned (Fig. 2C, D). This configuration is characteristic for representatives of the Charadrii, and differs from most representatives of the Scolopaci in which there is a canal for the tendon of musculus flexor digitorum longus (MAYR 2011).

The proximal end of MNHN Av. 4102, although appreciably worn, displays a very prominent tuberculum m. fibularis brevis (Fig. 2C), which also characterizes most members of the Charadrii. At the distal end, the foramen vasculare distale (Fig. 2E) is proportionally smaller than in *Pluvianus aegypticus* and members of the Charadriidae, but resembles the condition found in representatives of the genus *Pluvialis*. The osseous bridge (Fig. 2B) between the foramen



FIGURE 2. Left tarsometatarsus (MNHN Av. 4102) and left humerus (MNHN SG 13754) of plover-like birds from the early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy in comparison with extant Charadriidae. **A**, **B**, dorsal view of tarsometatarsus MNHN Av. 4102 (**A**), and of *Vanellus vanellus* (**B**); **C**, **D**, hypotarsi of MNHN Av. 4102 (**C**), and *Pluvialis squatarola* (**D**, mirrored); **E**, plantar view of distal end of MNHN Av. 4102. **F**, **G**, humerus MNHN SG 13754 in cranial (**F**) and caudal (**G**) views; **H**, **I**, caudal views of the proximal end of humeri of MNHN SG 13754 (**H**), and *Vanellus vanellus* (**I**); **J**, **K**, cranial view of proximal end of MNHN SG 13754 (**J**), and *Charadrius hiaticula* (**K**); L, dorsal view of distal humerus MNHN SG 13754. Abbreviations: ob, osseous bridge, cb, crista bicipitalis; ccd, craniodorsal margin of crista deltopectoralis; cdp, crista deltopectoralis; cmh, crista medialis hypotarsi; dfp, dorsal fossa pneumotricipitalis; fdl, canal/sulcus for musculus flexor digitorum longus; fhl, sulcus for musculus flexor hallucis longus; fmb, fossa musculi brachialis; fvd, foramen vasculare distale; icb, impressio coracobrachialis; p2, sulcus for tendon of musculus flexor perforatus digiti II; psd, processus supracondylaris dorsalis; sps, scar on processus supracondylaris dorsalis; td, tuberculum dorsale; tfb, tuberculum musculus fibularis brevis; tm2, trochlea metatarsi II; tm3, trochlea metatarsi III; tm4, trochlea metatarsi IV; tmc, tubercle on proximal-most end of margo caudalis. Scale bars equal 10 mm. C–E and H–L not to scale.

vasculare distale and the incisura intertrochlearis lateralis is broader in MNHN Av. 4102 than in members of the Charadriidae, and again, this feature is also found in members of the extant genus *Pluvialis*, but also in *Recurvirostra*.

MNHN Av. 4102 is slightly larger than the tarsometatarsus of most specimens of the fossil laromorph *Laricola desnoyersii* (see DE PIETRI *et al.* 2011); its distal end clearly differs from that of members of the Lari in the more elongated trochlea metatarsi III (as in the clades Charadrii and Scolopaci). Most importantly, as in all taxa in the Charadrii with the exception of the Chionidae, a fossa metatarsi I is absent.

Overall, MNHN Av. 4102 differs from the tarsometatarsus of *Haematopus ostralegus* in that it is more slender, with a proportionally longer shaft and relatively more narrow articular ends, and from the corresponding bone of *Recurvirostra* (Avocets, Recurvirostridae) in that it is not as long or slender. Thus, MNHN Av. 4102 displays plover-like proportions (Fig. 2A). No other postcranial elements that can be attributed to the Charadrii have been found in the collections housed in NMB and MNHN to match this tarsometatarsus in size, although it would agree with the oystercatcher-like skull described above (see discussion).

Family incertae sedis cf. Charadriidae gen. et sp. indet. (Fig. 2, Table 1)

Material: MNHN SG 13754 (left humerus).

Locality and age: "Saint-Gérand-le-Puy", possibly Langy or Montaigu; Early Miocene, MN2 (22.5–20.5 Ma).

Measurements: see Table 1.

TABLE 1. Measurements (in mm) of humerus MNHNSG 13754 and tarsometatarsus MNHN Av. 4102.

	Humerus	Tarsometatarsus
	MNHN SG 13754	MNHN Av. 4102
Greatest length	28.1	49.5
Proximal width	6.9	6.8
Distal width	4.3	6.2
Min. width of shaft	1.9	2.7

Remarks: MNHN SG 13754 (Fig. 2F, G) is very small, approximately the size of humeri of the Common Ringed Plover, *Charadrius hiaticula* (Charadriidae).

Description and comparisons: MNHN SG 13754 can be assigned to the Charadrii based on the combination of the following features: well-developed dorsal fossa pneumotricipitalis, concave crista deltopectoralis (absent in most Scolopaci), absence of transverse ridge across incisura capitis (present in Scolopaci), wide impressio coracobrachialis (narrow in Laromorphae).

On the caudal surface of the proximal end, a well-developed second fossa pneumotricipitalis is present (Fig. 2H), a homoplastic trait within charadriiform birds, but nevertheless present in all representatives of the Charadrii except Burhinidae and absent from most members of the Scolopaci with the exception of taxa in the Thinocoridae (seedsnipes) and some Scolopacidae. This trait is also variable within Lari, and is absent in Turnicidae, Glareolidae, Dromadidae and Stercorariidae (MAYR 2011), Anous (noddies), the fossil family Laricolidae (DE PIETRI et al. 2011), and many Pan-Alcidae (SMITH 2011). There is a well-marked tubercle on the proximal-most end of the margo caudalis (Fig. 2H), which among some of the examined Charadrii is also developed, albeit not as a tubercle but as an enlarged surface, as in the lapwing Vanellus vanellus (Fig. 2I). Contrary to the condition in most members of the Scolopaci, the dorsal surface of the crista deltopectoralis is concave (Fig. 2A, B), and its craniodorsal margin is slender. The tuberculum dorsale is well defined, but it does not protrude as strongly dorsally as in the laromorph genus from the same locality, Laricola (see DE PIETRI et al. 2011). The ventral rim of the crista bicipitalis (Fig. 2J) is slightly damaged. The cranial surface of the proximal humerus displays a wide impressio coracobrachialis (Fig. 2J), with a distinctly rounded dorsal margin of the intumescentia humeri, which distinguishes this humerus from that of the Laromorphae (see DE PIETRI et al. 2011). At the distal end, the processus supracondylaris dorsalis does not display the proximodistally elongated scar present in the plover genus Vanellus (Fig. 2L).

MNHN SG 13754 differs from Pluvianus aegyptius in the better developed, i.e., further dorsally projecting, processus supracondylaris dorsalis, in that the shaft of the bone is not as curved, and in that the proximal and distal ends are not as dorsoventrally compressed as in Pluvianus. MNHN SG 13754 can also be differentiated from the corresponding bone of *Haematopus* in that the processus supracondylaris dorsalis projects further dorsally, and in that the fossa m. brachialis is proportionally larger in the fossil. It differs from the plover genus *Pluvialis* in that the second (dorsal) fossa pneumotricipitalis extends entirely under the caput humeri, and in that the impressio coracobrachialis is broader than in Pluvialis, thus resembling that of other charadriids in its proportions (Fig. 2K).

Discussion

Most members of the Charadrii are not associated with lacustrine environments, and therefore would not have constituted a significant component of the avifauna of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy. Consequently it is not surprising that the fossil Charadrii here described represent the first record of this group from these Early Miocene localities.

As already mentioned, several features suggest an assignment of NMB S.G.20252 to the Charadrii, and more specifically to a clade including the Charadriidae, Recurvirostridae, and Haematopodidae (a clade including these families and Ibidorhynchidae was recovered by BAKER et al. (2007), BAKER et al. (2012), and MAYR (2011)). NMB S.G.20252 shares with species of Haematopus two derived features of the occipital region, absent from all other examined charadriiform taxa, namely the well-marked crescent shaped-depressions caudal to the crista nuchalis transversa and the subsquare shape of the foramen magnum. Despite a remarkable resemblance between Haematopus and NMB S.G.20252, both can be differentiated on the basis of distinctive features, such as the presence of a furrow at the interorbital region of the frontal of the fossil (as opposed to the presence of a ridge in Haematopus); also much shallower fossae temporales and larger fonticuli occipitales are present in the fossil skull. Establishing how NMB S.G.20252 relates to extant species of Haematopodidae and other Charadrii awaits the discovery of additional material.

The earliest unambiguous records of oystercatchers date from the Early and middle Pliocene, and come from North America. Two humeri from the Lower Pliocene of Lee Creek, North Carolina, lacking the proximal end and significantly differing in size, were referred to the extant genus Haematopus (Olson & Steadman 1979; Olson & RASMUSSEN 2001). A further specimen that can be classified within Haematopodidae is Haematopus sulcatus (BRODKORB, 1955), from the middle Pliocene of the Bone Vallev formation of Florida and known from the distal end of a tibiotarsus. Although originally this specimen was assigned its own genus (Palostralegus) within Haematopodidae, it was later referred to the extant genus Haematopus by Olson & Steadman (1979). All other fossil remains that have been classified within this family are from Pleistocene and Holocene sites (e.g., BRODKORB 1967; TYRBERG 1998). Given the poor fossil history of oystercatchers, NMB S.G.20252 would not only represent the first Neogene European record of the family, but the earliest record worldwide.

Few species of extant Haematopodidae are present in inland environments; Haematopus ostralegus and H. finschi are found during the breeding season in inland habitats. The presence of an oystercatcher-like bird in lacustrine deposits therefore indicates that, similarly to Haematopus ostralegus and unlike most other oystercatchers, the species from Saint-Gérand-le-Puy was not restricted to coastal environments. The lake system of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy is notable for having functioned as breeding grounds for the very abundant laromorph Laricola (DE PIETRI et al. 2011). Whether it was also visited for this purpose by the above-described oystercatcherlike bird can, however, not be said based on the available material.

As already noted in the introduction, Neogene Charadriidae have been recorded as early as the Middle Miocene (MN 4b, MLIKOVSKÝ 2002), although in most instances the phylogenetic affinities of these findings have not been formally assessed. The tarsometatarsus (MNHN Av. 4102) and the humerus (MNHN SG 13754) described herein represent the first records of plover-like birds from Saint-Gérand-le-Puy. The tarsometatarsus displays plover-like proportions, and agrees with the tarsometatarsus of species of *Pluvialis* in the relatively smaller foramen vasculare distale, and in the broad osseous bridge between the foramen vasculare distale and incisura intertrochlearis lateralis. A potential close relationship with this genus, however, which in molecular phylogenies was recently recovered as a basal charadriid (BAKER et al. 2012), is only hypothetical, supported by overall resemblance and size, and the specimen can only be tentatively referred to the Charadriidae. It is also possible, that MNHN Av. 4102 and the oystercatcher-like skull NMB S.G.20252 represent the same taxon, as they do match in size. This would suggest that the morphology of the described tarsometatarsus is plesiomorphic for the Charadriidae/Haematopodidae/Recurvirostridae clade, a claim that can only be substantiated with further fossil finds. Similarly, and in the absence of derived humeral features supporting its referral to the Charadriidae, the small humerus MNHN SG 13754 can only be tentatively referred to as a member of this family, despite its overall resemblance to charadriid plovers. If future evidence supports a more confident placement within Charadriidae, both MNHN Av. 4102 and MNHN SG 13754 would become the earliest records of the family.

Acknowledgements

We thank C. MEYER (NMB) for facilitating the study of the fossil specimens. Ronan ALLAIN (MNHN), Claire SAGNE (MNHN), and Vincent PERNÈGRE (MNHN) assisted with the material in MNHN. We thank L. COSTEUR (NMB) for his help with geological matters, and Adam SMITH (University of Texas at Austin) and Trevor WOR-THY (University of Adelaide) for comments and suggestions that improved our manuscript. A travel grant from Stiftung zur Förderung des Naturhistorischen Museums (Basel, Switzerland) to V.L.D. supported this research.

References

- BAKER, A. J., PEREIRA, S. L. & PATON, T. A. (2007): Phylogenetic relationships and divergence times of Charadriiformes genera: multigene evidence for the Cretaceous origin of at least 14 clades of shorebirds. *Biology Letters*, 3: 205–209.
- BAKER, A. J., YATSENKO, Y., TAVARES, E.S. (2012): Eight independent nuclear genes support monophyly of the plovers: the role of mutational variance in gene trees. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, **65**: 631–641.
- BALLMANN, P. (1972): Les oiseaux miocènes de Vieux-Collonges (Rhône). – Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, **50**: 94–101.
- BAUMEL, J. J., & WITMER, L. M. (1993): Osteologia. In: BAUMEL, J. J., KING, A. S., BREAZILE, J. E., EVANS, H. E., & VANDEN BERGE, J. C. (eds.).
 Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium, 2nd Edition. *Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 45–132.
- BESSONAT, G. & MICHAUT, A. (1973): Découverte d'un squelette complet d'échassier dans le Stampien provençal. *Bulletin du Museum d'Histoire Naturelle Marseille*, **33**: 143–145.
- BICKART, K. J. (1982): A new Thick-Knee, *Burhinus*, from the Miocene of Nebraska, with comments on the habitat requirements of the Burhinidae (Aves, Charadriiformes). – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 1/3–4: 273–277.
- BICKART, K. J. (1990): The birds of the late Mioceneearly Pliocene Big Sandy Formation, Mohave County, Arizona. – Ornithological Monographs, 44: 1–72.
- Boles, W.E. (2001): A new emu (Dromaiinae) from the Late Oligocene Etadunna Formation. – *Emu*, **101**: 317–321.
- BRODKORB, P. (1955): The avifauna of the Bone Valley Formation. – *Florida Geological Survey, Report of Investigations*, **14**: 1–57.
- BRODKORB, P. (1967): Catalogue of fossil birds: Part 3 (Ralliformes, Ichthyornithiformes, Charadriiformes). – Bulletin of the Florida State Museum, 11: 99–220.
- DE PIETRI, V. L., & MAYR, G. (2012): An assessment of the diversity of early Miocene Scolopaci (Aves, Charadriiformes) from Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France). – *Palaeontology*, 55: 1177–1197.
- DE PIETRI, V. L., COSTEUR, L., GÜNTERT, M., & MAYR, G. (2011): A revision of the Lari (Aves, Charadriiformes) from the early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France). – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 31: 812–828.

- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, J. A., & SARGATAL, J. (eds). (1996): Handbook of the Birds of the World Volume 3. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- FAIN, M.G., & HOUDE, P. (2007): Multilocus perspectives on the monophyly and phylogeny of the order Charadriiformes (Aves). – BMC Evolutionary Biology, 7: 35.
- Hou, L., & ERICSON, P.G. (2002): A middle Eocene shorebird from China. *Condor*, **104**: 896–899.
- HUXLEY, T.H. (1867): On the classification of birds; and on the taxonomic value of the modifications of certain of the cranial bones observable in that class. – *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London*, **1867**: 415–472.
- LINNAEUS, C. (1758): Systema Naturae per Regna Tria Naturae. Tenth edition, two volumes. – 824 pp. Stockholm (L. Salvii).
- MAYR, G. (2009): Paleogene fossil birds. 262 pp. Heidelberg (Springer).
- MAYR, G. (2011): The phylogeny of charadriiform birds (shorebirds and allies) – reassessing the conflict between morphology and molecules. – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **161**: 916–943.
- MILLER, L.H. (1961): Birds from the Miocene of Sharktooth Hill, California. – *Condor*, **63**: 399–402.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1867–68): Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire des oiseaux fossiles de la France, vol. 1. – 474 pp. Paris (Victor Masson et fils)
- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (1992): The present state of knowledge of the Tertiary birds of Central Europe. – In: CAMPBELL, K.E. (ed.): Papers in avian paleontology honouring Pierce Brodkorb. – Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County (Science Series), 36: 433–458.

- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (1996): Tertiary Avian Faunas of Europe. – Acta Universitatis Carolinae, Geologica, 39: 777–818.
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (2002): Cenozoic birds of the world. Part 1: Europe. – 417 pp. Praha (Ninox Press).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1978): La poche à phosphate de Sainte-Néboule (Lot) et sa faune de Vertébrés du Ludien supérieur. 6. Oiseaux. – *Palaeovertebrata*, 8: 217–229.
- OLSON, S.L. (1985): The fossil record of birds. In: FARNER, D.S., KING, J.R., & PARKES, K.C. (eds.): Avian Biology, Vol. 8. – pp. 79–238. New York (Academic Press).
- OLSON, S.L. & STEADMAN, D.W. (1979): The fossil record of the Glareolidae and Haematopodidae (Aves: Charadriiformes). – *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington*, **91**: 972–981.
- OLSON, S.L. & RASMUSSEN, P. (2001): Miocene and Pliocene birds from the Lee Creek Mine, North Carolina. – Smithsonian Contributions to Paleobiology, 90: 233–365.
- PATON, T.A., BAKER, A.J., GROTH, J.G., & BARROW-CLOUGH, G.F. (2003): RAG-1 sequences resolve phylogenetic relationships within Charadriiform birds. – *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 29: 268–278.
- SMITH, N.A. (2011). Taxonomic revision and phylogenetic analysis of the flightless Mancallinae (Aves, Pan-Alcidae). – ZooKeys, 91:1–116.
- STRAUCH, J.G. (1978). The phylogeny of the Charadriiformes (Aves): a new estimate using the method of character compatibility analysis. – Transactions of the Zoological Society of London, 34: 263–345.
- TYRBERG, T. (1998). Pleistocene birds of the Palearctic: A catalogue. – Nutall Ornithological Club, Vol. 27. – 720 pp. Cambridge, Massachusetts.





Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



ZooBank LSID: urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:374448FD-FEFB-4281-A6BB-E5EE4BA20142

A new barn owl (Aves: Strigiformes: Tytonidae) from the Middle Miocene of the Nördlinger Ries (Germany) with remarks on the history of the owls

URSULA B. GÖHLICH^{1,2} & PETER BALLMANN³

¹ Naturhistorisches Museum Wien, Vienna, Austria; E-mail: ursula.goehlich@nhm-wien.ac.at

² Department für Geo- und Umweltwissenschaften, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität, München, Germany ³ Am Nordpark 1b, 50733 Köln, Germany; E-mail: peterballmann@web.de

Abstract — We describe a new taxon of barn owl, *Miotyto montispetrosi* nov. gen. et spec. from the Middle Miocene (Astaracium, MN6) localities at Steinberg and Goldberg in the Nördlinger Ries (Southern Germany). A single individual from Steinberg is represented by well-preserved long bones of the limbs, the shoulder girdle and by phalanges of the wing and foot. The description lists almost 60 features used for the determination of the affinities of the fossil. Although *Miotyto montispetrosi* nov. spec. clearly belongs to the Tytonidae, it shows some characters intermediate with Strigidae. Some additional juvenile bones from Goldberg indicate that the species was breeding at the Middle Miocene Ries crater lake.

Key words: Tytonidae, Miotyto montispetrosi nov. spec., Steinberg, Goldberg

Introduction

Fossil Strigiformes are by no means rare, KURO-CHKIN & DYKE (2011, Tab.1) list over 40 species representing over 20 genera – most of them extinct – for Europe alone. However, many of those taxa, especially from pre-Pleistocene times, are based on single or a few bones that are often fragmentary. Therefore, relatively complete and well-preserved fossil material, even if it is limited to postcranial elements, deserves special attention, the more so, if it can be attributed to a single individual, as in the present case (Fig. 2).

The current material comes from two localities, Steinberg and Goldberg, in the Nördlinger Ries of Southern Germany (Fig. 1). The Nördlinger Ries is an approximately 15 million years old meteorite impact crater, which forms at present a circular shallow depression, 22–24 km in diameter, that separates the Jurassic limestone plateaus of the Swabian and the Franconian Alb. Subsequent to the impact, the Ries crater was filled by a soda lake without outlet, in which spring mounds of calcareous tufa, the so called "travertine hills", rose at sources of sub-lacustrine spring water (PACHE *et al.* 2001; ARP 2006).

The Steinberg (formerly called Spitzberg) and the Goldberg are two of these spring mounds.

Some of the spring mounds became temporary islands in the ancient lake. During the late freshwater stage of the Ries crater lake, vertebrate fossils accumulated in fissures and pockets on top of some of the hills such as the Goldberg spring mound (ARP 2006). A few specimens of the material presented here come from the locality Goldberg 9 described by BOLTEN (1977: 68–71). The processes of deposition and accumulation are unclear for the much richer fossil material of



FIGURE 1. Map showing the geographical position of the Steinberg and Goldberg localities within the impact crater of the Nördlinger Ries.

the Steinberg locality. In 1969, a few loose blocks of fossiliferous calcareous tufa were found on the foot of the southwest slope of the Steinberg hill, which is situated on the ring structure in the southeast sector of the crater and whose basis consists predominantly of crystalline basement rocks (BOLTEN 1977). These loose fossiliferous blocks are also supposed to be the remnants of pocket or fissure, but their exact origin on the top of the Steinberg remains unknown (HEIZMANN & FAHLBUSCH 1983: 84). The calcareous tufa from both localities was treated with dilute acetic acid to recover the fossil bones and teeth.

Beside Strigiformes, the following bird taxa are represented by fossils from different localities in the Nördlinger Ries: Pelecanidae, Phalacrocoracidae, Palaelodidae, Anatidae, Rallidae, Charadriidae, Scolopacidae, Glareolidae, Phasianidae, Psittacidae, Coliidae, Apodidae, Capitonidae, and Passeriformes (BALLMANN 1979, 1983, 2004; HEIZMANN & HESSE 1995, LAMBRECHT, 1933; MAYR & GöHLICH 2004). Several of these taxa have not yet been described. The great variety makes the Nördlinger Ries one of the most important sites for Miocene birds in Europe.

On the basis of fossil micro-mammals, the fauna of Steinberg has been determined to be early Astaracium, Mammal Neogene Unit MN6, by HEIZMANN & FAHLBUSCH (1983). Besides Soricidae, Gliridae, Cricetidae especially Chiroptera are very rich in the Steinberg fauna; eight species

of Chiroptera (RACHL 1983) represent about one third of all mammal species.

Mammals as well as birds from the Steinberg and Goldberg are all small forms, which makes regurgitation pellets by predatory or scavenging birds, especially owls, the most probable origin for these fossil accumulations.

Material and methods

The presented fossil material is kept in the Bayerische Staatssammlung für Paläontologie und Geologie in Munich (BSPG) under the collection numbers BSPG 1970 XVIII 861 to 897 (Steinberg) and BSPG 1966 XXXIV 3276 to 3279 (Goldberg). In the following text only the last digital number is given. The osteological terminology follows BAUMEL *et al.* 1993, and occasionally BALLMANN (1969a, b). Measurements were taken after VON DEN DRIESCH (1976). Estimated measurements of slightly damaged bones are given in parenthesis. The systematics of extant owls follows KÖNIG & WEICK (2008).

Recent species examined for comparison: Tytonidae. Tyto alba, Phodilus badius. Strigidae: Strix aluco, S. uralensis, S. nebulosa, Asio otus, A. flammeus, Athene noctua, A. cunicularia, Aegolius funereus, Bubo scandiacus, Bubo bubo, Otus scops, Glaucidium passerinum, Ninox novaeseelandiae. The specimens are kept at the ornithological department of the Naturhistorisches Museum Wien (NHMW). Some selected limb bones of *Phodilus badius* (specimen USNM 20310) were lent from the National Museum of Natural History (Smithsonian Institution) Washington, Division of birds (NMNH).

For systematic comparisons the following fossil species of Tytonidae were considered: Neogene Tytoninae: *Tyto campiterrae* JÁNOSSY, 1991, *T. gigantea* BALLMANN, 1973, *T. robusta* BALLMANN, 1973, *T. sanctialbani* (LYDEKKER, 1893), *Prosybris antiqua* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863). Paleogene and Neogene Necrobyinae. *Necrobyas arvernensis* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863), *N. edwardsi* GAILLARD, 1939, *N. harpax* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1892, *N. rossignoli* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1892, *N. medius* MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, 1987.

Following LOUCHART (2002), the species Tyto balearica Mourer-Chauviré, Alcover, MOYA & PONS, 1980 can only be confirmed in post-Neogene, thus Pleistocene localities; all previous reports of Neogene findings referred to Tyto balearica belong to a different and not yet described tytonid species (LOUCHART 2002). Basityto rummeli MLÍKOVSKÝ, 1998 from the Early Miocene of Grafenmühle 21 (MN2-3, southern Germany, Coll. Rummel (Weissenburg)) was determined to be a taxon outside Strigiformes by Mourer-Chauviré (2001). Although Mlíko-VSKÝ (1998) had synonymized T. campiterrae with T. sanctialbani, we follow PAVIA & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (2011), who retain T. campiterrae as a separate species. Also T. robusta (see Tab. 3), which was taken into synonymy with T. gigantea by MLÍKOVSKÝ (1998), is kept as a discrete species in this article.

The Mammal Neogene-Zones (MN-Zones) are used as defined by MEIN (1999), the Neogene and Paleogene stratigraphy follows HILGEN *et al.* (2012) and VANDENBERGHE *et al.* (2012), respectively.

Osteological abbreviations: tmt: tarsometatarsus, tt: tibiotarsus, dext.: right, sin.: left, prox.: proximal(is), dist.: distal(is), dors.: dorsal(is).

Institutional abbreviations: BSPG: Bayerische Staatssammlung für Paläontologie und Geologie, Munich; NHMW: Naturhistorisches Museum Wien; NHMUK: Natural History Museum, London; USNM: Smithsonian Institution National Museum of Natural History, Washington.

Systematic Paleontology

Order Strigiformes WAGLER, 1830

The owls are a well circumscribed order of nocturnal birds of prey and their osteology assigns them to a 'natural group' *sensu* MILNE-EDWARDS (1869–71). Up to now, paleontology has been unable to resolve their relationship with other orders but recent DNA studies, place owls in a clade with diurnal raptors (excluding falcons), which is a sister taxon to parrots and song birds (KÖNIG & WEICK 2008).

One of the oldest owls, *Ogygoptynx wet-morei*, was described by RICH & BOHASKA (1976) from the Paleocene of Colorado and later placed into a separate family Ogygoptyngidae (RICH & BOHASKA 1981). It is known from a fairly complete tarsometatarsus which shows a mosaic of tytonid and strigid features, but is too old to be at the branching point of the two families.

The oldest record of Strigiformes in Europe dates back to the Late Paleocene and belongs to the genus *Berruornis* MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, 1994 (MAYR 2009). The Eocene and Oligocene record of strigiforms is quite extensive but restricted to the northern hemisphere and comprises the extinct families Palaeoglaucidae, Sophiornithidae, Protostrigidae and the extant family Tytonidae (Fig. 12). All Neogene to Recent owls belong to two families, the Tytonidae (barn owls) and the Strigidae (typical owls), which together form the crown group Strigiformes (MAYR 2009).

Recent Strigiformes share a unique osteological character in the form of an ossified arch on the radius described by BOCK & MCEVEY (1969). This structure was not found on the radius of *Palaeoglaux artophoron* (PETERS, 1992) from the Middle Eocene of Messel.

The fossil record of the Tytonidae dates from a much earlier time than the earliest known Strigidae (Fig. 12) and will be discussed in more detail below.

The oldest Strigidae (typical owls) date back to the Early Miocene: MN2 of Saint-Gérandle-Puy (France) and MN3 of Wintershof-West (Germany) (Fig. 12). Originally those fossils were placed in geographically widespread recent genera of similar size and shape. This does not look very likely at present and they have con-



FIGURE 2. Schematic figure of a barn owl skeleton indicating the preserved bones (black) from the Steinberg individual. Pedal phalanges and claws of uncertain digital affiliation are shaded in grey. Additional bones from the locality Goldberg, comprising a fragmentary coracoid, a femur, a distal tibiotarsus, and a juvenile tarsometatarsus, are not indicated.

sequently been moved to newly erected extinct genera (MLíkovský 2002), but for which unfortunately diagnoses are virtually missing. Therefore these genera must be regarded as quite "modernlooking" typical owls with uncertain affinities.

The Strigidae are the most numerous and diverse family among extant owls and account for well over two hundred species in more than twenty genera (KÖNIG & WEICK 2008). They inhabit a wide geographical range and are nearly cosmopolitan except for Antarctica. They are especially speciose in the tropical forests but occupy a variety of habitats from deserts to swamps to sub-polar wooded areas and tundra with severe winter conditions (BURTON 1973; DEL HOYO et al. 1999). In size the Strigidae range from very small (Glaucidium) to very large (Bubo) taxa. Their postcranial skeleton appears to be more adapted to the reduction of wing loading and to the seizing of prey than the skeleton of the Tytonidae. Weight reduction is expressed by the degree of pneumatization in the bones of their shoulder girdles (scapula and coracoid) and the great reduction of their furcula. Predatory capability is implied by robust leg bones that are sculpted to accommodate large muscles and tendons, e.g. in the supracondylar fossa of the distal tibiotarsus and in the sulcus extensorius on the proximal tarsometatarsus where only thin lamellae of bone remain between extensor and flexor sides in the Strigidae.

FORD (1967) examined the osteology of over 80 species of Strigiformes belonging to 30 genera including *Tyto* and *Phodilus*. According to him, the taxonomic subdivision of extant owls is mainly based on external morphology that is not always reflected in skeletal characteristics. Furthermore, osteologic features and distinctions between genera, based on postcranial elements of a few species, do not always hold when more species become available for comparison. Consequently, the allocation of a fossil owl in the taxonomic system remains difficult.

The skeletal differences between Strigidae and Tytonidae have been described not only by FORD (1967) but in many publications ranging from Lydekker (1893) to Louchart (2002).

Family Tytonidae RIDGWAY, 1914

Half of the 17 characters listed by SIBLEY & AHL-QUIST (1972) after RIDGWAY (1914) to differentiate between Strigidae and Tytonidae refer to external morphology and only two of the remainders are applicable to the fossil owl described here: The third toe in Tytonidae is as long as the second and the tarsometatarsus is without an bony loop (arcus extensorius).

The recent Tytonidae comprise two genera, of which *Phodilus* GEOFFROY SAINT-HILAIRE, 1830 is clearly a relict limited to South and Southeast Asia, while the other genus, *Tyto* BILLBERG, 1828, which comprises 25 species, is widespread in its distribution but mainly within tropical and subtropical regions (KÖNIG & WEICK 2008). The type species, the Common Barn Owl, *Tyto alba* (SCOPOLI, 1769), comprises 10 subspecies and is the most widespread of all the owls. It is the only barn owl to reach the temperate regions of Europe and North America, where severe winters may decimate its populations (VOOUS 1962). Its geo-graphical distribution reaches from Europe over Africa and Madagascar to Arabia, Asia Minor,



FIGURE 3. Holotype of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec., tarsometatarsus sin. (1970 XVIII 867) from Steinberg. (numbers refer to the description in the text). A) dorsal, B) lateral, C) plantar, D) medial; E) proximal, F) distal.

India and Malaysia and south into Indonesia. The diet of the European barn owls consists mainly of small nocturnal mammals, like shrews, mice, and voles, but rats and even small rabbits are recorded as well as small birds, bats, frogs, small reptiles and large insects (BURTON 1973; DEL HOYO *et al.* 1999). The undigested parts including the bones are regurgitated as pellets.

The fossil record for *Tyto alba* goes back to the Early Pleistocene in Europe and to the Late Pliocene in Morocco (PAVIA *et al.* 2012).

The origins of the family Tytonidae can be traced back to the Paleogene of France, where the fossil genus Necrobyas is documented from the Late Eocene (phosphorites du Quercy) (up to the Early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy) (Fig. 12). Necrobyas shows similarities to Tyto and is usually placed within the Tytonidae (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1987). From the Oligocene of North America OLSON (1985) mentions several undescribed complete skeletons of a small species of owl with a stout 'phodiline' tarsometatarsus without an ossified tendinal loop (arcus extensorius). In Europe the first clearly tytonine species is Prosybris antiqua originally described from the early Miocene (MN2) of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (see Tab. 4), but according to MLÍKOVSKÝ (1998) also known from early Oligocene of the phosphorites du Quercy. The fossil history of the genus Tyto has recently been summarized by PAVIA & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (2011).

Miotyto nov. gen.

Type species: Miotyto montispetrosi nov. spec.

Included species: The type species only. But see "discussion and conclusion".

Etymology: *Miotyto: Mio*, abbreviated from Miocene, the epoch for which this barn owl is proven; combined to the existing genus name *Tyto* for most extant (and some fossil) barn owls. Feminine in gender.

Diagnosis: Middle-sized member of Tytonidae, about the size of the Recent Tyto alba guttata. Tarsometatarsus and coracoid relatively stout. Tarsometatarsus: vestigial arcus extensorius, tuberositas m. tibialis cranialis relatively low on shaft; sulcus extensorius deep, reaching to half the length of the shaft; sulcus of trochlea III extending proximally; crista hypotarsi long; tuberculum m. fibularis brevis directed plantolaterally. Scapula: acromion projecting dorso-laterally. Phalanx proximalis digiti majoris: cranial face flat, not concave. Femur: Cranial linea intermuscularis merges in a curve into crista trochanteris. Tibiotarsus: Lateral condyle slanted proximolaterally. Pedal phalanges: The indices of the lengths of phalanx II 1/phalanx III 1 and phalanx III 1/phalanx III 2 are intermediate between Tytonidae and Strigidae.



FIGURE 4. Coracoid dext. (1970 XVIII 872) (A, B) and scapula dext. (1970 XVIII 873) (C) of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. from Steinberg. A) ventral, B) dorsal, C) lateral.

Miotyto montispetrosi nov. spec. (Figs 3–11)

Holotype: left tarsometatarsus (BSPG 1970 XVIII 867) (Figs 3, 10H-I, 11C)

Paratypes (Figs 4–9, Fig. 10B, D, O, R, U, W, Fig. 11A, E): coracoid dext. (872), scapula dext. (873), humerus dext., dist. 2/3 (861), humerus dext., prox. end (862), ulna dext., prox. half (863), ulna sin., prox. end (871), ulna dext., dist half (874), os carpi ulnare dext. (876), os carpi ulnare sin. (877), phalanx prox. digiti majoris dext. (875), femur dext., prox. half (865), tt sin. (866), tt dext., dist. half (870), tmt dext. (868), os metatarsale I dext. (878), os metatarsale I sin. (879), phalanx I 1 dext. (880), phalanx I 1 dext. (881), phalanx II 1 dext. (882), phalanx II 1 sin. (883), phalanx II 2 dext. (884), phalanx III 1 dext. (885), phalanx III 1 sin. (886), phalanx III 2 dext. (887), phalanx III 2 sin. (888), phalanx III 3 or IV 4 dext.? (889), phalanx IV 1 dext. (890), phalanx IV 2 dext. (891), phalanx IV 3 dext. (892), phalanx III 3 or IV 4 dext (893), four phalanges terminales (claws) (894–897). Almost all of these bones including the holotype can be attributed to the same adult individual (Fig. 2). The only exceptions are the two specimens of pedal phalanx I 1 dext., one of which must represent a second individual.

Type locality: Steinberg (= Spitzberg, 496 m NN)), about 1 km northeast of the village Appetshofen in the Nördlinger Ries, Southern (Fig. 1). Loose blocks of calcareous tufa found on the SW

slope of the Steinberg in the Jungwald forest Germany (N48°49'33", E10°37'18"), topographic map 7129 Deiningen.

Type horizon: Fissure and pocket fillings in calcareous tufa ("travertine"), Middle Miocene, early Astaracium, MN6 (HEIZMANN & FAHLBUSCH 1983).

Differential diagnosis: Tarsometatarsus and coracoid shorter and stouter than in Tyto including fossil T. sanctialbani, T. campiterrae and T. balearica (see Tab. 4). Miotyto montispetrosi nov. spec. is distinctly smaller than T. gigantea and T. robusta, smaller than T. balearica and T. campiterrae, and distinctly larger than Prosybris antiqua. Similar in size to T. sanctialbani, but differing by the shorter and stouter tarsometatarsus with vestigial arcus extensorius, sulcus extensorius reaching less distally. Tuberculum m. fibularis brevis directed plantolaterally, whereas oriented plantarly in Tyto (T. alba, T. sanctialbani, T. gigantea, and T. robusta), in Phodilus, and in Prosybris antiqua. Linea intermuscularis cranialis on femur merging with crista trochanteris clearly below proximal end of femur, whereas linea intermuscularis cranialis reaches up to facies articularis antitrochanterica in Tyto (T. alba, T. sanctialbani, and T. robusta) and in *Phodilus*. Unlike the tibiotarsus of *T. alba* and *T.* sanctialbani, the apophysis of the crista cnemialis cranialis projects distally in M. montispetrosi nov. spec.. Index of length of phalanx II 1/phalanx III 1 smaller than in Tyto.

Tarsometatarsus relatively longer and more slender than in *Phodilus*. Relative distal width of humerus smaller and intumescentia humeri wider than in *Phodilus*. Unlike *Phodilus*, pedal phalanges IV 1 and IV 2 not fused in *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec..

Etymology: geographic name, *montispetrosi* from Latin mons, montis (= mountain) and petrosus (= stoney)=Steinberg (in German), as possessive noun in genitive case.

Additional referred material (Fig. 8C and D): There are at least two more individuals represented by material from Goldberg (BSPG 1966 XXXIV...): Coracoid sin., fragmentary cranial half (3276), femur dext. (3277), tmt sin. (juvenile) (3278), tt sin., distal half (3279) (subadult).



FIGURE 5. Humerus dext. (1970 XVIII 861+862) of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. from Steinberg. **A**) proximal, **B**) distal, **C**) caudal, **D**) ventral, **E**) cranial, **F**) dorsal.

Description

Measurements: For measurements of the holotype, paratypes and referred material see Tab. 1.

Holotype tarsometatarsus (Figs 3, 10H-I, 11C): Shape relatively stout and robust. Dorsal view: Arcus extensorius lacking, except vestigial pointed projection on medial side (1); fossa infracotylaris dorsalis equally deep on both sides (2); tuberositas m.tibialis cranialis positioned relatively low on shaft (3); sulcus extensorius deep and reaching to half the length of shaft (4); sulcus of trochlea III extending proximally (5). Lateral view: Distal margin of trochlea IV distinctly indented (6). Plantar view: Proximal part of sulcus flexorius moderately excavated (7). Medial view: Crista hypotarsi relatively long (8) starting proximally somewhat below articular surface and carrying no proximal projection (9); fossa parahypotarsalis medialis (= fossa m. flexoris hallucis brevis) cutting far dorsally into facies subcutanea medialis (10); ligamental fossa on trochlea II at distal margin (11). Proximal view: Sulcus flexorius wide and rounded (12); eminentia intercotylaris protruding slightly dorsally (13); no notch in dorsal margin (14); tuberculum m. fibularis brevis directed plantolaterally (15). Distal view: trochleae arranged in semicircle with trochlea IV projecting furthest in plantar direction (16).

Paratypes and referred material

Coracoid (Figs 4A–B, 10O): The coracoid is almost complete, damaged only at the lateral edge of the processus lateralis. A fragmentary cranial portion of a coracoid is preserved from the Goldberg locality.

Bone short and stout. Ventral view: Processus procoracoideus triangular in shape, with broad basis and slightly convex medial margin (17); sulcus supracoracoideus wide and rounded (18); processus acrocoracoideus rounded, knob-like (19); distinct linea intermuscularis ventralis (20) ends medially of angulus externus (21). Dorsal view: Foramen n. supracoracoidei present (22); acrocoracoid not pneumatized (23).

Scapula (Figs 4C, 10D): The scapula is complete except for the caudal tip.

Lateral view: acromion not pneumatized (24)



FIGURE 6. Proximal half of ulna dext. (1970 XVIII 863) (**A-D**) and distal half of ulna dext. (1970 XVIII 874+876) (**E**, **F**), os carpi ulnare dext. (1970 XVIII 876) (**G**), phalanx dig. majoris dext. (1970 XVIII 875) (**H**, **I**) of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. from Steinberg. **A**) cranial, **B**) dorsal, **C**) caudal, **D**) ventral, **E**) ventral, **F**) dorsal, **G**) cranial, **H**) ventral, **I**) dorsal.

and projecting dorso-laterally (25).

Humerus (Figs 5, 10B, 11A): The humerus is almost complete. Shaft sigmoidal in both cranio-caudal and dorsoventral direction.

Caudal view: No fossa pneumotricipitalis, opening of foramen pneumaticum level with surface (26).

Cranial view: Ventral end of strongly marked sulcus transversus almost reaching crista bicipitalis (27); intumescentia humeri well-marked and dorsally sharply delimited (28); length of crista deltopectoralis approximately one third of humerus (29); fossa m. brachialis large and wellmarked (30); distal end ventrally enlarged (31).

Ulna (Fig. 6A-F): Two proximal and one distal halves of the ulna are preserved.

Cranial view: Olecranon short and blunt (32); tuberculum bicipitale well-marked and elongated (33). Caudal view: Papillae remigales visible but weakly developed (34). Ventral view: Flat, triangular tuberculum lig. collateralis ventralis cutting slightly under cotyla ventralis (35).

Left and right **os carpi ulnare** (Fig. 6G) are perfectly preserved but without conspicuous features.

Phalanx proximalis digiti majoris (Fig. 6H, I): One complete right element is preserved.

Ventral view: Caudal part blade-like, reaching pila cranialis in regular curve without angle or ligamental process (36). Dorsal view: Cranial face of pila cranialis flat (37).

Femur (Figs 7, 10W, 11E): Two right femora are available, one proximal half from the type locality and an almost complete one from Gold-

berg with slightly damaged distal end.

Shaft almost straight. Caudal view: well developed tuberculum as origin of the intermediate flexor muscles of the toes (38). Cranial view: Trochanter moderately surpassing caput femoris proximally (39); cranial linea intermuscularis simple, not bifurcate distally (40); linea proximally merging with crista trochanteris without reaching up to proximal margin (41).

Tibiotarsus (Fig. 8): Two left tibiotarsi are preserved; a complete one (adult) from the type locality, a distal half of a subadult specimen from the Goldberg locality.

Relatively stout and shaft slightly curved into medial concavity. Cranial view: apophysis interna ligamenti obliqui well-marked (42); spina fibulae fused with shaft (43); fusion well proximal of apophysis interna ligamenti obliqui (44); pons supratendineus lacking (45); groove proximal of area intercondylaris relatively shallow (46); lateral condyle slanted proximo-laterally (47). Medial view: Tiny tooth-like protuberance in proximal end of fossa plantaris (48); apophysis on crista cnemialis cranialis projecting distally (49); impressio ligamenti collateralis medialis well-marked (50); epicondylus medialis strongly protruding plantarly (51). Lateral view: Epicondylus lateralis strongly protruding plantarly (52).

Proximal view: Incisura tibialis deep and U-shaped (53). Distal view: Caudal rim of epicondylus medialis forming sharp edge (54).

Tarsometatarsus: In addition to the left holotype tmt a complete right tmt is preserved from the type locality. An additional juvenile left tmt

TABLE 1. Measurements (mm) of the type material for *Miotyto montispetrosi* nov. spec. from Steinberg and referred material from Goldberg. GL: greatest length, L: length, Wp: proximal width, Dp: proximal depth, Dgp: proximal diagonal (in the scapula cranial diagonal), Dgd: distal diagonal, WF: width of facies articularis basalis in coracoid, Ws: smallest width of shaft, Wd: distal width, Dd: distal depth, Wdg: maximal diagonal width of os carpi ulnare. *length medially, °width basally. Estimated measurements of slightly damaged bones are given in parenthesis.

		GL	L	Wp	Dp	Dgp	Ws	Wd	Dd	
Steinberg BSPG 1970	XVIII									
coracoid dext.	872	(35)	(33)*					(13)°		WF: (12)
scapula dext.	873	(42)				9.6				
humerus dext., dist. 2/3	861						5.7	14.4		
humerus dext., prox. end	862			17.0						
reconstructed humerus: 861+86	52	c. 90								
ulna dext., prox. half	863			9.7		10.0	4.3			
ulna dext., dist half	874						4.4			Dgd: 7.5
ulna sin., prox. end	871			(9.5)		(10)				
os carpi ulnare dext.	876									Wdg: 8.2
os carpi ulnare sin.	877									Wdg: 8.1
phalanx digiti major. 1 dext.	875	20.1	20.0	7.2				4.4		
femur dext., prox. half	865			10.8	7.3		4.9			
tibiotarsus sin.	866	90.5	89.1			12.1	4.5	10.9	10.0	
tibiotarsus dext., dist half	870						4.9	11.0		
tarsometatarsus sin. (holotype)	867	55.1		10.4			5.5	11.8		
tarsometatarsus dext.	868	55.1		10.5			5.4	11.8		
os metacarpale I dext.	878		6.9					4.4		
os metacarpale I sin.	879		7.1					4.4		
phalanx I 1 dext.	880	12.7		4.6	5.0		3.0	3.5	3.9	
phalanx I 1 dext.	881	12.5		4.5	5.0		3.0	3.4	4.0	
phalanx II 1 dext.	882	13.0		7.0	6.3		3.8	4.5	5.2	
phalanx II 1 sin.	883	13.1		7.0	6.0		3.6	4.3	5.1	
phalanx II 2 dext.	884	17.6		5.0	5.1		4.0	4.2	4.1	
phalanx III 1 dext.	885	7.6		7.4	4.8		4.4	5.1		
phalanx III 1 sin.	886	7.6		7.3	5.1		4.3	5.2		
phalanx III 2 dext.	887	12.9		4.6			3.2	3.9	4.1	
phalanx III 2 sin.	888	12.9		4.6			3.2	3.8	4.2	
phalanx III 3 or IV 4 dext.?	889						3.6	3.7	3.7	
phalanx IV 1 dext.	890	4.8		6.7	5.0					
phalanx IV 2 dext.	891	5.0		5.3	4.1			4.0		
phalanx IV 3 dext.	892	6.8		4.7	4.5			4.0	4.0	
phalanx III 3 or IV 4 dext.?	893	14.4		4.3	4.6		3.5	3.8	3.8	
phalanx terminalis (claw)	894	(13.7)		3.8	5.0					
phalanx terminalis (claw)	895	13.9		3.3	5.1					
phalanx terminalis (claw)	896			3.0	4.9					
phalanx terminalis (claw)	897	13.8		3.8	4.9					
Goldberg BSPG 1966	XXXIV	7								
coracoid sin.	3276									
femur dext.	3277	55	53.8*	11.1	(6.3)		4.6	10.5		
tibiotarsus sin. (subadult)	3279						4.7	9.5	9.5	
tarsometatarsus dext. (juvenile)	3278	(50)		(11.3)			4.3	(10.1)		



FIGURE 7. Femur dext. of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. from Steinberg (BSPG 1970 XVIII 865) (A, B) and from Goldberg (BSPG 1966 XXXIV 3277) (C, D). A) proximal, B) caudal, C) caudal, D) cranial.

comes from the Goldberg locality. For description see holotype.

Pedal phalanges (Figs 9A-J): 18 phalanges, including four claws, are preserved.

The three proximal phalanges of the reversible fourth toe are extremely short. Phalanx I 1 in proximal view notched on the plantar side (55); apophysis extensoris of phalanx II 2 less developed than apophysis flexoris (56); length of phalanx II 1 almost three quarters the length of phalanx II 2 (57); phalanx III 1 slightly more than half the length of phalanx III 2 (58); phalanx II 1 less than double the length of phalanx III 1 (59). (for indices see Tab. 3).

Four claws (Fig. 9J): are preserved, but cannot been assigned with certainty to the corresponding digits.

Taxonomic evaluation of the described characters

The most diagnostic characters of the described skeletal elements are listed in Tab. 2. Together they allow reference of the type material to the Strigiformes, more precisely to the Tytonidae.

A few characters listed in the text are not mentioned on Table 2 as they are purely descriptive and some others have received no numerical value because they describe to the general shape or proportions of a skeletal element. None of the features listed on Tab. 2 is a really unique one, which would, on its own, permit to place the fossil owl in question into a given taxon. But in combination they allow to allocate it accurately. The features listed as strigiform are characteristic of the order but are by no means exhaustive. Nonetheless, the postcranial skeleton of the Tytonidae is fairly well characterized by the features listed.

skeletal element	osteological features							
	strigiform	agree with Tytonidae	more specific characters					
tarsometatarsus	12, 16	1,2,6,9,10,13,14	short and robust* 3,4, 5,7,8,15					
coracoid	short and stout, 20, 22	17, 18, 19, 23,	short and stout*					
scapula		24	25					
humerus	shaft sigmoidal	27, 28, 30						
ulna	32, 33, 34							
phalanx prox. dig maj		36	37					
femur	shaft straight, 39	40	41					
tibiotarsus	42, 43, 45	46, 48, 50, 51, 52, 53	42, 47, 49					
pedal phalanges	basal phalanges extremely short in reversible toe IV	55, 56, 57	59					

TABLE 2. Synopsis of diagnostic osteological features for *Miotyto montispetrosi* nov. spec. (numbers correspond to character numbering in description of material). * Ratios for the relative length of tarsometatarsus and coracoid are given on Tabs 4 and 5.



FIGURE 8. Tibiotarsus sin. (1970 XVIII 866) of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. from Steinberg. A) cranial, B) medial, C) caudal, D) lateral, E) proximal, F) distal.

Comparisons

Comparison with *Tyto (alba)*

The following features of *Miotyto montispetrosi* nov. spec. are of specific nature within the Tytonidae and some of them appear to have an intermediate character between recent *Tyto alba* and strigid owls. For a separate comparison with *Phodilus* see below and Fig. 11.

The tarsometatarsus of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. differs from Tyto by being shorter and stouter (see Fig. 10 and Tab. 4), a condition also found in most Strigidae and in Paleogene Tytonidae. The arcus extensorius (1) is not lacking completely as in Tyto, but vestigial if compared to Strigidae. The tuberositas m. tibialis cranialis is positioned lower on the shaft than in *Tyto* (3), a feature typical for Strigidae. The sulcus extensorius (4) is longer than in Tyto. Also the sulcus of trochlea III (5) is extending further proximally. The proximal part of the sulcus flexorius (7) is more deeply excavated than in Tyto, but less so than in Strigidae. The tuberculum m. fibularis brevis (15) is not merely directed plantarly as in Tyto, but is not drawn strongly in lateral direction as in strigids. The coracoid is shorter and stouter than in *Tyto*. The cranial face of the phalanx proximalis digiti majoris is flat unlike *Tyto* where it is concave (37). Cranially on the proximal end of the femur, the linea intermuscularis merges in a curve with the crista trochanteris , unlike *Tyto* where it is straight and reaches up to the facies articularis antitrochanterica (41). The lateral condyle of the tibiotarsus is more slanted proximo-laterally than in *Tyto*; the apophysis of the crista cnemialis cranialis projects distally (49) unlike *Tyto*; however this latter feature is potentially age-related and might identify the Steinberg owl as an aged individual.

In his description of the osteology of pedal phalanges of extant owls, FORD (1967) points out that, in *Tyto*, the two basal phalanges of the second toe, i.e. II 1 and II 2, are nearly equal in length, while in Strigidae phalanx II 1 is only about one half the length of phalanx II 2. This finding is supported by the index II 1/II 2 in Tab. 3 which for *Tyto alba* is 0.8 while in recent Strigidae it is 0.5–0.6. FORD (1967) furthermore points out that, in the third toe of *Tyto* phalanx 1 is one half the length of phalanx 2 while in Strigidae


FIGURE 9. Pedal phalanges of the right foot and metatarsal I of the left foot of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. from Steinberg (BSPG 1970 XVIII...). A) phalanx I 1 dext. (881), B) phalanx II 1 dext. (882), C) phalanx II 2 dext. (884), D) phalanx III 1 dext. (885), E) phalanx III 2 dext. (887), F) phalanx III 3 or IV 4 dext? (889), G) phalanx IV 1 dext. (890), H) phalanx IV 2 dext. (891), I) phalanx IV 3 dext. (892), J) claw of uncertain toe affiliation (897), K) os metatarsale I sin. (879). A, D, and H in dorsal, plantar, and proximal view; B and F in dorsal, plantar, medial and proximal view; C and I in dorsal, plantar, and medial view; K and E in dorsal and plantar view; G in dorsal and proximal view; J in mediolateral and proximal view.

TABLE 3. Length and indices of selected pedal phalanges of extant and fossil Tytonidae and extant Strigidae. Measurements of extant species taken by the authors; measurements of *T. robusta* and *T. gigantea* from BALL-MANN (1973, 1976).

Length of pedal phalanges	mm	mm	mm	mm	Index	Index
	Ph II 1	Ph II 2	Ph III 1	Ph III 2	II 1 / II 2	II 1 / III 1
extant Tytonidae						
<i>Tyto alba</i> (average, n=5)	12.5	15.5 (n=2)	6.3	12.7	0.8	2.0
fossil Tytonidae						
Tyto robusta (different individuals)	20.6 (n=3)	28.0 (n=1)	10.0 (n=1)	21.8 (n=2)	0.7	2.1
Tyto gigantea (different individuals)	26.0 (n=2)	40.0 (n=1)	13.5 (n=2)	28.8 (n=2)	0.7	1.9
M. montispetrosi nov. spec.	13.0	17.5	7.6	12.9	0.7	1.7
extant Strigidae						
Bubo bubo (average, n=2)	15.7	29.5	12.2	17.7	0.5	1.3
<i>Bubo scandiacus</i> (n=1)	12.3	23.3	9.5	14.9	0.5	1.3
<i>Strix aluco</i> (average, n=2)	10.4	17.6	7.3	11.9	0.6	1.4
Asio flammeus $(n=1)$	9.3	15.3	8.0	10.0	0.6	1.2
Asio otus (average, n=2)	9.1	15.6	6.8	10.0	0.6	1.3
<i>Ninox novaeseelandiae</i> (n=1)	9.0	-	8.0	10.0	-	1.1
Athene noctua (average, n=2)	6.8	10.9	5.2	7.4	0.6	1.3
<i>Athene cunicularia</i> (n=1)	6.2	10.0	5	7.1	0.6	1.2
<i>Otus scops</i> (n=1)	5.4	9.8	3.9	5.7	0.6	1.4
<i>Glaucidium passerinum</i> (n=1)	4.1	7.7	3.6	4.4	0.5	1.1

The indices for the fossil species of Tyto on

Tab. 3 fit well into the general picture if we consider that the measurements do not come from the same individuals.

In the first index (phalanx II 1/ II 2, feature 57) *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. agrees with the other barn owls. In the other index (phalanx III 1/phalanx III 2, i.e. feature 58) *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. is intermediate between *Tyto* and the strigids considered.

TABLE 4. Comparison of averaged metrical data and robustness-indices of tarsometatarsus (TMT) of Tertiary European Tytonidae. For comparison the recent European *Tyto alba* has been included. Measurements for *Necrobyas edwardsi*, *N. harpax*, *N. rossignoli*, *N. arvernensis*, *Sophiornis quercynus*, and *Palaeobyas cracrafti* from MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (1987, tab. 5), for *Prosybris antiqua* from MILNE-EDWARDS (1867–1871), for *T. sanctialbani* from La Grive-Saint-Alban from PAVIA & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (2011), for *T. campiterrae* from JÁNOSSY (1991) for *T. gigantea* from BALLMANN (1973, 1976), and for recent European *Tyto alba* from LANGER (1980).

					Tars	sometata	rsus		
species	type locality	age	mean L	mean Wp	mean Wd	mean Ws	Wp/L	Wd/L	Ws/L
P. cracrafti	Phosphorites du Quercy (F)	Eocene – Oligo- cene	~53.6 (n=1)	~16.5 (n=1)	~17.9 (n=1)	13.0 (n=1)	0.31	0.33	0.24
N. rossignoli	Phosphorites du Quercy (F)	Late Eocene	33.6 (n=8)	8.4 (n=7)	9.2 (n=8)	4.9 (n=7)	0.25	0.27	0.15
N. harpax	Phosphorites du Quercy (F)	Early Oligocene	37.1 (n=10)	9.1 (n=9)	10 (n=9)	4.9 (n=10)	0.25	0.27	0.13
N. edwardsi	Phosphorites du Quercy (F)	Late Oligocene	41.2 (n=6)	9.8 (n=5)	11 (n=5)	5.4 (n=9)	0.24	0.27	0.13
S. quercynus	Phosphorites du Quercy (F)	Late Oligocene	74.0 (n=1)	19.9 (n=1)	23.7 (n=1)	12.1 (n=1)	0.27	0.32	0.16
N. arvernensis	Staint-Gérand- le-Puy (F)	Early Miocene	43.8 (n=2)	9.8 (n=2)	11.6 (n=1)	4.1 (n=2)	0.22	0.27	0.09
P. antiqua	Saint-Gérand-le- Puy (F)	Early Miocene	34 (n=1)	6 (n=1)	6.5 (n=1)	3.0 (n=1)	0.18	0.19	0.09
<i>M. montispetrosi</i> nov. spec.	Steinberg (D)	Middle Miocene	55.1 (n=2)	10.5 (n=2)	11.8 (n=2)	5.5 (n=2)	0.19	0.21	0.10
T. sanctialbani	La Grive (F)	Middle Miocene	59.1 (n=2)	9.7 (n=6)	11.1 (n=17)	4.7 (n=16)	0.16	0.19	0.08
<i>T.</i> sp* (formerly <i>T. sanctialbani</i>)	Gargano, San Giovannino (I)	Late Miocene	77 (n=1)	12 (n=1)	-	_	0.16	_	_
T. campiterrae	Polgárdi (H)	Late Miocene	65.1 (n=2)	10.8 (n=9)	11.3 (n=5)	4.4 (n=3)	0.17	0.17	0.07
T. gigantea	Gargano, San Giovannino (I)	Late Miocene – Early Pliocene	129 (n=1)	21.6 (n=3)	25.6 (n=3)	_	0.17	0.20	_
<i>T. alba</i> , (males)	Europe	Recent	62.3 (n = 11)	8.9 (n =11)	10.1 (n = 11)	3.7 (n=11)	0.14	0.16	0.06
<i>T. alba</i> , (females)	Europe	Recent	58.7 (n=14)	9.0 (n = 14)	10.1 (n = 14)	3.9 (n=14)	0.15	0.17	0.07

* Formerly described as *T. sanctialbani* from Gargano, Italy (BALLMANN 1973, 1976) is synonymized by MLIKOVSKÝ (1998, 2002) with *T. balearica*, whereas LOUCHART (2002: 73) suggests that it probably is a different (new) species (see also PAVIA & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2011). However, it should be considered that the barn owls of Gargano were island inhabiting and show a remarkable increase in size. It is therefore the owl of the lowest stratigraphic level, *i.e.*, Biancone, which must be compared to *T. sanctialbani* from La Grive-Saint-Alban. The age of the Gargano faunas according to MASINI *et al.* (2013) span from the Late Miocene to the Early Pliocene.



FIGURE 10. Selected distinguishing characters between *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. (B, D, H, I, O, R, U, W), the extant *Tyto alba* (A, C, F, G, N, Q, T, V), and *Tyto sanctialbani* from La Grive-Saint-Alban (E invers, J, K, L, M invers, P invers, S, X). A and B) humerus dext. cranial view; C-E) scapula dext. lateral view; F-M) tarsometatarsus sin. proximal view (F, H, J), dorsal view (G, I, K, L, M); N–P) coracoid dext. dors. view; Q-U) tibiotarsus sin. cran. view (Q–S), medial view (T, U); V–X) femur dext. cran. view. Not to scale. Specimens of *T. alba* (A, Q, T, V: NHMW 2824 and C, F, G, N: NHMW 4434). Specimens of *T. sanctialbani* (E: NHMUK A345, J, K: NHMUK A305 lectotype, L: NHMUK A303 paralectotype, M: FSL 91627, P: NHMUK A324, S: NHMUK A304 paralectotype, X: NHMUK A1058; images of *T. sanctialbani* provided by M. PAVIA (University Torino).



- 117 -

FIGURE 11. Selected distinguishing characters between *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. (A, C, E) and *Phodilus badius* (USNM 20310) (B, D invers, F invers). A and B) humerus dext. cranial view, C and D) tmt sin. in dorsal and proximal view, E and F) femur dext. cranial view. Not to scale.

Comparison with Phodilus (Fig. 11)

The length of the tarsometatarsus of the measured specimen of Phodilus badius (USNM 20310) is 40.5 mm, the length of its femur is 46.0 mm. The index of tmt/femur of 0.8 compared to 1 for M. montispetrosi nov. spec. (see Tab. 5) shows that the tmt of *Phodilus* is markedly shorter in proportion. Furthermore, in Phodilus the sulcus extensorius on the tmt is longer than half the shaft and the crista hypotarsi more deflected in lateral direction (proximal view). On the slightly stouter femur the cranial linea intermuscularis does not merge proximally with the crista trochanteris but reaches up to the facies articularis antitrochanterica. The intumescentia humeri is clearly narrower in *Phodilus* than in *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. and the distal end of the humerus is more extended to both sides. In Phodilus the relative sizes of the phalanges are much the same as in Tyto (Ford 1967), whereas M. montispetrosi nov. spec. occupies an intermediate position to the strigids in this respect (Tab. 3). FORD (1967) mentions that in *Phodilus* the pedal phalanges IV 1 and IV 2 are fused, which is not the case in M. montispetrosi nov. spec.. Unfortunately, pedal phalanges were not available for the investigated specimen USNM 20310.

Comparison with Palaeogene and Neogene Tytonidae

In Tab. 4 the pertaining species are listed including their type localities and measurements of their tmt.

The tmt of Paleogene owls, where it is known (Sophiornis quercynus, Palaeobyas cracrafti) is characteristically stout. The distal extremity of the humerus is broad, where documented (Nocturnavis incerta). The species of Necrobyas are smaller than Miotyto montispetrosi nov. spec. and their tmt again is stouter, especially its distal extremity is broader (Tab. 4). Starting with Prosybris antiqua in the Early Miocene the proportions of the tmt become more comparable to extant Tyto. Prosybris antiqua is very similar to M. montispetrosi nov. spec. by its tmt proportion, but is distinctly smaller; furthermore, its tuberculum m. fibularis brevis is shorter and directed plantarly. Of the Neogene barn owls of the genus Tyto, T. campiterrae is larger. The skeletal elements of T. balearica from the type locality Cova de Canet (Mallorca), of which the length is known (humerus: 102mm; coracoid: 45mm; phalanx II 2: 20.7 mm) are longer than the corresponding bones in M. montispetrosi nov. spec. Also its tmt, as far as preserved, is more slender

than in *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. The subspecies *T. balearica cyrneichnusae* from Corsica and Sardinia is also clearly of greater size and its tarsometatarsus is more slender.

Nearest in size and shape to M. montispetrosi nov. spec. is T. sanctialbani from the type locality La Grive-Saint-Alban (France) such as described by LYDEKKER (1893) and more recently by PAVIA & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (2011). There are, however, some morphological differences (see also Fig. 10). The tarsometatarsus of M. montispetrosi nov. spec. is shorter and stouter (Tab. 4). The ratio of length of tarsometatarsus and coracoid to the femur, respectively, shows that the proportions of the leg and shoulder girdle of M. montispetrosi nov. spec. were different (Tab. 5). On the tarsometatarsus the arcus extensorius (1) of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. is vestigial, whereas completely missing in T. sanctialbani. The sulcus extensorius (4) is shorter in M. montispetrosi nov. spec., reaching further distal in T. sanctialbani. The tuberositas m. tibialis cranialis (3) in *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. is positioned slightly more distally on the shaft than in Tyto sanctialbani. The tuberculum m. fibularis brevis is directed plantolaterally in M. montispetrosi nov. spec. (15), while in T. sanctialbani it points in a purely plantar direction. In *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. the trochlea III bulges less dorsally and its sulcus extends further proximally (5) than in *T. sanctialbani*. On the femur of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec., the linea intermuscularis cranialis merges with the crista trochanteris (41) while in *T. sanctialbani* it reaches up to the facies articularis. The condylus lateralis on the tibiotarsus of *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. is slanted proximolaterally (47) unlike in *T. sanctialbani*. The proportions of the pedal phalanges (57 and 59) in *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. are diagnostic features, but cannot be compared to *T. sanctialbani* where the material is not complete enough.

Discussion and conclusions

The barn owl described here from the Middle Miocene (MN6) of the Nördlinger Ries represents a fossil genus near but not identical to *Tyto*. In a number of special characters (Tab. 2) it is distinct from *Tyto* and in some even resembles the Strigidae. *Prosybris antiqua* documented in the Early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (France), but possibly already present in the Oligocene of the Phosphorites of the Quercy

TABLE 5. Metrical comparison of *Miotyto montispetrosi* nov. spec. with *Tyto sanctialbani* from La Grive-Saint-Alban (measurements of the latter from PAVIA & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (2011)). Estimated measurements of slightly damaged bones are given in parenthesis.

	M. mor	ntispetrosi no	v. spec oldberg		<i>T. sanctialbani</i> from La Grive-Saint-Alban								
	GL	Wp	Wd	GL	Wp	Wd							
coracoid	(35)	_	(13)	37.8	_	_							
humerus	<i>c</i> . 90	17.0	14.4	-	_	11.7-14.8 mean (n=12) = 13.07							
femur	55	10.8–11.1 (n=2)	10.5	51.5-55.8 (n=2)	9.5-11.4 mean (n=3) = 10.13	8.9-11.8 mean (n=13) = 10.08							
tibiotarsus	90.5	_	10.9–11.0	_	_	9.0–10.3 mean (n=10) 9.78							
tarsometatarsus	55.1 (n=2)	10.4–10.5 (n=2)	11.8 (n=2)	58.1-60.0 (n=2)	9.3-10.0 mean (n=6) = 9.6	10.4-11.9 mean (n=17) = 11.06							
phalanx I 1	12.5–12.7 (n=2)	4.5-4.6 (n=2)	3.4–3.5 (n=2)	12.1	4.0	3.0							
phalanx II 1	13.0–13.1 (n=2)	7.0 (n=2)	4.3-4.5 (n=2)	13.1	6.6	4.2							
index coracoid/femur	0.64			0.70									
index tmt/femur	1.00			1.08									

		Sophi Palaeogla	orni iucii	thid dae	ae	inc sed							T	Y T Sele	0	N	I D	AE	=	F	Prot	tost	rigi	da	е			s	т	R	10	51	D	A E						
EPOCH	EUROPEAN MAMMAL ZONES	LOCALITIES	Palaeodlaux nemierensis	Palaeoglaux artophoron	Sophiornis quercynus	Berruornis orbisantiqui Perruornis helhodali	Palaeobyas cracrafti	Palaeotyto cadurcensis	Nocturnavis incerta	Necrobyas rossignoli	Necrobyas harpax Necrobyas educardei	Necrobvas medius	Necrobyas? arvernensis	Eostrix vincenti	Selenomis henrici	Selenomis steendorpensis	Prosybris antiqua (incl. N. minimus)	Motyto montispetrosi nov. spec.	Tuto campiterrae	Tuto rohusta	Tyto digantea	Olidostrix nunelensis	Mindaux debellatrix	Mioglaux poirrieri	Buho florianae	Bubo lionanac		Dubu perpasta	SITIX EDWARDSI	Alasio collongensis	Otus wintershofensis	Intulula brevis	Intulula tinnipara	Asio longaevus	Asio pygmaeus	Asio? ignotus	Asio flammeus	Glaucidium baranense	Surnia robusta	Aegolius funereus
LATE OCENE	MN16	Osztramos 7 (H) Rebielice Królewskie1 (PL Beremend 4 + 26 (H) Csarnóta 2 (H) Rippersroda (D)																																			1		1	
EARLY	MN15 MN14	Odessa, catacombs (UA)																						I											•					
LATE MIOCENE	MN13 MN12 MN11 MN10 MN9	Gargano (diff. sites) (l) Polgárdi 5 (H) Čebotarevka (UA) Kohfidisch (A) Csákvar (H)																1							•		ľ													
MIDDLE	MN7+8 MN6 MN5	La Grive-Saint-Alban (F) Toril 3A (E) Steinberg (D) Sansan (F) Vieux Collonges (F)															7	k																						
EARLY MIOCENE	MN4 MN3 MN2 MN1	Limberg (A) Merkur (Cz) Wintershof-West (D) StGérand-Ie-Puy (F)																															•							
LATE OLIGOCENE	MP29-30 MP28 MP26-27 MP25	Pech du Fraysse (F) Pech Desse (F) Belgarric (F) Phalip (F)					tv unknown – – –	ty unknown	y (F) — — — — —			tv unknown			ty unknown – – –																									
EARLY OLIGOCENE	MP24 MP23 MP22 MP21	Espenhain (D) Steendorp (B) Pech Crabit (F) Itardies (F) Fonbonne 1 (F) Mas-de-Got (F) Ravet Lupovici (F) Aubrelong (F)			es of the Quercy (F)		es of the Quercy (F). locali	es of the Quercy (F), locali	Phosphorites of the Querc			es of the Quercy (F). locali			es of the Quercy (F), locali																									
LATE EOCENE	MP20 MP19 MP18 MP17b MP17a	Escamps (F) Rosières 2 (F) Perrière (F) Salème (F)			Phosphorit		Phosphorit	Phosphorit				Phospharit			Phosphorit																									
MIDDLE EOCENE	MP12-16 MP11	Messel (D)																																						
EARLY EOCENE	MP7-10	Grange Farm (UK)							_		4																													
LATE PALEOCENE	MP6	Walbeck (D)				1																																		

FIGURE 12. Fossil record of Paleogene and Neogene Strigiformes (taxa adjusted) in Europe. Stratigraphy of the Paleogene and Neogene and correlation between epochs and the European mammal zones follow HILGEN *et al.* (2012) and VANDENBERGHE *et al.* (2012), respectively. Epochs and mammal zones not to scale. Note: Following the Neogene Stratigraphy (VANDENBERGHE *et al.* 2012) of the International Stratigraphic Chart 2012, the Mammal Neogene unit MN17 is not part of the Pliocene anymore; therefore *T. balearica*, which can only be confirmed from MN17 on (LOUCHART 2002), is not considered in this figure.

(France) might be at the base of the Tytoninae. The Early Miocene Strigidae from Saint-Gérandle-Puy (France), Wintershof-West (Germany), and Merkur (Czechia) can be considered to be the earliest typical owls known in Europe. We do not know when exactly the branching of the two families took place, but the Strigidae are younger. The extant genus Phodilus is credited with intermediate characters between the barn owls and the typical owls (BRODKORB, 1970). The comparison of M. montispetrosi nov. spec. with Phodilus, however, shows no special resemblance beyond the short tarsometatarsus without an ossified extensor loop (arcus extensorius). We may assume that *Phodilus* is a relict and that in the Middle Miocene and earlier a greater number of Strigiformes of intermediate systematic position existed.

Although distinguishable by several osteological details, as shown above, *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec. resembles most *T. sanctialbani* among European Miocene tytonids, especially in size and proportions; unfortunately, the proportions of the pedal phalanges (features 57 and 59) which are diagnostic for *M. montispetrosi* nov. spec., cannot be verified for *T. sanctialbani* as they are unknown to date.

M. montispetrosi nov. spec. is the only owl documented from the Middle Miocene deposits of the Nördlinger Ries and certainly most of the small-sized bird and small mammal remains (HEIZMANN & FAHLBUSCH 1983, HEIZMANN & HESSE 1995) originate from its regurgitated pellets. Probably the owl nested or had roosting places in crevices of the hills and spring mounds that emerged from the Ries crater lake.

At least one juvenile owl is documented by a tarsometatarsus and a tibiotarsus from the Goldberg 9 site. The presence of bones from a juvenile individual of M. montispetrosi nov. spec. indicates that the species was breeding at the Middle Miocene Ries Lake. A resident barn owl adds another species to the fossil bird fauna for the Nördlinger Ries indicative of warm climatic conditions.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the Bayerische Staatssammlung für Paläontologie und Geologie, Munich (BSPG), for putting the studied fossil material at our disposal. We thank A. GAMAUF and H-M. BERG from the ornithological department of the Naturhistorisches Museum Wien (NHMW) and J. DEAN from the National Museum of Natural History (Smithsonian Institution) Washington (NMNH) for providing skeletons of extant strigiforms for comparisons. We are grateful to M. PAVIA (University Torino) for providing photos of fossils of T. sanctialbani and to G.W. KAISER (Victoria, Canada) for improving the English of the manuscript. We thank C. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (Université Claude Bernard Lyon1) for comments on a previous version of the manuscript. The manuscript profited from comments by the reviewers C. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ and M. PAVIA.

References

- ARP, G. (2006): Sediments of the Ries Crater Lake (Miocene, Southern Germany). – Schriftenreihe der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Geowissenschaften, 45 (Sediment 2006: Abstracts and Field trips): 213–236.
- BALLMANN, P. (1969a): Les oiseaux miocènes de La-Grive-Saint-Alban (Isère). – *Geobios*, **2**: 157–204.
- BALLMANN, P. (1969b): Die Vögel aus der altburdigalischen Spaltenfüllung von Wintershof (West) bei Eichstätt in Bayern. – Zitteliana, 1: 5–60, 2.
- BALLMANN, P. (1973): Fossile Vögel aus dem Neogen der Halbinsel Gargano (Italien). – Scripta Geologica, 17: 1–75.
- BALLMANN, P. (1976): Fossile Vögel aus dem Neogen der Halbinsel Gargano (Italien) zweiter Teil. – *Scripta Geologica*, 38: 1–59.
- BALLMANN, P. (1979): Fossile Glareolidae aus dem Miozän des Nördlinger Ries (Aves: Charadriiformes). – Bonner Zoologische Beiträge, 1–2: 53–101.
- BALLMANN, P. (1983): A new species of fossil barbet (Aves: Piciformes) from the Middle Miocene of the Nördlinger Ries (Southern Germany). – Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 3/1: 43–48.
- BALLMANN, P. (2004): Fossil Calidridinae (Aves: Charadriiformes) from the Middle Miocene of the Nördlinger Ries. – Bonner zoologische Beiträge, 52/1–2: 101–114.

- BAUMEL, J.J., KING, A.S., BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E.& VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (1993): Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium. – *Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 1–779 pp.
- BILLBERG, G.H. (1828): Synopsis faunae Scandinaviae, tomo1, part 2 (Aves). – 208pp. Stockholm (Holmiae ed.)
- BOLTEN, R. (1977): Die karbonatischen Ablagerungen des obermiozänen Kratersees im Nördlinger Ries. Unpublished Ph D thesis at the Institut für Paläontologie und Historische Geologie, Universität München. – 228pp. Munich.
- BRODKORB, P. (1970): Two fossil owls from the Aquitanian of France. – *Quarterly Journal of the Florida Academy of Science*, **32**/2: 159–160.
- BOCK, W.J. & MCEVEY, A. (1969): The radius and relationship of Owls. – *Wilson Bulletin*, **81**/1: 55 – 68.
- BURTON, J.A. (ed.) (1973): Owls of the world: their evolution, structure, and ecology. – 216 pp. Peter Lowe/Eurobook Ltd.
- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (1999): Handbook of the Birds of the World, Vol.5. Barnowls to Hummingbirds. – 759 pp. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- DRIESCH, A. VON DEN (1976): Das Vermessen von Tierknochen aus vor- und frühgeschichtlichen Siedlungen. – 114 pp. Munich (Institut für Paläoanatomie, Domestikationsforschung und Geschichte der Tiermedizin der Universität München).
- FORD, N.L. (1967): A systematic study of the owls based on comparative osteology. – Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Michigan (Zoology). – 126 pp. Michigan.
- GAILLARD, C. (1939): Contribution à l'étude des oiseaux fossiles. – Archives du Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle de Lyon, 15: 100 pp.
- GEOFFROY SAINT-HILAIRE, I. (1830): Remarques sur les caractères et la classification des oiseaux de proie nocturnes et description d'un genre nouveau sous le nom de *Phodilus. – Annales des Sciences Naturelles Paris*, **21**: 194 pp.
- HEIZMANN, E.P.J. & FAHLBUSCH, V. (1983): Die mittelmiozäne Wirbeltierfauna vom Steinberg (Nördlinger Ries). Eine Übersicht. – Mitteilungen der Bayerischen Staatssammlung für Paläontologie und Historische Geologie, 23: 83–93.
- HEIZMANN, E.P.J. & HESSE, A. (1995): Die Mittelmiozänen Vogel- und Säugetierfaunen des Nördlinger Ries (MN6) und des Steinheimer Beckens (MN7) – ein Vergleich. – In: PETERS, D.E. [ed.]: Acta palaeornithologica. – Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 181: 171–185.
- HILGEN, F.J., LOURENS, L.J. & VAN DAM, J.A. (2012): The Neogene Period. – In: GRADSTEIN, F.M., OGG, J.G., SCHMITZ, M. & OGG, G. (eds.): A Geologic Time Scale 2012. – pp. 923–978. Amsterdam (Elsevier).

- JÁNOSSY, D. (1991): Late Miocene bird remains from Polgárdi (W-Hungary). Aquila, 98: 13–35.
- KÖNIG, C. & WEICK, F. (2008): Owls of the world. 2nd edition. – 528 pp. London (Helm).
- KUROCHKIN E.N. & DYKE, G. (2011): The first fossil owls (Aves: Strigiformes) from the Paleogene from Asia and a review of the fossil record of Strigiformes. – Paleontological Journal, 45/4: 445–458.
- LAMBRECHT, K. (1933): Handbuch der Palaeornithologie. – 1024 pp. Berlin (Gebrüder Borntraeger).
- LANGER, G. (1980): Vergleichende morphologische Untersuchungen an Einzelknochen in Mitteleuropa vorkommender mittelgroßer Eulenarten. – Unpublished Ph.D. thesis at the Institut für Paläoanatomie, Domestikationsforschung und Geschichte der Tiermedizin, Universität München. – 210 pp. Munich.
- LOUCHART, A. (2002): Les oiseaux du Pléistocène de Corse et de quelques localités Sardes – Écologie, évolution, biogéographie et extinctions. – Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, 155: 1–287.
- LYDEKKER, R. (1893): On some bird bones from the Miocene of La Grive-Saint-Alban, Département of Isère, France. – Proceedings of the Zoological Society London, 1893: 517–522.
- MASINI, F., RINALDI, P.M., SAVORELLI, A. & PAVIA, M. (2013): A new small mammal assemblage from the M013 Terre Rosse fissure filling (Gargano, South-Eastern Italy). – *Geobios*, **46**: 49–61.
- MAYR, G. (2009): Paleogene Fossil Birds. 262 pp. Berlin, Heidelberg (Springer).
- MAYR, G. & GÖHLICH, U.B. (2004): A new parrot from the Miocene of Germany, with comments on the variation of hypotarsus morphology in some Psittaciformes – *Belgian Journal of Zoology*, **134**/1: 47–54.
- MEIN. P. (1999): European Miocene mammal Biochronology. – In: Rössner, G.E. & HEISSIG, K. (eds.): The Miocene Land mammals of Europe. – pp. 25–38, Munich (F. Pfeil).
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1863): Mémoire sur la distribution géologique des oiseaux fossiles et description de quelques espèces nouvelles. – Annales des Sciences Naturelles, Zoologie, 20: 132–176.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1867–1869): Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire des oiseaux fossiles de la France, I. – 472 pp., Atlas I: pls 1–96, Paris (Victor Masson et Fils).
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1869–1871): Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire des oiseaux fossiles de la France, II. – 627 pp., Atlas II: pls 97–200, Paris (Librairie de G. Masson).
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1892): Sur les oiseaux fossiles des dépôts éocènes de phosphate de chaux du Sud de la France. – Compte-Rendu du Second Congrès Ornithologique International, Budapest: 60–80.

- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (1998): A new barn owl (Aves: Strigidae) from the early Miocene of Germany, with comments on the fossil history of the Tytoninae. – *Journal of Ornithology*, **139**: 247–261.
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (2002): Cenozoic birds of the world. Part 1: Europe. – 406 pp. Praha (Ninox Press).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1987): Les Strigiformes (Aves) des Phosphorites du Quercy (France): systématique, biostratigraphie et paléobiogéographie. – In: MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (ed.): L'évolution des Oiseaux d'après le Témoignage des Fossiles. – Documents des Laboratoires de Géologie de Lyon, 99: 89–136.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1994): A large Owl from the Palaeocene of France. *Palaeontology*, **37**/2: 339–348.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2001): The systematic position of the genus *Basityto* Mlikovsky 1998 (Aves: Gruiformes: Gruidae). – *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington*, **114**/4: 964–971.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., ALCOVER, J. A., MOYA, S. & PONS, J. (1980): Une nouvelle forme insulaire d'effraie géante, *Tyto balearica* nov. spec. (Aves, Strigiformes), du Plio-Pléistocène des Baléares. – *Geobios*, 13/5: 803–811.
- OLSON, S.L. (1985): The fossil Record of birds. In: FARNER, D.S., KING, J.R. & PARKES, K.C. (eds): Avian Biology, 8: 79–256, Orlando (Academic Press).
- PACHE, M., REITNER, J. & ARP, G. (2001): Geochemical Evidence for the Formation of a Large Miocene "Travertine" Mound at a Sublacustrine Spring in a Soda Lake (Wallerstein Castle Rock, Nördlinger Ries, Germany). – *Facies*, 45: 211–230.
- PAVIA, M. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2011): Redescription of *Tyto sanctialbani* (LYDEKKER, 1893) (Aves: Strigiformes) from its type locality of La Grive-Saint-Alban (Middle Miocene, France). – *Journal* of Vertebrate Paleontology, **31**/5: 1093–1101.
- PAVIA, M., LOUCHART, A. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2012): The extinct Barn Owls (*Tyto* spp.) of the western palearctic Neogene. – In: WORTHY, T.H. & GöHLICH, U.B. (eds): 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution, Abstracts, p. 24.

- PETERS, D.S. (1992): A new species of owl (Aves: Strigiformes) from the Middle Eocene Messel oil shale. – In: CAMPBELL, K.E. (ed.): Papers in Avian Paleontology honoring Pierce Brodkorb. – Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Science Series, 36: 161–169.
- RACHL, R. (1983): Die Chiroptera (Mammalia) aus den mittelmiozänen Kalken des Nördlinger Rieses (Süddeutschland). Unpublished PhD thesis at the Institut für Paläontologie und Historische Geologie, Universität München. – 284 pp. Munich.
- RICH, P.V. & BOHASKA, D.J. (1976): The world's oldest owl: a new strigiform from the Paleocene of southwestern Colorado. – *Smithsonian Contributions to Paleobiology*, 27: 87–93.
- RICH, P.V. & BOHASKA, D.J. (1981): The Ogygoptyngidae, a new family of owls from the Paleocene of North America. – *Alcheringa: An Australian Journal of Palaeontology*, **5**/2: 95–102.
- RIDGWAY, R. (1914): The Birds of North and Middle America, Part VI. – Bulletin of the United States National Museum, 50: 882 pp.
- Scopoli, G.A. (1769): Annus I Historico Naturalis. Descriptiones Avium. – 168 pp. Leipzig (C.G. Hilscher).
- SIBLEY, C.G. G. & AHLQUIST, J.E. (1972): A comparative study of the egg white proteins of non-passerine Birds. – Bulletin of the Peabody Museum of Natural History, **39**: 1–276.
- VANDENBERGHE, N., HILGEN, F.J. & SPEUER, R.P. (2012): The Paleogene Period. – In: GRADSTEIN, F.M., OGG, J.G., SCHMITZ, M. & OGG, G. (eds.): A Geologic Time Scale 2012. – pp. 855–921. Amsterdam (Elsevier).
- VOOUS, K. (1962): Die Vogelwelt Europas und ihre Verbreitung. – 284 pp. Hamburg (Parey).



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Who discovered the Phorusrhacidae? An episode in the history of avian palaeontology

ERIC BUFFETAUT

CNRS, UMR 8538, Laboratoire de Géologie de l'Ecole Normale Supérieure, Paris, France; E-mail: eric.buffetaut@sfr.fr

Abstract — Remains of giant predatory ground birds were first discovered in the Tertiary of Argentina at the end of the 1880s, within the context of a bitter competition between Florentino AMEGHINO (and his brother Carlos) and Francisco Pascasio MORENO, then director of the newly founded Museo de La Plata. The early stages in the discovery and description of the Phorusrhacidae were characterised by misidentifications, hurried publications, undue multiplication of taxa and a general climate of mutual distrust and hostility. One of the few positive points of the feud between AMEGHINO and MORENO was that it led to several palaeontological expeditions to southern Argentina, which resulted in the discovery of large quantities of important fossils. In many respects, the competition between the Argentinian palaeontologists parallels the well-known feud between E.D. COPE and O.C. MARSH, which took place in the United States at roughly the same time.

Key words: Phorusrhacidae, History, Argentina, Ameghino, Moreno, Mercerat

Introduction

At the end of the 19th century, the discovery of giant predatory flightless birds in the Cenozoic of South America attracted much attention in the palaeontological community and beyond, and can be considered as an important episode in the history of avian palaeontology. These birds are now generally known as Phorusrhacidae, although other names (e.g., Stereornithes) were once used. They are mainly known from South America, with a record ranging from the Palaeogene to the Pleistocene (ALVARENGA & HÖFLING 2003; AGNOLIN 2009; ALVARENGA et al. 2011; TAMBUSSI & DEGRANGE 2013), and have also been reported from the Plio-Pleistocene of North America (BRODKORB 1963) and the Eocene of Africa (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 2011); they appear to be present in the Eocene of Europe as well (ANGST & BUFFETAUT 2012). Reports of phorusrhacids from Antarctica were considered as unfounded by CENIZO (2012) and TAMBUSSI & DEGRANGE (2013). The first specimens were discovered in southern Argentina at the end of the 1880s, under rather peculiar circumstances. At that time, Argentine palaeontology was marked both by remarkably successful expeditions in various parts of the country, notably Patagonia, which revealed hitherto completely unknown vertebrate faunas, and by an acute feud between two of the leading Argentine researchers of the time, Florentino AMEGHINO and Francisco Pascasio MORENO. The discovery of the phorusrhacid birds is part of this wider story. Although its main outlines have been discussed in various reviews of the Phorusrhacidae (Alvarenga & Höfling 2003; AGNOLIN 2009), an examination of publications and correspondence by the protagonists



FIGURE 1. Florentino Ameghino (left) and Carlos Ameghino (right).

revealed various hitherto overlooked interesting points which are the topic of the present paper. For easier reading, quotations of papers in Spanish or French have been translated into English by the author.

The institutional and personal background

The palaeontological potential of southern Argentina had been revealed by Charles DAR-WIN during the voyage of the Beagle, when, in 1833, he discovered important fossil vertebrate localities in the vicinity of Bahía Blanca (DARWIN 1839). However, although subsequent travellers did occasionally collect fossils in Patagonia, it was not until the 1880s that systematic palaeontological research began to be carried out in what was then a remote and only partly explored part of Argentina.

This new development was largely a consequence of the establishment of the Museo de La Plata, a modern scientific institution that was launched in the then recently founded capital of Buenos Aires province thanks to an initiative of Francisco Pascasio MORENO (1852-1919), an active scientist, explorer and administrator, who had travelled extensively in Patagonia in the 1870s. Palaeontological research at the Museo de La Plata really started in 1886, when MORENO hired Florentino AMEGHINO (1854-1911) as subdirector and secretary of the museum. Although largely self-taught, AMEGHINO was a brilliant palaeontologist who had already made a name for himself internationally through his work on the fossil mammals of Argentina - although some of his interpretations were markedly idiosyncratic (for a recent biography of Florentino Ameghino, see CASINOS, 2012). Throughout his scientific career, Florentino Ameghino was seconded by his younger brother Carlos Ameghino (1865–1936), who from 1887 to 1903 conducted a total of 15 expeditions to Patagonia, in the course of which he collected a huge number of fossil vertebrate specimens which were described by his elder brother.

Carlos AMEGHINO had been employed by MORENO at the same time as his brother, as "travelling naturalist" for the Museo de La Plata. In that capacity, he was sent to southern Patagonia in January, 1887, to collect fossils, notably from localities that had been found by MORENO during some of his earlier visits to the Santa Cruz area (Ameghino 1887). Carlos's trip was enormously successful in terms of the number of fossils, mostly representing completely new taxa, that he collected. By the time he came back to La Plata in September, 1887, however, relations between his brother and MORENO had begun to deteriorate, for reasons involving both bureaucratic problems and a clash of personalities that have been discussed by various authors (FER-NICOLA 2011; CASINOS 2012). In January 1888, Florentino AMEGHINO resigned from his position at the Museo de La Plata, and in February of the same year, he was officially dismissed from it. In addition, access to the palaeontological collections was denied him, although he had provided a large part of them.

From then on, and until he finally became director of the Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales in Buenos Aires in 1902, Florentino AMEGHINO



FIGURE 2. Francisco Pascasio MORENO (left) and Alcides MERCERAT (right).

carried out his palaeontological researches without any permanent official support, which did not prevent him from sending his brother Carlos (who had left the Museo de La Plata together with him) on new collecting expeditions to Patagonia. Funding for them was provided by the book and stationary shop Florentino and his brother Juan ran in La Plata, supplemented by the occasional sale of fossil collections to European institutions (CASINOS 2012). Meanwhile, competing expeditions were sent from the Museo de La Plata to Patagonia by MORENO, each trying to collect and describe as many new fossils as possible, before the hated competitor could do so (a situation rather reminiscent of the well-known feud between E.D. COPE and O.C. MARSH in North America at roughly the same time). It is within this peculiar scientific framework of intense competition that the discovery of the Phorusrhacidae took place.

Phorusrhacos, an edentulous mammal?

When Carlos AMEGHINO came back from his first expedition to Patagonia in September 1887, he brought with him a considerable collection of fossil vertebrates, mainly from the Santa Cruz beds (now known to be Miocene in age, at that time considered as Eocene by Florentino AMEGHINO). In his own words, Florentino AMEGHINO worked "day and night" to produce preliminary descriptions of more than 120 species of fossil mammals collected by his brother, which were ready by 18th November, 1887 (AMEGHINO 1887). Possibly his relations with MORENO had already deteriorated and he wished to establish priority for the new taxa as quickly as possible — in any case he was in the habit of publishing very preliminary descriptions at a fast rate. Among the specimens described as new taxa was an incomplete large, edentulous lower jaw, which AMEGHINO placed among the Edentata under the heading "genera incertae sedis". He called the new taxon *Phorusrhacos longissimus* and stressed its considerable size and complete lack of teeth.

In 1889, Florentino AMEGHINO published a huge monograph on the fossil mammals of Argentina, partly based on material collected by Carlos in Patagonia in 1887, which should have been deposited in the Museo de La Plata, but apparently was appropriated by Florentino, and ultimately found its way into the Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales in Buenos Aires (FERNICOLA 2011). In that work, AMEGHINO (1889) described in more detail the mysterious toothless jaw. He emended the generic name to Phororhacos (however, the original spelling Phorusrhacos has priority and must be used, see BRODKORB 1963) Phorusrhacos longissimus was placed in a family of its own, the Phororhacosidae (later emended to Phorusrhacidae by BRODKORB 1963), itself placed among the Edentata and considered as completely extinct. AMEGHINO noted that the toothless tip of the jaw must have been covered by a horny sheath, similar to the beak of birds and turtles. No illustration was provided. On the basis of the first specimen discovered by Carlos



FIGURE 3. The type specimen of *Phorusrhacos longissimus* AMEGHINO, 1887: a lower jaw in ventral view (A), cross-section (B) and left lateral view (C), after AMEGHINO (1891a). The specimen was found in the Santa Cruz Formation of southern Patagonia by Carlos AMEGHINO in 1887.

AMEGHINO, the Phorusrhacidae were thus first interpreted by his brother Florentino as edentu-lous mammals.

It should be added that as late as June 1891, in a paper describing the characters of fifty new species of fossil mammals from Argentina, Florentino AMEGHINO described and figured a jaw fragment collected by Carlos in Patagonia as belonging to a new ground sloth, which he called *Tolmodus inflatus* (AMEGHINO 1891a). Only two months later, he reinterpreted it as a giant bird.

MORENO'S large birds from Monte Hermoso and southern Patagonia

As noted above, after Florentino and Carlos AMEGHINO left the Museo de La Plata at the beginning of 1888, MORENO continued the palaeontological exploration of Argentina by sending parties from the museum to various fossil-bearing areas. Thus was accumulated a vast collection which in many ways paralleled that brought together by Carlos AMEGHINO from Patagonia. MORENO was fully aware of Carlos's continuing collecting activities, and in order to gain priority over his rivals, between 1888 and 1891 he published a number of brief reports on the development of the Museo de La Plata and especially the new palaeontological discoveries made by its teams of field researchers. Thus, in 1888, he published a preliminary report on the activities of the museum during the first semester of 1888. In it, he emphasized the discoveries made at Monte Hermoso, a locality on the south-eastern coast of Buenos Aires province (therefore not properly speaking in Patagonia) that had already been visited by DARWIN, and more recently by Florentino AMEGHINO in 1887. There, fossiliferous beds now known to be Pliocene in age yielded an abundant vertebrate fauna. In his 1888 report, MORENO described in some detail the mammal assemblage and simply noted (MORENO 1888: p. 8) that 'large birds' ('grandes pájaros') were also present. This seems to be the first mention of giant birds in the Tertiary of South America.

In a later paper, MORENO (1889) provided more details about the large birds from Monte Hermoso. He mentioned that he had some remains of an enormous bird which he considered as "the largest to have taken flight in the South American region" (MORENO 1889: p. 29), and comparable only with Gastornis from Meudon (a giant flightless bird, at that time known mainly from fragmentary specimens from the Early Tertiary of Europe: see BUFFETAUT 1997). The available material consisted of part of a tibiotarsus, a fibula, parts of the femur and humerus and a cervical vertebra. The fragmentary tibiotarsus was 37 cm long and similar in size to that of an African ostrich. MORENO thought that these bones belonged to a "palmipedo lemelirostro" [sic] ("palmipèdes lamellirostres" was the name used by, among others, the French zoologist Alphonse MILNE-EDWARDS (1835–1900) for the group comprising ducks and swans). For this giant bird, he coined the name Mesembriornis Milne Edwardii [sic], in honour of MILNE-EDWARDS, the author of a monumental work on French fossil birds. That material from Monte Hermoso was described and figured two years later by MORENO & MERCERAT (1891). In addition, MORENO (1889) reported a second new bird taxon from Monte Hermoso,

based on an incomplete tarsometatarsal, which he called *Palaeociconia australis* and considered as a ciconiid. ALVARENGA & HÖFLING (2003) consider *Palaeociconia* as a junior synonym of *Mesembriornis*.

Although MORENO was mistaken about both the flight capabilities and the systematic position of the giant birds from Monte Hermoso, he was the first to clearly identify giant birds in the vertebrate faunas from the Tertiary of Argentina. Furthermore, in a report on the acquisitions and scientific results of the Museo de La Plata in 1889, MORENO (1890-1891) briefly mentioned that from October 1888 to August 1889 a party from the museum, led by Santiago Pozzi and Clemente ONELLI, had explored fossil localities discovered by himself along the Rio Santa Cruz, in southern Patagonia. Among their most extraordinary finds were remains of giant birds. One of them, according to MORENO, was larger than the largest living bird, the African ostrich. Another one was even larger and apparently had affinities with the dinornithids of New Zealand, being as large as or larger than them. It therefore appears that by the end of 1889, MORENO had obtained phorusrhacid remains not only from Monte Hermoso, but also from southern Patagonia and soon thereafter had identified them as belonging to giant birds.

Phorusrhacos as a bird?

Although Florentino AMEGHINO tried to hide this fact as much as possible in the papers he published in the early 1890s, the AMEGHINO brothers were at first much puzzled by MORENO's announcement of the discovery of giant birds in the Tertiary of Argentina. This is clearly shown by passages from the correspondence between Florentino and Carlos during some of the latter's early trips to Patagonia (Torcelli 1935a, b; Chiarelli 2006). A letter sent by Carlos from Rio Gallegos on 23rd December, 1890, during his long fourth expedition, is especially revealing. In it, Carlos first reflected on the position of Phororhacos, of which he had found an additional, more complete beak, and concluded that it was "an enigmatic animal". He clearly had read MORENO'S 1889 paper, and went on to note (TORCELLI 1935a: p. 181; CHIARELLI 2006: p. 86):



FIGURE 4. Bones of the giant bird *Mesembriornis* (tibiotarsus, fibula and vertebra) from Monte Hermoso, first reported by MORENO (1888, 1889), as figured by MORENO & MERCERAT (1891).

"Moreno's large fossil birds, which so much puzzled us (Mesembriornis, etc.) have also appeared. They are indeed gigantic birds, some of them perhaps as large as the Gastornis. Could not the beak of Phororhacos belong to one of these birds?"

Carlos, whose knowledge of anatomy and palaeontology was far from negligible, as shown by many of his letters to his brother, was thus the first to suggest that the mysterious *Phorusrhacos* was not a mammal, but a bird. However, he at first failed to convince his elder brother. In a reply sent from La Plata on 30th January, 1891 (TORCELLI 1935b: p. 10), the latter wrote:

"The possibility that the beak of Phororhacos belongs to a gigantic bird seems unlikely to me; because if it was so, they would be birds from groups completely distinct from those we presently know and without any relationship with the gigantic birds from Madagascar and New Holland. Personally, I tend to believe that it may well belong to an extinct giant monotreme".

It is difficult to decide what exactly led Florentino to change his mind, but he obviously did so during the first few months of 1891. A new discovery made by Carlos later during his fourth trip to Patagonia may have contributed to this change of interpretation. In a letter sent from Santa Cruz on 28th April, 1891 (TORCELLI 1935b: p. 19), he mentioned:

"A complete beak of Phororhacos, with which the head was also present, but could not be preserved. As measured in the field, it was 3 spans [about 69 cm] long".

This is clearly the specimen of *Phorusrhacos longissimus* described in detail by Florentino AMEGHINO in 1895, about which he mentioned that "the skull which accompanied that mandible could not be preserved; it fell into small pieces" (AMEGHINO 1895: p. 12).

The complete mandible, with its fairly well preserved articular regions, was clearly avian and could not be mistaken for that of a mammal. However that may be, in several papers published in 1891 in the *Revista Argentina de Ciencias Naturales*, a journal he co-edited and which served as a convenient outlet for his abundant scientific production, Florentino AMEGHINO not only mentioned his brother's discovery of giant bird remains in Patagonia, but also completely revised his interpretation of both *Phorusrhacos* and *Tolmodus* (see below).

Carlos's discovery was mentioned in the "correspondence, travels and explorations" section of the *Revista Argentina de Ciencias Naturales*. In it, Florentino published (supposedly on 1st April, 1891) excerpts from the above-mentioned letter sent to him by Carlos on 23rd December, 1890 (C. AMEGHINO 1891), dealing with the "exploration of the fossiliferous deposits of southern Patagonia". While the section about the enigmatic nature of *Phororhacos* was reproduced almost *verbatim*, the part about fossil birds was printed with revealing changes (C. AMEGHINO 1891: p. 121), as follows:

"The large fossil birds that so much puz-

zled me have also appeared. They are indeed gigantic birds, some of them per-haps as large as the Epiornis [sic]".

As can be seen, all mention of MORENO and his Mesembriornis had been deleted, as well as the question about Phorusrhacos. One can only suspect that Florentino AMEGHINO thus tried to deny MORENO any role in the discovery of the giant fossil birds of Argentina and to deflect attention from his misidentification of the Phorusrhacos jaw (perhaps the fact that his brother had been right about its avian nature, while he himself doubted it, was not a pleasant memory. Replacing "us" by "me" may reflect this). Why he chose to replace Gastornis by Aepyornis is unclear. Perhaps the huge recently extinct bird from Madagascar was more impressive than the poorly known Gastornis. Having tampered with Carlos's letter, Florentino later used it to claim priority for the discovery of the giant birds. In 1895, in a review of the fossil birds from Patagonia, he wrote that the first mention of the giant birds had been published by his brother Carlos in the above-mentioned 1891 note in the Revista Argentina de Ciencias Naturales (Ameghino 1895). Ameghino was rather disingenuous about this, since MORENO's mentions of the giant bird Mesembriornis from Monte Hermoso (MORENO 1888, 1889) and of huge fossil birds from southern Patagonia (MORENO 1890-1891) antedated the publication of Carlos's discoveries in southern Patagonia — as clearly shown by Carlos's December 1890 letter in which he mentioned MORENO'S work.

Be that as it may, Florentino went on to reinterpret *Phorusrhacos* and *Tolmodus* in the light of the recent discoveries of giant bird remains. In a paper on new discoveries and reinterpretations of fossil mammals and birds, published in August, 1891 (AMEGHINO 1891a), he admitted that he had erroneously referred both to the Edentata, but that his brother's discoveries in Patagonia had convinced him of his error. He gave a longer description of *Phorusrhacos longissimus* (as *"Phororhacos"*), including the original mandible, which was figured for the first time, and various other bones such as several post-cranial elements (as well as the above-mentioned skull that had crumbled before it could be collected).Two addi-



FIGURE 5. The *Phorusrhacos longissimus* specimen discovered by Carlos AMEGHINO in 1891, as illustrated by Florentino AMEGHINO (1895: Fig. 8). Except for the hook-like tip of the beak, the skull crumbled before it could be collected and was thus shaded on AMEGHINO's figure.

tional species of the genus (*P. Shenensis* and *P. delicatus*) were briefly described, and *Tolmodus inflatus* was referred to it, too, as *Phororhacos inflatus*. AMEGHINO added that these birds belonged to a family (previously considered by him as mammalian), the Phororhacosidae, which he was unable to place more precisely in avian classification. As to their size, he considered that by comparison with them the *Dinornis* from New Zealand were "dwarfs". Clearly, Florentino AMEGHINO was in a hurry to claim priority for as many giant bird taxa as possible, and he had good reason for that, as MORENO at that time was working on an ambitious editorial project concerning fossil birds.

MORENO and MECERAT's *magnum opus* and AMEGHINO's counter-attack

To replace Florentino AMEGHINO as subdirector and secretary of the Museo de La Plata, Moreno had hired a Swiss geologist, by the name of Alcides MERCERAT (VIGNATI 1936). Although many aspects of his life remain obscure (including his date of birth; he died in 1934), both his personality and his contributions to the geology and palaeontology of Argentina have generally not been highly regarded (see SIMPSON 1984 and CASINOS 2012 for details). Having been replaced at the Museo de La Plata by Santiago ROTH in 1895, he eventually stopped his scientific activities to become a surveyor. In 1891, MORENO & MERCERAT published in the Anales del Museo de La Plata a catalogue of the fossil birds of the Republic of Argentina, in the form of a large bilingual (Spanish and French) monograph, notable among other things for the huge size of its plates, which show the bones of various giant birds at their natural size (MORENO & MERCERAT 1891). MORENO and MERCERAT seized the opportunity to comment unfavourably on Florentino AMEGHINO's work, and did not fail to note that the latter had misidentified Phororhacos as a mammal. Although various types of fossil birds, including penguins and rheas, were described, much of the volume was devoted to phorusrhacids (for which the authors used the name "Stereornithes"). Besides a few already published taxa (including AMEGHINO'S Phorohacos longissimus, with the type dentary incorrectly interpreted as a premaxilla) the catalogue included a large number of new ones, many of which based on very fragmentary material and of doubtful validity ---a fact AMEGHINO was quick to point out, although he also was wont to erect new taxa on the basis of rather flimsy evidence. The fact that MORENO & MERCERAT's large monograph was published hardly two years after MORENO's first mention of giant birds (from Monte Hermoso) shows that within that short time interval the collectors from the Museo de La Plata (including, for a time, Carlos AMEGHINO) had been very successful in their quest for avian fossils, mainly in Patagonia.

While Carlos was continuing his explorations in Patagonia, Florentino lost no time in launching a counter-attack against MORENO & MERCERAT. At the end of 1891, he published in the *Revista Argentina de Ciencias Naturales* an "enumeration of the fossil birds from the Republic of Argentina" (AMEGHINO 1891b), which began with a fierce criticism of MORENO & MER-

CERAT'S work. According to AMEGHINO, that work was completely worthless and merely illustrated MORENO's megalomania. Most of the illustrations were of poor quality and the descriptions were "an innumerable succession of mistakes". AMEGHINO went on to provide a list of fossil birds from Argentina, never missing an opportunity to remind the reader that specimens described by MORENO & MERCERAT were part of his "old collection" (which he had sold to the Museo de La Plata) or had been collected by his brother Carlos when he was working for the museum. A large part of the enumeration was devoted to phorusrhacids (which were placed among the ratites), AMEGHINO claiming that several of the taxa erected by MORENO & MERCERAT in fact were junior synonyms of genera and species he had erected in several of his earlier publications. Thus, Mesembriornis and Patagornis were considered as junior synonyms of "Phororhacos", etc. As to the smaller form called Psilopterus by MORENO & MERCERAT, AMEGHINO claimed that the name was preoccupied and proposed Pelecyornis as a substitute. With this paper, Florentino AMEGHINO clearly tried both to reassert his position as the leading expert on the fossil birds of Argentina and to demonstrate the utter lack of scientific significance of MORENO & MERCERAT'S work.

Curiously enough, there was no immediate reaction from MORENO & MERCERAT to AMEGHI-NO's attack on their bird monograph. In 1895, Florentino AMEGHINO published one more paper on the topic, viz. a long bilingual (Spanish and French) review of the fossil birds of Patagonia, in which he provided more complete descriptions of the various taxa he had briefly mentioned in his 1891 papers, illustrated with accurate drawings of many specimens (AMEGHINO 1895). In the introduction to this work, he noted that the first mention of the existence of these giant birds had been made by his brother Carlos in his note of 1st April, 1891 in the Revista Argentina de Historia Natural (based on a letter which had been seriously tampered with by Florentino — see above). In fact, as noted above, MORENO had reported giant birds from Monte Hermoso as early as 1888, and had mentioned the discovery of enormous birds in southern Patagonia in a report on the activities of the Museo de La Plata for 1889, dated 1890-1891 (see above). Carlos had indeed found phorusrhacid remains in Patagonia as early as 1887, but, as mentioned above, Florentino had misinterpreted them as mammalian. He went on to claim that he had been the first to give descriptions and an illustration of some of these giant birds in his 1891 paper (AMEGHINO 1891a), which, according to him, had been published on 1st August, 1891. According to AMEGHINO's interpretation of publication chronology, MORENO & MERCERAT's catalogue had appeared only "toward the end of the month" (August). Therefore, that catalogue not only was of poor scientific value (as AMEGHINO was pleased to remind his readers), it had also been published after AMEGHINO's own descriptions and names of giant birds, which therefore had priority over the names given by MORENO & MERCERAT. This, as AMEGHINO noted, had already been pointed out in his December, 1891 paper on fossil birds (AMEGHINO 1891b).

This new paper by Florentino AMEGHINO eventually prompted a reaction by MERCERAT, who in 1897 published a paper on fossil birds in which he thoroughly disagreed with the publication dates provided by AMEGHINO in his 1895 paper (MERCERAT 1897). According to him, the text of the catalogue of fossil birds by MORENO & MER-CERAT had been published in May 1891, and the plates on 5th August. As to AMEGHINO's paper, it had been published on 11th August, not 1st August as claimed by its author. MERCERAT even claimed that AMEGHINO had been seen perusing the text and plates of the catalogue at the Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales in Buenos Aires a few days before his own paper appeared in print. According to this chronology, MORENO & MERCERAT clearly had priority over AMEGHINO. The dates provided by MERCERAT have been accepted by some recent authors (e.g., ALVARENGA & HÖFLING 2003). Independent evidence would be useful to confirm MERCERAT's assertions, as there is some evidence of unethical behaviour (including swindling) on his part (SIMPSON 1984; VIZCAÍNO et al. 2012).

The end of the controversy

The feud about giant fossil birds between AMEGHINO and MORENO & MERCERAT seems to

have petered out after 1897. A final paper on Stereornithes by MERCERAT (1899), who was soon to stop his palaeontological researches, was essentially a reply to a review of the giant birds from Patagonia by the German palaeontologist ANDREAE (1899), some parts of which he did not agree with. As to AMEGHINO, he no longer had much avian material to work on, because in 1896 he had sold most of his fossil bird collection to the British Museum (Natural History). It is a well-known fact that between his resignation/dismissal from the Museo de La Plata in 1888 and his appointment as director of the Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales in Buenos Aires, Florentino AMEGHINO's financial situation was precarious, since he lacked any permanent institutional support and had to pay for his brother Carlos's travels in Patagonia (SIMPSON 1984; CASINOS 2012). His stationery and bookshop business can hardly have been sufficient to cover all expenses, and it was supplemented by the sale of fossils to various European institutions (CASINOS 2012). As recounted in detail by CASINOS (2012), in 1895 AMEGHINO wrote to the director of the British Museum (Natural History), William Henry FLOWER, explaining that he was now concentrating on fossil mammals and was ready to sell his fossil bird collection, in order to support further work in Patagonia, for which he was short of funds. After some discussion about the sum requested by AMEGHINO (he eventually received 350 £), the collection was purchased by the London museum and arrived there in 1896. A few years later, this resulted in a monograph on the partial skeleton of "Phororhacos inflatus" by ANDREWS (1899). As pointed out by CASI-NOS (2012), ten years later, once he had become director of the Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales, AMEGHINO had cause to regret the sale of his fossil bird collection, when he had to be content with a cast of that skeleton sent by the British Museum (Natural History) as part of an exchange of specimens.

By the end of the 1890s, MORENO and MER-CERAT had virtually ceased their palaeontological activities (MORENO left the Museo de La Plata in 1906 because he disagreed with its incorporation into the University of La Plata and, as mentioned above, MERCERAT had turned to surveying). Florentino AMEGHINO became director of the Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales in Buenos Aires in 1902, which relieved him of the financial difficulties he had had to cope with for many years, and he continued his palaeontological researches until his death in 1911, but fossil birds no longer were one of his main fields of interest (he had become increasingly obsessed with his conceptions about the South American origins of most mammal groups, including man — see CASINOS 2012). The giant birds of Patagonia were still occasionally mentioned in some of his general papers and books about the palaeontology of Argentina, but he did not publish any original descriptions after his 1895 monograph. Carlos AMEGHINO went on collecting in Patagonia until 1903. However, except for a letter to his brother dated 28 February 1893 (TORCELLI 1935b: p. 47), in which he mentioned the discovery of an intact skull of Phororhacos with its mandible (probably that figured by AMEGHINO 1895: Fig. 1, as Phororhacos inflatus, and later sold to the British Museum), there is no indication that he found especially significant phorusrhacid material during his later expeditions. By that time, phorusrhacids had lost much of their novelty, although these spectacularly large and carnivorous birds have remained popular with both palaeontologists and the general public.

Conclusions

The main stages in the discovery of phorus hacid birds can be summarised as follows:

Phorusrhacid bones were first discovered by Carlos AMEGHINO during his first trip to Patagonia, in 1887, but they were misinterpreted as remains of edentulous mammals by Florentino AMEGHINO.

The first published reports of giant birds from the Tertiary of Argentina were by MORENO in 1888–1889, with notably *Hermosiornis*, from the Pliocene of Monte Hermoso. Moreover, MORENO reported the discovery of giant birds in southern Patagonia as early as 1890–1891.

Carlos AMEGHINO was the first to realise, in 1890, that *Phorusrhacos* was not a mammal, but a bird, a conclusion that his brother Florentino did not accept until the following year. Florentino AMEGHINO's initial misinterpretation of phorusrhacids may reflect the fact that he was mainly interested in mammals and, at least at the beginning, had relatively little knowledge of fossil birds.

Whatever its shortcomings, the publication of MORENO & MERCERAT's catalogue of fossil birds from Argentina in 1891 was a decisive element in the history of research on phorushacids, not only because it contained descriptions and illustrations of many new taxa, but also because it prompted Florentino Ameghino to quickly publish his own descriptions and interpretations of phorushacids.

In their fierce competition for Patagonian fossils, the Ameghino brothers on one side, MORENO and MERCERAT on the other, sometimes resorted to rather dubious practices, one of them being the hurried publication of very preliminary and partial results in journals they completely controlled. Florentino AMEGHINO went even farther when he tampered with one of his brother's letters before he published it, and when he possibly manipulated publication dates to claim priority. All this is of course reminiscent of the feud between E.D. COPE and O.C. MARSH that was taking place in North America at roughly the same time (SHOR 1974). As has been pointed out by many authors, the acrimonious competition between COPE and MARSH mostly had unpleasant aspects, but at least led to the discovery and description of large numbers of hitherto unknown fossil vertebrates. Similarly, the harsh competition between AMEGHINO and MORENO resulted in considerable progress in our knowledge of the extinct vertebrates of Argentina, including the hitherto unsuspected phorusrhacids. That this resulted in extremely tangled synonymy problems, some of which are still unresolved today, must be considered as one of the unwelcome consequences of this feud between two strong personalities.

Acknowledgments

Special thanks to Federico AGNOLIN (Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales "Bernardino Rivadavia", Buenos Aires) for providing me with essential documents. I am grateful to Sebastian APESTEGUIA (Universidad Maimónides, Buenos Aires) for making possible my 2012–visit to Buenos Aires, which resulted in this paper, and

to Adrià CASINOS (Universitat de Barcelona) for useful discussions about AMEGHINO and for his comments on the first version of the present paper. Luis CHIAPPE (Los Angeles) also provided a constructive review.

References

- AGNOLIN, F. (2009): Sistemática y Filogenia de las Aves Fororracoideas (Gruiformes, Cariamae). – 79 pp. Buenos Aires (Fundación de Historia Natural Félix de Azara).
- ALVARENGA, H., CHIAPPE, L. & BERTELLI, S. (2011): Phorusrhacids: the terror birds. In: DYKE, G. & KAISER, G. (eds): Living dinosaurs. The evolutionary history of modern birds. – pp. 187–208, Chichester (Wiley-Blackwell).
- ALVARENGA, H.M.F. & HöFLING, E. (2003): Systematic revision of the Phorusrhacidae (Aves: Ralliformes). – *Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia*, 43/4: 55–91.
- AMEGHINO, C. (1891): Exploracion de los depósitos fosíliferos de la Patagonia austral. – *Revista* Argentina de Historia Natural, 1: 119–121.
- AMEGHINO, F. (1887): Enumeración systemática de las especies de mamíferos fósiles coleccionados por Carlos Ameghino en los terrenos eocenos de la Patagonia austral. – *Boletin del Museo La Plata*, 1: 1–26.
- AMEGHINO, F. (1889): Contribucion al conocimiento de los mamíferos fósiles de la República Argentina. – Actas de la Academia Nacional de Ciencias de Cordóba, 6: 1–1027.
- AMEGHINO, F. (1891a): Mamiferos y aves fósiles argentinas – Especies nuevas, adiciones y corecciones. – *Revista Argentina de Historia Natural*, 1: 240–259.
- AMEGHINO, F. (1891b): Enumeración de las aves fósiles de la República Argentina. – *Revista Argentina de Historia Natural*, 1:441–453.
- AMEGHINO, F. (1895): Sur les oiseaux fossiles de Patagonie. – Boletín del Instituto Geográfico Argentino, 15/11–12: 501–602.
- ANDREAE, A. (1899): Zusammenfassendes Referat über die fossilen Riesenvögel aus Patagonien, speciell Phororhacos. – Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie, Mineralogie und Palaeontologie, 1899/2: 322–330.
- ANDREWS, C.W. (1899): On the extinct birds of Patagonia. – I. The skull and skeleton of *Phororhacos inflatus* Ameghino. – *Transactions of the Zoological Society of London*, **15**/3: 55–86.
- ANGST, D. & BUFFETAUT, E. (2012): A large phorusrhacid from the Middle Eocene of France and its palaeobiogeographical implications. – In: WORTHY,

T.H. & Göhlich, U.B. (eds): 8^{th} International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution. – p. 9, Wien (Naturhistorisches Museum).

- BRODKORB, P. (1963): A giant flightless bird from the Pleistocene of Florida. *The Auk*, **80**/2: 111–115.
- BUFFETAUT, E. (1997): L'oiseau géant *Gastornis*: interprétation, reconstitution et vulgarisation de fossiles inhabituels dans la France du XIXe siècle. – *Bulletin de la Société géologique de France*, **168**/6: 805–811.
- CASINOS, A. (2012): Un evolucionista en el Plata. Florentino Ameghino. – 428 pp. Buenos Aires (Fundación de Historia Natural Felix de Azara).
- CENIZO, M.M. (2012): Review of the putative Phorusrhacidae from the Cretaceous and Paleogene of Antarctica: new records of ratites and pelagornithid birds. – *Polish Polar Research*, **33**/3: 225–244.
- CHIARELLI, P. (ed.) (2006): Florentino y Carlos Ameghino. Reseñas de la Patagonia. Andanzas, penurias y descubrimientos de dos pioneros de la ciencia. – 181 pp. Buenos Aires (Ediciones Continento).
- DARWIN, C. (1839): Journal of researches into the geology and natural history of the various countries visited by H.M.S. Beagle. 615 pp. London (Henry Colburn).
- FERNICOLA, J.C. (2011): Implicancias del conflicto Ameghino-Moreno sobre la colección de mamíferos fósiles realizada por Carlos Ameghino en su primera exploración al río Santa Cruz, Argentina. – Revista del Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales, n.s., 13/1: 41–57.
- MERCERAT, A. (1897): Note sur les oiseaux fossiles de la République argentine. – Anales de la Sociedad Científica Argentina, 43–44: 222–240.
- MERCERAT, A. (1899): Sur les Stereornithes. Comunicaciones del Museo nacional de Buenos Aires, 1: 161–164.
- MORENO, F.P. (1888): Informe preliminar de los progresos del Museo La Plata, durante el primer semestre de 1888. – *Boletin del Museo La Plata*, 1: 1–35.
- MORENO, F.P. (1889): Breve reseña de los progresos del Museo La Plata, durante el segundo semestre de 1888. *Boletin del Museo La Plata*, **3**: 5–44.

- MORENO, F.P. (1890–1891): Reseña general de las adquisiciones y trabajos hechos en 1889 en el Museo de La Plata. – *Revista del Museo de La Plata*, 1: 57–70.
- MORENO, F.P. & MERCERAT, A. (1891): Catálogo de los pájaros fósiles de la República Argentina conservados en el Museo de La Plata. – Anales del Museo de La Plata, Paleontología Argentina, 1: 1–68.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., TABUCE, R., MAHBOUBI, M. ADACI, M. & BENSALAH, M. (2011): A phororhacoid bird from the Eocene of Africa. – *Naturwissen*schaften, **98**:815–823.
- SHOR, E.N. (1974): The fossil feud between E.D. Cope and O.C. Marsh. – 340 pp. Hicksville (Exposition Press).
- SIMPSON, G.G. (1984): Discoverers of the lost world. 223 pp. New Haven, London (Yale University Press).
- TAMBUSSI, C.P. & DEGRANGE, F.J. (2013): South American and Antarctic continental Cenozoic birds. Paleobiogeographic affinities and disparities. – 113 pp. Berlin (Springer).
- TORCELLI, A. (ed.) (1935a): Obras completas y correspondencia cientifica de Florentino Ameghino. Volumen XX. Correspondencia cientifica. – 623 pp. La Plata (Taller de Impresiones Oficiales).
- TORCELLI, A. (ed.) (1935b): Obras completas y correspondencia cientifica de Florentino Ameghino. Volumen XXI. Correspondencia cientifica. – 935 pp. La Plata (Taller de Impresiones Oficiales).
- VIGNATI, M.A. (1936): Alcides Mercerat. Revista del Museo de La Plata, Seccion oficial, 1935:75–77.
- VIZCAÍNO, S.F., KAY, R.F. & BARGO, M.S. (2012): Background for a paleoecological study of the Santa Cruz Formation (late Early Miocene) on the Atlantic coast of Patagonia. – In: VIZCAÍNO, S.F., KAY, R.F. & BARGO, M.S. (eds): Early Miocene Paleobiology in Patagonia. – pp. 1–22, Cambridge (Cambridge University Press).





Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



The Early Pliocene avifauna of Langebaanweg (South Africa): a review and update

ALBRECHT MANEGOLD¹, ANTOINE LOUCHART^{2,3}, JULIE CARRIER⁴ & ANDRZEJ ELZANOWSKI⁵

¹ Senckenberg Forschungsinstitut und Naturmuseum, Sektion Ornithologie, Frankfurt/Main, Germany; E-mail: albrecht.manegold@senckenberg.de

² Dept. Cenozoic Palaeontology, Iziko South African Museum, Cape Town, South Africa; E-mail: antoine.louchart@ens-lyon.fr

³ Team Evo-Devo of Vertebrate Dentition, Institut de Génomique Fonctionnelle, École Normale Supérieure de Lyon, France (present address)

⁴ Collège G. Baty, Pélussin, France

⁵ Museum and Institute of Zoology, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland; E-mail: elzanowski@miiz.waw.pl

Abstract — The present paper provides an overview of the famous but still insufficiently known early Pliocene avifauna of the Varswater Formation at Langebaanweg (South Africa). This site produced one of the largest pre-Pleistocene bird bone accumulations worldwide. According to latest estimates, over 35 bird families with at least 90 species have been recorded and most of them mark the earliest family records for the African continent. There is a great diversity of both seabirds such as petrels, prions, and shearwaters (Procellariidae), penguins (Spheniscidae), and terrestrial taxa such as shorebirds (Charadriiformes) and songbirds (Oscines, Passeriformes). Recent identifications of new species shed new light on the palaeoenvironment and palaeoecology of the site and reveal the co-existence of two distinct terrestrial habitats. Honeyguides (Indicatoridae) and several cavity-nesting birds such as parrots (Psittaciformes) and woodpeckers (Picinae) indicate the presence of woodlands. Two species of sandgrouse (Pteroclidae) and at least one species of large ostriches (*Struthio* cf. *asiaticus*) are characteristic of arid to semi-arid landscapes.

Key words: Upper Varswater Formation, palaeoenvironmental reconstructions, palaeoecology, birds

Introduction

The Upper Varswater Formation of Langebaanweg, 110 km NNW of Cape Town, South Africa (32°58' S, 18°7' E) (Fig. 1), dates from the earliest Pliocene (5.2 Ma; ROBERTS *et al.* 2011) and ranks among the richest fossil vertebrate sites in Africa and the world (WERDELIN 2010: p. 31). It stands out against other African fossil localities by the vast number of well preserved, though generally disarticulated bird remains (RICH 1980; HENDEY 1981), which can be referred to at least 90 species representing both marine and terrestrial taxa, most of which have yet to be described (Tab. 1). The Upper Varswater Formation is also exposed at Duinefontein, *c*. 30 km N of Cape Town and at Ysterplaat Air Force Base, Cape Town, but these sites produced comparatively few and less wellpreserved bones of mainly marine taxa (SIMPSON 1973, 1979b; OLSON 1985b) (Fig. 1). Langebaanweg is one of the largest pre-Pleistocene bird bone accumulations worldwide (RICH 1980),



FIGURE 1. Map of Western Cape Province, South Africa showing fossil sites with outcrops of Early Pliocene Upper Varswater Formation, i.e. Langebaanweg, Duinefontein, and Ysterplaat. The modern shoreline is shown in comparison with shoreline at the climax of the Early Pliocene marine transgression with sealevels c. 50 m higher than today resulting in a series of large offshore islands as suitable breeding sites for seabird colonies (after OLSON 1983, 1985a).

comparable to other famous fossil localities such as Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Early Miocene, France; CHENEVAL 1984; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1992) or Lee Creek Mine (Early Pliocene, North Carolina; OLSON & RASMUSSEN 2001).

The fossil record of birds from the early Neogene of Africa is still very scarce (*e.g.*, RICH 1974; HARRISON 1980; BRODKORB & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1982; LOUCHART *et al.* 2005a, b, 2008; DYKE & WALKER 2008), and many findings at Langebaanweg represent the earliest evidence of certain taxa in Africa or even in the world, such as hamerkop (Scopidae), painted-snipe (Rostratulidae), honeyguides (Indicatoridae), mousebirds (Coliidae), parrots (Psittaciformes), penguins (Spheniscidae), and true woodpeckers (Picinae) (SIMPSON 1971; RICH 1980; OLSON 1984, 1985d; RICH & HAARHOFF 1985; OLSON & ELLER 1989; MANE-GOLD & LOUCHART 2012). Some bird taxa of the Upper Varswater Formation are today endemic to Africa (hamerkop, mousebirds) or evidently of African origin (honeyguides), but fossil evidence for a bird taxon of probable Eurasian origin (a malarpicine woodpecker) was reported only recently (MANEGOLD & LOUCHART 2012).

Fossil assemblages close to the Miocene/Pliocene transition are particularly rare in Africa, so that Langebaanweg provides a rare insight into a period that is characterized by global cooling followed by the general spread of woodland savannahs and grasslands at the expense of forests (e.g., CERLING *et al.* 1997; BOISSERIE & MERCERON 2011), by the first evidence for an already diverse fynbos flora in the south western Cape (SCOTT 1995) as well as by sea level changes and the establishment of the Benguela Upwelling System off the west coast of southern Africa (HENDEY 1981; DIESTER-HAASS *et al.* 2004; HEINRICH *et al.* 2011; ROMMERSKIRCHEN *et al.* 2011).

Fossil bearing units of the Upper Varswater Formation at Langebaanweg can be identified by characteristic sediments as tidal mud flats, floodplains, and salt marshes, respectively (HENDEY 1981). Hypotheses on Early Pliocene palaeoenvironments at Langebaanweg and adjoining areas were largely based on the composition of the mammal fauna (HENDEY 1981) and palynological studies (SCOTT 1995), but the composition of Langebaanweg's avifauna has also proven to be of great significance for palaeoenvironmental reconstructions (RICH 1980; OLSON 1983, 1985a, c, 1994; HAARHOFF 1988). The Early Pliocene seabird fauna, for example, is surprisingly diverse and can only be compared to the recent seabird diversity in the Subantarctic realm, which led OLSON (1983, 1985a, b) to suppose that the Benguela Upwelling System was richer in nutrients and that its water temperatures were as cold or even colder than today. This would also be in accordance to certain morphological features of the seal Homiphoca capensis that were regarded as adaptations to low sea and ambient air temperatures (Hendey 1981: p. 69, but see Govender et al. 2012).

In comparison to the seabird fauna, the landbird fauna is less well studied, but seems dominated by two as yet unidentified species of

francolins, one of them showing greatest overall similarity to the Crested Francolin, Dendroperdix (Peliperdix) sephaena (RICH 1980; CROWE 1992). The landbird fauna also comprises at least one species of a large ostrich (Struthio cf. asiaticus, see below), the large stork Ciconia *kahli*, the ibis *Geronticus apelex*, and the small mousebird Colius hendeyi, which are all supposed to be characteristic for rather open and dry habitats (RICH 1980; HENDEY 1981; OLSON 1985c; RICH & HAARHOFF 1985; HAARHOFF 1988). Evidence for a tree kingfisher Halcvon sp. could also indicate open savannah and bushlands, where most of its extant relatives occur (OLSON 1994). OLSON (1994) also tentatively referred an isolated humerus to the buttonquail Turnix cf. hottentottus, stating that the fossil could have been as characteristic for short, moist grasslands as its modern relative. Large grazers, such as the large, early hippopotamine (Hippopotaminae sp.), the rhino Ceratotherium sp., the gomphothere Anacus capensis, the elephantids Loxodonta cookei and Mammuthus subplanifrons, and the three-toed horse Eurygnathohippus cf. baardi also suggest the presence of grasslands (HENDEY 1981; FRANZ-ODENDAAL et al. 2003; SANDERS 2007; BOISSERIE & MERCERON 2011). C₃ grasses apparently prevailed during the Late Miocene and Early Pliocene at Langebaanweg according to the study of isotopes (FRANZ-ODENDAAL et al. 2002) and of phytoliths (Rossouw et al. 2009), although in other parts of Africa C₄ grasses had already expanded considerably (CERLING et al. 1997).

Nevertheless, large browsers such as Sivatherium or the okapi-like Paleotragus in the fossil record imply the presence of woodlands as well (HENDEY 1981, but see FRANZ-ODENDAAL & SOL-OUNIAS 2004; BOISSERIE & MERCERON 2011: p. 356). Dental micro- and mesowear texture analyses of bovid teeth further indicate that six out of seven bovid species studied were browsers, not grazers as previously thought, and that Simatherium demissum probably was the only obligate grazer among Langebaanweg's bovids (UNGAR et al. 2007; STYNDER 2011). This might indicate that the palaeoenvironment was rather heavily wooded and not dominated by grass (STYNDER 2011). Among the micromammals, two species of archaic Myosorex shrews were also supposed to be indicative of woodlands based on habitat preferences of their modern relatives (MATTHEWS & STYNDER 2011).

The presence of a slow-streaming river with a system of drainage channels and small pools, swamps, and marshes is indicated by fossil evidence for a hippopotamine, as yet unidentified species of ducks, geese, and allies (Anatidae), a few rails (Rallidae), a crane (Gruidae), the Dabchick Tachybaptus ruficollis and another species of grebe Podiceps? sp., an ibis Threskiornis aff. aethiopicus, numerous waders (Charadriiformes), among them an extinct species of painted-snipe Rostratula minator, a cerylid kingfisher Cervle sp., intermediate in size between the African Pied Kingfisher Cervle rudis and Giant Kingfisher Megaceryle maxima (OLSON 1994), as well as numerous remains of several frog species (RICH 1980; HENDEY 1981; OLSON & ELLER 1989; OLSON 1994; BOISSERIE & MERCERON 2011) and evidence for pollen referable to aquatic and semi aquatic Ranunculaceae (SCOTT 1995: p. 67).

HENDEY (1982) proposed that the decrease in temperature and rainfall during the Miocene-Pliocene transition caused woodland to be increasingly confined to the immediate vicinity of the river whereas grasslands became more and more extensive. Accordingly, the palaeoenvironment at Langebaanweg could be imagined as a large "stream in a rather open savannah" (OLSON 1994).

Evidence for one species of Gerbillinae, which are characteristic for deserts and savannahs, indicates open and rather dry habitats in the area, though it is unlikely that such habitats were very extensive (MATTHEWS et al. 2007). However, the discovery of a new species of golden mole (Chrysochloridae) even suggests presence of arid, sandy habitats (Asher & Avery 2010). The humerus of the new species *†Chrysochloris* arenosa Asher & Avery, 2010 is very similar to that of its distant modern relative, the Grant's Golden Mole Emeritalpa granti, which could indicate similar adaptations for 'sand-swimming' in both of these species: Grant's Golden Mole dwells in large dune fields along the west coast of South Africa as well as in the Namib desert, where the sandy soil immediately collapses behind it while it moves through the sand.

Recent insights into the composition of the bird fauna (STIDHAM 2006; MANEGOLD 2010a, b,



FIGURE 2. Simplified cladogram of stem-lineage and crown group penguins after KSEPKA & CLAR-KE (2010) and KSEPKA & THOMAS (2012). Note that *†Palaeospheniscus? huxleyorum* was not included in these phylogenetic analyses, but tentatively assigned by KSEPKA & CLARKE (2010) to a clade that also comprises other species of *†Palaeospheniscus* as well as *†Eritiscus, †Dege hendeyi, †Marplesornis, and crown* group Spheniscidae. The systematic position of *†Dege* hendeyi outside crown group Spheniscidae is based on one plesiomorphic character and regarded as being only tentative (KSEPKA & CLARKE 2010). Extinct species are indicated by a dagger (\dagger) , numbers (1-5) refer to the number of independent colonization events that occured by the late Miocene (1-4) and during the Plio-Pleistocene (5), respectively.

2013; KSEPKA & THOMAS 2012; MANEGOLD & LOUCHART 2012; LOUCHART unpubl. data) also indicate that the palaeoenvironments were diverse and mosaic-like, and that the biogeographical history of certain taxa is more complex than previously thought. These findings are summarized and discussed in the following sections.

The Marine Avifauna

Penguins were the first fossil birds described from Langebaanweg by GEORGE GAYLORD SIMP-SON, who distinguished and named the four species Dege hendeyi, Inguza predemersus, Nucleornis insolitus, and Palaeospheniscus? huxleyorum (SIMPSON 1971, 1973, 1979a, b). All these species differ markedly in size, with N. insolitus being comparable in size to the largest modern penguins (Aptenodytes) and with I. predemersus being slightly smaller than the extant African Penguin (Spheniscus demersus) (SIMPSON 1971, 1973, 1979a, b; OLSON 1985b). Although SIMPSON considered these species to be closely related, he nevertheless described them as four extinct genera. N. insolitus, and P. huxleyorum have been originally described from the Upper Varswater Formation exposed at Duinefontein and Ysterplaat, respectively, but all four species were subsequently recorded for Langebaanweg (OLSON 1985b) with breeding evidence for I. predemersus at least (KSEPKA & THOMAS 2012).

Two recent cladistic analyses found no support for monophyletic Varswater penguins or for their close relationship to S. demersus, but indicate that probably neither D. hendeyi nor P. huxleyorum were part of crown group Spheniscidae (KSEPKA & CLARKE 2010: pp. 26-29), and that Aptenodytes, Pygoscelis, and N. insolitus are successive sister taxa to all the remaining crown group penguins, though the phylogenetic relationships of the aforementioned taxa to 'Pygoscelis' grandis WALSH & SUAREZ, 2006 are still uncertain (KSEPKA & THOMAS 2012) (Fig. 2). Inguza predemersus turned out to be part of a clade that also comprises the extant genera Eudyptes, Eudyptula, and Spheniscus (KSEPKA & THOMAS 2012) (Fig. 2). Based on these hypotheses it seems evident that four penguin lineages colonized Southern Africa independently by the Late Miocene, whereas the ancestor of S. demersus arrived later sometime during the Plio-Pleistocene (KSEPKA & CLARKE 2010; KSEPKA & THOMAS 2012; THOMAS & KSEPKA 2013).

Aside from the four species of penguins, the marine avifauna of the Upper Varswater Formation comprises three species of cormorants (Phalacrocoracidae), a small booby (Sulidae; also known from Duinefontein; OLSON 1985b), two species each of gulls and terns, and eight species of tubenoses (Procellariiformes) (OLSON 1983; 1985a). However, some of the cormorants, gulls, and terns might also have been associated with fresh water habitats (OLSON 1983). Only tubenoses have been adequately described. Remains of juveniles indicate that an albatross, a storm-petrel, and at least one, but possibly three prion species bred close to the fossil site (OLSON 1985a). Such a diverse marine avifauna is striking and comparable only to the present situation on certain Subantarctic islands (OLSON 1983). Not a single species of tubenoses breeds on any African continental island today (OLSON 1983), and only the African Penguin breeds along the Southern African coast with its small offshore islands, alongside with Cape Gannet (*Morus capensis*) and three cormorant species (*Phalacrocorax capensis*, *Miocarbo coronatus*, and *M. neglectus*) (HARRISON *et al.* 1997).

One explanation for the past diversity in seabirds is the greater number of potential nest sites for these taxa at that time. At the beginning of the Pliocene, sea levels were about 50 m above present-day conditions turning the West Coast Peninsula as well as Table Mountain and other peaks of the Cape Peninsula into large islands and thus providing suitable breeding sites for marine birds (OLSON 1983; KSEPKA & THOMAS 2012).

Furthermore, it was assumed that the past seabird diversity provides strong evidence that the Benguela Upwelling System off the southwest coast of Africa was both colder and richer in nutrients than today (OLSON 1983: p. 400). Recent estimates of past sea surface and subsurface temperatures indicate, however, that the Benguela Current was in fact much warmer than today during a period between 6.5 and 5 Ma, because the exchange between Antarctic deep water mass and North Atlantic Deep Water was reduced and consequently the heat export from the South Atlantic decreased (ROMMERSKIRCHEN et al. 2011). Water temperatures remained warmer than today – although began decreasing at the beginning of the Pliocene (DIESTER-HAASS et al. 2002; ROMMERSKIRCHEN et al. 2011). Marine productivity was nevertheless high and kept rising during this period (ROMMERSKIRCHEN et al. 2011), and was obviously sufficient for sustaining large seabird colonies

The Terrestrial Avifauna

Woodland species

Recent studies of several evidently woodland dwelling bird taxa such as a true woodpeckers (Picinae, Picidae), honeyguides (Indicatoridae), parrots (Psittacoidea), and several species of songbirds (Oscines, Passeriformes) strongly support current hypotheses that woodlands were more extensive at Langebaanweg than previously thought.

The recently described (MANEGOLD & LOUCHART 2012) true woodpecker from Langebaanweg, Australopicus nelsonmandelai (Fig. 3A-F) was comparable in size with the Greater Spotted, Dendrocopos major, or Red-bellied Woodpecker, Melanerpes carolinus. A phylogenetic analysis of 50 morphological characters shows that the fossil species is not closely related to any of the extant African woodpecker taxa such as Campethera, Geocolaptes or Dendropicos, but to a clade that comprises woodpeckers that are primarily characteristic of dense woodlands or forests in the tropics of the Old and New World, such as Celeus and Dryocopus (Fig. 4). Furthermore, the tarsometatarsus of the fossil woodpecker is short and stout (Fig. 3D-E), which is characteristic of the more arboreal woodpecker species, whereas more terrestrial woodpeckers such as Campethera or Geocolaptes have more elongated tarsometatarsi. Thus, the fossil woodpecker represents a previously unknown lineage of Eurasian origin with a strong association to woodlands. Australopicus probably became separated from its relatives in Eurasia during the period of general expansion of grasslands at the expense of forests and woodlands in the Late Miocene (MANEGOLD & LOUCHART 2012) that also led to the separation of other picine lineages (FUCHS et al. 2007), Sasia-piculets (FUCHS et al. 2006) and many other 'forest relicts' (LOUCHART 2003; LOUCHART et al. 2005a, 2008).

Extant honeyguides (Indicatoridae) also inhabit forests and various kinds of woodland, but avoid open savannah. Thus, evidence for Indicatoridae in the fossil record clearly indicates presence of wooded areas at or close to the fossil site. Langebaanweg honeyguides were first noticed by OLSON (1985d), but only recently



FIGURE 3. Recently described bird fossils from the Upper Varswater Formation, Langebaanweg (Early Pliocene, South Africa). (**A**–**F**) *Australopicus nelsonmandelai* (Picinae, Picidae): (**A**) right proximal ulna SAM PQ-L70284 in cranial view; (**B**) right distal ulna SAM PQ-L28428V in ventral view; (**C**) right carpometacarpus SAM PQ-L28203AS in dorsal view; (**D**–**E**, **G**) right tarsometatarsus L25293GR (holotype) in dorsal (**D**), plantar (**E**), and distal view (**G**); (**F**) right tarsometatarsus SAM PQ-L28199EE in proximal view. (**H**–**J**) Humeri of medium sized (**H**) and large (**I**–**J**) swallow species (Hirundinidae, Passeriformes) in cranial view: (**H**) left distal humerus SAM PQ-L 70289; (**I**) right distal humerus SAM PQ-L 70406; (**J**) right distal humerus SAM–PQ L 70288. (**K**) Left coracoid SAM PQ-L 20733N2 of a nightjar (Caprimulgidae) in medial view. (**L**-**P**) Lovebird *Agapornis attenboroughi* (Agapornithinae, Psittacoidea): (L) right coracoid SAM PQ-L704543 in dorsal view; (**M**) right humerus SAM PQ-L70432 in cranial view; (**N**) right carpometacarpus SAM PQ-L70451 in dorsal view; (**O**–**P**) right tarsometatarsus SAM PQ-L24480 in proximal (**Q**) and dorsal view (**S**); (**R**) left distal tarsometatarsus SAM PQ-L24480 in proximal (**Q**) and dorsal view (**S**); (**R**) left distal tarsometatarsus SAM PQ-L24480 in proximal (**Q**) and dorsal view (**S**); (**R**) left distal tarsometatarsus SAM PQ-L24480 in proximal (**Q**) and dorsal view (**S**); (**R**) left distal tarsometatarsus SAM PQ-L70432 in dorsal view; (**T**) left tarsometatarsus SAM PQ-L70441 of nestling parrot in dorsal view (MANEGOLD 2010a, b, 2013; MANEGOLD & LOUCHART 2012).

discovered material shows that in fact two species can be distinguished, which are tentatively referable to the genus *Indicator*. Both species were very small, but comparable to the tiny Least Honeyguide *I. exilis* and the only slightly larger Lesser Honeyguide *I. minor*, respectively. Although the biology and ecology of modern Indicatoridae are still insufficiently known, it seems evident that the last common ancestor of Indicatoridae was a brood parasite, and that the stem species of *Indicator* already had a strong preference for cavity nesting foster species, especially barbets (SHORT & HORNE 2002). Thus, the fossil honeyguides could have benefited from the excavating activities of *Australopicus*. Surprisingly, barbets are as yet not evident in the fossil record of Langebaanweg, and probable foster species for the two indicatorids remain to be identified. The co-occurrence of two species of *Indicator* and the honey badger *Mellivora benfieldi* at Langebaanweg (HENDEY 1978) is worth mentioning, although the alleged symbiotic relationship between the extant Greater Honeyguide *I. indicator* and Honey Badger *Mellivora capensis* is only a myth (DEAN *et al.* 1990).

Previous studies supposed that two or three parrot species can be distinguished in the fossil record of Langebaanweg (RICH 1980; STIDHAM



FIGURE 4. Simplified cladogram of woodpeckers (Picidae) based on a cladistic analysis of 50 morphological characters. *Australopicus nelsonmandelai* is sister taxon to a clade that comprises malarpicine woodpeckers primarily characteristic for tropical and subtropical forests (MANEGOLD & LOUCHART 2012).

2006). STIDHAM (2006) identified a species of lovebird (Agapornis sp.) and two other parrot species of uncertain affinities. Based on additional specimens (Fig. 3L-P), a new species of lovebird, A. attenboroughi, was described (MANEGOLD 2013), which is comparable in size to the small species of the A. personatus-group and which probably is a stem lineage representative of this taxon (Fig. 5). Except for the Black-collared Lovebird A. swindernianus, all lovebirds avoid primary forest, but prefer different kinds of woodlands (MOREAU 1948), and such habitat preferences might also apply to the fossil species. Although seeds of C₄ grasses play an important role in the diet of A. roseicollis and A. nigrigenis (WARBURTON & PERRIN 2005; NDITHIA & PERRIN 2006) it would be premature to take the new species of lovebird as an indicator of C_4 grasslands.

Khwenena leopoldinae is the second, recently described species of fossil parrot from Langebaanweg (Fig. 3Q–T; MANEGOLD 2013). It is of the size of the extant Ring-necked Parakeet *Psittacula krameri*, but is more closely related to the African Grey Parrot *Psittacus erithacus* and the genus *Poicephalus* (Fig. 4). Similarly to extant *Poicephalus* species, *K. leopoldinae* probably preferred woodlands with tall trees bearing suitable nest cavities – often provided by the



FIGURE 5. Simplified cladogram of parrots (Psittaciformes) after JOSEPH *et al.* (2012) indicating the phylogenetic position of the newly described lovebird and psittacine parrot from the Upper Varswater Formation, Langebaanweg (MANEGOLD 2013). Phylogenetic position of *A. swindernianus* is only tentative and awaits further study.

Amethyst Starling *Cinnyricinclus leucogaster* and two additional species of Sturnidae, which are among the most common songbirds in the fossil record of Langebaanweg. *Cinnyricinclus leucogaster* is no longer part of the Western Cape avifauna, but common in different kinds of African woodlands, where it breeds in tree cavities like most sturnids. It seems likely that this breeding behaviour also applied for all three fossil starling species, although building of exposed globular or domed nests evolved independently in several, only distantly related lineages of Sturnidae (LOVETTE & RUBENSTEIN 2007; CRAIG & FEARE 2009).

A fragmentary tarsometatarsus of a tiny songbird shows all the features characteristic for the closely related Old World warblers and babblers (Sylviidae and Timaliidae *sensu* GELANG *et al.* 2009). Extant Sylviidae with African and Eurasian distribution are regarded as typical for drier habitats, but Timaliidae are in general more characteristic for different types of forest, woodland, and thickets (GELANG *et al.* 2009).

Non-marine aquatic and semi-aquatic birds

About one third of all bird species were typical

for freshwater habitats. They comprise approximately 10–15% of all bird remains known from Langebaanweg and include predominantly members of the Charadriidae (ca. 15 species), and Anatidae (at least 4 species mainly by size groups). The latter family includes a large species, which probably represents the swan genus *Afrocygnus* LOUCHART *et al.*, 2005b (LOUCHART unpubl. data), based on the morphology of the humerus (LOUCHART *et al.* 2005b). This extinct endemic African swan was hitherto known from northern Africa only, and today swans are absent from sub-Saharan Africa (LOUCHART *et al.* 2005b).

Species of dry open grasslands, savannah and/ or arid habitats

Taxa characteristic for open habitats are the already mentioned ibis Geronticus apelex and stork Ciconia kahli (OLSON 1985c; HAARHOFF 1988), but also the as yet not described species of sandgrouse (Pteroclidae), bustards (Otididae), and thick-knees (Burhinidae) (RICH 1980; LOUCHART unpubl. data). Presence of fossil sandgrouse (Pteroclidae) and bustards (Otididae) at Langebaanweg was already mentioned by RICH (1980). More recent studies show that at least two species of *Pterocles* can be distinguished, which makes them the earliest record for crown group sandgrouse in the world (LOUCHART unpubl. data). Both Pterocles species differ in size, with the larger one being comparable to the extant Crowned Sandgrouse, P. coronatus, and the smaller species being even smaller than the modern Namaqua Sandgrouse, P. namaqua (LOUCHART unpubl. data). Today sandgrouse are among the most characteristic bird species of arid and semi-arid regions throughout Africa and Asia. Such preference for arid conditions might have been already present in stem-lineage representatives of modern Pteroclidae from the Palaeogene and Early Miocene of France (MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ 1992). A thick-knee and two species of bustards, one of them as large as the huge Denham's Bustard, Ardeotis denhami, but the second smaller and of the size of extant Afrotis bustards (LOUCHART unpubl. data), are represented by a handful of fossil remains each. The bustards in particular (less clearly so the thick-knee as some today favour rather humid habitats) also indicate arid to semi-arid environments, i.e. deserts to semi-wooded savannah, at or quite close to Langebaanweg five million years ago (LOUCHART unpubl. data).

Ostriches are among the most characteristic bird species of open habitats. The extant *Struthio camelus*, with four living and one recently extinct subspecies, prefers open short-grass plains and semi-deserts, and avoids areas with tall grass as well as dense woodlands, although open mopane woodland seems to be suitable for *S. camelus australis* (BROWN *et al.* 1982: p. 33). Fossil ostriches from SE Europe and the Middle East are characteristic elements of the *Hipparion*-fauna (BOEV & SPASSOV 2009). The presence of fossil ostriches in the Langebaanweg Varswater Formation has long been known (RICH 1980; HENDEY 1982: p. 70) but no study of this material has been undertaken before.

Thirteen among 17 leg bone fragments proved measurable in some dimensions except for the length of femur, tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus as these bones are preserved only as proximal, distal or shaft fragments, which makes straightforward body size estimations impossible. However, all available measurement values of these bones are substantially higher than those of any S. camelus, indicating a larger body size. The tibiotarsal shaft depth is 107.1%-127.1% and the distal end measurements 105.6% (width) and 116.6% (lateral depth) of the mean values for extant ostriches. The values for the fibular shaft are 105% (width) and 122% (diameter), and those of the tarsometatarsal shaft about 114% (depth) and 123% (width) of the mean for S. camelus. These ranges (especially in shaft depth) exceed the adult variation between the extant ostrich subspecies (SD=4.3%) and thus call for an explanation. Bone texture is not obviously unfinished in any of the five Langebaanweg tibiotarsi, which makes age-related variation unlikely to be responsible for the observed size ranges. The shaft depth reveals an indication of bimodality with two specimens measuring exactly 35.6 mm and two about 32 mm, which suggests either two (sub)species or sexual dimorphism. Except for size there is no evidence for two species and both larger and smaller specimens share the lateral trochlear crest that is more oblique than in Pleistocene and extant ostriches. Therefore, the observed size differences seem to be better accounted for by sexual dimorphism. In the extant ostriches the tibiotarsus (as well as femur and tarsometatarsus) tends to be wider and/or deeper in females (ELZANOWSKI *et al.*, unpubl. data). In addition to the four discussed tibiotarsi, the smallest Langebaanweg tibiotarsus (SAM PQ-L50093A) has the shaft depth (30 mm, 107.1% of the average for *S. camelus*) as in *S. barbarus* ARAMBOURG, 1979 from the Villafranchian of North Africa thus leaving a possibility of a second, smaller ostrich (sub)species being represented at Langebaanweg.

In contrast to the other leg bones, the Langebaanweg phalanges are essentially of the same length as those of the largest *S. camelus*. Since the Langebaanweg ostriches were larger, their phalanges were shorter relative to body size than they are in the extant ostriches. The Langebaanweg III/1 phalanges are similar in proportions to those of *S. camelus* and differ from the prevailing type of Pleistocene phalanges that are much less waisted and thus more cylindrical or rod-shaped than the Langebaanweg and extant *S. camelus* specimens.

In both size and shape of the phalanges as well as the body size (as approximated form the measurements of other leg bones), the large Langebaanweg ostriches are comparable to S. asiaticus as described from the latest Pliocene of North Africa (Morocco) by MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ & GERAADS (2008). Struthio asiaticus is about 20% larger than large S. camelus specimens and so are the shaft measurements of larger tibiotarsi, fibula, and tarsometatarsus from Langebaanweg. Growing larger (especially taller) is a common defence adaptation that is easiest to achieve developmentally. The Early Pliocene fauna of Langebaanweg abounded in large mammalian predators such as sabre-toothed felids, hyaenas, and giant civets (HENDEY 1982; WERDELIN 2006). However, the size dynamics of fossil ostriches needs to be discussed in a broader geographic and stratigraphic context. While in the post-Pliocene southern Africa the ostriches consistently decrease in size, even larger ostriches appeared in the Early Pleistocene of Kenya (LEAKEY 1965) and elsewhere. This suggests a role of local ecological factors that need to be analysed and compared against a paleogeographic background.

A guild of aerial insect hunters

Aerial insect hunters such as nightjars (Caprimulgidae) (Fig. 3K), swifts (Apodidae) and swallows (Hirundinidae) (Fig. 3H-J) are rarely described from pre-Pleistocene fossil localities, and evidence for all three taxa at Langebaanweg represents their first occurrence in the fossil record of Africa. Unfortunately, their use for palaeoenvironmental reconstructions is only limited. Habitat preferences of the Langebaanweg's nightjar cannot be deduced from the isolated coracoid referred to this species (MANEGOLD 2010a), and although open woodlands might have been the ancestral habitat of Caprimulgidae, few more forest adapted nightjars occur in Central Africa (Caprimulgus batesi, Veles binotatus) and Madagascar (Gactornis enarratus) (CLEERE & NURNEY 1998, HAN et al. 2010). The swift, known from a single humerus only and with strong resemblance to extant Alpine Swift Tachymarptis melba and Mottled Swift T. aequatorialis (LOUCHART unpubl. data) probably exploited food resources at Langebaanweg, but might have relied on the presence of rock crevices for nest building like most of the extant Apodidae (CHANTLER 1999). The rocky escarpments of the Piketberg massif, 50 km E of Langebaanweg, were already proposed as possible breeding site for the putative cliff nesting ibis Geronticus apelex (OLSON 1985c), but might also have been used by swifts. The same might also apply for the two unidentified species of Hirundinidae (MANEGOLD 2010b), because many extant swallows and martins breed in rock crevices or attach their mud nests to rock surfaces, but based on the limited fossil material it cannot be ruled out that the fossils retained the ancestral behaviour of Hirundinidae of excavating burrows in riverbanks (WINKLER & SHELDON 1993; MANEGOLD 2010b).

Discussion

A palaeoecological analysis of the highly diverse fossil avifauna indicates that the Early Pliocene Langebaanweg area was characterized by a mosaic of many fairly diversified habitats ranging from almost arid regions and open grasslands to floodplains, marshes, and woodlands. Evidence for typical inhabitants of tropical and subtropical forests such as pittas (Pittidae), broadbills (Eurylaimidae) and trogons (Trogonidae) is missing. This is in line with the lack of other key indicators of tropical or subtropical climate such as crocodiles (Crocodylia) (HEN-DEY 1973), and the general temperate character of the rest of the fauna and flora. Other groups of primarily forest taxa with a few secondarily dwellers of well-wooded savannah such as turacos (Musophagidae) and hornbills (Bucerotidae) are also missing. Apparently, precipitation at Langebaanweg was too low during the early Pliocene for sustaining forests that are suitable for these bird species. Surprisingly, there is still no evidence of barbets (Ramphastidae) and cuckoos (Cuculidae), which today are found in various habitats throughout sub-Saharan Africa. Even more remarkable is the absence of many aquatic taxa such as anhingas (Anhingidae), flamingos (Phoenicopteridae), herons (Ardeidae), or pelicans (Pelecanidae), which are known from the Miocene and Pliocene of sub-Saharan Africa (OLSON 1985c; LOUCHART et al. 2008). None of these taxa are strongly linked to tropical or subtropical climates, and it is hard to believe that they did not reach southern Africa in the early Pliocene. On the other hand, there is no obvious taphonomic phenomenon that might explain their absence from the fossil record. OLSON & ELLER (1989) supposed that the absence of these taxa could be explained by too small size and ephemeral nature of suitable aquatic habitats. However, the record of a hippopotamine, numerous anatids, charadriiforms, and rallids strongly suggests that fresh water habitats were present in the early Pliocene Langebaanweg area. The absence of flamingos alone (but not other missing groups) could be explained by the absence of alkaline or saline lakes that these birds require for feeding, and brackish lagoons or estuaries for their breeding colonies.

Birds continue to provide unique cues to the reconstruction of the Early Pliocene environment and local climate at Langebaanweg. Ongoing and future studies of certain bird groups will add more lines of evidence and help refine the present interpretations.

Acknowledgements

We thank S. TRÄNKNER (Senckenberg Forschungsinstitut Frankfurt) for taking the photographs as well as G. Avery, R. GOVENDER, D. HAMERTON, T. MATTHEWS, R. SMITH, and K. VAN WILLINGH (Iziko South African Museum Cape Town), P. HAAR-HOFF (West Coast Fossil Park), and D. STYNDER (University of Cape Town) for allowing access to collections and for sharing information on Langebaanweg's faunas, taphonomy, and geology. We also thank T. CASSIDY and G. DAVIES (Ditsong Museum, Pretoria), G. LENGLET (Institut royal des Sciences naturelles de Belgique, Brussels), Z. BOCHEŃSKI (Instytut Systematyki i Ewolucji Zwierząt, Kraków), R. van den Elzen and S. Rick (Museum Alexander Koenig Bonn), C. LEFÈVRE (Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle Paris), P. ECKHOFF, J. FIEBIG, and S. FRAHNERT (Museum für Naturkunde Berlin), M. LOUETTE (Musée royal de l'Afrique centrale Tervuren), L. MORUPEDI, R. NUTTALL, and D. DE SWARDT (National Museum, Bloemfontein, South Africa), J. COOPER and R. PRŶs-JONES (Natural History Museum, Tring), G. MAYR (Senckenberg Forschungsinstitut Frankfurt), as well as D. CHURCHES, P. HORTON, and M. PENCK (South Australian Museum, Adelaide) for allowing access to extant specimens and loans. Reviews by V. DE PIETRI and H. MEIJER helped to improve an earlier version of this paper. AE thanks C. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (CNRS, Lyon) for providing missing literature. AM thanks M. Koo-PMAN (Niven Library, Percy FitzPatrick Institute, University of Cape Town) for forwarding important references. AE was supported by Poland's Ministry of Science and Higher Education grant N N303 549339. AL and AM were supported by postdoctoral grant of the South African NRF/ African Origins Platform/West Coast Fossil Park Initiative, AL by NSF grant 0321893 HOMINID-RHOI, and Synthesys grant GB-TAF-1341, and AM by German Academy of Sciences Leopoldina Fellowship Programme grants BMBF-LPD 9901/8-183, LPDR-2009-1, and DFG grant MA 4809/1-1.

References

For authors and references of cited extant bird taxa see DICKINSON (2003) (passerines) and DICKINSON & REMSEN (2013) (non-passerines), for those of fossil bird taxa see Table 1 and references in the text. Nomenclature for extant mammal species follows WILSON & REEDER (2005), and that for fossil mammals is in accordance to that used in WERDELIN & SANDERS (2010).

- ARAMBOURG, C. (1979): Vertébré villafranchiens d'Afrique du Nord (Artiodactyles, Carnivores, Primates, Reptiles, Oiseaux). – 143 pp. Paris (Fondation Singer-Polignac).
- ASHER, R.J. & AVERY, D.M. (2010): New golden moles (Afrotheria, Chrysochloridae) from the early Pliocene of South Africa. – *Palaeontologia Electronica*, **13**/1 (3A): 12 pp.
- BOEV, Z. & SPASSOV, N. (2009): First record of ostriches (Aves, Struthioniformes, Struthionidae) from the late Miocene of Bulgaria with taxonomic and zoogeographic discussion. – *Geodiversitas*, **31**: 493–507.
- BOISSERIE, J.R. & MERCERON, G. (2011): Correlating the success of Hippopotaminae with the C₄ grass expansion in Africa: Relationship and diet of early Pliocene hippopotamids from Langebaanweg, South Africa. – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, **308**: 350–361.
- BRODKORB, P. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1982): Fossil anhingas (Aves: Anhingidae) from early man sites of Hadar and Omo (Ethopia) and the Olduvai Gorge (Tanzania). – *Geobios*, **15**: 505–515.
- BROWN, L.H., URBAN, E.K. & NEWMAN, K. (1982): The Birds of Africa. Vol. 1. – 521 pp. London, New York (Academic Press).
- BURCHELL, W.J. (1822): Travels in the Interior of Southern Africa, Vol. 1. – 582 pp. London (Longman, Hurst, Rees, Orme, and Brown).
- CERLING, T.E., HARRIS, J.M, MACFADDEN, B.J, LEAKEY, M.G., QUADE, J., EISENMANN, V. & EHLERINGER, J.R. (1997): Global vegetation change through the Miocene/Pliocene boundary. – *Nature*, **389**: 153–158.
- CHANTLER, P. (1999): Family Apodidae (Swifts). In: DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (eds): Handbook of the Birds of the World, Vol. 5, Barnowls to Hummingbirds. – pp. 388–457. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- CHENEVAL, J. (1984): Les oiseaux aquatiques (Gaviiformes à Anseriformes) du gisement aquitanien de Saint-Gérand-le-Puy deposits (Allier, France). Révision systématique. – *Palaeovertebrata*, 14: 33–115.

- CLEERE, N. & NURNEY, D. (1998): Nightjars: a guide to nightjars and related nightbirds. – 317 pp. East Sussex (Pica Press).
- CRAIG, A.J.F.K. & FEAR, C.J. (2009): Family Sturnidae (Starlings). – In: DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & CHRISTIE, D. (eds): Handbook of the Birds of the World, Vol. 14, Bush-shrikes to Old World Sparrows. – pp. 654–758. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- CROWE, T.M. (1992). Morphometric research on Miocene and Pliocene fossil phasianids from the west coast of southern Africa: Some preliminary taxonomic and phylogenetic conclusions. – In: BENNUN, L. (ed.): Proceedings of the 7th Pan-African Ornithological Congress. – pp. 217–225, Nairobi (PAOC Committee).
- DEAN, W.R.J., SIEGFRIED, W.R. & MACDONALD, I.A.W. (1990): The fallacy, fact, and fate of guiding behavior in the Greater Honeyguide. – *Conservation Biology*, **4**: 99–101.
- DICKINSON, E.C. (ed) (2003): The Howard and Moore Complete Checklist of the Birds of the World. 3rd ed. – 1039 pp. London (Christopher Helm).
- DICKINSON, E.C. & REMSEN Jr., J.V. (eds) (2013): The Howard and Moore Complete Checklist of the Birds of the World. Vol. 1: Non-passerines. 4th ed. – 461 pp. Eastbourne (Aves Press).
- DIESTER-HAASS, L., MEYERS, P.A. & VIDAL, L. (2002): The late Miocene onset of high productivity in the Benguela Current upwelling system as part of a global pattern. – *Marine Geology*, **180**: 87–103.
- DIESTER-HAASS, L., MEYERS, P.A. & BICKERT, T. (2004): Carbonate crash and biogenic bloom in the late Miocene: Evidence from ODP Sites 1085, 1086, and 1087 in the Cape Basin, southeast Atlantic Ocean. – Paleoceanography, 19 (PA1007): 19 pp.
- DYKE, G.J. & WALKER, C.A. (2008): New Records of Fossil 'Waterbirds' from the Miocene of Kenya. – *American Museum Novitates*, **3610**: 1–10.
- FRANZ-ODENDAAL, T.A., LEE-THORP, J.A. & CHIN-SAMY, A. (2002): New evidence for the lack of C_4 grassland expansions during the early Pliocene at Langebaanweg, South Africa. – *Paleobiology*, **28**: 378–388.
- FRANZ-ODENDAAL, T.A., KAISER, T.M. & BERNOR, R.L. (2003): Systematics and dietary evaluation of a fossil equid from South Africa. – South African Journal of Science, 99: 453–459.
- FRANZ-ODENDAAL, T.A. & SOLOUNIAS, N. (2004): Comparative dietary evaluations of an extinct giraffid (*Sivatherium hendeyi*) (Mammalia, Giraffidae, Sivatheriinae) from Langebaanweg, South Africa (Early Pliocene). – *Geodiversitas*, **26**: 675–685.
- FUCHS, J., OHLSON, J.I., ERICSON, P.G.P. & PASQUET, E. (2006): Molecular phylogeny and biogeographic history of the piculets (Piciformes: Picumninae). – *Journal of Avian Biology*, **37**: 487–496.

- FUCHS, J., OHLSON, J.I., ERICSON, P.G.P. & PASQUET, E. (2007): Synchronous intercontinental splits between assemblages of woodpeckers suggested by molecular data. – *Zoologica Scripta*, 36: 11–25.
- GELANG, M., CIBOIS, A., PASQUET, E., OLSSON, U., ALSTRÖM, P. & ERICSON, P.G.P. (2009): Phylogeny of babblers (Aves, Passeriformes): major lineages, family limits and classification. – *Zoologica Scripta*, **38**: 225–236.
- GOULD, J. (1834): Character of a new species of plover (Vanellus, L.), collected by Lieut. Allen in Western Africa. – Proceedings of the Zoological Society London, 1834: 45.
- GOVENDER, R., CHINSAMY, A. & ACKERMANN, R. R. (2012): Anatomical and landmark morphometric analysis of fossil phocid seal remains from Langebaanweg, West Coast of South Africa. *Transactions of the Royal Society of South Africa*, 67: 135–149.
- HAARHOFF, P.J. (1988): A new fossil stork (Aves, Ciconiidae) from the Late Tertiary of Langebaanweg, South Africa. – Annals of the South African Museum, **97**: 297–313.
- HAN, K.-L., ROBBINS, M.B. & BRAUN, M.J. (2010): A multi-gene estimate of phylogeny in the nightjars and nighthawks (Caprimulgidae). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, **55**: 443–453.
- HARRISON, C.J.O. (1980): Fossil birds from Afrotropical Africa in the collection of the British Museum (Natural History). – *Ostrich*, **51**: 92–98.
- HARRISON, J.A., ALLAN, D.G., UNDERHILL, L.G., HER-REMANS, M., TREE, A.J., PARKER, V. & BROWN, C.J. (eds) (1997): The Atlas of Southern African birds. Vol. 1: Non-passerines. – 758 pp. Johannesburg (Bird Life South Africa).
- HARTLAUB, G. (1855): Beschreibung einiger neuen [sic], von Herrn H. S. Pel, holländischem Residenten an der Goldküste, daselbst gesammelten Vögelarten. – Journal für Ornithologie, 3: 353–360.
- HEINRICH, S., ZONNEVELD, K.A.F., BICKERT, T. & WIL-LEMS, H. (2011): The Benguela upwelling related to the Miocene cooling events and the development of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current: Evidence from calcareous dinoflagellate cysts. – *Paleoceanography*, **26** (PA3209): 11 pp.
- HENDEY, Q.B. (1973): Fossil occurrences at Langebaanweg, Cape Province. – *Nature*, **244**: 13–14.
- HENDEY, Q.B. (1978): Late Tertiary Mustelidae (Mammalia, Carnivora) from Langebaanweg, South Africa. – Annals of the South African Museum, 76: 329–357.
- HENDEY, Q.B. (1981): Palaeoecology of the Late Tertiary fossil occurrences in 'E' Quarry, Langebaanweg, South Africa, and a reinterpretation of their geological context. – Annals of the South African Museum, 84: 1–104.

- HENDEY, Q.B. (1982): Langebaanweg A Record of Past Life. – 71 pp. Cape Town (South African Museum).
- JOSEPH, L., TOON, A., SCHIRTZINGER, E.E., WRIGHT, T.F. & SCHODDE, R. (2012): A revised nomenclature and classification for family-group taxa of parrots (Psittaciformes). – *Zootaxa*, **3205**: 26–40.
- KSEPKA, D.T. & CLARKE, J.A. (2010): The basal penguin (Aves: Sphenisciformes) *Perudyptes devriesi* and a phylogenetic evaluation of the penguin fossil record. – *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History*, 337: 1–77.
- KSEPKA, D.T. & THOMAS, D. (2012): Multiple Cenozoic invasions of Africa by penguins (Aves, Sphenisciformes). – *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 279: 1027–1032.
- LATHAM, J. (1790): Index ornithologicus, Vol. 2. 455 pp. London (Leigh & Sotheby).
- LEAKEY, L.S.B. (1965): 1: Olduvai Gorge 1951–1961: A preliminary report on the geology and fauna. – 117 pp. Cambridge (Cambridge University Press).
- LINENAUS, C. (1766): Systema naturae, 12th ed. 532 pp. Stockholm (Laurentius Salvius).
- LOUCHART, A. (2003): A true peafowl in Africa. South African Journal of Science, **99**: 368–371.
- LOUCHART, A., MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., VIGNAUD, P., MACKAYE, H.T. & BRUNET, M. (2005a): A finfoot from the Late Miocene of Toros Menalla (Chad, Africa): Palaeobiogeographical and palaeoecological implications. – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 222: 1–9.
- LOUCHART, A., VIGNAUD, P., LIKIUS, A., MACKAYE, H.T. & BRUNET, M. (2005b): A new swan (Aves: Anatidae) in Africa, from the latest Miocene of Chad and Libya. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 25: 384–392.
- LOUCHART, A., HAILE-SELASSIE, Y., VIGNAUD, P., LIKIUS, A. & BRUNET, M. (2008): Fossil birds from the Late Miocene of Chad and Ethiopia and zoogeographical implications. – *Oryctos*, 7: 147–167.
- LOVETTE, I. J. & RUBENSTEIN, D.R. (2007): A comprehensive molecular phylogeny of the starlings (Aves: Sturnidae) and mockingbirds (Aves: Mimidae): Congruent mtDNA and nuclear trees for a cosmopolitan avian radiation. – *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, **44**: 1031–1056.
- MANEGOLD, A. (2010a): First evidence for a nightjar (Caprimulgidae, Aves) in the early Pliocene of Langebaanweg, South Africa. – *Palaeobiodiver*sity and Palaeoenvironments, **90**: 163–168.
- MANEGOLD, A. (2010b): Two swallow species from the Early Pliocene of Langebaanweg (South Africa). – *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica*, **55**: 765–768.
- MANEGOLD, A. (2013): Two new parrot species (Psittaciformes) from the early Pliocene of Langebaanweg (South Africa) and their palaeoecological implications. – *Ibis*, **155**: 127–139.

- MANEGOLD, A. & LOUCHART, A. (2012): Biogeographic and paleoenvironmental implications of a new woodpecker species (Aves, Picidae) from the early Pliocene of South Africa. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, **32**: 926–938.
- MATTHEWS, T., DENYS, C. & PARKINGTON, J.E. (2007): Community evolution of Neogene micromammals from Langebaanweg 'E' Quarry and other west coast fossil sites, south-western Cape, South Africa. – Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 245: 332–352.
- MATTHEWS, T. & STYNDER, D.D. (2011): An analysis of two *Myosorex* species (Soricidae) from the Early Pliocene site of Langebaanweg (West coast, South Africa) using geometric morphometrics, linear measurements, and non-metric characters. – *Geobios*, **44**: 87–99.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1871): Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire des oiseaux fossiles de la France. Vol. 2. – 627 pp. Paris (Victor Masson et Fils).
- MOREAU, R.E. (1948): Aspects of evolution in the parrot genus *Agapornis. Ibis*, **90**: 206–239.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1992): Les gangas (Aves, Columbiformes, Pteroclidae) du Paleogene et du Miocène inferieur de France. – *Palaeovertebrata*, **22**: 73–98.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & GERAADS, D. (2008): The Struthionidae and Pelagornithidae (Aves: Struthioniformes, Odontopterygiformes) from the late Pliocene of Ahl al Oughlam, Morocco. – Oryctos, 7: 169–187.
- NDITHIA, H. & PERRIN, M.R. (2006): Diet and foraging behaviour of the Rosy-faced Lovebird *Agapornis roseicollis* in Namibia. – *Ostrich*, **77**: 45–51.
- OLSON, S.L. (1983): Fossil seabirds and changing marine environments in the late Tertiary of South Africa. – South African Journal of Science, **79**: 399–402.
- OLSON, S.L. (1984): A hamerkop from the Early Pliocene of South Africa (Aves: Scopidae) from Langebaanweg southwestern Cape Province. – *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington*, **97**: 736–740.
- OLSON, S.L. (1985a): Early Pliocene Procellariiformes (Aves) from Langebaanweg, south-western Province, South Africa. – Annals of the South African Museum, **95**: 123–145.
- OLSON, S.L. (1985b): An Early Pliocene marine avifauna from Duinefontein, Cape Province, South Africa. – Annals of the South African Museum, **95**: 147–164.
- OLSON, S.L. (1985c): Early Pliocene ibises (Aves, Plataleidae) from south-western Cape Province, South Africa. – Annals of the South African Museum, 97: 57–69.
- OLSON, S.L. (1985d): The fossil record of birds. In:

FARNER, D.S., KING, J.R. & PARKES, K.C. (eds): Avian Biology, Vol. 8. – pp. 79–238. New York, London (Academic Press).

- OLSON, S.L. (1994): Early Pliocene grebes, buttonquail, and kingfishers from south-western Cape Province, South Africa (Aves: Podicipedidae, Turnicidae, Halcyonidae). – Annals of the South African Museum, **104**: 49–61.
- OLSON, S.L. & ELLER, K.G. (1989): A new species of painted snipe (Charadriiformes: Rostratulidae) from the Early Pliocene at Langebaanweg, southwestern Cape Province, South Africa. – Ostrich, 60: 118–121.
- OLSON, S.L. & RASMUSSEN, P.D. (2001): Miocene and Pliocene birds from the Lee Creek Mine, North Carolina. In: RAY, C.E. & BOHASKA, D.J. (eds): Geology and paleontology of the Lee Creek Mine, North Carolina, Vol. III. – *Smithsonian Contributions to Paleobiology*, **90**: 233–365.
- PALLAS, P.S. (1764): Adumbratiunculae avium variarum praecedenti Elencho insertarum, sed quae in Systemate Naturae Illustr. Linnaei nondum extant. In: VOSMAER, A. Catalogue raisonné, d'une collection supérieurement belle d'Oiseaux [...]. pp. 1–7, La Haye.
- RICH, P.V. (1974): Significance of the Tertiary avifaunas from Africa (with emphasis on a mid to late Miocene avifauna from southern Tunisia). – *Annals* of the Geological Survey of Egypt, **4**: 167–210.
- RICH, P.V. (1980): Preliminary report on the fossil avian remains from late Tertiary sediments at Langebaanweg (Cape Province), South Africa. – South African Journal of Science, 76: 166-170.
- RICH, P.V. & HAARHOFF, P.J. (1985): Early Pliocene Coliidae (Aves, Coliiformes) from Langebaanweg, South Africa. – Ostrich, 56: 20–41.
- ROBERTS, D.L., MATTHEWS, T., HERRIES, A.I.R., BOULTER, C., SCOTT, L., DONDO, C., MTEMBI, P., BROWNING, C., SMITH R.M.H., HAARHOFF, P.J. & BATEMAN, M.D. (2011): Regional and global context of the Late Cenozoic Langebaanweg (LBW) palaeontological site: West Coast of South Africa. – Earth-Science Reviews, **106**: 191–214.
- ROMMERSKIRCHEN, F., CONDON, T., MOLLENHAUER, G., DUPONT, L. & SCHEFUSS, L. (2011): Miocene to Pliocene development of surface and subsurface temperatures in the Benguela Current System. – *Paleoceanography*, **26** (PA3216): 15 pp. doi:10.1029/2010PA002074.
- Rossouw, L., STYNDER, D.D. & HAARHOFF, P. (2009): Evidence for opal phytolith preservation in the Langebaanweg 'E' Quarry Varswater Formation and its potential for palaeohabitat reconstruction. – *South African Journal of Science*, **105**: 223–227.
- SANDERS, W.J. (2007): Taxonomic review of fossil Proboscidea (Mammalia) from Langebaanweg, South Africa. – *Transactions of the Royal Society*

of South Africa, 62: 1–16.

- SCOTT, L. (1995): Pollen evidence for vegetational and climatic change in Southern Africa during the Neogene and Quaternary. In: VRBA, E.S., DENTON, G.H., PARTRIDGE, T.C. & BURCKLE, L.H. (eds): Paleoclimate and evolution with emphasis on human origins. – pp. 65–75, Yale (Yale University Press).
- SHORT, L.L. & HORNE, J.F.M. (2002): Family Indicatoridae (Honeyguides). In: DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (eds): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 7. Jacamars to Woodpeckers. – pp. 274–295, Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- SIMPSON, G.G. (1971): Fossil penguin from the late Cenozoic of South Africa. – Science, 171: 1144–1145.
- SIMPSON, G.G. (1973): Tertiary penguins (Sphenisciformes, Spheniscidae) from Ysterplaats [sic], Cape Town, South Africa. – South African Journal of Science, 69: 342–344.
- SIMPSON, G.G. (1979a): A new genus of Late Tertiary penguin from Langebaanweg, South Africa. – Annals of the South African Museum, 78: 1–9.
- SIMPSON, G.G. (1979b): Tertiary penguins from the Duinefontein site, Cape Province, South Africa. – Annals of the South African Museum, 79: 1–17.
- SMITH, A. (1836): Report of the Expedition for Exploring Central Africa from the Cape of Good Hope, June 23, 1834, under the Superintendence of A. Smith. – 68 pp. Cape Town (Goverment Gazette Office).
- STIDHAM, T.A. (2006): Parrots (Aves: Psittaciformes) from the Miocene [sic] Varswater Formation, Langebaanweg, South Africa. – African Natural History, 2: 198–199.
- STYNDER, D.D. (2011): Fossil bovid diets indicate a scarcity of grass in the Langebaanweg 'E' Quarry (South Africa) late Miocene/early Pliocene environment. – *Paleobiology*, **37**: 126–139.
- TEMMINCK, C.J. (1815): Historie naturelle générale des pigeons et des gallinacés, Vol. 3. – 757 pp. Amsterdam (J.C. Sepp & Fils).

- THOMAS, D. & KSEPKA, D.T. (2013): A history of shifting fortunes for African penguins. – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **168**: 207–219.
- UNGAR, P.S., MERCERON, G. & SCOTT, R.S. (2007): Dental microwear texture analysis of Varswater bovids and early Pliocene paleoenvironments of Langebaanweg, Western Cape Province, South Africa. – Journal of Mammalian Evolution, 14: 163–181.
- WALSH, S.A. & SUAREZ, M.E. (2006): New penguin remains from the Pliocene of Northern Chile. – *Historical Biology*, 18: 115–126.
- WARBURTON, L.S. & PERRIN, M.R. (2005): Foraging behaviour and feeding ecology of the Black-cheeked Lovebird Agapornis nigrigenis in Zambia. – Ostrich, 76: 118–129.
- WERDELIN, L. (2006): The position of Langebaanweg in the Evolution of Carnivora in Africa. – *African Natural History*, **2**: 201–202.
- WERDELIN, L. (2010): Chronology of Neogene mammal localities. In: WERDELIN, L. & SANDERS, W.J. (eds): Cenozoic Mammals of Africa. – pp. 27–43, Berkley, Los Angeles, London (University of California Press).
- WERDELIN, L. & SANDERS, W.J. (eds) (2010): Cenozoic Mammals of Africa. – 986 pp. Berkley, Los Angeles, London (University of California Press).
- WILSON D.E. & REEDER, D.M. (eds) (2005): Mammal Species of the World. A Taxonomic and Geographic Reference. 3rd ed. – 2142 pp. Baltimore (Johns Hopkins University Press).
- WINKLER, D.W. & SHELDON, F.H. (1993): Evolution of nest construction in swallows (Hirundinidae): A molecular phylogenetic perspective. – *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, **90**: 5705–5707.

Appendix

TABLE 1. Bird taxa of the Upper Varswater Formation at Langebaanweg, earliest Pliocene of South Africa, and their likely preferential habitat types. As far as possible, the number of specimens (n) followed by the estimated minimum number of individuals (mni) is given for each species. Only rough estimates are given for certain taxa such as ducks, geese and swans (Anatidae), cormorants (Phalacrocoracidae), and birds of prey (Accipitridae). No hypotheses on the probable habitat types of the fossil representatives of birds of prey, doves and pigeons (Columbidae), owls (Strigidae), swallows (Hirundinidae), and swifts (Apodidae) are given because of their diverse habitat preferences.

Taxon	Abundance n/mni	Habitat type	References				
Struthioniformes, Struthionidae							
Struthio cf. asiaticus MILNE-Edwards, 1871	24/ <5	dry open grasslands, savannah and/or arid habitats fynbos mar-	RICH (1980); ELZANOWSKI <i>et al.</i> (unpubl. data)				
possibly another Struthio sp.	1/1	ginally open wood- lands					
Galliformes, Phasianidae							
<i>Francolinus</i> sp. <i>Dendroperdix</i> aff. <i>sephaena</i> (A. SMITH, 1836)	_/>500	open savannah and bushlands	Rich (1980);Crowe (1992)				
cf. Coturnix sp.	Rare	open grasslands, fynbos	Rich (1980); Hendey (1981)				
Anseriformes, Anatidae Anatidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. A, small Anatidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. B, small/ medium Anatidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. C, medium/ large cf. <i>Afrocygnus</i> sp.	-/>40	various fresh water habitats	RICH (1980, unpubl. data); LOUCHART, (unpubl. data)				
Sphenisciformes, Spheniscidae							
Inguza predemersus (SIMPSON, 1971) Dege hendeyi SIMPSON, 1979a Nucleornis insolitus SIMPSON, 1979b Palaeospheniscus? huxleyorum SIMPSON, 1973	7/2 14/3 2/2 Few	marine	Simpson (1971, 1973, 1979a, b); Olson (1983, 1985b); Ksepka & Thomas (2012)				
Procellariiformes, Diomedeidae							
<i>Diomedea</i> sp.	1/1	marine	Olson (1985a)				
Procellariiformes, Oceanitidae (Oceani- tinae)							
Oceanites zaloscarthmus Olson, 1985a	176/23	marine	Olson (1985a)				
Procellariiformes, Procellariidae							
Pachyptila salax OLSON, 1985a	203/20						
Pachyptila sp. B	2/2						
Pachyptila sp. C	4/3	marine	Olson (1985a)				
Puffinus sp.	3/3						
Procellariidae gen. et sp. indet.	1/1						
Taxon	Abundance n/mni	Habitat type	References				
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------	--	--	--	--
Procellariiformes, Pelecanoididae							
Pelecanoides cymatotrypetes Olson, 1985a	3/2	marine	Olson (1985a)				
Podicipediformes, Podicipedidae							
Podiceps? sp.	3/1	various fresh water habitats	Olson (1994)				
Tachybaptus ruficollis (PALLAS, 1764)	56/16	various fresh water habitats	Olson (1994)				
Ciconiiformes, Ciconiidae							
Ciconia kahli Haarhoff, 1988	30/2	open savannah and bushlands, fynbos?	Haarhoff (1988)				
Ciconiiformes, Threskiornithidae							
Geronticus apelex Olson, 1985c	15/2	grasslands, open savan- nah and bushlands	Olson (1985c)				
<i>Threskiornis</i> aff. <i>aethiopicus</i> (LATHAM, 1790)	1/1	various fresh water habitats, grasslands	Olson (1985c)				
Pelecaniformes, Scopidae							
Scopus xenopus Olson, 1984	2/2	various fresh water habitats	Olson (1984)				
Pelecaniformes, Sulidae							
<i>Sula</i> sp.	4/4	marine	Olson (1983, 1985b)				
Pelecaniformes, Phalacrocoracidae							
Phalacrocorax sp. A, small							
Phalacrocorax sp. B, medium sized Phalacrocorax sp. C, medium sized	-/>25	marine?	Olson (1983, 1985b)				
Falconiformes, Falconidae							
Falconidae gen. et sp. indet.	-/ ca. 5	-	Rich (1980)				
Accipitriformes, Accipitridae		_					
Accipitridae, Aegypiinae gen. et. sp. indet., sp. A							
Accipitridae gen. et. sp. indet., sp. B	- /10	_	RICH (1980)				
Accipitridae gen. et. sp. indet., sp. C	/10		Kieli (1960)				
Accipitridae gen. et. sp. indet., sp. D Accipitridae gen. et. sp. indet. sp. E							
Gruiformes Atitidae							
Otitidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. A. small	16/ < 5	dry open grasslands.	RICH (1980): LOUCHART (unpubl.				
Otitidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. B, larger		scrubland, fynbos, savannah and/or arid habitats, marginally open woodlands	data)				
Gruiformes, Rallidae							
several species; ranging from crake to <i>Porphyrio</i> size	_/<10	various fresh water habitats	RICH (1980); OLSON (unpubl. data)				
Gruiformes, Gruidae							
Gruidae gen et. sp. indet.	2/2	wetlands, open grass- lands	RICH (1980); LOUCHART (unpubl. data)				

Taxon	Abundance n/mni	Habitat type	References			
Charadriiformes, Turnicidae						
Turnix cf. hottentottus TEMMINCK, 1815	1/1	short, moist grasslands	Olson (1994)			
Charadriiformes, Burhinidae						
Burhinidae gen. et sp. indet.		dry open grasslands, fynbos, savannah and/ or arid habitats	RICH (1980); OLSON (unpubl. data), LOUCHART (unpubl. data.)			
Charadriiformes, Recurvirostridae						
Himantopus sp.		wetlands	RICH (1980); OLSON (unpubl. data)			
Charadriiformes, Scolopacidae						
aff. Gallinago sp.		open wetlands, swamps, marshes	RICH (1980); OLSON (unpubl. data)			
Charadriiformes, Charadriidae						
<i>Charadrius</i> sp. A, similar in size to <i>C. pecuarius</i>	mni > 50	open wetlands, grass- lands, seashores	RICH (1980); OLSON (unpubl. data)			
<i>Charadrius</i> sp. B, similar in size to <i>Pluvialis apricaria</i>						
<i>Charadrius</i> sp. C, smallest of all fossil <i>Charadrius</i>						
<i>Charadrius</i> sp. D, of the size of <i>C. marginatus</i>						
<i>Charadrius</i> sp. E, of the size of <i>C. placidus</i>						
<i>Charadrius</i> sp. F, of the size of <i>C. leschenaultii</i>						
<i>Charadrius</i> sp. H, of the size of <i>C. tricollaris</i>						
<i>Charadrius</i> sp. I, of the size of <i>C. mongolus</i>						
cf. Vanellus senegallus (LINNEAUS, 1766)						
cf. Vanellus albicens GOULD 1834						
cf Vanellus armatus (BURCHELL, 1822)						
Charadriidae gen. et sp. indet., similar to Vanellus (Stephanibyx) spp.						
Charadriidae gen. et sp. indet., similar in size to <i>P. apricaria</i> or larger						
Charadriiformes, Rostratulidae						
Rostratula minator Olson & Eller, 1989	16/4	open wetlands, swamps, marshes	Olson & Eller (1989)			
Charadriiformes, Laridae						
Larus sp. A, medium sized	Rare					
Larus sp. B, large sp.	1/1	marine?	$O_{\rm LSON}$ (1983, 1985b)			
Sterna sp. A, medium sized	Few	mar mç :	OLSON (1705, 17050)			
Sterna sp. B, larger	Few					

Taxon	Abundance n/mni	Habitat type	References		
Columbiformes, Pteroclidae					
Pterocles sp. A Pterocles sp. B	_/<5	grasslands, open arid/ semiarid habitats	Rich (1980); LOUCHART (unpubl data)		
Columbiformes, Columbidae Columbidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. A Columbidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. B	-/10	-	Rich (1980)		
Psittaciformes, Psittacoidea Agapornis attenboroughi MANEGOLD, 2013	30/4	woodlands	Rich (1980, unpubl. data); STID- HAM (2006); MANEGOLD (2013).		
Khwenena leopoldinae MANEGOLD, 2013	6/5	woodland	Rich (1980, unpubl. data); STID- HAM (2006); MANEGOLD (2013)		
Psittacoidea gen. et sp. indet., large	1/1	woodlands	STIDHAM (2006); LOUCHART (un- publ. data)		
Strigiformes, Strigidae Strigidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. A Strigidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. B	-/10-15	_	Rich (1980)		
Coliiformes, Coliidae					
Colius hendeyi Rich & Haarhoff, 1985	124/26	open savannah and bushlands	Rich & Haarhoff (1985)		
Alcediniformes, Alcedinidae					
Ceryle sp.	2/1	wetlands	Olson (1994)		
Halcyon sp.	1/1	open savannah and bushlands	Olson (1994)		
Piciformes, Picidae					
Australopicus nelsonmandelai MANEGOLD & LOUCHART, 2012	14/4	woodlands, forest	Manegold & Louchart (2012)		
Piciformes, Indicatoridae					
cf. <i>Indicator</i> sp. A cf. <i>Indicator</i> sp. B	- /4	woodlands, forest	Olson (1985d); Louchart & Manegold (unpubl. data)		
Apodiformes, Apodidae					
cf. Tachymarptis sp.	1/1	_	RICH (1980); LOUCHART (unpubl. data)		
Caprimulgiformes, Caprimulgidae					
Caprimulgidae gen. et sp. indet.	1/1	open woodlands?	Manegold (2010a)		
Passeriformes	_/>100				
Hirundinidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. A	3/3	_	Manegold (2010b)		
Hirundinidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. B	2/2	_	Manegold (2010b)		
Sturnidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. A		woodlands?			
Sturnidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. B		woodlands?			
Sturnidae gen. et sp. indet., sp. C, aff. Cinnyricinclus leucogaster	1/1	woodlands			
Sylvioidea, gen. et sp. indet.	1/1	woodlands?			



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



ZooBank LSID: urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:27204506-EBF6-40CB-A6CA-3A111728845B

New finds and revised taxa of Early Pliocene birds from Western Mongolia

NIKITA V. ZELENKOV

Borissiak Paleontological Institute, Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow, Russia; E-mail: nzelen@paleo.ru

Abstract — The Late Miocene-Early Pliocene Hyargas-Nuur formation in Western Mongolia yielded a rich fauna of birds which contributes significantly to our knowledge of the Neogene avian diversity in Asia. A study of new fossil remains, collected during the last 20 years, and a revision of several previously described taxa are presented in this paper. *Cygnus pristinus* is shown to be clearly separable from extant *C. olor. Podiceps solidus* and *Haliaeetus fortis*, initially described from the Late Miocene sediments, were found in the Early Pliocene. *Probalearica mongolica* is moved to the genus *Grus*, and a new genus *Pastushkinia* nov. gen. is erected for *Crex zazhigini*. Several new finds – a lapwing *Vanellus* cf. *V. leucurus*, two species of gulls (*Larus* spp.), and large *Gypaetus*-like accipitrid – represent the oldest records of the corresponding bird groups in Asia. A complete list of taxa known from the Early Pliocene of Western Mongolia is also presented.

Key words: Aves, Early Pliocene, Neogene, Central Asia, Fauna

Introduction

The fossil record of Neogene birds in Asia is very scanty, and Pliocene birds are especially poorly known. A small number of taxa (Struthio asiaticus MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871; Pelecanus sivalensis DAVIES, 1880; P. cautlevi DAVIS, 1880; Leptoptilos falconeri MILNE-EDWARDS, 1868; L. siwalikensis HARRISON, 1974; Cryptociconia indica HARRISON, 1974; Mergus sp.) has been described long ago from the Pliocene of Siwalik Hills in the Indian region (MILNE-EDWARDS 1871; DAVIES 1880; LYD-EKKER 1879, 1891; HARRISON 1974, 1979; see also LOUCHART et al. 2005 for review of Siwalik Leptoptiline storks). Several Pliocene birds were reported from Japan (RICH et al. 1986), but they were identified just up to family level. An isolated ilium from the Pliocene of Tuva (Siberia) was recently assigned to Buteo sp. (PANTELEEV et al. 2006). Several non-passeriform taxa and a representative fauna of songbirds are known from the Late Pliocene of Northern Mongolia and adjacent territory of Russia (KUROCHKIN 1985; ZELENKOV & KUROCHKIN 2009, 2010, 2012). The famous Chinese localities Ertemte and Baode, which yielded avian remains previously regarded as being Pliocene in age (RICH *et al.* 1986), are now placed in the terminal Miocene (QIU & QIU 1995). Thus the largest and by far the only representative fauna of Pliocene birds in Asia is that from Western Mongolia. It was thoroughly studied by KUROCHKIN (1971, 1976, 1980, 1985), but unfortunately was published mainly in Russian and due to this fact is very poorly known outside paleornithological community.

Neogene birds of Western Mongolia are known from a small number of relatively closely positioned localities in the Great Lake Depression (Fig. 1). Neogene sediments in this area are several hundred meters thick (DEVJATKIN 1981)



FIGURE 1. Map showing the location of the basic Late Miocene and Pliocene avian localities discussed in this paper. 1 – Hung-Kureh; 2 – Hyargas-Nuur 2; 3 – Zogsoo-Harhan 1 and 4; 4 – Chono-Harayah 1; 5 – Chono-Harayah 2.

and have been divided into several formations. Bird remains are most common in the youngest Hyargas-Nuur formation ("svita Khirgiz-Nur" of Soviet geologists), which is presumably roughly synchronous with previously described Hung-Kureh formation in Central Mongolia (BERKEY & MORRIS 1927; DEVJATKIN 1981). The Hyargas-Nuur formation was once thought to be Early-Middle Pliocene (DEVJATKIN 1981); this age was accepted by KUROCHKIN (1985 and earlier works). Later paleomagnitic and biostratigraphic data however provided evidence for the Late Miocene-Early Pliocene age of the Hyargas-Nuur formation (Pevzner et al. 1983; Devyatkin 1994). The two most important late Neogene avian localities of the Western Mongolia, Hyargas-Nuur 2 and Chono-Harayah (also known as "Khirgiz-Nur" and "Chono-Khariakh"; both contain sediments of Hyargas-Nuur formation) are now being correlated with the well-studied Chinese mammalian localities Ertemte (MN 13) and Bilike (MN 14), respectively (VANGENGEIM et al. 2005). The fauna of Western Mongolian Neogene birds, previously thought to be of Pliocene age, thus should be revised in the light of new biostratigraphic data. Additionally, more avian remains were collected from the Hyargas-Nuur formation by the Joint Soviet-Mongolian expedition since the work of KUROCHKIN. These data may shed light on systematic position and taxonomy of several taxa.

A revision of Phasianidae and most Anatidae from Hyargas-Nuur formation was published elsewhere (ZELENKOV & KUROCHKIN 2009, 2010; ZELENKOV 2012). In this paper I present new finds and revise several species of birds previously described by KUROCHKIN (1985 and earlier works) from the Early Pliocene (as currently understood) of the Hyargas-Nuur formation. This revision was possible because of both broader taxonomic comparisons and more fossil material available. In order to reduce the length of the paper, I am not discussing here species with unquestionable taxonomic or nomenclature status. A complete list of Early Pliocene birds from Western Mongolia is given in Table 1.

Materials and methods

A comprehensive description of geology and associated fauna of the Western Mongolian Pliocene avian localities can be found in DEVJATKIN (1981). The main avian localities are HyargasNuur 2 (MN 13) and Chono-Harayah 1 and 2 (MN 14). Several bone remains come from the localities Zavhan, Zogsoo-Harhan 1 and 4 (MN 14–15). The material is stored at the Borissiak Paleontological Institute of Russian Academy of Sciences in Moscow. The osteological terminology in this work follows BAUMEL *et al.* (1993). All measurements are in mm.

Abbreviations: CMC: Carpometacarpus, COR: Coracoid, FEM: Femur, HUM: Humerus, PIN: Borissiak Paleontological Institute of Russian Academy of Sciences, RAD: Radius, SCA: Scapula, TMT: Tarsometatarsus, TT: Tibiotarsus, ULN: Ulna.

Systematic Paleontology

Order Anseriformes WAGLER, 1831 Family Anatidae VIGORS, 1825

Cygnus pristinus Kurochkin, 1971 (Fig. 2)

- v. Cygnus pristinus Kurochkin, 1971: p. 60, fig. 2.
- v. *Cygnus pristinus* KUROCHKIN, 1976: p. 55, figs 3–5.
- v. *Cygnus pristinus* KUROCHKIN, 1985: p. 58, textfig. 27; pl. VII, figs 5–8.
- v. *Cygnus olor* (Gmelin, 1789): Mlíkovský & Švec 1986, p. 264.

Type locality: Hung-Kureh, Central Mongolia, Late Miocene-Early Pliocene (MN 13–15).

Stratigraphical and geographical distribution: Mongolia: Late Miocene (Hyargas-Nuur 2), Early Pliocene (Chono-Harayah 1 and 2; Zogsoo-Harhan 1 and 4).

Holotype: RAD sin., distal portion (PIN 2614/25). Figured in KUROCHKIN (1985) text-fig. 27; pl. VII, figs 5–8.

Emended diagnosis: Rather large swan, the size of extant *C. olor*, which can be distinguished from this species by the following characters. COR: processus acrocoracoideus not widening cranially in medial and lateral views; SCA: tuberculum coracoideum very large*, acromion oriented dorsocranially; HUM: distal end narrow with epicondylus ventralis weakly protruding

ventrally; longitudinal axis of fossa m. brachialis oriented proximodistally; RAD: fovea ligamentalis very deep*; CMC: processus extensorius markedly shorter*; phalanx proximalis digiti majoris: dorsal and ventral surfaces very releif, with deep pit on ventral surface; proximal articular surface dorsoventrally elongated; TT: incisura intercondylaris wider; TMT: fossa infracotylaris deeper*; trochlea metatarsi III oval in medial view and slightly widening distally in dorsal view; trochlea metatarsi IV with narrow sulcus on distal surface. Characters indicated by an asterisk (*) represent autapomorphies of the taxon.

Measurements: COR: depth at the level of glenoid facet, 18.5 (PIN 3222/32); diameter of cotyla scapularis, 7.4 (PIN 3222/32); SCA: maximal dorsovental height of caput scapulae, 23.3 (PIN 2614/111); length of facies articularis humeralis together with tuberculum coracoideum, 18.1 (PIN 2614/111); HUM: distal width, 35.5 (PIN 2614/108); proximodistal height of condylus dorsalis, 16.4 (PIN 2614/108); depth across condylus dorsalis, 20.1 (PIN 2614/108); ULN: maximal distal width, 22.2 (PIN 2614/109); depth of condylus dorsalis, 19.4 (PIN 2614/109); RAD: distal width, 16.6 (holotype); maximal distal depth, 7.9 (holotype); CMC: proximal craniocaudal height, 32.6 (PIN 2614/159); length of metacarpale I, 17.0 (PIN 3222/38), 17.6 (PIN 3378/100), 18.7 (PIN 2614/159); dorsoventral depth of trochlea carpalis, 13.0 (PIN 2614/159); 12.8 (PIN 3222/38), 12.5 (PIN 3222/671); distal dorsoventral depth, 1.1 (PIN 3222/40); phalanx proximalis digiti majoris: total length, 48.1 (PIN 2614/26); TT: distal width ~ 23.1 (PIN 2614/70); depth across incisura intercondylaris, 13.9 (PIN 2614/70); TMT: proximal width, 24.2 (PIN 2614/154); depth of cotyla medialis, 12.6 (PIN 2614/154); width of trochlea metatarsi III, 10.7 (PIN 3222/54); depth of trochlea metatarsi III, 15.4 (PIN 2614/54).

Description and comparisons: The processus acrocoracoideus of the coracoid is not widening in medial and lateral views (markedly widening in *C. olor;* almost straight in *C. melanocoryphus*); the cranial angle of the facies articularis humeralis is obtuse (as in *C. olor, C. bewikii* and *C. melanocoryphus*), but this character slightly varies individually in swans; impressio lig. acrocoracohumeralis with a markedly curved apex



FIGURE 2. Selected remains of *Cygnus pristinus* KUROCHKIN, 1971 (1, 3, 5, 7–10, 12–15) from the Late Miocene and Early Pliocene of Western Mongolia compared with those of extant *C. olor* (2, 4, 6, 11). *Cygnus pristinus* KUROCHKIN, 1971: 1 cranial fragment of right coracoid, PIN 3222/32 in lateral (a) and ventral (b) views; 3, cranial fragment of left scapula, PIN 2614/111 in medial view; 5, distal fragment of right humerus, PIN 2614/108 in cranial (5a) and distal (5b) views; 7, holotype, distal fragment of left radius, PIN, 2614/25 in dorsal view; 8, distal fragment of left ulna, PIN 2737/391 in ventral view; 9, basal phalanx of the major wing digit, PIN 2614/26 in dorsal view; 10, proximal fragment of right carpometacarpus, PIN 2614/159 in ventral view; 12, distal fragment of right radius, PIN 2614/164 in cranial view; 14, proximal fragment of right tarsometatarsus, PIN 2614/154 in cranial view. *Cygnus olor*, extant: 2, cranial fragment of right coracoid in ventral view; 4, cranial fragment of left scapula in medial view; 6, distal fragment of right humerus in cranial view; 11, right carpometacarpus: ventral view of proximal part (11a) and distal view (11b). Scale bar equals 1 cm.

(as in *C. olor*), this impressio is more narrow and straight in other species; the cranial margin of the medial surface of the acrocoracoid is semicircular in medial view (as in *C. olor*), while this outline is more or less straight in other species. The most characteristic of the scapula of *C. pristinus* is the enlarged tuberculum coracoideum, unlike that of any of the extant species of swans. The acromion is pointing dorsocranially in *C. pristinus*, while it is oriented more cranially in *C. olor* and *C. buccinator*, and more dorsally in other species.

The distal humerus of C. pristinus resembles C. cygnus and differs from that of C. olor by weakly protruding ventrally epicondylus ventralis (the whole distal end is thus looks narrow in C. pristinus and C. cygnus); the fossa m. brachialis is oriented proximodistally in C. pristinus while it is angled in other swans; the epicondylus dorsalis is more strongly developed in C. pristinus than in C. cygnus, but less than that in C. olor and C. melanocoryphus; the fossa olecrani is deep as in C. olor and C. bewikii. The tuberculum carpale of ulna is proximodistally wide in C. pristinus as in C. olor. The most characteristic feature of the distal radius is its blunt distal outline (as in C. olor; pointed in other swans). Fovea ligamentalis is deeper than in other swans; sulcus ligamentosus is well marked (normally vestigial in other swans but weekly developed in C. olor). In the carpometacarpus, there is a pit just distal to the processus pisiformis and an indistinct notch in the ventral outline of the trochlea carpalis; the trochlea carpalis itself is roundish in ventral view and its dorsal half is weakly protruding proximally. In all of these four characters of the carpometacarpus, C. pristinus agrees with C. olor. The processus extensorius is however markedly proximodistally shorter in C. pristinus than in all extant species. The facies articularis dig. minoris is wide in C. pristinus as in C. olor. The proximal phalanx of the major wing digit is shortened, as in C. olor, but its surfaces are very relief and, in contrast to all other species, deep pits are present on both ventral and dorsal surfaces (the deep ventral pit is also characteristic of extant C. cygnus); the proximal articular surface is dorsoventrally elongated (as in C. cygnus) while it is roundish in C. olor.

The condylus medialis of the tibiotarsus in *C*. *pristinus* is thin in cranial view, close to the state

of C. olor; KUROCHKIN (1985) used the shape of the distal aperture of the canalis extensorius to distinguish various swan species, but our study shows that this character is subject of individual variation. The incisura intercondylaris is wider in C. pristinus than in extant swans, although it is wide in some specimens of C. olor. The proximal end of tarsometatarsus is rather uniform in swans, but the fossa infracotylaris is deeper in C. pristinus than in other species; trochlea metatarsi III is oval in medial view (roundish in C. olor) and gently widens distally (as in C. cygnus). Trochlea metatarsi IV has a narrow furrow on the distal surface, as in C. cygnus and C. melanocorhyphus (lacking in C. olor). KUROCHKIN (1985) already mentioned that C. pristinus had shortened pedal phalanges, similar to those of extant C. olor.

Several other fossil species of swans have been described (reviewed by LOUCHART *et al.* 2005). *Cygnus verae* BOEV, 2000 is known from a proximal humerus and thus cannot be compared directly. *C. verae* is however smaller that *C. pristinus* (BOEV 2000). *C. herrenthalsii* VAN BENEDEN, 1871 has been described on the basis of a nonrepresentative material (pedal phalange). *C. atavus* (FRAAS, 1870) from the middle Miocene of Germany is notably smaller than *C. pristinus*. *C. mariae* BICKART, 1990 is known from the Late Miocene of Arizona and is close in size to *C. pristinus*. *C. mariae* is also similar to extant *C. olor* (BICKART 1990) and thus can be a junior synonym of *C. pristinus*.

Remarks: *Cygnus pristinus* can be assigned to the genus *Cygnus* because of its large size (much larger than species of geese) and also based on the presence of several morphological features. For example, the cranial scapula is not pneumatized (pneumatic opening occurs in geese); the head of the coracoid has the typical crescentic outline in medial view, typical of swans; the distal humerus with a proximocaudally compressed ventral condyle (well visible in cranial view). In the distal tibiotarsus, *C. pristinus* agrees with *Cygnus* in having narrow condylus lateralis in distal view.

KUROCHKIN (1971) described *C. pristinus* on the basis of a distal radius and a few other very fragmentary remains. In 1982/1983, MLIKOVSKÝ & ŠVEC (1986) studied the holotype of *C. pristinus* and transferred this species to *C. olor*. For unknown reason, they were unable to examine

not only paratypes, but also materials described later, which include much more informative distal humerus and tibiotarsus (KUROCHKIN 1976). I agree with MLÍKOVSKÝ & ŠVEC (1986) that the distal radius of C. pristinus is practically indistinguishable from that of extant C. olor, but it is noteworthy that the distal radius alone is not informative enough to solve the taxonomic problem. Cygnus pristinus indeed resembles C. olor in many structural details and proportions (e.g., shortened wing and pedal phalanges) but differs from this and other species of the genus in several details of almost all of the known skeletal elements. Furthermore, C. pristinus is similar with C. cygnus in some details (morphology of the humerus; tarsometatarsus, phalanx proximalis digiti majoris). Although it is likely that C. pristinus is more closely related to C. olor, its specific identity seems obvious. The presence of a mixture of characters may indicate this species is more primitive than all extant species. Molecular phylogenetic data estimate the mean divergence time between swans and geese as relatively recent event, 19.5±4.8 Myr (GONZALEZ et al. 2009), what probably corresponds to the Early or early Middle Miocene. The diversification of swans must have occurred later, probably not earlier than the second half of the middle Miocene (based on the appearance of the modern-type waterfowl fauna in the fossil record), and thus the presence of primitive taxa with a mixture of characters in the Late Miocene is expectable. A phylogenetic analysis of swans with inclusion of C. pristinus may add important information on the evolutionary history of swans and affinities of this species.

Material: *Cygnus pristinus* is the most common species of birds in the terminal Miocene-Lower Pliocene Hyargas-Nuur formation of Western Mongolia. For completeness, I include in this section all the known materials, even if they formally come from the layers below the Miocene-Pliocene boundary.

Latest Miocene material. Locality Hyargas-Nuur 1: proximal phalanx of the fourth toe of left foot (PIN 3222/599). Locality Hyargas-Nuur 2: COR dext., cranial fragment (PIN 3222/32); COR dext., caudal fragments (PIN 3222/53, 3222/705); SCA sin., cranial fragments (PIN 2614/27, 2614/111); ULN, distal fragment (PIN 3222/109); RAD dext., distal fragments (PIN 2614/115, 3222/25); ulnare sin. (PIN 2614/116); CMC dex., proximal fragments (PIN 3222/23, 3222/38); CMC sin., proximal fragment (PIN 322/671); CMC dext., distal fragments (PIN 3222/40, 3222/41); proximal phalanx of the major wing digit sin. (PIN 2614/26); TMT dext., proximal fragment (PIN 2614/154); isolated trochlea metatarsi III dext. (PIN 3222/54); isolated trochlea metatarsi IV dext. (PIN 3222/698); third phalanx of the third toe of left foot (PIN 2614/113); fourth phalanx of the fourth toe of right foot (PIN 2614/117).

Early Pliocene material. Locality Chono-Harayah 1: TT dext., distal portion (PIN 2614/70); second phalange of the third toe of left foot (PIN 2614/73). Locality Chono-Harayah 2: CMC sin., proximal portions (PIN 2614/159, 3378/100). Locality Zogsoo-Harhan 1: COR dext., cranial portion (PIN 2737/390); HUM dext., distal portion (PIN 2614/108); HUM, sin., distal fragment (PIN 3222/19); ULN, distal fragment (PIN 2737/391); TMT, dex., proximal fragment (PIN 2614/205). Locality Zogsoo-Harhan 4: TT dext., distal fragment (PIN 2614/153).

Order Podicipediformes Fürbringer, 1888 Family Podicipedidae Bonaparte, 1831

Podiceps solidus KUROCHKIN, **1985** (Fig. 3)

v. *Podiceps solidus* KUROCHKIN, 1985: p. 16, textfig. 3; pl. I, figs 3, 4.

Type locality: Hyargas-Nuur 2, Western Mongolia, Late Miocene (MN 13).

Stratigraphical and geographical distribution: Mongolia: Late Miocene (Hyargas-Nuur 2), Early Pliocene (Chono-Harayah 1 and 2; Zogsoo-Harhan 1 and 4).

Holotype: HUM dext., distal portion (PIN 3222/37). Figured in KUROCHKIN (1985): text-fig. 3, pl. I, figs 3–4.

Original diagnosis: Distal end of humerus wide; impressio lig. collaterale ventrale inconspicuous; fossa m. brachialis shallow but broad; longitudinal axis of condylus ventralis oriented distocranially; dorsal part of fossa olecrani shallow (translated after KUROCHKIN 1985).



-159-

FIGURE 3. Remains of *Podiceps solidus* KUROCHKIN, 1985 from the Early Pliocene of Western Mongolia. 1, holotype, distal fragment of right humerus, PIN, 3222/37 in cranial view; 2, distal fragment of left tibiotarsus, PIN 3378/98 in cranial (2a) and distal (2b) views; 3, right coracoid, PIN 3378/113 in ventral (3a), lateral (3b) and dorsal (3c) views. Scale bar equals 1 cm.

New materials: COR dext. (PIN 3378/113), locality Chono-Harayah 1; TT sin., distal portion (PIN 3378/98), locality Chono-Harayah 2; TMT sin., distal portion (PIN 3378/96), locality Chono-Harayah 2.

Measurements: COR: total length, 28.4; depth at the level of glenoid facet, 3.6; HUM: distal width, 7.2; TT: distal width, 6.6; distal depth, 6.2; depth across incisura intercondylaris, 4.2; TMT: distal width ~ 5.5; distal depth ~ 5.3.

Description and comparisons: I refer three new bones from the localities of Chono-Harayah to this species because of relative size and osteological similarity with extant *P. auritus* and *P. nigricollis*.

The fragmentary coracoid is morphologically similar to that of extant *P. nigricollis*, and differs only by the narrower dorsal portion of the facies articularis sternalis. The coracoid of extant *P. auritus* is more robust, with thicker shaft and wider impressio lig. acrocoracohumeralis. The fragmentary tibiotarsus, to the contrary, is similar to that of *P. auritus* in having the condylus lateralis truncated in lateral view. The condylus is more roundish in *P. nigricollis*. The tarsometatarsus belonged to an immature bird and thus displays few morphological details and cannot be compared with extant species.

Remarks: This species of a small grebe was established based on the distal end of humerus (KUROCHKIN 1985). KUROCHKIN (1985) noted that this species shared morphological features with both extant P. nigricollis and P. auritus. He further pointed that P. solidus was similar to P. pisanus from the Pliocene of Italy. OLSON & RASMUSSEN 2001 and MLÍKOVSKÝ 2002 later considered P. pisanus the junior synonym of extant P. auritus. However, P. solidus cannot be synonymized with P. auritus because it is more similar to P. nigri*collis* in some osteological details. The humerus of P. solidus is somewhat intermediate between the two extant species, the coracoid is more similar to those of *P. nigricollis*, and the tibiotarsus to that of *P. auritus*. Although there is a possibility that two species of similarly sized grebes inhabited the lakes of the Western Mongolia in the Late Miocene and Early Pliocene, I refer all of the known material to one species, in the absence of the contrary evidence. The intermediate morphology of *P. solidus* suggests that this species might be close to a lineage ancestral to both P. auritus and P. nigricollis.

Fossil grebes apparently related to this evolutionary lineage are known from the Pliocene



FIGURE 4. Bird remains from the Early Pliocene of Western Mongolia. 1, *Nyctanassa kobdoena* KUROCHKIN 1976, holotype, distal portion of right tarsometatarsus, PIN 2614/86 in dorsal (1a), ventral (1b) and distal (1c) views; 2, Otididae gen. indet., distal fragment of left tarsometatarsus, PIN 3378/129 in ventral (2a) and dorsal (2b) views. Scale bar equals 1 cm.

deposits of Europe and North America. *P. discors* MURRAY, 1967 was described from the Late Pliocene of Kansas (MURRAY 1967). A grebe similar to extant *P. nigricollis* was also found in the Late Miocene of Ukraine (VOINSTVENSKY 1967). *P. auritus* is further known from the Early Pliocene of North Carolina (USA; OLSON & RASSMUSSEN 2001), Pliocene of Florida (USA; BRODKORB 1953) and Italia (sub. *P. pisanus*; REGÀLIA 1902).

P. solidus was initially described from the Late Miocene deposits of the locality Hyargas-Nuur 2 (KUROCHKIN 1985), but the new materials from Chono-Harayah expand its geological distribution to the Early Pliocene.

Order Ardeiformes WAGLER, 1831 Family Ardeidae VIGORS, 1825

"Nyctanassa" kobdoena Kurochkin, 1976 (Fig. 4)

- v. Nyctanassa kobdoena Kurochkin, 1979: p. 54, fig. 2.
- v. Nyctanassa kobdoena Kurochkin: 1985, p. 23, text-fig. 6; pl. II, figs 5, 6.

Type locality: Chono-Harayah 1, Western Mongolia, Early Pliocene (MN 14–15).

Stratigraphical and geographical distribution: Mongolia: Late Miocene (Hyargas-Nuur 2; MN 13), Early Pliocene (Chono-Harayah 1 and 2).

Holotype: TMT dext., distal portion (PIN 2614/86). Figured in KUROCHKIN (1979): fig. 2;

(1985): text-fig. 6; pl. II, figs 5, 6.

Emended diagnosis: Small heron the size of extant *Nyctanassa violacea* from which it can be distinguished by the following set of characters of distal tarsometatarsus: trochleae metatarsorum (especially trochlea metatarsi II) narrow; trochlea metatarsi II gradually widening distally; incisura intertrochlearis lateralis wide; sagittal plane of trochlea metatarsi II only slightly inclined with respect to sagittal plane of trochlea metatarsi IV positioned notably proximally than distal margin of trochlea metatarsi III; ventral articular surface of trochlea metatarsi III; ventral articular surface of trochlea metatarsi II convex.

New materials: fragmentary cervical (11th to 14th) vertebra (PIN 3378/112), locality Chono-Harayah 2.

Measurements: maximum distal width, 9.5; width at the level of foramen vasculare distale, 6.4; maximal distal depth, 5.7.

Description and comparisons: KUROCHKIN (1976, 1985) provided detailed description and broad taxonomic comparisons of the holotype, but some of his characters are not suitable to diagnose this taxon. The characters mentioned above in the diagnosis allow distinguishing *N. kobdoena* from *N. violacea*. In the latter species, dorsal part of the articular surface of trochlea metatarsi II is widened and therefore the outer margin of this trochlea in distal view is inclined with respect to the sagittal plane of the trochlea metatarsi III at an angle about 40°, while this angle is much smaller in *N. kobdoena*. Ventral articular surface of the trochlea metatarsi II is

concave in *N. violacea* while it is convex in *N. kobdoena*.

The most striking features in which this form differs from extant *Nyctanassa* and *Nycticorax* is the gradually widening trochlea metatarsi II in dorsal view (as in *Cochlearius*) and trochlea metatarsi IV protruding considerably less distally than trochlea metatarsi III (as in *Butorides*). Both of these features are present in the fossil genus *Matuku* from the Early Miocene of New Zealand. *Matuku* was shown to be basal with respect to all living herons (SCOFIELD *et al.* 2010) and so these features may be plesiomorphic within Ardeidae.

Remarks: OLSON & WINGATE (2006) doubted the validity of the generic assignment of this species because of the fragmentary nature of the holotype. The two genera of herons (Nycticorax and Nyctanassa) are however strikingly different in the proportions of tarsometatarsi what evidently reflects their somewhat different adaptations. Locomotor apparatus of Ardeidae is very flexible so that osteological correlates with feeding and locomotion styles can be easily found (BOEV 1988, 1989). Given these facts, it is unsurprising that the two genera are easily distinguishable on the basis of the distal tarsometatarsus alone. Nyctanassa violacea is the specialist in crustacean, particularly crabs, while Nycticorax herons are opportunist feeders with generally very diverse diet. Nyctanassa violacea spend much time in walking (RODGERS 1983) while Nycticorax nycticorax normally just stands and waits during feeding (RUSEV 2011). I agree with KUROCHKIN (1976, 1985) that N. kobdoena is much more similar to extant Nyctanassa than to Nycticorax (in the fossil species, the trochleae metatarsorum are narrow and more splayed as in Nyctanassa), which may indicate that this fossil species was more generalized in its feeding behavior (although not necessarily in its diet) than extant Nycticorax species, but observed differences (see above) possibly indicate that N. kobdoena belongs to a more primitive extinct genus. New material is however necessary to confirm this hypothesis. At present, the generic status of N. kobdoena should be regarded as uncertain.

Order Otidiformes SIBLEY *et al.*, 1988 Family Otididae GRAY, 1840

Otididae gen. indet.

(Fig. 4)

Material: TMT dext., distal fragment (PIN 3378/129), locality Chono-Harayah 2.

Measurements: depth of trochlea metatarsi III, 8.3.

Remarks. The fragmentary tarsometatarsus can be assigned to Otididae because of a characteristic widening of the shaft near the base of the trochlea metatarsi II in combination with flat dorsal surface and nearly symmetrical trochlea metatarsi III. The specimen however is very fragmentary which precludes from assigning it to any particular genus, but it may have belonged to the genus Gryzaja previously known from the Pliocene of Ukraine and Moldavia (KUROCHKIN & KHOZATSKIJ 1972). The Mongolian form is however larger then G. odessana ZUBAREVA, 1939 and thus may represent another species. Very large bustard Ioriotis gabunii BURCHAK-ABRAMOVICH & VEKUA, 1981 has been described from the Late Pliocene of Georgia based on a fragmentary proximal humerus (BURCHAK-ABRAMOVICH & VEKUA 1981) and thus cannot be compared with the Mongolian form.

Order Gruiformes BONAPARTE, 1854 Family Gruidae Vigors, 1825

Grus mongolica (KUROCHKIN, 1985) comb. nov. (Fig. 5)

v. *Probalearica mongolica* KUROCHKIN, 1985: p. 58, text-fig. 27, pl. VII, figs 5–8.

Type locality: Chono-Harayah 1, Western Mongolia, Early Pliocene (MN 14–15).

Stratigraphical and geographical distribution: Mongolia: Late Miocene (Hyargas-Nuur 2), Early Pliocene (Chono-Harayah 1).

Holotype: TT sin., distal portion (PIN 3378/45). Figured in KUROCHKIN (1985): text-fig. 27, pl. VII, figs 5–8.

Emended diagnosis: Large crane, the size of extant *G. leucogeranus*, which can be distinguished from this and other large cranes by thin condylus medialis; roundish distal foramen of canalis extensorius; short and obliquely oriented ligamental scar on the medial margin of

- 162 -



FIGURE 5. Grus moldavicus (KUROCHKIN, 1985) from the Early Pliocene of Western Mongolia compared with extant Gruidae. 1, Grus moldavicus, holotype, PIN 3378/45, distal tibiotarsus in cranial (1a), distal (1b), lateral (1c) and medial (1d) views; 2, Grus grus, extant, distal tibiotarsus in cranial (2a), distal (2b) and lateral (2c) views; 3, Balearica regulorum, extant, distal tibiotarsus in cranial (3a) and distal (3b) views; 4, Anthropoides virgo, extant, distal tibiotarsus in distal view. Scale bar equals 1 cm.

the cranial surface of the shaft; sulcus cartilaginis tibiotarsi narrow.

Measurements: maximal distal width, 21.8; maximal distal depth, 23.2; depth across incisura intercondylaris, 11.5;

Description and comparisons: The condylus lateralis is rather wide (as in G. japonensis, G. vipio), while it is notably narrower in other cranes and fossil genus Pliogrus; condylus medialis is unusually thin and proximodistally elongated in both cranial and distal view, this condyle is normally thicker in cranes although it is also somewhat thin in G. vipio, G. monacha and G. leucogeranus. The apophysis lig. externi is moderately developed, as in extant G. japonensis and G. leucogeranus, while it is bulbous in other cranes. The ligamental scar on the cranial surface just proximal to apophysis is unusually short and obliquely oriented (it is normally very long in cranes and usually is subparallel to the long axis of the bone). Somewhat similar morphology of the scar was found just in one specimen of *G. monacha*. A pit on the medial surface of the condylus medialis is very weakly developed; it is normally deep in cranes (shallow – but still deeper than in *G. mongolica* – pit is observed in *G. leucogeranus* and *G. japonensis*). The epicondylus medialis is weakly expressed.

Grus mongolica differs from *Anthropoides* and *Balearica* (including fossil "*Probalearica*" *crataegensis* BRODKORB, 1963) in that the condylus lateralis is not shifted laterally with respect to the shaft and also by the very thin condylus medialis. The ledge in the lateral outline of the bone in distal view is very caudally positioned in *Balearica* while it is shifted cranially in *Grus* (including *G. mongolica*). *G. mongolica* is further similar to extant *Grus* and differs from *Balearica* in having condylus medialis strongly shifted medially (well visible in distal view) and in the shape of the lateral outline of the bone in distal view.

Grus mongolica easily differs from the genus *Palaeogrus*, known from the Paleogene and Neogene of Europe, by the truncated distal surface of the condylus lateralis (flat in *Palaeogrus*) and by the presence of a well-developed ledge in the lateral outline of the bone in distal view (completely absent in *Palaeogrus*). In the putative crane *Geranopsis*, the distal surface of the condylus lateralis is also flat (HARRISON & WALKER 1979).

Another fossil genus *Pliogrus* contains two species from the Early Pliocene of Germany; distal tibiotarsus is known for one of them. The validity of this genus is not obvious; CRACRAFT (1973) and MLIKOVSKÝ (2002) consider *Pliogrus* the junior synonym of extant *Grus*. As can be judged from a picture in LAMBRECHT (1933), the condylus lateralis in *Pliogrus* is even narrower than in *Grus*, while in *Grus mongolica* it is wider than in most extant *Grus*.

Remarks: *Grus mongolica* was initially assigned to the genus *Probalearica*, which was erected by LAMBRECHT (1933) for the supposed crane *Grus problematica* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1871 known from a fragmentary skull and sternum from the Late Oligocene-Early Miocene of France. Since the work of LAMBRECHT, three more species were assigned to this genus, all of

them just because of supposed similarity to the extant cranes Balearica. Probalearica crataegensis Brodkorb, 1963, P. moldavica Kurochkin & GANYA, 1972 and P. mongolica KUROCHKIN, 1985 are all known from just distal tibiotarsi and thus cannot be directly compared to G. problematica. The type species of Probalearica was shown (Cheneval & Escuillié, 1992; Mourer-CHAUVIRÉ, 2001) to be the junior synonym of the phoenicopteriform Palaelodus ambiguous MILNE-EDWARDS, 1863, and thus the generic name Probalearica should be treated as the junior synonym of Palaelodus. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (2001) gave a number of characters to distinguish P. crataegensis from Balearica and considered this species a member of the genus Palaeogrus. P. moldavica should be excluded from Gruidae (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 2001); I agree with the latter author that the familiar or even ordinal affinity of this taxon requires confirmation. Probalearica mongolica was thus the only remaining species within the former genus Probalearica, and this one also should be moved to the genus Grus.

Family Rallidae REICHENBACH, 1854

Pastushkinia Zelenkov, gen. nov.

Etymology: After "Pastushok", a common Russian name for rails.

Type species: *Crex zazhigini* Kurochkin, 1980.

Diagnosis: The genus can be diagnosed on the basis of the following features: distal humerus is more than twice wider (measured dorsoventrally) than deep (measured craniocaudally); cranial surface between tuberculum supracondylare ventrally and dorsal margin of the bone markedly concave; sulcus m. humerotricipitalis wide and shallow; epicondylus ventralis moderately protruding ventrally relatively to the shaft.

Comparisons: The distal humerus of *Pastushkinia* is unusually narrow in distal view (Fig. 6). It is more than twice wider that deep, while in most extant and all fossil rails the distal humerus is at maximum two times wider that deep (usually even less than that). The moderately protruding ventrally condylus ventralis and shallow and wide sulcus m. humerotricipitalis are obviously connected with the general craniocau-



- 164 -

FIGURE 6. Distal humerus of *Pastushkinia zazhigini* (KUROCHKIN, 1980) in comparison with extant rails. **1**, *Pastushkinia zazhigini*, holotype, PIN 2614/90, distal end of left humerus in cranial (**1a**) and distal (**1b**) views; **2**, *Crex crex*, extant, in cranial (**2a**) and distal (**2b**) views; **3**, *Aramides saracura*, extant, in cranial (**3a**) and distal (**3b**) views. Scal bar equals 1 cm.

dal flatness of the distal end. A similar condition (narrow distal end with shallow sulcus) is found in *Aramides* and *Gallinula* – in both, however, the epicondylus ventralis is much more strongly protruding ventrally, in contrast to the condition of *Pastushkinia*, in which the distal end in cranial view is almost as narrow as in *Crex*. The new genus also differs from *Gallinula* and *Rallus* by unusually concave cranial surface of the distal end. This surface is however somewhat concave in *Crex* and *Aramides*, but it is absolutely flat in *Gallinula*.

Unusual flatness of the distal end further allows for distinguishing *Pastushkinia* from *Palaeoaramides* and other Neogene rail genera from which humeri are known (see CRACRAFT 1973; CHENEVAL 2000). *Pastushkinia* is similar in proportions to the genus *Belgirallus* from the Early Oligocene of Belgium (MAYR & SMITH 2001), but differs from that genus by strongly protruding processus flexorius and weakly developed tuberculum supracondylare ventrale. The latter tuberculum is developed as rather broad elevated area in *Belgirallus*, while there is just a small tubercle in this position in *Pastushkinia*.

Pastushkinia zazhigini (KUROCHKIN, 1980), comb. nov.

(Fig. 6)

v. *Crex zazhigini* KUROCHKIN, 1980: p. 72, figs 4, 5f.
v. *Crex zazhigini* KUROCHKIN: 1985, p. 69, text-fig. 31, pl. IX, figs 1, 2.

Type locality: Chono-Harayah 1, Western Mongolia, Early Pliocene (MN 14–15).

Stratigraphical and geographical distribution: Type locality only.

Holotype: HUM sin., distal portion (PIN 2614/90). Figured in KUROCHKIN (1980): figs 4, 5f; (1985): text-fig. 31, pl. IX, figs 1, 2.

Diagnosis: as for the genus.

Measurements: Maximum distal width, 6,2; depth of condylus dorsalis, 3.1; depth of condylus ventralis, 1.8.

Remarks: Unusual flatness of the distal end of the humerus precludes from referring the species to the extant genus *Crex* (see above). The original diagnosis (KUROCHKIN 1980) was based on comparisons with the extant *Crex crex* alone and as such is not valid.

Rallidae gen. indet.

(Fig. 7)

Material: Rostral fragment of sternum (PIN

v. Asio aff. otus: Kurochkin 1985, p. 76, text.-fig. 76.

2614/89), locality Chono-Harayah 1.

Remarks: The specimen was previously referred to a small owl (KUROCHKIN 1985), but in Strigidae a notch in the cranial outline of the sternum is visible in dorsal view. This notch is further not concave in cranial view in owls. Additionally, the cranial surface of the keel bears a ridge which is absent in the specimen from Chono-Harayah. All extant Rallidae except Gallinula have a pair of deep pits on the dorsal surface of the sternum just near its cranial margin. These pits are nearly absent in Gallinula and in the specimen in question. I however refrain from assigning this specimen to extant Gallinula, because such fragmentary sternum is not diagnostic enough at the genus level in birds. The oldest currently known find of this genus (Gallinula kansarum BROD-KORB, 1967) comes from the late Early-early Late Pliocene of North America (BECKER 1987). The genus has been further documented in the Early and Late Pliocene of Europe (BOEV 1999; MAYR & Gregor 1999; Mlíkovský 2002).

Order Charadriiformes Fürbringer, 1888 Family Charadriidae Vigors, 1825

Vanellus cf. *V. leucurus* (LICHTENSTEIN, 1823) (Fig. 7)

Material: COR sin. (PIN 3378/107), locality Chono-Harayah 2.

Measurements: Maximal length of the fragment, 20.5; minimal shaft width, 3.0; depth of facies articularis humeralis, 3.3.

Description and comparisons: This specimen can be assigned to Charadriidae because of presence of the foramen n. supracoracoidei and widened base of the angulus medialis. It is similar to the subfamily Vanellinae in having narrow central part of the facies articularis sternalis (well visible in caudal view) and sub-rectangle facies articularis humeralis. In Charadriinae, the facies articularis sternalis is not narrow in its central part, and facies articularis humeralis is angled cranially. The specimen from Chono-Harayah 2 is similar to *Vanellus leucurus* because of angulus medialis not curved dorsally (the angulus is curved in other *Vanellus,* including *V. gregarius*).

Remarks. The White-tailed lapwing *Vanellus leucurus* inhabits river valleys and swamps in Asian deserts. It is morphologically distinct from other *Vanellus* and once was placed into a monotypic genus *Vanellochettusia* (KOZLOVA 1961).

Family Laridae BONAPARTE, 1831

Larus magn. *L. ichthyaetus* (Fig. 7)

Material: Ulnare (PIN 3378/133), locality Chono-Harayah 2.

Measurements: Maximal length, 14.2.

Remarks: Extant species of the genus *Larus* can hardly be distinguished on the basis of morphology of ulnare, and thus the exact taxonomic status of this large Early Pliocene gull remains uncertain. The specimen can be referred to Laridae because of the short ramus dorsalis, and to the genus *Larus* due to the well-defined concavity on the proximal surface.

Larus magn. L. canus

(Fig. 7)

Material: CMC dext., distal portion (PIN 3378/85), locality Chono-Harayah 1.

Measurements: Craniocaudal depth of the distal end, 7.7.

Remarks: This specimen belonged to a gull the size of extant *L. canus*, but its fragmentary nature precludes from detailed comparisons.

Order Accipitriformes SAVIGNY, 1809 Family Accipitridae SAVIGNY, 1809

Haliaeetus fortis Kurochkin, 1985 (Fig. 7)

Type locality: Hyargas-Nuur 2, Western Mongolia, Late Miocene (MN 13).

Stratigraphical and geographical distribution: Mongolia: Late Miocene (Hyargas-Nuur 2), Early Pliocene (Chono-Harayah 1 and 2; Tataly; MN 14–15).

Holotype: COR sin., cranial portion (PIN 3222/31). Figured in KUROCHKIN (1985): text.-fig. 23, pl. II, figs 9, 10.

Newly referred material: basal phalanx of the first toe sin. (PIN 3378/89+91), locality Chono-Harayah 2; second phalanx of the



FIGURE 7. Various bird remains from the Early Pliocene of Western Mongolia. 1, Rallidae gen. indet., fragmentary sternum, PIN 2614/89 in cranial (1a) and dorsal (1b) views; 2, *Larus* magn. *L. ichthyaetus*, left ulnare, PIN 3378/133 in ventrocaudal (2a) and dorsocranial (2b) views; 3, *Larus* magn. *L. canus*, right distal carpometacarpus, PIN 3378/85, in ventral view; 4, *Vanellus* cf. *V. leucurus*, left coracoid, PIN 3378/107, in dorsal (4a) and ventral (4b) views; 5–7, *Haliaeetus fortis* (KUROCHKIN, 1985): 5, basal phalanx of the first toe of left foot, PIN 3378/89+91, in ventral view; 6, second phalanx of the second toe of right foot, PIN 3378/126, in ventral view; 7, ungulate phalange, PIN 2614/161 in lateral view; 8, Accipitridae gen. indet., proximal phalanx of the third digit of left foot, PIN 3378/105, in ventral view. Scale bar equals 1 cm.

second toe dext. (PIN 3378/126), locality Chono-Harayah; ungual phalanges (PIN 2614/161), locality Chono-Harayah 2 and (PIN 3376/64), locality Tataly.

Measurements of the new material: specimen PIN, 3378/89: total length, 34.6; proximal width, 17.4; proximal depth, 8.3; distal width, 8.8; distal depth, 8.4; specimen PIN, 3378/126: total length, 27.5; proximal width, 8.9; proximal depth, 10.3; distal width, 7.3; distal depth, 7.6; specimen PIN, 2614/161: proximal depth, 13.4; proximal width, 8.5; specimen PIN 3376/64: proximal depth, 11.9.

Remarks: *Haliaeetus fortis* was described from the Latest Miocene of Western Mongolia (KUROCHKIN 1985). Newly referred phalanges from the Early Pliocene beds agree with the holotype in relative size (roughly similar to extant *H. leucocephalus*) and on this basis are assigned to this species. The avian faunas of the Late Miocene and Early Pliocene sections of the Hyargas-Nuur formation are very similar and contain many common species (KUROCHKIN 1985; ZELENKOV 2012), so such assignment seems to be plausible. The proximal phalanx of the first toe is somewhat larger than the corresponding bone from the Hyargas-Nuur 2 (see KUROCHKIN 1985) but such differences can be explained by sexual dimorphism. The first phalanx of the first digit agrees with that of extant Haliaeetus in its proportions and short medial (internal) process on the proximal part. The process is also short in Gyps, but the distal end of the phalanx in Gyps is twisted. The second phalanx of the second toe is also similar to those of extant Haliaeetus in its proportions and high articular surfaces. The ungual phalanges agrees with those of extant Haliaeetus in its curvature (unguals are normally considerably less curvated in other large Accipitines) and well developed (but not as robust as in Aegypius) flexor tubercles.

Gypaetinae indet.

Material: Proximal phalanx of the third digit sin. (PIN 3378/105), locality Chono-Harayah 2.

Measurements: total length, 29.5; proximal depth, 8.1; proximal width, 10.7; distal depth, 8.5; distal width, 7.1.

Description and comparisons: The proximal phalanx of the third toe is similar to that of extant *Gypaetus barbatus* in being elongated and relatively narrow, but differs by smaller size and considerably more asymmetrical distal articular surface and more elongated flexor tubercle. It clearly differs from those of *Haliaeetus* by its narrower proportions and thus cannot be assigned to *Haliaeetus fortis*. The specimen significantly differs from the corresponding elements of *Aegypius* and *Gyps* in several characters, including asymmetrical distal articular surface with the condyles strongly protruding ventrally.

Conclusions

The study of the new material and revision of the previously described remains of the Early

TABLE 1. A full list of taxa currently known from the Pliocene of Western Mongolia. Localities: 1 – Chono-Harayah 1; 2 – Chono-Harayah 2; 3 – Chono-Harayah 3; 4 – Zavhar; 5 – Tataly; 6 – Hung-Kureh; 7 – Zogsoo-Harhan 1; 8 – Zogsoo-Harhan 4. References: 1 – KUROCHKIN 1971; 2 – KUROCHKIN 1976; 3 – KUROCHKIN 1980; 4 – KUROCHKIN 1985; 5 – MLÍKOVSKÝ & ŠVEC 1986; 6 – ZELENKOV & KUROCHKIN 2010; 7 – ZELENKOV 2012. Taxa marked with an asterisk (*) are also recorded from the latest Miocene of Mongolia (see KUROCHKIN 1982, 1985; ZELENKOV 2012).

Taxon name	Localities	References
*Syrmaticus kozlovae Kurochkin, 1985	1, 2	4, 6
Perdicinae gen. indet.	2	4 (sub. <i>Alectoris</i> sp.), 6 (sub. Phasianidae gen. indet.)
*Anser (Chen) devjatkini Kurochkin,1971	1	1, 7
*Anser (Chen) liskunae Kurochkin, 1976	4	2, 4, 5 (sub Olor liskunae), 7
*Cygnus pristinus Kurochkin, 1971	1, 2, 6, 7, 8	1, 2, 4, 5 (sub Cygnus olor), this study
* <i>Cygnus</i> sp.	1, 2, 4, 8	4
Anserinae/Tadorninae gen. indet.	2, 5	4 (sub Tadorninae gen.)
Aix sp.	1	7
*Anas cf. A. pullulans BRODKORB, 1961	2	4, 7
*Anas magn. A. strepera	1, 4	4, 7
*Anas sp.	2, 8	4 (sub Anas molesta), 7
*Aythya molesta Kurochkin, 1985	3	4 (sub Anas molesta), 7
Aythya? spatiosa Kurochkin, 1976	1	2, 4, 5, 7
Podiceps solidus Kurochkin, 1985	1, 2	4; this study
*Phalacrocorax reliquus Kurochkin, 1976	1	2,4
Phalacrocorax mongoliensis Kurochkin, 1971	1	1, 4
*Nyctanassa kobdoena Kurochkin, 1976	1	2, 4; this study
*Ciconia lucida Kurochkin, 1982	1	4
*Urmiornis dzabghanensis (KUROCHKIN, 1985)	2; 4; 8	4
Otididae gen. indet.	2	this study
Grus mongolicus (Kurochkin, 1985)	1	4; this study
Pastushkinia zazhigini (KUROCHKIN, 1980)	1	3, 4 (sub. Crex zazhigini), this study
Rallidae gen. indet.	1	4 (sub Asio aff. otus), this study
Vanellus cf. V. leucurus	2	this study
Limosa lacrimosa Kurochkin, 1985	1	4
Larus magn. L. ichthyaetus	2	this study
Larus magn. L. canus	1	this study
*Haliaeetus fortis Kurochkin, 1985	1, 2, 5	this study
Accipitridae indet. (aff. ?Gypaetus)	2	this study
*Syrrhaptes sp.	1	4

Pliocene birds from Western Mongolia broaden the list of taxa currently known from the Hyargas-Nuur formation and provide evidence for systematic position of some taxa described earlier. A bustard, two species of gulls, a gypaetine raptor, and a lapwing are for the first time documented in the Early Pliocene of Asia and represent the oldest finds of the corresponding evolutionary lineages in Asia. The find of a lapwing very similar to extant V. leucurus is especially interesting and present evidence for a long history of this charadriid bird in Asia, now inhabiting only arid zone. Two more bird taxa, Podiceps solidus and Haliaeetus fortis were initially described from the Late Miocene sediments but are now known from the Early Pliocene of the same area. The crane Probalearica mongolica belongs to the extant genus Grus; the presumed corncrake Crex zazhigini is moved to a separate genus Pastushkinia; the generic position of the heron Nyctanassa kobdoena remains uncertain, but further materials may prove its separate generic status. Owls are not yet reported from the Pliocene of Asia since the presence of the genus Asio in the Early Pliocene of Mongolia is deleted.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to Zlatozar BOEV (National Museum of Natural History, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Sofia) and Federico AGNOLIN (Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales "Bernardino Rivadavia", Buenos Aires) for their reviews of the manuscript, and also to Albrecht MANEGOLD (Senckenberg Forschungsinstitut und Naturmuseum, Frankfurt/Main) for useful taxonomic comments. The study was supported by the grants from the Russian Foundation of the Basic Research and from a grant from the President of Russian Federation (MK-7463.2013.4).

References

BAUMEL, J.J., KING, A.S., BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E. & VAN DEN BERGE, J.C. (1993): Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium. – *Publication of the Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 779 pp.

- BECKER, J.J. (1987): Neogene avian localities of North America. – 171 pp. Washington D.C., London (Smithsonian Institution Press).
- BENEDEN P.J. VAN (1871): Les oiseaux de l'argille rupélienne. – Bulletins de l'Académie Royalle des Sciences, Lettres et des Beaux-Arts de Belgique, 32/2: 256–261.
- BERKEY, C.P. & MORRIS, F.K. (1927): Geology of Mongolia: a reconnaissance report based on the investigations of the years 1922–1923. – 475 pp. New York (The American Museum of Natural History).
- BICKART, K.J. (1990): The birds of the Late Miocene-Early Pliocene Big Sandy Formation, Mohave County, Arizona. – Ornithological Monographs, 44: 1–72.
- BOEV, Z. (1988): Morphological characteristics of the adaptations of herons (Aves, Ardeidae) in relation to their moving along the substrate. – Acta zoologica bulgarica, 36: 63–71.
- BOEV, Z. (1989): Morphological characteristics of the adaptations in relation of the getting of food of the herons (Aves – Ardeidae). – Acta zoologica bulgarica, 37: 49–62
- BOEV, Z. (1999): Gallinula balcanica sp. n. (Rallidae: Gruiformes) – a Middle Villafranchian Moorhen from Western Bulgaria. – Acta zoologica bulgarica, 51: 43–48.
- BOEV, Z.N. (2000): Cygnus verae sp. n. (Anseriformes: Anatidae) from the Early Pliocene of Sofia (Bulgaria). – Acta zoologica cracoviensia, 43: 185–192.
- BRODKORB, P. (1953): A Pliocene grebe from Florida. – Annals and Magazine of Natural History, 6: 953–954.
- BRODKORB, P. (1963): Miocene birds from the Hawthorne Formation. – *Quarterly Journal of the Florida Academy of Sciences*, **26**: 159–167.
- BRODKORB, P. (1967): Catalogue of fossil birds: Part 3 (Ralliformes, Ichthyornithiformes, Charadriiformes). – Bulletin of the Florida State Museum, Biological Sciences, **11**: 99–220.
- BURCHAK-ABRAMOVICH, N.I. & VEKUA, A.K. (1981): Fossil Bustard-runner of East Georgian Akchagil – *Izvestiya AN GSSR, Seriya Biolobicheskaya*, 7: 53–59.
- CHENEVAL, J. (2000): The avifauna of Sansan. *Memories du Museum national d'Histoire naturelle*, **183**: 321–388.
- CHENEVAL, J. & ESQUILLIÉ, F. (1992): New data concerning *Palaelodus ambiguus* (Aves: Phoenicopteriformes: Palaelodidae): ecological and evolutionary interpretations. – *Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Sciences Series*, **36**: 209–224.
- CRACRAFT, J. (1973): Systematics and evolution of the

Gruiformes (Class Aves). 3. Phylogeny of the suborder Grues. – *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History*, **151**: 1–128.

- DAVIES, W. (1880): On some fossil bird remains from the Siwalik Hills in the British Museum. – Geological Magazine, Decade 2, 7: 18–27.
- DEVJATKIN, E.V. (1981): The Cenozoic of Inner Asia (Stratigraphy, geochronology and correlation). – 196 pp. Moscow (Nauka).
- DEVYATKIN, E.V. (1994): Magnetostratigraphic scheme of the Cenozoic in Mongolia. – *Stratigraphy and Geological Correlation*, **2**: 132–141.
- FRAAS, O. (1870): Die Fauna von Steinheim. Mit Rücksicht auf die miocänen Säugethier- und Vogelreste des Steinheimer Beckens. – Jahreshefte des Vereins für Vaterländische Naturkunde in Württemberg, 26: 145–306.
- GMELIN, J.F. (1789): Caroli a Linné, systema naturae. Tom. 1. Pars 3. – 1033–1516, Lipsiae (G.E. Beer).
- GONZALEZ, J., DÜTTMAN, H. & WINK, M. (2009): Phylogenetic relationships based on two mitochondrial genes and hybridization patterns in Anatidae. – *Journal of Zoology*, **279**: 310–318.
- HARRISON, C.J.O. (1974): A re-examination of the extinct Marabou Stork *Leptoptilos falconeri*; with description of some new species. – *Bulletin of the British Ornithological Club*, **34**: 42–49.
- HARRISON, C.J.O. (1979): The Pliocene Siwalik cormorant. – *Tertiary Research*, **2**: 57–58.
- HARRISON, C.J.O. & WALKER, C.A. (1979): Birds of the British lower Oligocene. – *Tertiary Research, Special Paper*, **5**: 29–43.
- KOZLOVA, E.V. (1961). [Charadriiformes. Suborder Limicolae. Fauna of USSR. Birds. Vol. 2. Issue 1, part 2.] – 500 pp. Moscow, Leningrad (USSR Academy of Sciences) [In Russian]
- KUROCHKIN, E.N. (1971): [On the Pliocene avifauna of Mongolia]. – Transactions of the Joint Soviet-Mongolian Geological Expedition, 3: 58–67. [In Russian].
- KUROCHKIN, E.N. (1976): [New data on the Pliocene birds of Western Mongolia]. – *Transaction of the Joint Soviet-Mongolian Paleontological Expedition*, **3**: 51–67. [In Russian].
- KUROCHKIN, E.N. (1980): Middle Pliocene rails from Western Mongolia. – *Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Contributions in Science*, **330**: 69–73.
- KUROCHKIN, E.N. (1985): Birds of the Central Asia in Pliocene. – *Transaction of the Joint Soviet-Mongolian Paleontological Expedition*, **26**: 1–120.
- KUROCHKIN, E.N. & GANEA, I.M. (1972): [Birds of the middle Sarmatian of Moldova]. – In: DAVID A.I. (ed.): Pozvonočnye neogena i plejstocena Moldavii [Vertebrates of the Neogene and Pleistocene of Moldova]: 45–70. Chişinău (Știinca). [In Russian.]

- KUROCHKIN, E.N. & KHOZATSKIJ, L.I. (1972): [Gryzaja from Roussilonian fauna of Moldova and southern Ukraine]. – Ornitologija, 10: 347–349. [In Russian.]
- LAMBRECHT, K. (1933): Handbuch der Palaeornithologie. – 1024 p., Berlin (Gebrüder Borntraeger).
- LICHTENSTEIN, H. (1823): Vögel. In: EVERSMANN, E.F. (ed.): Reise von Orenburg nach Buchara – pp. 125–147, Berlin (E.H. G.Christiani).
- LOUCHART, A., VIGNAUD, P., LIKIUS, A., BRUNET, M. & WHITE, T.D. (2005): A large extinct marabou stork in African Pliocene hominid sites, and a review of the fossil species of *Leptoptilos. Acta Palaeontologica Polonica*, **50**: 549–563.
- LYDEKKER, R. (1879): Notes on some Siwalik birds. Records of the Geological Survey of India, 12: 97.
- LYDEKKER, R. (1891): Catalogue of the fossil birds in the British Museum (Natural History). – 368 pp. London (Taylor and Francis).
- MAYR G. & GREGOR H.-J. (1999): Eine fossile Ralle aus dem Plio-Pleistozän von Bobila Ordisbei Banyols (Gerona, NE-Spanien). – *Documenta Naturae*, **127**: 1–7.
- MAYR, G. & SMITH, R. (2001): Ducks, rails, and limicoline waders (Aves: Anseriformes, Gruiformes, Charadriiformes) from the lowermost oligocene of Belgium. – *Geobios*, **34**: 547–561.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1863): Mémoire sur la distribution géologique des oiseaux fossiles et description de quelques espèces nouvelles. – Annales des Sciences Naturelles, 20: 132–176.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1869–1871): Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire des oiseaux fossiles de la France. Vol. 2. – 627 pp. Paris (G. Masson).
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (2002): Cenozoic birds of the world. Part 1: Europe. – 406 pp. Praha (Ninox press).
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. & ŠVEC, P. (1986): Review of the Tertiary waterfowl (Aves: Anseridae) of Asia. – Věstník Československé Společnosti Zoologické, 50: 259–272.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2001): The systematic position of the genus *Basityto* Mlíkovský, 1998 (Aves: Gruiformes: Gruidae). – *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington*, **114**: 964–971.
- MURRAY, B.G., JR. (1967): Grebes from the late Pliocene of North America. – *The Condor*, **69**: 277–288.
- OLSON, S.L. & RASMUSSEN, P.C. (2001): Miocene and Pliocene Birds from the Lee Creek Mine, North Carolina. – *Smithsonian Contributions to Paleobiology*, **90**: 233–365.
- OLSON, S.L. & WINGATE, D.B. (2006): A new species of night-heron (Ardeidae: Nyctanassa) from Quaternary deposits on Bermuda. – *Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington*, **119**: 326–337.

- QIU, Z. & QIU, Z. (1995): Chronological sequence and subdivision of Chinese Neogene mammalian faunas. – *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, **116**: 41–70.
- PANTELEEV, SABLIN, M.V. & ZABELIN, V.I. (2006): [A find of bird and mammal remains in the Neogene of Tuva]. – In: MATISHOV, G.G. (ed.): Pozdnekainozoiskaya geologicheskaya istoriya severa Aridnoi zony [Late Ceonozoic geological history of the North arid zone]. – pp. 45–70, Rostov-na-Donu (Izd. YuNC RAN). [In Russian.]
- PEVZNER, M.A., VANGENGEIM, E.A., ZHEGALLO, V.I., ZAZHIGIN, V.S. & LISKUN, I.G. (1983): Correlation of the upper Neogene sediments of Central Asia and Europe on the basis of paleomagnetic and biostratigraphic data. – *International Geology Review*, 25: 1075–1085.
- REGÀLIA, E. (1902): Sette uccelli pliocenici del Pisano e de Valdarno superiore [Seven Pliocene birds from Pisano and upper Valdarno.] – *Palaeontografia Italica*, 8: 219–238. [In Italian.]
- RICH, P.V., HOU, L., ONO, K. & BAIRD, R.F. (1986): A review of the fossil birds of China, Japan, and Southeast Asia. – *Geobios*, 19: 755–772.
- RODGERS, J.A. (1983): Foraging Behavior of Seven Species of Herons in Tampa Bay, Florida. – *Colonial waterbirds*, 6: 11–23.
- RUSEV, I.T. (2011). Nycticorax nycticorax (LINNAEUS, 1758). – In: PRIKLONSKY, S.G., ZUBAKIN, V.A. & KOBLIK, E.A. (eds). Ptitsy Rossii i sopredelnykh territorii [Birds of Russia and adjacent territories]. – pp. 212–236, Moscow (KMK Press). [In Russian.]

- SCOFIELD, R.P., WORTHY, T.H. & TENNYSON, A.J.D. (2010): A heron (Aves: Ardeidae) from the Early Miocene St Bathans Fauna of Southern New Zealand. – *Records of the Australian Museum*, 62: 89–104.
- VANGENGEIM, E.A., PEVZNER, M.A. & TESAKOV, A.S. (2005): Ruscinian and lower Villafranchian: age of boundaries and position in magnetochronological scale. – *Stratigraphy and Geological Correlation*, 13: 530–546.
- VOINSTVENSKY, M.A. (1967): [Fossil avifauna of Ukraine.] – Prirodnaja Obstanovka i Fauny Proshlogo, 3: 3–76. [In Russian.]
- ZELENKOV, N.V. (2012): Neogene geese and ducks (Aves: Anatidae) from localities of the Great Lake Depression in Western Mongolia. – *Paleontological Journal*, **46**: 607–619.
- ZELENKOV, N.V. & KUROCHKIN, E.N. (2009): Neogene Phasianids (Aves: Phasianidae) of Central Asia: 2. Genera *Perdix*, *Plioperdix*, and *Bantamyx. – Paleontological Journal*, **43**: 318–325.
- ZELENKOV, N.V. & KUROCHKIN, E.N. (2010): Neogene Phasianids (Aves: Phasianidae) of Central Asia: 3. Genera *Lophogallus* gen. nov. and *Syrmaticus.* – *Paleontological Journal*, **44**: 328–336.
- ZELENKOV, N.V. & KUROCHKIN, E.N. (2012): The first representative Pliocene assemblages of passerine birds in Asia (Northern Mongolia and Russian Transbaikalia). – *Geobios*, **45**: 323–334.
- ZUBAREVA, V.I. (1939): [New avian form from the Pliocene of Odessa town.] – Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR, 23: 606–608. [In Russian.]



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Early Pleistocene fossil birds from Cava Sud, Soave (Verona, North-Eastern Italy)

MARCO PAVIA & CLAUDIA BEDETTI

Museo di Geologia e Paleontologia, Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra, Università degli Studi di Torino, Torino, Italy; E-mail: marco.pavia@unito.it

Abstract — The analysis of the fossil bird remains found in the Early Pleistocene deposits of Cava Sud, one of the localities of the so-called "Brecce di Soave", is presented. The fossil remains have been found in some fissure fillings opened in the Eocene limestone and exploited by quarry activities. The fossil bird bones were associated with macro- and micromammals and the whole association is referred to the late Early Pleistocene MNQ 19 on the basis of the taxonomy and evolutionary degree of the micromammals. This study reveals the presence of at least 14 taxa and Cava Sud testifies the oldest occurrence of some of them, particularly *Rallus aquaticus* and *Strix nebulosa*, and the oldest Italian record of *Carduelis chloris*. The species identity of *Corvus pliocaenus* is also discussed and confirmed. Our results also support the hypothesis that the late Early Pleistocene represents the beginning of the present-day European avifauna, as the fossil associations of this age comprise mostly extant taxa. The bird taxa found at Cava Sud allow making palaeoenvironmental reconstructions of the area, suggesting the presence of dense woodlands and open grassy environment.

Key words: Birds, Early Pleistocene, Italy, paleoenvironment, Strix nebulosa

Introduction

The locality of Cava Sud is one of the various localities of the so-called "Brecce di Soave". This term is used to define a karst filling complex occurring in the Eocene limestone exposed and extensively quarried near the village of Soave (Verona, NE Italy). The fissures are filled by white or reddish not cemented calcareous sands and locally contain fossil vertebrates (PASA 1947; BONA & SARDELLA 2012). The fossiliferous deposits have been described and studied since the first half of the 19th century (SCORTEGAGNA 1844).

The deposits of Cava Sud are the oldest of the entire karst network and are referable to the late Early Pleistocene, as Cava Sud is the type-locality of the Arvicolinae *Microtus (Allophaiomys) ruffoi* described by PASA (1947), a key species for the biochronology of the Italian late Early Pleistocene (SALA & MASINI 2007; MARCOLINI *et al.* 2013). In particular, Cava Sud is one of the localities referred to the "Pirro Nord Faunal Unit" of the Italian biochronological scheme (GLIOZZI *et al.* 1997), corresponding to the MNQ 19, around 1.5 Ma. The complete list of mammals from Cava Sud is listed in BoN *et al.* (1991).

Most of the fossil remains collected at Cava Sud are of small dimensions, resulting that the association is dominated by small-sized taxa and/ or small-sized bones of bigger taxa. Most of the bird bones are presented by very fragmented long bones, so they can only be referred to small-sized Passeriformes or Aves indeterminate. In addition, the bones are not very well preserved, as they are slightly decalcified, and the complete long bones are extremely rare, except for some pedal phalanges, explaining the relatively scarce number of taxa identified at specific level.



FIGURE 1. Geographic location of Cava Sud, near the village of Soave, Verona County, in the North-Eastern Italy.

MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (1980) partially analysed the fossil birds from Cava Sud and reported the presence of *Palaeocryptonyx* sp., Alaudidae and *Corvus pliocaenus*. More recently, one of us (CB) studied the complete fossil bird assemblage and reported the presence of 16 taxa (BEDETTI 2003). Aim of this paper is the completion of the study of the fossil of birds collected by PASA during the first half of the 20th Century (PASA 1947) and stored at the Museo di Storia Naturale of Verona, Italy.

Material and Methods

The bird material collected at Cava Sud is entirely stored at the Museo Civico di Storia Naturale of Verona (MCSN V). The fossil bones were compared with recent bird skeletons stored in the Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra, Universiy of Torino, Italy (Marco Pavia Ornithological Collection, MPOC), in the Museo Civico di Storia Naturale di Carmagnola, Torino, and in the Laboratoire de Géologie de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Villeurbanne, France. Osteological terminology used in this publication principally follows BAUMEL & WIT-MER (1993); measurements were taken after VON DEN DRIESCH (1976) and GöHLICH & MOURER- CHAUVIRÉ (2005). The systematic order and the nomenclature for the extant taxa is following DEL HOYO *et al.* (1992, 1994, 1996, 1999, 2004, 2009, 2011), including the author names of the extant bird taxa.

Systematic Paleontology

The present analysis refines the conclusions reached by BEDETTI (2003) and allows us to define the fossil bird assemblage of Cava Sud. It is constituted by 14 taxa: *Branta* sp., *Palaeocryptonyx donnezani*, cf Tetraoninae indet., *Aquila* sp., *Rallus aquaticus*, Charadriiformes indet., *Bubo bubo*, *Strix nebulosa*, Strigidae indet., *Alauda arvensis*, *Corvus pliocaenus*, *Carduelis chloris*, *Emberiza* sp., Passeriformes indet. Synonymy lists have been provided only for the fossil species.

Order Anseriformes Wagler, 1831 Family Anatidae Vigors, 1825 Genus Branta Scopoli, 1769

Branta sp.

Material: Cranial fragment of left scapula (MCSN V12400); distal right radius (MCSN V12420); left os carpi ulnare (MCSN V12328a).

Remarks: The three fragments are of a middle- to big-sized Anatidae thus comparable with the genera *Branta* and *Tadorna* among the Palaearctic Pleistocene taxa. The fossil can be referred to the genus *Branta* for the size, bigger than *Tadorna*, and the following characteristics, which are absent in *Tadorna*: a small fossa on the lateral surface of the scapula, just below the facies articularis humeralis; a shallow sulcus tendinosus in the distal radius and the wider incisura metacarpale in the os carpi ulnare. The dimensions of the biggest European species of the genus (BACHER 1967), but their fragmentary status do not allow to better the determination above the genus level.

Order Galliformes TEMMINCK, 1820 Family Phasianidae VIGORS, 1825 Genus *Palaeocryptonyx* DEPÉRET, 1892

Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892

(Fig. 2A–E, G–H)

- *1892 Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret: 691.
- *pars 1897 *Palaeocryptonyx Donnezani* Depéret, 1892 – Depéret: 131–134; pl. 13, figs 2–10 [non pl. 13, figs 3–3a, 4–4a, 7–7a, 10–10a].
- *pars 1897 Turdus aff. cyaneus [sic Turdus cyanus = Monticola solitarius] LINNAEUS, 1766 – DEPÉRET: 137–138, pl. 13, figs 23–23a.
- 1933 *Palaeocryptonyx donnezani* Depéret, 1890 [sic] – LAMBRECHT: 438.
- 1954 ?Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892 Thenius: 49–50.
- 1964 Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892 Brodkorb: 316–317.
- * 1980 Palaeocryptonyx sp. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ: 355.
- 1996 Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892 MLÍKOVSKÝ: 188.
- 1997 Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892– Bocheńsky: 309.
- 1998 Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892 MLÍKOVSKÝ: 136.
- 1998 Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892 Tyrberg: 522.
- pars 2002a Alectoris donnezani (Depéret, 1892) MLÍKOVSKÝ: 159–161.
- 2002b Coturnix donnezani (Depéret, 1892) MLíkovský: 60.
- * 2003 Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892 Bedetti: 78–79, Pl. 3, Figs n, q.
- *pars 2003 Perdix n. sp. BEDETTI: 78-79.
- 2009 Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892 Sánchez-Marco: 1150, fig 2a–c.
- * 2012a Palaeocryptonyx donnezani DEPÉRET, 1892 PAVIA et al.: 258–262, figs 1, 2B.
- * 2013 Palaeocryptonyx donnezani Depéret, 1892 Bedetti & Pavia: 36–37, pl. 1, figs o–p.

Material: Two proximal right humeri (MCSN V12322c, MCSN V12340); left ulna (MCSN V12341), proximal right ulna (MCSN V12319d); two left carpometacarpi (MCSN V12339a, MCSN V12339d), distal left carpometacarpus (MCSN V12339e), carpometacarpus right (MCSN V12319e), two distal right carpometacarpi (MCSN V12339d, MCSN V12339f); three distal tibiotarsi (MCSN V12322d, MCSN V12333, MCSN V12344a), right tibiotarsus (MCSN V12319c); proximal left tarsometatarsus (MCSN V12334), distal left tarsometatarsus (MCSN V12322e), right tarsometatarsus (MCSN V12318d).

Measurements: See Table 1.

Description: In the fossil bones from Cava Sud there are some bone of a small-size Phasia-

nidae, smaller than the extant Perdix perdix and larger than Coturnix coturnix. All the bones can be referred to Palaeocryptonyx donnezani following the characteristics pointed out by PAVIA et al. (2012). In particular, the coracoid is not pneumatised, the humerus shows the two pneumatic fossae pneumotricipitalis with lamella and substantia spongiosa in the ventral one, the carpometacarpus shows a well-developed processus intermetacarpalis and the facies articularis digitalis more distally than the convex part of the facies articularis digitalis major, and the distal tibiotarsus is slender. It is also noteworthy to note that the material of Cava Sud allow us to describe and illustrate for the first time the ulna and the tarsometatarsus of P. donnezani, as the latter is not present in the type-series while the former is only represented by the distal part (PAVIA et al. 2012a). The ulna is relatively short and bent with the proximal end ventrodorsally compressed and the cross section triangular; the margo interossea is well developed and the olecranon is sharp in caudal view and in continuation of the shaft bending; the impressio musculi brachialis is superficially and clearly bordered. In the distal end, the condylus ventralis ulnae is well developed and pointed distally and the tuberculum carpale tends cranially. The tarsometatarsus is slender, with the proximal end narrower than the distal one and no evidence of spur; the crista medianoplantaris is absent with the hypotarsus situated slightly laterally; the fossa infracotylaris dorsalis is well pronounced and the sulcus extensorius is shallow. The plantar side of the shaft is raised and smooth, with the cristae slightly evident; in the distal part, the throchlea 4 distally surpassed trochlea II and the trochlea II and IV are equally bent plantarly.

Remarks: After the present study we can better precise the specific attribution of the material from Cava Sud, previously indicated as *Palaeocrytonyx* sp. by MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (1980). The type-series of *P. donnezani* has recently been re-examined by PAVIA *et al.* (2012a) with the selection of lectotype and paralectotypes and also the assessment of the systematic identity of the species. The recently described *Palaeocryptonyx novacki* SÁNCHEZ-MARCO, 2009 from the Late Pliocene of Spain can be excluded because it is overall smaller and shows some morphological



FIGURE 2. Bones of non-Passeriformes from the late Early Pleistocene of Cava Sud (Verona, N-E Italy). *Palaeocryptonyx donnezani*: A, proximal right humerus (MCSNV V12322c), caudal view; B-C, right carpometacarpus (MCSNV V12319e), ventral (B) and dorsal (C) views; D-E, left ulna (MCSNV V12341), ventral (D) and medial (E) views; G-H, right tarsometatarsus (MCSNV V12318d), dorsal (G) and plantar (H) views. *Strix nebulosa*: F, distal right tarsometatarsus (MCSNV V12422), dorsal view; I, right phalanx 1-III (MCSNV V12328h), dorsal view. *Aquila* sp.: J, right phalanx 1-II (MCSNV V12328b), dorsal view. *Rallus aquaticus*: K, distal right tibiotarsus (MCSNV V12344b), cranial view. The scale bars represent 5 mm.

differences in many of the long bones (SANCHEZ-MARCO 2009: 1152–1153). The present analysis adds some important information to the knowledge of the species, as we described some bones previously unknown. *Palaeocryptonyx donn*- *ezani* is the only small-sized Galliformes found at Cava Sud, as the remains of *Perdix* n. sp. reported by BEDETTI (2003) have been referred here to *P. donnezani*.

This species is reported from the Early Pliocene,

Ruscinian MN 15, of France to the Early/Middle Pleistocene, late Villafranchian/Biharian MNQ 20–21, of various localities (SANCHEZ-MARCO 2009; PAVIA *et al.* 2012a; BEDETTI & PAVIA 2013).

Subfamily Tetraoninae Vigors, 1825

cf. Tetraoninae indet.

Material: distal right tarsometatarsus (MCSN V12348).

Remarks: The bone is very poorly preserved with also the trochlea II and IV broken off. However, the general morphology recalls that of Phasianidae and, in particular, its robustness suggests the taxonomic attribution to the Tetraoninae, even if only tentatively.

Order Accipitriformes VIEILLOT, 1816 Family Accipitridae VIEILLOT, 1816 Genus *Aquila* BRISSON, 1760

Aquila sp.

(Fig. 2J)

Material: right distal tarsometatarsus (MCSN V12318a); left phalanx 1-II (MCSN V12328b); two left phalages 3-III (MCSN V12328c, MCSN V12328d); left phalanx 4-III (MCSN V12319a).

Remarks: The tarsometatarsus was previously referred to *Circaetus gallicus* by BEDETTI (2003), but the morphology of the lateral side of the distal part of the bone, in particular the shape of the groove proximally to the foramen vasculare distale is more similar to *Aquila* than to *Circaetus*. The five bones can be referred to a small sized *Aquila*, such as *Aquila clanga*, but their scarce number and the quality of preservation do not allow referring these specimens to specific-level taxon.

Order Gruiformes Bonaparte, 1854 Family Rallidae Vigors, 1825 Genus *Rallus* Linnaeus, 1758

Rallus aquaticus Linnaeus, 1758 (Fig. 2K)

Material: Cranial fragment of a left coracoid (MCSN V12411); distal right tibiotarsus (MCSN

V12344b).

Measurements: See Table 1.

Remarks: The morphology of the two bones clearly reflects that of the Rallidae. In particular the coracoid shows a shallow sulcus on the cranial surface of the diaphisys and the facies articularis humeralis is laterally well expanded; the tibiotarsus shows the condylus medialis clearly smaller and thinner than the condylus lateralis with the incisura intercondylaris asymmetrical in dorsal view. Among the Rallidae the bones are similar in size to *Rallus aquaticus* or *Crex crex*, but match better in dimension with the first, which is overall smaller than those of *C. crex*, and because the sulcus on the cranial surface of the coracoid is as deep as in *R. aquaticus*, whereas it is less deep in *Crex crex*.

Rallus aquaticus is reported from the Early Pleistocene of Ubeidiya in Israel (TCHERNOV 1980), a site little younger in age than Cava Sud. Thus, the Italian record represents the oldest occurrence of the species, given that the record from the Late Pliocene of Csarnóta, Hungary (JÁNOSSY 1979) is only dubious.

Order Charadriiformes HUXLEY, 1867

Charadriiformes indet.

Material: left scapula (MCSN V12407); caudal fragment of a right coracoid (MCSN V12410).

Remarks: The bones can be referred to a middle-sized Charadriiformes, similar in size to *Pluvialis apricaria*, but the remains are too fragmentary to better define their taxonomic affinities.

Order Strigiformes WAGLER, 1830 Family Strigidae VIGORS, 1825 Genus *Bubo* DUMÉRIL, 1806

Bubo bubo (LINNAEUS, 1758)

Material: distal right humerus (MCSN V12423); distal left tarsometatarsus (MCSN V12425).

Remarks: The bones described here can easily be referred to a big-sized Strigidae. The osteological morphology of this species is quite unique in the Palaearctic avifauna and it can only be confused with *Bubo scandiacus* (former *Nyctea scandiaca*, recently placed in the genus *Bubo* by SANGSTER *et al.* 2004). A detailed analysis of the osteological differences between these two species has been made by BEDETTI & PAVIA (2007), based on which the bones from Cava Sud can be referred to *Bubo bubo*.

This species is known from the Early Pliocene of various European localities (MLIKOVSKÝ 2002a).

Genus Strix LINNAEUS, 1758

Strix nebulosa Forster, 1772 (Fig. 2F, I)

Material: distal left tibiotarsus (MCSN V12421); distal right tarsometatarsus (MCSN V12422); left phalanx 2-II (MCSN V12328i); right phalanx 1-III (MCSN V12328h); right phalanx 3-IV (MCSN V12328j); right phalanx 4-IV (MCSN V12328k); right phalanx 5-V (MCSN V12328l).

Measurements: See Table 1.

Remarks: The fossils described here belong to a large-sized Strigidae, smaller than *Bubo bubo*. The morphological characteristics recall those to the genus *Strix*, also according to LANGER (1980). In the Palaearctic, six species of the genus *Strix* have been recorded, both living and fossils (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1975; BALLMANN 1976; DEL HOYO *et al.* 1999). The size of the remains from Cava Sud is comparable only to those of *Strix nebulosa*, the biggest species of the genus (DEL HOYO *et al.* 1999).

Strix nebulosa is known from the Middle Pleistocene, MNQ 21, of Stránská Skála, Czech Republic (MLíKOVSKÝ 2002b), and in general it is rarely reported as a fossil (TYRBERG 1998, 2012). The record from Cava Sud represents the oldest occurrence of the species.

Strigidae indet.

Material: Right phalanx 1-II (MCSN V12328g); left phalanx 5-IV (MCSN V12319f).

Remarks: The two posterior phalanges clearly belong to a small-sized Strigidae, slightly bigger in size to both *Athene noctua* and *Aegolius funereus*. Unfortunately the bones are not very well preserved and thus we are not able to refer these specimens to a more precise taxon, even at generic level.

Order Passeriformes LINNAEUS, 1758 Family Alaudidae VIGORS, 1825 Genus *Alauda* LINNAEUS, 1758

Alauda arvensis LINNAEUS, **1758** (Fig. 3H)

Material: right humerus (MCSN V12364); three proximal right humeri (MCSN V12361a, MCSN V12361b, MCSN V12362); proximal left humerus (MCSN V12361c).

Remarks: The humeri listed above can clearly be attributed to an Alaudidae, following the morphological characteristics listed by JÁNOSSY (1983) and MORENO (1985). The overall size of the bones is comparable with both *Alauda arvensis* and *Galerida* spp. (JÁNOSSY 1983), but the morphology of the caput humeri, which is — like in *Alauda arvensis* — less prominent and of the crista deltopectoralis, which is gradually joining the diaphysis and not forming a step like in *Galerida* spp., allow us to refer these bones to *Alauda arvensis*. In addition, many of the bones of Passeriformes indet. could be referred to Alaudidae, but their fragmentary status does not allow their better taxonomic attribution.

The species has already been reported from the Italian locality of Pirro Nord (BEDETTI & PAVIA 2013), similar in age with Cava Sud, thus the present record is a confirmation of the occurrence of this taxon from the Early Pleistocene onwards.

Family Corvidae Vigors, 1825 Genus Corvus Linnaeus, 1758

Corvus pliocaenus (Portis, 1889)

(Fig. 3A–D, G)

- * 1887 *Numenius* sp. (*Pliocaenus*) PORTIS: 195 [nomen nudum].
- * 1889 *Numenius* sp. (*pliocaenus*) Portis: 13, pl. I, figs 26a–26b.
- * 1902 *Corvus* [*pliocaenus* ?] PORTIS, 1889 REGALIA: 220, pl. 27 (1), fig. 1.
- 1975 *Corvus pliocaenus* Portis, 1889 Mourer-Chauviré: 236.
- 1978 Corvus pliocaenus Portis, 1889 BRODKORB: 158.
- * 1980 Corvus pliocaenus Portis, 1889 MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ: 355.

¹⁹⁹⁷ Corvus pliocaenus Portis, 1889 – Bocheńsky: 325.

¹⁹⁹⁸ Corvus pliocaenus Portis, 1889 - Tyrberg: 582.

^{*}pars 2002a Corvus corone Linnaeus, 1758 - Mlíko-



FIGURE 3. Bones of Passeriformes from the late Early Pleistocene of Cava Sud (Verona, N-E Italy). *Corvus pliocaenus*: A-B, distal left ulna (MCSNV V12332b), ventral (A) and dorsal (B) views; C, proximal left ulna (MCSNV V12343), medial view; D, distal left tarsometatarsus (MCSNV V12336), dorsal view; G, right phalanx 1-I (MCSNV V12323a), dorsal view. *Carduelis chloris*: E, maxillary fragment (MCSNV V12338), dorsal view; F, recent skull for comparison (MPOC 153), dorsal view. *Alauda arvensis*: H, right humerus (MCSNV V12364), caudal view. The scale bars represent 5 mm.

vský: 232.

- * 2003 Corvus pliocaenus Portis, 1889 Bedetti: 78, pl. V, figs m–n and p–r.
- * 2012 Corvus pliocaenus Роктія, 1889 Rook et al.: 7, figs 8F–8G.
- * 2013 Corvus pliocaenus Portis, 1889 Bedetti & Pavia: 45, pl. 2, figs r–v.

Material: left quadratum (MCSN V12413a); three right quadrata (MCSN V12389, MCSN V12405, MCSN V12413); cranial fragment of a right coracoid (MCSN V12311); left scapula (MCSN V12404); distal left humerus (MCSN V12342a); distal right humerus (MCSN V12342b); proximal left ulna (MCSN V12343); distal left ulna (MCSN V12332a); two distal right ulnae (MCSN V12332b, MCSN V12424); three left ossa carpalia (MCSN V12331a,

MCSN V12331b, MCSN V12322b); three distal left carpometacarpi (MCSN V12317, MCSN V12330a, MCSN V12330b); right proximal car-

pometacarpus (MCSN V12319b); right phalanx 1 digiti majoris (MCSN V12401); three distal right femora (MCSN V12346, MCSN V12347a,

TABLE 1. Measurements (in mm) of the bones of selected taxa from the Early Pleistocene of Cava Sud. Measurements of bones that are slightly worn or damaged are given in parentheses.

Abbreviations: GL, greatest length; Wp, proximal width; Dp, proximal depth; Wd, distal width; Dd, distal depth; Ws, smallest width of shaft; Ds, depth of the shaft; Dpm, smallest proximal depth without hypotarsus; Dpt, proximal depth with tuberculum flexorius; Wtf, width of tuberculum flexorius.

	GL	Wp	Dp	Wd	Dd	Ws	Ds	Dpm	Dpt	Wtf
Palaeocryptonyx donnezani										
Humerus MCSNV V12322c	_	10.8	5.0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Ulna MCSNV V12319d	_	4.9	6.9	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Ulna MCSNV V12341	38.4	4.9	6.8	5.4	4.3	2.4	3.2	_	_	_
Carpometacarpus MCSNV V12319e	24.5	6.5	3.7	4.9	2.7	2.1	2.4	_	_	_
Carpometacarpus MCSNV V12339a	25.9	6.5	4.0	5.5	2.7	2.3	2.7	_	_	_
Carpometacarpus MCSNV V12339b	24.7	7.1	3.8	5.4	3.1	2.3	3.9	_	_	_
Carpometacarpus MCSNV V12339c	_	_	_	5.1	2.6	2.3	2.4	_	_	_
Carpometacarpus MCSNV V12339d	_	_	_	5.2	3.1	2.3	2.6	_	_	_
Tibiotarsus MCSNV V12319c	_	_	_	6.0	5.7	(3.0)	_	_	_	_
Tibiotarsus MCSNV V12322d	_	_	-	6.4	3.6	_	_	_	_	_
Tibiotarsus MCSNV V12333	-	-	-	5.5	5.7	_	-	_	-	-
Tarsometatarsus MCSNV V12318d	36.8	6.4	6.1	7.1	5.1	2.9	2.5	3.9	-	-
Tarsometatarsus MCSNV V12322e	-	-	-	7.5	5.1	_	-	_	-	-
Tarsometatarsus MCSNV V12334	_	7.1	6.1	-	_	3.4	2.9	4.1	-	-
Rallus aquaticus										
Tibiotarsus MCSNV V12344b	_	-	-	5.4	5.7	-	_	-	-	-
Strix nebulosa										
Tarsometatarsus MCSNV V12422	-	-	-	15.7	11.9	_	_	_	-	-
Phalanx 2-II MCSNV V12328i	25.1	6.1	6.5	4.6	5.4	5.1	4.2	_	-	-
Phalanx 1-III MCSNV V12328h	10.4	8.8	7.5	7.2	5.8	6.3	4.6	_	-	-
Phalanx 3-IV MCSNV V12328j	7.2	5.4	5.5	4.7	4.9	4.6	4.1	_	-	-
Phalanx 5-V MCSNV V123281	_	4.8	6.4	-	-	_	_	-	8.9	3.8
Corvus pliocaenus										
Coracoid MCSNV V12311	-	6.6	8.4	-	_	3.9	3.5	_	-	-
Humerus MCSNV V12342a	-	-	-	16.9	8.1	-	_	_	-	-
Humerus MCSNV V12342b	-	-	-	15.2	7.8	_	-	_	-	-
Ulna MCSNV V12332a	-	-	-	8.2	7.1	4.8	4.8	_	-	-
Ulna MCSNV V12343	-	11.5	10.7	-	-	_	-	_	-	-
Ulna MCSNV V12424	-	-	-	9.8	6.9	_	-	_	-	-
Carpometacarpus MCSNV V12319b	-	11.5	10.7	-	-	_	-	_	-	-
Carpometacarpus MCSNV V12330b	-	-	-	11.4	4.9	4.0	4.9	_	-	-
Carpometacarpus MCSNV V12330c	-	-	-	10.3	4.6	4.1	4.2	_	-	-
Carpometacarpus MCSNV V12343	-	11.7	6.7	-	-	-	_	_	-	-
Femur MCSNV V12347a	-	10.5	5.9	-	-	-	_	_	-	-
Femur MCSNV V12347b	-	10.9	5.6	-	-	4.8	4.7	-	-	-
Tarsometatarsus MCSNV V12336	-	-	-	6.5	4.4	3.8	4.4	-	-	-
Phal, 1 digit I MCSNV V12323a	21.7	6.1	4.6	4.2	3.2	3.7	2.6	_	-	_

Measurements: See Table 1.

Description: The measurements of the bones of Corvus pliocaenus fall within the same size-class of Corvus corone but, on average, are slightly bigger in all elements (TOMEK & BOCHEŃSKI 2000), whereas the general morphology is more similar to that of Corvus corax (also according to BEDETTI & PAVIA 2013). More in detail, the coracoid of C. pliocaenus is stouter than the one of C. corone with the processus acrocoracoideus not pointed as in C. corone. The tuberculum coracoideum in the scapula is wider and less developed than in C. corone. In the proximal ulna the ventral side of the cotyla ventralis is more pronounced in C. pliocaenus and the notch on the olecranon is absent (TOMEK & BOCHEŃSKI 2000); the incisura tendinosa in the distal ulna is deeper than in C. corone and the tuberculum carpale is pointed cranially as in C. corax and not proximally as in C. corone. In the carpometacarpus of C. pliocaenus the processus extensorius is bigger than in C. corone and the processus intermetacarpalis more proximal than C. corax and C. corone with the spatium intermetacrpalis thinner. The long depressio along the shaft of the phalax 1 digitorum majoris in C. pliocaenus is deep and begins very close to the proximal part of the bones, more than in C. corone and C. corax, the proximal surface is more similar to the other two species than previously indicated by BEDETTI & PAVIA (2013). The tarsometatarsus is more similar to that of C. corax in having a broader groove in the plantar side of the trochlea metatarsi III and a small tuberculum in the distal part of the small crest on the medial side of the bone in plantar view. The phalanx 1-I is stouter than in C. corone with the proximal end proportionately wider.

Remarks: This species has been reported from various European localities since the Late Pliocene (PORTIS 1889; MLÍKOVSKÝ 2002a) and survives up to the Middle Pleistocene (TYRBERG 1998). From the Middle Pleistocene of France, MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (1975) described the subspecies *Corvus pliocaenus janossyi*, slightly bigger than the nominate one, only reported from three localities. MLÍKOVSKÝ (2002a) considered *C*. pliocaenus as a junior synonym of C. corone, whereas C. p. janossy was synonymized with C. corax, both on the basis of the measurements, without considering the morphology. MLÍKOVSKÝ (2002a) also followed BRODKORB (1978) in considering both C. praecorax and C. betfianus as synonyms of C. pliocaenus. The relationships among the various extinct big-sized species of the genus *Corvus* is beside the aim of this paper, and also we are not able to discuss here the validity of the Middle Pleistocene subspecies Corvus pliocaenus janossy and its systematic rank, but the morphological characteristics shown by the Cava Sud remains, together with the material recently described from the coeval locality of Pirro Nord (BEDETTI & PAVIA 2013) allow to confirm Corvus pliocaenus as a valid species.

Family Fringillidae VIGORS, 1825 Genus Carduelis BRISSON, 1760

Carduelis chloris (LINNAEUS, 1758) (Fig. 3E)

Material: fragmented maxilla (MCSN V12338).

Remarks: The conical morphology of the bill fragment clearly indicates its relationships with the Fringillidae. In particular, it is wider than any other species of the family except *Coccothraustes coccothraustes*, which is clearly bigger and more robust; thus this fragment can be attributed to *Carduelis chloris*, also following the indication of MORENO (1985).

This species is reported from coeval localities in France and Spain (MLíKOVSKÝ 2002a) but Cava Sud represents the oldest Italian record for this taxon.

Family Emberizidae Vigors, 1831 Genus *Emberiza* Linnaeus, 1758

Emberiza sp.

Material: Four proximal right humeri (MCSN V12314a, MCSN V12375a, MCSN V12375b, MCSN V12375c).

Remarks: The four humeri clearly show the morphological characteristics of the family Emberizidae, as described by JÁNOSSY (1983) and ZELENKOV & KUROCHKIN (2012), in particular the shape of the fossae pneumotricipitalis and the squared crista deltopectoralis. The various species of the genus *Emberiza* are morphologically very similar even in the humerus and the fragmentary status of the bones from Cava Sud do not allow to better the taxonomic attribution.

Discussion

The high degree of fragmentation of the bird material coming from Cava Sud is probably due to the taphonomic history of the deposits, as the fossils were found in fissure fillings with the bigger bones probably already fragmented by diagenesis, and to the excavation techniques possibly too aggressive for the preservation of fragile bird bones, as a greater attention was dedicated to the recovery of micro-mammal teeth. Because of their high fragmentation, which only allows us to determine a low percentage of the whole bird remains below the family level, the faunal composition of the Early Pleistocene of Cava Sud is not very rich, but we can make some palaeoenvironmental reconstruction, even if only qualitative as it is not possible to evaluate the relative importance of the various taxa. The palaeoenvironment reconstruction based on living bird taxa, which are the majority from Cava Sud, is normally extremely significant, as the ecological needs and characteristics of modern birds are very well studied and understood (PAVIA & BEDETTI 2004).

The relative abundance of Alaudidae recognized at Cava Sud allow to hypothesize the presence of an open grassy habitat, possibly inhabited also by the extinct *Palaeocryptonyx donnezani*. Other areas were probably covered by dense forest, as suggested by the Tetraoninae and *Strix nebulosa*, as the latter one only inhabits the taiga forest in the Boreal region (DEL HOYO *et al.* 1999). Other taxa, such as *Bubo bubo* and probably the extinct *Corvus pliocaenus*, are generalist and so do not give any precise paleoenvironmental indication.

During the European Early Pleistocene we observe the extinction of most of the Pliocene bird taxa of Neogene origin, substituted by the modern taxa (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ 1993). In fact, the Pliocene fossil bird associations are normally characterized by a great number of extinct taxa, some of them on the lineage of the recent ones (Emslie 1998; Olson & RASSMUSSEN 2001; BOEV 2002; ZELENKOV & KUROCHKIN 2012). On the other hand, starting from around 1.5 Ma on, one can observe that the European fossil bird association are composed mostly by extant taxa (TYRBERG 1998), with only few taxa already present in older sites, such as *Palaeocryptonyx* donnezani and Corvus pliocaenus (Tyrberg 1998; BEDETTI 2003; PAVIA et al. 2012a, b). This is particularly evident in the Italian site of Pirro Nord, where more than 40 bird taxa have been detected (PAVIA et al. 2012b; BEDETTI & PAVIA 2013), but only three extinct species: Perdix n. sp., Palaeocryptonyx donnezani and Corvus pliocaenus. The site of Cava Sud is biochronogically coeval with Pirro Nord, only a little older, following the evolutionary degree of the micromammals (MARCOLINI et al. 2013) and confirms what was observed already at Pirro Nord: the scarce importance of birds as biochronological tool from the late Early Pleistocene onwards. As a matter of fact we report here the first occurrence of Strix nebulosa and Rallus aquaticus and the oldest Italian occurrence of Carduelis chloris (TYRBERG 1998, 2012; BEDETTI 2003), adding new data on the early history of the extant bird species.

Conclusions

This paper updates the knowledge of the fossil bird association coming from the late Early Pleistocene fissure fillings of Cava Sud. In addition new information about the chronological and geographical distribution of some recent and fossil bird species is given from an area, the Northern Italy, with few fossiliferous localities of that time-span (BEDETTI, 2003). The fossil bird association of Cava Sud shows the composition of a modern-type avifauna, also shown by other bird association of the Early Pleistocene around 1.5 Ma. Despite the low number of taxa determined at generic or specific level, some of them are congruent with the coeval site of Pirro Nord, Southern Italy (BEDETTI & PAVIA 2013) and Monte Argentario (BEDETTI 2003; PAVIA unpubl. data), with the exception of the Tetraoninae and Strix nebulosa. This difference is probably related to the paleoenvironment of Cava Sud around 1.5 Ma,

characterized by open grassy habitat with dense Alpine woodlands, while the other sites were characterized by open, more arid, environment. The reconstruction of the environment of the late Early Pleistocene of Italy is also of particular importance, as this area is of interest concerning the early human colonisation of Europe, dating around 1.5 Ma (ARZARELLO *et al.* 2007).

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Roberto ZORZIN and Anna VACCARI, of the Museo Civico di Storia Naturale of Verona, for putting the material in their collections at our disposal. M. PAVIA was financially supported by Synthesys Program (FR-TAF 2067 and NL-TAF 2255) and by Italian MIUR PRIN 2009MSSS9L 002 to Giulio PAVIA. We also would like to thank Nikita ZELENKOV (Borissiak Paleontological Institute of Russian Academy of Sciences), an anonymous reviewer and Ursula Göhlich (NHMW) for their comments and suggestions that greatly improved the manuscript.

References

- ARZARELLO, M., MARCOLINI, F., PAVIA, G., PAVIA, M., PETRONIO, C., PETRUCCI, M., ROOK, L. & SARDELLA, R. (2007): Evidence of earliest human occurrence in Europe: the site of Pirro Nord (Southern Italy). – *Naturwissenschaften*, **94**/2: 107–112.
- BACHER, A. (1967): Vergleichend morphologische Untersuchungen an Einzelknochen des postkranialen Skeletts in Mitteleuropa vorkommender Schwäne und Gänse. – 109 pp. PhD Dissertation, München (Ludwig Maximilians Universität).
- BALLMANN, P. (1976): Fossile Vögel aus dem Neogen der Halbinsel Gargano (Italien). Zweiter Teil. – Scripta Geologica, 38: 1–59.
- BAUMEL, J.J. & WITMER, L.M. (1993): Osteologia. In: BAUMEL, J.J.(ed.): Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium. Second Edition. – *Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 45–132.
- BEDETTI, C. (2003): Le avifaune fossili del Plio-Pleistocene italiano: sistematica, paleoecologia ed elementi di biocronologia. – 188 pp. PhD Dissertation, Roma (Università Sapienza di Roma).
- BEDETTI, C. & PAVIA, M. (2007): Reinterpretation of the Late Pleistocene Ingarano cave deposits based

on the fossil bird associations (Apulia, South-Eastern Italy). – *Rivista Italiana di Paleontologia e Stratigrafia*, **113**/3: 487–507.

- BEDETTI, C. & PAVIA, M. (2013): Early Pleiostecene birds from Pirro Nord (Puglia, southern Italy). – Palaeontographica Abteilung A: Palaozoologie-Stratigraphie, 298/1–6: 31–53.
- BOCHEŃSKI, Z. (1997): List of European fossil bird species. – Acta zoologica cracoviensia, 40: 293–333.
- BOEV, Z. (2002): Neogene avifauna of Bulgaria. In: ZHOU, Z. & ZHANG, F. (eds): Proceedings of the 5th Symposium of the SAPE. – pp. 29–40, Beijing (Beijing Science Press).
- BON, M., PICCOLI, G. & SALA B. (1991): I giacimenti quaternari di vertebrati fossili nell'Italia nordorientale. – *Memorie di Scienze Geologiche*, 43: 185–231.
- BONA, F. & SARDELLA, R. (2012): The Middle Pleistocene large felids (Mammalia) from Brecce di Soave (Verona, N-E Italy). – *Rivista Italiana di Paleontologia e Stratigrafia*. 118/1: 193–199.
- BRISSON, M.J. (1760): Ornithologia. 500 pp. Leiden (Theodorum Haak).
- BRODKORB, P. (1964): Catalogue of the fossil birds: Part 2 (Anseriformes through Galliformes). – Bulletin of the Florida State Museum Biological Sciences, 8/3: 195–335.
- BRODKORB, P. (1978): Catalogue of fossil birds, part 5 (Passeriformes). – Bulletin of the Florida State Museum Biological Sciences, 23/3: 139–228.
- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (1992): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 1. Ostrich to Ducks. – 696 pp. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (1994): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 2. New World Vultures to Guineafowl. – 638 pp. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (1996): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 3. Hoatzin to Auks. – 821 pp. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (1999): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 5. Barn-Owls to Hummingbirds. – 759 pp. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (2004): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 9. Cotingas to Pipits and Wagtails. – 863 pp. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (2009): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 14. Bush-shrikes to Old World Sparrows. – 893 pp. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).
- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A. & SARGATAL, J. (2011): Handbook of the Birds of the World. Vol. 16. Tanagers to New World Blackbirds. – 876 pp. Barcelona (Lynx Edicions).

- DEPÉRET, C. (1892): Sur la faune d'Oiseaux pliocenes du Roussillon. – Comptes Rendus Hebdomadaires des Seances de l'Academie des Sciences (Paris), 114: 690–692.
- DEPÉRET, C. (1897): Animaux Pliocenes du Roussillon. Classe des Oiseaux. – Memoires de la Société Géologique de France. Paléontologie, **3**: 127–139.
- DRIESCH, A. VON DEN (1976): A guide to the measurements of animal bones from archaeological sites. *Peabody Museum Bulletins*, **1**: 1–129.
- DUMÉRIL, C.A.M. (1806): Zoologie Analytique. 344 pp., Paris (Libraire Allais).
- EMSLIE, S.D. (1998): Avian community, climate, and sea-level changes in the Plio-Pleistocene of the Florida Peninsula. – Ornithological Monographs, 50: 1–113.
- FORSTER, J.R. (1772): An account of birds sent from Hudson's Bay with observation relative to their natural history and Latin descriptions of some of the most uncommon – *Philosophical Transactions*, **62**: 382–433.
- GLIOZZI, E., ABBAZZI, L., ARGENTI, P., AZZAROLI, A., CALOI, L., CAPASSO BARBATO, L., DI STEFANO, G., ESU, D., FICCARELLI, G., GIROTTI, O., KOTSAKIS, T., MASINI, F., MAZZA, P., MEZZABOTTA, C., PALOMBO, M.R., PETRONIO, C., ROOK, L., SALA, B., SARDELLA, R., ZANALDA, E. & TORRE, D. (1997): Biochronology of selected Mammals, Molluscs and Ostracods from the Middle Pliocene to the Late Pleistocene in Italy. The state of the art. – *Rivista Italiana di Paleontologia e Stratigrafia*, **103**/3: 369–388.
- Göhlich, U.B. & Mourer-Chauviré, C. (2005): Revision of the Phasianids (Aves: Galliformes) from the Lower Miocene of Saint-Gerand-Le-Puy (Allier, France). *Palaeontology*, **48**/6: 1331–1350.
- JÁNOSSY, D. (1979): Plio-pleistocene bird remains from the Carpathian Basin IV. Anseriformes, Gruiformes, Charadriiformes, Passeriformes. – Aquila, 85: 11–39.
- JANOSSY, D. (1983): Humeri of Central European smaller Passeriformes. – *Fragmenta Mineralogica et Paleontologica*, **11**: 85–112.
- LAMBRECHT, K. (1933): Handbuch der Palaeornithologie. – 1024 pp. Berlin (Verlag von Gebrüder Borntraeger).
- LANGER, G. (1980): Vergleichend morphologische Untersuchungen an Einzelknochen in Mitteleuropa vorkommender mittelgrosser Eulenarten. – 210 pp. PhD Dissertation, München (Ludwig Maximilians Universität).
- LINNAEUS, C.v. (1758): Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Tenth Edition. – 824 pp. Stockholm (Laurentii Salvii).
- LINNAEUS, C.v. (1766): Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, spe-

cies, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Twelfth Edition. – 532 pp. Stockholm (Laurentii Salvii).

- MARCOLINI, F., MASINI, F. & PETRONIO C. (2013): The rodents of the Pirro Nord fauna (Foggia, Southern Italy). – Palaeontographica Abteilung A: Palaozoologie-Stratigraphie, 298/1–6: 73–85.
- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (1996): Early and Middle Pleistocene birds from the Bohemian Karst, Czech Republic. – Acta Societatis Zoologicae Bohemiae, 60: 187–190.
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (1998): Early Pleistocene birds of Deutsch-Altenburg, Austria. – Acta Societatis Zoologicae Bohemiae, 62: 135–141.
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (2002a): Cenozoic birds of the World. Part 1: Europe. – 406 pp. Praha (Ninox Press).
- MLÍKOVSKÝ, J. (2002b): Early Pleistocene birds of Stranska skala, Czech Republic: 2. Absolon's cave. – Sylvia, 38: 57–65.
- MORENO, E. (1985): Clave osteologica para la identificacion de los Passeriformes Ibericos I. – Ardeola, 32: 295–377.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1975): Le oiseaux du Pléistocène moyen et supérieur de France. – Documents du Laboratoire de Geologie de Lyon, 64: 1–624.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1980): La faune d'oiseaux du Pléistocène en Europe occidentale. – Bulletin Association Française Etude Quaternaire, Supplement, n.s. 1: 353–358.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (1993): The Pleistocene avifauna of Europe. – *Archaeofauna*, **2**: 53–66.
- OLSON, S.L. & RASMUSSEN, P.C. (2001): Miocene and Pliocene birds from the Lee Creek Mine, North Carolina. – In: RAY, C.E. & BOHASKA, D.J. (eds): Geology and paleontology of the Lee Creek Mine, North Carolina, III. – Smithsonian Contribution to Paleobiology, **90**: 233–365.
- PASA, A. (1947): I mammiferi di alcune brecce veronesi. – Memorie del Museo Civico di Storia Naturali di Verona, 1: 1–111.
- PAVIA, M. & BEDETTI, C. (2004): Importance of bird communities in the interpretations of Pleistocene fossil vertebrate assemblages: the Italian case history. – 32nd IGC Florence 2004, Scientific Sessions: abstract (part 1): 704.
- PAVIA, M., Göhlich, U.B. & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. (2012a): Description of the type-series of *Palaeocryptonyx donnezani* DEPÉRET, 1892 (Aves: Phasianidae) with the selection of a lectotype. *Comptes Rendus Palevol*, 11: 257–263.
- PAVIA, M., ZUNINO, M., COLTORTI, M., ANGELONE, C., ARZARELLO, M., BAGNUS, C., BELLUCCI, L., COLOMBERO, S., MARCOLINI, F., PERETTO, C., PETRO-NIO, C., PETRUCCI, M., PIERUCCINI, P., SARDELLA, R., TEMA, E., VILLIER, B. & PAVIA, G. (2012b). Stratigraphical and palaeontological data from the Early Pleistocene Pirro 10 site of Pirro Nord (Puglia,

south eastern Italy). *Quaternary International*, **267**: 40–55.

- PORTIS, A. (1887): Contribuzioni all'ornitolitologia italiana. – Memorie Regia Accademia delle Scienze di Torino Serie 2, 38: 181–203.
- PORTIS, A. (1889): Gli ornitoliti del Valdarno Superiore e su alcune altre località plioceniche di Toscana. – Memorie Regio Istituto di Studi Superiori e Pratici, 1889: 1–20.
- REGÀLIA, E. (1902): Sette uccelli pliocenici del Pisano e del Valdarno Superiore. – Palaeontographia italica, 8: 219–238.
- ROOK, L., CROITOR, R., DELFINO, M., FERRETTI, M.P., GALLAI, G. & PAVIA, M. (2012): The Upper Valdarno Plio-Pleistocene vertebrate record: an historical overview, with notes on palaeobiology and stratigraphic significance of some important taxa. – *Italian Journal of Geoscience*, **131**/2: 1–7.
- SALA, B. & MASINI, F. (2007): Late Pliocene and Pleistocene small mammal chronology in the Italian peninsula. – *Quaternary International*, 160: 4–16.
- SANCHEZ MARCO, A. (2009): New Iberian Galliforms and reappraisal of some Pliocene and Pleistocene Eurasian taxa. – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, **29**/4: 1148–1161.
- SANGSTER, G., COLLINSON, M.J., HELBIG, A.J., KNOX, A.G. & PARKIN, D.T. (2004): Taxonomic recommendations for British birds: second reports. – *Ibis*, 146: 153–157.

- Scopoli, G.A. (1769): Annus I Historico Naturalis. 168 pp. Lipsia (Gottlob Hilscheri).
- SCORTEGAGNA, F.O. (1844): Notizie sulle ossa fossili degli animali Mammiferi rinvenute sepolte nel Monte Zoppega. – Annali delle Scienze del Regno Lombardo veneto, Bim. V-VI: 1–24.
- TCHERNOV, E. (1980): The Pleistocene birds of ,Ubeidiya, Jordan Valley. – 83 pp. Jerusalem (The Israel Academy of Sciences and Humanities),.
- THENUIS, E. (1954): Vösendorf ein Lebensbild aus dem Pannon des Wiener Beckens. II. Systematischer Teil. D. Wirbeltiere. d. Aves. – Mitteilungen der Geologischen Gesellschaft in Wien, 46: 49–50.
- TOMEK, T. & BOCHENSKI, Z.M. (2000): The comparative osteology of European Corvids (Aves: Corvidae), with a key to the identification of their skeletal remains. – 102 pp. Krakow (Institute of Systematics and Evolution of Animals).
- TYRBERG, T. (1998): Pleistocene birds of the Palearctic: a catalogue. – Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club, 27: 1–720.
- Tyrberg, T. (2012): Pleistocene birds of the Palearctic. – (Accessed on 30 December 2012) http://web. telia.com/~u11502098/pleistocene.pdf
- ZELENKOV, N.V. & KUROCHKIN, E.N. (2012): The first representative Pliocene assemblages of passerine birds in Asia (Northern Mongolia and Russian Transbaikalia). – *Geobios*, **45**: 323–334.





Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Revisiting *Asio priscus*, the extinct eared owl of the California Channel Islands

KENNETH E. CAMPBELL, Jr.

Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Los Angeles, CA, USA; E-mail: kcampbell@nhm.org

Abstract — Asio priscus was described on the basis of a single bone from upper Pleistocene (late Wisconsinan Glacial Episode) deposits of Santa Rosa Island, one of the Channel Islands in the Pacific Ocean off the coast of southwestern California. Several additional specimens referable to this extinct species have been recovered since the original description, including what appear to be several bones of one individual. The new specimens are described, and they substantiate the original description of the species as distinct from living eared owls. Wing bones associated with a leg bone suggest that *A. priscus* had smaller wings relative to its legs than does the similar-sized Short-eared Owl, *A. flammeus*, a condition not uncommon in island birds in comparison to mainland relatives.

Key words: Asio priscus, California, Channel Islands, eared owls, Pleistocene

Introduction

Hildegarde Howard (1964) described Asio priscus from upper Pleistocene (late Wisconsinan Glacial Episode) deposits of Santa Rosa Island, one of the Channel Islands in the Pacific Ocean off the coast of southwestern California. The holotypic, and only known, specimen at the time of description was a tibiotarsus collected between 1928 and 1931. Since the original description several additional specimens referable to this extinct species have been recovered from Santa Rosa Island and San Miguel Island, which lies ~6.0 km northwest of Santa Rosa Island (Fig. 1). The new specimens include several bones of what appears to be one individual that were collected together at one site. Some of these new specimens were mentioned, or listed in tables, by GUTHRIE (1980, 1998, 2005), although without osteological descriptions. Two fragmentary specimens referred to *A. flammeus* by GUTHRIE (1998) are referred herein to *A. priscus*. The purpose of this paper is to describe the new specimens for the record and comment on possible life history traits of *A. priscus*.

The living species of eared owls, *Asio flammeus* PONTOPPIDAN, 1763, and *A. otus* LINNAEUS, 1758, are listed as very rare visitors to the Northern Channel Islands, with the former being a transient fall visitor and the latter a summer visitor (COLLINS 2011). Two fossil specimens referable to *A. flammeus* are in collections from San Miguel Island stored at the SBMNH. Neither of the living species currently nests on the islands, and it is not known if they did so previously.


FIGURE 1. Map showing location of Channel Islands of California, USA.

Study area

The California Channels Islands comprise a group of eight continental islands in the Pacific Ocean off the coast of southwestern California (Fig. 1). The group is divided into the Southern Channel Islands and Northern Channel Islands, the latter comprising San Miguel Island, Santa Rosa Island, Santa Cruz Island, and Anacapa Island. Although today the nearest island to the mainland, Anacapa Island, is ~23 km distant, during the Pleistocene, when sea level was lowered by over 100 m (MILLER et al. 2005), it would have been less than 10 km distant. Further, all four of the Northern Channel Islands were united during periods of low sea level during the Pleistocene, giving a single large island known as Santa Rosae Island. The current point of highest elevation (747 m) is found on Santa Cruz Island, and the topography of the four islands varies from steep, narrow canyons to broad plains representing ancient marine terraces.

Materials and Methods

The fossil specimens were compared with modern skeletons of *Asio flammeus* (n=11; 2 $^{\circ}$, 4 $^{\circ}$, 5?) and *A. otus* (n=13; 4 $^{\circ}$, 5 $^{\circ}$, 4?), as well as dozens of specimens of those two species from the upper Pleistocene Rancho La Brea asphalt deposits housed in the George C. Page Museum, a subsidiary of the Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County. Together, the two species of eared owls represent the third most common owls at Rancho La Brea, with a minimum number of individuals exceeding 175. Measurements were taken with digital calipers accurate to 0.01 mm, captured directly to computer, and rounded to nearest 0.1 mm. Some of the specimens are too fragmentary to provide meaningful measurements. Osteological terminology mostly follows BAUMEL & WITMER (1993) and HOWARD (1980).

Abbreviations: LACM, Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County; n, number; R, Range; RLB, Rancho La Brea; SBMNH, Santa Barbara Museum of Natural History; \bar{x} , mean.

Anatomical abbreviations used in the illustrations: am, Angulus medialis; Artic., Articularis; cb, Crus breve; Ccl, Crista cnemialis lateralis; ce, Condylus externis; cf, Crista fibularis; ci, Condylus internis; cl, Condylus lateralis of femur; cl, Crus longum; clh, Crista lateralis hypotarsi; cmh, Crista medialis hypotarsi; di, Depressio intercondylaris of Incisura intercondylaris; ei, Eminentia intercotylaris; ep, extension proximad of Condylus lateralis of tibiotarsus; Fac., Facies; fc, attachment for M. flexor carpi ulnaris; fe, Fac. externa of Crista articularis sternalis; fl, Fac. lateralis of Corpus coracoidei; fp, Fac. plantaris; iii, Os metacarpi III; iv, Os metacarpi IV; li, Linea intermuscularis; pa, Proc. acrocoracoideus; Proc., Processus; sf, Sulcus flexorius.; si, Sulcus intercondylaris; st, Sulcus tendinosus; ta, Tuberculum aponeurosis ventrale; tc, Tuberculum carpale; tf, Trochlea fibularis; ti, Tuberositas interna retinaculi extensori; tr, Tuberculum retinaculi m. fibularis [peronei]; um, distal attachment of Lig. ulnocarpo-metacarpale ventrale.

Systematic Paleontology

Order Strigiformes WAGLER, 1830 Family Strigidae LEACH, 1820 Genus *Asio* BRISSON, 1760

Asio priscus Howard, 1964 (Figs 2–4)

Holotype: Right tibiotarsus, some portions of shaft and proximal end missing: LACM 106/4712. (Fig. 2).

Emended diagnosis: Similar to Asio flammeus and A. otus in general form and deep excavation of shaft anteroproximal to distal condyles. Howard (1964) noted the following diagnostic characters: 1) Crista fibularis flaring laterad distally; 2) Crista fibularis with broad longitudinal depression on anterior face medial to lateral edge, which gives a relatively narrow, convex Fac. anterior of shaft, in contrast to broadly convex Fac. anterior of shaft in A. flammeus and A. otus; 3) Linea intermuscularis extending proximad from proximal end of Crista fibularis slanting more abruptly posteriad from crest, in lateral view; 4) Crista cnemialis lateralis less excavated at its posterolateral edge; 5) Tuberositas interna retinaculi extensori prominent; 6) Condylus lateralis with posterior rim extending 5-15 percent more proximad relative to anterior rim than in modern species; 7) length greater. To those characters I add: 8) Crista cnemialis lateralis very broad at proximal end; 9) Fac. artic. lateralis of proximal end very prominent, more rounded; 10) Incisura tibialis of proximal end very narrow, with prominent ridge leading to it from Fac. artic. lateralis; 11) Depressio intercondylaris of Incisura intercondylaris much deeper; 12) Tuberculum retinaculi m. fibularis [peronei] longer and protruding more laterad; and 13) condyles broader.

Type locality: LACM(CIT) 106; Arling-

ton Canyon, east of canyon mouth, Santa Rosa Island, Santa Barbara County, California, USA.

Type horizon and age: Tecolote Member of Santa Rosa Island Formation; upper Pleistocene (late Wisconsinan Glacial Episode).

Referred specimens: Santa Rosa Island: Presumed associated left coracoid, proximal right carpometacarpus, distal left and right ulnae, distal left femur, distal left radius, and right Os carpi ulnare, SBMNH 648; proximal left femur, SBMNH 420.

San Miguel Island: Distal end and shaft of left humerus, SBMNH 222; distal left femur, SBMHN 86; complete right tarsometatarsus, SBMNH 223. Distal end and shaft of left humerus (A.6431–6924) and distal end of right tibiotarsus (A.6431–6923), Archeology Collections, Anthropology Department, LACM.

Description: Asio priscus is closest in size to the Short-eared Owl, A. flammeus. The Longeared Owl, A. otus, is generally a smaller, more slender bird, although the latter two species do overlap in size (Table 1). The characters noted above as diagnosing A. priscus, and below as differentiating it from other species, are based on limited fossil material and might not hold with a larger series of specimens.

Coracoid (Fig. 3E): Left, incomplete. Compared with A. flammeus: 1) Proc. acrocoracoideus not extending as far proximad, much narrower, and less robust; 2) Fac. artic. humeralis shorter and more rounded; 3) Cotyla scapularis more concave adjacent to Fac. artic. humeralis; 4) Angulus medialis longer and more pointed mediad, although broken and improperly glued back onto shaft; 5) Fac. lateralis of Corpus coracoidei flattened anterior to Angulus lateralis (tapers to thin edge in A. flammeus, but similarly flattened in A. otus). Similar in length to A. otus, but 1) more robust; 2) Proc. acrocoracoideus longer, less rounded; 3) Fac. artic. humeralis longer, broader; 4) Fac. externa of Crista artic. sternalis larger at medial end.

Humerus (Tab. 1): Proximal end missing, distal end and shaft abraded. Compared with *A*. *flammeus*: 1) Condylus dorsalis shorter anteroposteriorly, and more rounded, in dorsal view; 2) Condylus ventralis smaller; 3) Epicondylus ventralis small, not protruding as far ventrad, although more distinctly set off from shaft.



FIGURE 2. Stereopair photographs of holotypic right tibiotarsus of *Asio priscus* (LACM 106/4712, A–C), in comparison with that of *A. flammeus* (LACM 99656, A'–C'), in A, A') anterior, B, B') posterior, and C, C') lateral views; and referred femora of *A. priscus* (SBMNH 86, D, H; SBMNH 648, E, G), in comparison with that of *A. flammeus* (LACM 99656, F, I) in D, E, F) posterior and G, H, I) distal views. Note the more robust shaft and condyles of the tibiotarsus of *A. priscus*.



FIGURE 3. Stereopair photographs of right tarsometatarsus (SBMNH 223, **A–D**) referred to *A. priscus* in comparison with that of *A. flammeus* (LACM 99656, **A'–D'**) in **A**, **A'**) anterior, **B**, **B'**) lateral, **C**, **C'**) posterior, and **D**, **D'**) proximal views; and referred left coracoid (SBMNH 648, E), in comparison with that of *A. flammeus* (LACM 99656, **E'**), in **E**, **E'**) ventral view.

Ulna (Fig. 4D, Tab. 1): Distal end, right and left associated bones, identical. Compared with *A. flammeus*: 1) Condylus externis longer, thinner in ventral view and with rim more rounded in lateral view; 2) Condylus internis ulnaris undercut anteriad, not extending as far distad; 3) Sulcus intercondylaris not as prominent in ventral view; 4) Tuberculum carpale not extending as far anteriad; 5) shaft less robust. Distinctions with *A. otus* similar.

Radius (Fig. 4C, Tab. 1): Distal end, right. Compared with *A. flammeus*: 1) Sulcus tendinosus prominent, well marked; 2) Tuberculum aponeurosis ventrale angular, forming a prominent spur; 3) Fac. artic. radiocarpale set off more abruptly from shaft; 3) attachment for Lig. radioradiocarpale ventrale more prominent, elevated.

Os carpi ulnare (Fig. 4A, B): Right. Compared with *A. flammeus*: 1) length from tip of Crus breve to tip of Crus longum relatively



FIGURE 4. Stereopair photographs of referred specimens of *Asio priscus* in comparison with those of *A. flammeus*: right Os carpi ulnare (SBMNH 648, **A**, **B**; LACM 99656, **A'**, **B'**), in **A**, **A'**) posterior and **B**, **B'**) ventral views; distal right radius (SBMNH 648, **C**; LACM 87427, **C'**) in dorsal view; distal left ulna (SBMNH 648, **D**; LACM 99656, **D'**) in ventral view; and proximal right carpometacarpus (SBMNH 648, **E**; LACM 99656, **E'**) in ventral view. Scale bars equal 1 cm; long bar (x2.0) in reference to A and B only; short bar (x1.5).

shorter; overall smaller, less stout; 2) attachment for M. flexor carpi ulnaris not protruding as far dorsoproximad.

Carpometacarpus (Fig. 4E): Proximal end, right, broken. Compared with *A. flammeus*: 1) Trochlea carpalis does not lie as far proximal to Proc. extensorius; 2) Fac. artic. radiocarpalis does not extend as far proximad, giving less slope to Trochlea carpalis, in distal view; 3) Os metacarpale IV (minus) more separated from Os metacarpale III (majus) proximally, in dorsal view; 4) Os metacarpale IV (minus) narrows distal to proximal synostosis, but expands to comparable width seen in *A. flammeus* at distal attachment of Lig. ulnocarpo-metacarpale ventrale.

Femur (Tab. 1): Proximal end, left, abraded.

Compared with *A. flammeus*: 1) Caput femoris larger, extending more proximad, and rotated more toward horizontal, in anterior view when held vertically; 2) Fac. artic. antitrochanterica not sloping as steeply relative to long axis of shaft, in anterior view when bone held vertically.

Distal ends, two left, one abraded, one unabraded. 1) Sulcus intercondylaris broader, flatter on bottom; 2) Trochlea fibularis broader, more open "U"-shape; 3) Condylus lateralis more in line with long axis of shaft proximodistally (*i.e.*, anteroproximal end does not turn as far laterad), in posterior view. The three femoral specimens appear to be more robust than those of *A*. *flammeus*, but they are too fragmentary to say definitively that they are.

Tarsometatarsus (Fig. 3A–D; Tab. 1):

Compared with *A. flammeus*: 1) Eminentia intercotylaris larger, probably more elevated, but abraded; 2) cotylae broader and more rounded, which agrees with broader condyles of tibiotarsus; 3) Crista medialis hypotarsi thicker, with medial side of base positioned more medially and with broad Fac. plantaris; 4) Crista lateralis hypotarsi (proximal surface missing, but posterior tip present) smaller, not extending as far posteriad; 5) shaft broader, more robust, with Sulcus flexorius broader; 6) trochleae (all broken at critical places) appear to be more robust and longer proximodistally; 7) Trochlea metatarsi III extends slightly farther distad relative to other two trochleae than in *A. flammeus*.

Discussion

The new specimens of Asio priscus substantiate the original description of the species as distinct from the living Short-eared Owl, A. flammeus, and Long-eared Owl, A. otus. There are still too few specimens to make any definitive statements to characterize the species, but the greater length and robustness of the holotypic and referred tibiotarsi and the greater least shaft width of the tarsometatarsus suggest that A. priscus had longer and more robust legs than the similarsized A. flammeus. The greater width of the Sulcus intercondylaris and the combined width of the condylus lateralis and trochlea fibularis of the femur are also indicative of a more robust, more powerful leg. These features might also be an indication of greater body mass, but a larger

TABLE 1. Measurements (mm) of holotypic tibiotarsus and referred tarsometatarsus, humerus, ulna, radius, and femur of *Asio priscus* and fossil (Rancho La Brea) and modern specimens of *A. flammeus* and *A. otus*.

	A. priscus	A. flam	meus	RLB A. fl	ammeus	A. ot	us	RLB A	otus
	(n=1(2))	(n=1	11)	(n=1	0)	(n = 1)	3)	(n=	5)
	R	R	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	R	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	R	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	R	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$
Tibiotarsus									
length	90.4	76.1-86.8	81.9	78.0-86.7	81.8	74.8-81.5	77.1	72.9–78.7	76.5
fibular crest width	6.5	4.5-6.3	5.5	5.3-5.7	5.5	4.3–5.3	4.9	4.6-5.2	4.8
least shaft width	4.9	3.5-4.6	4.1	4.0-4.3	4.2	3.2-3.9	3.8	3.5-4.1	3.9
distal width	10.1	8.8-9.4	9.1	8.2-9.8	9.1	7.9–9.1	8.5	7.9-8.7	8.2
Tarsometatarsus									
length	46.4	41.6-47.3	44.6	42.2-46.3	44.8	35.6-44.0	40.6	37.9-43.7	40.4
proximal width	9.4	8.2-9.2	8.7	8.6-9.4	8.9	7.7-8.8	8.3	7.4-8.5	8
least shaft width	5.1	4.3-4.7	4.5	4.3-4.9	4.6	3.6-4.4	4.2	3.8-4.4	4.2
distal width	10.6	9.8-10.7	10.2	10.0-10.8	10.4	8.4-10.2	9.4	8.8-10.1	9.3
Humerus									
least shaft width	5.9	5.3-6.0	5.7	5.3-5.9	5.6	4.8-5.4	5.1	4.8-5.5	5.1
distal width	13.0	12.5-14.4	13.7	12.8-14.2	13.4	11.6-13.4	12.4	11.6-12.4	12.0
Ulna									
depth through tub. carpale	7.2	7.0-8.1	7.7			6.5-7.6	7.0		
depth shaft. prox. to cond.externa	3.8	3.7–4.3	4.0			3.3-4.2	3.7		
Radius									
distal width	6.4	6.4–7.7	7.0			5.7-7.0	6.2		
Femur									
distal width	9.5-10.3	8.7-10.2	9.6			8.4–9.6	9.0		
least shaft width	4.5	3.8-4.4	4.2			3.7-4.1	3.9		

CAMPBELL: Asio priscus, the extinct eared owl of the California Channel Islands

sample is required before that can be determined.

Note that all of the measurements of the holotypic tibiotarsus of *A. priscus* exceed the range of those of *A. flammeus* (Table 1), whereas the measurements of the tarsometatarsus fall within the range of those of *A. flammeus*, except for shaft width. Limited measurements of the referred tibiotarsus (not included in table) are identical to the holotype. There was very little difference recorded in the mean measurements of modern *A. flammeus* and *A. otus* and a sample of specimens of these species from the upper Pleistocene Rancho La Brea asphalt deposits selected for their completeness, although the range of measurements of the modern forms often exceeded those of the fossil forms.

Also, wing bones presumed to be associated with a distal femur suggest that A. priscus had smaller wings relative to its legs than does A. *flammeus*. This possibility is also suggested by the partial humerus, whose measurements fall within the range of those of A. flammeus. Such changes in relative proportions of wings and legs are not uncommon in island birds relative to mainland relatives, especially the lengthening of the legs (GRANT, 1965a, 1965b, 1966). For owls in general, this condition was noted by LOUCHART (2005), and CAMPBELL & BOCHENSKI (2010) suggested that the extinct La Brea Owl, Oraristrix brea (HOWARD, 1933) might well have responded evolutionarily to isolation in southwestern California as if that geographic region were an island.

The alternative to viewing *Asio priscus* as having followed the allometric trends of many island birds in reducing wing size relative to leg size would be that there were two extinct species of *Asio* on Santa Rosae Island, one represented in collections only by leg elements and the other only by elements of the pectoral girdle. That is considered unlikely, especially given the presumed association of wing and leg bones.

The paleofauna of the Channel Islands is quite rich, with many species of reptiles, birds, and mammals reported. For example, according to GUTHRIE (2005), a total of ~17,000 specimens from 61 species of birds were recovered from San Miguel Island alone from 1980 to 2002. In addition to *Asio priscus*, there were three additional extinct species of birds: *Morus reyanus* HOWARD, 1936; *Chendytes lawi* MILLER, 1925; and *Fratercula dowi* GUTHRIE, THOMAS & KEN-NEDY, 2000. Various extinct mammals have also been recorded from the Channel Islands, including *Mammuthus exilis* STOCK and FURLONG, 1928 (a dwarf mammoth), *M. columbi* FALCONER, 1857 (the Columbian mammoth), *Desmodus stocki* JONES, 1958 (a vampire bat), and, of special interest to the strigid avifauna, two species of mice: *Peromyscus nesodytes* WILSON, 1936 (the "giant" deer mouse) and *Microtus miguelensis* GUTHRIE, 1998 (a vole). For more information on the paleofaunas, geological deposits, and excavations on the Northern Channel Islands, see GUTHRIE (1992, 1993, 1998, 2005).

Acknowledgments

I thank Dan A. GUTHRIE (Claremont Colleges, Claremont, CA; USA), collector of some of the specimens described here, for suggesting I pursue description of the material, Paul Collins (SBMNH) for loan of the material, and Chris Coleman for assistance with specimens in the Archaeology Collections of the Anthropology Department of the LACM. I also thank Alison STENGER (Institute for Archaeological Studies, Portland, OR, USA) for financial support, Fritz HERTEL (California State University, Northridge, CA, USA) for comments on an early version of this paper, and Zbigniew BOCHEŃSKI and Antoine LOUCHART for their helpful reviews.

References

- BAUMEL, J.J. & WITMER, L.M. (1993): Osteologia. In: BAUMEL, J.J., KING A.S, BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E.
 & VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (eds). Handbook of Avian Anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium, Second Edition. – Publications of the Nuttall Ornithological Club 23: 45–132, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- BRISSON, M.J. (1760): Ornithologie; ou Méthodes contenant la division des oiseaux en ordres, sections, genres, espèces & leurs varieties. Vol. 1. – 28 pp. Paris, Leiden (Bauche).
- CAMPBELL, K.E., Jr. & BOCHEŃSKI, Z.M. (2010): A New Genus for the Extinct Late Pleistocene Owl *Strix brea* Howard (Aves: Strigiformes) from Rancho La Brea, California. – *Records of the Australian Museum*, **62**: 123–144.
- COLLINS, P. (2011): Bird Checklist. Channel Islands. -

7 pp. Channel Islands National Park, (National Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior). http://www.nps.gov/chis/naturescience/upload/ bird-list-all-final.pdf

- FALCONER, H. (1857): On the Species of Mastodon and Elephant occurring in the fossil state in Great Britain. Part I. – *Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society of London*, **13**, part I: 307–360.
- GRANT, P.R. (1965a): The adaptive significance of some size trends in island birds. – *Evolution*, 19: 355–367.
- GRANT, P.R. (1965b): A systematic study of the terrestrial birds of the Tres Marias Islands, Mexico. – Postilla, 90: 1–106.
- GRANT, P.R. (1966): Further information of the relative length of the tarsus in land birds. – *Postilla*, 98: 1–13.
- GUTHRIE, D.A. (1980): Analysis of avifaunal and bat remains from midden sites on San Miguel Island. – In: Power, D.M. (ed.): The California Islands: Proceedings of a Multidisciplinary Symposium. – pp. 689–702, Santa Barbara, California (Santa Barbara Museum of Natural History).
- GUTHRIE, D.A. (1992): A late Pleistocene avifauna from San Miguel Island, California. – *Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Science Series*, **36**: 319–327.
- GUTHRIE, D.A. (1993): New information on the prehistoric fauna of San Miguel Island. – In: HOCHBERG, F.G. (ed.): Third Channel Islands Symposium, Recent Advances in Research on the California Islands. – pp. 405–416, Santa Barbara, CA (Santa Barbara Museum of Natural History).
- GUTHRIE, D.A. (1998): Fossil vertebrates from Pleistocene terrestrial deposits on the Northern Channel Islands, Southern California. In: WEIGAND, P.W. (ed.). Contributions to the geology of the Northern Channel Islands, Southern California MP-45. pp. 187–192. Bakersfield, CA (American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Pacific Section).
- GUTHRIE, D.A. (2005): Distribution and provenance of fossil avifauna on San Miguel Island. – In: GARCE-LON, D.K. & SCHWEMM, C.A. (eds): Proceedings of the Sixth California Islands Symposium. Arcata, California. – National Park Service Technical Publication CHIS-05-01, pp. 35–42. Arcata, CA (Institute for Wildlife Studies).
- GUTHRIE, D.A., THOMAS, H.W., & KENNEDY, G.L. (2000): A new species of extinct late Pleistocene puffin (Aves: Alcidae) from the Southern California Channel Islands. In: BROWN, D.R., MITCHELL, K.L. & CHANEY, H.W. (eds): Proceedings of the Fifth California Islands Symposium. Camarillo, California pp. 525–530, Santa Barbara, CA (U.S. Department of Interior, Minerals Managements Service, Pacific OCS Region (published as CD)

MMS 99–0038).

- HOWARD, H. (1933): A new species of owl from the Pleistocene of Rancho La Brea, California. – *The Condor*, 35: 66–69.
- HOWARD, H. (1936): A new fossil bird locality near Playa del Rey, California, with description of a new species of sulid. – *The Condor*, 38/5: 211–214.
- HOWARD, H. (1964): A fossil owl from Santa Rosa Island. – Bulletin of the Southern California Academy Science, 63/1: 27–31.
- HOWARD, H. (1980): Illustrations of avian osteology taken from "The avifauna of Emeryville Shellmound." – Contributions in Science, Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County 330: xxvii–xxxviii.
- JONES, J. K., Jr. (1958): Pleistocene bats from San Josecito Cave, Nuevo León, México. – University of Kansas Publications, Museum of Natural History, 9: 389–396.
- LINNAEUS, C. (1758): Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus differentiis, synonymis, locis, I, 824pp. Stockholm. (Laurentii Salvii)
- LOUCHART, A. (2005): Integrating the fossil record in the study of insular body size evolution: example of owls (Aves, Strigiformes). – In: ALCOVER, J.A. & BOVER, P. (eds): Proceedings of the International Symposium "Insular Vertebrate Evolution: the Palaeontological Approach.". – Monografies de la Societat d'Història de las Balears, 12: 155–174.
- MILLER, K.G., KOMINZ, M.A., BROWNING, J.V., WRIGHT, J.D., MOUNTAIN, G.S., KATZ, M.E., SUGARMAN, P.J., CRAMER, B.S., CHRISTIE-BLICK, N. & PEKAR, S.F. (2005): The Phanerozoic record of global sea-level change. – *Science*, **310**: 1293–1298.
- MILLER, L.H. (1925): Chendytes, a diving goose from the California Pleistocene. – The Condor, 27/4: 145–147.
- PONTOPPIDAN, E. (1763): Den danske atlas eller kongeriget Dannemark, med dets naturlige egenskaber, elementer, indbyggere, vaexter, dyr og andre affodninger, dets gamle tildrageiser of naervaerene omstaendigheder i alle provintzer, staeder, kirker, slotte of herregaarde (Dansk. Atlas). – 617 pp. Copenhagen.
- STOCK, C. & FURLONG, E. (1928): The Pleistocene elephants of Santa Rosa Island. *Science*, 68: 140–141.
- WILSON, R.W. (1936): A new Pleistocene deer-mouse from Santa Rosa Island. – *Journal of Mammalogy*, 17: 408–410.





Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



A synopsis of the pre-human avifauna of the Mascarene Islands

JULIAN P. HUME

Bird Group, Department of Life Sciences, The Natural History Museum, Tring, UK

Abstract — The isolated Mascarene Islands of Mauritius, Réunion and Rodrigues are situated in the southwestern Indian Ocean. All are volcanic in origin and have never been connected to each other or any other land mass. Despite their comparatively close proximity to each other, each island differs topographically and the islands have generally distinct avifaunas. The Mascarenes remained pristine until recently, resulting in some documentation of their ecology being made before they rapidly suffered severe degradation by humans. The first major fossil discoveries were made in 1865 on Mauritius and on Rodrigues and in the late 20th century on Réunion. However, for both Mauritius and Rodrigues, the documented fossil record initially was biased toward larger, non-passerine bird species, especially the dodo *Raphus cucullatus* and solitaire *Pezophaps solitaria*. This paper provides a synopsis of the fossil Mascarene avifauna, which demonstrates that it was more diverse than previously realised. Therefore, as the islands have suffered severe anthropogenic changes and the fossil record is far from complete, any conclusions based on present avian biogeography must be viewed with caution.

Key words: Mauritius, Réunion, Rodrigues, ecological history, biogeography, extinction

Introduction

The Mascarene Islands of Mauritius, Réunion and Rodrigues are situated in the south-western Indian Ocean (Fig. 1). Despite their comparatively close proximity to each other, each island differs topographically and the islands have generally distinct avifaunas. The Mascarenes were the last major group of islands to be colonised by humans, so remained in a comparatively pristine state into the era of written history. Arab traders were aware of them from at least the 13th century and the Portuguese in the early 16th century (NORTH-COOMBES 1980, 1994a; HALL 1996), but as far as known no attempt at settlement was made by either. It was with the chance discovery by a Dutch East India Company (VOC) fleet under Vice-Admiral Wybrandt Warwijck in September 1598, who claimed Mauritius for the Netherlands, that the documented history of the Mascarenes began (MOREE 1998; CHEKE & HUME 2008). The endemic fauna was sketchily described or illustrated in ships' logs and journals, which became the source material for popular articles and books and, along with collected specimens, enabled monographs such as that by STRICKLAND & MELVILLE (1848) on the dodo Raphus cucullatus (LINNAEUS, 1766) to be produced. STRICKLAND and MELVILLE based their osteological analysis on the surviving remnants of a dodo once exhibited at the Ashmolean Museum in Oxford, and a dodo foot preserved in the British Museum in London (HUME et al. 2006). For the next two centuries, the islands' ecosystems were irreversibly destroyed due to anthropogenic activities, which resulted in the extinction of the majority of endemic vertebrates (CHEKE & HUME 2008). The discovery of subfossil material in 1786 on Rodrigues (although the first major discovery was not made until 1865), in 1865 on Mauritius and in the late 20th century on Réunion resulted in the description of new avian fossil taxa and also provided some corroboration with species described in early accounts. In gen- 196 -



FIGURE 1. Map of the Southwestern Indian Ocean showing the Mascarene Islands of Réunion, Mauritius and Rodrigues. From CHEKE & HUME (2008).

eral, only the larger and more distinct avifauna was described from the fossil record, whereas other avian orders, *e.g.*, smaller passerines, were ignored. As a result, determining avian biogeography based on current knowledge of fossil avifaunas is problematic.

This paper provides a synopsis of the prehuman Mascarene avifauna based on recent, more comprehensive studies, using a combination of palaeontological and historical evidence. It addresses the taxonomic problems associated with erroneous identifications and descriptions, and will hopefully provide an important resource for those interested in avian phylogenies and avian biogeography of the region. All taxa considered to be endemic or indigenous to the islands are covered, including extant species, those known from the palaeontological record, and those species known only from contemporary accounts that almost certainly once existed, but have not yet been discovered in the fossil record. But I must emphasise that work is not yet complete. A number of subfossil elements that almost certainly represent further new taxa have been discovered, but the lack of suitable diagnostic specimens and/or suitable comparative material has held back identification. The original Mascarene avifauna must surely have been even more diverse than the results presented here suggest.

Study area

Geology and Physiography: The isolated Mascarene Islands are volcanic in origin, and have never been connected to each other or any other landmass. Réunion (21.0° S, 55.5° E), the most southerly of the islands, lies 665 km east of Madagascar, whereas Mauritius (20.25° S, 57.5° E) is situated 164 km east north-east of Réunion. Rodrigues (19.75° S, 63.5° E) is the most remote, lying 574 km east of Mauritius and approximately 4800 km west of Australia.

Mauritius (Fig. 2) is approximately 60 km long by 40 km wide, with a surface area of 1865 km². As well as being smaller, it is also much lower than Réunion, with Black River Peak being the highest point at 828 m. The broad undulating lava plains of the north rise to a maximum of 152 m above sea level, intersected in the middle of the island by mountains, the rim remnants of a former caldera. Mauritius is surrounded by a reef-fringed lagoon, averaging 0.8 km wide, but on the east coast reaching 5 km, whereas on two short stretches of the west and south coasts, the sea breaks directly onto the cliffs (CHEKE & HUME 2008). There are a number of islets within the lagoon; the most biologically important being the northern islets, which are the only places where some endemic reptiles and seabird colonies have managed to survive.

Mauritius emerged around 10 Ma, and was built by three volcanic episodes (SADDUL 2002). After a shield-building phase and deposition of the Old Lava Series between 7.6 Ma to 5 Ma, subdued volcanic activity commenced with the formation of a caldera. A new phase of volcanism occurred between 3.5 and 1.7 Ma leading to the formation of the Early Lava Series. A third phase of active volcanism commenced at 0.7 Ma and lasted until 20 Ka, forming the Intermediate and Recent Lava Series (DUNCAN & HARGREAVES 1990; RUSDUK *et al.* 2009).

Réunion (Fig. 3) is the largest and highest of

the Mascarene Islands, being 70 km long by 50 km wide and covering 2,512 km², with over 60% of the land surface being above 828 m (NICHOLLS 2006). It has the highest peak in the Indian Ocean, the Piton des Neiges, which rises to over 3,069 m. Its second highest peak at 2,631 m is the Piton de la Fournaise or Le Volcan, an active volcano that is situated to the east of a volcanic hotspot. It is probably the same hotspot that during the past 66 Ma gave rise to the enormous Deccan Traps lava fields in India, the Maldives, the Chagos, the Saya de Malha, Nazareth and St.Brandon (Cargados Carajos) banks (large undersea plateaus), and to Mauritius (CHEKE & HUME 2008). The centre of Réunion is divided into massive cirgues, each dissected by extremely deep gorges. Around the island, the land shelves steeply into deep water, sometimes under massive sea cliffs. There is virtually no fringing reef and, where coral has developed close inshore, only a narrow lagoon exists.

Réunion is the youngest of the Mascarene Islands and emerged from the surface of the sea approximately 2.8 Ma (McDougall et al. 1971). The island comprises two coalesced volcanoes, the Piton des Neiges, which forms two thirds of the island in the northwest, and the Piton de la Fournaise in the southeast (DUNCAN & HAR-GREAVES 1990). The construction or first phase of the Piton des Neiges includes two main events, the first dating back 2.1 to 0.43 Ma, and the second more explosive phase, which is divided into three events, occurred from 0.35 Ma to less than 30 Ka. The first and second began almost simultaneously around 230 Ka, with the third around 188 Ka. During this time, the Piton de la Fournaise, which began erupting approximately 360 Ka, collapsed several times into the ocean (see MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1999 for a detailed summary). The combination of these events may have eliminated the original avifauna.

Rodrigues (Fig. 4) is the smallest of the Mascarene Islands, being 17.7 km long and by 8.45 km wide, with a surface area of 104 km². It has a central ridge with steep, incised valleys extending to the coast, and its highest point, Mont Limon, is just 398 m. The island is surrounded by a vast, submarine platform, of which an area of about twice that of the land surface is occupied by an extensive reef-fringed lagoon (CHEKE & HUME



- 198 -

FIGURE 2. Map of Réunion Island showing the original vegetation, and the fossil localities mentioned in the text. From CHEKE & HUME (2008).

2008). The lagoon has a number of islets comprising mainly flat calcarenite limestone, though some have basaltic hills, sandbanks or small basalt outcrops. These islets provided refugia for elements of the original fauna decades after their populations had been extirpated on the Rodrigues mainland (HUME 2007, 2011). Rodrigues has been dated at 1.5Ma (McDOU-GALL *et al.* 1965), which would make it the youngest of the Mascarene Islands, but this is not supported by geomorphology and the degree of endemism (CHEKE & HUME 2008). More recent work suggests an age similar to that of Mauritius (GIORGI & BORCHELLINI 1998). Although Rod-



FIGURE 3. Map of Mauritius showing the original vegetation and the fossil localities mentioned in the text. From CHEKE & HUME (2008).

rigues is mainly composed of basaltic lavas, it has a large limestone plateau (calcarenite) on the southwest coast called the Plaine Corail, which was formed from the accumulation of windblown coral sand. MONTAGGIONI (1973) thought that formation occurred around 80 Ka during the last glacial, however, current consensus suggests that they form during interglacial periods, and not glacial, so date determination remains unknown. **Climate:** The Mascarenes lie within the southeasterly trade winds, but during the austral summer months (January, February, March) tropical cyclones and depressions associated with the seasonal movement of the ITCZ (Inter Tropical Convergence Zone) have a marked effect on the islands. Rainfall is seasonal, with a dry season from May through to October under the influence of the cool and dry easterly trade winds, with a wetter, warmer season from November

HUME: A synopsis of the pre-human avifauna of the Mascarene Islands



FIGURE 4. Map of Rodrigues Island showing the fossil localities mentioned in the text. From CHEKE & HUME (2008).

to April, when the ITCZ is in its southernmost position (SENAPATHI et al. 2010). Depending on relief and slope orientation to prevailing winds, mean annual rainfall on Mauritius varies from 800 mm in the western coastal lowlands and 1400 mm in the eastern coastal lowlands to 4000 mm in the uplands (PROAG 1995). Mean annual temperature is 22°C (MAURITIUS METEOROLOGICAL SERVICES 2012). On Réunion, the central massifs create a rain shadow, which exposes the east of the island to prevailing easterly winds creating wet and cloudy conditions most days of the year (CHEKE & HUME 2008). Réunion is one of the wettest places on earth, averaging 6-7 m of rainfall per year on the wettest coast to 10-12 m inland (SOLER 2000). The coastal leeward area in the west is very dry with average rainfall of 540 mm per year. Mean annual temperature is 23°C on the coast, but the temperatures drop progressively inland and upslope. Rodrigues is the driest of the islands, with rainfall averaging from 800 mm on the Plaine Corail in the coastal southwest to > 1,600 mm in the central-west uplands (CHEKE & HUME 2008). Mean summer temperature is 25.9 °C and mean winter temperature is 22.3 °C (MAURITIUS METEOROLOGICAL SERVICES 2012).

History of palaeontological research

The first fossil material discovered on Mauritius was found in a marshy deposit known as the Mare aux Songes in the southeast of the island in 1865. Harry HIGGINSON, a railway engineer who was working on the Midlands stretch of the Mauritius railway, noticed that labourers were

- 200 -

stock-piling bones while digging peat from the marsh. The embankment of the Midlands stretch ran close to the northern edge of the Mare aux Songes. HIGGINSON informed George CLARK, a diocesan teacher in Mahebourg, who had been searching for 20 years for fossil remains on Mauritius (CLARK 1866; HUME et al. 2009). CLARK had a copy of the aforementioned dodo monograph by STRICKLAND & MELVILLE (1848), and from the illustrations he was able to identify dodo remains (HUME et al. 2009). CLARK obtained permission to work the site, and sent consignments of dodo material to Richard OWEN, Superintendent of Natural History Departments at the British Museum, who formally described the dodo's anatomy (OWEN 1866a). Due to CLARK's monopolisation of the Mare aux Songes and his overriding interest in selling dodo bones for monetary gain, almost no other vertebrate species were collected (HUME et al. 2009). Owen received a parrot mandible in one of the dodo consignments, and this was the only fossil bird species described during this time (OWEN 1866b; HUME et al. 2009).

A second more thorough excavation of the Mare aux Songes was organized under the guidance of Théodor SAUZIER in 1879, from which six new fossil bird species were described (NEWTON & GADOW 1893), but few contextual details were obtained. In the early years of the 20th century, Paul CARIÉ, whose family owned the estate containing the Mare aux Songes, sent more bird material to Paris (HUME 2005), and further very minor excavations took place up to the 1930s; however, no more new bird species were described. The Mare aux Songes was infilled with dolomite gravels and boulders in the 1940s, in an effort to prevent the spread of malaria (HUME *et al.* 2009), after which the site was all but forgotten.

In 2005, the fossil deposit was reinvestigated by a Dutch team researching human-induced changes to the environment. In June the following year, an interdisciplinary team including geologists, geophysicists, palaeobotanists, palaeontologists, and geneticists began a major excavation, which has continued annually until 2011 (RIJSDIJK *et al.* 2009; RIJSDIJK *et al.* 2011). The Mare aux Songes contains an integrated vertebrate Konzentrat-Lagerstätten, with a high diversity of macrofossils, including seeds, branches, leaves, insects, snails and even fungi, and microfossils (pollen, diatoms, ostracods), buried in a matrix of organic material.

Elsewhere on Mauritius, Etienne THIRIOUX, an amateur naturalist, excavated cave and boulder-field deposits around Le Pouce Mountain, and lava caves at Pailles, Roches Noires and the Vallée des Prêtres in the late 1890s and early 1900s (HUME 2005), but the exact locations were not specified (but see below). Thirioux collected thousands of bird skeletal specimens including an almost complete, associated Mauritius Red Rail Aphanapteryx bonasia (Sélys-Longchamps, 1848) and a dodo. Other cave deposits were discovered in 2007, 2008 and 2009 by myself and colleagues at Plaine des Roches, Vieux Grand Port and La Prairie (JANOO 2005; HUME 2007, 2011), including another associated but badly degraded dodo at Bois Cheri, in the central highlands (MIDDLETON & HUME in press).

No fossil history existed for Réunion Island prior to 1974, when Bertrand KERVAZO excavated cave deposits at Grotte des Premiers Française about 1.5 km southwest from St. Paul, from which three new fossil species were described (KERVAZO 1979; COWLES 1994). During the 1980s, four other fossil localities were discovered, the Grotte de l'Autel; Grotte "au Sable" (sic) and Caverne de la Tortue cave sites, and the coastal swamp, the Marais de l'Ermitage, all on the northwestern side of Réunion (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ & MOUTOU 1987; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999).

Although the first Rodrigues subfossil solitaire Pezophaps solitaria (GMELIN, 1788) material had been collected in 1786 from caves on the Plaine Corail, the specimens were not described until 1848 (Strickland & Melville 1848). GMELIN (1788) had based his description on the solitaire account of BUFFON (1766), and not from any physical evidence. Major excavations of the caves began in the late 1860s and early 1870s (GÜNTHER & NEWTON 1879; HUME et al. 2009). Cowles (1987) visited the Plaine Corail as part of the British Ornithologists' Union expedition in 1974, and mentioned, but did not describe, two potentially new fossil species. I searched all previously excavated caves and collected numerous subfossil remains from undisturbed caves over a 10 year period commencing in 2000, from which one new species has been described (HUME 2011) and at least three more await description.



FIGURE 5a. The Mare aux Songes photographed by the author in 2007.

The fossil deposits

Mauritius

Mare aux Songes - The Mare aux Songes is situated in southeast Mauritius, approximately 0.5 km from the coast (Figs 2, 5a), and was created by the collapse of a large lava tube system. It comprises four sub-basins separated by rock thresholds, and sub-basins I, II and III are bordered by <15 m rock cliffs. Sub-basins 0, I and II contain (or contained) subfossil material; all recent excavations took place in sub-basin I. The basaltic base rock of sub-basin I is situated 8–10 m below sea level, and is overlain by ~ 8 m thick sedimentary succession. The succession is divided into five distinct sedimentary units. The bedrock is overlaid by $\sim 1 \text{ m}$ of grey clay with very low concentrations of organic material (Unit A), covered by ~ 6 m of fine to medium carbonate sands with some infiltration of organic matter (Unit B). Above this lies a ~100 mm thick calcareous gyttja (Unit C), which is overlaid by a ~ 500 mm thick fossiliferous layer (Unit D). The matrix of Unit D is made up of woody material, nuts and seeds, all interspersed with amorphous peat, and contain 99% of all fossil material (Fig. 5b). This layer is capped by introduced dolomite boulders and gravel (Unit E) (RIJSDIJK et al. 2009). Sub-basin 0 is now destroyed and sub-basin II is completely infilled with Unit E. Sub-basin III has the same sedimentological units as sub-basin I, but these vary in thickness. Comparatively few subfossil remains are present, however. 14C dat-



FIGURE 5b. Detail of the Mare aux Songes fossil layer, Unit D. A tarsometatarsus of a dodo *Raphus cucullatus* (centre) is surrounded by the remains of giant tortoises *Cylindraspis* sp. The matrix is made up of seeds, leaves and other plant debris. Photograph courtesy of Ranjith JAYASENA (Amsterdam).

ing and sedimentological analysis has shown that 4000 Ka the marsh was a fresh water lake that acted as an oasis in an otherwise dry environment (RIJSDIJK *et al.* 2009; RIJSDIJK *et al.* 2011; MEIJER *et al.* 2012).

Le Pouce Mountain — The exact localities where THIRIOUX was collecting on Le Pouce Mountain (Fig.2) cannot now be determined. A survey by the author, Owen GRIFFITHS and Greg MIDDLETON in 2007 discovered a previously excavated large rock overhang in boulder scree at 350 m in Le Pouce valley, beneath Snail Rock (HUME 2011). As no one else is known to have worked in this area, this overhang might be one of THIRI-OUX's original collecting sites.

Plaine des Roches — Subfossil remains of dodo have been found in the extensive lava tube systems at Plaine des Roches (JANOO 2005). In general, the cave sediments are thin or non-existent, the majority of which are covered with collapsed cave debris. The material is poorly preserved, but appears to represent a natural accumulation. There are numerous large or small openings (pit-fall traps) in the roofs of the caves (Fig. 6), into which the native fauna fell and was unable to get out.

Vallée des Prêtres — A number of THIRIOUX fossil specimens were supposedly collected in the Vallée des Prêtres, but it is uncertain if this was the true area of provenance. Some specimens have Vallée des Prêtres locality data written on the museum labels, yet they were collected from the Mare aux Songes (pers. obs). The Vallée des Prêtres is situated on the west flank of Le Pouce Mountain, above and to the north of the capital, Port Louis (Fig. 2). It is steep-sided and arid, and sparsely covered with introduced trees and shrubs. I have not located any caves or large boulder overhangs in the valley, but there is a substantial amount of boulder scree. It is possible that Thirioux collected fossil material from sediment deposits amongst the rocks.

Kanaka Cave, Bois Cheri — The discovery of a complete, but badly degraded dodo (Dodo Fred) (Fig. 7) in Kanaka cave, Bois Cheri, in the highlands of Mauritius (Fig. 2) resulted in much media interest (MIDDLETON & HUME In press). The basaltic cave was infilled with roof collapse debris and was extremely humid. Sediments included massive clay bedding interspersed with <5 mm rock fragments, and fine clays and silts. The dodo specimen was partially exposed on bare rock, with the bulk of the skeleton collapsed into a small crevice. This confirmed that dodos once occurred in the highlands as well as the lowlands.

Vieux Grand Port — Near the site of the Dutch fort at Vieux Grand Port (Fig. 2) is a small limestone outcrop, which has a number of small caves. The Dutch used some of these caves for shelter, as purpose-built animal corrals have been constructed inside. The caves are dry, and fining upwards silts reach a depth of up to 300 mm in the deeper recesses. Well preserved subfossil remains have been found buried at depths of 100 mm, including the type specimen of *Nesoenas cicur* HUME, 2011.

La Prairie — La Prairie is a limestone plain on the southwest coast (Fig. 2), which contains a number of caves. Some are permanently filled with water. The sediments comprise silts intermixed with roof collapse debris and can reach depths of 500 mm. The caves contain the remains of native birds and reptiles, and the deposits are particularly rich in *Pteropus* fruit bat remains.

Baie du Cap — JANOO (2005) and his colleagues discovered probable human-predated dodo remains in cliff caves at Baie du Cap (Fig. 2), on the south-west side of Mauritius. A single phalange supposedly exhibits knife marks, but the specimen needs analysis under SEM (Scanning Electron Microscope) to confirm this.

A number of additional fossil localities have been discovered on Mauritius containing the remains of giant tortoises *Cylindraspis* sp. (Aus-



FIGURE 6. Palaeontologist, Lorna STEEL, beneath a roof opening in Twilight Caverne, Plaine des Roches, Mauritius.

TIN & ARNOLD 2001; BOUR 1984; FLORENS 2002), but bird remains are rare or absent in these. They include cave and boulder overhangs at Ile aux Aigrettes, Les Quatre Cocos, Flacq, 'Mt. Zaco'(west of Brise Fer Mountain), Palma, Camp de Masque, Trois Mamelles and Corps de Garde Mountain. Marsh deposits include Mare du Puit; La Mare La Chaux; Mare Sèche; and Riche Mare. Subfossil tortoise remains were also found in sand dunes at Flic en Flac (FLORENS 2002), but the area has now been completely developed.

Réunion

This is a summary only; for a complete review see KERVAZO (1979); COWLES (1994); MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ & MOUTOU (1987); & MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* (1999).

Marais de l'Ermitage — The Marais de l'Ermitage is the only swamp/marsh fossil deposit on Réunion (Figs 3 and 8). The surface sediments comprise an 800 mm thick organic soil (peat?) layer, which is virtually fossil-free. This overlies a 300–400 mm fossil-rich horizon



FIGURE 7. The associated, but badly degraded remains of dodo *Raphus cucullatus* (Dodo Fred) in Kanaka cave, Bois Cheri. Photograph courtesy of Greg MIDDLETON (Hobart).



FIGURE 8. Avian palaeontologist, Cécile MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (centre) (UCBL), Sonia RIBES (left) (MHN-RUN), Roger BOUR (right) (MNHN), and co-workers excavating the Marais de l'Ermitage, Réunion. Photo courtesy of Roger BOUR (MNHN).

intermixed with basaltic rocks and coral, resting on marine sediment made up of coralline sands, coral fragments and marine molluscs (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999). The fossil layer is dominated by giant tortoise *Cylindraspis indica* (SCHNEIDER, 1783), with comparatively rare bird and bat remains. The depositional setting of the Marais de l'Ermitage is somewhat similar to that of the Mare aux Songes on Mauritius. Unfortunately, a substantial part of the swamp has now been developed, and the remaining area is also at risk of destruction.

Caverne de la Tortue — This is in the only lava tube system on Réunion, and is situated around 250 m above sea level (Fig. 3). Entrance to the cave is via a roof opening, which drops 5 m to the cave floor. Most subfossil remains were found around the entrance, and were extremely fragile. They included the type, probably associated individual of Réunion rail, *Dryolimnas augusti* MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* (1999).

Grotte des Premiers Française (Grand Caverne) — This large cave was first excavated by KERVAZO (1979), and subsequently by MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. (1999) (Fig. 3). It is a prehuman deposit and dominated by two species of shearwater Puffinus sp. Discoveries include the type of Alopochen kervazoi (COWLES, 1994), and a left distal femur fragment of Fregilupus varius (BOD-DAERT, 1783), the only known subfossil passerine bone so far discovered on Réunion.

Grotte de l'Autel — This small cave (Fig. 3)

was completely excavated in 1980 and contained a number of subfossils, including a humerus of the Réunion pink pigeon, *Nesoenas duboisi* ROTHS-CHILD, 1907a, one of only two known, and numerous remains of the Réunion ibis, *Threskiornis solitarius* (SÉLYS-LONGCHAMPS, 1848).

Grotte "au Sable" — This is another small cave (Fig. 3), in which subfossil remains are dominated by *Puffinus* shearwaters (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999). The deposits included some introduced species, so was contemporary with the first settlers on the island.

Caverne à Cotte — JOUANIN & GILL (1967) examined a cave system at 1800 m in elevation, overlooking the Rivière des Remparts, and discovered a smaller chamber about 10 m from the main cave. They discovered cranial and post cranial remains of *Pterodroma baraui* in the sediments. No other details are given.

Rodrigues

There are large numbers of caves and small fissures on the Plaine Corail (Figs 4 and 9), many of which contained subfossil remains. Here I describe only those cave localities that have contributed significantly to our knowledge of the pre-human Mascarene avifauna.

Canyon Tiyel — Canyon Tiyel was probably created by roof collapse of an extensive cave system on the Plaine Corail (Fig. 10). The canyon has a 30 + m high rock face at the northwest end,



FIGURE 9. Cave expert, Greg MIDDLETON (Hobart), entering an unexplored cave on the Plaine Corail. Note the dense covering of introduced, invasive *Lantana* scrub, which now makes locating new caves extremely difficult.

which tapers off to approximately 10 m at the southern end, and a number of caves are situated at the base or on top of the canyon walls. The basal sediments are at least 10 m in depth and have been accumulating since the Pleistocene (BURNEY *et al.* in prep.). The sediments are poor in pollen and subfossil remains.

Caverne Poule Rouge — This cave has proved to be the most palaeontologically productive in recent years (Fig. 11). The cave sediments range from 850 mm in the centre of the cave to <10 mm at the extremities, with the majority of specimens found on or in the uppermost sediments. I discovered a complete, associated male solitaire in 2005, partially buried in flow stone (Fig.12). Other skeletal material retrieved from the site includes the type of *Alectroenas payandeei* HUME, 2011, and remarkably preserved tortoise scutes (outer horny covering), which still retain the original blackish colouration.



FIGURE 10. Canyon Tiyel looking south. Caves are located at the base of the canyon walls and along the top ridges of the canyon.

Caverne Gastonia — Caverne Gastonia (Fig. 13) is a pit-fall cave with a unique, small pool at the furthest point from the entrance. The pool water is so lime (CaCO₃) saturated that precipitated lime flakes form on the water surface, before gently sinking and settling into three underwater mounds. Subfossil remains are partially buried in flowstone throughout the caves, but most loose specimens were found on the surface or buried up to a depth of <200 mm beneath the entrance.

Caverne Tortue — This cave has deep sediment deposits which have slumped away from the entrance, which contained disarticulated elements of many native birds. The rest of the cave has sediments averaging <100 mm in depth, except in a few deep recesses.

Caverne l'Affouche — Caverne l'Affouche has proved extremely productive. It is a deep, wide cave with heavy roof collapse forming a steep scree slope within. Rich fossil deposits



FIGURE 11. Lorna STEEL (NHMUK) entering a chamber in Caverne Poule Rouge.



FIGURE 12. A complete, associated solitaire *Pezophaps solitaria*, partly buried in flow stone in Caverne Poule Rouge. Photograph courtesy of Lorna STEEL (NHMUK).

occur between boulders and overhangs. Finds include an associated solitaire, a probable new passerine, and numerous disarticulated specimens of native birds.

Caverne Dora — Caverne Dora is situated at the southern end of Canyon Tiyel, and contains a series of narrow corridors and small caves. Excavation at the entrance (Fig. 14) unearthed remains of various birds, including owls, herons (Fig. 15) and hundreds of endemic reptile elements. The site entrance may have been utilised by the Rodrigues lizard owl *Mascarenotus murivorus* MILNE-EDWARDS, 1874. One of the owl elements found in this deposit was used for 14C dating (see below).

Caverne Solitaire — Caverne Solitaire is the only cave I have studied that has a distinct sedimentological unit, compared with the general uniform sediment deposits seen in other Rodrigues caves. Beneath a rock overhang lies a ~300 mm thick unit made up of coarse, angular >50 mm cave debris in a matrix of reddish silt/clay. Embedded in the matrix are pieces of wood and individual bird elements, including shearwater *Puffinus* sp. This unit probably represents a flash flood during a severe cyclonic event, when surface debris and bird bones were washed into the cave.

Caverne Bambara — Three large and connecting caves make up the Bambara series. The largest (Bambara I) is open at both ends and it has been used as a shelter for farm stock. Bambara II and Bambara III are more interesting as the cave floors have not been trampled. Sediments reach a depth of 300 mm in places, and excavations of the caves have resulted in the collection of a large number of subfossil remains, including a partially associated Rodrigues turtle dove *Nesoenas rodericana* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1874) (HUME 2011).

Grand Caverne — This is the largest cave in the Plaine Corail area, and has been used extensively for livestock housing; thus the cave floor is heavily trampled. A large pit is still present in the centre of the cave, which may have been one of the 1874 Transit of Venus excavation sites. Despite the effects of long-term domestic animal occupation, a number of subfossil bird remains have been found in small side chambers, and in undisturbed sediments at the edges of the cave walls.

Anse Mourouk — Mourouk is a coastal dune site, situated in south-central Rodrigues. A complete femur of *Pezophaps solitaria* was recovered during the excavation of a whale skeleton by the author and colleagues in 2007. This is the first subfossil bird bone found on Rodrigues outside of the Plaine Corail.

Age of the fossil deposits

14C dating of dodo, tortoise *Cylindraspis* sp, wood and seeds from the Mare aux Songes on Mauritius suggest an extremely narrow time window for fossil accumulation, with a calibrated age range of ca 4235 to 4100 cal. yr BP (averaged 14C age of 4200 yr BP for date of deposition) (RIJSDIJK *et al.* 2011). This contrasts with two



FIGURE 13. Entering Caverne Gastonia through the roof opening. Most of the subfossil remains were found directly beneath the entrance. Photograph courtesy of Lorna STEEL (NHMUK).

museum specimens of *Cylindraspis* sp. obtained by GÜNTHER *c*. 1870, which yielded significantly younger radiocarbon ages, between ca 1260 and 1830 BP (BURLEIGH & ARNOLD 1986).

On Réunion, radiocarbon dates obtained for bones of *Cylindraspis indica* (SCHNEIDER, 1783) from the Marais de L'Ermitage give dates ranging 915 ± 120 BP (interval in real years after calibration 883–1273 AD) and 1755±40 BP (interval in real years after calibration 186–391 AD), and those of introduced *Sus scrofa* LINNAEUS, 1758 associated with *C. indica* 365±35 BP (interval in real years after calibration 1458–1633 AD) (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999).

Two 14C dates have been obtained from Rodrigues. One taken at 10 m from basal sediments in Canyon Tiyel gave a date of 8490 ± 40 BP (interval in real years after calibration 9540– 9460 BP) (BURNEY *et al.* in prep.). Another 14C date taken from a partial humerus of the extinct Rodrigues lizard-owl *Mascarenotus murivorus* (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1874), excavated from sediment at a depth of 65–75 mm in Caverne Dora, dated to 2850 ± 30 BP (interval in real years after calibration 3060-2870 BP (BURNEY *et al.* in prep.). The latter dating is indicative of extremely slow sediment depositional rates within the caves themselves.

Palaeovegetation

While we have a comparatively good idea of



FIGURE 14. Excavation of Caverne Dora showing Square A. Note the almost uniform and featureless sediments, common to most cave deposits on the Plaine Corail.

the original macrofauna on the Mascarenes, the composition of the palaeo-vegetation is more difficult to determine. This is particularly true in the most devastated parts of the islands, *i.e.*, in the coastal and lowland areas, which were probably the prime habitat of many of the endemic vertebrates including the dodo. As these habitats were drier and more open, they were more accessible to humans and vulnerable to fire; hence they were the first areas to be destroyed. Mauritius and Réunion have a wetter windward side on the east side, with a drier zone on the leeward side in the west. Early accounts report that on all three islands, dense canopy forests occurred down to the coast on the windward side, with perhaps a more open, palm-rich forest on the lee (CHEKE & HUME 2008). Réunion is a high island with much of its vegetation above 800 m, comprising montane wet forest, heath and upland bogs. As a result, it has the best surviving habitat. Rodrigues was completely forested according to LEGUAT (1708), being especially dense in the lowland valleys, whereas Pingré (NAGEPEN 2004) recorded that the forest was thick but stunted on the Plaine Corail: most of the island is now deforested

Recent excavations at the Mare aux Songes have proved invaluable in determining the original composition of lowland forest on Mauritius (RIJSDIJK *et al.* 2009). The marsh is situated in a lowland coastal area on the windward side of Mauritius, but receives an average rainfall below 1200 mm, the same average as on the dry, coastal leeward side (LONGMAN 2007).



FIGURE 15. A sternum of the Rodrigues night heron *Nycticorax megalocephalus* on surface sediments in Caverne Dora.

The Mare aux Songes contained forest components from marsh, dry and wet forest zones. The most common species in the deposit is the wet forest tree, tambalacoque Sideroxylon grandiflorum (Sapotaceae), which is endangered and confined to mountain forests today. Other wet forest genera include Canarium (Burseraceae), Eugenia (Myrtaceae), Elaeocarpus (Elaeocarpaceae), Diospyrus (Ebenaceae) and the endemic palm genus Dictyosperma (Arecaceae). Dry forest genera comprise Foetidia (Lecythidaceae), lowland species of Sideroxylon (Sapotaceae), Stadmania (Sapindaceae) and two species of the palm genus Latania (Arecaceae), one now extinct (FLORENS pers. comm.). Cassine (Celastraceae) occurs in both wet and dry forest zones. At least four species of screw pines Pandanus (Pandanaceae) have also been identified from the deposit, including dry, wet and upland marsh species, indicating that they were once an important component of the lowland coastal forests.

Species accounts (see Tables 1 and 2)

Taxonomic nomenclature follows Howard and MOORE (DICKINSON 2003).

Ducks and Geese (Anatidae)

Ducks and geese were mentioned on numerous occasions in early accounts, but almost all provide few descriptive details.

Anas theodori — The Mascarene teal once occurred on Mauritius and Réunion, and was last recorded around 1700 on Mauritius and in 1710 on Réunion (HUME & WALTERS 2012). Osteological studies of postcranial bones have shown that the two populations were undifferentiated, so the birds were almost certainly capable of flying between the islands (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999; CHEKE & HUME 2008). The Mascarene teal was described from postcranial bones collected from the Mare aux Songes (NEWTON & GADOW 1893), and more recently from postcranial material collected in the Marais de l'Ermitage swamp on Réunion, and are most similar to the Austral teal *Anas gibberifrons* (MÜLLER, 1842) (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999). COWLES (1994) referred a fragmentary cranium from the Mare aux Songes to *A. theodori*, which differs from that of any other *Anas*.

Alopochen mauritianus — The Mauritian sheldgoose was mentioned in 1681 as 'inhabiting the woods and dry ponds' (CHEKE 1987; YOUNG et al. 1997), which suggests that it was probably becoming terrestrial. They were last reported in c. 1700, so presumably died out shortly after. The Mauritian sheldgoose was described from a partial pelvis and complete carpometacarpus excavated from the Mare aux Songes. Recently, a tarsometatarsus, the first known, was collected there in 2006 (RIJSDIJK et al. 2009). Furthermore, I have identified a radius, which was erroneously referred to Nycticorax mauritianus by Newton & GADOW (1893), as also belonging to Alopochen. Mascarene geese are derived from the Egyptian goose Alopochen aegyptiacus (LINNAEUS, 1766), and the available elements of A. mauritianus are smaller than A. aegyptiacus.

Alopochen kervazoi — The Réunion sheldgoose was discovered in a number of cave deposits and also in Marais de l'Ermitage swamp. It had disappeared by the end of the 17th century due to over-hunting. *A. kervazoi* differs from *A. aegyptiacus* in having a more robust tarsus and a short, deep bill (CowLES 1994; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999).

Aythya sp. — BERNARDIN (1687) and BOUCHER (1710) both mention 'sarcelles et canards' in Réunion, thereby identifying two species from their observations. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* (1999) found two carpometacarpi of an Aythya sp. in the Marais de l'Ermitage, a genus present on Madagascar, Southeast Asia and Australia, as well as Anas theodori. The Madagascar pochard Aythya innotata SALVADORI, 1894 is most similar



FIGURE 16. A reconstruction of the Mare aux Songes, Mauritius around 4 Kya. Every species depicted here, including the flora, has been found as a fossil in the marsh deposits. Of the vertebrates, only the echo parakeet *Psittacula echo*, pink pigeon *Nesoenas mayeri* and Mauritius kestrel *Falco punctatus* survive today. Illustration by the author.

to the Réunion *Aythya* species, so it may well have been this species or something closely related to it that once occurred on Réunion. Nothing more is known about it.

Stout-legged duck — A single femur discovered in 2009 in Caverne Poule Rouge, Rodrigues, is referable to a small duck, approximately the size of *Anas bernieri* (HARTLAUB, 1860). No endemic anatids are known from Rodrigues, but an account by BOUWER (reprinted in MOREE 2001), sailing with the fleet under Wolfert HARMENSZOON in 1601, stated that he landed on Rodrigues and collected some wild geese (HUME 2003). The bone is robust with a and comparatively lateromedially compressed at the proximal end. More material is needed before any further diagnoses can be made.

Petrels and Shearwaters (Procellariidae)

It is difficult to ascertain the former diversity and abundance of petrels on the Mascarenes. Early accounts report large breeding colonies of various species, particularly on the islets around Mauritius and Rodrigues, but there must have been a number of local extinctions. Furthermore, some very distinct but enigmatic species are known from just a few sightings and even fewer specimens.

Pseudobulweria atterima — The Mascarene Black Petrel is critically endangered, rarely seen and its breeding areas, thought to be confined to Reunion, have only recently been discovered (TATAYAH *et al.* 2011). A single specimen has been collected on Mauritius (*ibid*). BOURNE (1968) described and figured subfossil remains of a petrel from Rodrigues cave deposits, ascribing them



FIGURE 17. A reconstruction of Canyon Tiyel, Rodrigues around 1 Kya. Every species depicted here has been found as a fossil in the cave deposits. Of the vertebrates, only the two small passerines, the Rodrigues fody *Foudia flavicans* and Rodrigues warbler *Acrocephalus rodericana*, and Rodrigues fruit bat *Pteropus rodricensis* survive today. Illustration by the author.

to *Pseudobulweria atterima*. This was in error as my re-examination of the material shows that the elements are too large and they differ in other characters. CowLes (1987: p. 93) mentioned, but did not describe, the same material, referring it to *Pterodroma*. On Rodrigues in 2008, I found numerous cranial and post-cranial petrel remains, which represent a new, but now almost certainly extinct taxon. It is larger than any petrel known in the region.

Pterodroma arminjoniana — An unidentified species of *Pterodroma*, which bred on Round Island off the north coast of Mauritius, was only recently identified as Trinidae Petrel (BROWN & JORDAN 2009). It may have only colonised the island since the early 1900s (VINSON 1976). Numerous recent skeletal remains can be found on Round Island, but the species is unknown in the fossil record.

Pterodroma baraui — Barau's petrel is an elusive, endangered species that breeds at high

elevations on Réunion (PINET *et al.* 2009). CHEKE (1987) noted that he found a small breeding colony of Barau's petrel on Rodrigues in 1974, but subsequent searches failed to find them. Subfossil remains have been collected from Caverne à Cotte, a cave situated at 1800 m in elevation on Réunion (JOUANIN & GILL 1967).

Puffinus iherminieri — Two widespread *Puffinus* shearwaters once bred on Mauritius and Réunion. Audubon's shearwater is no longer resident on Mauritius, but still breeds on Réunion. Subfossil remains of this shearwater are common in Réunion cave deposits, including numerous juvenile specimens (MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ *et al.* 1999).

Puffinus pacificus — The wedge-tailed shearwater breeds only on a single islet off Réunion, but it is abundant in cave deposits on the mainland. It is still common on Mauritius (STAUB 1976), and I discovered skeletal remains in boulder scree below Le Pouce Mountain, and an associated individual in a cave at La Prairie. On Rodrigues, it bred on Ile aux Fregate (STAUB 1973, 1976), but my survey of this islet in 2005 failed to locate any birds; feral cats were abundant, and may have exterminated the population. Subfossil remains of this petrel are rare on Rodrigues, but specimens were collected in 1874, all held at the NHMUK, from unspecified caves on the Plaine Corail.

Grebes (Podicipedidae)

No species of grebe is known to have inhabited the Mascarenes. The supposed extinct species *Podiceps gadowi* HACHISUKA, 1953 is based on a mis-identified bone of a whimbrel *Numenius phaeopus* LINNAEUS, 1758 (CowLes 1987; see wader accounts below).

Flamingos (Phoenicopteridae)

Phoenicopterus ruber — During the early years of human occupation, greater flamingos were a resident breeding species on Mauritius and Réunion, with stragglers occasionally reaching Rodrigues (CARIÉ 1930; CHEKE 1987). Flamingos originally numbered in their thousands and were still considered common during the mid 18th century, but were systematically hunted for food. They were extirpated, or had dispersed from Mauritius by *c*. 1770 and from Réunion by *c*. 1730 (CHEKE & HUME 2008). Subfossil remains have been recovered from the Mare aux Songes, Mauritius (NEWTON & GADOW 1893), and Marais de l'Ermitage, Réunion (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999), including juvenile specimens.

An enigmatic and hypothetical species, the *Géant*, has created a wealth of literary debate, which is really not deserved. The existence of *Géant* is based entirely on the account of LEGUAT (1708), who described a bird the height of a man, with a goose-sized body, long neck and legs, and goose-like but pointed bill. He observed a number of them on Mauritius, but saw it only once on Rodrigues. The *Géant* was subsequently described as a valid taxon, *Leguatia gigantia* SCHLEGEL, 1866, and placed in Rallidae, a proposal ardently supported by ROTHSCHILD (1907a), HACHISUKA (1953) and NORTH-COOMBES (1983). However, LEGUAT also mentions a rose-coloured underwing, which

is an important diagnostic character. No rail is known to have any red under the wing (OLSON 1977), but flamingos certainly do. With no evidence to the contrary, it seems almost certain that LEGUAT had observed a flamingo.

Ibises (Threskiornithidae)

Threskiornis solitaries — Ibis of the genus Threskiornis occur only on Madagascar and Aldabra in the Indian Ocean, and another species occurred historically on Réunion (MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ & MOUTOU 1987; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1995a, b, 1999). It was called the solitaire by the local inhabitants. The solitaire declined once humans settled on the island, gradually retreating into the remote mountain tops as the island became more populated (CHEKE 1987; HUME & WALTERS 2012). The last account to refer to them was in 1708, so they must have died out shortly afterwards (HUME & WALTERS 2012). Subfossil remains have been found in the Marais de l'Ermitage, Grotte des Premiers Française and Grotte de l'Autel (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1999). It was a derivative of either the sacred ibis T. aethiopicus (LATHAM, 1790), which occurs on Madagascar and Aldabra, or possibly strawnecked ibis T. spinicollis (JAMESON, 1835) from Australia, Indonesia and New Guinea (ibid).

More speculation and misinterpretation has been made about a white dodo on Réunion than any other Mascarene bird, save the dodo of Mauritius (HUME & CHEKE 2004). Reports were made during the 17th and early 18th century of a large white bird that could be caught easily and lived alone in the mountains (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1999). These descriptions, which are certainly referable to the solitaire (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1999), were subsequently associated with some white dodo paintings by two Dutch artists, Pieter HOLSTEYN II and Pieter WITHOOS (NEWTON 1869), which elevated the Réunion white dodo Raphus solitarius Sélys-Longchamps, 1848 into the realms of scientific credibility (HUME & CHEKE 2004). However, no dodo fossil remains have been found on Réunion, whereas the discovery of subfossil remains of an ibis confirmed the solitaire's threskiornithid relationships (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1999), a bird that better corresponds with the descriptions in early accounts.

Common name	Original Latin name & authority	Current Latin name	Mauritius	Réunion	Rodrigues
Mauritius sheldgoose	Sarkidiornis mauritianus Newton & Gadow, 1893	Alopochen mauritianus	†FE	_	_
Réunion sheldgoose	Mascarenachen kervazoi Cowles, 1994	Alopochen kervazoi	_	†FE	_
Mascarene teal	Anas theodori Newton & Gadow, 1893	Anas theodori	†FΕ	†FE	-
Réunion pochard	<i>Aythya</i> sp. (see Mourer- Chauviré et al. 1999)	Aythya sp.	_	†FE	-
Barau's petrel	Pterodroma baraui Jouanin, 1964	Pterodroma baraui	_	Е	†Ε
Trinidade petrel	<i>Aestrelata arminjoniana</i> GIGIOLI & SALVADORI, 1869	Pterodroma arminjo- niana	Ind	_	_
Mascarene black petrel	<i>Procellaria atterima</i> Bona- parte, 1857	Pseudobulweria at- terima	EV	Е	?
Audubon's shearwater	<i>Puffinus iherminieri</i> Lesson, 1839	Puffinus iherminieri	FInd	FInd	-
Wedge-tailed shear- water	<i>Puffinus pacificus</i> Gmelin, 1789	Puffinus pacificus	FInd	Find	FInd
Greater flamingo	<i>Phoenicopterus ruber</i> LIN- NAEUS, 1758	Phoenicopterus ruber	†FInd	†FInd	†V
Réunion ibis or soli- taire	<i>Apterornis solitarius</i> Sélys- Longchamps, 1848	Threskiornis solitarius	-	†FE	-
Mauritius night heron	Butorides mauritianus New- TON & GADOW, 1893	Nycticorax mauritianus	†FE	_	-
Réunion night heron	<i>Ardea duboisi</i> Rothschild, 1907a	Nycticorax duboisi	-	†FE	-
Rodrigues night heron	Ardea megalocephalus Milne-Edwards, 1874	Nycticorax megalo- cephalus	_	-	†FE
Green-backed heron	<i>Butorides striatus</i> LINNAEUS, 1758	Butorides striatus ssp.	†?F		† ?F
Javan green-backed heron	<i>Butorides striatus javanicus</i> Horsfield, 1821	Butorides striatus javanicus	Ind	Ind	Ind
Dimorphic egret	<i>Egretta dimorpha</i> HARTERT, 1914	Egretta dimorpha	†FInd	†Ind	-
Red-tailed tropic bird	Phaethon rubricauda Bod- DAERT, 1783	Phaethon rubricauda	Ind	Ind	Ind
White-tailed tropic bird	Phaethon lepturus DAUDIN, 1802	Phaethon lepturus	Ind	Ind	FInd
Greater frigate-bird	Fregata minor GMELIN, 1789	Fregata minor	IndV	IndV	IndV
Lesser frigate-bird	Fregata ariel GRAY, 1845	Fregata ariel	IndV	IndV	IndV
Red-footed booby	Sula sula Linnaeus, 1766	Sula sula	Ind	_	Ind
Masked booby	Sula dactvlatra Lesson 1831	Sula dactvlatra	Ind	Ind	_
Abbott's booby	Sula abbotti Ridgway 1893	Papasula abbottii	*E	_	†E
Mauritius darter	* <i>Plotus nanus</i> Newton & Gadow, 1893	Phalacrocorax (Micro- carbo) africanus	-	_	_
Reed cormorant	Phalacrocorax africanus Gmelin, 1789	Phalacrocorax (Micro- carbo) africanus	†FE?	†E?	_

TABLE 1. Systematic list of Mascarene bird species mentioned in the text including extant species, recently extinct species known from museum skins, and those known from subfossil remains only. Key: * = Misidentified; $\dagger =$ extinct; E = endemic; Ind = indigenous; V = vagrant; F = fossil; S = museum skin.

TABLE 1.	. (contin	ued).
----------	-----------	-------

Common name	Original Latin name & authority	Current Latin name	Mauritius	Réunion	Rodrigues
Mauritius kestrel	<i>Falco punctatus</i> TEMMINCK, 1821	Falco punctatus	FE	_	_
Réunion kestrel	Falco duboisi Cowles, 1994	Falco duboisi	_	†FE	-
Réunion harrier	<i>Circus maillardi</i> Verreaux, 1862	Circus maillardi	†FE	Е	-
Réunion rail	<i>Dryolimnas augusti</i> Mourer- Chauviré, Bour, Ribes & Moutou, 1999	Dryolimnas augusti	-	†FE	_
Mauritius or Sauzier's wood rail		Dryolimnas sp.	†FE	_	-
Mauritius red rail	<i>Apterornis bonasia</i> Sélys- Longchamps, 1848	Aphanapteryx bonasia	†FE	_	-
Rodrigues rail	<i>Erythromachus leguati</i> Milne-Edwards 1874	Erythromachus leguati	_	_	†FΕ
Common moorhen	<i>Gallinula chloropus</i> Lin- NAEUS, 1758	Gallinula chloropus	Ind	Ind	-
Mascarene Coot	<i>Fulica newtoni</i> MILNE-ED- WARDS, 1867b	Fulica newtoni	†FE	†FE	-
Madagascar button- quail	<i>Tetrao nigricollis</i> Gmelin, 1789	Turnix nigricollis	_	Ind?	-
Whimbrel	<i>Numenius phaeopus</i> Lin- NAEUS, 1758	Numenius phaeopus	FInd	FInd	Ind
Mauritius grebe	* <i>Podiceps gadowi</i> Hachisu- ка, 1953	Numenius phaeopus	-	-	-
Curlew	<i>Numenius arquata</i> Linnaeus, 1758	Numenius arquata	Ind	Ind	Ind
Dodo	Didus ineptus LINNAEUS, 1766	Raphus cucullatus	†FSE	_	-
Rodrigues solitaire	Didus solitarius Gmelin, 1788	Pezophaps solitaria	-	_	†FE
Mauritian wood pigeon	<i>Columba thiriouxi</i> Hume, 2011	Columba thiriouxi	†FE	_	-
Mauritius pink pigeon	<i>Columba mayeri</i> Prévost & Knip, 1843	Nesoenas mayeri	FE	_	_
Réunion pink pigeon	<i>Nesoenas duboisi</i> Roths- child, 1907a	Nesoenas duboisi	_	†FE	-
Mauritius turtle dove	Nesoenas cicur Hume, 2011	Nesoenas cicur	†FE	_	_
Réunion turtle dove	<i>Streptopelia picturata</i> Тем- мілск, 1813	Nesoenas aff. picturata	_	†FE?	-
Rodrigues turtle dove	<i>'Columba' rodericana</i> (Milne-Edwards, 1874)	Nesoenas rodericana	_	_	†FΕ
Mauritius Blue Pigeon	<i>Columba nitidissima</i> Sco- POLI, 1786	Alectroenas nitidissima	†FSE	_	-
Rodrigues blue pigeon	<i>Alectroenas payandeei</i> Hume, 2011	Alectroenas payandeei	_	_	†FΕ
Mascarene parrot	<i>Psittacus mascarinus</i> Lin- NAEUS, 1771	Mascarinus mascarinus	_	†FSE	-
Broad-billed parrot or raven parrot	Psittacus mauritianus Owen, 1866b	Lophopsittacus mauri- tianus	†FE	_	_
Rodrigues parrot	<i>Psittacus rodericanus</i> Milne- Edwards, 1867a	Necropsittacus roderi- canus	_	_	†FΕ
Thirioux's grey parrot	Lophopsittacus bensoni Holyoak, 1973	Psittacula bensoni	†FE	_	_

TABLE 1. (continued).

Common name	Original Latin name & authority	Current Latin name	Mauritius	Réunion	Rodrigues
Echo parakeet	Palaeornis echo Newton & Newton, 1876	Psittacula echo	FE	_	_
Rodrigues parakeet	Palaeornis exsul Newton, 1872	Psittacula exsul	_	_	†FSE
Commerson's lizard- owl	<i>Strix sauzieri</i> Newton & Gadow, 1893	Mascarenotus sauzieri	†FE	_	-
Gruchet's or Réunion lizard-owl	<i>Mascarenotus grucheti</i> Mourer-Chauviré, Bour, Moutou & Ribes, 1994	Mascarenotus grucheti	_	†FE	_
Rodrigues lizard-owl	Strix (Athene) murivora Milne-Edwards, 1874	Mascarenotus muriv- orus	_	_	†FΕ
Mascarene swiftlet	<i>Hirundo francica</i> Gmelin, 1879	Collocalia francica	Ind	Ind	-
Mauritius cuckoo- shrike	<i>Oxynotus typicus</i> Hartlaub, 1865	Coracina typica	FE	_	-
Réunion cuckoo-shrike	Oxynotus newtoni Pollen, 1866	Coracina newtoni	_	Е	-
Mascarene flycatcher	<i>Muscicapa bourbonnensis</i> Statius Müller,1776	Terpsiphone bourbon- nensis	Е	Е	-
Mascarene swallow	Hirundo borbonica Gmelin, 1789	Phedina borbonica borbonica	Ind	Ind	IndV
Mauritius bulbul or merle	<i>Hypsipetes olivaceus</i> Jardine & Selby, 1835	Hypsipetes olivaceus	FE	-	-
Réunion bulbul or merle	<i>Turdus borbonicus</i> Forster, 1781	Hypsipetes borbonicus	-	Е	-
Rodrigues bulbul		Hypsipetes sp.	_	_	†FE
Rodrigues warbler	Drymoeca rodericanus New- TON, 1865	Bebrornis (Acrocepha- lus) rodericanus	-	-	FE
Mauritius olive white- eye	Zosterops chloronothos VIEILLOT, 1817	Zosterops chloronothos	FE	-	-
Réunion olive white- eye	<i>Certhia olivaceus</i> LINNAEUS, 1766	Zosterops olivaceus	-	Е	-
Mauritius grey white- eye	<i>Motacilla borbonica</i> For- ster, 1781 (see http://www. zoonomen.net)	Zosterops borbonicus	FE	_	_
Réunion grey white- eye	<i>Motacilla mauritianus</i> Gme- LIN, 1789	Zosterops mauritianus	_	Е	-
Réunion crested star- ling or huppe	Upupa varia Boddaert, 1783	Fregilupus varius	-	†FSE	-
Mauritius starling		Sturnidae	†FE	_	_
Rodrigues starling	<i>Necropsar rodericanus</i> Günther & Newton, 1879	Necropsar rodericanus	_	_	†FΕ
Réunion stonechat	<i>Muscicapa tectes</i> Gmelin, 1789	Saxicola tectes	-	Е	-
Mauritius fody	<i>Emberiza rubra</i> Gmelin, 1789	Foudia rubra	FE	_	-
Réunion fody	<i>Foudia delloni</i> Снеке & Ниме, 2008	Foudia delloni	-	Е	-
Rodrigues fody	<i>Foudia flavicans</i> Newton, 1865	Foudia flavicans	_	_	FE

Herons and Egrets (Ardeidae)

Early travelers to the Mascarenes mentioned a number of herons, but the accounts are extremely vague and it is very difficult to interpret the descriptions. Subfossil remains confirm that three endemic species once inhabited the islands (ROTHSCHILD 1907a, b; CHEKE 1987); however, NEWTON & GADOW (1893) mention six species of heron, all collected from the Mare aux Songes. My analysis of these latter specimens shows that only three were correctly identified as herons (see below); whereas three are not herons at all (see *Phalacrocorax africanus, Alopochen mauritianus* and *Circus maillardi*).

Nycticorax mauritianus — The genus Nycticorax (night herons) gave rise to three endemic Mascarene species, all now extinct. LEGUAT (1708) mentioned 'flights of bitterns' in 1693 on Mauritius, which were probably referable to the Mauritian night heron, N. mauritianus, and it is generally assumed that the birds disappeared shortly after this date (CHEKE & HUME 2008; HUME & WALTERS 2012). The Mauritian night heron has often been cited as being flightless, but this was certainly not the case. Although the tarsometatarsus is robust and indicative of a more terrestrial mode of life, a humerus collected from the Mare aux Songes in 1865, but erroneously attributed to great white egret, Ardea alba LINNAEUS, 1758 by NEWTON & GADOW (1893), is morphologically more similar to Nycticorax and equivalent in size of that of any volant Nycticorax species (HUME unpubl. data).

Nycticorax duboisi — DUBOIS (1674) gave the best account of a night heron from Réunion, a species now confirmed by skeletal remains (COWLES 1994), but appears to have described a juvenile (CHEKE 1987; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999). Night herons were not mentioned again after DUBOIS's account (HUME & WALTERS 2012). This was the largest Mascarene species, and like the Mauritian bird, it showed no reduction in wing elements (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999).

Nycticorax megalocephalus — The Rodrigues night heron was a robust species, with a stout, straight bill and robust legs (CowLes 1987). It was described by TAFFORET in 1725–26 as a species reluctant to fly (HUME & WALTERS 2012). The skeletal morphology confirms that this species

was evolving towards flightlessness, but it was still capable of flight. During the Transit of Venus expedition in 1761–3, the astronomer Alexandre-Gui Abbe PINGRÉ made a detailed survey of the Rodrigues fauna (NAGAPEN 2004), noting that the herons had by this time disappeared. An incomplete associated individual, which included the cranium and jaws, was discovered in Caverne Poule Rouge in 2006 (HUME unpubl. data).

Butorides striatus — Green-backed herons are resident on all of the Mascarene Islands. They are considered to be of the Javan race, *B. s. javanicus* (RIPLEY 1969), and thought to be a recent colonist to the islands (CHEKE & HUME 2008). However, I have identified subfossil remains from Mare aux Songes deposits on Mauritius, and I collected subfossil remains from Caverne Dora on the Plaine Corail, Rodrigues. *Buterides striatus* is a complex group, which not only has a large number of subspecies, but also exhibits extensive individual variation. It is possible that the Mascarenes may once have had an endemic species or subspecies of green-backed heron, but further work is needed before any conclusions can be made.

Egretta dimorpha — The dimorphic egret is common on Madagascar and vagrant to other Indian Ocean Islands (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004), and once occurred on Mauritius and Réunion (CHEKE & HUME 2008). WEST-ZANEN (1648) mentioned them in 1602 on Mauritius, whilst DUBOIS (1674) and FEUILLEY (1705) described them on Réunion. Dimorphic egrets appear to have disappeared sometime during the 18th century. NEWTON & GADOW (1893) attributed a tarsometatarsus collected at the Mare aux Songes as belonging to '*Ardea ardesiaca'*, but I found that it is referable to *E. dimorpha*, this being the only known subfossil element of this species.

Tropicbirds (Phaethontidae)

Phaethon rubricauda — The red-tailed tropic bird remains fairly common on Mauritius (SIN-CLAIR & LANGRAND 2004), breeding on Round Island off the north coast. It is a rare vagrant to Réunion (PROBST 1997) and, although scarce, still inhabits the islets within the lagoon surrounding Rodrigues, and was reported to have bred on the cliffs of Cascade Victoire in 1967 (STAUB 1973; 1976). No subfossil remains of *P. rubricauda* have yet been identified on the Mascarenes.

Phaethon lepturus — The white-tailed tropic bird is widely distributed throughout the Mascarenes, and it is the most abundant subfossil bird species found in cave deposits on Rodrigues (HUME 2005); adults, juveniles and eggs are equally represented. After a period of decline on Rodrigues, it is now recovering in numbers, and live birds and occasional fresh corpses are encountered in and around the cave sites.

Frigate-birds (Fregatidae)

Fregata minor/Fregata ariel — Frigate-birds have a wide Indo-Pacific distribution and occur on oceanic islands throughout the Indian Ocean (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004). Both species are rare vagrants to Réunion (BARRÉ et al. 1996). Two species are thought to have once bred on Mauritius and Rodrigues, the greater frigate-bird, Fregata minor, and the lesser frigate-bird, F. ariel (CHEKE 1987). On Mauritius, they were once resident breeders, and a frigate-bird is shown in an engraving depicting Dutch activities ashore in 1598 (HET TVVEEDE BOECK 1601). Both species had all but disappeared by the 1850s; the last confirmed sightings were on Round Island, Mauritius (E. NEWTON 1861; CHEKE 1987). On Rodrigues, frigates occurred on many of the islets within the lagoon; Pingré reported them as common (CHEKE 2001; NAGAPEN 2004), but it appears that they only bred on Ile aux Fregate (CHEKE 1987). Frigate-birds had probably ceased to breed on Rodrigues by c. 1850 and were considered rare in 1916 (BERTUCHI 1923). They do, however, turn up as rare vagrants within the Mascarenes (CHEKE 1987). Probably due to their tree-top nesting preferences and extremely fragile and lightweight skeleton, no subfossil remains of frigate-birds have been discovered in the Mascarenes.

Gannets and boobies (Sulidae)

Sula sula — The red-footed booby occurs yearround on Mauritius but probably never bred there (CHEKE 1987, 2001). They do not occur on Réunion (PROBST 1997). The islets off Rodrigues, particularly Ile aux Fregate, once harboured large colonies of boobies, and at least one species, dark phase red-footed booby, *Sula sula*, was a resident breeder (CHEKE 2001). The population is now extirpated, being last reported in 1916 (BERTUCHI 1923; CHEKE 1987, 2001). No *S. sula* bones have yet been identified in the Mascarenes.

Sula dactylatra — The masked booby is vagrant to Réunion and still breeds on Serpent Island off Mauritius, the only known breeding site in the Mascarenes (STAUB 1976; CHEKE 2001), but being a ground nesting bird it is vulnerable to disturbance. As yet, no subfossil remains of this species have been found in the Mascarenes.

Papasula abbotti — Abbott's booby is now confined to Christmas Island, Indian Ocean, the only known breeding population, but colonies also once occurred on Assumption Island and on the Mascarenes. It is also a rare vagrant to the Pacific (PRATT et al. 2009). Abbott's booby was mentioned by a number of observers on Rodrigues during the 18th century (BOURNE 1976; CHEKE 1987, 2001), but was last recorded in 1761 by Pingré (Cheke & Hume 2008). Bourne (1976) confirmed the presence of Abbott's booby on Mauritius from a complete humerus and ulna, collected in the Mare aux Songes. I discovered a proximal humerus, which was mis-identified as solitaire Pezophaps solitaria, from Rodrigues cave deposits. Comparison of the Mare aux Songes and Rodrigues specimens with Christmas Island birds indicates that the Mascarene population is distinct. This may also be the case with the Assumption birds (HUME unpubl. data).

Cormorants (Phalacrocoracidae)

Phalacrocorax (Microcarbo) africanus — Cormorants were reported on Réunion during the early years of settlement; DUBOIS (1674) and FEUILLEY (1705) in particular gave good descriptions. They were encountered on the lakes, and when young were considered good to eat (HUME & WALTERS 2012). They were not recorded again however and presumably died out in the early 18th century. Although not mentioned in early accounts, cormorant subfossil remains have been excavated from the Mare aux Songes. OLSON (1975) referred them to the reed cormorant Phalacrocorax africanus, a wide ranging African species that is represented on Madagascar by the race pictilis BANGS, 1918. However, my analysis of the specimens indicates that it was a smaller taxon, and may represent a new, but extinct subspecies (HUME & WALTERS 2012). By contrast, an ulna collected from the Mare aux Songes and erroneously referred to *Ardea alba* LINNAEUS, 1758 (NEWTON & GADOW 1893), is most similar to *P. africanus pictilis* (HUME unpubl. data).

Darters and Anhingas (Anhingidae)

Subfossil remains obtained from the Mare aux Songes were described as an endemic anhinga, *Plotus nanus* (NEWTON & GADOW, 1893), related to the Madagascar species *A. rufa* DAUDIN, 1802. OLSON (1975) re-examined the material and concluded that it was in fact referable to the African Reed Cormorant *Phalacrocorax* (*Microcarbo*) *africanus* (see below).

Hawks and Falcons (Accipitridae)

Birds of prey have populated many island groups throughout the Indian Ocean and far-ranging migrants regularly visit the Mascarenes (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004). Two genera are certainly known from Réunion and Mauritius, *Circus* and *Falco*, while a possible third genus remains indeterminate (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999).

Falco punctatus — The Mauritius kestrel was once considered the most endangered bird in the world, with numbers down to six birds in 1974 (JONES 1987). Due to intensive captive breeding and conservation efforts, by 2005 numbers increased to an estimated 800–1000 individuals (JONES in CHEKE & HUME 2008), but this estimate was prematurely optimistic. The population has dropped to <400 individuals and continues to decline (CADE 2008). A few subfossil elements have been collected from both the Mare aux Songes and from caves beneath Le Pouce Mountain.

Falco duboisi — A morphologically distinct species of kestrel, *F. duboisi*, once inhabited Réunion, and was described from subfossil material collected in 1974 (CowLes 1994). In 1671–2 it was reported to 'do harm to the fowls of the inhabitants and the game of the island' by DUBOIS (1674) and was persecuted accordingly, but this was its only record from life, so the date of its extinction is unknown (HUME & WALTERS 2012). The Mauritius kestrel has short, rounded wings, which is indicative of a forest inhabitant (JoNES 1987), whereas the Réunion kestrel was more similar to the Eurasian kestrel complex, which are open habitat specialists (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et *al.* 1999).

Circus maillardi — Two species of Circus harrier have been described from the Mascarenes. However, that described from subfossil material on Mauritius as Circus alphonsi Newton & GADOW, 1893, has been shown by MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. (2004) to be conspecific with the Réunion Harrier, C. maillardi, which is extant but endangered on Réunion. On Mauritius, the species is known from subfossil remains collected from the Mare aux Songes and cave deposits around Le Pouce Mountain (NEWTON & GADOW 1893; RIJSDIJK et al. 2009), including an ulna formerly attributed to Nycticorax mauritianus that I have shown is referable to C. maillardi; it is also briefly mentioned in the account of Cornelis MATELIEFF DE JONGE in 1606 (BARNWELL 1948).

TABLE 2. List of species that almost certainly once existed, but lack supporting fossil evidence. This category of 'hypothetical' taxa is restricted to Réunion, primarily due to the paucity of subfossil remains of certain avian orders on that island.

Common name	Original Latin name & authority	Current Latin name	Mauritius	Réunion	Rodrigues
Emerillon		Falco? sp.	_	Х	_
Oiseaux bleu	Cyanornis coerulescens Sélys-Longchamps, 1848	Cyanornis (Porphyrio) coerulescens	_	Х	_
Réunion blue pigeon		Alectroenas sp.	-	Х	-
Réunion ring-necked parakeet	<i>Psittacus eques</i> Boddaert, 1783	Psittacula eques	_	Х	_
Réunion grey parrot		Psittacula aff. bensoni	-	Х	-
Réunion red and green parrot	'Necropsittacus' borboni- cus Rothschild, 1907b	Genus indeterminate	-	Х	_

HUME: A synopsis of the pre-human avifauna of the Mascarene Islands

No Réunion subfossil material is known. Why the Réunion population has survived, whereas the Mauritius birds disappeared in the early years of human settlement, remains unclear.

Small falcon — Réunion. An enigmatic species called an 'Emerillon (=merlin)' was described by DUBOIS (1674) as 'although small, do not fail to carry away chickens and eat them' (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999). CHEKE (1987) suggested that this description was referable to *Falco duboisi*, but kestrels had already been mentioned in DUBOIS's account. The Emerillon may have been a migratory *Falco* species or an endemic small hawk that is now extinct.

Rails and coots (Rallidae)

Rails have colonised almost every oceanic island archipelago throughout the world. At least five genera formerly occurred on the Mascarenes, and two of these, the Mauritius red rail *Aphanapteryx bonasia*, and Rodrigues rail *Erythromachus leguati*, must have been isolated for some time; their relationships with other rails are now difficult to determine (OLSON 1977; LIVEZEY 1998, 2003). A sixth genus, *Gallinula*, which still occurs on Mauritius and Réunion, may have been a recent arrival (CHEKE & HUME 2008).

Aphanapteryx bonasia — The monotypic genus Aphanapteryx is characterised by hair-like plumage, a long de-curved bill, vestigial wings and strong, robust legs. The Mauritius red rail, A. bonasia, appears to have been an opportunist omnivore and was able to survive two centuries of anthropogenic changes (HUME & WALTERS 2012). However, the introduction of cats in the late 17th century proved disastrous, and the rails were not seen again after 1693 (CHEKE & HUME 2008). The Mauritius red rail was originally described from illustrations and accounts (Sélys-Longchamps 1848), but the discovery of subfossil remains from the Mare aux Songes allowed MILNE-EDWARDS (1868) to correctly assign it to the Rallidae. Subfossil remains have also been collected in a number of widespread cave localities, which includes a complete associated individual collected by THIRIOUX somewhere around Le Pouce Mountain and a partially associated individual from a cave near Vieux Grand Port in the southeast.

Erythromachus leguati — The Rodrigues rail is sufficiently distinct from *A. bonasia* in a number of characteristics to warrant generic separation (OLSON 1977; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999; HUME & WALTERS 2012). It was reported to be common in 1691–3 (LEGUAT 1708) and in 1725–6 by TAFFORET (HUME & WALTERS 2012), but PIN-GRÉ in 1761 (HUME & WALTERS 2012), but PIN-GRÉ in 1761 (HUME & WALTERS 2012) stated that the species was by then extinct. A large series of subfossil remains collected by colleagues and I in caves on the Plaine Corail exhibit a great size variation, almost certainly due to sexual dimorphism. An incomplete but associated individual, which includes a complete skull and jaws, was collected in Caverne Poule Rouge in 2005.

Dryolimnas augusti — The volant nominate white-throated rail Dryolimnas cuvieri PUCHERAN, 1845 is widely distributed in Madagascar, where it is reasonably common (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004). Interestingly, the type, a gravid female collected on Mauritius (PUCHERAN 1845), may have been a vagrant. There are two closely related subspecies, the flightless Aldabran rail, D. c. aldabranus (GÜNTHER, 1879), from Aldabra atoll, which holds the distinction of being the last surviving Indian Ocean flightless bird, and the recently extinct Assumption Island rail, D. c. abbotti RIDGWAY, 1894, which had reduced flying capabilities. A second species, only tentatively placed in Dryolimnas, has recently been described from fossil remains collected in the Caverne de la Tortue, Réunion (MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ et al. 1999). This Réunion rail D. augusti was morphologically similar, although larger, than the Aldabran species and was probably also flightless. Dubois (1674) mentioned a 'wood rail' in his list of species, and this is almost certainly referable to the Réunion rail (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1999).

Dryolimnas sp. — Mauritius. Cowles (1987) identified Dryolimnas material collected from the Mare aux Songes, which had previously been ascribed to the common moorhen Gallinula chloropus LINNAEUS, 1758 (NEWTON & GADOW 1893). However, he referred the material to nominate D. cuvieri. I identified more Dryolimnas material from a collection made by Thirioux in caves around Le Pouce Mountain, which shows that an endemic, flightless Dryolimnas once occurred on Mauritius.

Cyanornis (Porphyrio) coerulescens — The

most enigmatic of all Mascarene rails is the 'Oiseau bleu,' a bird that once occurred on the Plaine des Cafres, Réunion. They were mentioned on a number of occasions by trustworthy observers and last reported around the middle of the 18th century (CHEKE & HUME 2008). Their colour was described as blue with red beak and legs (e.g., Dubois 1674), and they were considered good game and, although able to fly, could easily be caught and killed with sticks (CHEKE & HUME 2008). No subfossil remains have yet been found to resolve their affinities, but the oiseau bleu is generally considered to represent a large Porphyrio gallinule (HUME & WALTERS 2012), a genus which occurs on Madagascar (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004). No subfossil remains are known from the rich Mare aux Songes deposits or from the THIRIOUX montane collections, which suggest that Mauritius lacked suitable habitat for this taxon.

Gallinula chloropus — The common moorhen is found on a number of western Indian Ocean islands, including Mauritius and Réunion (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004). The Mascarene populations are generally treated as part of *G. c. pyrrhorrhoa* A. NEWTON, 1861, that also occurs on Madagascar and the Comoro Islands, and appear to be of recent origin (CHEKE & HUME 2008). No subfossil remains of *Gallinula* have been identified on the Mascarenes.

Fulica newtoni — A coot of the genus *Fulica* was once found on Mauritius and Réunion. Despite some suggestions that *F. newtoni* was flightless, there is no reduction in the pectoral elements. Furthermore, the birds from Mauritius and Réunion are undifferentiated, indicating that the species was clearly able to fly between the islands (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999; CHEKE & HUME 2008). Both populations had disappeared by the end of the 17th century (HUME & WALTERS 2012). *F. newtoni* was described from subfossil remains from the Mare aux Songes (MILNE-EDWARDS 1867), and skeletal elements were collected by KERVAZO in the Grotte des Premiers Française on Réunion (CowLes 1994).

Button-Quails (Turnicidae)

It appears that there was once an indigenous population of button-quails on Réunion, which were mentioned in a number of accounts, but appeared to have died out around the 1670s (CHEKE 1987). It is very likely that these button-quails were *Turnix nigricollis* (GMELIN, 1789), a native of Madagascar. Madagascar button-quails were introduced around 1714 on Réunion and possibly during the 1830s on Mauritius (CHEKE & HUME 2008); they still occur on Mauritius and Réunion today (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004). No subfossil remains have been found on Réunion, whereas a few post-cranial elements were collected by THIRIOUX around Le Pouce Mountain.

Waders (Scolopacidae)

A number of waders are regular migrants to the Mascarenes, but only two are identifiable from early accounts and only one from the fossil record.

Numenius phaeopus — The whimbrel is a common migrant to the Mascarenes, and appears to have been regularly hunted on Mauritius in the past. The only evidence of this species in the fossil record is an ulna collected in the Mare aux Songes, Mauritius, which was originally assigned to a *Podiceps* sp. by NEWTON & GADOW (1893) and later formally described as *P. gadowi* (1893) and later formally described as *P. gadowi* HACHISUKA, 1953. COWLES (1987) re-identified this specimen and correctly assigned it to *Numenius phaeopus*. A tarsometatarsus was also collected in the Grotte des Premiers Française on Réunion (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999).

Numenius arquata — The curlew is a less frequent migrant to the Mascarenes, and was also regularly hunted in the past. No subfossil remains of this species have yet been identified.

Terns (Stercorariidae)

A number of terns breed on off-shore islands on the Mascarenes, but all are unknown in the fossil record, so they are mentioned here only for completeness. The populations of common noddy *Anous stolidus* (LINNAEUS, 1758), lesser noddy *Anous tenuirostris* (TEMMINCK, 1823), sooty tern *Sterna fuscata* (LINNAEUS, 1766), bridled tern *Onychoprion anaethetus* (SCOPOLI, 1786) and fairy tern *Gygis alba* (SPARRMAN, 1786) were variously mentioned in early accounts as being extremely abundant, especially on Rodrigues (CHEKE & HUME 2008), but are now much reduced in numbers.

Pigeons and doves (Columbidae)

Pigeons and doves, including the dodo and solitaire, are mentioned in almost all early accounts that relate to the Mascarene fauna. All describe their inherent tameness and the ease with which they could be caught, but few provide descriptive details. Only one species, *Nesoenas mayeri*, of at least 12 endemic pigeons and doves (HUME 2011), survives today.

Raphus cucullatus — The dodo has been the subject of more debatable literature than any other bird (HUME 2006). It was first mentioned in 1599 and first illustrated in 1600 (HUME 2006). but became extinct sometime between 1662 (CHEKE 1987) and 1693 (HUME et al. 2004). MtDNA analysis has shown that the dodo and solitaire Pezophaps solitaria are monophyletic and have a sister group relationship to the Nicobar pigeon Caloenas nicobarica (PEREIRA et al. 2007; SHAPIRO et al. 2002). Almost all of the known subfossil remains were excavated from the Mare aux Songes, but THIRIOUX collected an associated individual and a partially associated individual from undisclosed caves in the centre of the island. More recently, a complete but badly degraded specimen was excavated at Bois Cheri, in the central uplands (MIDDLETON & HUME In press), and individual elements have been collected from caves at Vieux Grand Port, La Prairie, Baie du Cap and Roches Noires and from a marsh at Flacq (JANOO 2005; HUME et al. 2009). According to the fossil evidence, the dodo was once widely distributed around Mauritius, but predominantly confined to the lowlands. This may also represent a bias, as fossil depositional environments are more numerous in the lowlands and the lowland cave and marsh deposits are more conducive to bone preservation (HUME 2005). Juvenile dodo remains are incredibly rare; only one tarsometatarsus collected by THIRIOUX from an unspecified cave/boulder scree deposit in the valleys around Le Pouce (photographed and now lost (HUME 2006)), and a fragment from a cave at La Prairie have been collected.

Pezophaps solitaria — The solitaire was the closest relative of the dodo and endemic to

Rodrigues, but differed markedly in morphology. It was considered to be common when first described (LEGUAT 1708; TAFFORET in HUME & WALTERS 2012), but had disappeared by the 1760s. The solitaire is known from a femur collected at Anse Mourouk and thousands of skeletal elements, including associated individuals, from caves on the Plaine Corail. It exhibited the greatest sexual dimorphism known in any neognathous bird (LIVEZEY 1993), and both sexes were extremely aggressive when defending their territories (HUME & STEEL 2013). However, not a single juvenile specimen has yet been identified.

Columba thiriouxi—A small species of pigeon, tentatively referred to typical *Columba* (HUME 2011), disappeared sometime after 1730 (HUME & WALTERS 2012). It is known from subfossil cave deposits collected around Le Pouce Mountain and Plain des Roches. The short, broad tarsometatarsus suggests that it was an arboreal species.

Endemic *Nesoenas* pink pigeons were confined to Mauritius and Réunion, whereas *Nesoenas* turtle doves once occurred on all three Mascarene Islands. All but the Mauritius pink pigeon *Nesoenas mayeri* had disappeared during the early 18th century. Introductions of Madagascar turtle doves *Nesoenas picturata* (TEMMINCK, 1813) took place on Mauritius and Réunion after the extinction of the native birds, and present populations of *N. picturata* are all introduced. This Madagascar species differs from the endemic *Nesoenas* turtle doves in a number of osteological details (see HUME 2011), and is almost certainly unknown in the fossil record.

Nesoenas mayeri — The pink pigeon is the only surviving Mascarene columbid and confined to Mauritius. It had been reduced to less than 25 birds in the 1970s, but a successful captive-breeding and re-introduction programme has increased the population to 350+ individuals today (JONES in CHEKE & HUME 2008). It is the commonest subfossil species found in cave deposits, but markedly less so in the Mare aux Songes marsh (HUME 2011).

Nesoenas duboisi — The Réunion pink pigeon was described by ROTHSCHILD (1907a, b) based on the account of DUBOIS (1674), the only person to record it in life. Humeri referable to this taxon discovered in Grotte des Premiers Française and Grotte de l'Autel are larger than *N*. *mayeri* (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999), a closely related species.

Nesoenas cicur — The Mauritius turtle dove is known from subfossil remains collected at the Mare aux Songes and cave deposits situated in the valleys of Le Pouce Mountain and at Vieux Grand Port (HUME 2011). It became extinct sometime after 1730. The Mauritius turtle dove had comparatively robust pelvic elements and reduced pectoral elements, so was probably more terrestrial than other *Nesoenas* pigeons.

Nesoenas aff. *picturata* — Two *Nesoenas* subfossil elements collected in the Grotte "au sable" on Réunion (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1999) may be referable to *N. cicur* or a closely related species (HUME 2011).

Nesoenas rodericana — The Rodrigues turtle dove is known from early accounts and from cave deposits collected on the Plaine Corail (Hume 2011). It was a small species, with a distinct sternum, and disappeared between 1726 and 1761, due to rat predation and deforestation (Hume & WALTERS 2012). Partially associated individuals were discovered in Caverne Bambara II in 2006, and Caverne l'Affouche in 2013.

Alectroenas nitidissima — Despite being persecuted for over two centuries, the Mauritius blue pigeon was still comparatively numerous at the end of the 18th century. However, due to severe deforestation, it had disappeared by 1837 (HUME 2011; HUME & WALTERS 2012). It is known from three skins, the most recent taken in 1826 (MILNE-EDWARDS & OUSTALET 1893), and a few subfossil remains collected from the Mare aux Songes and caves around Le Pouce and Roches Noires (HUME 2011).

Alectroenas sp. — It seems probable that an *Alectroenas* once occurred on Réunion (HUME 2011), as a bird of this description was briefly mentioned by DUBOIS (1674) and BONTEKOE (1650), but no skeletal remains have been found to confirm its affinities.

Alectroenas payandeei — The Rodrigues blue pigeon was never mentioned by any visitors to the island. It is known from a single but distinct tarsometatarsus, collected in Caverne Poule Rouge on the Plaine Corail (HUME 2011).

Parrots (Psittacidae)

It is difficult to determine how many species

of parrot once inhabited the Mascarenes (HUME 2007), but at least seven taxa were present on the islands, with a further two awaiting confirmation from the fossil record. Like the columbids, almost every early account mentions them, but few provide any details. They were rapidly hunted to extinction, long before any scientific analysis could take place. All Mascarene parrots are now extinct save the echo parakeet *Psittacula echo* (NEWTON & NEWTON, 1876) of Mauritius.

Mascarinus mascarinus — The Mascarene parrot is known from two skins, both collected during the 18th century, and from a few subfossil elements excavated in caves on Réunion (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1999). DUBOIS (1674) gave a good description of this species in 1671-72 and a few live birds survived the journey to France (BRISSON 1760; MAUDUYT 1784). The much repeated 1834 date of extinction (HAHN 1834) is unfounded; the Mascarene parrot had almost certainly disappeared by c. 1800 (HUME 2007). Analysis of skeletal material and similarities in colouration strongly suggest a direct relationship with southeast Asian Psittaculini parrots (Mourer-Chauviré et al. 1999; Hume 2007), but mtDNA analysis, according to KUNDU et al. (2012), embedded Mascarinus within Coracopsis nigra (LINNAEUS, 1758), the lesser vasa parrot of Madagascar and nearby islands. However, this result has been questioned (JOSEPH et al. 2012).

Necropsittacus rodericanus — The Rodrigues parrot was described as a big-headed, long-tailed bird that frequented the southern islets off Rodrigues, returning to the mainland only to drink water (HUME 2007). Pingré listed *N. rodericanus* as very rare in 1761 and this was the last time it was mentioned (HUME & WALTERS 2012). Subfossil remains are scarce, although cranial and post-cranial specimens have been recovered from unnamed caves on the Plaine Corail. Colleagues and I discovered a rostrum, humerus, and tibiotarsus in Caverne Tortue in 2008.

Lophopsittacus mauritianus — The raven parrot or broad-billed parrot, which was last recorded in 1673–4, had developed huge jaws for cracking the hard nut shells of palms and other forest trees (HUME 2007, contra HOLYOAK 1971), and exhibited the greatest sexual dimorphism known in any parrot (HUME 2007). Despite statements to the contrary (*e.g.*, HACHISUKA 1953),
there is no evidence to suggest that this species was flightless (HUME 2007), but it was probably poorly volant. It is known from numerous subfossil remains from the Mare aux Songes, Mauritius, with a preponderance of mandibles and tibiotarsi (HUME 2005), and also from a few specimens collected in caves around Le Pouce Mountain.

At least two species of *Psittacula* parakeet colonised the Mascarenes. A *Psittacula eupatria* (LINNAEUS, 1766) derivative, *P. wardi* (NEWTON, 1867), once occurred on the Seychelles, with probable derivatives on Mauritius (*P. bensoni*), Réunion (*P.* aff. *bensoni*/ red and green parrot) and possibly Rodrigues (*P. exsul*) (HUME 2007). A second colonisation event involved *P. krameri* (SCOPOLI, 1769), with derivatives on Mauritius (*P. echo*) and on Réunion (*P. eques*) (GROOMBRIDGE *et al.* 2004).

Psittacula bensoni — THIRIOUX's grey parrot was a long-tailed, large-headed species, and a probable derivative of the *Psittacula 'eupatria'* group (HUME 2007). It was considered to be one of the commonest species on Mauritius during the early 18th century, but had disappeared by *c*. 1760 (HUME 2007; HUME & WALTERS 2012). Subfossil remains are rare. It is known from cave deposits collected by THIRIOUX from the valleys around Le Pouce Mountain (HUME 2007) and from a few skeletal specimens from the Mare aux Songes (RIJSDIJK *et al.* 2009).

Psittacula aff. *bensoni* — DUBOIS (1674) and COSSIGNY (1732–55) mentioned a grey parrot on Réunion, which may have been conspecific with *P. bensoni*. However, no skeletal remains have been found to determine its relationships. It was last recorded in *c*. 1730 (CHEKE & HUME 2008).

Psittacula exsul — The Rodrigues parakeet is known from two skins collected in the early 1870s (NEWTON 1875), just prior to the species becoming extinct. There appear to have been two colour morphs (green and blue), of which only the blue morphs were collected. Subfossil remains are rare, but morphometric analysis and one contemporary description suggest that this species may have been derivative of the *Psittacula 'eupatria'* group (HUME 2007).

Psittacula echo — The echo parakeet, the only surviving psittaciform in the Mascarenes, was described in the 1980s as the world's rarest parrot, with a population of less than a dozen

birds (FORSHAW 1989). It has now recovered to some 350 mature individuals (JONES in CHEKE & HUME 2008). Large numbers of subfossil remains have been excavated in caves around Le Pouce Mountain and Plaine des Roches, including juveniles (HUME 2007), but its remains are rare in the Mare aux Songes deposits.

Psittacula eques — The Réunion parakeet is known only from a number of paintings and accounts (HUME 2007) and, putatively, one skin (JONES 1987; but see CHEKE & HUME 2008). Despite the survival of *Psittacula echo* on Mauritius, *P. eques* disappeared early in Réunion's history, being last reported around 1730 (HUME & WALTERS 2012). Pending confirmation from fossil remains, it may be conspecific with *P. echo*.

Réunion red and green parrot. Genus indeterminate. This enigmatic bird, which was reported only once, has caused much taxonomic confusion. DUBOIS (1674), whose observations can be trusted, described a green parrot with head, wings and tail the colour of fire. It was formerly described as '*Necropsittacus' borbonicus* ROTHS-CHILD, 1907b, based on the assumption that it was related to *N. rodericanus* of Rodrigues (ROTH-SCHILD 1907a), but ROTHSCHILD confused the early literature (HUME 2007). It is possible that DUBOIS was describing an endemic *P. 'eupatria'* species on Réunion. The colouration, apart from the red tail, is typical of *P. eupatria* (HUME 2007).

Owls (Strigidae)

Owls of the genus *Otus* occur on a number of Indian Ocean islands (FUCHS *et al.* 2008) and it is from this genus that the endemic Mascarene genus *Mascarenotus* was derived (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1994). The Mascarene species were characterised by large size and robust, long legs (NEWTON & GADOW 1893; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1994), presumably adaptations for predation of reptiles and small birds. The Mascarene lizard-owls are known from descriptions, one drawing and a few subfossil remains.

Mascarenotus sauzieri — The Mauritian lizard-owl was a large eared owl with bare tarsi. A drawing by Jossigny, reproduced in Ousta-LET (1897), is the only known illustration of the genus. One individual was described in detail by DESJARDINS (1837), the specimen of which was lost during a cyclone in the 1850s (CHEKE & HUME 2008), while a few others were reported around the same time (CHEKE & HUME 2008). *M. sauzieri* appears to have required large trees for nesting and roosting, and disappeared due to extensive deforestation. CLARK (1859) stated that at the time of writing they had become extinct after being formerly plentiful. THIRIOUX collected subfossil remains from cave deposits around Le Pouce and Plaine des Roches, which includes some partially associated material. I collected a complete pelvis in 2007 in Kanaka Cave, Bois Cheri.

Mascarenotus grucheti — Owls were never reported historically on Réunion, but subfossil remains confirm that a species once occurred there (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* 1994, 1999). It differed from *M. sauzieri* in having slightly more reduced wing elements (MOURER-CHAU-VIRÉ *et al.* 2006).

Mascarenotus murivorus — The Rodrigues lizard-owl was mentioned by LEGUAT (1708) and

TAFFORET (HUME & WALTERS 2012), the latter stating that the small brown owls fed on lizards and birds and lived almost exclusively in trees. PINGRÉ in 1761 never reported them, so they presumably disappeared sometime between the visits of TAF-FORET in 1725–26 and PINGRÉ (HUME & WALTERS 2012). Subfossil remains are rare in caves at the Plaine Corail, which suggests that they were not using these areas for roosting or breeding.

Swifts (Apodidae)

Collocalia francica — The Mascarene swiftlet has decreased in numbers on Mauritius, but it is still common on Réunion (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004). Fresh skeletal specimens are comparatively numerous on Mauritius, but no subfossil remains have been identified from either island. Despite its habit of nesting in caves, no subfossil remains have been found in the rich fossil deposits on the Plaine Corail, which suggests that

TABLE 3. List of endemic Mascarene bird species mentioned in the text, with percentages of scientifically described species and undescribed species known from the fossil record. This study has shown that certain families of birds are under-represented in the literature, especially the sea birds and passerines. The high number of undescribed taxa on Réunion is a result of the poor fossil record from that island (see also Table 2). Key: \dagger =extinct; *=species occurs on more than one island.

Family	Endemic species described/ undescribed	% of species undescribed	Mauritius	Réunion	Rodrigues
Anatidae	3/2	66%	2 †*	2/1 **	1†
Procellariidae	2/1	50%	_	2	1†
Threskiornithidae	1/0	0%	_	1†	-
Ardeidae	3/0	0%	1†	1†	1†
Sulidae	0/1	100%	1 †*	-	1 **
Phalacrocoracidae	0/1	100%	1†	1†	-
Falconidae	3/1	33%	1	1/1 🕇	_
Accipitridae	1/0	0%	1 †*	1*	-
Rallidae	4/2	50%	2/1 **	2/1 **	1†
Columbidae	12/3	25%	5(4†)	1/3 †	2/0†
Psittacidae	9/2	22%	3(2†)/0	4/2†	2/0†
Strigidae	3/0	0%	1†	1†	1†
Campephagidae	2/0	0%	1	1	-
Monarchidae	1/0	0%	1*	1*	-
Pycnonotidae	2/1	50%	1	1	1†
Sylviidae	1/0	0%	_	-	1
Zosteropidae	4/0	0%	2	2	-
Sturnidae	2/1	50%	1†	1†	1†
Muscicapidae	1/0	0%	_	1	-
Ploceidae	3/0	0%	1	1†	1

swiftlets were absent from Rodrigues.

Passerines

Passerines have been particularly successful at colonising remote oceanic archipelagos; however, establishing their former diversity can be problematic. Passerines were rarely mentioned in the early Mascarene literature and, where passerine fossil remains have been collected, there has been a tendency to ignore them. Here I present a preview of my recent findings; even in this initial period of study, a number of new taxa have been discovered (see also Tables 3 and 4).

Cuckoo shrikes (Campephagidae)

Cuckoo-shrikes are endemic to Mauritius and Réunion, but there is no evidence that *Coracina* ever occurred on Rodrigues.

Coracina typica — The Mauritius cuckoo shrike is widespread on the island, but it is declining in numbers and considered endangered (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004). I identified subfossil remains from cave deposits collected by THIRIOUX around Le Pouce Mountain.

Coracina newtoni — The Réunion cuckoo shrike is critically endangered and restricted to two small plateaus, the Plaine d'Affouches and Plaine des Chicots, in the north-west (LE CORRE & SAFFORD 2001). No subfossil remains are known, which is unsurprising considering its montane habitat.

Monarch-flycatchers (Monarchidae)

Terpsiphone bourbonnensis — The Mascarene flycatcher is divided into two subspecies, *T. b. bourbonnensis* (STATIUS MÜLLER, 1776) on Réunion and *T. b. desolata* (SALOMONSEN, 1933) on Mauritius. Both populations remain comparatively scarce, but they have a widespread distribution where suitable habitat remains. Flycatchers have not been found in any Mascarene fossil deposit, and the genus is absent from Rodrigues.

Swallows (Hirundinidae):

Phedina borbonica borbonica — The Mascarene

swallow is found on Mauritius and Réunion and may have been vagrant to Rodrigues in the passed. It is not known from the fossil record, but it is unlikely that the present status is any different now than in pre-human times (CHEKE 1987).

Bulbuls (Pycnonotidae)

Hypsipetes olivaceus — The Mauritian bulbul or merle was considered a delicacy (STAUB 1976; CHEKE 1987), so it is one of the few passerines that can be identified from the early literature on Mauritius. It is considered endangered today. A number of subfossil remains were collected by THIRIOUX around the valleys of Le Pouce and caves at the Plaine des Roches.

Hypsipetes borbonicus — The Réunion bulbul was also regularly mentioned due to its edibility (*e.g.*, DUBOIS 1674). It is widespread on Réunion and considered of least concern, but numbers are declining. No subfossil remains have yet been discovered.

Hypsipetes sp. — CowLES (1987: p. 99) mentioned but did not describe a *Hypsipetes* bulbul collected in 1974 from caves on the Plaine Corail. I have since identified a number of cranial and post-cranial elements discovered in Caverne Poule Rouge, Caverne Bambara II and Caverne Gastonia. A Rodrigues bulbul was never recorded in the early literature, so the reasons for its extinction are unclear.

Old World warblers (Sylviidae)

Acrocephalus rodericanus — The Rodrigues warbler is endemic to Rodrigues, and although presently restricted in range, it once occurred all over the island (NEWTON 1865). Cranial and postcranial remains of this species have been collected from Caverne l'Affouche, Caverne Gastonia and Caverne Bambara on the Plaine Corail. There is no present evidence to suggest that Acrocephalus ever occurred on Mauritius or Réunion, but a related species occurs on the Seychelles.

White eyes (Zosteropidae)

The white-eyes are successful oceanic island colonists and inhabit numerous islands within the Western Indian Ocean (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND

2004); the Mascarenes were almost certainly colonised by *Zosterops* twice in their history (WARREN *et al.* 2006), but the genus has never been recorded on Rodrigues.

Zosterops chloronothos — The Mauritius olive white-eye is now rare on Mauritius, and confined to the Black River Gorges mountain range. I identified it from THIRIOUX' subfossil cave material collected around Le Pouce Mountain and Plaine des Roches in central Mauritius, which shows that it was once more widespread on the island.

Zosterops olivaceus — The Réunion olive white-eye is common and widespread, occurring in the highlands as well as the lowlands. No subfossil remains have yet been discovered.

Zosterops borbonicus — The Réunion grey white-eye is endemic to Réunion (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004), where it is widely distributed. Despite this, no subfossil remains have yet been found.

Zosterops mauritianus — The Mauritius grey white-eye is sometimes considered to be a subspecies of *Z. borbonicus*. It is extremely adaptable and it is the commonest surviving native bird. I identified post-cranial subfossil remains from THIRIOUX' cave deposits collected around Le Pouce Mountain and Plaine des Roches.

Starlings (Sturnidae)

The starlings are gregarious, medium to largesized birds that inhabit forests and open woodlands (CRAIG & FEARE 2009). Each Mascarene island once harboured an endemic species, two of which were described in early accounts, but only the Réunion species has been preserved as skins. MtDNA analysis has shown that a unique skin, supposedly representing another species of Rodrigues starling *Necropsar leguati* FORBES, 1898, is actually an albinistic trembler from the West Indies (OLSON *et al.* 2005). My re-examination of a sternum of a supposed babbler (Timaliidae), mentioned but not described by COWLES (1987: p. 99), is referable to *Necropsar rodericanus*.

Fregilupus varius — The Réunion crested starling or huppe was reported as common until the late 1840s (CHEKE & HUME 2008). However, it appeared to have disappeared extremely rapidly, probably as a result of habitat destruction and over-hunting (HUME unpubl. data), with the final records being made in the 1850s (CHEKE & HUME 2008). The huppe is characterised by a distinct crest, long, decurved bill and robust pelvic elements. There may have been pronounced sexual dimorphism, the males being larger, with a longer, more decurved bill. MtDNA analysis has shown that *Fregilupus* is distantly related to southeast Asian Sturnus starlings (ZUCCON et al. 2008). At least 20 skins have been preserved in various museums, but a distal femur fragment found in the Grotte des Premiers Française is the only subfossil so far discovered on Réunion (MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1999).

Mauritius Starling — I identified a number of cranial and post-cranial bones of a starling from THIRIOUX' material collected around Le Pouce Mountain and Plane des Roches. This new taxon differs markedly from the other Mascarene starling genera and warrants generic status (HUME in press). Most notable is the long, decurved bill with elongate, well-developed retroarticular processes. This suggests that it was a powerful gaper. The Mauritian starling was not mentioned in the literature, so the reasons for its disappearance are unknown.

Necropsar rodericanus — The Rodrigues starling is known from 19th century subfossil remains, and recently collected material from Caverne Poule Rouge, Caverne Bambara II,

TABLE 4. A total of 57 endemic Mascarene birds have been scientifically described, but another 21, all extinct and known only from the fossil record, await description. The passerines make up 28% of the total number of endemic birds, with at least another 6 undescribed, making them the least described Mascarene order of birds. Key: \dagger =extinct; E=extant; *=*Anas theodori*, *Circus maillardi* and *Fulica newtoni* occurred on both Mauritius and Réunion, but have been included here as part of the total of each island.

Totals	Described/ undescribed	Percent of unde- scribed species	Mauritius	Réunion	Rodrigues
Total number of Passerines/	16/6	37%	6E/4†	8(2†)/0	3(1†)/2
Total number of endemic birds	57/21	36%	28/8*	32/9*	13/6

HUME: A synopsis of the pre-human avifauna of the Mascarene Islands

Caverne Dora, Caverne Gastonia and Caverne Tortue on the Plaine Corail. It is also known from a unique account. In 1725–26, TAFFORET (HUME & WALTERS 2012) observed birds on the southern islets, where he described their ability to tear turtles (juvenile tortoises?) out of their shells. PINGRÉ in 1761 (NAGAPEN 2004) did not mention them, so it is likely that they had died out in the intervening years. The Rodrigues starling was slightly smaller than *Fregilupus*, with a straighter, more robust bill and more robust pelvic elements.

Stonechats (Muscicapidae)

Saxicola tectes — The Réunion Stonechat occurs only at higher elevations on Réunion, and is common along forest fringes and on heathland (SINCLAIR & LANGRAND 2004). Due to its montane habitat and the lack of high elevation fossil deposits, no subfossil remains of *S. tectes* have been discovered.

Weavers (Ploceidae)

The *Foudia* fodies are endemic to Indian Oceanic islands, including Madagascar, and the Mascarenes once harboured three endemic species, with Madagascan *Foudia madagascariensis* (LINNAEUS, 1766) also introduced to all three islands by humans. The Madagascan Fody was originally brought in as a cage bird, becoming established on Mauritius and Réunion in *c*. 1770, and sometime before 1916 on Rodrigues (CHEKE 1987; CHEKE & HUME 2008)

Foudia rubra — The Mauritius fody is now extremely rare and restricted in range, but is one of the few small passerines mentioned in the early literature (CHEKE 1987). I identified cranial and post-cranial subfossil remains from cave deposits collected around le Pouce and Plaine des Roches, indicating that it once had a wide range over Mauritius.

Foudia delloni — The Réunion fody was considered a serious pest when first known in the 1670s (DUBOIS 1674; DELLON 1685), but disappeared with extreme rapidity shortly after (HUME & WALTERS 2012). No subfossil remains are known.

Foudia flavicans — The Rodrigues fody had declined to less than 20 birds in the 1960s

and was confined to the central plateau (CHEKE & HUME 2008), but it is now increasing in numbers and naturally extending its range. I collected post-cranial and cranial subfossil remains from Caverne Gastonia and Caverne l'Affouche.

Passeriformes incertae sedis

Sharp-billed finch — Mauritius. Among the subfossil remains collected by THIRIOUX is a possibly associated premaxilla and rostrum mandibulae, which represent a new taxon. The bill is long and pointed, and intermediate in size between the undescribed Mauritius starling and *Hypsipetes*. Its generic affinities have not yet been determined.

Broad-billed finch — Mauritius. A fragmentary rostrum mandibulae and a series of post-cranial elements differ from all other Mauritian passerines. They appear to belong to a small species with a broad bill, similar to but larger than *Foudia rubra*, a species found in the same deposits.

Long-legged finch — Mauritius. A distinct tarsometatarsus, much longer and more gracile than any other Mascarene passerine, almost certainly belongs to a new taxon. The osteology suggests that it was a terrestrial species, but its relationships are at present unclear.

Intermediate finch. Rodrigues. A series of post-cranial elements belong to a passerine intermediate in size between the undescribed *Hypsipetes* bulbul and *Foudia flavicans*. Its affinities cannot yet be determined, but it almost certainly represents another now-extinct taxon from Rodrigues.

Discussion

Biogeography

The importance of sea level fluctuations and prevailing wind and sea currents in facilitating avian dispersal and colonisation events within the southwestern Indian Ocean is now being recognised. Indian subcontinental winter Monsoon winds, along with winds from the direction of Australia and Indonesia blow across the Indian Ocean towards the Madagascar region, a route also followed by ocean currents (CHEKE & HUME

2008; WARREN et al. 2010). Numerous sea level low stands of up to 50 m lower than present have been recorded in the last 5 Ma (MILLER et al. 2005), whereas in the last 650 Ka, some sea level low stands were up to 135 m lower than present, and persisted for up 50 Ka at a time (WARREN et al. 2010). These events would have greatly increased the land-surface area of the Maldives, Seychelles and Mascarenes, and created subaerial island archipelagos in the Chagos, the Saya de Malha, Nazareth and St.Brandon (Cargados Carajos) banks. This not only reduced distances between islands and continental land masses, but also the inter-island crossings; thus the avifauna could encompass vast stretches of ocean via island-hopping. This may explain why much of the Mascarene avifauna has its origins in Southeast Asia (WARREN et al. 2010), and not in Madagascar or Africa (AGNARSSON & KUNT-NER 2012), the nearest large landfalls. Although the origins of some Mascarene genera remain unresolved, mtDNA studies have shown that Psittacula (GROOMBRIDGE et al. 2004); Alectroenas (GIBBS & PENNY 2010; PEREIRA et al. 2007; SHAPIRO et al. 2002); Raphus and Pezophaps (PEREIRA et al. 2007; SHAPIRO et al. 2002); the Mascarene Zosterops (WARREN et al. 2006); Hypsipetes (WARREN et al. 2005) and Fregilupus (ZUCCON et al. 2008) all had their origins in Southeast Asia. Interestingly, the Madagascar endemic starling genus Hartlaubia is the closest to the Mascarenes biogeographically, but differs completely in morphology from the Mascarene sturnids. Furthermore, the Seychelles scops owl Otus insularis (TRISTRAM, 1880) is more closely related to Southeast Asian Otus than to those occurring in Africa (FUCHS et al. 2008).

While the origins of some genera remain unresolved, *e.g.*, *Aphanapteryx*, *Eurythromachus*, the founding populations of *Nesoenas*, *Alopochen*, *Threskiornis* and *Saxicola* almost certainly lie within Madagascar, whereas others, *e.g.*, *Foudia*, are Indian Ocean island endemics. *Threskiornis* and *Saxicola* are unknown on Mauritius and Rodrigues, which may have been due to the lack of suitable montane heathland habitat in the case of *Saxicola*, or competitive exclusion. Mauritius and Rodrigues already had a diverse range of terrestrial birds, especially rails, which may have prevented *Threskiornis* from becoming established. Furthermore, Réunion lacks the genera *Raphus*, *Pezophaps*, *Lophopsittacus* or *Necropsittacus* parrots, and *Aphanapteryx* or *Erythromachus* rails. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ *et al.* (1999) postulate that these genera may have once occurred on Réunion, but disappeared due to the Piton des Nieges volcanism that occurred between 300 to 188 Ka. Thus the avifauna of Réunion is of comparatively recent origin. Apart from the probably poorly volant or flightless Réunion rail *Dryolimnas augusti*, this may explain why none of the Réunion avifauna that survived into the historic period had evolved complete flightlessness, a characteristic so prevalent with birds on Mauritius and Rodrigues.

There are a number of other perplexing paradoxes. The passerine genera Zosterops, Coracina and Tersiphone appear to have colonised Mauritius and Réunion only, whereas Acrocephalus seems to be restricted to Rodrigues. There are also other southwestern Indian Ocean passerine genera, e.g., Copsychus, Nectarinia, which occur in the Seychelles and Madagascar that are not present on the Mascarenes. Is this a natural distribution, or is there a bias in the fossil record? The Hypsipetes bulbuls that occur in the Mascarenes occur only on Mauritius and Réunion today, but the discovery of a fossil Hypsipetes species on Rodrigues has shown that each island once had its own species. Likewise, starlings were thought to be restricted to Réunion and Rodrigues, but my recent discovery of a fossil sturnid has revealed that an endemic species also once occurred on Mauritius. Therefore, as the islands have suffered severe anthropogenic changes and the fossil record is far from complete (see Tables 3 and 4), any conclusions based on present avian biogeography must be viewed with caution.

Comparison of the island avifaunas

Documentation left by early vistors to the Mascarene Islands and the fossil record have provided a robust insight into the former avian diversity of the islands. However, this is based in part on how fully the palaeontological record represents the avifauna that was in existence at the time of deposition. Each Mascarene island differs topographically, and although the islands may have shared some genera, the processes of evolution unique to each island resulted in differing speciation events. It appears that once established, much of the Mascarene avifauna became sedentary, with little mobility between islands; the notable exceptions being Fulica, Anas, Psittacula and perhaps Nesoenas turtle doves that appeared to have migrated between Mauritius and Réunion (CHEKE & HUME 2008; MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. 1999). All of the species mentioned in accounts on Mauritius and Rodrigues have now been correlated to some degree with subfossil remains, whereas the recently discovered and undescribed fossil taxa discussed above were never recorded in life. This is certainly not the case with Réunion. The paucity of fossil remains on Réunion has compounded research problems, and left the affinities of a number of taxa unresolved (see Tables 2, 3 & 4). Cecilé MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ and her co-workers have done much to rectify this shortfall, yet Réunion remains the poorest island palaeontologically. That a cormorant, a Porphyrio rail, three parrots, a pigeon and a fody once occurred on Réunion is beyond doubt, yet they lack physical evidence of any kind. Even extant species such as the Réunion harrier, which is known from the fossil record on Mauritius and all extant passerines, are unknown in the Réunion palaeontological record. This may be the result of a fossil depositional bias, as Réunion has few caves, and only one fossiliferous swamp. MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ et al. (1999) have shown that the Marais de l'Ermitage was subject to hydrological sorting; hence the lack of small bird elements.

Centuries of occupation

The Mascarenes have been subject to severe anthropogenic changes for over four centuries, which unsurprisingly has led to high extinction rates. Human impact on the Mascarenes occurred in approximately five phases:

1. Arab period 1300–1500 — Records of Arab traders on the Mascarenes do not exist, but by inference it can be determined that they were aware of the islands from at least the 13th century (NORTH-COOMBES 1994a), or 14th century. As far as known, no attempt at settlement was made, but 14C dates obtained from a black rat *Rattus* aff. *rattus* mandible collected from the Mare aux

Songes, and from a rat-predated extinct terrestrial snail, Tropidophora carinata, both provide dates of 590±27 BP (interval in real years after calibration 1369–1413 AD) (HUME Unpbl. data). Arab traders had thus inadvertently introduced black rats nearly 200 years before the arrival of the Dutch. Mainland Mauritius once harboured a diverse range of endemic snakes and terrestrial reptiles, including the world's largest skink, but these were never mentioned in the historical literature. Early accounts from Mauritius are notorious for the lack of descriptive information about the smaller birds and reptiles (CHEKE & HUME 2008), so there is a strong possibility that they were simply not mentioned, especially if they were inedible or not worthy of eating. However, it is extremely likely and as the fossil record has shown (see passerines above), that components of the herpetological fauna and some passerines disappeared as a direct result of the early introduction of black rats.

2. Portuguese period 1510–1528 — The Portuguese first encountered Réunion in 1510, Mauritius in 1516, and Rodrigues in 1528 (NORTH-COOMBES 1994a), but appear to have landed only rarely. The Portuguese fleets were under strict state order not to disclose trading details (MOREE 1998), so very few records were made. North-Coombes recorded one landing on Réunion by a Portuguese ship in 1528, after which livestock (probably goats) were released to provide fresh meat on future visits.

3. Dutch period 1598–1710 — The Dutch claimed Mauritius for the Netherlands in 1598 and maintained an almost continuous colony until 1710 (MOREE 1998). The busiest shipping period took place from 1601 until 1612, after which the island was only sporadically visited. A fort was built in 1638, but the Dutch abandoned Mauritius in 1658, before re-establishing a colony in 1664. By 1710 the island was no longer considered to be worth maintaining, and was completely abandoned. The European population on Mauritius never numbered more than 50 at any one time, but escaped slaves settled in the interior (HUME 2006). Deforestation was confined to coastal and lowland regions, but the Dutch introduced many non-native species. It was during this period that all large and flightless birds, including the dodo, disappeared.

Two Dutch fleets visited Réunion and left reports, the first led by Adriaen BLOK in 1612, and another led by Willem BONTEKOE in 1619 (CHEKE & HUME 2008), but the Dutch never settled on the island. BONTEKOE in particular remarked on the abundance and inherent tameness of the fauna.

A fleet under Admiral Wolphert HARMENS-ZOON sailing in the flagship, *Gelderland*, landed on Rodrigues in 1601 and recorded brief details about the island and its fauna (MOREE 2001; HUME 2003), but it was not until the arrival of Francois LEGUAT in 1691 that detailed faunal descriptions were made (LEGUAT 1708). Rodrigues was still in a comparatively pristine state during this time, but LEGUAT noted the presence of large numbers of rats. After two years stay, LEGUAT left Rodrigues for Mauritius and and made a brief faunal report, in which he mentions that rails, ducks, geese and pigeons had become rare.

4. French period 1642-to present (Réunion); 1715-1810 (Mauritius); 1736-1809 (Rodrigiues) — The French claimed Réunion (Bourbon as it was called from 1649) for France in 1642, and a permanent French colony was established in 1665, numbering up to 200 by 1674 (CHEKE & HUME 2008). DUBOIS (1674) in particular gave a good account of the fauna during the early years of occupation. Réunion remained comparatively pristine at this time, and DUBOIS in 1671-72 noted the absence of rats. However, this situation was to change drastically. By 1676, rats had reached plague proportions (CHEKE & HUME 2008), and combined with over-hunting, by the 1730s all of the endemic non-passerines were extinct. The British took control of the island in 1810, but it was restored to France in 1815 (LEGUEN 1993). In the following decades, a combination of increasing population, especially after the emancipation of the slave population in 1848, deforestation and over-hunting resulted in the extinction of Fregilupus varius (HUME & WALTERS 2012).

In 1715, the French claimed Mauritius for France, renaming it 'Isle de France', and established a permanent colony. Over the next 85 years, hunting and large scale deforestation took place. This resulted in the extinction of almost all of the remaining non-passerines, including the endemic pigeons, *Nesoenas cicur* and *Columba thiriouxi*, and parrot, *Psittacula bensoni* (HUME 2007, 2011).

On Rodrigues in 1725-26, a Réunionese mariner, Julien TAFFORET, was sent to report on its suitability for French occupation (NORTH-COOMBES 1971). He left a detailed account about the fauna and flora; little had changed since the time of Leguat, but he noted that birds were avoiding the mainland, which was almost certainly due to the presence of rats. TAFFORET reported the abundance of giant tortoises Cylin*draspis* sp., which resulted in the establishment of a tortoise-collecting station (North-Coombes 1994b). Although deforestation was negligible at this time, the introduction of cats around 1745 proved catastrophic. Just 16 years later, during the visit in 1761 of Guy Abbé PINGRÉ, who was on Rodrigues to measure the Transit of Venus (NAGAPEN 2004), a number of bird extinctions had taken place. PINGRÉ noted that the night herons, pigeons, owls, starlings and probably the solitaire had vanished, and that both species of parrot were extremely scarce, Necropsittacus rodericanus particularly so. When Philibert MARRAGON settled on Rodrigues in the 1790s and wrote an account of the fauna (North-Coombes 1971), only the Rodrigues parakeet Psittacula exsul and two passerines survived.

5. British period 1810–1968 — The British forcibly took Mauritius and Réunion in 1810 after establishing a military presence on Rodrigues, but returned Réunion to France in 1815 (TOUSSAINT 1972; NORTH-COOMBES 1971; LEGUEN 1993). On Mauritius, deforestation accelerated to make way for sugar cane production, and the remaining areas of mountain forest were exploited (CHEKE & HUME 2008). The last Mauritius blue pigeon was taken in 1837 (HUME 2011), and the last Mauritian lizard-owl around the same time, but three non-passerines, the pink pigeon *Nesoenas mayeri*, echo parakeet *Psittacula echo*, and Mauritius kestrel *Falco punctatus* survived in mountain forest in the Black River Gorges.

On Rodrigues, slash and burn agricultural practices and high populations of free-range livestock for export to Mauritius combined to destroy or fragment the last remaining forests. In 1874, a second Transit of Venus expedition organised by the Royal Society arrived on Rodrigues, which included the botanist Isaac BALFOUR. BALFOUR (1879: p.302) recorded that 'The great and tall trees have now almost entirely disappeared, the eternally verdant canopy formed by their boughs no longer exists, and the "little Eden" is now a dry and comparatively barren spot, clothed with a vegetation mainly of social weeds, and destitute of any forest growth save in unfrequented and more inaccessible parts in the recesses of the valleys'. This was also the last time that the Rodrigues parakeet, the only surviving endemic, non-passerine bird, was observed.

This study has shown that the avifauna of the Mascarenes has been subject to extremely high extinction rates over a comparatively small period of time. The wealth of documentation that exists has provided some indication as to why and when these events took place. Without exception, the extinction of all bird species was due to human activity. Direct hunting was more prevalent on Réunion than Mauritius and Rodrigues, whereas habitat destruction, particularly in the lowlands, seriously impacted on all three islands. However, it was the introduction of exotic animals that appears to the primary cause. The principal introductions included: black rats (c. 1400 on Mauritius, c. 1676 on Réunion, c. 1675 on Rodrigues); goats (c. 1606 on Mauritius, probably earlier (1528?) on Réunion, c. 1730 on Rodrigues); monkeys (c. 1606 on Mauritius); pigs (c. 1606 on Mauritius, c. 1620s on Réunion, c. 1790 on Rodrigues); cattle (c. 1606 on Mauritius, c. 1645 on Réunion, c. 1840 on Rodrigues); deer (c. 1638 on Mauritius, c. 1760 on Réunion, 1860 on Rodrigues); cats (c. 1688 on Mauritius/ Réunion, c. 1745 on Rodrigues); and brown rats Rattus norvegicus (c. 1730 on Mauritius/Réunion, c. 1870 on Rodrigues) (see CHEKE & HUME 2008 for a comprehensive list). Of all the introductions to the Mascarenes, the black rat was by far the worst invasive. This ferocious predator was directly responsible for the extinction or reduction in ranges of the majority of smaller birds, predated the eggs and chicks of the larger terrestrial birds, and competed with all native avifauna for limited food resources.

The fossil record has provided evidence of higher rates of extinction than previously realised, and more species await description. Therefore, caution should be applied when interpreting biogeography within the region. This is particularly pertinent to the fossil record of the smaller avifauna, especially passerines, on which little work has been undertaken, and those species inhabiting the more vulnerable lowland areas.

Acknowledgements

I thank Robert PRYS-JONES (Natural History Museum, UK (NHMUK)), Dave BURNEY (National Tropical Botanical Gardens, Kauai (NTBG)), Jo COOPER (NHMUK), and Lorna STEEL (NHMUK) for suggestions which have greatly improved the manuscript. I thank Owen and Mary Ann GRIFFITHS (Mauritius Bioculture Ltd, François Leguat Ltd), Storrs OLSON (National Museum of Natural History (USNM)), Greg MID-DLETON, Richard PAYENDEE, Pieter FLOORE, Perry MOREE, and all Dutch colleagues who worked at the Mare aux Songes, Mauritius, Lida BURNEY (NTBG), Steve BOURNE, Aurèle ANQUETIL ANDRÉ (François Leguat Museum, Rodrigues (FLMR)), Arnaud MEUNIER (FLMR), Carl JONES (Durrell Wildlife Conservation Trust), Anthony CHEKE, Glyn YOUNG (Durrell Wildlife Conservation Trust), Pierre BRIAL, Jean MICHEL-PROBST, Dave MARTILL (University of Portsmouth), and all staff, past and present, of the Mauritius Wildlife Foundation (MWF) for support and assistance over the years. I thank Carl JONES, Nick ARNOLD (NHMUK) and Jeremy AUSTIN (University of Adelaide) for making available to me Rodrigues subfossil remains collected in 1997. I thank Mike BROOKE (University Museum of Zoology, Cambridge (UMZC)), Matt Lowe (UMZC), Sandra CHAPMAN (NHMUK), Paul Sweet (American Museum of Natural History (AMNH)), Ronan ALLAIN (Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle (MNHN)), Claire SAGNE (MNHN), Jean-François VOISIN (MNHN), René DEKKER (Naturalis-Nationaal Natuurhistorisch Museum (RMNH)), Sonia RIBES (Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle de La Réunion (MHNRUN)) and Andrew KITCH-ENER (National Museums of Scotland (NMSZ)) for providing me access to museum material in their care. I thank the NHMUK Special Fund for funding my trip to SAPE, Vienna. The National Geographic Research Grant, Percy Sladen Centenary Fund, Dodo Research Foundation, FRA Synthesys, Mauritius Bioculture Ltd, François Leguat Ltd, Gen Foundation, and Frank Chapman Fund supported my field and museum work, which made this research possible. I thank the referees Jo COOPER (NHMUK) and Dave BURNEY (NTBG) for helpful comments on the manuscript.

I especially thank Cecilé MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ (Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1 (UCBL)), who has been an inspiration to me over the years, and helped encourage my interest in Mascarene palaeontology.

References

- AGNARSSON, I. & KUNTNER, M. (2012): The generation of a biodiversity hotspot: biogeography and phylogeography of the Western Indian Ocean Islands. – In: ANAMTHAWAT-JONSSON, K. (ed): Current topics in phylogenetics and phylogeography of terrestrial and aquatic systems. – pp. 33–82. Rijeka (In Tech Publishers).
- AUSTIN, J.J. & ARNOLD, E.N. (2001): Ancient mitochondrial DNA and morphology elucidate an extinct island radiation of Indian Ocean giant tortoises (*Cylindraspis*). – *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B*, **268**: 2515–2523.
- BALFOUR, I.B. (1879): The physical features of Rodriguez/ Botany. – *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, **168**: 289–292.
- BANGS, O. (1918): Vertebrata from Madagascar. Aves. – Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University, 61: 489–511.
- BARNWELL, P.J. (1948): Visits and Despatches 1598– 1948. – 306 pp. Port Louis, Mauritius (Standard Printing Establishment).
- BARRÉ, N. BARAU, A. & JOUANIN, C. (1996): Oiseaux de la Réunion. 208 pp. Paris (Les Éditions de Pacifique).
- BERNARDIN, P. (1687): Mémoire du R.P.Bernardin sur l'île de Bourbon (1687). – In: LOUGNON, A. (ed): Receuil trimestriel de documents et travaux inédits pour servir à l'histoire des Mascareignes françaises, 4: 57–70 (1939).
- BERTUCHI, A.J. (1923): The island of Rodrigues. 117 pp. London (John Murray).
- BODDAERT, P. (1783): Table des Planches enluminéez d'histoire naturelle de M. d'Aubenton. -xv+58 pp. Utrecht.
- BONAPARTE, C.L. (1857): Conspectus generum avium. 232 pp. Lugduni Batavorum (E.J.Brill).
- BONTEKOE, H.V. (1650): Journal ofte Gedenkwaerdige beschrij-vinge van de Ost-Indische Reyse van Willem ljs-brantsz. Bonte-Koe van Hoorn. Begrijpende veel wonderlijcke ende gevaerlijcke saecken hem daer in wedervaren. Begonnen den 18. December 1618. En voleynd den 16 November 1625. – 139 pp. Amsterdam, (Hartgers).

- BOUCHER, A. (1710): Mémoire d'Antoine Boucher sur I'lle Bourbon en 1710. – In: LOUGNON, A. (ed): Receuil trimestriel de documents et travaux inédits pour servir à l'histoire des Mascareignes françaises, 5: 279–355 (1941).
- BOUR, R. (1984): Données sur la répartition géographique des tortues terrestres et d'eau douce aux îles Maurice et Rodrigues. – *Mauritius Institute Bulletin*, 10/1: 75–102.
- BOURNE, W.R.P. (1968): The birds of Rodriguez, Indian Ocean. *Ibis*, **110**/3: 338–344.
- BOURNE, W.R.P. (1976): On subfossil bones of Abbott's Booby *Sula abbotti* from the Mascarene Islands, with a note on the proportions and distribution of the Sulidae. – *Ibis*, **118**: 119–23.
- BRISSON, M. J. (1760): Ornithologia Ornithologie, six volumes. – 526; 516; 734; 576; 544; 543 pp. Paris (Joannus-Baptist Bauche).
- BROWN, R.M. & JORDAN, W.C. (2009): Characterization of polymorphic microsatellite loci from Round Island Petrels (*Pterodroma arminjoniana*) and their utility in other seabird species. – *Journal* of Ornithology, **150**: 925–929.
- BURLEIGH, R. & ARNOLD, E.N. (1986): Age and dietary differences of recently extinct Indian Ocean tortoises (*Geochelone* s. lat.) revealed by carbon isotope analysis. – *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B*, 227: 137–144.
- CADE, T.J. (2008): Mauritius Kestrels reappraised. Peregrine Fund Newsletter, **39**: 10–11.
- CARIÉ, P. (1930): Le Leguatia gigantea Schlegel (Rallidae) a-t-il existe? – Bulletin du Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris, 2/2: 204–13.
- CHEKE, A. (1987): An ecological history of the Mascarene Islands, with special reference to extinctions and introductions of land vertebrates. – In: DIAMOND, A.W. (ed): Studies of Mascarene Island birds. – pp. 5–89, Cambridge (Cambridge University Press).
- CHEKE, A.S. (2001): Booby *Sula* colonies in the Mascarene area (Indian Ocean): extinctions, myths, and colour morphs. – *Bulletin of the British Ornithologists* '*Club*, **121**/1: 71–80.
- CHEKE, A. & HUME, J.P. (2008): Lost land of the Dodo: the ecological history of the Mascarene Islands. – 540 pp. London (A. & C. Black publishers (Poyser imprint)).
- CLARK, G. (1859): A ramble round Mauritius with some excursions in the interior of that island; to which is added a familiar description of its fauna and some subjects of its flora. – In: PALMER, T.E. & BRADSHAW, G. (eds): The Mauritius register: historical, official & commercial, corrected to the 30th June 1859. – cxxxii pp. Port Louis, Mauritius (L. Channell).
- CLARK, G. (1866): Account of the late discovery of Dodos' remains in the island of Mauritius. *Ibis*,

New Series 2, 6: 141–6

- Cossigny, J. F. (1732–1755): Trieze letters de Cossigny á Reaumer [Lougnon (1939–40) 1933–1949]. – Recueil trimestriel de documents et travaux inédits pour servir á l'histoire des Mascareignes françaises, 4: 168–96, 205–82, 305–16.
- Cowles, G. (1987): The fossil record. In: DIAMOND, A.W. (ed): Studies of Mascarene Island birds. – pp. 90–100, Cambridge (Cambridge University Press).
- Cowles, G. (1994): A new genus, three new species and two new records of extinct Holocene birds from Réunion Island, Indian Ocean. – *Geobios*, 27/1: 87–93.
- CRAIG, A.J.F.K. & FEARE, C.J. (2009): Family Sturnidae (starlings). – In: DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOT, A., & CHRISTIE, D. A. (eds): Handbook of the birds of the world, volume 14. Bush-shrikes to Old World sparrows. – pp. 654–758. Barcelona (Lynx edicions).
- DAUDIN, F.M. (1802): Histoire naturelle par Buffon dédiée au citoyen Lacépède, volume 14. – 432 pp. Paris (F. Dufart).
- DELLON, G. (1685): Relation d'un voyage des Indes orientales. 284 pp. Paris (Claude Barbin).
- DESJARDINS, J. (1837): Huitiéme Rapport. Annual de la Travaux Société d'Histoire Naturelle de l'Ile Maurice, 8: 1–43.
- DICKINSON, E.C (ed). (2003). *The Howard and Moore complete checklist of the birds of the world*, third edition. – 1039 pp. London (Christopher Helm).
- DUBOIS, (SIEUR) (1674): Les voyages faits par le sieur
 D.B. aux isles Dauphine ou Madagascar et Bourbon ou Mascarenne es annees 1669, 70, 71, et 72. 234 pp. Paris (Claude Barbin).
- DUMÉRIL, A.M.C. & BIBRON, G. (1835): Erpétologie Générale ou Histoire Naturelle des Reptiles. Second edition. – 680 pp. Paris (Roret).
- DUNCAN, R.A. & HARGRAVES, R.B. (1990): ⁴⁰Ar-³⁹Ar geochronology of basement rocks from the Mascarene Plateau, Chagos Bank and the Maldive Ridge. – In: DUNCAN, R.A., BACKMANN, J., PETER-SON, L.C et al. (eds): Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results, 115/4: 43–51.
- FEUILLEY, (SIEUR) (1705): Mission á I'lle Bourbon du Sieur Feuilley en 1704. – In: LOUGNON, A (ed): Receuil trimestriel de documents et travaux inédits pour servir à l'histoire des Mascareignes françaises, 4: 3–56, 101–67 (1939).
- FLORENS, F.B.V. (2002): Osteological finds on Trois Mamelles mountain extends the known ecological range of the extinct endemic Mauritian tortoise *Cylindraspis* sp. – *Phelsuma*, **10**: 56–58.
- FORBES, H.O. (1898): On an apparently new, and supposed to be extinct, species of bird from the Mascarene Islands, provisionally referred to the genus *Necropsar. – Bulletin of the Liverpool Museum*, 1: 29–35.
- FORSHAW, J.M. (1989): Parrots of the World, third edi-

tion. - 672 pp. Australia (Lansdowne Editions).

- FORSTER, J.R. (1781): Indische Zoologie oder systematische Beschreibungen seltener und unbekannter Thiere aus Indien, mit 15 illuminirten Kupfertafeln erläutert. – xvplates+42 pp. Halle/Halae (Gebauer).
- FUCHS, J., PONS, J.-M., GOODMAN, S.M., BRETAGNOLLE, V., MELO, M., BOWIE, R.C.K., CURRIE, D., SAF-FORD, R., VIRANI, M. Z., THOMSETT, S., HIJA, A., CRUAUD, C. & PASQUEST, E. (2008): Tracing the colonization history of the Indian Ocean scops-owls (Strigiformes: *Otus*) with further insight into the spatio-temporal origin of the Malagasy avifauna. – *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 8/197: 1–15.
- GIGLIOLI, H.H. & SALVADORI, T. (1869): On some new Procellariidae collected during a voyage round the world in 1865–68 by H.I.M.'S.'Magenta.' – *Ibis*, **5NS**: 61–68.
- GIORGI, L. & BORCHELLINI, S. (1998): Carte géologique de l'île Rodrigues au 1:25000. Le schema hydrogeologique. La notice explicative. – maps+28 pp. Paris (Ministére Délégué à la Cooperation et de la Francophonie & Géolab).
- GMELIN, J.F. (1788): Caroli a Linné, Systema Naturae 1/2: 1–500 pp. Lipsiae (Georg Emanuel Beer).
- GMELIN, J.F. (1789): Caroli a Linné, Systema Naturae 1/2: 501–1032 pp. Lipsiae (Georg Emanuel Beer).
- GRAY, G.R. (1845): The genera of birds comprising their generic characters, a notice of the habits of each genus, and an extensive list of species referred to their several genera – 3, part 9, Pelecaninae. – p. 669. London (Longman, Brown, Green and Longmans).
- GROOMBRIDGE, J.J., JONES, C.G., NICHOLS, R.A., CARL-TON, M. & BRUFORD, M.W. (2004): Molecular phylogeny and morphological change in the *Psittacula* parakeets. – *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, **31**: 96–108.
- GÜNTHER, A. (1879): On the occurrence of a land-rail (*Rallus*) in the island of Aldabra. *Annals and Magazine of Natural History*, **5**/3: 164–168.
- GÜNTHER, A. & NEWTON, E. (1879): The extinct birds of Rodrigues. – *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, **168**: 423–37.
- HALL, R. (1996): Empires of the Monsoon. xxiii+575 pp. London (HarperCollins).
- HACHISUKA, M. (1953): The dodo and kindred birds, or the extinct birds of the Mascarene Islands. – xvi+250 pp. London (H. F. & G. Witherby).
- HAHN. C.W. 1834 (1834–41). Ornitologische Atlas oder naturgetreue Abbildung und Beschreibung der aussereuropäischen Vögel. – 100 pp. Erste Abteilung: Papagaien. Nurnberg (C.H.Zeh'sche Buchhandlung).
- HARTERT, E. (1914): Description of two new herons-Egretta dimorpha and Nycticorax cyanocephalus falklandicus. – Bulletin of the British Ornitholo-

gists' Club, 35: 14-15.

- HARTLAUB, G. (1860): Systematische Uebersicht der Vögel Madagascars. – Journal für Ornithologie, 8/45: 161–180.
- HARTLAUB, G. (1865): Monographische Studien über die Gruppe der Campephaginen. – Journal für Ornithologie, 13/75: 153–173.
- HET TVVEEDE BOECK. (1601): Journal oft Dagh-register / inhoudende een warachtig verhael ende historische vertellinghe van de Reyse / gedaen door de acht schepen van Amstelredame / gheseylt in den Maert Martij 1598 onder 't beleydt van den Admirael Jacob Cornelisz. Neck ende Wybrandt van Warwijck als vice admirael –van hare zeylagie ende gedenwaerdighe zaken ende geschiedenissen haer op de voortz-reys bejeghent. – 73 pp. Amsterdam (Cornelis Claesz).
- HOLYOAK, D. (1971): Comments on the extinct parrot Lophopsittacus mauritianus. – Ardea, **59**: 50–1.
- HOLYOAK, D. (1973): An undescribed parrot from Mauritius. *Ibis*, **115**: 417–18.
- HORSFIELD, T. (1821): Systematic arrangement and description of birds from the Island of Java. – *Transactions of the Linnean Society of London*, 13: 133–200.
- HUME, J.P. (2003): The journal of the flagship Gelderland – dodo and other birds on Mauritius 1601. *Archives of Natural History*, **30**/1: 13–27.
- HUME, J.P. (2005): Contrasting taphofacies in ocean island settings: the fossil record of Mascarene vertebrates. In: ALCOVER, J.A. & BOVER, P. (eds): Proceedings of the International Symposium "Insular Vertebrate Evolution: the Palaeontological Approach". Monografies de la Societat d'Història Natural de les Balears, 12: 129–144.
- HUME, J.P. (2006): The history of the dodo *Raphus cucullatus* and the penguin of Mauritius. *Historical Biology*, **2**: 65–89.
- HUME, J.P. (2007): Reappraisal of the parrots (Aves: Psittacidae) from the Mascarene Islands, with comments on their ecology, morphology and affinities. *Zootaxa*, **1513**: 1–76.
- HUME, J.P. (2011): Systematics, morphology, and ecology of pigeons and doves (Aves: Columbidae) of the Mascarene Islands, with three new species. – *Zootaxa*, **3124**: 1–62.
- HUME, J.P & CHEKE, A.S. (2004): The White Dodo of Réunion Island: unravelling a scientific and historical myth. – *Archives of Natural History*, **31**: 57–79.
- HUME, J.P & STEEL, L. (2013): Fight Club: a unique weapon in the wing of the solitaire, *Pezophaps* solitaria (Aves: Columbidae), an extinct flightless bird from Rodrigues, Mascarene Islands. – *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **110**: 32–44.
- HUME, J.P. & WALTERS, M. (2012): Extinct Birds. 544 pp. London (Bloomsbury Publishing Plc (T & AD

Poyser imprint)).

- HUME, J.P., CHEKE, A.S. & MCORAN-CAMPBELL. A. (2009): How Owen 'stole' the Dodo: academic rivalry and disputed rights to a newly-discovered subfossil deposit in nineteenth century Mauritius. – *Historical Biology*, 21/1–2: 1–18.
- HUME, J.P., DATTA, A. & MARTILL, D.M. (2006): Unpublished drawings of the Dodo *Raphus cucullatus* and a note on Dodo skin relics. – *Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club*, 126A: 49–54.
- HUME, J.P. MARTILL, D.M. & DEWDNEY, C (2004): Dutch diaries and the demise of the Dodo. *–Nature*, **429**: 622.
- JAMESON, R (1835): New species of ibis and Tanagra. – Edinburgh New Philosophical Journal, 19: 212–214.
- JANOO, A. (2005): Discovery of isolated dodo bones [*Raphus cucullatus* (L.), Aves, Columbiformes] from Mauritius cave shelters highlights human predation, with a comment on the status of the family Raphidae Wetmore, 1930. – *Annales de Paléontologie*, **91**: 167–180.
- JARDINE, W. & SELBY, P.J. (1837): Illustrations of Ornithology. – 1: plate 2+text. Edinburgh (Longman, Rees, Orme, Brown & Green).
- JONES, C. (1987): The larger land-birds of Mauritius. In: DIAMOND, A.W (ed): Studies of Mascarene Island birds. – pp. 208–300, Cambridge (Cambridge University Press).
- JOSEPH, L., TOON, A., SCHIRTZINGER, E.E., WRIGHT, T.F. & SCHODDE, R. (2012): A revised nomenclature and classification for family-group taxa of parrots (Psittaciformes). – *Zootaxa*, **3205**: 26–40
- JOUANIN, C. (1964): Notes sur l'avifaune de la Réunion. L'Oiseaux et la Revue Française d'Ornithologie, 34: 83–84.
- JOUANIN, C. & GILL, F.B. (1967): Recherche du Pétrel de Barau, Pterodroma baraui. – L'Oiseaux et la Revue Française d'Ornithologie, 37: 1–19.
- KERVAZO, B. (1979): Fouilles de la grotte dite des "Premiers Français." – *Info-Nature*, 17: 47–52.
- KUNDU, S., JONES, C.G., PRYS-JONES, R.P. & GROOM-BRIDGE, J.J. (2012): The evolution of the Indian Ocean parrots (Psittaciformes): extinction, adaptive radiation and eustacy. – *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 62: 296–305.
- LATHAM, J. (1790): Index Ornithologicus, Sive Systema Ornithologiae: Complectens Avium Divisionem In Classes, Ordines, Genera, Species, Ipsarumque Varietates: Adjectis Synonymis, Locis, Dexdriptionibus, &c. – 920 pp. London (Leigh and Sotheby).
- LE CORRE, M. & SAFFORD, R.J. (2001): La Réunion and Iles Eparses. – In: FISHPOOL, L.D.C. & EVANS, M.I. (eds): Important Bird Areas of Africa and associated islands: Priority sites for conservation. – pp. 693–702, Newbury and Cambridge, UK (Pisces)

Publications and BirdLife International (BirdLife Conservation Series No.11)).

- LEGUAT, F. (1708): Voyage et aventures de Francois Leguat et des ses compagnons en deux isles desertes des Indes Orientales. – 180 pp. London (David Mortier, Marchand Làbraire).
- LEGUEN, M. (1993): Histoire de l'ile de la Réunion, 2nd edition. 263 pp. Paris (Editions L'Harmattan).
- LESSON, R.P. (1831): Traité d'Ornithologie, ou tableau méthodique des ordres, sous-ordres, familles, tribus, genres, sous-genres et races d'oiseaux: ouvrage entièrement neuf, formant le catalogue le plus complet des espèces réunies dans les collections publiques de la France. – 659 pp. Paris (F. G. Levrault).
- LESSON, R.P. (1839 [1840]): Description de treize oiseaux nouveaux, suivies de rectifications sur quelques espèces déjà publiées. – *Revue Zoologique par la Société Cuvierienne*, **2**/3: 100–104.
- LINNAEUS, C. V. (1758): Systema naturæ per regna tria naturæ, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Tenth edition. – 823 pp. Holmiae (Laurentius Salvius).
- LINNAEUS, C. v. (1766): Systema Naturae per regna tria naturæ, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Twelfe edition. –532 pp. Holmiæ (Salvius).
- LINNAEUS, C. v. (1771): Mantissa Plantarum. 588 pp. Weinheim (J. Cramer).
- LIVEZEY, B.C. (1993): An ecomorphological review of the dodo (*Raphus cucullatus*) and solitaire (*Pezophaps solitaria*), flightless Columbiformes of the Mascarene Islands. – *Journal of Zoology, London*, 240: 247–292.
- LIVEZEY, B.C. (1998): A phylogenetic analysis of the Gruiformes (Aves) based on morphological characters, with an emphasis on the rails (Rallidae). – *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London* B, **353**: 2077–2151.
- LIVEZEY, B.C. (2003): Evolution of flightlessness in rails (Gruiformes: Rallidae): phylogenetic, ecomorphological, and ontogenetic perspectives. – *Ornithological Monographs*, **53**: 1–654.
- LONGMAN, E.L.P. (2007): Resource Atlas for Mauritius & Rodrigues. – 49 pp. Mauritius (Éditions le Printemps Ltd).
- MAUDUYT, P.J.E. (1784): Histoire naturelle des oiseaux. – In: DAUBENTON, L-J. M. (ed.): Encyclopédie Méthodique, volume 1. – pp. 321–91. Paris & Liége (Panckoucke & Plomteux).
- MAURITIUS METEOROLOGICAL SERVICES. http://metservice.intnet.mu/ downloaded 12.09.2012.
- McDougall, I. (1971): The geochronology and evolution of the young oceanic island of Réunion, Indian Ocean. – *Geochimica Cosmochimica Acta*, 35: 261–270.

- McDougall, I., UPTON, B.G.I. & WADSWORTH, W.J. (1965): A geological reconnaissance of Rodrigues Island. *Nature*, **206**: 26–27.
- MEIJER, H.J.M. ,GILL, G. LOUW, P.G.B.D., HOEK OSTENDE, L.W.V.D., HUME, J.P. & RIJSDIJK, K.F. (2012): Dodo remains from an in situ context from Mare aux Songes, Mauritius. – *Naturwissenschaften*, 99/3: 177–84.
- MIDDLETON G.J. & HUME, J.P. (In press): The unexpected discovery of a Dodo *Raphus cucullatus* Linn. (Aves, Columbiformes) in a highland Mauritian lava cave. – *Helictite*, **41** (13th International Symposium on Vulcanospeleology (South Korea).
- MILLER, K.G., KOMINZ, M.A., BROWNING, J.V., WRIGHT, J.D., MOUNTAIN, G.S., KATZ, M.E., SUGARMAN, P.J., CRAMER, B.S., CHRISTIE-BLICK, N. & PEKAR, S.F. (2005): The Phanerozoic record of global sea-level change. – *Science*, **310**: 1293–1298.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1867a): Mémoire sur un psittacien fossile de l'Ile Rodrigues. – Annales des Sciences Naturelles – Zoologie et Paléontologie, 5/ 8: 145–156.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1867b): Mémoire sur une espéce éteinte du genre Fulica. – Annales des Sciences Naturelles – Zoologie et Paléontologie, 5/ 8: 195–220.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1868): Observations sur les affinities zoologiques de l'Aphanapteryx espèce qui vivait encore a l'Ile Maurice au XVII^e Siècle. – Annales des Sciences Naturelles – Zoologie et Paléontologie, 5/ 8: 190–220.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1874 (1873)): Recherches sur la faune ancienne des Iles Mascareignes. – Annales des Sciences Naturelles – Zoologie et Paléontologie, 5/19: 1–31.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. & OUSTALET, E. (1893): Notice sur quelques espéces d'oiseaux actuellement éteintes qui se trouvent représentées dans les collections du Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle. – pp. 190–252. Centenaire de la fondation du Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle. Paris (Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle).
- MONTAGGIONI, L. (1973): Histoire géologique de l'ile Rodrigue. – *Info-Nature*, *Ile Réunion*, **9**: 52–59.
- MOREE, P. (1998): A concise history of Dutch Mauritius, 1598–1710. – 127 pp. London, New York (Kegan Paul International).
- MOREE, P. (2001): Dodo's en galjoenen De reis van het schip Gelderland naar Oost-Indie, 1601–1603. – 348 pp. Walburg Pers (De Linschoten-Vereeniging).
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C. & MOUTOU, F. (1987): D'une forme récemment éteinte d'ibis endémique insulaire de la Réunion: Borbonibis latipes n.gen. n.sp. – Comptes Rendus de l'Academie des Sciences de Paris, 2/305: 419–423.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., & RIBES, S. (1995a): Was the Solitaire of Réunion an ibis? – *Nature*, **6515**: 373–568.

- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., & RIBES, S. (1995b): Position systématique de Solitaire de la Réunion: nouvelle interprétation basée sur les restes fossiles et les récits des anciens voyageurs. – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, 320/ IIa: 1125–1131.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., MOUTOU, F. & RIBES, S. (1994): Mascarenotus nov. gen. (Aves, Strigiformes), genre endémique éteint des Mascareignes et M. grucheti n. sp., espèce éteint de La Réunion. – Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, 2/318: 1699–1706.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., RIBES, S. & MOUTOU, F. (1999): The Avifauna of Réunion Island (Mascarene Islands) at the time of the arrival of the first Europeans. – In: OLSON, S. (ed): Avian Paleontology at the Close of the 20th Century: Proceedings of the 4th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution, Washington, D.C., 4–7 June 1996. – *Smithsonian contributions to paleobiology*, **89**: 1–38.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., & RIBES, S. (2004): The taxonomic identity of *Circus alphonsi* (Newton & Gadow 1893), the extinct harrier from Mauritius. – *Ibis*, **146**: 168–172.
- MOURER-CHAUVIRÉ, C., BOUR, R., & RIBES, S. (2006): Recent avian extinctions on Réunion (Mascarene Islands) from paleontological and historical sources. – Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club, 126A: 40–48.
- MÜLLER, S. (1842): Land en Volkenkunde. In: TEMMINCK, C.J. (ed.): Verhandlingen over de Natuurlijke Geschiedenis der Nederlandsche overzeesche bezittingen, door de leden der natuurkundige commissie in Ost-Indië en Andere Schrijvers. Zoologie. – 472 pp. Leiden (Luchtmans & van der Hoek).
- NAGAPEN, A. (2004): Le Transit de Venus. L'astronomie Pingré à Rodrigues. Les Britanniques dans l'Océan Indien. – 250 pp. Port Louis (Government Printer).
- NEWTON, A. (1861): Description of a new species of water-hen (Gallinula) from the Island of Mauritius. – Proceedings of the Scientific Meetings of the Zoological Society of London, 1: 18–19.
- NEWTON, A. (1865): On two new birds from the island of Rodriguez. – *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London*, (1865): 46–48.
- NEWTON, A. (1869): On a picture supposed to represent the Didine Bird of the Island of Bourbon (Réunion). – *Transactions of the Zoological Society of London* **6**: 373–376.
- NEWTON, A. (1872): On an undescribed bird from the Island of Rodrigues. *Ibis*, **2**/3: 31–34.
- NEWTON, A. (1875): A note on *Palaeornis exsul. Ibis*, **3**/5: 343–344.
- NEWTON, A & NEWTON, E. (1876): On the Psittaci of the Mascarene Islands. – *Ibis*, **3**/6: 281–289.

- NEWTON, E. (1861): Ornithological notes from Mauritius. No.1. A visit to Round Island. – *Ibis*, **3**: 180–182.
- NEWTON, E. (1867): Descriptions of some new species of birds from the Seychelles Islands. –*Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London* (1867): 344–347.
- NEWTON, E. & GADOW, H. (1893): On additional birds of the Dodo and other extinct birds of Mauritius obtained by Mr. Théodore Sauzier. – *Transactions* of the Zoological Society of London, **13**: 281–302.
- NICHOLLS, H. (2006): Digging for dodos. *Nature*, **443**: 138–140.
- NORTH-COOMBES, A. (1971): The Island of Rodrigues. 338 pp. Port Louis, Mauritius (The Standard Printing Establishment (Henry & Co.)).
- NORTH-COOMBES, A. (1980): Le decourverte des Mascareignes par les Arabes et les Portugais. Retrospective et mise au point. – 105 pp. Port Louis, Mauritius (Service Bureau).
- NORTH-COOMBES, A. (1983): Francois Leguat, Le Geant and the flamingo in the Mascarene Islands. – *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Arts and Sciences*, *Mauritius*, 4/3: 1–30.
- NORTH-COOMBES, A. (1994a): La Découverte des Mascareignes. – xiii+185 pp. Mauritius (Mauritius printing specialists Ltd).
- NORTH-COOMBES, A. (1994b). Histoire des Tortues de Terre de Rodrigues, second edition. – 100 pp. Mauritius (Mauritius Printing Specialists (Pte) Ltd).
- OLSON, S. (1975): An evaluation of the supposed Anhinga of Mauritius. – *The Auk*, **92**: 374–6.
- OLSON, S. (1977): A synopsis of the fossil Rallidae. pp. 339–79. In: RIPLEY, S.D. (ed.): Rails of the world. A monograph of the family Rallidae. – 406 pp. Boston, Massachusetts (David R. Godine).
- OLSON, S.L., FLEISCHER, R.C., FISHER, C.T. & BER-MINGHAM, E. (2005): Expunging the 'Mascarene starling' Necropsar leguati: archives, morphology and molecules topple a myth. – *Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club*, **125**/1: 31–42.
- OUSTALET, E. (1897): Notice sur la fauna ornithologique ancienne et moderne des Iles Mascareignes et en particulier de l'lle Maurice. – *Annales des Sciences Naturelles: Zoologie*, **8**/3: 1–128.
- OWEN, R. (1866a): Memoir on the Dodo (*Didus ineptus*, Linn.). – 55 pp. London (Taylor and Francis).
- OWEN R. (1866b): Evidence of a species, perhaps extinct, of a large parrot (*Psittacus mauritianus*), Owen), contemporary with the dodo in the island of Mauritius. – *Ibis*, **2**/2:168–71.
- PEREIRA, S.L., JOHNSON, K.P., CLAYTON, D.H. & BAKER, A.J. (2007): Mitochondrial and nuclear DNA sequences support a Cretaceous origin of Columbiformes and a dispersal-driven radiation in the Paleogene. – *Systematic Biology*, 56/4: 656–672.

- PINET, P., SALAMOLARD, M., PROBST, J.-M., RUSSELL, J.C., JAQUEMET, S. & LE CORRE, M. (2009): Barau's Petrel *Pterodroma baraui*: History, biology and conservation of an endangered endemic petrel. – *Marine Ornithology*, **37**/2: 107–113.
- POLLEN, F.P.L. (1866): On the genus *Oxynotus* of Mauritius and Réunion. *Ibis*, **2**: 275–280.
- PRÉVOST F. & KNIP, P.D.C. (1843): Les Pigeons, volume 2. 116 pp. Paris (Bellizard, Dufour et Cie).
- PRATT, H.D., RETTER, M.L.P., CHAPMAN, D., ORD, W.M. & PISANO, P. (2009): An Abbott's Booby *Papasula abbotti* on Rota, Mariana Islands: first historical record for the Pacific Ocean. – *Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club*, 29/2: 87–91.
- PROAG, V. (1995): The Geology and Water Resources of Mauritius. – xiv+939 pp. Moka (Geography of Mauritius Series, Mahatma Gandhi Institute Press).
- PROBST, J.-M. (1997): Animaux de la Réunion. Guide des oiseaux, mammiferes, reptiles et amphibiens. – 167 pp. Sainte-Marie, Réunion (Azalées Éditions).
- PUCHERAN, M.L.D. (1845): Notes sur quelques espèces Madécasses de l'ordre des Échassiers. – *Revue* Zoologique par La Société Cuvierienne, (1845): 277–280.
- RIDGWAY, R. (1893): Descriptions of some new birds collected on the islands of Aldabra and Assumption, northwest of Madagascar, by Dr. W. L. Abbott. *Proceedings of the United States National Museum* 16: 597–600.
- RIDGWAY, R. (1894): Note on *Rougetius aldabranus. The Auk*, **11**: 74.
- RIJSDIJK, K.F., HUME, J.P., BUNNIK, F.D., FLORENS, V., BAIDER, C., SHAPIRO, B., PLICHT, J.V.D., JANOO, A., GRIFFITHS, O., HOEK OSTENDE, L.W.V.D., CREMER, H. & VERNIMMEN. T. (2009): Mid-Holocene vertebrate bone concentration-lagerstätte on oceanic island Mauritius provides a window into the ecosystem of the Dodo (*Raphus cucullatus*). – *Quaternary Science Revues*, 28: 14–24.
- RIJSDIJK, K.F., ZINKE., J., LOUW, P.G.B.D., HUME, J.P., PLICHT, J.V.D., HOOGHIEMSTRA, H., MEIJER, H.J.M., VONHOF, H.B., PORCH, N., FLORENS, F.B.V., BAIDER, C., GEEL, B.V., BRINKKEMPER, J., VERNIMMEN, T. & JANOO, A. (2011): Mid-Holocene (4200 kyr BP) mass mortalities in Mauritius (Mascarenes): Insular vertebrates resilient to climatic extremes but vulnerable to human impact. – *The Holocene*, 21/8: 1179–1194.
- RIPLEY, S.D. (1969): Comment on the Little Green heron of the Chagos Archipelago. *Ibis*, **111**: 101–102.
- ROTHSCHILD, W. (1907a). Extinct birds. xxix+244 pp. London (Hutchinson).
- ROTHSCHILD, W. (1907b). On extinct and vanishing birds. – Ornis 14 (Proceedings of the 4th International Ornithological Congress, London): 191–217.

- SADDUL, P. (2002): Mauritius. A geomorphological analysis, revised edition. – 354 pp. Moka (Mahatma Gandhi Institute, Geography of Mauritius series).
- SALOMONSEN, F. (1933): Les gobe-mouches de paradis de la region malgache. – L'oiseau et la Revue Francaise d'Ornitholgie, 3/3: 603–614.
- SALVADORI, T. (1894): Anas oustaleti and Nyroca innotata, spp. nn., i, ii . – Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club, 4/20: 1–2.
- Schlegel, H. (1866): On some extinct gigantic birds of the Mascarene Islands. *Ibis*, **2**: 146–68.
- SCHNEIDER, J.G. (1783): Allgemeine Naturgeschichte der Schildkröten, nebst einem systematischen-Verzeichnisse der einzelnen Arten und zwey Kupfern. – i–xlviii+364 pp. Leipzig (Johan Gotfried Müller).
- SCOPOLI, I.A. (1769): Annus I. Historio-Naturalis. 168 pp. Leipzig (Sumtie. Christ. Gottlob Hilscheri).
- SCOPOLI, I. A. (1786): Deliciae Florae et Faunae Insubricae. – iv+115 pp. Monasterii S. Salvatoris (Ticini).
- SÉLYS-LONGCHAMPS, M.E.D. (1848): Résumé concernant les Oiseaux brévipennes mentionnés dans l'ouvrage de M. Strickland sur le Dodo. – *Revue Zoologique*, October 1848: 292–295.
- SENAPATHI, D., UNDERWOOD, F., BLACK, E., NICOLL, M.A.C. & NORRIS, K. (2010): Evidence for longterm regional changes in precipitation on the East Coast Mountains in Mauritius. – *International Journal of Climatology*, **30**: 1164–1177.
- SHAPIRO, B., SIBTHORPE, D., RAMBAUT, A., AUSTIN, J., WRAGG, G.M., BININDA-EMONDS, O.R.P., LEE, P.L.M., & COOPER, A. (2002): Flight of the Dodo. – *Science*, 295: 1683.
- SINCLAIR, I. & LANGRAND, L. (2004): Birds of the Indian Ocean Islands: Madagascar, Mauritius, Réunion, Rodrigues, Seychelles and the Comoros, second edition. – 184 pp. Cape Town (Struik).
- Soler, O. (2000): Atlas climatique de la Réunion. 79 pp. Sainte-Clotilde, Réunion (Météo-France).
- SPARRMAN, A. (1786): Museum Carlsonianum, in quo novas et selectas aves, coloribus ad vivum brevique descriptiones illustratas. – fasc. 1, no. 11., 25 pp. Sweden (Museum of Gustavus Carlson).
- STATIUS MÜLLER, P.L. (1776): Des Ritters Carl von Linné Vollständiges Natursystem: Supplemetsund Registerband über aller sechs Theile oder Classen des Thierreichs Natursystem Supplement. – 536 pp. Nürnberg (Bey G.N.Raspe).
- STAUB, F. (1973): Birds of Rodriguez Island. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Arts and Sciences, Mauritius, 4: 17–59.
- STAUB, F. (1976): Birds of the Mascarenes and Saint Brandon. – 1–110 pp. Port Louis, Mauritius (Organisation Normale des Entreprises).
- STRICKLAND, H.E. & MELVILLE, A.G. (1848): The dodo

and its kindred. – viii+141pp. London (Reeve, Benham & Reeve).

- TATAYAH, R.V. JONES, C G. BIRCH, D. & SALAMOLARD, M. (2011): First record of Réunion Black Petrel *Pseudobulweria aterrima* on Mauritius. – *Bulletin* of the. British Ornithologists' Club, **131**: 64–66.
- TEMMINCK, C.J. (1813): Histoire naturelle des pigeons et des gallinacées, volume 1. – 500 pp. Paris & Amsterdam (J.C. Sepp & fils & G. Dufour)
- TEMMINCK, C.J. (1821): livre 8, plate 45. In: TEMMINCK, C.J. & CHARTROUSE, M.L.B.D. (eds): Nouveau recueil de planches coloriées d'oiseaux, pour servir de suite et de complement aux planches en luminees de Buffon. – 31–102 Livre (1820–39). Paris.
- TEMMINCK, C.J. (1823): livre 34, plate 202. In: TEM-MINCK, C.J. & CHARTROUSE, M.L.B.D. (eds): Nouveau recueil de planches coloriées d'oiseaux, pour servir de suite et de complement aux planches en luminees de Buffon. – 174–245 Livre (1820– 39). Paris.
- Toussaint, A. (1972): Histoire des Iles Mascareignes. – 345 pp. Paris (Berger-Levrault).
- TRISTRAM, C.H.B. (1880): Description of a new genus and species of owl from the Seychelles Islands. – *Ibis*, 4/4: 456–459.
- VERREAUX, J. (1863): In: MAILLARD, L. (ed.): Notes sur I'lle de la Réunion., second edition. – 144 pp. Paris (Dentu).
- VIEILLOT, L. J. P. (1817): Nouveau Dictionnaire d'Histoire naturelle, volume 9. – 624 pp. Paris (Déterville).
- VINSON, J.-M. (1976): Notes sur les procellariens de l'1le Ronde. – *Oiseau Revue Française d'Ornithologie*, **46**: 1–24.

- WARREN, B.H., BERMINGHAM, E., PRYS-JONES, R.P. & THEBAUD, C. (2005): Tracking island colonization history and phenotypic shifts in Indian Ocean bulbuls (*Hypsipetes*: Pycnonotidae). – *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **85**/3: 271–287.
- WARREN, B.H., BERMINGHAM, E., PRYS-JONES, R.P. & THEBAUD, C. (2006): Immigration, species radiation and extinction in a highly diverse songbird lineage: white-eyes on Indian Ocean islands. – *Molecular Ecology*, 15/12: 3769–3786.
- WARREN, B.H., STRASBERG, D., BRUGGEMANN, J.H., PRYS-JONES, R.P. & THÉBAUD, C. (2010): Why does the biota of the Madagascar region have such a strong Asiatic flavour? – *Cladistics*, 26: 526–538.
- WEST-ZANEN, W.V. (1648): Derde voomaemste Zeegetogt (der verbondene vrije Nederlanden) na de Oost-Indien: gedaan met de Achinsche en Moluksche vloten, onder de Ammiralen Jacob Heemskerk en Wolfert Harmansz. In de jare 1601, 1602, 1603.
 Enz. Getrocken uit de naarstige aanteekeningen van Willem van West-Zanen, Schipper op de Bruin-Vis... en met eenige noodige bijvoegselen vermeerdert. – viii+60 pp. Amsterdam (SOETE-BOOM, H (ed.))
- Young, H.G., Tonge, S.J. & Hume, J.P. (1997): Review of Holocene wildfowl extinctions. *–Wildfowl*, **47**: 166–180.
- ZUCCON, D., PASQUET, E. & ERICSON, P.G.P. (2008): Phylogenetic relationships among Palearctic-Oriental starlings and mynas (genera *Sturnus* and *Acridotheres*: Sturnidae). – *Zoological Scripta* 37/5: 469–481.





Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Holocene fossil bird remains from subantarctic Macquarie Island

ALAN J.D. TENNYSON¹ & R. PAUL SCOFIELD²

¹ Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa, Wellington, New Zealand; E-mail: alant@tepapa.govt.nz ² Canterbury Museum, Christchurch 8001, New Zealand.

Abstract — Holocene fossil bird bones recovered from several sites on subantarctic Macquarie Island, southwest of New Zealand, provide a novel source of information about the island's history. There has been heavy modification through human activities, including the introduction of foreign mammals and a predatory flightless bird, the Weka (*Gallirallus australis*). The extinction of two endemic birds — the Macquarie Island Rail (*Gallirallus macquariensis*) and the Macquarie Island Parakeet (*Cyanoramphus novaezelandiae erythrotis*) — was documented in historic times. Fossils from the island include both these extinct species and provide evidence of a probable third global bird extinction — a teal (*Anas* sp.). Most fossil remains are from King Penguins (*Aptenodytes patagonicus*) and Royal Penguins (*Eudyptes schlegeli*) but several other species of seabird are represented, including one widespread species not previously reported from the island — the Subantarctic Little Shearwater (*Puffinus elegans*). The fossils provide evidence of population declines of some species.

Key words: Macquarie Island, Holocene, bird, fossils

Introduction

The subantarctic islands south of New Zealand are rich in wildlife but most have suffered much modification through human activities. The most southern of these, Macquarie Island, was discovered in 1810 and within 100 years several introduced pests became established, including Cats (Felis silvestris catus LINNAEUS, 1758), Ship Rats (Rattus rattus LINNAEUS, 1758), House Mice (Mus musculus LINNAEUS, 1758), Rabbits (Orvctolagus cuniculus LINNAEUS, 1758) and Weka (Gallirallus australis SPARRMAN, 1786) (CARRICK 1957; CLARK & DINGWALL 1985; CUMPSTON 1968; JOHNSTONE 1985; SELKIRK et al. 1990). This isolated island is about 34 km long and 5.5 km wide, lying about 1,100 km southwest of New Zealand at 54°30'S 158°57'E. The direct exploitation of the penguin populations for oil from the 19th century until 1919 eventually caused an international outcry, with campaigners against the slaughter including the Antarctic explorer Douglas MAW-SON and the author H.G. WELLS (CROWTHER 1933; CUMPSTON 1968; MCEVEY & VESTJENS 1974; DE LA MARE 1990). Today the island is a wildlife sanctuary and boasts a rich fauna of seabirds but before the 20th century this was not well documented. Two endemic land birds, the Macquarie Island Rail (Gallirallus macquariensis (HUTTON, 1879a)) and the Macquarie Island Parakeet (Cyanoramphus novaezelandiae erythrotis (WAGLER, 1832)), are known to have become extinct on the island in the late 19th century owing to Cat and Weka predation (TAYLOR 1979) and numbers of many other species declined as a result of the introduced pests (BROTHERS 1984; SELKIRK et al. 1990). Some species (e.g. Blue Petrels (Halobaena caerulea (GMELIN, 1789))



FIGURE 1. Macquarie Island showing location of fossil sites

are now restricted to breeding on offshore stacks (BROTHERS 1984; GARNETT *et al.* 2011).

Holocene fossil bones have been recovered from three of the six subantarctic island groups south of New Zealand: Auckland (TENNYSON 2009), Campbell (HOLDAWAY et al. 2010) and Macquarie Islands but the information from Macquarie Island has been scattered and not thoroughly reviewed. A. HAMILTON found fossil bones in 1894 (HAMILTON 1895), as did L.R. BLAKE and H. HAMILTON in 1911-14 (McEvey & Vestjens 1974), but no fossils from these expeditions have been located. A.M. GWYNN's 1949 collections appear to be the earliest Macquarie Island fossil bone collections preserved (VESTJENS 1963; McEvey & Vestjens 1974). In the 1950s–1960s several collections were made: K. KEITH (1956), A.R. MCEVEY, W. WHITTEN and R.A. FALLA (1957), W.J.M. VESTJENS and I. PEDERSON (1962) (VESTJENS 1963; MCEVEY & VESTJENS 1974) and R. CARRICK (?1960s) (this paper). VESTJENS (1963) reviewed records of Macquarie Island Rail fossils. An analysis of penguin bones from sites at Finch Creek and Bauer Bay was published by McEvey and Vestjens following field studies carried out by them (MCEVEY & VESTJENS 1974). "A few bones of species other than penguins" were collected by McEvey and WHITTEN but McEvey & VESTJENS (1974) did not list them. COLHOUN & GOEDE (1973) collected fragmentary penguin remains in 1972 and G.F. VAN TETS made further bone collections on the island in 1973 (unpublished and, in 2003, stored in the Australian National Wildlife Collection (ANWC), Canberra). MEREDITH (1985) examined fossil sites on the island during a three or four day visit and located and examined the previously collected non-penguin fossil collections from Finch Creek held (but unregistered) in the Museum Victoria, Melbourne (MV).

In late 1995, one of us (RPS) found a Subantarctic Little Shearwater (*Puffinus elegans* GIGLIOLI & SALVADORI, 1869) bone in the Langdon Point caves, which AJDT later identified. RPS looked for further material during his second visit in 1996-97 in an attempt to better document the pre-human avifauna of the island. We identified the material collected by RPS and re-examined most of the pre-1995 collections of Holocene fossils (but excluded the penguin fossils that had previously been analysed).

Subsequently a few more bones have been collected including a parakeet beak in 2001 (K. MEDLOCK pers. comm.) and more penguin bones, most recently by C. OOSTHUIZEN and B. ARTHUR (HEUPINK *et al.* 2012).

Methods

The vast majority of fossil bones on Macquarie Island comprises penguins (MEREDITH 1985 gave a ratio of penguin to petrel bones in MCEVEY & VESTJENS' collection, held in Melbourne, as 116: 1). As the penguin bones had already been thoroughly analysed, RPS concentrated on collecting non-penguin material; however, a few penguin bones were collected by RPS and these, along with some collected by VAN TETS, are listed here for completeness. Archaeological sites were not collected from by RPS. The bones collected by RPS were donated to the Museum Victoria and subsequently exchanged with the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa (NMNZ), where AJDT was able to identify them using comparative material.

We reviewed the identity of most previous Holocene bird remains collected on Macquarie Island by visiting the MV, examining VAN TETS' collection in ANWC, and borrowing most of the non-penguin bones from MV. Without carbondates and knowing the exact stratigraphy of the sites, it was sometimes unclear whether a collected specimen was truly a Holocene fossil or was actually recent - no doubt some sites contain bones of both ages and from those in the grey area in between. This was particularly the case for VAN TETS' collection but even RPS's collections include species such as Grey Duck (Anas superciliosa GMELIN, 1789), which may have colonised Macquarie during the 20th century (CARRICK 1957; but see NORMAN 1987). Our list reflects our interpretation of the taphonomy of the bones. To increase the sample size of measurements of Chestnut Teal (Anas castanea (EYTON, 1838)) crania, extra specimens were measured in museums in Frankfurt (SMF) and Tring (NHM) in 2012. We have not examined fossils found by others since 1997. Anatomical terms follow BAUMEL & WITMER (1993). Bird taxonomy follows GILL et al. (2010), except for the Macquarie Island Rail which follows TENNYSON & MARTIN-SON (2007).

Abbreviations

alar phal=alar phalange, cf.=similar to and probably, cmc=carpometacarpus, coll= collected, cor=coracoid, fem=femur, fib=fibula, frag= fragment, hum=humerus, L=left, MNI=minimum number of individuals, ped phal=pedal phalanx, R=right, rad=radius, pel=pelvis, scap=scapula, tbt=tibiotarsus, tmt=tarsometatarsus, uln=ulna.

Results

Fossil remains of birds found at Macquarie Island listed by site and taxonomically, including only a summary of penguin finds.

Aurora Cave

Teal(?) (*Anas* sp.) — MNI=1: 1 partial skull, coll: 5 Jan 1962, VESTJENS, Australian National Antarctic Research Expeditions (ANARE) Zoology Number M62/B/48, MV collection unnumbered. On 15 Nov 1978, H. KING identified this specimen as "*Anas ?giberifrons*[sic]" [= Grey Teal *A. gracilis* BULLER, 1869] and MEREDITH (1985) confirmed it as an *Anas*. We compared this cranial fragment with skulls of other ducks (Tab. 1).

The overall shape of the skull is similar to that of other *Anas* but it has a relatively larger prominentia cerebellaris and the interorbital width most closely matches the skulls of the Chestnut Teal and Brown Teal (*Anas chlorotis* GRAY, 1845) (Tab. 1). The interorbital width is greater than that of the flightless Auckland Island Teal (*Anas aucklandica* (GRAY, 1849)) and Campbell Island Teal (*Anas nesiotis* (FLEMING, 1935)), slightly broader than that of Grey Teal (*Anas gracilis*), and narrower than that of Mallard (*Anas platy*-

TABLE 1. Measurements (mm) of minimum dorsal interorbital bone width of *Anas* species. All recent specimens were from the NMNZ collection, apart from *Anas castanea* SMF 4578, SMF 10575, NHM S/1966.51.5, NHM S/1966.51.10 & NHM S/2002.35.2.

Species	Mean (range)	Sample size
Grey Teal Anas gracilis	7.0 (5.8–8.1)	10
Chestnut Teal Anas castanea	8.1 (7.2–9.0)	7
Brown Teal Anas chlorotis	8.8 (7.7–10.2)	10
Auckland Island Teal Anas aucklandica	5.9 (5.4-6.7)	12
Campbell Island Teal Anas nesiotis	5.5 (5.1-6.3)	6
Macquarie Island specimen	8.4	1
Mallard Anas platyrhynchos	9.8 (8.7–10.8)	13
Grey Duck Anas superciliosa	9.3 (6.9–10.7)	13

TENNYSON & SCOFIELD: Holocene fossil bird remains from subantarctic Macquarie Island

rhynchos LINNAEUS, 1758). It is narrower than that of a Grey Duck (although within the width range of this species) but overall has a much smaller cranium.

"Wandering Albatross" (Diomedea exulans LIN-NAEUS, 1758) — MNI=8: pel, coll: 13 Apr 1962, VESTJENS, ANARE M62/B/118, MV B12147; L hum, coll: 30 Jul 1962, VESTJENS, ANARE M62/B/119, MV B12148; skull, 2L3R cor, coll: 5 Jan 1962, VESTJENS, ANARE M62/B/41, MV B12149; sternum, coll: 13 Apr 1962, VESTJENS, ANARE M62/B/120, MV B12150; 5 furcula, MV B31651; 3L5R hum, 3L uln, 1 R rad, coll: 12 Apr 1956, KEITH, MV B31703; skull, 20 vertebrae, 4L4Rscap, 7L8Rtbt, 1L1R cmc, 2L2Rfem, 1Ltmt, coll: 14 Apr 1956, KEITH, MV B31705. "Aurora Point" is the locality recorded for MV B11860 and "NT of Aurora Point" is the locality recorded for MV B31703 but we have assumed that both these specimens are from Aurora Cave. Although MV B31651 has little collection information, we have assumed that it is part of the Aurora Cave 1956 KEITH collection. MNI is based on the 8 right tbt (MV B31705).

In 1949 GWYNN found a midden of bones ("almost exclusively... young wandering albatrosses", that he believed were of human origin, in a cave about half a mile north of Aurora Point (GILLHAM 1967: 101). In 1956 "parts of at least seventy birds were collected from it, but it still appeared to be full in 1960, when part of it had disappeared under a recent rock fall" (GILLHAM 1967: 101). In 1957, after recently returning from Macquarie, CARRICK noted that the "Wandering Albatross" would have been "an easy source of winter food" for sealers and shipwrecked mariners and that a "collection of skeletons" had been recently found in a west coast cave (CARRICK 1957). We presume that this "west coast" cave is Aurora Cave. A collection of 48 skulls and mandibles of albatrosses collected by R. CARRICK from a "sealers' midden" in "196?" (ANWC reg. nos. 5438-5468, van Tets' nos. PROS1087-1117) was thrown out from the ANWC collection in the 1990s when VAN TETS' disordered collections were partly sorted and reorganised following his death (J. WOMBEY pers. comm. 2003). CARRICK & INGHAM (1970) reported a "recent discovery of over 100 ["Wandering Albatross"] skulls in caves inhabited by sealers or castaways", which presumably refers to KEITH's and/or CARRICK's collections. Although some 1956 collections made by KEITH remain at MV, it is possible that the material thrown out from ANWC was actually much of the 1956 collection. We have not located an unpublished 1956 manuscript by KEITH that contains further details about these collections (see DE LA MARE & KERRY 1994).

Lengths of the "Wandering Albatross" crania, humeri, tibiotarsi and tarsometatarsi in the MV collection were measured for comparison with modern skeletons of Antipodean Albatross in NMNZ (Tab. 2). The Macquarie skull measurements are larger than those of Antipodean Albatrosses but the post-cranial bones, although averaging larger, are all within the range of those of Antipodean Albatrosses. This suggests that some of the fossils represent the Wandering Albatross, which is a larger species (see MARCHANT & HIGGINS 1990), and that some may represent Antipodean Albatrosses, but we lacked

TABLE 2. Summary of measurements (mm) of maximum bone lengths of fossil Macquarie Island "Wandering Albatross" specimens and modern Antipodean Albatross specimens, showing mean±1 s.d., n=sample size, range. Macquarie Island specimens: Museum Victoria B12148, B12149, B31703, B31705; each element was assumed to be from a different individual, except in one case (right tibiotarsus B31705) which was excluded from the analysis because identical lengths were obtained for 2 left tibiotarsi. Antipodean Albatross specimens: Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa NMNZ 606-S, 19352, 24673a, 24674a, 24973, 24979, 25130, 25131, 25132, 25210, 25211, 25212, 25213, 25214, 25215, 25628a, 25629a, 25630a, 25631, 26744, 26885, 27007, 27008, 27188, 28654a.

	Macquarie Island	Diomedea antipodensis
Crania	247, 261, n=2	227.0±8.86, n=24, 213-2442
Humeri	408.6±13.19, n=9, 378–422	398.2±14.32, n=23, 376–427
Tibiotarsi	232.4±7.83, n=14, 220–242	225.3±8.37, n=21, 212–243

comparative measurements of modern Wandering Albatross skeletons.

Macquarie Island Rail (*Gallirallus macquarien*sis (HUTTON, 1879a)) — VESTJENS (1963) noted that the remains of several Macquarie Island Rails had been found in this cave: a mandible (by KEITH in 1956), a skull (by FALLA in Dec 1957, but subsequently lost), 3 skulls (by VESTJENS on 5 Jan 1962; MV B31658–31660).

General observations — MEREDITH (1985) noted "abundant remains of seabirds eaten by the past human occupants of this cave" and "more recent material, presumably collected by cats... in small amounts". He specifically noted the presence of "Wandering Albatross", White-headed Petrel (Pterodroma lessonii (GARNOT, 1826)), Blue Petrel, Grey Petrel (Procellaria cinerea (GME-LIN, 1789)), Sooty Shearwater (Puffinus griseus (GMELIN, 1789)) and Subantarctic Skua (Catharacta skua lonnbergi (MATHEWS, 1912)). However, "due to the historic nature of these deposits" MEREDITH "left them as little disturbed as possible", but noted that "they are so extensive" that they warranted further investigation. Two complete Southern(?) Giant Petrel (Macronectes ?giganteus (GMELIN, 1789)) mandibles were sketched and measured (141 & 144 mm long) (but not collected) by RPS on 21 Jan 1997. RPS also noted about 50 partial skulls of "Wandering Albatrosses" but owing to its archaeological nature he left this site undisturbed also.

Bauer Bay Site F

coll: RPS on 10, 12, 15, 20 Nov, 2, 9, 10 Dec 1996, 15 Jan 1996, 23 Apr 1996

Grey Duck — MNI=1: hum 1, 1 uln, 1 rad, 2 cmc, 1 fem, 2 tbt, 1 fib, NMNZ S.44619, S.44646.

Giant Petrel (*Macronectes* sp.) — MNI=1: 1 tmt, 1? feather, NMNZ S.44630, S.44644.

White-headed Petrel — MNI=1: 1 hum, 1 uln, 1 cmc, 1 fem, NMNZ S.44620, S.44633.

Blue Petrel — MNI=5: 8 hum, 3 uln, 1 rad,

1 cmc, 1 fem, 2 tbt, 1 tmt, NMNZ S.44615, S.44626, S.44637, S.44641, S.44648.

Antarctic Prion (*Pachyptila desolata* (GMELIN, 1789)) — MNI=4: 6 hum, 7 uln, 3 rad, 5 cmc, 1 tbt, NMNZ S.44614, S.44625, S.44636, S.44647.

Short-tailed Shearwater (*Puffinus tenuirostris* (TEMMINCK, 1836)) — MNI=1: 1 hum, 1 uln, 1 cmc, NMNZ S.44618, S.44623, S.44632.

Subantarctic Little Shearwater — MNI=1: 1 tbt, 1 tmt, NMNZ S.44635.

Diving petrel (*Pelecanoides* spp.) — MNI=4: 5 hum, 1 rad, 1 cmc, 1 tmt, NMNZ S.44616, S.44629, S.44640, S.44645.

Macquarie Island Rail — MNI=2: 2 tbt, NMNZ S.44624.

Subantarctic Skua — MNI=2: 1 hum, 2 uln, 2 rad, 1 alar phal, 2 tmt, NMNZ S.44617, S.44622, S.44634.

Macquarie Island Parakeet — MNI=1: 1 rectrix, NMNZ S.44639.

General observations — Between Oct and Dec 1962, VESTJENS made the first collections of bones at this site, which was described in detail by McEvey & Vestjens (1974). King Penguin (Aptenodytes patagonicus MILLER, 1778) bones were more common than those of Royal Penguins (Eudyptes schlegeli FINSCH, 1876), and bones from here were dated at 3,980 + 140 years B.P. (McEvey & Vestjens 1974). In Nov 1972, COLHOUN & GOEDE (1973) collected additional fragments of King Penguin bones at Bauer Bay. In 1996 RPS collected only fragmentary penguin remains here including: Eastern Rockhopper Penguin (Eudyptes filholi HUTTON, 1879b) (MNI=1: 1 quadrate, 1 scap, 1 fem; NMNZ S.44627, S.44638, S.44643) and Royal Penguin (MNI=1: 1 mandible; NMNZ S.44628). Recent radiocarbon dating of eight King Penguin bones from this location (including bones collected by McEvey and more recently by Oosthuizen and Arthur) revealed them to average 7,927 (range 6,834-8,429) years old (HEUPINK et al. 2012). MEREDITH

Bauer Bay, Strata FS (DD are collector numbers)

Teal(?) (*Anas* sp.) — MN1=1: 1 pel, MV collection unnumbered. This fragmentary pelvis resembles that of a Brown Teal in that it appears to have a broad fused dorsal surface to the synsacrum. It is smaller than that of Mallards and Grey Ducks which suggests that it may be from a teal.

Grey-headed(?) Albatross (*Thalassarche* cf. *chrysostoma* (FORSTER, 1785)) — MNI=1: ped phal, DD16, MV collection unnumbered.

White-headed Petrel — MNI=1: 1 fem, DD16, MV collection unnumbered.

Blue Petrel — MNI=1: 1 hum, 1 rad, DD16, MV collection unnumbered.

Antarctic Prion — MNI=1: 1 cor, DD3, MV collection unnumbered.

Sooty Shearwater — MNI=1: 1 uln (possibly large *Pterodroma*),1 cmc, 1 alar phal, 1 ped phal, all DD16, MV collection unnumbered.

Subantarctic Little Shearwater — MNI=3: 1 skull (DD1), 1 sternum (DD15), 3 cor (DD2, DD4, DD5), 1 hum (DD16), 1 uln (DD16), 2 pel (DD11, DD12 & DD13 are parts of the same pel), 1 tbt (DD16), MV collection unnumbered.

Diving petrel — MNI=1: 1 rad, 1 fem, both DD16, MV collection unnumbered.

General observations — MEREDITH (1985) identified bones of Blue Petrel and Antarctic Prion in site "F5#DD16" and those of White-headed Petrel, a "*Pterodroma sp. medium size, (mollis?*)", Antarctic Prion, juvenile Sooty Shearwater, ?Fluttering Shearwater (*Puffinus gavia* FORSTER, 1844) and Common(?) Diving petrel ("*Pelecanoides* prob. *urinatrix*") in site "F5#DD3" ("F5" appears to be a misreading of "FS"). MEREDITH'S (1991) reference to the presence of bones of "Pterodroma lessonii, juvenile Puffinus prob. griseus, and a small Puffinus similar to Puffinus gavia but too poorly represented to be confidently identified" is based on his 1985 article. We believe that MEREDITH'S "Puffinis gavia" bones are those of Subantarctic Little Shearwaters because they are too small for those of Fluttering Shearwaters. Also the preserved humerus has a flattened shaft characteristic of several Puffinus spp. but unlike the humeri of Pterodroma petrels. We did not identify any medium-sized Pterodroma bones among these specimens.

Brothers Point Caves

Antarctic Prion — MNI=1: 1 hum, coll: 1 Nov 1996, RPS, NMNZ S.44612.

General observations — MEREDITH (1985) first brought attention to the potential for bird bones to be found in a group of caves just south of Brothers Point, near Finch Creek. In one cave he found "a variety of petrel, skua and penguin bones, but all appeared to be recent in origin, their presence due to the use of these caves by cats". In another cave which he was not able to fully explore he found "abundant material of the Dove [= Antarctic] Prion Pachyptila desolata... but...no evidence of cat activity". A parakeet beak and some other bird bones were collected in these caves on 7 Dec 2001 by G. HEDLEY and deposited in the Tasmanian Museum & Art Gallery, Hobart (registration number of beak B4678) (K. MED-LOCK pers. comm. 2012; G. HEDLEY pers. comm. 2013). Photos of other bones collected in 2001 (G. HEDLEY pers. comm. 2013) include a few post-cranial Macquarie Island Rail bones and possibly some duck bones. Clearly a full investigation of these caves and collections made in them is needed.

Eagle Cave

MEREDITH (1985) noted that this cave may be worth excavating for bones but did not visit it due to lack of time. Although he noted that it had been "*well picked over in the past*", we have not located any collections of bones from this site. VESTJENS (1963) reported that he found part of a cranium of the Macquarie Island Rail in this cave on 16 Jan 1962 (MV B31661).

Finch Creek

McEvey & Vestjens (1974) provided a detailed history and description of this site. BLAKE recorded probable penguin bones and may have collected some in 1911-14. GWYNN collected some bones in 1949, which were deposited in the MV. On 13, 17 and 18 Dec 1957, McEvey and WHITTEN studied this site and collected further bones, including "a few bones of species other than penguins". VESTJENS spent all of 1962 on the island and, with PEDERSON, made further collections of the bones here. The majority of bones from this site are Royal Penguin, a sample of which were dated at $6,100 \pm 120$ years B.P. MER-EDITH (1985) found all of McEvey & VESTJENS' sites at Finch Creek and identified a few Royal Penguin bones. RPS did not investigate this site. We have not located the non-penguin bones that were apparently collected but they may be listed here under Bauer Bay as this collection is poorly labelled.

Green Gorge

In Nov 1972, COLHOUN & GOEDE (1973) collected fragmentary King Penguin bones from an uplifted marine terrace at this site.

Isthmus at base of North Head

In 1894, A. HAMILTON (1895) found bones representing a large former King Penguin rookery and two skulls "of a very large species of albatross" (presumably "Wandering") at this site. Along with some crew members, the skulls were subsequently swept overboard from the ship and lost on HAMILTON's return journey to New Zealand. In 1911, H. HAMILTON found "masses" of King Penguin bones here (MCEVEY & VESTJENS 1974). This is now near the site of the main ANARE base station and the beach where the deposit is exposed on the eastern coast is named Fossil Beach. VAN TETS collected only penguin bones at "Base Camp" on 1 Dec 1973: King Penguin (4L1R cor, 5 fib, 1 partial pel, 1 distal R fem, 12 L16R tbt, 6 tmt, all were juvenile except one R tbt; all VAN TETS no. SPHS30, ANWC collection unnumbered). Recently at least 20 King Penguin bones were collected by Oosthuizen and Arthur from the Landing Beach on the Isthmus for DNA analysis; radiocarbon dating of seven of these bones revealed them to average 1,002 (range 816-1,134) years old (HEUPINK *et al.* 2012).

Langdon Point Caves

Subantarctic Little Shearwater — MNI=1: 1 tmt, coll: late 1995, RPS, NMNZ S.44610.

General observations — MEREDITH (1985) was correct in predicting that a bone deposit may have occurred in caves here, although he did not find it himself. RPS found a significant natural deposit of bones here in late 1995 but as most appeared to be recent, he collected only one.

North Head (presumed to be north of the ANARE base station)

Macquarie Island Shag (*Leucocarbo purpurascens* (BRANDT, 1837)) — MNI=1: alar phal, 3 ped phal, coll: 30 Nov to 3 Dec 1973 by van Tets, ANWC collection unnumbered.

General observations — VAN TETS also collected a small number of penguin bones at this time: Eastern Rockhopper Penguin (1 ped phal, ANWC collection unnumbered), Royal Penguin (1 L cor, VAN TETS no. SPHS30, ANWC collection unnumbered; 1 ped phal, VAN TETS no. SPHS36, ANWC collection unnumbered).

Plateau between Bauer Bay and Finch Creeks

White-headed Petrel — MNI=1: hum 1, uln 1, coll: 20 Nov 1996, RPS, NMNZ S.44613.

Discussion

The human impacts on the bird fauna of Macquarie Island have been both colourful and devastating; however, with the exception of up to four extinct taxa, most species found in fossil sites on the island still breed there. Fossils provide evidence of reduced distributions of some species. McEvey & VESTJENS (1974) noted that fossil bones suggested that "colonies of King Penguins at Macquarie were either more numerous than, or differently situated from those mentioned in the recorded history of this species" and that the "fossil remains of [King and Royal Penguins] provide evidence of former colonies that do not now exist, in certain localities". COLHOUN & GOEDE (1973) suggested that King Penguins "were formerly distributed on most beaches" on the island.

Almost all species known to currently or formerly breed on the island are now known from fossil sites, with our study reporting the first fossils of Grey Duck, Eastern Rockhopper Penguin, Grey-headed(?) Albatross, Southern(?) Giant Petrel, Short-tailed Shearwater, Subantarctic Little Shearwater, Macquarie Island Shag and Macquarie Island Parakeet (Tab. 3). Breeding species that should be present with larger samples of fossils but not yet identified are: Gentoo Penguin (Pygoscelis papua (Forster, 1781)), Light-mantled Sooty Albatross (Phoebetria palpebrata (FORSTER, 1785)), Northern Giant Petrel (Macronectes halli MATHEWS, 1912), Southern Black-backed Gull (Larus dominicanus LICHTEN-STEIN, 1823) and Antarctic Tern (Sterna vittata GMELIN, 1789) (SELKIRK et al. 1990; COPSON & BROTHERS 2008). The Soft-plumaged Petrel (Pterodroma mollis (GOULD, 1844)), which has only just colonised Macquarie (FULLAGAR et al. 1986; HOLDAWAY et al. 2001; COPSON & BROTH-ERS 2008; GARNETT et al. 2011), was not identified from fossil material, despite MEREDITH's listing of "Pterodroma sp. medium size, (mollis?)". He did not detail to which specimens he was referring, however, we suspect that these bones were of the Subantarctic Little Shearwater, as some bones of this species are similar in size to those of Soft-Plumaged Petrel but differ in shape. Similarly, Black-browed Albatrosses (Thalassarche melanophris (TEMMINCK, 1828)) and Cape Petrels (*Daption capense* (LINNAEUS, 1758)) are probably also recent colonists of Macquarie Island (CAR-RICK 1957; MACKENZIE 1968; TENNYSON *et al.* 1998; COPSON & BROTHERS 2008), and so these species would not be expected in fossil deposits.

A significant find of this study is the probable presence of an extinct teal on Macquarie Island. This small duck is represented by a fragmentary skull and pelvis — unfortunately the bones are too damaged to identify the species represented with certainty using morphological criteria. Some 19th century authors suggested that there was a teal resident on Macquarie Island (e.g. see SCOTT 1883; FALLA 1937: 19). On the basis of morphology and measurements, we favour the idea that the bones represent an extinct endemic species. Endemic flightless teals are found on the two nearest subantarctic islands — Auckland and Campbell — so an endemic teal on Macquarie might be expected. NORMAN (1987) concluded

TABLE 3. List of species recorded in fossil sites on Macquarie Island. *no specimens preserved in museum collections, **new fossil records for Macquarie Island.

Teal(?) (Anas sp.)
Grey Duck (Anas superciliosa)**
King Penguin (Aptenodytes patagonicus)
Eastern Rockhopper Penguin (Eudyptes filholi)**
Royal Penguin (Eudyptes schlegeli)
"Wandering Albatross" (<i>Diomedea exulans/an-tipodensis</i>)
Grey-headed(?) Albatross (<i>Thalassarche</i> cf. <i>chrysos-toma</i>)**
Southern(?) Giant Petrel (Macronectes ?giganteus)**
White-headed Petrel (Pterodroma lessonii)
Blue Petrel (Halobaena caerulea)
Antarctic Prion (Pachyptila desolata)
Grey Petrel (Procellaria cinerea)*
Sooty Shearwater (Puffinus griseus)
Short-tailed Shearwater (Puffinus tenuirostris)**
Subantarctic Little Shearwater (Puffinus elegans)**
Diving petrel (<i>Pelecanoides urinatrix exsul/georgicus</i>)
Macquarie Island Shag (Leucocarbo purpurascens)**
Macquarie Island Rail (Gallirallus macquariensis)
Subantarctic Skua (Catharacta skua lonnbergi)
Macquarie Island Parakeet (<i>Cyanoramphus novaez-</i> elandiae erythrotis)**

that all early "teal" records related to the Grey Teal. However, the only confirmed records of Grey Teal on the island relate to vagrants (COPSON & BROTHERS 2008). An 1822 reference reporting "Widgeons (called Tussock fowl by the sealers as they lived among the tussock and did not fly)" as well as "teal (from the lagoons on top of the island)" (CUMPSTON 1968: 51) may well refer to a locally breeding teal (TENNYSON & MARTINSON 2007: 80). Finds of more complete bones of this duck should quickly resolve the question.

Another important finding of this study is the presence of 13 Subantarctic Little Shearwater bones in fossil sites. These bones come from three sites and suggest that this species may have formerly bred. The Subantarctic Little Shearwater currently breeds in the New Zealand region at the Chatham and Antipodes Islands and, further afield, on islands in the Tristan and Gough groups in the South Atlantic (MARCHANT & HIGGINS 1990), so a former breeding colony on Macquarie would not be surprising. FALLA (1937) correctly commented that the island "compares unfavourably with many other subantarctic islands in regard to the number of petrel species found breeding there" and that the "possibility of some of the smaller ones having been previously exterminated by dogs, cats, rats, or wekas must...be considered". If Subantarctic Little Shearwaters did breed on Macquarie, it is likely that the species was exterminated in the late 19th century by Cats and Weka, at the same time that the rail and parakeet were wiped out. Holocene Subantarctic Little Shearwater bones are also found in dune deposits on Enderby Island, Auckland Islands, but breeding has also never been detected on that island group (TENNYSON 2009), so another possibility is that the seas around Auckland and Macquarie Islands are (or were) part of the normal at-sea range of Subantarctic Little Shearwaters and predatory skuas caught them and regurgitated their remains onshore. The Subantarctic Little Shearwater is considered a "very rare vagrant" at Macquarie Island today (SELKIRK et al. 1990). The previous tentative identification of small shearwater bones as being from Fluttering Shearwaters is most unlikely because the Macquarie bones are too small and the island is well outside the normal range of this species. There is only one record of a Fluttering Shearwater on Macquarie Island (a mummy found by K.G. SIMPSON in 1965, ANWC 10602, pers. obs.). Otherwise the most southerly records of a Fluttering Shearwater, and the similar Hutton's Shearwater (*Puffinus huttoni* MATHEWS, 1912), are nearly 1,000 km to the northeast at The Snares in the 19th century and even these records are doubtful (MISKELLY *et al.* 2001; TENNYSON *et al.* submitted manuscript).

The bones of a Short-tailed Shearwater from Bauer Bay site F appear to be from one individual, which was presumably a vagrant. This species has never been found breeding on Macquarie Island but it has been found as a vagrant on the island several times since 1960 (JONES 1980; BROTHERS 1984; COPSON & BROTHERS 2008; RPS found the remains of five individuals in 1996), and it regularly ranges south to Antarctic waters (KERRY *et al.* 1983).

Both birds previously known to have become extinct on Macquarie Island (the endemic rail and parakeet) have now been found in fossil sites. The Macquarie Island Parakeet previously occurred *"in great numbers round the shore"* (SCOTT 1883) and was recorded alive between 1810 and 1890, with 21 specimens being collected for museums (TAYLOR 1979; SCOFIELD 2005; RPS unpublished data). The tail feather found in 1996 and the beak found in 2001 are the first fossil records of this species.

We are aware of the following fossil Macquarie Island Rail bones having been found: one mandible in Aurora Cave in 1956, one complete skull in Aurora Cave in 1957, three skulls in Aurora Cave in 1962, one skull in Eagle Cave in 1962 (VESTJENS 1963), two tibiotarsi in Bauer Bay in 1996 and some post-cranial bones in Brothers Point Cave in 2001 (reported here). This rail became extinct about 1890 and is represented by only three surviving skin specimens (TENNYSON & MARTINSON 2007) — one in Otago Museum (AV740, AJDT pers. obs.) and two in the Natural History Museum, England (NHM 1881.12.27.1 & NHM 1881.12.27.2) (BULLER 1905; OLIVER 1955; VESTJENS 1963; AJDT pers. obs.). When Joseph BURTON left Macquarie Island in 1900, he apparently left behind a collection of prepared bird skins, including "four or five landrails of a kind of which no Museum in Europe possesses a specimen, except Rothschild, and he

only one" (CUMPSTON 1968: 206-210). Although some specimens from this collection were salvaged for the British Museum (now the Natural History Museum) in 1902 (CUMPSTON 1968: 209-210), apparently the rails were not among them. The holotype is the Otago Museum specimen. It was described in October 1879, being collected "last March by a sealing expedition, and... presented to the Otago Museum by Messers. Elder and Co." when the species was "common on the south part of the island" (HUTTON 1879a). The two Natural History Museum specimens were sent by George GREY to P.L. SLATER "some twenty years ago or more" before 1902 (Buller 1905). OLIVER (1955) speculated that these were collected by the same collector who obtained the Otago bird. Additionally, the Otago Museum specimen includes a sternum, ribs and pectoral elements (HUTTON 1879a; AJDT pers. obs.) and there is a Macquarie Island Rail pelvis labelled "prior to 1894" in the NMNZ collection (reg. no. 15139). The pelvis is well preserved and appears to have been extracted from a whole bird. In the late 1800s, body bones from skinned or mounted specimens were often preserved in the Colonial Museum (now NMNZ) (AJDT pers. obs.). The pelvis has a label "Rallus macquariensis" in what appears to be HUTTON's handwriting (AJDT pers. obs.). As HUTTON described this species based on the Otago specimen which lacks a pelvis, TENNY-SON & BARTLE (2008) concluded that the NMNZ pelvis is part of the holotype specimen.

Given the wealth of fossil bone sites on Macquarie Island, much more research on deposits should be done to elucidate the past bird fauna of the island. Further collecting should reveal whether other species have become extinct in historic times. More bones of the small duck are required to firmly establish its status. Bones of other species, *e.g.*, a *Coenocorypha* snipe and pipit *Anthus* sp., might be expected.

The past status of "Wandering Albatrosses" on the island needs clarification. The current population has built up from just one or two nests in 1911 and results from "considerable immigration" but the source population(s) are unknown (DE LA MARE & KERRY 1994). There have been suggestions that the smaller darker Antipodean Albatross (*Diomedea antipodensis* ROBERTSON & WARHAM, 1992) used to occur on Macquarie Island (SMITH 1997). Measurements of the Aurora Cave fossil bones indicate that Wandering Albatrosses are represented and Antipodean Albatrosses may be represented. It is unfortunate that the majority of fossil albatross skulls from Macquarie Island were thrown out after about 40 years in a museum collection and, subsequent to our 2003 visit, apparently further VAN TETS material has been disposed of from ANWC (T. H. WORTHY pers. comm. 2012). Wandering Albatrosses breed on Macquarie Island currently and the fossil evidence suggests that they used to historically also. However, the past and current status of Antipodean Albatrosses on the island is less clear as the identity of most fossil albatross bones is uncertain and records of darker-plumaged "Wandering Albatrosses" recorded ashore by GILLHAM (1967: 104) and TERAUDS & STEWART (2005) suggest that Antipodean Albatrosses may be more regular than previously documented. It would be valuable to carry out molecular analyses on the fossil bones to expand on a previous study which examined the relationships of the living Macquarie Island Wandering Albatross population (ALDERMAN et al. 2005).

Subantarctic Diving Petrels (P. urinatrix exsul Salvin, 1896) and South Georgian Diving Petrels (Pelecanoides georgicus MURPHY & HARPER, 1916) have been recorded at Macquarie Island (BOURNE 1981; BROTHERS 1984; COPSON & BROTHERS 2008) but we were unable to assign a species to the fossil material. Seven Subantarctic and eight South Georgian Diving Petrel skeletons (in the NMNZ collection) were measured for comparison with Macquarie Island bones. Some fossil Macquarie diving petrel bones fell within the size range of the larger Subantarctic Diving Petrel, others were within the range of the South Georgian species and others fell between the ranges of both. Therefore, we could not determine whether both species were represented or whether all bones belonged to one species that has a larger size range than is represented in the NMNZ collection. If cranial material was found, this should allow specific identity (WORTHY 1998). Similarly, further work on prion (Pachyptila spp.) fossils would be valuable as the past breeding status of several prion taxa is unclear (BROTHERS 1984; COPSON & BROTHERS 2008). Investigating the identity of fossils of these taxa using molecular analyses would be helpful also.

A great deal more systematic excavation and analysis of fossils is required to help illuminate the pre-human bird fauna of Macquarie Island the identity of large albatrosses and the teal are a priority.

Acknowledgements

Thanks to: Bob GOULD (Tasmania Parks and Wildlife Service) for allowing his permit to be used by RPS to collect the Macquarie Island bones; Rory O'BRIEN (Museum Victoria) for the loan and exchange of bones from Melbourne; Kerri-Anne EDGE (Otago Museum) for providing information on the Macquarie Island Rail type specimen in 1998; John WOMBEY for information on collections in ANWC (Canberra), and to him, Robert PALMER and Terry CHESSER for hosting us there in Dec 2003; Wayne LONGMORE for assisting AJDT at the Museum Victoria in Apr 2007; Gerald MAYR (SMF) for helping AJDT at the Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg Museum, Frankfurt in Jun 2012; Joanne COOPER for assisting AJDT at the Natural History Museum, Tring, in Jul 2012; Karen Roberts (Museum Victoria) for providing registration details of Macquarie Island Rail specimens; Kathryn MEDLOCK (Tasmanian Museum and Art Gallery) and Georgie HEDLEY (New Zealand) for information on the bones found in Brothers Point Caves; and Martin LEWIS and Christine KIDDEY (NMNZ library) for obtaining some of the references. Walter BOLES (Sydney) and Colin MISKELLY (NMNZ) provided helpful comments on the manuscript.

References

- ALDERMAN, R., DOUBLE, M. C., VALENCIA, J. & GALES, R. P. (2005): Genetic affinities of newly sampled populations of Wandering and Black-browed Albatross. – *Emu* 105: 169–179.
- BAUMEL, J. J. & WITMER, L.M. (1993): Osteologia. In: BAUMEL, J.J.; KING, A.S.; BREAZILE, J.E.; EVANS, H.E. & VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (eds): Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina anatomica avium. 2nd Edition. – *Nuttall Ornithological Club*, 23: 45–132.
- BOURNE, W.R.P. (1981): The gadfly petrel skull and diving petrels from Macquarie Island. – *Notornis*, 28: 142–143.

- BRANDT, J.F. (1837): Observations sur plusieurs espèces nouvelles du genre Carbo ou Phalacrocorax, qui se trouvent dans le e muséum de l'Académie des Sciences de St. Pétersbourg. – Bulletin Scientifique de l'Académie Impériale des Sciences de St. Pétersbourg, 3: 53–57.
- BROTHERS, N.P. (1984): Breeding, distribution and status of burrow-nesting petrels at Macquarie Island. – Australian Wildlife Research, 11: 113–131.
- BULLER, W.L. (1869): On some new species of New-Zealand [sic] birds. *Ibis*, **5** (New Series): 37–43.
- BULLER, W.L. (1905): Supplement to the Birds of New Zealand. Volume 1. 200 pp. London (Author).
- CARRICK, R. (1957): The wildlife of Macquarie Island. – Australian Museum Magazine, **12**/8: 255–260.
- CARRICK, R. & INGHAM, S.E. (1970): Ecology and population dynamics of Antarctic sea birds. – In: HOLDGATE, M.W. (ed.): Antarctic ecology. Volume 1. – 505–525 pp. London (Academic Press).
- CLARK, M.R. & DINGWALL, P.R. (1985): Conservation of Islands in the Southern Ocean: A Review of the Protected Areas of Insulantarctica. – 118 pp. Cambridge (International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources).
- COLHOUN, E.A. & GOEDE, A. (1973): Fossil penguin bones, 14C dates and the raised marine terrace of Macquarie Island: some comments. – Search, 4: 499–501.
- COPSON, G.R.; BROTHERS, N.P. (2008): Notes on rare, vagrant and exotic avifauna at Macquarie Island, 1901–2000. – Papers and Proceedings of the Royal Society of Tasmania, **142**: 105–115.
- CROWTHER, W.L. (1933): Macquarie Island and its animal life. – *Emu*, **33**: 14–17.
- CUMPSTON, J. S. (1968): Macquarie Island. ANARE Scientific Reports, Series A(1) No. 93: 330 pp. Canberra (Antarctic Division, Department of External Affairs).
- DE LA MARE, A.J. (1990): Joseph Hatch and the loss of the Kakanui. – 66 pp. Invercargill (Invercargill Licensing Trust Charitable Trust).
- DE LA MARE, W.K. & KERRY, K.R. (1994): Population dynamics of the wandering albatross (*Diomedea exulans*) on Macquarie Island and the effects of mortality from longline fishing. – *Polar Biology*, 14: 231–241.
- EYTON, T.C. (1838): A monograph on the Anatidae, or duck tribe. – 178 pp. Shrewsbury (Longman, Orme, Brown, Green, & Longman ... and Eddowes).
- FALLA, R.A. (1937): B.A.N.Z. Antarctic Research Expedition 1929–31. Reports. Series B. Volume 2, Birds. – 283 pp. Adelaide (B.A.N.Z.A.R. Expedition Committee).

- FINSCH, O. (1876): Further remarks on some New Zealand birds. – *Transactions and Proceedings of the New Zealand Institute*, **8**: 200–204.
- FLEMING, J.H. (1935): A new genus and species of flightless duck from Campbell Island. – Occasional Papers of the Royal Ontario Museum of Zoology, 1: 1–3.
- FORSTER, J.R. (1781): Indische Zoologie oder systematische Beschreibungen seltener und unbekannter Thiere aus Indien, mit 15 illuminirten Kupfertafeln erläutert. Nebst einer kurzen vorläufigen Abhandlung über den Umfang von Indien und die Beschaffenheit des Klima, des Bodens und des Meeres daselbst, und einem Anhange, darin ein kurzes Verzeichniß der Thiere in Indien mitgetheilt wird. – pp. [1–5], I–IV [= 1–4], 1–42, Plates I–XV. Halle (Gebauer).
- FORSTER, J.R. (1785): Mémoire sur les albatros. Mémoires de Mathématique et de Physique, 10: 561–572.
- FORSTER, J.R. (1844) Descriptiones animalium quae in itinere ad Maris australis terras per annos 1772, 1773, 1774 suscepto collegit. LICHTENSTEIN, H. (ed.) – 424 pp. Berlin (Ex Officina Academica).
- FULLAGAR, P.J., VAN TETS, G.F. & BARTLE, J.A. (1986): Identification of Soft-plumaged Petrel wings found on Macquarie Island. – *Notornis*, 33: 167–170.
- GARNETT, S.T., SZABO, J.K.; DUTSON, G. (2011): The Action Plan for Australian Birds 2010. – 442 pp. Melbourne (CSIRO Publishing).
- GARNOT, P. (1826): Remarques sur la Zoologie des îles Malouines, faites pendant le Voyage autour du monde de la corvette la Coquille – *Annales des Sciences Naturelles, Zoologie, Paris*, 7: 39-59.
- GIGLIOLI, H.H. & SALVADORI, T. (1869): On some new Procellariidae collected during a voyage round the world in 1865–68 by H.I.M.'s S. 'Magenta'. – *Ibis* (*series 2*), **5**: 61–68.
- GILL, B.J., BELL, B.D., CHAMBERS, G.K., MEDWAY,
 D.G., PALMA, R.L., SCOFIELD, R.P., TENNYSON,
 A.J.D. & WORTHY, T.H. (2010): Checklist of the Birds of New Zealand, Norfolk and Macquarie Islands, and the Ross Dependency, Antarctica.
 4th Edition. – 500 pp. Wellington (Ornithological Society of New Zealand & Te Papa Press).
- GILLHAM, M.E. (1967): Sub-Antarctic Sanctuary Summertime on Macquarie Island. – 233 pp. Wellington (A.H. and A.W. Reed).
- GMELIN, J. F. (1789): Systema Naturae per Regna Tria Naturae, Secundum Classes, Ordines, Genera, Species, cum Characteribus, Differentiis, Synonymis, Locis. Regnum Animalium. 13th Edition, 1/2: 501–1032 pp. Lipsiae (Beer).
- GOULD, J. (1844): On the family Procellariidae, with descriptions of ten new species. *Annals and Magazine of Natural History, London*, **13**: 360-368.
- GRAY, G.R. (1845): Birds of New Zealand. In: RICH-

ARDSON, J. & GRAY, J.E. (eds): The Zoology of the Voyage of H.M.S. Erebus and Terror, under the Command of Captain Sir James Clark Ross, R.N., F.R.S., during the years 1839 to 1843. – 9–20 pp. London (E.W. Janson).

- GRAY, G.R. (1849): The genera of birds : comprising their generic characters, a notice of the habits of each genus, and an extensive list of species referred to their several genera. Volume 3. – 300 pp. London (Longman, Brown, Green & Longmans).
- HAMILTON, A. (1895): Notes on a visit to Macquarie Island. – *Transactions & Proceedings of the New Zealand Institute*, **27**: 559–579.
- HEUPINK, T.H., VAN DER HOFF, J. & LAMBERT, D.M. (2012) (in press): King Penguin population on Macquarie Island recovers ancient DNA diversity after heavy exploitation in historic times. – *Biology Letters* (online, doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2012.0053).
- HOLDAWAY, R.N., THORNEYCROFT, J.M., MCCLELLAND, P. & BUNCE, M. (2010): Former presence of a parakeet (*Cyanoramphus* sp.) on Campbell Island, New Zealand subantarctic, with notes on the island's fossil sites and fossil record. – *Notornis*, **57**: 8–18.
- HOLDAWAY, R.N., WORTHY, T.H. & TENNYSON, A.J.D. (2001): A working list of breeding bird species of the New Zealand region at first human contact. – *New Zealand Journal of Zoology*, 28: 119–187.
- HUTTON, F.W. (1879a): On a new species of rail from Macquarie Island. *Ibis*, **21**: 454–456.
- HUTTON, F.W. (1879b): On an apparently new species of penguin, from Campbell Island. – *Proceedings* of the Linnean Society of New South Wales, **3**: 334–335.
- JOHNSTONE, G.W. (1985): Threats to Birds on Subantarctic Islands. – In: MOORS, P.J. (ed.): Conservation of Island Birds – Case Studies for the Management of Threatened Island Species. – ICBP Technical Publication, **3**: 101–121.
- JONES, E. (1980): A survey of burrow-nesting petrels at Macquarie Island based upon remains left by predators. – *Notornis*, 27: 11–20.
- KERRY, K.R., HORNE, R.S.C. & DORWARD, D.F. (1983): Records of the Short-tailed Shearwater *Puffinus tenuirostris* in Antarctic waters. – *Emu*, 83: 35–37.
- LICHTENSTEIN, H. (1823): Verzeichniss der Doubletten des Zooloigeschen Museums der Königl. Universität zu Berlin nebst Beschreibung vieler bisher unbekannter Arten von Säugethieren, Vögeln, Amphibien und Fischen. – 188 pp. Berlin (In Commission bei T. Trautwein).
- LINNAEUS, C. (1758): Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. 10th Edition [1–4]. – 824 pp. Holmiae (Laurentii Salvii).
- MACKENZIE, D. (1968): The birds and seals of the Bishop and Clerk Islets, Macquarie Island. *Emu*,

67: 241–245.

- MARCHANT, S. & HIGGINS, P.J. (eds) (1990): Handbook of Australian, New Zealand and Antarctic Birds. Volume 1 – Ratites to Ducks. – 1400 pp. Melbourne (Oxford University Press).
- MATHEWS, G.M. (1912): Birds of Australia. Volume 2. 984 pp. London (Witherby & Co.).
- McEvey, A.R. & VESTJENS, W.J.M. (1974): Fossil penguin bones from Macquarie Island, Southern Ocean. – *Royal Society of Victoria Proceedings*, 86: 151–174.
- MEREDITH, C. (1985): A search for fossil seabirds on Macquarie Island. – *Australasian Seabird Group Newsletter*, **22**: 9–13.
- MEREDITH, C. (1991): Vertebrate Fossil Faunas from Islands in Australasia and the Southwest Pacific. – In: VICKERS-RICH, P., MONAGHAN, J.M., BAIRD, R.F., RICH, T.H. (eds): Vertebrate palaeontology of Australasia. – pp. 1345–1382, Melbourne (Pioneer Design Studio & Monash University).
- MILLER, J.F. (1778): Icones Animalium et Plantarum. Part 4. – pl. 19–24. London (Author).
- MISKELLY, C.M., SAGAR, P.M., TENNYSON, A.J.D. & SCOFIELD, R.P. (2001): Birds of the Snares Islands, New Zealand. *Notornis*, **48**: 1–40.
- MURPHY, R.C. & HARPER, F. (1916): Two new diving petrels. – Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History, **35**: 65–67.
- NORMAN, F.I. (1987): The ducks of Macquarie Island. *ANARE Research Notes*, **42**: 22 pp.
- OLIVER, W.R.B. (1955): New Zealand birds. 2nd Edition. 661 pp. Wellington (A.H. & A.W. Reed).
- ROBERTSON, C.J.R. & WARHAM, J. (1992): Nomenclature of the New Zealand Wandering Albatrosses Diomedea exulans. – Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club, 112: 74–81.
- SALVIN, O. (1896): Catalogue of the Birds in the British Museum: Gaviae and Tubinares. [Catalogue of Birds in the British Museum, volume 25] – 475 pp. London (British Museum).
- SCOFIELD, R.P. (2005): The supposed Macquarie Island Parakeet in the collection of Canterbury Museum. – Notornis, 52: 117–120.
- SCOTT, J.H. (1883): Macquarie Island. Transactions & Proceedings of the New Zealand Institute, 15: 484–493.
- SELKIRK, P.M., SEPPELT, R.D. & SELKIRK, D.R. (1990): Subantarctic Macquarie Island: Environment and Biology. 299 pp. Cambridge (Cambridge University Press).
- SMITH, L. E. (1997): An unusual Wandering Albatross on Macquarie Island. – Southern Oceans Seabird Study Association Newsletter, 13: 7.
- SPARRMAN, A. (1786): Museum Carlsonianum, in quo novas et selectas aves, coloribus ad vivum brevique descriptione illustratas, suasu et sumtibus generosissimi possessoris. Fasciculus IV. – 100

col. Holmiae (Typographia Regia).

- TAYLOR, R.H. (1979): How the Macquarie Island Parakeet became extinct. – New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 2: 42–45.
- TEMMINCK, C.J. (1828): [text to plate 456]. In: TEM-MINCK, C.J. & LAUGIER DE CHARTROUSE, M. (eds): Nouveau recueil de planches coloriées d'oiseaux, pour servir de suite et de complement aux planches enluminées de Buffon. Livraison 77. – unpaginated. Paris (Levrault).
- TEMMINCK, C.J. (1836) [text to plate 587]. In: TEMMINCK, C.J. & LAUGIER DE CHARTROUSE, M. (eds): Nouveau recueil de planches coloriées d'oiseaux, pour servir de suite et de complement aux planches enluminées de Buffon. Livraison 99. – unpaginated. Paris (Levrault).
- TENNYSON, A.J.D. (2009): Appendix E. Archaeological and fossil bird bones found at the subantarctic Auckland Islands. – In: DINGWALL, P.R., JONES, K.L. & EGERTON, R. (eds): In Care of the Southern Ocean – An Archaeological and Historic Survey at the Auckland Islands. – New Zealand Archaeological Association Monograph, 27: 297–307.
- TENNYSON, A.J.D. & BARTLE, J.A. (2008): Catalogue of type specimens of birds in the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa. – *Tuhinga*, 19: 185–207.
- TENNYSON, A., IMBER, M. & TAYLOR, R. (1998): Numbers of Black-browed Mollymawks (*Diomedea m. melanophrys*) and White-capped Mollymawks (*D. cauta steadi*) at the Antipodes Islands in 1994–95 and their population trends in the New Zealand region. Notornis, 45: 157–166.
- TENNYSON, A.J.D. & MARTINSON, P. (2007): Extinct Birds of New Zealand. 2nd Edition. – 180 pp. Wellington (Te Papa Press).
- TENNYSON, A.J.D., MISKELLY, C.M. & LECROY, M. (submitted): Clarification of collection data for the type specimens of Hutton's Shearwater (*Puffinus huttoni* Mathews, 1912) and implications for the accuracy of historic subantarctic specimen data. – *Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club*.
- TERAUDS, A. & STEWART, F. 2005. Albatross elusive mariners of the Southern Ocean. – 175 pp. Sydney (Reed New Holland).
- VESTJENS, W.J.M. (1963): Remains of the extinct Banded Rail at Macquarie Island. – *Emu*, **62**: 249–250.
- WAGLER, J.G. (1832): Monographia Psittacorum. – Abhandlungen der Königlich-Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften, mathematischphysikalische Klasse, 1: 463–750.
- WORTHY, T.H. (1998): Fossils indicate *Pelecanoides* georgicus had large colonies at Mason Bay, Stewart Island, New Zealand. – *Notornis*, **45**: 229–246.





Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Notes on Pelvic and Hindlimb Myology and Syndesmology of *Emeus* crassus and *Dinornis robustus* (Aves: Dinornithiformes)

ANDREI V. ZINOVIEV

Department of Zoology, Tver State University, Tver, Russia; E-mail: m000258@tversu.ru

Abstract — Dinornis robustus and Emeus crassus represent two variants of moa locomotor adaptations, Dinornis being more cursorial. Their overall hindlimb anatomy resembles that, inferred for primitive birds. While the hindlimb anatomy and syndesmology of moa resemble that of Tinamiformes and geographically close Apterygiformes and Casuariiformes, the development of *m. iliofemoralis externus* is peculiar to Dinornithiformes and far surpasses the bulk recorded for this muscle in other birds. In addition, moa appear to have a unique insertion of *m. iliofemoralis internus*, although additional observation of mummies would be desirable. On the anterior surface of the femoral shaft, this muscle inserts just distally to the neck where it must have changed its regular function of a weak outward rotator of femur. The attachment of *m. iliofemoralis* on the posterior surface of femur is unusually long and comparable to the structure observed only in Dinornithiformes and *Apteryx*. Terminal tendons of the long digital flexors to the second toe were, at least in *D. robustus*, separated from those to the other foretoes. This feature might indicate that the second toe played a major role in scratching and digging, an activity reported as one of the ways moa obtained their food. Caudal migration of the center of gravity, proposed for moa in comparison to other birds and for *Dinornis* in relation to other moa, does not have anatomical support.

Key words: Dinornithiformes, hind limbs, morphology, syndesmology, locomotion

Introduction

Since the first account (POLACK 1838) and the group's formal description in the following year (OWEN 1839), moa have been the subject of meticulous scientific study (for an overview, see WORTHY & HOLDAWAY 2002). As representatives of the order Dinornithiformes, moa represent the most striking example of insular ratite vicariance (WORTHY *et al.* 2005). Despite long standing problems in moa classification due to their high level of morphological variability and unprecedented levels of sexual dimorphism, the latest morphometric and genetic studies support the major division of Dinornithiformes among three families, Emeidae, Dinornithidae and Meg-

alapterygidae (BUNCE et al. 2009). Bones of the pelvic girdle and its appendages are among the best preserved and their morphology and proportions have traditionally played a major role in the group's taxonomy. In fact, OWEN (1879) based his initial classification solely on the basis of the hindlimb bones but he was not always correct. In his earliest paper, OWEN (1839) describes morphological features related to the muscular insertions (ridges and reticulate surface) on a fragment of femur, concluding, (p. 170) "... the Struthious bird indicated by the present fragment to have been heavier and more sluggish than the Ostrich; its femur, and probably its whole leg, was shorter and thicker". Many of his later works (collected in OWEN 1879), which support

the conclusion of sluggishness in the dinornithiforms, contain comments on certain ligamentous and muscular structures of moa hind limbs. "Strongly marked and indented ... muscular impressions" on the hindlimb bones of moa were also early noticed by COLENSO (1843). But it was not until 1869, when the description of anatomical features of hind limbs, other than bones, was provided. OWEN (1869) described mummified tendons, sesamoids and integumentary solepads of the inner toe of the right foot of Dinornis robustus OWEN, 1846, discovered in Manuherikia Valley (South Island). Later, COUGHTREY (1874a, b) described some muscles, tendons, ligaments and integuments of the mummified legs of Emeus crassus OWEN, 1846 (femur and tibia), found in Earnscleugh Cave near Alexandra and D. robustus, found in the lowlands of the Knobby Range on the South Island. Another mummified foot of Dinornis (=Megalapteryx) didinus Owen, 1883 was described by OWEN (1883b). Besides describing the integument and feathers still attached, OWEN made an important suggestion of how the feet of Megalapteryx might have once been used. He wrote (p. 260) "From the osseous structure of the foot, especially the strength and curvature of the ungual phalanges of the digits ii, iii, iv, it was inferred that the hind limbs of the Moas might have been put to the work of uprooting the ferns which, from the unusual proportion of nutritious matter their roots contain, are peculiar to New Zealand, and still afford the material of a favourite bread of the Maoris".

CRACRAFT (1974, 1976a, b, c) used certain morphological characters and the dependence between the size and shape of hindlimb bones to calculate the groups diversity and position within ratites. He suggested that the unusual degree of diversity in the hindlimb bones was related the prolonged growth period in moas, attaining maximum weight only after their long bones reached maximal length. He also noted that members of the genus *Dinornis* might have been more cursorial, than other moas.

ALEXANDER (1983a, b, 1985) tried to determine the meaning of the unusual proportions of moa hind limbs using allometrical equations developed for flying birds. Dinornithidae fell well into the allometric continuum of flying birds, while members of Emeidae did not. He suggested that this situation in moas was the product of a caudal migration of the center of mass coincident with the reduction of the wings. To keep the feet within the projected center of mass, the moa must have shortened its tarsometatarsus. In contrast, the narrow posterior part of the trunk in living ratites retains the center of the mass in the old position. The structure of Apteryx argues against such a hypothesis by having short tarsometatarsi along with a strongly narrowed posterior part of the pelvic girdle. ALEXANDER concluded that although moa were able to run, the absence of terrestrial predators led to the development of the robust graviportal limbs with unusually high optimum factors of safety.

KOOYMAN (1985), in his PhD dissertation on moas and archaeological evidence for moa hunting, provided functional interpretations of osteological hindlimb landmarks, used in the classification of moa. This not only allowed refinement of the existing classification but also led the author to the uncovering of some trends in moa locomotor diversification. *Megalapteryx* was found to be less agile, while members of genus *Dinornis* were the most cursorial and differed from their relatives by the position of their center of gravity. Feet of *Anomalopteryx* might have been better adapted to digging and scratching (KOOYMAN 1991).

Two other moa mummies with hind limbs (*Megalapteryx didinus* and *Anomalopteryx didiformis* OWEN, 1844) were found in 1980s (FORREST 1987; WORTHY 1989), but details of their anatomy have remained undescribed. The same can be said for specimens found in 1884 in the Hector Range (*Pachyornis elephantopus* OWEN, 1856) and in 1894 in the Old Man Range (*Megalapteryx didinus*) (BULLER 1888; ANDERSON 1989).

Here I offer the first detailed restoration of pelvic and hindlimb myology and syndesmology for two species of moa, belonging to two distinct families. I establish the basis for further comparative studies that link functional interpretations and morphological characters in an effort to understand the peculiarities of moa locomotor adaptations.

Material and Methods

I used pelvic and hindlimb bones of two species of moa from the collection of Museum für Naturkunde, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin (MB). An almost complete, mounted skeleton of adult Eastern Moa Emeus crassus (MB. Av. 1571) that included a sternum and part of the skull was shipped to Germany by Julius VON HAAST sometime before 1850. His handwritten labels, referring to Dinornis casuarinus, are still preserved but, unfortunately, more detailed records describing the site, where this specimen was found, are missing in Germany and in New Zealand. The "Exchange Book" of Canterbury Museum at Christchurch begins only in 1856. Femora, tibiotarsi and tarsometatarsi of the skeleton are perfectly preserved (only pieces of both cristae cnemiales craniales are slightly abraded, apparently during transportation). Distal halves of both fibulae are missing. Cranial edges of alae preacetabulares and postacetabular portions of both ilia, both ischia and pubes are broken off. Several phalanges are missing, including the third of the third toe and the ungual of the fourth on the right foot; the ungual of the second toe and second, third and fourth (ungual) of the fourth (Emeus had normally only four phalanges in the outer toe) on the left foot. The hallux and related metatarsal elements are missing on both limbs.

A skeleton of an adult female of South Island Giant Moa Dinornis robustus (MB. Av. 1570, labeled as Dinornis novaezealandiae), once mounted, was originally found in Glenmark Swamp near Canterbury. The specimen preserves both alae preacetabulares ilii of the pelvis, both acetabula and the postacetabular part of the right ilium along with right ischium and pubis. As in the skeleton of *Emeus crassus*, the cranial portions of both preacetabular portions of iliac bones are broken off. Cavities in the right femur still contain portions of swampy soil. Surfaces of the femoral head, trochanteric ridge and both condyli are abraded exposing the spongy inner structure. Both tibiotarsi are preserved, showing similar abrasion of protruding surfaces (cristae cnemiales, condyles, caudal edges of proximal articular surfaces). Both fibulae are preserved with only the most distal and thinnest portions missing. The right tarsometatarsus is in particularly good condition, showing only slight traces of abrasion in the hypotarsal and trochlear areas. The foretoes are well preserved; only the ungual phalanx of the right fourth toe is missing and substituted by artificial one. The hallux or hind toe and its metatarsal elements are missing.

Because many of the mounted skeletons from the 19^{th} century are composites, often including material from different taxa, I made sure, that each bone belonged to *E. crassus* or *D. robustus* (WORTHY & HOLDAWAY 2002; WORTHY, pers. comm.), although not always to the same individuals.

In the reconstruction, I depended on the extensive comparative data on pelvic and hindlimb osteology, myology and syndesmology for Class Aves in ZINOVIEV (2010). I also followed certain rules of reconstruction, which had been successfully applied in the earlier reconstruction of the hind limbs of Hesperornis regalis MARSH, 1872 (ZINOVIEV 2011). Although members of Casuariiformes are considered the closest living relatives of moa (JOHNSTON 2011), I was extremely cautious in direct extrapolation of morphological characters from extant paleognaths (Dromaius, Casuarius, Apteryx) onto dinornithid material. Besides being graviportal and often attaining great dimensions, moa retained the primitively broad pelvis (CRACRAFT 1974) with pedomorphically unfused ilia, ischia and pubes. In this way they may have differed from more specialized runners such as Dromaius or Casuarius and even Apteryx. Beautiful lithographs from OWEN's papers were also quite instructive for interpreting absent or damaged osteal parts in the material.

Anatomical names follow *Nomina Anatomica Avium* II (BAUMEL *et al.* 1993) with some changes and additions made by ZINOVIEV (2010).

Myology and syndesmology

Hip joint

The hip joint belongs to the so called congruent joints in which the articular surfaces of both counterparts match each other closely (Figs 1, 2). The femoral head fits snuggly in the acetabulum, where it is held in place by the well-developed ligamentum capitis femoris. In moa, the origin of



this stout ligament is marked on the cranial rim of the acetabular foramen by a concavity with osseal papillae which gradually fades towards the ventral rim of the opening, blending there clearly with the membrana acetabuli. The insertion of the ligament is in a fovea lig. capitis near the top of the femoral head. In our specimen of E. crassus the insertion of lig. capitis femoris was slightly moved proximally from the apex capitis, thus making it protrude and giving to entire head the conical appearance. In contrast, the femoral head of D. robustus was perfectly round with a more typical, centered fovea lig. capitis. The functional significance of this variation is obscure and, perhaps, non-existent, since in some specimens of E. crassus the femoral head is reported to be as rounded as in Dinornis (KOOYMAN 1991). Lig. capitis femoris and the articular cartilage that retained their flexibility were recorded for a specimen of a femoral head from Dinornis (ALLIS 1864).

The hip joint in birds is not limited to the acetabular region. It extends onto adjacent trochanteric surface of the femur, which rests on the antitrochanter of the ilium. This trochanterantitrochanter complex produces the habitual, somewhat horizontal position of femur. The proposed position of the femur contrasts with some earlier reconstructions but is consistent with the structure of all extant birds with the exception of penguins and some specialized foot-propelled divers. A proposed difference for the position of the center of gravity that distinguishes the Dinornithidae and other moas from other birds (ALEXANDER 1983a; KOOYMAN 1985, 1991) is thus not supported by the position of the femur. The femur is not close to vertical (ALEXANDER 1983a).

The origin of capsula articularis coxae is well-defined on the cranial and dorsal surfaces of the elevated acetabular rim. There is an area of tendinous attachment on the cranial surface of the proximal femoral shaft distal to the femoral head and medial to the crista trochanteris. This area is round and slightly excavated in *Dinornis* and lon-gitudinally extended and deeply excavated in *E. crassus*. Although the area appears to be the place of insertion for the lig. iliofemoralis (ZINOVIEV 2010), the absence of an equally strong origin of this ligament on the ilium suggests an alternate explanation; it is possible that m. iliofemoralis internus (OWEN 1858) or m. femorotibialis internus (KOOYMAN 1991) have inserted here.

Pelvic muscles

For the description of pelvic muscles (Figs 1, 2, 4) I used the sequence reconstructed for *Hesperornis* (ZINOVIEV 2011). The deepest muscles, which control the movements in the hip joint, usually leave the clearest traces on the bones. This is especially true for the group mm. iliotrochanterici, which resist supination (outward rotation) of the femur caused by the action of the femoral retractors (ZINOVIEV & DZERZHINSKY 2000). These muscles traditionally extend across the entire surface of ala preacetabularis ilii, leaving definite traces of their fleshy and tendinous origins.

Mm. iliotrochanterici — In both species studied here, there are pronounced traces of muscular and tendinous origin of mm. iliotrochanterici on

FIGURE 1. Pelves of moa, showing attachments of muscles and ligaments: **A**, **B**, *Dinornis robustus* (MG. Av. 1570), lateral and ventrolateral views; **C**, *Emeus crassus* (MB. Av. 1571), lateral view. Origins and insertions of muscles are filled with red and those of ligaments with blue. Muscular attachments of pubis are not shown due to the compete erosion of its surface.

Abbreviations: ala post. i., ala postacetabularis ilii; ala pre. i., ala preacetabularis ilii; AMB, m. ambiens; antitr., antitrochanter; caps. a. c., capsula articularis coxae; cr.dl.i., crista dorsolateralis ilii; FCL, m. flexor cruris lateralis; FCM, m. flexor cruris medialis; fen. isp., fenestra ischiopubica; for. acet., foramen acetabuli; for. ilisch., foramen ilioischiadicum; for. obtur., foramen obturatum; IC, m. iliotibialis cranialis; IF, m. iliofibularis; IFE, m. iliofemoralis externus; IFI, m. iliofemoralis internus; ILF, m. iliofemoralis; ISF, m. ischiofemoralis; ITac, m. iliotibialis lateralis pars acetabularis; ITCD, m. iliotrochantericus caudalis; ITCR, m. iliotrochantericus cranialis; ITM, m. iliotrochantericus medius; ITpra, m. iliotibialis lateralis pars postacetabularis; lig. c. f., lig. capitis femoris; lig. ilisch., lig. ilioischiadicum; lig. isp., lig. ischiopubicum; obl. rid., oblique ridges; OMD, m. obturatorius medialis pars dorsalis; OMV, m. obturatorius medialis pars ventralis; PIF, mm. puboischiofemorales.
ala preacetabularis ilii (Figs 1A, C; 2A, B, D, E). Unfortunately, both specimens lack the fragile cranial edges and, consequently, I am unable to reconstruct the cranialmost parts of the muscle group. However, the preserved surface of ala preacetabularis ilii shows the beginning of the most powerful of the iliotrochanterici - m. iliotrochantericus caudalis. Its origin covers almost the entire surface of ala preacetabularis ilii extending from its cranial part approximately to the line passing vertically through the middle of the acetabular opening. The structure of this muscle must have been as complex, as it is in the large living ratites (SUDILOVSKAYA 1931; ZINOVIEV, 2006). The short muscular fibers of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis started from the preacetabular portion of the ilium but also originated from a number of aponeuroses. Origins of these aponeuroses on ala preacetabularis ilii are marked by prominent oblique ridges. Muscle fibers ended on a number of intramuscular aponeuroses, contributing to a large aponeurosis on the lateral surface of the muscle. This aponeurosis gave rise to a stout terminal tendon, which inserted into the crescentlike rugosity on the craniolateral surface of the greater trochanter, proximal to the insertion of m. iliotrochantericus medius. The area craniad to this insertion is smooth and variable in different species of moa (KOOYMAN 1991) and was covered by a sheet of cartilage that facilitated sliding of the terminal tendon of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis over the crista trochanteris (ZINOVIEV 2010). The large and powerful belly of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis covered the smaller bellies of mm. iliotrochanterici cranialis et medius. The fleshy origin of m. iliotrochantericus medius is marked on the lateral surface of ala preacetabularis ilii by an oval rugose area between the beginning of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis and m. iliotrochantericus cranialis. In many birds this muscle fuses with the more powerful m. iliotrochantericus cranialis (ZINOVIEV 2010). The presence of a separate medial iliotrochanteric muscle in moas is also marked by its well-defined place of insertion on the rugose area between the insertions of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis and m. iliotrochantericus cranialis. The insertion of m. iliotrochantericus cranialis on the craniolateral surface of the femoral shaft is also marked by rugosity. A shallow saddle-shaped area marks the passage of the terminal tendon of this muscle over the distal part of crista trochanteris. The origin of m. iliotrochantericus cranialis, like that of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis, is a combination of muscular and tendinous attachments. The area of origin is from the ventral rim of ala preacetabularis ilii and the adjacent area of its lateral surface just below the origins of other iliotrochanterici. Remains of terminal tendons of mm. iliotrochanterici caudalis et cranialis were reported by COUGHTREY (1874a).

Comparison — As in other large cursorial birds, mm. iliotrochanterici of moa are well developed with a complex structure and bear the closest topological resemblance to those of *Dromaius* and *Apteryx* of Ratitae (McGowan 1979; PATAK & BALDWIN 1998). However, the position of mm. iliotrochanterici in moa is typical of most of birds and can be considered primitive (ZINOVIEV 2010). Mm. iliotrochanterici of other ratites, such as *Rhea* and *Struthio*, show features of specialization (GANGL *et al.* 2004; ZINOVIEV 2006; PICASSO 2010).

M. iliofemoralis internus — The presence of a minute m iliofemoralis internus (Figs 1A, C; 2A, C, E) is marked by a rugosity on the lateral surface of ala preacetabularis ilii just caudal to the origin of m. iliotrochantericus cranialis and craniad to that of m. ambiens. This muscle is weak and parallel-fibered in birds, other than Struthio, and inserts on the ventromedial surface of femoral shaft often leaving no trace of its insertion. In E. crassus, a slight tuberosity in the corresponding area is likely the point of insertion for this muscle. However, an oval tuberosity (deeply excavated in E. crassus) on the craniomedial surface of the femoral shaft, just distal to the *caput femoris*, could also be a candidate for the point of insertion (OWEN 1858). COUGHTREY (1874a) found several fibers still attached to this area and followed OWEN in attributing them to m. iliofemoralis internus. Such an unusual insertion for the internal iliofemoral muscle poses a problem of interpretation. Although generally weak and sometimes absent in birds, this muscle in its regular position turns the femur outwards, thus regulating movements in hip joint (ZINOVIEV 2007). In the position, proposed by OWEN (1858), it would be an extremely ineffective inward rotator of the femur, compared to the much more powerful mm. iliotrochanterici.

Comparison — M. iliofemoralis internus is quite uniformly weak in the majority of birds. Among ratites it is generally weaker in Casuariiformes but strongly developed with shift in the point of origin in *Struthio*. None of the recent or extinct birds show a comparable shift of the insertion of this muscle (ZINOVIEV 2010, 2011).

M. iliofemoralis externus — The origin and insertion of a strong m. iliofemoralis externus (Figs 1A, C; 2D) are well marked in moa. Like m. iliotrochantericus caudalis it had fleshy and tendinous origin (multipinnate) on ala preacetabularis ilii just caudal to the origin of the aforementioned muscle. The extent of the caudal expansion of this muscle is limited by the beginning of crista dorsolateralis ilii. The insertion of this muscle on the femoral trochanter is among the most prominent. An extensive, slightly oblique scar is situated between insertion of mm. iliotrochanterici and that of m. ischiofemoralis. On its way to the insertion, a strong and broad tendon of m. iliofemoralis externus must have crossed underlying terminal tendons of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis and m. obturatorius medialis. The remains of this tendon are described by COUGHTREY (1874a).

Comparison — M. iliofemoralis externus is generally a weakly developed femoral abductor in birds, as more powerful protractors and retractors of the femur also abduct it (ZINOVIEV & DZERZHINSKY 2000). However, in cursorial and, especially, large cursorial birds, it is better developed (ZINOVIEV 2007, 2010). Among ratites this muscle is stronger in *Apteryx* (OWEN, 1849a) and *Dromaius*, the latter having multipinnate m. iliofemoralis externus (PATTERSON, 1983).

M. ambiens — In *D. robustus* m. ambiens (Fig. 1A, C) arose from a rugose area at the junction of the ilium and the pubis (the pectineal process in moa is not prominent). The rugose area is more expansive on the ilium. The course of the muscle is obscure, since it does not insert on a bone in birds; its terminal tendon fuses with aponeurosis communis fibularis upon crossing the knee joint.

Comparison — Generally vestigial, m. ambiens disappears in a number of perching birds. In

cursorial birds it is better developed and associated with locomotion in groups with single limb supported phases (ZINOVIEV 2007). Ratites show considerable variation in the morphology of this muscle. In *Struthio*, it originates from the center of ala preacetabularis ilii, whereas in others it originates from the pectineal process. It is reportedly absent in Casuariiformes (GARROD 1873; GADOW 1880; BEDDARD 1898). However, a slip that originates from proc. pectineus and fuses with the tendon of m. femorotibialis medius could be the remnant of m. ambiens. It shows tendencies for similar fusion in Rheiformes (GADOW & SELENKA 1891).

*M. obturatorius medialis*¹ — M. obturatorius medialis is the only muscle in modern birds which originates on the visceral surface of the pelvis (Figs 1B; 2B, D). Traces of its origin in D. robustus suggest that it must have had two bellies. The dorsal belly originated aponeurotically from the medial surface of the postacetabular ilium, immediately adjacent to foramen ilioischiadicum as well as from the dorsal half of the ischium facing the foramen. The main bulk of muscular fiber of the dorsal portion undoubtedly arose from membr. ilioischiadica itself. The ventral belly originated from membr. ischiopubica and adjacent surfaces of the ischium and pubis that are tilted towards it. It is difficult to reconstruct the expansion of the bellies caudally, since they have not left definite traces. However, they must have expanded to some extent along the strengthened caudal portions of membr. ilioischiadica and membr. ischiopubica (ligg. ilioischiadicum et ischiopubicum). The terminal tendon passed through foramen obturatum, which was separated from fenestra ischiopubica by the tendinous bridge. It inserted on the lateral surface of the proximal femur just caudal to the insertion of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis. The passage of the terminal tendon along the femur is marked by smooth area that was undoubtedly covered by the thin layer of cartilage. Remains of the terminal tendon are reported by COUGHTREY (1874a).

¹ *M. obturatorius lateralis*, which is always present in birds (ZINOVIEV 2010), sheathes the terminal tendon of m. obturatorius medialis and must have been present in moa. However, it leaves such faint traces on bones, that its precise reconstruction is not possible.

Comparison — M. obturatorius medialis is quite uniform in birds, sometimes having two heads of origin. It is quite variable in Ratitae; *Struthio* is the only bird, in which part of the muscle starts from lateral surfaces of lamina ischiopubica and adjacent areas of ischium and pubis (ZINOVIEV 2007). Casuariiformes and Rheiformes also have two heads of this muscle (GADOW 1880; GADOW & SELENKA 1891; PATTER-SON 1983; PICASSO 2010).

M. ischiofemoralis — The deepest muscle of the acetabular pelvis is m. ischiofemoralis (Figs 1A; 2B, D, F). Origins of muscles of the postacetabular pelvis are difficult to reconstruct because they leave only faint traces on the bones. This is also the case for m. ischiofemoralis, the large part of which originates from the lateral surface of membr. ilioischiadica. This membrane was undoubtedly present in moa (see the description of the previous muscle) as indicated by the sharp rims of the ilium and ischium that project towards each other. Only the ventral border of m. ischiofemoralis is detectable on the ischiac bone of D. robustus. The muscle's belly started from the dorsal half of the ischium, near the level of the caudal half of foramen obturatum, and extended about two-thirds along that bone. To what extent it expanded over membr. ilioischiadica or perhaps originated on the adjacent area of the postacetabular ilium, as in many modern birds, remains unclear. A strong tendon of this muscle inserted on the lateral side of the femoral shaft on a tuberosity just caudal and distal to the insertion of m. iliofemoralis externus. This area is guite pronounced in E. crassus but much fainter in D. robustus.

Comparison — M. ischiofemoralis is quite morphologically conservative in birds and moas are not an exception.

M. iliofemoralis and m. caudofemoralis — The presence of a well-developed m. iliofemoralis (Figs 1A, C; 2 B, F) is defined by attachment to a ridge, which extends along the caudal border of the femoral shaft from the insertion of m. ischiofemoralis to the proximal point of insertion of pars accessoria m. flexor cruris lateralis. This ridge in *E. crassus* runs very close to that of the medially situated mm. puboischiofemorales,

whereas *D. robustus* shows a greater distance between the two ridges. The pelvic origin of m. iliofemoralis should have started somewhere on the ilium between crista iliaca dorsolateralis and membr. ilioischiadica. In life, part of it might also have started on the membrane. There are no definite traces of the presence of m. caudofemoralis in either species of moa examined in this study.

Comparison — Although proceeding from the position of the adjacent muscular bellies, the shape of the belly of m. iliofemoralis in D. robustus must have been similar to that of the majority of birds, its extended insertion on the femoral shaft is a rare feature, which was earlier recorded only for Apteryx australis (McGOWAN 1979). The postacetabular portion of the pelvis in E. crassus was not available for the study. As for m. caudofemoralis, it might have been altogether absent in moa. The presence of this muscle is usually related to the development of the tail, which it bends sideways. It is absent in Rheiformes and Dromaius, vestigial in Casuarius (GARROD 1873; GADOW 1880; PYCRAFT 1900; PATTERSON 1983; PICASSO 2010), but present in Apteryx and Struthio (GADOW 1880; OWEN 1849a; MCGOWAN, 1979).

Mm. puboischiofemorales — These major femoral retractors, mm. puboischiofemorales (Figs 1A; 2B, F), are always present in birds and consist of two parts, one superficial or lateral and another deeper or medial. The beginning of the lateral portion is partially detectable on the pelvis of D. robustus. It started from the ventral half of the ischium, leaving free only its caudal fifth. The deeper part must have originated ventrally from the same bone and also from the part of membr. ischiopubica. The insertions of the muscles are on the ridge, running along the caudal surface of the femoral shaft medial to the ridge marking the insertion of m. iliofemoralis. The ridge starts from the level of insertion of m. ischiofemoralis and terminates at the distal level of the insertion of pars accessoria m. flexor cruris lateralis.

Comparison — As major femoral retractors, mm. puboischiofemorales are quite uniform in birds, and the moa does not show any deviations from the general plan.

Mm. flexores crures lateralis et medialis — Both flexors of the knee joint and inward rotators of



FIGURE 2. Right femora of: **A-D**, *Dinornis robustus* (MG. Av. 1570) cranial, caudal, medial and lateral aspects; **E-F**, *Emeus crassus* (MB. Av. 1571), cranial and caudal aspects, **G**, right knee joint of the same *Emeus* specimen, showing attachments of some muscles and ligaments.

Abbreviations: ACA, apon. communis ansae; ACC, apon. communis collateralis; ACF, apon. communis fibularis; ACP, apon. communis poplitea; ap. c., apex capitis; cap. f., caput femoris; cr. cn. p., crista cnemialis patellaris; cr. tr., crista trochanteris; FCLA, m. flexor cruris lateralis pars accessoria; fov. l. c., fovea lig. capitis; FTE, m. femorotibialis externus; FTEd, m. femorotibialis externus pars distalis; FTEp, m. femorotibialis externus pars proximalis; FTEp+d, m. femorotibialis externus partes proximalis et distalis; FTMp, m. femorotibialis internus; FTM, m. femorotibialis medius; FTMd, m. femorotibialis medius pars distalis; FTMp, m. femorotibialis medius pars proximalis; IFI, m. iliofemoralis internus; ILF, m. iliofemoralis; ISF, m. ischiofemoralis; ITCD, m. iliotrochantericus caudalis; ITCR, m. iliotrochantericus cranialis; ITM, m. iliotrochantericus medius; lig. c. f., lig. capitis femoris; lig. c. l. g., lig. collaterale laterale genus; lig. c. m. g., lig. collaterale mediale genus; l. i. c., linea intermuscularis cranialis; I. i. m., linea intermuscularis medialis; OM, m. obturatorius medialis; PIF, mm. puboischiofemorales; TCF, m. tibialis cranialis caput femorale; X, pars proximalis ansae m. iliofibularis; Y pars lateralis ansae m. iliofibularis. the shank, mm. flexores crures lateralis et medialis, were present in moa (Figs 1A, B; 2B, F). The origin of the lateral one is detectable on the ischium caudal to the origin of m. ischiofemoralis. It might have also originated from the caudal part of the postacetabular ilium and strong ligament, which united ilium and ischium (see above). But these traces are not detectable. The medial muscle started from the apical part of the ischium, ventral to the origin of lateral part and caudal to that of mm. puboischiofemorales. Both bellies ran towards the tibiotarsus to insert on its medial surface at the pronounced, slightly oblique rugosity cranial to the insertion of lig. collaterale mediale genus. Before providing the terminal tendon for the common tibiotarsal insertion, the lateral part gave a rise to an accessory belly whose fleshy part attached to the triangular area proximal to aponeurosis commuis poplitea.

Comparison — Both muscles are well developed in cursorial birds, including ratites. Their origin may migrate onto several tail vertebrae (Rheiformes, Apterygiformes), which is impossible to prove for moa. However, it is almost certain, that the lateral muscle had a tendinous connection with the intermediate head of m. gastrocnemius, which is characteristic for all the Ratitae and a majority of basal birds.

M. iliofibularis — Moa exhibit a muscular organization seen in other birds in which m. iliofibularis originates along almost the entire length of postacetabular ilium, just above the origins of m. ischiofemoralis and m. iliofemoralis and below the postacetabular portion of m. iliotibialis lateralis (Figs 1A, C; 4C, D). It gradually tapered distally and a tendon of insertion passed through the tendinous loop (as described in the section on the knee joint, below) to insert on tuberositas m. iliofibularis on the lateral side of the fibula, just distal to the insertion of lig. collaterale laterale genus. The tendinous evidence for this insertion in *D. robustus* is reported by COUGHTREY (1874a).

Comparison — This muscle is quite uniformly developed through the entirety of Class Aves, regardless of variation in locomotor habits (ZINOVIEV 2010).

Mm. iliotibiales lateralis et cranialis — The most superficial muscles of the thigh, mm. iliotibiales

lateralis et cranialis were extremely well developed in moa. Although the most cranial part of ala preacetabularis ilii is missing in our material, the caudal surface of the origin of m. iliotibialis cranialis is fortunately preserved (Fig. 1A, C). It shows a thick combination of fleshy and tendinous origins but not the aponeurotic type seen in many birds. The preacetabular portion of m. iliotrochantericus lateralis shows a similar origin that extended up to the beginning of m. iliofemoralis externus. The acetabular portion of the muscle had a much thinner origin, providing adequate space for the origin of m. iliofemoralis externus. The beginning of the postacetabular portion was equally thick and extended to a point slightly behind the caudal edge of the antitrochanter. From that point, a much thinner line of origin for the postacetabular portion ran caudally along the rest of crista iliaca dorsolateralis. Both muscles contributed to the formation of the patellar tendon, which inserted on crista cnemialis lateralis and crista cnemialis patellaris. Part of the tendinous insertion of these muscles is reported by COUGHTREY (1874a).

Comparison — Well developed mm. iliotibiales are characteristic for cursorial birds and are especially strong in ratites (ZINOVIEV 2011).

Femoral muscles

The femoral muscle complex of birds (Fig. 2) consists of three major parts, which envelope almost the entire femoral shaft. The primary function of these muscles is to extend of the knee joint. The lateral and medial portions of this complex can also supinate and pronate the crus (ZINOVIEV 2010). These muscles are especially well developed in cursorial birds.

M. femorotibialis externus — Both proximal and distal parts of m. femorotibialis externus were present in *D. robustus* and *E. crassus* (Fig. 2A, B, D-G). They were better defined in the latter species with greater femoral relief. Pars proximalis originated from an area, bordered cranially by crista trochanterics; proximally, by the insertion of m. iliotrochantericus caudalis; proximoventrally, by the insertion of m. iliofemoralis externus and m. ischiofemoralis; and ventrally, by the extended insertion ridge for m. iliofemoralis (see above).

On the cranial surface of the femoral shaft the expansion of pars distalis is restricted by linea intermuscularis cranialis, whose lateral branch goes to the condylus lateralis. Pars distalis was covered by the proximal portion and partially had the same ventral and proximal borders. Its cranial expansion on the lateral side of the femoral shaft was limited by a faint ridge, which starts at the point between the insertions of m. iliofemoralis externus and m. ischiofemoralis and runs along the lateral surface of the femoral shaft to a point slightly beyond the proximal level of the insertion of pars accessoria m. flexorius cruris lateralis. Both, proximal and distal parts contributed to the lateral part of patellar tendon that inserted on the external edge of crista cnemialis lateralis.

Comparison — The development of m. femorotibialis externus in moa is typical for cursorial birds. In ratites the proximal part of the muscle completely covers the distal one, which extends proximally along the femoral shaft (ZINOVIEV 2010).

M. femorotibialis medius — M. femorotibialis medius had the fleshy origin along the entire cranial surface of the femoral shaft (Fig. 2A, C, E, G). It was also divided into proximal and distal parts. The proximal part had a tendinous origin from the tuberosity on the distal portion of crista trochanteris and a fleshy origin from the area between linea intermuscularis cranialis (with a branch to condylus medialis) and linea intermuscularis medialis, dividing the belly of m. femorotibialis medius from that of m. femorotibialis internus. The extent of proximal migration of the m. femorotibialis medius belly between crista trochanteris and caput femoris is not clear. A terminal tendon from the proximal part contributed to the formation of the patellar tendon. The distal part of m. femorotibialis medius had a fleshy origin in a well-defined area between branches of linea intermuscularis cranialis. It was completely covered by the proximal part of mm. femorotibiales lateralis et medius. Muscle fibers of the distal part, most likely, inserted directly to the proximal border of the patella, as in the majority of birds. Some muscular fibers of m. femorotibialis medius were described by COUGHTREY (1874a).

Comparison — As for the previous muscle, the development of m. femorotibialis medius in

moa is typical for cursorial birds. Ratites show progressive enlargement of the distal part of the muscle, which reaches its maximal development in *Struthio* (ZINOVIEV 2010).

M. femorotibialis internus — The origin of m. femorotibialis internus was confined to the medial and caudomedial surfaces of the femoral shaft (Fig. 2A, C, E, F). Its body was restricted caudally by the ridge of insertion for mm. puboischiofemorales and cranially by linea intermuscularis medialis. The extent to which m. femorotibialis internus expanded proximally is not clear. However, there is an excavated area near the proximal reaches of the muscle that strongly suggests a tendinous origin. Such a structure is unique for Dinornithiformes. If it does not reflect the insertion of m. iliofemoralis internus, the strengthened tendinous part of the other (superficial) head of m. femorotibialis internus might have been solely responsible for this feature. In this suggestion I agree with the interpretation of KOOYMAN (1991).

Comparison — M. femorotibialis internus generally consists of two bellies (ZINOVIEV 2010). Ratites show many deviations from the general type by having up two three bellies (Struthioniformes, Rheiformes, Casuariiformes). The unusual rugose pit near the beginning of m. iliofemoralis internus belly might represent a deviations strictly confined to Dinornithiformes.

Knee joint

Due to the migration craniad of the center of gravity in birds, the knee joint has become the major pivot, around which the hind limb moves (Figs 2, 3, 4). Despite the majority of locomotor adaptations, avian knee joint is morphologically conservative, showing striking similarity among the various ecological groups (ZINOVIEV 2010) and does not differ from the general type, even in highly specialized birds (ZINOVIEV 2011). Therefore, it seems very likely that the moa, residing well within Neornithes, had a knee joint similar to that of other modern birds. All evidence suggests that this is, in fact, so.

In addition to the relatively feeble joint capsule, the knee of moa was stabilized by a robust set of collateral ligaments. Lig. collaterale laterale genus originated in a deeply excavated



FIGURE 3. Right knee joint of *Dromaius novaehollandiae* (Museum of Natural History of the University of Kansas, without no.) **A**, overflexed, cranial view; **B**, distal articular surface. From ZINOVIEV (2010) with changes. Abbreviations: corp. lip., corpus liposum; fib., fibula; lig. c. l. g., lig. collaterale laterale genus; lig. cr. cd., lig. cruciatum caudale; lig. cr. cr., lig. cruciatum craniale; lig. mfb., lig. meniscofibulare; lig. mncl. l., lig. menisco-collaterale laterale; lig. mnfm. l, lig. meniscofemorale laterale; lig. mnfm. m., lig. meniscofemorale mediale; lig. mtb. cr., lig. meniscotibiale craniale; lig. tbf. cr., lig. tibiofibulare craniale; lig. tbf. cd., lig. tibiofibulare caudale; lig. tr. g., lig. transversum genus; men. l. g., meniscus lateralis genus; men. m. g., meniscus medialis genus; TCF, m. tibialis cranialis caput femorale.

fossa on the lateral surface of corresponding femoral condyle. Its passage to the place of insertion is marked by a groove on the lateral femoral condyle and a smoothed area on the lateral surface of the fibula. The lateral collateral ligament of the knee was inserted on the lateral surface of the fibular shaft just proximal to the insertion of m. iliofibularis. Lig. collaterale mediale genus started from a less deeply excavated fossa on the medial side of the corresponding femoral condyle. Its passage across the knee joint is marked by a slight depression in condylus femoris medialis. The ligament inserted on the medial surface of the tibiotarsal shaft slightly distal to the insertion of its lateral counterpart. The place of insertion of this ligament was covered by the common tibiotarsal attachment of mm. flexores crures lateralis et medialis. The articular surfaces have been damaged in the mounted skeleton of E. crassus and in the previously mounted specimen of D. robustus and did not allow us to prepare clear illustrations. However, the position of ligg. cruciata and other ligaments, which held both menisci in place, and ligaments holding the head of fibula against tibiotarsus, closely resembled those of *Dromaius* (Fig. 3).

Muscles of the crus

As noted in an earlier publication (ZINOVIEV 2011), the reconstruction of the crural muscles is difficult due to the limited space available for their origin on the distal femur and proximal crus (Figs 1, 4-6). This shortage of space and the necessity to retain mobility in the knee joint has resulted in crowding of the origins for crural muscles near the knee. They often share an origin on common aponeuroses rather than originating separately from the bones (ZINOVIEV 2003a). However, the aponeuroses leave clear traces on the bones and thus can be reconstructed with the high degree of confidence (ZINOVIEV 2011). Those attached to cnemial crests might have been relatively smaller than in the majority of other birds (a feature, already noted by earlier authors: OWEN 1849c) and closely approached proportions seen in Apteryx (see Discussion). The following description includes the reconstruction of the ligamentous loop (ansa m. iliofibularis), which is intimately associated with aponeuroses originales (Figs 2, 4).

Aponeuroses originales communes musculorum cruris

Aponeurosis communis ansae (Fig. 2B, F) originates in all known birds on the lateral femoral epicondyle and is associated with the lateral branch of ansa m. iliofibularis. It was enormously developed in moa. Both of the species studied here and others show a deep elongated or circular fossa at the same location on the lateral femoral epicondyle. The feature was correctly interpreted by KOOYMAN (1991), who associated the fossa with the lateral branch of the loop (Fig. 2D) and with the beginning of the lateral part of m. gastrocnemius. Aponeurosis communis collateralis (Fig. 2D, G) is intimately associated with the beginning of lig. collaterale laterale genus and is detectable in moa. It started from a site near the origin of the mentioned collateral ligament and expanded cranioproximally along the lateral surface of the femoral condyle. The cranial branch of ansa m. iliofibularis (Figs 2G, 4C) left a longitudinal rugosity on the lateral side of the fibular shaft between the fibular head and the beginning of lig. collaterale laterale genus. Aponeurosis communis poplitea (Fig. 2B, F, G) started from the entire popliteal area, in front and slightly mediad to the insertion of accessory part of m. flexor cruris lateralis. The presence of aponeurosis communis fibularis (Figs 2G, 4C) is marked by rugosity on the lateral surface of the fibular head just above the insertion of the cranial branch of the ligamentous loop². Whether it was associated with the terminal tendon of m. ambiens, as in the majority of birds possessing this muscle, or not, is unclear. There are no traces of m. ambiens crossing the knee joint; no such traces have been reported for the preserved patella (OWEN 1883a). The beginning of aponeurosis communis lateralis (Figs 2G, 4A-C) is traceable along the distal portion of crista cnemialis lateralis. In contrast, the beginning of aponeurosis communis dorsalis (Fig. 4A, B) is quite continuous, starting on the cranial cnemial crest and extending down the tibiotarsus well to the beginning of sulcus extensorius. The last, proximal, branch of ansa m. iliofibularis started from the slight depression on the lateral surface of the femoral shaft cranioproximally from the place of beginning of aponeurosis communis ansae (Fig. 2D).

M. popliteus — The inward rotator of the crus, m. popliteus (Fig. 4D), is essential in assisting cursorial birds to place the foot accurately under the body's centre of mass (ZINOVIEV 2011). It was well developed in moa and started from a slightly elevated area on the ventral surface of the fibular shaft just distal to the fibular head. The muscle inserted on a rugose area of the ventral tibiotarsus just below facies articularis medialis tibiotarsi.

Comparison — M. popliteus, when present, is quite uniform in birds. It is well developed in ratites. *Apteryx* might be an exception by having a vestigial m. popliteus. It was reported for *Apteryx australis* by OWEN (1849a), but has not been mentioned by the later authors (BEDDARD 1899; MCGOWAN 1979; VANDEN BERGE 1982).

M. plantaris — The beginning of m. plantaris is clearly marked in *E. crassus* by the relatively small unevenness on the ventromedial surface of tibiotarsus just below facies articularis medialis (Fig. 4A, D). This part of the tibiotarsus in the specimen of *D. robustus* has unfortunately been eroded. Undoubtedly small in *E. crassus*, it was partially covered near its origin by lig. collaterale mediale genus. The insertion must have been typical to the proximomedial edge of the tibial cartilage. The terminal tendon of this muscle is so feeble in ratites, that it might have not been preserved in the mummy of *D. robustus*, inspected by COUGHTREY (1874b).

Comparison — This muscle is small, vestigial or sometimes absent in Ratitae (ZINOVIEV, 2010).

M. extensor digitorum longus — The common extensor of foretoes had a fleshy origin in moas, arising from the area between cnemial crests (Figs 4A, B, C; 5A; 6A, C, D, E, G, H). Due to the restriction of this area in Dinornithiformes and relatively small size of the cnemial crests, the bulk of the muscle must have been distributed distally along the cranial shaft of the tibiotarsus

² Lig. collaterale laterale genus and aponeurosis communis are often fused at the insertion on fibula, so their division on Fig. 2G is very approximate.



with some of the muscular fibers starting on the lateral surface of aponeurosis communis dorsalis. Other fibers might have started on the cranial surface of fibular shaft, as in Rheiformes (HAUGHTON 1868; GADOW & SELENKA 1891). As discussed above, most of the muscles originating along the tibiotarsal shaft do not leave well-defined traces on the bone. Moa are not an exception. Keeping in mind the graviportal nature of New Zealand's feathered giants. I can assume that the belly of this muscle ended near the beginning of sulcus extensorius tibiotarsi, in which only the terminal tendon of the muscle entered. The oval terminal tendon of m. extensor digitorum longus passed under ligamentum transversum together with the terminal tendon of m. tibialis cranialis. The transverse ligament, the presence of which is marked by two corresponding tuberosities, was slightly elevated medially, as in other birds. After emerging from beneath lig. transversum, the terminal tendon of the long extensor of the foretoes passed through canalis extensorius below the ossified pons supratendineus and crossed the intertarsal joint in incisura intercondylaris. The terminal tendon then followed a path medial to the insertion of m. tibialis cranialis and was held in place by retinaculum extensorium tarsometatarsi, which medial insertion lies immediately craniad of the insertion of lig. collaterale mediale intertarsale. After emerging from under the retinaculum, the terminal tendon attained a central position on the dorsal surface of the tarsometatarsus. There are no traces of its passage along the anterior surface of the tarsometatarsus and only the most proximal portion is preserved on the mummy of D. robus*tus* studied by COUGHTREY (1874b). However, the terminal tendon must have widened before trifurcating near the distal end of tarsometatarsus to send three branches to the foretoes. The pattern of further branching is too complex and variable among birds to be reconstructed with confidence in moa (ZINOVIEV 2010). The only thing I can be sure of that all three branches inserted to the extensorial tuberosities of the corresponding ungual phalanges.

Comparison — The muscle is quite uniform in birds (ZINOVIEV 2010). In Casuariiformes and Apterygiformes the branch to the third toe bifurcates. However, that can not be proved for Dinornithiformes. In the majority of Ratitae and some other birds the terminal tendon of m. extensor digitorum longus perforates that of m. tibialis cranialis. The absence of this feature in Dinornithiformes makes them similar to Tinamiformes and Apterygiformes.

M. tibialis cranialis — M. tibialis cranialis is a dorsal flexor of the intertarsal joint and consists of two heads (Figs 2A, E, G; 3A; 4B, C; 5A, E). The femoral head had its tendinous origin in fovea tendineus m. tibialis cranialis on the anterior surface of the lateral condyle of the femur. It passed then through incisura tibialis and merged with the belly of the tibiotarsal head. The tibiotarsal head overlaid m. extensor digitorum longus, originating from facing surfaces of the cnemial crests and of aponeuroses communes lateralis et dorsalis, as well as from the cranial surface of the tibiotarsal shaft. The breadth of the muscle's belly can be traced along the bone to the origin

▼IGURE 4. Right tibiotarsus and proximal half of fibula of *Emeus crassus* (MB. Av. 1571), A–D, medial, cranial, lateral and caudal aspects; left tibiotarsus of Dinornis robustus, E, distal fourth, cranial aspect; proximal and distal articular surfaces of right intertarsal joint of *E. crassus*, showing attachments of some muscles and ligaments, F, G. Lig. ant. illustrates the absence of any traces of lig. intercondylare. Abbreviations: ACD, apon. communis dorsalis; ACF, apon. communis fibularis; ACL, apon. communis lateralis; cor. cd. m. l. i., cornu caudale menisci lateralis intertarsi; cr. cn. l., crista cnemialis lateralis; FCL, m. flexor cruris lateralis; FDL, m. flexor digitorum longus; FL, m. fibularis longus; FTE, m. femorotibialis externus; FTM, m. femorotibialis medius; GM, m. gastrocnemius medialis; IF, m. iliofibularis; inc. tib., incisura tibialis; lig. c. l. g., lig. collaterale laterale genus; lig. c. l. i., lig. collaterale mediale intertarsi; lig. c. m. i., lig. collaterale mediale intertarsi; lig. c. m. i., lig. collaterale mediale intertarsi; lig. c. m. i., lig. collaterale mediale intertarsi; lig. tr., lig. transversum; PLA, m. plantaris; pons std., pons supratendineus; POP, m. popliteus; sulc. e. tb., sulcus extensorius tibiotarsi; TCT, m. tibialis cranialis caput tibiotarsale; tr. c. t., trochlea cartilaginis tibialis; Z, pars distalis ansae m. iliofibularis.

of sulcus extensorius tibiotarsi, as in the previous case. The terminal tendon passed superficially to the terminal tendon m. extensor digitorum longus, under lig. transversum tibiotarsi and then, over pons supratendineus. It crossed the intertarsal joint in sulcus intercondylaris tibiotarsi and inserted in the deeply excavated fossa on the cranial surface of the proximal tarsometatarsus. It was not penetrated by the terminal tendon of the long flexor of the foretoes (see above). No such penetration was found by COUGHTREY (1874b) on the mummy of *D. robustus*, which preserved only "a tuft of the insertion" of the terminal tendon of m. tibialis cranialis.

Comparison — The muscle is quite uniform in birds and better developed in those, for which the flexion of intertarsal joint is of particular importance (cursorial, raptorial, foot-propelled swimming etc.). As it was mentioned above, the tendon of m. extensor digitorum longus penetrates the terminal tendon of the muscle in some birds. This is characteristic for ratites, except for the Tinamidae and *Apteryx*.

M. flexor digitorum longus — The deepest of avian digital flexors, m. flexor digitorum longus originated on the posterior surfaces of tibiotarsus and fibula (Figs 4C, D; 5B, C, D, F, G, H). Both surfaces of the bone are rough, suggesting the fleshy origin for the muscle. The exact extent of the muscule's belly is impossible to reconstruct as it has not left definite traces of its borders. Nor is their evidence to suggest a third origin of the muscle from the ventral surface of the lateral femoral condyle. The terminal tendon of the muscle crossed the intertarsal join in the tibial cartilage, the presence of which in moa is marked by a well-developed trochlea cartilaginis tibialis. The tibial cartilage is clearly illustrated on the drawing from COUGHTREY (1874b). In D. robustus the lateral portion of it contained a sesamoid bone. The surface, incorporating similar bone is also seen in E. crassus. The terminal tendon travelled along the plantar surface of the tarsometatarsus in a channel deeper than other flexorial tendons. After branching at the base of the toes and going over sesamoid cartilages, reported by Coughtrey only for the second and third toes, the terminal tendon of m. flexor digitorum longus serviced three foretoes with the main slips inserted on tubercula flexorii of the ungual phalanges. Variably arranged additional slips attached to the proximal phalanges. Unfortunately, the description, given by COUGHTREY (1874b), is not sufficiently clear to understand the exact arrangement of the branching.

Comparison — The belly of the muscle is quite uniform in birds, the size of it and expansion on the femur are being slightly variable. The pattern of terminal tendon branching is much more variable, being a subject of individual variation (RAIKOW 1978).

M. flexor hallucis longus — All the Dinornithiformes possessed a hallux, which was, however, much reduced and elevated. It must have been supplied by m. flexor hallucis longus. This muscle is always present in birds even in those that lack a hind toe. The tendinous bridge, vinculum tendineum flexorum, which runs obliquely from the terminal tendon of m. flexor hallucis longus to that of m. flexor digitorum longus, allows the former to assist in the flexion of the foretoes. Upon the disappearance of the hallux and the corresponding tendon of m. flexor hallucis longus, m. flexor hallucis longus becomes an accessory flexor of the foretoes. Being superficial to m. flexor digitorum longus, it has more space to expand. These novel duties explain why m. flexor hallucis longus is not only preserved in birds that lack a hallux, but is sometimes enlarged. Its exact development in moa is impossible to reconstruct, since this muscle is rarely in contact with bone, typically originating from some common aponeuroses (e.g. aponeuroses communes fibularis et poplitea) and from superficial aponeurosis of the deeper belly of the long flexor of the foretoes. As in living ratites, which retained a vestigial hallux (some of Tinamiformes and Apterygiformes), m. flexor hallucis longus of moa should have made a main contribution through the aforementioned tendinous bridge to the terminal tendon of m. flexor digitorum longus, sending a much weaker tendon to the hallux. This is a Type II of the deep plantar tendon configuration (RAIKOW 1985; ZINOVIEV 2008).

Comparison — Other members of the Ratitae have quite uniform muscle, which might have two tibial heads (Tinamiformes: PICASSO 2010) or additional femoral head (Apterygiformes: BEDD- ARD, 1899). In *Struthio*, it sends a branch to each of the two remaining foretoes.

Mm. flexores perforantes et perforati digitorum 2 et 3 and mm. flexores perforati digitorum 2, 3

et 4 — A cluster of muscles, mm. flexores perforantes et perforati digitorum 2 et 3 and mm. flexores perforati digitorum 2, 3 et 4, provide flexion for individual digital phalanges (Fig. 6B-D, F-H, J-L). As for the previous muscle, the reconstruction of their bellies is impossible for moa, as they mostly start from the common aponeuroses. However, all of them were present in moa. Their passage along the plantar surface of tarsometatarsus in D. robustus and some patterns of insertion on the toes are described by COUGHTREY (1874b). Tendons of flexors to the second toe passed through the separate aponeurotic sheath and possessed an individual cartilaginous semi-sesamoid. M. flexor perforatus digiti 2 inserted to the base of the first phalanx, being penetrated by m. flexor perforans et perforatus digiti 2 and by the corresponding branch of m. flexor digitorum longus. The details of their insertion remain unknown due to the absence of the rest of the toe in the mummified foot. However, two rugosities on the plantar surface of the second phalanx of the second toe in both species of moa indicate that m. flexor perforans et perforatus digiti 2 inserted there, being penetrated by the branch of long digital flexor. Tendons of flexors for toes three and four were held by a common aponeurotic sheath. The description, given by COUGHTREY (1874b), does not provide the necessary information to interpret details of branching and insertion of the muscles. However, the osseal material shows, that m. flexor perforatus digiti 3 inserted to the base of the first phalanx of the corresponding toe, being penetrated by other tendons. The same is true for m. flexor perforans et perforatus digiti 3, which penetrated the tendon inserted at the base of the second phalanx. Two pronounced rugose surfaces on the base of the first phalanx of the fourth toe show the insertion of the proximal branches of m. flexor perforatus digiti 4. The insertion of distal branches is variable in avian taxa and can not be reconstructed with confidence.

Comparison — The insertions of mm. flexores perforates et perforate digiti 2 et 3 and mm. perforati digiti 2 et 3 of moa are typical to the majority of birds including the Ratitae (except for Struthio which lacks the second toe). The branching pattern of the terminal tendon of m. flexor perforatus digiti 4 is variable in birds. The direct comparison will be possible only after further studies of mummified feet in moa.

M. fibularis longus — Extensor (along with m. gastrocnemius) of intertarsal joint, m. fibularis longus is better developed in cursorial species. The beginning of this muscle in moa is detectable by the uneven surface on the cranial surface of the fibula (Figs 4B, C; 5F, G). Its points of origin from crista cnemialis lateralis and the fibula itself are difficult to define, as they coincide with the origins of several other muscles. Although the mummy of D. robustus did not preserve the insertion of the m. fibularis longus to the proximolateral edge of tibial cartilage, it must have been the point of insertion for the well developed m. fibularis longus as it is in all other cursorial birds (ZINOVIEV 2010). Besides the main insertion, the long fibular muscle has a second tendinous branch leading to the terminal tendon of m. flexor perforatus digiti 3. This muscle, in turn, has a connection to the terminal tendon of m. flexor perforans et perforatus digiti 3 by vinculum tendinum flexorum. This tendinous bridge transmits the power of the large m. fibularis longus to the base of the second phalanx of the third toe, thus preventing overextension during a propulsive push. This vinculum is excellently developed in cursorial birds and would be expected in moa, along with a corresponding branch of m. fibularis longus. In fact, this branch did leave a trace on the lateral surface of the tarsometatarsus as noted, but not interpreted, by OWEN (1874). The trace is a smooth, oblique depression that starts near the level of insertion of m. tibialis cranialis and ends at the middle of the tarsometatarsal shaft. Its passage is fairly clear in D. robustus (Fig. 5F, G) but extremely faint in E. crassus.

Comparison — The reconstructed details of m. fibularis longus morphology in moa correspond to those of other cursorial birds, including members of the Ratitae.

M. fibularis brevis — The presence and degree of development of an inward rotator of the tar-

sometatarsus, m. fibularis brevis, is correlated with the degree of rotational freedom in intertarsal joint (ZINOVIEV 2000, 2011). In moa, strong collateral ligaments, poorly developed menisci, and the absence of lig. anticum indicate highly restricted rotational movement in the intertarsal joint (see below), to the point where I might expect the absence of m. fibularis brevis. In fact, I can detect neither traces of a retinaculum to hold the terminal tendon of this muscle near the distal end of the tibiotarsus (medial to the ligamentum transversum tibiotarsi) nor an insertion on the medial side of the proximal end of the tarsometatarsus. COUGHTREY (1874b) did not report the terminal tendon of this muscle on an otherwise well-preserved lateral aspect of the proximal tarsometatarsus of *D. robustus* and, consequently, the tuberosity, found by KOOYMAN (1991) on the lateral aspect of pons supratendineus, cannot be associated with a retinaculum m. fibularis brevis.

Comparison — In ratites, m. fibularis brevis is either altogether lost (Struthioniformes, Rheiformes, Casuariiformes) or extremely vestigial (Tinamiformes, Apterygiformes).

Mm. gastrocnemii — Powerful extensors of intertarsal joint, mm. gastrocnemii are welldeveloped in cursorial birds (Figs 4A, B, 5B-D, F-H). Being the most superficial muscles of the shank, they originate from common aponeuroses shared with deeper muscles (except for the medial part, which originates from the medial surface of cranial cnemial crest and adjacent area of the shank of the tibiotarsus). Thus, their exact morphology can not be reconstructed from skeletal material. Well-developed origins of aponeuroses communes popliteus et collateralis show correspondingly well developed lateral and intermedial parts of m. gastrocnemius. The medial surface of crista cnemialis cranialis is large enough to harbor the origin of powerful medial part of the muscle. All three parts contributed to a common tendon of insertion, which ran superficially to the tibial cartilage, on the plantar surface of the tarsometatarsus, to form the tendinous sheath over the terminal tendons of the long digital flexors. This sheath was found by COUGHTREY (1874b) in mummified foot of D. robustus. The insertion of it is marked by two wide rugosities running on both sides of the tarsometatarsus, from its proximal end almost to the base of the second and fourth trochleae. This feature is more pronounced in *D. robustus* and much fainter in *E. crassus*. The lateral side of the tendinous sheath is penetrated by the cranial branch of the terminal tendon of m. fibularis longus. The medial side of the sheath passes laterally to the insertion of the first metatarsal element.

Comparison — The composition, degree of development, and the insertion of mm. gastrocnemii in moa are typical for cursorial birds, including ratites.

Intertarsal joint

Avian intertarsal joint chiefly provides flexionextension movements, being held in place by the capsule of the joint and by a number of ligaments (Figs 4, 5). Traces of strong collateral ligaments are well defined in moa. There were two lateral collateral ligaments. Lig. collaterale laterale intertarsi originated from a tuberosity on the level of the lateral attachment for lig. transversum tibiotarsi. It then crossed the intertarsal joint and attached to the tuberosity on the lateral side of the proximal tarsometatarsus but extended no further than the insertion of m. tibialis cranialis. Lig. collaterale laterale intertarsi accessorium originated from depressio epicondylaris lateralis and inserted on the previously mentioned tuberosity, in front of lig. collaterale laterale intertarsi. There were also two ligaments on the medial side of the intertarsal joint. Lig. collaterale mediale, which was far longer its lateral counterpart. It originated from a deeply imprinted tuberous area that starts on the same level as the beginning of the distinct sulcus extensorius tibiotarsi. Lig. collaterale mediale inserted on the tuberosity on the medial side of the proximal tarsometatarsus, extending slightly behind the level of the medial attachment of retinaculum extensorium tarsometatarsi. Lig. collaterale mediale intertarsi accessorium was much shorter and originated in the depressio epicondylaris medialis. It inserted on the lateral surface of the proximal tarsometatarsus in front of, and much proximally to the previous tendon. As the medial articular surface of tarsometatarsus is more congruent with the corresponding condyle of the tarsometatarsus, it was covered by only by a thin layer of articular cartilage, which



-271 -

FIGURE 5. Right intertarsal joint of *Emeus crassus* (MB. Av. 1571), **A–D**, cranial, caudal, medial and lateral aspects; right tarsometatarsus of *Dinornis robustus* (MG. Av. 1570) **E–H**, dorsal, plantar, lateral and medial aspects, showing attachments of some muscles and ligaments. I-IV, metatarsal elements (I is missing).

Abbreviations: ABD4, m. abductor digiti 4; cr. m. h., crista medialis hypotarsi; EBD3, m. extensor brevis digiti 3; EBD4, m. extensor brevis digiti 4; EDL, m. extensor digitorum longus; FL, m. fibularis longus; Gts, m. gast-rocnemius tendinous sheath; inc. icd., incisura intercondylaris; lig. c. l. i., lig. collaterale laterale intertarsi; lig. c. l. i. a., lig. collaterale laterale intertarsi accessorium; lig. c. m. i., lig. collaterale mediale intertarsi; lig. c. m. i. a., lig. collaterale mediale intertarsi accessorium; lig. tr., lig. transversum; ligg. c. mtph., ligamentai collateralia metatarsophalangealia; pons std., pons supratendineus; ret. e. t., retinaculum extensorium tarsometatarsi; sulc. e. tbt., sulcus extensorius tibiotarsi; sulc. io. t., sulcus interosseus tendineus; TC, m. tibialis cranialis.

formed a marginal rim and corresponds to the observations by COUGHTREY (1874b). The lateral articular surface of the tarsometatarsus and its corresponding condyle showed less congruency. It was achieved by the presence of meniscus lateralis intertarsi, whose cornu caudale attached in the fossa on the caudal margin of area intercotylaris tarsometatarsi (Fig. 4G). The presence of meniscus lateralis intertarsi is also reported by COUGHTREY (1874b). The cranial insertion of the lateral meniscus (its cornu craniale) was through lig. meniscotibiale intertarsi on the prominent tubercle, lateral to the distal opening of pons supratendineus tibiotarsi. There were no traces of lig. intercondylare (Fig. 4F, G), which is therefore presumed to be absent in moa. A large sesamoid bone is reportedly attached to the caudal rim of the lateral tarsometatarsal cotyla (COUGHTREY 1874b). It was connected to the lateral meniscus by lig. meniscosesamoideum intertarsi, indirectly reported by the same author. The tibial cartilage, mentioned above, is also associated with the intertarsal joint.

Muscles of the foot

The foot possesses a group of intrinsic muscles (Figs 5, 6) associated with individual toes. These muscles in birds are usually small owing the well developed extrinsic (starting proximally to tarsometatarsus) synergists (ZINOVIEV 2011). Unfortunately, intrinsic muscles rarely leave prominent traces on the tarsometatarsus and thus many of them cannot be reconstructed in detail. M. extensor hallucis longus, m. adductor digiti 2, m. extensor digitorum brevis lateralis (ZINOVIEV 2003b) and m. lumbricalis were almost certainly present in moa, but did not leave traces on the bones of the material available for examination. Radiological studies of mummified moa feet might greatly improve our understanding of the muscles and ligaments of the foot of Dinornithiformes. Here I describe three muscles, which either left traces on bones or have been described by other authors.

M. abductor digiti 2 - M. abductor digiti 2 is the only intrinsic muscle of the foot, reported by COUGHTREY (1874b) from his examination of a mummified specimen of *D. robustus*. He failed to identify it but described its characteristic tendinous insertion. The extent of which the muscle's belly expanded over the craniomedial surface of the tarsometatarsus remains unclear (Fig. 6A, C).

Comparison — The muscle is present and moderately developed in all members of the Ratitae, excluding *Struthio* (ZINOVIEV 2010).

M. abductor digiti 4 — The belly of m. abductor digiti 4 originated from a depressed and slightly rugose area just distal to the proximal end of the tarsometatarsus and lateral to crista lateralis hypotarsi (KOOYMAN 1991) (Figs 5B, D, F, G; 6I, J, L). The muscular belly rapidly tapered towards the terminal tendon, which ran along the lateral side of an aponeurotic sheath formed by the terminal tendon of mm. gastrocnemii. The insertion of m. abductor digiti 4 on the lateral surface of the proximal end of the basal phalanx of the toe is not well-marked. The area of fleshy origin is most clear in *D. robustus* and much fainter in *E. crassus*.

Comparison — The proximal displacement of the muscle's belly is quite typical for Ratitae and many other long-legged birds (ZINOVIEV 2010). There is often a small proximal head, but its presence in moa cannot be proved.

M. extensor brevis digiti 4 — The size of lateral intermetatarsal sulcus shows the shape and development of m. extensor brevis digiti 4 (Figs 5E, 6I, K). It was long and thin in *D. robustus*, starting from the distal level of tuberositas m.

FIGURE 6. Right foretoes of *Dinornis robustus* (MG. Av. 1570): **A–D**, second; **E–H**, third; **I–L**, fourth, dorsal, plantar, medial and lateral aspects, showing attachments of some muscles and ligaments. Attachments are not shown on the ungual phalanx of the fourth toe, since it is artificial.

Abbreviations: ABD2, m. abductor digiti 2; ABD4, m. abductor digiti 4; EBD3, m. extensor brevis digiti 3; EBD4, m. extensor brevis digiti 4; EDL, m. extensor digitorum longus; FDL, m. flexor digitorum longus; FPD2, m. flexor perforatus digiti 2; FPD3, m. perforatus digiti 3; FPD4, m. flexor perforatus digiti 4; FPP2, m. flexor perforatus digiti 2; FPP3, m. flexor perforatus et perforatus digiti 3; ligg. c. iph. 2, ligamenta collateralia interphalangealia digiti 3; ligg. c. iph. 4, ligamenta collateralia interphalangealia digiti 4.



Ε

FPD3

EBD3

EBD3

FPD3



FPD3

G

-273 -

ZINOVIEV: Pelvic and Hindlimb Myology and Syndesmology of some Dinornithiformes

tibialis cranialis. Its shape is not clear in *E. crassus* due to the absence of definite impressions on the bone. The terminal tendon of m. extensor brevis digiti 4 passed through sulcus interosseus tendineus between the third and fourth trochleae to insert on the dorsomedial side of the base of the first phalanx of the fourth toe.

Comparison — The length of the belly of m. extensor brevis digiti 4 was variable among moa (KOOYMAN 1991). In the majority of birds, the terminal tendon passes through canalis interosseus tendineus, but that structure is absent in moa and, reportedly in Struthioniformes and Apterygiformes. It is also absent in juvenile *Dromaius*, but present in the adult (PATTERSON 1983).

M. extensor brevis digiti 3 - M. extensor brevis digiti 3 is a short extensor of the third toe that had a fleshy origin from the distal half of the dorsal surface of the tarsometatarsus (Figs 5E, H; 6E, G, H). The belly lay on the elevated surface of the third metatarsal. The terminal tendon must have inserted on the dorsal surface of the base of the first phalanx of the third toe.

Comparison — The muscle is quite uniform in birds. In the majority of Ratitae its belly is restricted to the distal half of the tarsometatarsus.

Metatarsophalangeal and interphalangeal joints

Ligg. collateralia metatarsophalangealia as well as lig. collateralia interphalangeales of all the foretoes were well-developed and started in fossae on the lateral sides of the trochleae or on the sides of distal ends of phalanges, other than unguals (Figs 5, 6). They inserted laterally and medially to the bases of the corresponding distal phalanges. COUGHTREY (1874b) found them all except lig. collaterale metatarsophalangeale mediale digiti 2. Nevertheless this ligament was present in moa and possessed a prominent fossa at its origin (Fig. 5E). COUGHTREY also reported the presence of grooved cartilagines subarticulares metatarsophalangeales digitorum 2, 3 et 4 as well as cartilagines subarticulares interphalangeales digitorum secundi, tertii et quarti. He also observed vaginae fibrosae sheathing separately flexorial tendons to the third and fourth toes, and those to the second toe.

Discussion

D. robustus and E. crassus represent two branches of locomotory adaptation in moas. Dinornis is more agile whereas Emeus is less (ALEXANDER 1983a, b; KOOYMAN 1985, 1991). Nevertheless, the number and the position of their hindlimb muscles are almost identical. The locomotory specializations appear to depend on the relative development of particular muscles associated with the length of the leg elements. The overall anatomy of the hind limbs in these species resembles that, inferred for other primitive birds (HUDSON 1937; ZINOVIEV 2010). In particular, the hindlimb anatomy and syndesmology of moa resemble that of the Tinamiformes, whose ancestors are now accepted as being close to ancestral palaeognaths. They are also similar to geographically close Apterygiformes and Casuariiformes. Other member of Ratitae, such as Rheiformes and especially Struthioniformes show significant differences related to their own distinct locomotor adaptations.

There are, however, certain traits in hindlimb morphology that characterize the Dinornithiformes. First of all, the enormous development of m. iliofemoralis externus far surpasses the bulk of this muscle in other birds. It is truly unfortunate that information on this muscle in *Aepyornis* is missing. Generally reduced in most birds, this muscle abducts the femur, preventing passive adduction of this bone during the single support stance phase of locomotor cycle. As in other massive ratites with wide pelves, moa must have exerted the maximal power of femoral abductors (m. iliofemoralis externus, m. iliotibialis lateralis pars acetabularis) to keep the body balanced. M. iliotibialis in moa was also very powerful.

A caudal shift in the center of gravity, proposed for moa in comparison to other birds (ALEXANDER 1983a) and especially for *Dinornis* in relation to other moa (KOOYMAN 1985, 1991), does not have anatomical support. Proceeding from the position of antitrochanter, the femur of the moa was carried in the same position as in other cursorial birds. Thus their center of gravity must have been aligned with the knee joints.

The proposed insertion of m. iliofemoralis internus is unusual and may represent another unique characteristic for moa. M. iliofemoralis internus appears to have inserted just distally to the femoral neck on the cranial surface of femoral shaft. Such a position implies a change in function from that of a weak, outward rotator of the femur. The significance of such a shift is unclear and needs to be reexamined in additional mummified remains. Of other pelvic muscles m. iliofemoralis had an unusually long attachment on the posterior surface of the femoral shaft. Outside of Dinornithiformes such a feature is seen only in *Apteryx* (McGOWAN 1979).

Femoral and tibiotarsal muscles are welldeveloped, which is expected in cursorial birds. Traces of their origin on the femur are more pronounced in E. crassus, which, however, may not be related to the degree of femoral muscle development. Muscles of the shank in moa were long-bellied, as in Apteryx. In cursorial birds, there is strong selection to lighten the distal components of the limb but there is no such pressure on graviportal species. Thus cnemial crests of moa were relatively small, since the bulk of the shank muscles were more evenly distributed along the length of tibiotarsus. Most of the shank muscles, including powerful mm. gastrocnemii, originated on the common aponeuroses whose configuration appears to have been similar to that in the majority of birds. Movements in the intertarsal joint, which lacked lig. anticum and its stabilizer, m. fibularis brevis, were restricted to flexion and extension, as in many specialized cursorial birds, including members of the Ratitae. The relative length of the tarsometatarsus is greater in Dinornis, which corresponds to its greater agility. Although the majority of the intrinsic muscles must have been preserved in moa, their relative development is difficult to assess due to the faintness of traces that they left on the tarsometatarsus. Abductors of the second and fourth toes and extensors of the third and fourth toes were slender and long, corresponding to the length of the tarsometatarsus. Terminal tendons of the long digital flexors to the second toe were, at least in D. robustus, separated from those to the other foretoes. This feature might indicate, that the second toe might have played a major role in the scratching and digging reported as a foraging activity of moa attempting to obtain fern rhizomes (OWEN 1849b, 1883b; KIRK 1875; WHITE 1925; BURROWS et al. 1981).

Conclusions

The muscular anatomy of hind limbs in moa was modified according to their weight and their degree of graviportal locomotion. The retention of the wide pelvis makes their pelvic muscles look less modified than comparable muscles in their narrow hipped relatives in the Apterygiformes, Casuariiformes, and Struthioniformes. Resembling in the overall hindlimb anatomy geographically close species of *Apteryx* and *Dromaius*, moas were probably adapted to scratching and digging.

Hopefully, in the future, I will be able to test these anatomical hypotheses on more abundant material.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to Oliver HAMPE (Museum für Naturkunde, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin) for access to specimens. I thank Alan TENNYSON (Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa), Trevor WORTHY (Department of Biological, Earth and Environmental Sciences of the University of New South Wales, Australia) and especially Paul Scofield (Canterbury Museum in Christchurch, New Zealand), who kindly helped me in the identification of moa remains and made useful suggestions on the content of manuscript. I would like to thank Peter BALLMAN (Cologne, Germany) and one anonymous reviewer for their thorough review and comments, many of which significantly improved the paper. Gary KAISER (Royal BC Museum, Canada) very kindly assisted with the manuscript's language.

The research was supported by the DAAD program "Forschungsaufenthalte für Hochschullehrer und Wissenschaftler" (2010) and joint program of DAAD and Ministry of Education and Science of Russian Federation "Michail-Lomonosov-Forschungsstipendien und -aufenthalte" (2011).

References

ALEXANDER, R.M. (1983a): Allometry of the leg bones of moas (Dinornithes) and other birds. – *Journal of Zoology*, **200**/2: 215–231.

- ALEXANDER, R.M. (1983b): On the massive legs of a Moa (*Pachyornis elephantopus*, Dinornithes). – *Journal of Zoology*, **201**: 363–376.
- ALEXANDER, R.M. (1985): The legs of ostriches (*Struthio*) and moas (*Pachyornis*). – Acta Biotheoretica, 34: 165–174.
- ALLIS, T. (1864): Notice of a nearly complete skeleton of a *Dinornis*, presented by Dr. Gibson to the Museum of the Yorkshire Philosophical Society. – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **8**/29: 50–52.
- ANDERSON, A. (1989): Prodigious birds: Moas and Moa-hunting in prehistoric New Zealand. – 238 pp. Cambridge and New York (Cambridge University Press).
- BAUMEL, J.J., KING, A.S., BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E., & VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (eds). (1993): Nomina Anatomica Avium II. – Nuttall Ornithological Club Publications, 23: 779 pp.
- BEDDARD, F.E. (1898): The structure and classification of birds. 548 pp., London (Longmans, Green & Co.).
- BEDDARD, F.E. (1899): Notes on the anatomy of the genus *Apteryx. Novitates Zoologicae*, **6**: 386–402.
- BULLER, W.L. (1888): A History of the Birds of New Zealand. 250 p., London (Published by the Author).
- BURROWS, C.J., MCCULLOCH, B. & TROTTER, M.M. (1981): The diet of moas based on gizzard contents samples from Pyramid Valley, North Canterbury, and Scaifes Lagoon, Lake Wanaka, Otago. – *Records of the Canterbury Museum*, 9: 309–336.
- BUNCE, M., WORTHY, T.H., PHILLIPS, M.J., HOLDAWAY, R.N., WILLERSLEV, E., HAILE, J., SHAPIRO, B., SCO-FIELD, R.P., DRUMMOND, A., KAMP, P.J.J. & COOPER, A. (2009): The evolutionary history of the extinct ratite moa and New Zealand Neogene paleogeography. – Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106/49: 20646–20651.
- COLENSO, W. (1843): An account of some enormous fossil bones of an unknown species of the class Aves lately discovered in New Zealand. – *Tasmanian Journal of Natural Science*, 2/7: 81–107.
- COUGHTREY, M. (1874a): Notes on the anatomy of the moa remains found at Earnscleugh Cave, Alexandria. – *Transactions and Proceedings of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, 7: 141–144.
- COUGHTREY, M. (1874b): Anatomical notes on the Moa's leg found at Knobby Ranges in the Province of Otago. – *Transactions and Proceedings of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, 7: 269–273.
- CRACRAFT, J. (1974): Phylogeny and evolution of the ratite birds. *Ibis*, **116**/3: 494–521.
- CRACRAFT, J. (1976a): The species of moas (Aves, Dinornithidae). – In: OLSON, S.L. (ed.): Collected Papers in Avian Paleontology Honoring the 90th

Birthday of Alexander Wetmore. – *Smithsonian Contributions to Paleobiology*, **27**: 189–205.

- CRACRAFT, J. (1976b): Covariation patterns in the postcranial skeleton of moas (Aves, Dinornithidae): a factor analysis study. – *Paleobiology*, 2/2: 166–173.
- CRACRAFT, J. (1976c): The hindlimb elements of the moas (Aves, Dinornithidae): A multivariate assessment of size and shape. – *Journal of Morphology*, 150/2: 495–526.
- FORREST, R.M. (1987): A partially mummified skeleton of Anomalopteryx didiformis from Southland. – Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand, 17/4: 399–408.
- GADOW, H.F. (1880): Zur vergleichenden Anatomie der Muskulatur des Beckens und der hinteren Gliedmasse der Ratiten. – 57 pp. Jena (Gustav Fischer Verlag).
- GADOW, H.F. & SELENKA, E. (1891): Vögel. I. Anatomischer Teil. – 1008 pp. Leipzig (CF Winter'sche Verlagshandlung).
- GANGL, D., WEISSENGRUBER, G.E., EGERBACHER, M. & FORSTENPOINTNER, G. (2004): Anatomical description of the muscles of the pelvic limb of the Ostrich (*Struthio camelus*). – *Anatomia, Histologia, Embryologia*, 33/2: 100–114.
- GARROD, A.H. (1873): On certain muscles of the thigh of birds, and on their value in classification. Part I. – *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London*, **41**/1: 626–644.
- HAUGHTON, S. (1868): Notes on animal mechanics. No. XI. Muscular anatomy of the rhea (*Struthio Rhea*). – *Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy*, 9: 497–504.
- PATTERSON, C. (1983): Osteology, myology, evolution and paleobiography of the emu *Dromaius sp.* (Family Casuaridae: Dromaiinae). – Master of Science Thesis. – 329 pp. Melbourne (Department of Zoology, Monash University).
- HUDSON, G.E. (1937): Studies on the muscles of the pelvic appendage in birds. *American Midland Naturalist*, **18**/1: 1–108.
- JOHNSTON, P. (2011): New morphological evidence supports congruent phylogenies and Gondwana vicariance for palaeognathous birds. – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **163**/3: 959–982.
- KIRK, T. (1875): Extracts from a letter from F. E. Maning, Esq., relative to the extinction of the Moa. – *Transactions and Proceedings of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, 8: 102–103.
- KOOYMAN, B.P. (1985): Moa and moa hunting: An archaeological analysis of big game hunting in New Zealand. – PhD Thesis. – 444 pp. Dunedin (University of Otago).
- KOOYMAN, B.P. (1991): Implications of bone morphology for moa taxonomy and behavior. – *Journal of Morphology*, **209**/1: 53–81.

- MARSH, O.C. (1872): Prelininary description of *Hesperornis regalis*, with Notices of four other new Species of Cretaceous birds. *American Journal of Sciences*, Ser. 3, **3**/17: 360–365.
- McGowan, C. (1979): The hind limb musculature of the brown kiwi, *Apteryx australis mantelli. – Journal of Morphology*, **160**/1: 33–73.
- OWEN, R. (1839): Notice of a fragment of the femur of a gigantic bird of New Zealand. – *Proceedings* of the Zoological Society of London, 7: 169–171.
- OWEN, R. (1846): [Proceedings of a meeting: Owen read his second memoir on various *Dinornis* remains]. – *Proceedings of the Zoological Society* of London, 14/160: 46–49
- OWEN, R. (1849a): On the anatomy of the Southern Apteryx Shaw. Part II. (Myology). – *Transactions* of the Zoological Society of London, **3**/4: 277–301.
- OWEN, R. (1849b): On *Dinornis*, an extinct genus of tridactyle struthious birds, with description of portions of the skeleton of five species which formerly existed in New Zealand (Part I). – *Transactions of the Zoological Society of London*, 3/3: 235–276.
- OWEN, R. (1849c): On *Dinornis* (Part II.), containing descriptions of portions of the skull, the sternum and other parts of the skeleton of the species, previously determined, with osteological evidences of three additional species, and of a new genus, *Palapteryx. – Transactions of the Zoological Soci*ety of London, 3/4: 307–330.
- OWEN, R. (1858): On *Dinornis* (Part VII.): containing the description of the bones of the leg and foot of *Dinornis elephantopus*, Owen. – *Transactions of the Zoological Society of London*, 4/5: 149–158.
- OWEN, R. (1869): On *Dinornis* (Part XI.): containing a description of the integument of the sole, and tendons of a toe, of the foot of *Dinornis robustus*, Ow. – *Transactions of the Zoological Society of London*, 6/8: 495–496.
- OWEN, R. (1874): On *Dinornis* (Part XVIII.): containing a description of the pelvis and bones of the leg of *Dinornis gravis. – Transactions of the Zoological Society of London*, **8**: 361–380.
- OWEN, R. (1879): Memoirs on the extinct wingless birds of New Zealand: with an appendix on those of England, Australia, Newfoundland, Mauritius, and Rodriguez. – 465 pp. London (Van Voorst).
- OWEN, R. (1883a): On Dinornis (Part XXIII.): containing a description of the skeleton of Dinornis parvus, Owen. – Transactions of the Zoological Society of London, 11: 233–256.
- OWEN, R. (1883b): On *Dinornis* (Part XXIV.): containing a description of the head and feet, with their dried integuments, of an individual of the species *Dinornis didinus*, Owen. – *Transactions of the Zoological Society of London*, 11/8: 257–262.
- PATAK, A.E. & BALDWIN, J. (1998): Pelvic limb musculature in the emu *Dromaius novaehollandiae*

(Aves: Struthioniformes: Dromaiidae): adaptations to high-speed running. – *Journal of Morphology*, **238**/1: 23–37.

- PATTERSON, C. (1983): Osteology, myology, evolution and paleobiography of the emu *Dromaius sp.* (Family Casuaridae: Dromaiinae). MSc Thesis. 329 pp. Melbourne (Department of Zoology, Monash University).
- PICASSO, M.B.J. (2010): The hindlimb muscles of *Rhea americana* (Aves, Palaeognathae, Rheidae). – *Anatomia, Histologia, Embryologia*, **39**/5: 462–472.
- POLACK, J.S. (1838): New Zealand: being a narrative of travels and adventures during a residence in that country between the years 1831 and 1837, 1. 403 pp. London (Richard Bentley Publisher in Ordinary to Her Majesty).
- PYCRAFT, W.P. (1900): On the morphology and phylogeny of the Palaeognathae (Ratitae and Crypturi) and Neognathae (Carinatae). – *Transactions of the Zoological Society of London*, **15**/5: 149–291.
- RAIKOW, R.J. (1978): Appendicular myology and relationships of the New World Nine-primaried Oscines (Aves: Passeriformes). – *Bulletin of Carnegie Museum of Natural History*, 7: 43 pp.
- RAIKOW, R.J. (1985): Locomotor system. In: KING, A.S. & MCLELLAND, J. (eds): Form and function in birds. – pp. 57–146, New York, London (Academic Press).
- SUDILOVSKAYA, A.M. (1931): Comparative anatomical studies of pelvic and hindlimb musculature and innervation of Ratitae (*Struthio, Rhea, Dromaeus*). – 84 pp. Leningrad (Academy of USSR Publications). [in Russian].
- VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (1982): Notes on the myology of the pelvic limb in kiwi (*Apteryx*) and in other birds. *Auk*, **99**/2: 309–315.
- WHITE, J. (1925): The moa in the Maori tradition. Journal of the Polynesian Society, 34/134: 170–174.
- WORTHY, T.H. (1989): Mummified moa remains from Mt Owen, northwest Nelson. – Notornis, 36/1: 36–38.
- WORTHY, T.H., BUNCE, M., COOPER, A. & SCOFIELD, P. (2005): *Dinornis* – an insular oddity, a taxonomic conundrum reviewed. In: ALCOVER, J.A. & BOVER, P. (eds): Proceedings of the International Symposium 'Insular Vertebrate Evolution: the Paleontological Approach'. – *Monografies de la Societat d'Historia Natural de las Balears*, 12: 377–390.
- WORTHY, T.H. & HOLDAWAY, R.N. (2002): The lost world of the moa prehistoric life of New Zealand. – 718 pp. Bloomington (Indiana University Press).
- ZINOVIEV, A.V. (2000): Function of *m. fibularis brevis* in birds and mechanism of stabilizing intertarsal

joint. – *Zoological Journal*, **7**9: 1337–1343 [in Russian with English abstract].

- ZINOVIEV, A.V. (2003a): Common aponeuroses of origin of avian crural muscles as a key object of the avian hindlimb myology. – Ornitologia, 30: 132– 135 [in Russian with English abstract].
- ZINOVIEV, A.V. (2003b): On the terminology of certain short extensor muscles of the foretoes in birds (Aves). – *Ornitologia*, **30**: 127–131 [in Russian with English abstract].
- ZINOVIEV, A.V. (2006): Notes on the hind limb myology of the Ostrich (*Struthio camelus*). *Ornitologia*, **33**: 53–62.
- ZINOVIEV, A.V. (2007): Modern view on the functional content of the extended Garrod's muscular formula. – *Zoological Journal*, 86: 978–988 [in Russian with English abstract].
- ZINOVIEV, A.V. (2008): The deep plantar tendons of avian foot: morpho-functional analysis and possible genesis. – *Zoological Journal*, 87: 197–205 [in Russian with English abstract].

- ZINOVIEV, A.V. (2010): Comparative anatomy, structural modifications and adaptive evolution of avian apparatus of bipedal locomotion. – 285 pp. Moscow (KMK Scientific Press Ltd.) [in Russian with English summary].
- ZINOVIEV, A.V. (2011): Notes on the hindlimb myology and syndesmology of the Mesozoic toothed bird *Hesperornis regalis* (Aves: Hesperornithiformes). – *Journal of Systematic Palaeontology*, 9/1: 65–84.
- ZINOVIEV, A.V. & DZERZHINSKY, F.Y. (2000): Some general questions of avian hindlimb biomechanics. – Bulletin of Moscow Society of Naturalists. Biological Series, **105**: 10–17 [in Russian with English abstract].



Paleornithological Research 2013

Proceed. 8th Internat. Meeting Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution

Ursula B. Göhlich & Andreas Kroh (Eds)



Ontogenetic change of morphology and surface texture of long bones in the Gray Heron (*Ardea cinerea*, Ardeidae)

JUNYA WATANABE & HIROSHIGE MATSUOKA

Department of Geology and Mineralogy, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan; E-mail: watanabe-j@kueps.kyoto-u.ac.jp

Abstract — Although the importance of assessing ontogenetic age or developmental stage of fossil materials is widely recognized, information on avian postnatal skeletal ontogeny, which forms a basis for ageing criteria for bird fossils, is seriously lacking. One potentially useful ontogenetic ageing method in avian paleontology is textural ageing, in which surface textures of long bones are examined to assess developmental stage. To date, ontogenetic change of surface textures in long bones has been intensively described in only one species, the Canada Goose (Branta canadensis). In this study, through original preparation and examination of an ontogenetic series of specimens, which consists of 13 chicks (including one fledgling), two juveniles (birds under one-yearold) and two adults, postnatal ontogenetic changes of macroscopic morphology and surface texture of six major long bones (humerus, ulna, carpometacarpus, femur, tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus) of the Gray Heron (Ardea cinerea, Ardeidae) are described and illustrated. Most long bones continue to grow in length until reaching their adult size range around the time of fledging. Epiphyses are generally not ossified before fledging; in both ends of femur and proximal end of tibiotarsus, distinct ossification centers can be observed. Generally, long bones of chicks are characterized by rough surface textures, including striated structures near epiphyses and fibrous/ porous surface with frequent penetrating pits in the midshaft. Long bones of juveniles are characterized by faint grooves and/or dimples, but rough striated structure may remain in the proximal regions of tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus. In adults smooth surface pattern dominates. Inter-elemental variation in surface texture in one species is likely to represent taxon-specific patterns of relative timings of maturity among long bones, which would be related to various aspects of skeletal ontogeny in birds. At this time, textural ageing on birds with interrupted growth might be somewhat problematic because of a lack of sufficient data.

Key words: bone growth, textural ageing, epiphysis, Ardeidae

Introduction

Assessing ontogenetic age or developmental stage (ontogenetic ageing) of fossil materials is an essential and crucial step in most paleontological investigations, including taxonomical, paleoecological, faunistic, and evolutionary studies. Incorrect ontogenetic ageing will easily lead to taxonomical confusion or other misled conclusions in such studies. In avian paleontology, except for very rare cases, fossil remains are almost always skeletal elements, which are often isolated and damaged. Among them, long bones are of particular importance for their relative abundance as fossil remains and ease of identification. Reliable ontogenetic ageing criteria for (isolated) avian long bones are desired. As a basis for such criteria, precise and detailed understanding of the ontogeny of avian long bones is necessary.

Although embryological development of the avian skeleton has been intensively investigated

(e.g., FUJIOKA 1955; ROGULSKA 1962; STARCK 1993), there have been relatively few studies investigating postnatal ontogeny. Examples of previous studies which investigated postnatal ontogeny of avian skeletons include those focusing on metrical aspects (e.g., MARPLES 1930; KLÍMA 1965; CANE 1993; HAYWARD et al. 2009; PICASSO 2012), histological aspects (e.g., STARCK & CHINSAMY 2002; DE MARGERIE et al. 2004) and mechanical/functional aspects (e.g., BJORDAL 1987; CARRIER & LEON 1990; DIAL & CARRIER 2012). However, there have been very few studies focusing on macroscopic morphological aspects of the avian skeleton in postnatal ontogeny, which would be useful for establishing ontogenetic ageing criteria for bird fossils. Previous studies that gave partial descriptions or illustrations on macroscopic morphology in avian postnatal skeletal ontogeny include; HUGGINS et al. (1942), who described and illustrated stained skeletons of the growing House Wren (Troglodytes aedon aedon); BEALE (1985, 1991), who investigated ontogeny of long bones of a growing kiwi (Apteryx australis mantelli) through ten years of radiological study; and PICASSO (2012), who studied ontogenetic allometry in the hindlimb skeleton of the Greater Rhea (Rhea americana) and figured hindlimb long bones at various ages. To form a basis for ontogenetic ageing criteria for bird fossils and for other morphological studies, it is desirable to accumulate data on skeletal ontogeny of various avian taxa with comprehensive descriptions and illustrations.

As a practice in many previous avian paleontological and zooarchaeological studies, "incompletely ossified" skeletal materials were considered to represent immature or juvenile individuals, often without firm justification (e.g., HOWARD 1929). Degrees of ossification in skeletal specimens of immature individuals have been sporadically described or illustrated by some authors for comparative purpose (CALLISON & QUIMBY 1984; SANZ et al. 1997; SERJEANT-SON 2002). Recently, TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN et al. (2006) gave a comprehensive review on this topic and evaluated surface texture of the humerus, femur and tibiotarsus as an ontogenetic indicator in the Canada Goose (Branta canadensis). They examined over 80 skeletal specimens of the species, described the relationship between surface textures of long bones and developmental stages, as well as their underlying histological features, and formed a basis for a practical ontogenetic ageing criterion. Given the fact that birds have diverse ontogenetic strategies (*e.g.*, precocialaltricial spectrum; STARCK & RICKLEFS 1998), further studies are needed to test the presence or nature of taxon-specific variation.

In this study, to form a basis for ontogenetic ageing criteria for bird fossils, a postnatal ontogenetic series of skeletal specimens of a common Recent species, the Gray Heron (*Ardea cinerea* LINNAEUS, 1758, Family Ardeidae), was prepared and examined. Ontogenetic changes of macroscopic morphology and surface textures of six major long bones (humerus, ulna, carpometacarpus, femur, tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus) are described and illustrated. Some additional features of morphological interests are also described, such as epiphysial ossification centers in femur and tibiotarsus.

Materials and Methods

Sampled species. In this study, an ontogenetic series of the Gray Heron (Ardea cinerea) was collected and prepared in order to observe ontogenetic changes of morphology and surface texture of long bones. Ardea cinerea is a large heron species whose adults reach 90-98 cm in length and 1020-2073 g in weight (KUSHLAN & HANCOCK 2005). Some subspecies can be recognized based on geographical variation in plumage. All individuals studied were collected in Japan, thus are from the East Asian subspecies A. c. jouvi CLARK, 1907 (YAMASHINA 1941; KUSHLAN & HANCOCK 2005). Sexual variation in skeletal dimensions is generally significant but slight (about 2-4 %; BOEV 1987). In the breeding season, they build colonies in the forest canopy and drop chick carcasses, facilitating collection of large samples of chicks. In Japan, eggs are laid from April to early May, and chicks hatch after 25-28 days of incubation (YAMASHINA 1941). Chicks are (semi-)altricial: hatchlings are fed by parents, covered by down, have open eyes and can stand within a day (STARCK & RICKLEFS 1998; KUSHLAN & HANCOCK 2005). They can clamber away from nests at about six weeks old, and fledge and become capable of flight at seven to eight weeks old (YAMASHINA 1941). Individual developmental stages can be determined by distinctive age-related plumage (YAMASHINA 1941; MILSTEIN *et al.* 1970). It is commonly thought that they breed after the second winter, but breeding by yearlings is not exceptional (MILSTEIN *et al.* 1970; KUSHLAN & HANCOCK 2005). Thus, sexual maturity could be attained around (or perhaps before) one-year-old in this species.

In this study, three postnatal developmental stages are recognized: chick, juvenile, and adult. Note that definitions of these terms might be different from both ornithological and paleontological conventions (see below). Each individual is classified into one of the three stages based on its plumage. Exact absolute age was not available for any of the individuals, so they are ordered in a presumed ontogenetic sequence. In chick stage, individuals are ordered by increasing external measurements. Juveniles are ordered by their collection date (from earlier to later). Ordering in adults is done arbitrarily.

Description of sample series. The study series

consists of 13 chicks, two juveniles and two adults. Each individual is labeled with a prefix ("C" for chicks, "J" for juveniles and "A" for adults), and a number to represent its place in the ontogenetic sequence defined above (i.e., C1, C2,..., C13, J14, J15, A16 and A17). All individuals were collected in and around Kyoto, Japan, so the geographical variation within the series is considered to be minimal. Sexes of most individuals could not be determined, so both sexes were pooled to form a single series. Definitions and descriptions of three developmental stages are given below. Date of death and external measurements of each individual are summarized in Tab. 1. The study series is stored at the Department of Geology and Mineralogy, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan. See Tab. 1 for repository numbers of the specimens.

Chick — This stage refers to birds after hatching and before leaving the colony. Birds of this stage are typically characterized by functionally immature plumage, including sheathed flight feathers. All chick individuals included in the study series were found dead at a breeding colony in Kyoto, Japan. A total of 23 chicks were

TABLE 1. List of the individuals included in the study series. Linear measurements (in mm), body weight (in grams), and collection date (year. month. day) are given. Body length is measured from the bill tip to the tip of the tail with the back on a flat plane and the neck extended. Asterisks indicate underestimated values due to damage on carcasses.

Individual	Repository	Collection date	Body length	Body weight	Culmen	Tarsus
code	number				length	length
C1	RAJ-1	2009.06.07	401	488	51	68
C2	RAJ-2	2010.04.21	417*	470*	50	77
C3	RAJ-3	2009.05.19	456*	520*	61	78
C4	RAJ-4	2010.06.02	462*	820*	60	90
C5	RAJ-5	2011.06.13	474*	700*	61	91
C6	RAJ-6	2010.04.29	495*	840*	62	93
C7	RAJ-7	2009.05.27	484*	682*	65	91
C8	RAJ-8	2009.05.22	530*	782*	69	99
C9	RAJ-9	2011.05.31	530*	940*	70	102
C10	RAJ-10	2009.05.24	564*	835*	74	109
C11	RAJ-11	2009.05.24	576*	790*	80	112
C12	RAJ-12	2009.05.19	552*	940*	80	132
C13	RAJ-13	2009.06.07	886	1362	100	146
J14	RA-1002	1995.06.18	980	1220	118	171
J15	RAJ-27	1999.08.02	960	1180	115	162
A16	RAJ-28	2012.03.15	910*	1600*	127	168
A17	RA-1001	(not recorded)	940	1050*	112	145



FIGURE 1. Examples of surface textural patterns. **A)** pattern A: left, proximal tibiotarsus in C5, cranial view, showing striated pattern running longitudinally with few transverse struts; right, damaged surface of proximal tibiotarsus in C8, medial view, showing low bone density underlying this pattern. **B)** pattern B: left, proximal humerus in C11, ventral view, showing striated structure with frequent transverse struts; right, proximal tarsometatarsus in C11, cranial view. **C)** pattern C: left, midshaft of humerus in C11, cranial view, showing fibrous structure with shallow grooves; right, midshaft of femur in C11, caudal view, showing densely distributed dimples. **D)** pattern D: left, midshaft of humerus in J14, caudal view, surface showing short longitudinal grooves and dimples; right, midshaft of ulna in J14, dorsal view, showing shallowly dimpled surface. **E)** pattern E: midshaft of humerus in A17, caudal view, with a nutrient foramen on right bottom; right, distal tibiotarsus in A17, caudal view, with vascular grooves (white arrowheads). Upper side of each photograph is proximal side of the long bone.

obtained, and 13 of them had a nearly complete set of long bones and thus were included in the study series. The largest chick studied (C13) had both an almost complete plumage including flight feathers and remains of natal down at the tip of the crest. Thus it is considered to represent the fledgling period, or seven to eight weeks old (YAMASHINA 1941; MILSTEIN *et al.* 1970). All others (C1–C12) had not yet fledged, so they are considered to be younger than C13.

Juvenile — This stage includes birds having left the colony and are under one year old. Juveniles are readily distinguishable from adults by their distinct plumage, including gray forehead and neck and less developed crown. Yearlings, or one-year-old birds, have a similar plumage, but they can be distinguished by several distinctive features, including the color pattern of the bill (MILSTEIN *et al.* 1970). Two juveniles were included in the study series, both of which were collected around Kyoto in their first summer (thus are considered to be about two to four months old).

Adult — In this study, this stage refers to all birds after attaining the second year external coloration (*i.e.*, one-year-old and older). Although further distinction (*e.g.* yearlings, subadults and adults) within this stage is possible based on plumage, this was not attempted because the sample size was too small to allow meaningful comparison. Two adults, collected around Kyoto, were included in the study series.

Preparation of specimens. All collected individuals were temporarily stored frozen until preparation. After thawing, left long bones (humerus, ulna, carpometacarpus, femur, tibiotarsus [+ fibula] and tarsometatarsus) were

isolated from the carcasses by dissection, and the surrounding soft tissue was carefully removed from the bones. Isolated bones were soaked in dilute solution of hydrogen peroxide (ca. 2 %) until they were bleached (usually after 12–24 hours). After bleaching, they were further cleaned manually and then dried. This procedure deforms cartilages on epiphysial area of long bones from their original shape, but it makes them translucent to a certain degree, which allows ossification centers to be observed. The rest of the body was refrozen for future studies.

Classification of surface textures. Surface textures of long bones, which have been suggested to be an useful ontogenetic indicator in the Canada Goose (Branta canadensis) by TUMAR-KIN-DERATZIAN et al. (2006), are described and figured in the study series. They show considerable variation among individuals and elements, and even within a single element (see below for detail). For comparisons among individuals and elements, various surface textures are classified into the five patterns described below. These patterns are applied to surface texture in certain area on a bone, rather than to the texture of an entire bone, unlike the "texture types" in TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN et al. (2006). Examples of surface patterns are shown in Fig. 1.

Variation of textural patterns in a single element is most prominent in its longitudinal direction; longitudinally, one bone show up to four texture patterns at one transverse position of its shaft, whereas transversely (or circumferentially), one bone show no more than two patterns at one longitudinal position of its shaft. Thus onedimensional longitudinal distribution of textural patterns in a long bone can be used as a representation of overall distribution of patterns in that bone. In practice, the dominant textural pattern at one longitudinal position is regarded as the representing pattern at that position; the dominant pattern here refers to that the pattern is more widely distributed transversely than any other patterns, without concerning articular surfaces and apparent muscular/ligamental attachment sites. Longitudinal distribution of one pattern is defined as the length of longitudinal section where the pattern is dominant, and is measured between the two points at which the pattern occupies 50 % of transverse circumference of the shaft (measured with a tape measure rolled on the shaft). This simplified one-dimensional distribution is used for graphical presentation and comparison among elements and individuals.

Pattern A (Fig. 1A) — This pattern is defined as a striated structure with smooth surface and few transverse struts. Typically, it shows loose structure formed by relatively thick longitudinal ridges and shallow furrows without transverse struts. This pattern is always accompanied by epiphysial cartilages on one side. When seen from the epiphysis, it shows a rather porous appearance.

Pattern B (Fig. 1B) — This pattern is defined as a striated structure with rough surface and frequent transverse struts. This pattern shows the roughest appearance among the five, and is composed of thin ridges, or trabeculae, deep grooves running longitudinally and with frequent transverse struts.

Pattern C (Fig. 1C) — This pattern is defined by the absence of structures characterizing the above patterns, and the frequent presence of shallow longitudinal grooves and/or dimples, which occasionally form penetrating pits on the bone wall. When present, grooves often reach five millimeters or more in length. This pattern gives a fibrous/porous and non-glossy appearance.

Pattern D (Fig. 1D) — This pattern is defined by the absence of apparent striated patterns and penetrating pits, and the presence of faint longitudinal grooves and/or dimples. Typically, grooves and dimples are less densely distributed, and length of grooves are smaller (several millimeters at maximum) than in pattern C. This pattern gives an overall glossy appearance, but grooves and dimples can easily be observed with a hand lens.

Pattern E (Fig. 1E) — This pattern is defined by the absence of striated structure, penetrating pits, and grooves/dimples (except at the attachment sites of muscles, ligaments or articular capsules). Occasional traces of vascular canals can be observed on this pattern. This pattern gives an overall glossy and smooth appearance.

Terminology and measurements. Osteological terminology follows that of BAUMEL & WIT-MER (1993). The term "epiphysis" as used here



FIGURE 2. Ontogenetic morphological change of the humerus in *Ardea cinerea*. From left to right, C1, C2, C5, C8, C9, C11, C12, C13, J14, J15, A16 and A17.

refers to either end of a long bone, not specifically to independent ossification centers; the latter is called "epiphysial ossification center" to avoid confusion. But the term "diaphysis" of a long bone is used to refer either to the primary ossification center of the shaft, or to the shaft in general. Dimensions of long bones were measured after drying, thus they might underestimate actual values in incompletely ossified bones; such underestimated values are marked in the table of measurements (Tab. 2). The dimension "ossified length" was measured in incompletely ossified bones and refers to the approximate length of ossified diaphysis and fused epiphysial ossification centers, if applicable. In wing bones (humerus, ulna, and carpometacarpus), "width" refers to dorsoventral width and "depth" refers to craniocaudal depth; whereas in leg bones (femur, tibiotarsus, and tarsometatarsus), "width" refers to mediolateral width and "depth" refers to craniocaudal depth. In humeri, greatest and smallest diameters of the shaft at the midpoint are presented, which are slightly diagonal to the width and depth, respectively, of the shaft. In tibiotarsi, length of the bone is measured from the proximal articular surface, rather than from the cnemial crest, to the distal condyles. Measurements on skeletal elements were performed with a digital caliper (Mitutoyo Corp., Japan; precision = \pm 0.02 mm) to the nearest tenth millimeter.

Description of morphology

Overall morphology of long bones in *Ardea cinerea* show considerable ontogenetic change from chick through juvenile to adult stage. Detailed morphological description, with emphasis on ontogenetic variable characters, are given below. Long bones of selected individuals are illustrated in Figs 2–6. Details of skeletal features described are illustrated in Figs 7 and 8. Selected osteological measurements are given in Tab. 2.

Humerus (Figs 2, 7A, 7B). *Chick* — Overall shape of the bone is relatively uniform longitudinally, with less developed osteological features on both ends. Caput humeri, Tuberculum ventrale, Incisura capitis, Tuberculum dorsale, and Sulcus transversus are all cartilaginous in C1–C12. In C13, they are all present, but Caput humeri is less developed than in juveniles and adults, with porous surface and flat proximal margin. Impressio coracobrachialis and Linea m. latissimi dorsi are observable only in C13. Crista deltopectoralis is almost absent in C1–C7, present as a blunt projection with slightly convex dorsal surface in C8–C12, and developed with concave dorsal surface



FIGURE 3. Ontogenetic morphological change of the ulna in *Ardea cinerea*. From left to right, C1, C2, C5, C8, C9, C11, C12, C13, J14, J15, A16 and A17.

face in C13. Foramen pneumaticum (pf in Fig. 7A) is open in the cartilaginous proximal end in C1-C12, and the surrounding area is ossified in C13; its distal margin is always extending distally to form a prominent fossa on the ossified area, which is covered by periosteum and occasional thin bone wall (Fig. 7A). Foramina nutrientia are present on Margo ventralis in the midshaft region, and single in C1-C4, C7, C8, C11, and C13, but double in C5, C6, C9, C10, and C12; they are almost always with large openings (about 3.5×0.7 mm, with long axis parallel to the shaft; Fig. 7B), and one of the double foramina is occasionally covered by thin bone wall. Condyli dorsalis et ventralis are cartilaginous in C1–C12, ossified but with porous surface in C13. Epicondyli dorsalis et ventralis are cartilaginous in C1-C12, ossified in C13. Proximal margin of Fossa m. brachialis is observable on ossified area. but its distal margin is indistinct.

Juvenile — Caput humeri is developed proximocaudally, rounded, and surrounded by numerous foramina on its margin (Fig. 7A). Tuberculum ventrale, Incisura capitis, Tuberculum dorsale, Crista deltopectoralis, and Linea m. latissimi dorsi are developed as in adults. Foramen pneumaticum (pf in Fig. 7A) is long proximodistally; its distal part is covered by periosteum (Fig. 7A) and serves as attachment for M. humerotriceps. Foramen nutriens is single in all cases, and opens on Margo ventralis at around the midpoint of the shaft with an apparently larger opening than in adults (about 4.0×0.4 mm, with long axis parallel to the shaft; Fig. 7B). Condyli dorsalis et ventralis are developed as in adult, but with numerous foramina on their margins. Epicondyli dorsalis et ventralis, and Fossa m. brachialis are developed as in adults.

Adult — Caput humeri is developed proximocaudally and rounded, with few foramina on its margin. Tuberculum ventrale, Incisura capitis, Tuberculum dorsale are all well developed. Crista deltopectoralis is well developed craniodorsally with concave dorsal surface. Linea m. latissimi dorsi is prominent. Foramen pneumaticum (pf in Fig. 7A) is just slightly longer longitudinally than dorsoventrally; its distal margin extending no more distally than the base of Crus dorsale fossae. Foramen nutriens is single in all cases, and opens on Margo ventralis at around the midpoint of the shaft, with a minute opening (about 2.0×0.3 mm; Fig. 7B). Condyli dorsalis

a (and thus underestimated values). Asterisks	
(in mm). Daggers indicate those including dried cartilaginous are	ss. See Materials and Methods for notes on measurements.
ABLE 2. Osteological measurements of the study series	dicates underestimated values because of damage to bone.

TABLE 2. Osteolog indicates underestim	gical mea ated valu	tsuremen tes becau	ts of the ise of dai	study ser mage to b	ries (in m ones. Se	ım). Dagg e Materia	gers indic ls and Mo	those those ethods fo	r includin	ig dried (n measur	cartilagin ements.	ous area	(and thu	s underes	stimated	values)	Asterisks
	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	C6	C7	C8	C9	C10	C11	C12	C13	J14	J15	A16	A17
Humerus																	
length	†69.6	†84.0	†91.3	†95.9	+98.0	†110.1	†102.7	†127.3	†125.7	$\ddagger130.0$	†139.6	†150.7	164.8	173.3	176.9	178.3	162.7
ossified length	61.3	76.9	82.7	85.9	89.5	100.6	93.7	115.8	120.1	121.9	129.4	141.0					
proximal width	†9.5	†13.2	†12.7	†16.9	†15.9	†15.5	†13.5	†15.8	†17.1	†16.9	†18.7	†18.7	22.8	25.7	24.9	25.2	24.6
greatest diameter at midpoint	4.0	5.1	5.0	5.6	6.0	9.9	5.9	7.0	7.5	7.2	7.5	8.2	8.6	9.6	6.6	10.5	10.1
smallest diameter at midpoint	3.7	4.4	4.5	5.4	5.3	5.6	5.1	6.4	7.1	6.5	7.0	7.2	7.7	8.8	8.7	8.9	8.5
distal width	†9.3	†10.6	†13.3	†14.4	†13.6	$\ddagger14.0$	†13.1	†15.1	†15.9	†15.6	†16.9	†18.5	20.6	22.5	22.4	23.4	21.8
Ulna																	
length	†68.6	†84.4	+88.9	†97.8	†98.7	†116.5	$\ddagger103.6$	†132.6	†153.7	†137.4	†154.5	†162.8	194.0	209.6	214.8	208.8	194.3
ossified length	60.0	71.6	78.0	82.9	89.8	105.8	91.8	118.5	121.7	124.8	145.3	155.0					
proximal width	†6.9	†9.1	†9.4	†10.8	$\ddagger11.0$	†11.5	†8.4	†11.3	$\ddagger10.1$	†10.3	†10.4	†13.2	14.8	16.0	15.7	15.8	15.4
shaft width at midpoint	3.1	3.4	3.2	4.0	4.2	4.0	4.1	5.1	5.4	4.7	5.4	5.8	9.9	7.4	7.5	7.8	7.5
shaft depth at midpoint	2.5	3.3	2.6	3.2	3.1	3.2	3.1	3.9	4.1	4.0	4.7	4.6	5.7	6.0	6.2	6.3	6.1
distal width	†4.3	†5.3	†4.6	†6.2	†6.7	†7.4	†5.9	†6.7	†8.1	†6.1	†7.4	†8.2	10.3	10.1	11.7	10.5	10.7
Carpometacarpus																	
length	†35.1	†43.6	†45.2	†48.2	†50.4	†58.7	†52.9	†65.3	†67.1	†67.4	†75.3	†80.2	87.8	95.0	97.5	93.7	85.9
ossified length	28.8	35.7	39.0	40.4	44.9	50.8	43.9	56.6	59.0	60.09	69.1	71.2					
width of major metacarpus	2.7	2.7	2.7	3.1	3.2	3.2	3.3	3.5	3.8	3.5	4.0	4.2	4.6	5.2	5.6	5.7	5.1

TABLE 2. (continue	(pa																
	CI	C2	ຍ	C4	CS	C6	C1	C8	60	C10	C11	C12	C13	J14	J15	A16	A17
Femur																	
length	$\div62.0$	†68.9	†73.2	†75.4	†75.1	†78.1	†75.2	†82.2	†84.3	†83.2	†79.8	*	85.6	92.8	94.3	93.5	84.0
ossified length	55.1	61.4	65.1	66.4	6.99	71.0	67.1	75.4	76.2	76.6	74.5	*					
proximal width	†8.9	†10.4	†12.4	†11.2	†11.6	†11.6	$^{+10.9}$	†11.8	†11.7	†12.0	†12.8	*	14.4	15.4	15.6	15.5	14.5
shaft width at midpoint	4.6	4.9	5.4	6.0	6.0	5.7	5.5	5.6	6.4	5.9	6.2	*	5.8	7.5	6.7	6.8	7.3
shaft depth at midpoint	4.8	5.0	5.0	6.0	5.9	5.3	5.5	5.7	6.6	6.2	6.1	*	6.2	7.0	6.9	6.9	6.5
distal width	†10.3	†11.2	†12.5	†12.2	†12.6	†12.3	†12.0	†12.1	†13.9	†13.5	†14.0	*	14.4	15.5	15.5	15.8	14.0
Tibiotarsus																	
length	†83.6	†91.8	†101.9	†109.3	†105.7	†116.9	†110.7	†127.2	$\ddagger131.0$	†132.1	†138.8	†150.8	196.4	224.2	221.1	216.3	202.1
ossified length	73.5	80.8	88.9	92.7	93.9	103.8	98.9	113.1	116.2	116.9	127.6	143.1*					
proximal width	†6.8	$\ddagger10.1$	†9.1	†9.8	÷9.9	†10.9	†8.6	$\ddagger10.2$	†11.1	$^{\ddagger 11.0}$	†11.4	*	12.2	13.4	12.9	13.6	12.7
width below proxi- mal end	6.7	7.8	8.2	9.5	9.4	10.0	8.7	10.0	10.7	10.7	12.0	11.8	9.1	7.8	7.7	8.1	8.2
depth below proxi- mal end	10.3	13.2	13.0	14.3	14.3	15.1	12.9	14.4	16.2	15.8	15.2	15.9	10.7	9.6	10.0	11.9	9.5
narrowest shaft width	4.1	4.1	4.3	4.9	4.9	4.4	4.7	4.7	5.1	4.8	5.8	5.9	5.1	6.0	6.0	5.9	5.8
distal width	9.7	12.2	11.9	12.8	12.6	12.9	12.4	12.5	13.0	12.0	12.0	12.5	12.2	12.8	13.3	13.6	12.1
Tarsometatarsus																	
length	†62.7	†68.4	†77.3	†85.5	†82.6	†88.0	†89.9	$\ddagger100.9$	†105.4	†102.9	†111.9	†131.7	144.7	169.6	161.3	172.9	145.6
ossified length	51.6	56.8	65.0	73.1	70.8	75.9	78.4	89.1	90.1	93.9	101.1	119.9					
proximal width	10.2	12.5	12.7	14.4	14.5	15.0	14.1	14.9	15.5	15.5	16.1	16.8	13.8	14.7	14.9	14.8	13.3
shaft width below hypotarsus	9.1	11.3	11.7	13.2	12.3	13.3	12.3	13.6	14.2	13.9	14.8	15.6	9.2	9.6	8.2	7.2	6.6
narrowest shaft width	5.0	5.3	4.9	5.5	5.5	5.3	5.3	5.0	5.4	5.5	5.4	5.6	5.0	5.4	5.3	5.6	5.3
distal width	11.0	11.1	11.4	12.0	12.3	12.1	12.5	12.8	13.1	13.1	13.6	14.0	13.2	13.9	14.8	14.3	13.5



-288 -

FIGURE 4. Ontogenetic morphological changes of the carpometacarpus (top) and femur (bottom) in *Ardea cinerea*. From left to right, C1, C2, C5, C8, C9, C11, C12 (missing for the femur), C13, J14, J15, A16 and A17 for each.

et ventralis are developed craniodistally, with few surrounding foramina. Epicondyli dorsalis et ventralis are well developed. Entire margin of Fossa m. brachialis is distinct.

Ulna (Fig. 3). Chick — Shaft curvature is less prominent in C1-C12, and slightly more weakly curved in C13 than in adults. Extremitas proximalis ulnae is cartilaginous in C1-C12, and ossified in C13 with porous surface on Crista intercotylaris and Olecranon. Impressio brachialis is almost unobservable in C1-C12, and present with indistinct distal margin in C13. Foramina nutrientia is present on Margo interosseus at various positions on the proximal half, double in C7 and C8, single in all others, with large opening $(5.3 \times 1.0 \text{ mm in maximum})$. Papillae remigales caudales are absent (but observable on periosteum in live bird) in C1-C12, and eight prominent papillae observable (as ossified structures) in C13. Papillae remigales ventrales are absent in all cases. Linea intermuscularis is absent in C1-C12, and present but less distinct in C13. Extremitas distalis ulnae is cartilaginous in C1–C12, and ossified in C13.

Juvenile — Shaft curvature is as in adults.

Extremitas proximalis ulnae is ossified, but with porous surface on Cotylae dorsalis et ventralis. Distal margin of Impressio brachialis is somewhat less distinct than in adults. Foramen nutriens is present on Margo interosseus at around the two-fifth of the shaft from the proximal end, and is always single, with larger opening than that in adults (about 3.5×0.5 mm). Papillae remigales caudales, 13 papillae are present, with three distalmost papillae indistinct. Papillae remigales ventrales, 10 prominent papillae are present, with three distalmost papillae in adults unobservable. Linea intermuscularis is as in adult. Extremitas distalis ulnae, numerous foramina are present on Sulcus intercondylaris, Labrum condyli dorsalis, and Depressio radialis.

Adult — Extremitas proximalis ulnae is ossified, with few foramen on and around. All muscular/ligamental attachments on the proximal end are distinct. Foramen nutriens is present on Margo interosseus at around the two-fifth of the shaft from the proximal end, and is always single, with a minute opening (about 1.5×0.2 mm). Papillae remigales caudales, 13 prominent papillae are present. Papillae remigales ventrales, 13 prominent papillae are present. Linea inter-



FIGURE 5. Ontogenetic morphological change of the tibiotarsus in *Ardea cinerea*. From left to right, C1, C2, C5, C8, C9, C11, C12 (proximal end damaged), C13, J14, J15, A16 and A17.

muscularis is present on the proximal region of Margo caudalis with a distinct ridge. Extremitas distalis ulnae, with occasional foramina on Sulcus intercondylaris, Labrum condyli dorsalis, and Depressio radialis.

Carpometacarpus (Figs 4, 8A). Chick — Five independent elements, including three metacarpi and two carpi, can be recognized; Os metacarpale alulare, Ossa metacarpale majus et minus, one carpus forming the proximal margin of Trochlea carpalis (dca in Fig. 8A), and another carpus for the distal margin of the ventral rim of Trochlea carpalis and the base of Processus pisiformis (dcb in Fig. 8A). The three metacarpi are ossified in all cases, and the two carpi are observable in C3 and larger. They are unfused to one another in C1-C12, but fused in C13. Margin of Trochlea carpalis is formed mostly by cartilage in C1-C10, formed mostly by unfused carpi in C11 and C12, and completely formed by fused carpi in C13. Processus pisiformis is not ossified in C1-C8, formed by one of the carpus (dcb in Fig. 8A) with cartilaginous tip in C9-C12, and ossified in C13. Sulcus tendineus is absent in

C1–C12, and prominent throughout the distal one-third of the shaft in C13. Foramen nutriens is present on the caudal margin of Os metacarpale majus at around the midpoint, with moderate size of opening (about 1.0×0.5 mm). Almost no trace of muscular/ligamental attachments is observable in C1–C12: most of them are observable in C13, but less distinct than in juveniles and adults. Extremitas distalis carpometacarpi is cartilaginous in C1–C12, and ossified to form Symphysis metacarpalis distalis in C13.

Juvenile — All elements are completely ossified and fused (Fig. 8A). On Extremitas proximalis carpometacarpi, numerous foramina are present along the base of Os metacarpale alulare and around Processus pisiformis. Trochlea carpalis, Processus pisiformis, and Sulcus tendineus are ossified as in adults. Foramen nutriens is present on the caudal margin of Os metacarpale majus at around the midpoint, with moderate size of opening (about 0.6×0.3 mm). Extremitas distalis carpometacarpi is ossified, and foramina are present in Sulcus interosseus and on Facies articularis digitalis major.

Adult - All elements are completely ossified



FIGURE 6. Ontogenetic morphological change of the tarsometatarsus in *Ardea cinerea*. From left to right, C1, C2, C5, C8, C9, C11, C12, C13, J14, J15, A16 and A17.

and fused (Fig. 8A). On Extremitas proximalis carpometacarpi, a distinct foramen is present in Fossa infratrochlearis, and foramina can be present along the base of Os metacarpale alulare. Trochlea carpalis and Processus pisiformis are well marked. Sulcus tendineus is well marked throughout the distal half of the shaft. Foramen nutriens is present on the caudal margin of Os metacarpale majus at around the midpoint, with minute opening (about 0.2×0.2 mm). Extremitas distalis carpometacarpi is ossified, with few foramina in Sulcus interosseus. Foramina can be present on Facies articularis digitalis major.

Femur (Figs 4, 7C, 7D). *Chick* — Both ends can be either cartilaginous, with epiphysial ossification centers, or ossified. Extremitas proximalis femoris is cartilaginous with slight indication of Caput femoris on the ossified shaft in C1–C11 (femur of C12 was not available), and ossified but silghtly porous in C13. In C10 and C11, an irregularly-shaped ossification center is present in the proximal tip of cartilaginous Trochanter femoris (poc in Fig. 7C). Impressiones mm. et ligg. trochanteris are absent in C1–C10, only the distalmost one of them is observable in C11, and all are present but the proximalmost one is indistinct in C13. Linea intermuscularis cranialis is absent in C1–C11, and indistinct in C13. Lineae intermusculares caudales are absent C1-C11, and the medial one (on caudal margin) is blunt and the lateral one (on the caudolateral margin) is indistinct in C13. Foramina nutrientia are present on Facies caudalis et medialis, with various size of openings $(2.0 \times 1.0 \text{ mm in maximum})$. The tuberculum for Ansa m. iliofibularis is absent in C1–C10, indistinct in C11, and present as in adults in C13 (ta in Fig. 7D). Extremitas distalis femoris is entirely cartilaginous in C1-C3, containing an ossification center in C4-C11 (doc in Fig. 7D), and ossified with porous surface in C13 (Fig. 7D); the ossification center appears in cartilaginous Condylus medialis in C4, then expands to form Condyli lateralis et medialis and Trochlea fibularis in C10 and C11, and fuses with the diaphysis with little trace of suture in C13.

Juvenile — Both ends are ossified. On Extremitas proximalis femoris, numerous foramina sometimes present in Fovea lig. capitis and the craniolateral margin of Facies articularis antitrochanterica. Impressiones mm. et ligg. trochanteris are as in adults. Lineae intermusculares cranialis et caudales are as in adults. Foramina nutrientia are present on Facies caudalis et medialis, with various size of openings $(2.0 \times 0.5 \text{ mm}$ in maximum). The tuberculum for Ansa m. iliofibularis (ta in Fig. 7D) is developed as in adults. Extremitas distalis femoris is almost completely



FIGURE 7. Ontogenetic morphological change in humerus and femur. **A**) proximal end of humerus, caudoventral view, in C1, C6, C13, J15 and A16 (from left to right). Caput humeri in J15 and A16 are magnified in the right insets. Foramen pneumaticum (fp) can be observed on the cartilaginous epiphysis in C1 and C6; in C13, periosteum is removed to show the opening of Foramen pneumaticum extending distally to form a fossa; and in J15, periosteum covering the fossa is left as it was in live bird. Note the porous nature of the margin of Caput humeri in J15 compared to that in A16 (right insets). **B**) ventral margin of humeral shaft, ventral view, in C6, C9, C12, J14 and A16 (from left to right). Positions of Foramina nutrientia are indicated by white arrowheads. Scale as in A. **C**) proximal end of femur, caudoproximal view, in C6, C11 and C13 (from left to right). In C6, proximal end is completely cartilaginous; in C11, an ossification center (poc) is present in cartilaginous Trochanter femoris; and in C13, proximal end is ossified. Scale as in D. **D**) distal end of femur, laterocaudal view, in C3, C4, C11, C13 and A17 (from left to right). In C3, distal end is completely cartilaginous; in C13 and A17, distal end is completely ossified. The tuberculum for Ansa m. iliofibularis (ta) is also shown.



ossified with no trace of suture; prominent foramina are occationally present in Sulcus patellaris and Fossa poplitea.

Adult — Both ends are ossified. On Extremitas proximalis femoris, several foramina are present on each of Fovea lig. capitis, cranial surface of Collum femoris, the area just medial to Trochanter femoris, and the caudal surface just distal to Facies articularis antitrochanterica. Impressiones mm. et ligg. trochanteris are distinct, with five scars observable. Linea intermuscularis cranialis is present, and running obliquely from Crista trochanteris toward Condylus medialis. Lineae intermusculares caudales are present on the caudal and caudolateral margins of the shaft. Foramina nutrientia are present on Facies caudalis et medialis, with minute openings (less than 1.0×0.4 mm). The tuberculum for Ansa m. iliofibularis is present on the distal region of the craniolateral margin of the shaft (ta in Fig. 7D). Extremitas distalis femoris is completely ossified with no trace of suture (Fig. 7D); minute foramina and a large foramen are present in Fossa poplitea.

Tibiotarsus (Figs 5, 8B, 8C). *Chick* — The shaft is generally wide and deep proximally. Extremitas proximalis tibialis is entirely cartilaginous in C1–C3, and cartilaginous with a distinct epiphysial ossification center in C4–C13 (poc in Fig. 8B); the ossification center appears in cartilaginous Area interarticularis of Caput tibiae, extends first laterally (from C6) then caudally (from C9) to form ossified Caput tibiae, and in C13 it is about to fuse with diaphysis with a distinct suture (Fig. 8B). The shaft distal to Caput tibiae is first flaring distally and then tapering distally to midshaft in C1-C12, and tapering relatively less steeply than in adults to the midshaft in C13. Crista cnemialis cranialis and Crista fibularis are indistinct and continuous with the shaft. Facies gastrocnemialis is convex. Fossa flexoria is absent. Foramen nutriens is present on the caudal side of Margo lateralis with an opening forming a large fossa (often more than 20.0×1.0 mm). On Extremitas distalis tibiotarsi, fused Ossa proximalia tarsi are observable as a single ossification center in the cartilaginous epiphysis in C1-C10 (pt in Fig. 8C), the tarsi are about to fuse to diaphysis of tibia with a distinct suture in C11 and C12, and the tarsi are fused to diaphysis of tibia with little trace of suture in C13. Condyli lateralis et medialis are cartilaginous caudally in C1-C3, and overall shape is formed by tarsi but surface porous with fine foramina in C4-C13 (Fig. 8C). Pons supratendineus (ps in Fig 8C) is a cartilaginous bridge between the "ascending process" (ap in Fig. 8C) of fused tarsi and diaphysis of tibia in C1–C12, and ossified in C13 (Fig. 8C).

Juvenile — The shaft is slender, relatively uniform in width and depth. Extremitas proximalis tibiotarsi is ossified with no trace of suture, with overall shape similar to adult; porous surface with numerous foramina dominates the area on and around Caput tibiae. Crista cnemialis cranialis is indistinct with the distal margin fading. The area between Crista cnemialis cranialis and Crista fibularis is almost flat. Foramen nutriens is present on the caudal side of Margo caudalis with an opening forming a slender fossa extending proximally (more than 7.0×0.7 mm). Extremi-

FIGURE 8. Ontogenetic morphological change in carpometacarpus, tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus. A) proximal end of carpometacarpus, ventral view, in C2, C4, C9, J14 and A16 (from left to right). In C2, Os metacarpale alulare (mal) is the only ossified element in the proximal end, and Trochlea carpalis (tc) is cartilagenous; in C4 and C9, two carpi (dca and dcb) can be observed in proximal and distal portion of Trochlea carpalis, respectively. All elements are fused in J14 and A16. B) proximal end of tibiotarsus, medial view, in C2, C4, C10, C13 and A17 (from left to right). In C2, proximal end is completely cartilaginous; in C4 and C10, an ossification center (poc) is present to form (part of) the proximal articular surface; in C13, the ossification center is about to fuse with diaphysis of tibia with a distinct suture (white arrowheads); in A17, proximal end is completely ossified. C) distal end of tibiotarsus, craniolateral view, in C2, C4, C10, C13 and A17 (from left to right). In C2, C4 and C10, Ossa proximalia tarsi (pt) can be observed as a single ossification center, and form distal condyles, and Pons supratendineus (ps) is a cartilagenous bridge between diaphysis of tibia and the "ascending process" (ap) of Ossa proximalia tarsi; in C13 and A17, Ossa proximalia tarsi are fused to diaphysis of tibia. D) proximal end of tarsometatarsus, medial view, in C2, C5, C12, J14 and A16 (from left to right). In C2, C5 and C12, Os distale tarsi (dt) is present in the cartilaginous proximal end and Hypotarsus; In J14, it is fused to shaft of fused metatarsi with a distinct suture (white arrowheads); in A16, the suture is less obvious.


FIGURE 9. Bone surface textures on selected regions of long bones through ontogeny. **A)** humerus, **B)** ulna, **C)**, carpometacarpus (Os metacarpale majus for the midshaft region), **D)** femur, **E)** tibiotarsus and **F)** tarsometatarsus. For each bone, proximal, midshaft and distal regions (from top to bottom) in C1, C5, C8, C11, C13, J14 and A17 (from left to right) are shown. Note the occasional presence of periosteum remains, which give fluffy appearance (see white arrowheads in the distal region of ulna and the proximal region of carpometacarpus in C13 for examples).

tas distalis tibiotarsi is ossified with no trace of suture; numerous foramina are present on medial surface of Condylus medialis and lateral surface of Condylus lateralis, and in Incisura intercondylaris and Sulcus extensorius.

Adult — The shaft is slender, with relatively uniform width and depth. On Extremitas proximalis tibiotarsi, numerous minute foramina are present on and around the margin of Caput tibiae (Fig. 8C). Facies gastrocnemialis and Fossa flexoria are sloping steeply from Caput tibiae to the shaft. Crista cnemialis cranialis is well developed with distal margin reaching distally to the position of the midpoint of Crista fibularis. The area between Crista cnemialis cranialis and Crista fibularis is flat to somewhat concave. Foramen nutriens is present on the caudal side of Margo caudalis with a long but thin opening (about 5.0×0.2 mm). Extremitas distalis tibiotarsi is ossified with no trace of suture (Fig. 8C); numerous minute foramina are present on medial surface of Condylus medialis and lateral surface of Condylus lateralis, and in Incisura intercondylaris.

Tarsometatarsus (Figs 6, 8D). Chick — The shaft is extremely broad proximally, with width and depth reducing gradually distally, and the depth is relatively uniform mediolaterally. Extremitas proximalis tarsometatarsi and Hypotarsus are cartilaginous, with ossified Os distale tarsi within them in C1–C12 (dt in Fig. 8D). Os distale tarsi is observable as a single ossification center, forming first Extremitas proximalis tarsometatarsi (from C1) and then Hypotarsus (from C4), and fusing to the shaft of the fused metatarsi in C13. Sulcus extensorius is broad with blunt margins. Foramina vascularia proximalia are very long, reaching to the proximal epiphysial cartilage in C1-C12. Tuberositas m. tibialis cranialis is almost unobservable. The rims of Trochleae metatarsorum II, III et IVare cartilaginous in C1-C8, mostly ossified but porous in C9–C12, and almost completely ossified in C13.

Juvenile — The shaft is relatively slender, width reducing gradually distally from the proximal suture then maintaining uniform width, and depth shallowing medially and slightly distally. Extremitas proximalis tarsometatarsi and Hypotarsus are ossified, and Os distale tarsi is fused

with the fused metatarsi with a distinct suture (Fig. 8D). The area between Extremitas proximalis tarsometatarsi and the suture line is uniform in width unlike in adults where the area is tapering distally, and with numerous foramina. Margins of Sulcus extensorius are less developed cranially than in adults and fading proximal to the midpoint of the shaft. Foramina vascularia proximalia are long (the dorsal openings are more than 4 mm in longitudinal length). Tuberositas m. tibialis cranialis is indistinct. Trochleae metatarsorum II, III et IV are as in adults.

Adult — The shaft is slender, its width is tapering from the position just distal to the margin of Extremitas proximalis tarsometatarsi and then relatively uniform throughout the shaft, and its depth is deepest proximolaterally, shallower medially and tapering gradually distally. Extremitas proximalis tarsometatarsi and Hypotarsus are ossified with no trace of suture, with large surrounding foramina (Fig. 8D). Margins of Sulcus extensorius are well developed and extending distal to the midpoint of the shaft. Foramina vascularia proximalia are short longitudinally (the dorsal openings are about 1.5 mm in longitudinal length). Tuberositas m. tibialis cranialis is prominent. Trochleae metatarsorum II, III et IV are completely ossified with few foramina on and around.

Surface texture

Surface textures of long bones showed considerable variation among developmental stages. They can also vary among elements within a single individual, and even within a single element. Surface textures of various regions of long bones are illustrated in Fig. 9, and longitudinal distribution of textural patterns of long bones, measured as described in Materials and Methods, in selected individuals are shown in Fig. 10. Results for individuals not shown did not differ considerably from those shown in the same developmental stage.

In general, long bones of chicks show rough surface textures (mostly patterns A–C), those of juveniles are smoother but weakly grooved and/ or dimpled (mostly pattern D), and those of adults are smooth with little grooves or dimples (mostly pattern E). Surface textures in smallest chicks (C1 and C2) can show a slightly smoother appearance than in larger ones; a striated structure with transverse struts (pattern B) was not observed in some bones, and fibrous/porous texture (pattern C) in the midshaft have less penetrating pits than in larger ones. Elements within a single individual show similar sorts of surface textures, but certain elements tend to have smoother or rougher surface textures than other elements (see below). Within a single element, surface texture is relatively uniform transversely, and is much more variable longitudinally. Generally, loose, striated texture and rough surface (patterns A and B) appear near proximal and distal epiphyses (especially when the epiphysis is not ossified), then they are replaced by less rough fibrous texture diaphysially (typically patterns C and D), and the density of grooves and dimples are least in midshaft region (Fig. 9). Specific characteristics of each element are described below.

Humerus (Figs 9A, 10A) - Humeri show the typical ontogenetic variation described above. In most chicks, C1–C12, surface texture can be classified into either patterns A, B or C, whereas in the largest chick observed, C13, surface texture shows few penetrating pits through most of the shaft, thus classified as pattern D. Longitudinal grooves, rather than dimples, are common in the midshaft region. The proximal shaft, especially caudal surface of Crista deltopectoralis, shows rougher surface texture compared to other part. Numerous distinct penetrating pits can be observed in the area proximal to Fossa m. brachialis (Fig. 9A; bottom row). In juveniles, surface texture is overall smooth, but with faint grooves (pattern D). In adults, surface texture is smooth with few grooves or dimples (pattern E).

Ulna (Figs 9B, 10B) — Overall pattern of ontogenetic variation of surface texture in ulnae is similar to that described in the humerus. The area occupied by striated structure (patterns A and B) is relatively long in the distal end. In both ends, the area of pattern A extends further toward diaphysis in convex caudal margin, whereas it is immediately replaced by pattern B in concave cranial margin. In C13 and J14, the areas next to both ends show slightly fibrous texture with penetrating pits (pattern C). In J15, the shaft is almost entirely without penetrating pits (pattern

D), and in adults it is overall smooth (pattern E).

Carpometacarpus (Figs 9C, 10C) — Carpometacarpi show little deviation from the typical ontogenetic variation described above. Both Ossa metacarpi majus et minus show similar sort of patterns. In the midshaft region in chicks, dimples are more common than longitudinal grooves.

Femur (Figs 9D, 10D) — Femora show somewhat smoother surface textures when compared to other bones of the same individual. In chicks, patterns A and B are restricted to small areas near epiphyses. In C10 and C11, surface texture with few penetrating pits (pattern D) can be observed, contrasting to other elements in the individuals. In the midshaft region, few longitudinal grooves appear and dimples dominate. In C13, J14 and J15, all of the shaft is occupied by a texture with numerous faint dimples and little penetrating pits (pattern D). In adults, the shaft is entirely smooth (pattern E).

Tibiotarsus (Figs 9E, 10E) — Tibiotarsi show pronounced intra-elemental variation of surface textures. In chicks, striated structures (patterns A and B) occupy most of the surface on the flared proximal shaft, giving larger proportions within the bone than most other bones. Rough surface textures (patterns B and C) persist in the proximal region until juvenile stage (J14 and J15), unlike most other bones. The distal shaft is relatively smoother, and there is a distinct area with few penetrating pits (pattern D) in the region in C12. In rough surfaces of the proximal to midshaft regions, longitudinal grooves are more common than dimples, whereas in the distal region dimples are more common. The entire shaft is occupied by smooth surface texture (pattern E) in adults.

Tarsometatarsus (Figs 9F, 10F) — Tarsometatarsi show considerable intra-elemental variation, even in juvenile and adult stages. In chicks, the flared proximal shaft is occupied by striated structures (patterns A and B), as in the tibiotarsus. The striated structure with transverse struts (pattern B) also appears in the proximal shaft in juveniles. Even in C13, J14 and J15, where the shaft of most other elements have surface texture with few penetrating pits (pattern D), the pattern appears only in the distalmost shaft. In adults, smooth surface texture (pattern E) appears only in the distalmost shaft, and large proportion



- 297 -

FIGURE 10. Longitudinal distributions of surface textural patterns in six long bones through ontogeny. A) humerus, B) ulna, C), carpometacarpus (Os metacarpale majus), D) femur, E) tibiotarsus and F) tarsometatarsus. For each bone in selected individuals (same ones as in Figs 2–6), longitudinal distributions of patterns A to E, as well as epiphysial cartilages, ossification centers (O.C.) and articular surfaces (A.S.), are shown with distal end at bottom. Vertical axes in millimeter (mm). See Materials and Methods for the definition and measurement of longitudinal distribution of patterns.

is occupied by textures with faint longitudinal grooves (patterns C and D). Longitudinal grooves are common in rough surface in chicks and juveniles. In adults, they are relatively rare and short in length.

Discussion

Ontogeny of long bones. In the study series of the Gray Heron (*Ardea cinerea*), macroscopic morphology and surface textures of all six long bones show ontogenetic variation. Long

bones show various degrees of change in linear dimensions (Figs 2–6, Tab. 2). In general, they increase gradually through the chick stage and reach adult size range as early as the time of fledging (except for tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus, where length of each bone of the largest chick are slightly smaller than that in older individuals), although some dimensions of shaft thickness of leg bones reach their peak before this time and then decrease (see below for further discussion). Epiphysial areas of long bones are cartilaginous and can contain a distinct ossification center through most of the chick stage. Most of epiphyses are ossified at or slightly before the time of fledging (C13; with the exceptions of the proximal ends of tibiotarsi and tarsometatarsi, where complete fusions occur between C13 and J14), but they show slightly more porous surface than adults until the juvenile stage. Epiphysial areas are completely ossified in adult stage (Figs 2–8). Most osteological landmarks and muscular/ligamental attachment scars are not observable as ossified structures through most of the chick stage. At fledging they are more or less observable on the ossified area, but margins are less distinct than in the later stages. In the juvenile stage, they are mostly similar to those in the adult stage, although there are distinct ontogenetic changes between the two stages in some features including Foramen pneumatica of humerus and Crista cnemialis cranialis of tibiotarsus (Figs 2–8). Distinctly large Foramina nutrientia on bone walls in chicks

TABLE 3. Summary of proportions of longitudinal distributions of five textural patterns in six long bones through ontogeny. Proportions of longitudinal distributions of patterns A to E are expressed in percent (%) to the ossified length of the bone. For each combination of long bones and developmental stages, minimum and maximum values among individuals (C, chick; J, juvenile; A, adult) are shown. N = 13 for chicks (12 for femur), 2 for juveniles and 2 for adults. See Materials and Methods for the definition and measurement of longitudinal distribution of patterns.

Humerus						
	А	В	С	D	Е	
С	0.0-32.5	0.0-31.6	16.8-67.5	0.0-83.2	0.0	
J	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	
А	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	
Ulna						
	А	В	С	D	Е	
С	0.0-19.1	0.0-29.9	12.2-81.1	0.0-87.8	0.0	
J	0.0	0.0	0.0-12.3	87.7-100.0	0.0	
А	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	
Carpometacar	pus					
	А	В	С	D	Е	
С	0.0-17.6	0.0-13.0	0.0-89.4	0.0-100.0	0.0	
J	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	
А	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	
Femur						
	А	В	С	D	Е	
С	0.0-20.4	0.0-19.6	0.0-75.7	0.0-100.0	0.0	
J	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	
А	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	
Tibiotarsus						
	А	В	С	D	Е	
С	1.6-22.1	19.1-43.9	23.2-57.9	0.0-55.8	0.0	
J	0.0	6.2-8.6	13.2-15.2	78.2-78.6	0.0	
А	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	
Tarsometatarsus						
	А	В	С	D	Е	
С	2.6-17.4	27.3-54.5	33.9-64.1	0.0-6.0	0.0	
J	0.0	26.1-32.4	53.7-63.2	4.4-20.2	0.0	
А	0.0	0.0	32.6-36.8	47.1-48.1	16.1–19.3	

(Fig. 7B) could be correlated to active blood flow and bone metabolism (see SEYMOUR et al. (2012) and references therein). The occasional presence of Foramen nutriens covered by thin bone wall indicate that they can be opened or closed during ontogeny. Surface textures of long bones also show considerable ontogenetic change. Through most of the chick stage, fibrous/porous surface texture with frequent penetrating pits (pattern C) dominates in the midshaft region, whereas striated structures (patterns A and B) dominate near both epiphyses of long bones (with some exceptions). In larger chicks, smoother surface texture with faint grooves/dimples and few penetrating pits (pattern D) appears in the midshaft region of femur and the distal shaft of tibiotarsus. At the time of fledging, rough surface textures (patterns A and B) are mostly replaced by smoother one (pattern D) with occasional remains of rougher textures on epiphysial areas (particularly in the proximal regions of tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus). This state persists through the juvenile stage. In the adult stage, smooth surface texture with few grooves/dimples (pattern E) dominates on all long bones except for tarsometatarsus, where rougher surface (patterns C and D) occupies considerable portion of overall area (Figs 9 and 10). Proportions of longitudinal distribution of surface texture patterns, expressed as a percentage to ossified length of a bone, in each developmental stage are summarized in Tab. 3.

The presence of inter-elemental variation of surface textures among six long bones results in differences in relative timing of the appearance of smooth surface textures. Of the six elements examined, the femur is the first element to attain pattern D (in C10), the tibiotarsus is the second (in C12; although limited to the distal shaft), and all others follow (in C13). Rough surface textures (patterns A-C) disappear earliest in the carpometacarpus and femur (at latest in C13), followed by the humerus (in J14), ulna (in J15), and tibiotarsus (in A16), and persist through all of the series in tarsometatarsus. One possible reason for the tarsometatarsus to retain relatively rough surface texture (patterns C and D) in the adult stage is that it is firmly attached to podotheca (BAUMEL & WITMER 1993). It is notable that the proximal ends of tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus, where complete ossification of epiphysis occurs later than in the other bones, retain rougher surface until later period of development. This fact, along with longitudinal distribution of surface textures in long bones, suggests that striated structures (patterns A and B) might be partly relevant to active longitudinal growth of long bones, as well as bone remodeling process. The possible biological significance of this inter-elemental variation is further discussed below.

The combination of observations on surface textures and histology of long bones in the Canada Goose (Branta canadensis) have revealed that rough surface textures on long bones are underlain by actively growing fibrolamellar bone tissue, characterizing immature long bones (TUMAR-KIN-DERATZIAN et al. 2006). Their discussion is based primarily on estimated relative developmental stages of the samples, which are based mainly on possession of osteological landmarks, with several other supportive evidences (length of the bones, and date of death of individuals). The current study, based on originally prepared specimens of the Gray Heron (Ardea cinerea), confirms that lack of osteological landmarks and rough surface textures do occur in the immature chick stage. It is remarkable that most individual surface textures observed in Ardea in the current study (Figs 1 and 9), such as a rough striated texture with frequent transverse struts (pattern B), a fibrous/porous texture with frequent longitudinal grooves/dimples (pattern C), and a smooth texture with few longitudinal grooves/dimples (pattern E), are almost qualitatively identical to those observed in Branta in TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN et al. (2006: figs 5-7).

In addition, the overall pattern of transition of surface texture from striated, fibrous texture into smooth surface observed in *Ardea cinerea* is similar to that reported by TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN *et al.* (2006) in *Branta canadensis*. They defined seven texture types, type I to VII in the order of decreasing degree of roughness, to describe the overall composition of surface textures of a long bone, which are considered to represent relative developmental stages within each element. According to their definition of texture types (TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN *et al.* 2006: pp. 143–148 and tab. 6), long bones of the study series of *Ardea cinerea* in the current study can be classified as in Tab. 4. Although some of the seven texture types could not be recognized in the study series of *Ardea cinerea*, the table shows that the ontogenetic sequence of surface texture types observed in *Ardea* is consistent with that identified in *Branta*, confirming the previous authors' hypothesis that "ontogenetic patterns of bone texture change in other species may be similar to those observed in *B. canadensis*" (p. 159). This similarity confirms the reliability of surface textures as a ageing criterion for bird fossils.

According to TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN et al. (2006), bones of birds that have not yet reached the adult size range show texture type I; birds that have reached adult size ranges but are not yet fully skeletally mature show texture types II-V; and birds attained both adult size and skeletal maturity show texture types VI and VII. This statement appears roughly true also in Ardea cinerea, where all bones of chicks that have not yet reached the adult size range (C1-C12) show texture type I, and most bones of birds that attained adult size range (C13–J15) show texture types III and IV. However, it should be noted that rough striated surface textures, whose presence define texture type I, can be observed in the proximal shaft of tibiotarsi and tarsometatarsi of those that have reached adult size range (C13-J15). This fact does not significantly diminish the reliability of surface textures as a criterion for ontogenetic ageing because the overall pattern of transition is quite consistent for each bone. But the presence of such inter- and intra-elemental variation should be taken in mind when dealing with isolated/fragmental fossil bones. TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN et al. (2006) also concluded, from the distribution of textural maturity against date of death, that adult surface with grossly smooth texture (texture types VI and VII) is attained in the winter of the hatching year in that species. Unfortunately, as the two juveniles available to this study were both collected in the first summer (June and August; Tab. 1), exact timing of attaining smooth surface in Ardea could not be determined in this study.

Inter-elemental variation. One interesting difference between ontogenies of surface textures of long bones in *Ardea cinerea* (this study) and *Branta canadensis* (TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN *et al.* 2006) is found in inter-elemental difference of relative timing of attaining mature surface textures. TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN *et al.* (2006) examined sur-

TABLE 4. Texture types (TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN et al. 2006) applied to the long bones of Ardea cinerea. Each lo	ng
bone is classified into one of the seven texture types (types I to VII) according to the definition and descript	ion
given by Tumarkin-Deratzian <i>et al.</i> (2006).	

	Humerus	Ulna	Carpometa- carpus	Femur	Tibiotarsus	Tarsometa- tarsus
C1	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C2	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C3	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C4	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C5	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C6	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C7	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C8	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
С9	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C10	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C11	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι
C12	Ι	Ι	Ι	—	Ι	Ι
C13	III	III	IV	IV	Ι	Ι
J14	IV	III	IV	IV	Ι	Ι
J15	IV	IV	IV	IV	Ι	Ι
A16	VII	VII	VII	VII	VII	V
A17	VII	VII	VII	VII	VII	V

face textures of three long bones, humerus, femur and tibiotarsus, in *B. canadensis*, and pointed out the tendency of the humerus to retain immature rough surface textures longer than the other two bones in that species. In contrast, in *A. cinerea*, the tibiotarsus retains immature rough surface longer than humerus and femur (Figs 9 and 10, Tab. 4).

Assuming that attaining smooth surface texture corresponds to cessation of active bone growth, relative timing of attaining smooth surface texture can be regarded as relative timing of maturity among long bones. So it is likely that the relative timing of attaining smooth surface textures among long bones reflects some biological aspects of avian ontogeny, such as resource allocation among limb sections and allometric/ heterochronic change in limb growth. There are two possible explanations for interspecific difference of the relative timing of attaining smooth surface textures between Ardea cinerea and Branta canadensis. First, the difference may reflect different locomotor requirements in early ontogeny between the two species. In the Family Anatidae, including Branta, chicks generally hatch in precocial condition, and have to walk and swim to follow the parents and to feed for themselves immediately after hatching (STARCK & RICKLEFS 1998; BOWLER 2005). In order to achieve sufficient locomotor ability early in ontogeny, anatid chicks mature their hindlimbs much earlier than forelimbs and pectoral girdle (HOHTOLA & VISSER 1998; DIAL & CARRIER 2012). In contrast, in the Family Ardeidae, including Ardea, chicks hatch in (semi-)altricial condition, in which they stay in the nest for a certain period (about six weeks in Ardea cinerea, when chicks can clamber away from nests to the forest canopy of the colony; YAMASHINA 1941) and are fed by their parents until fledging (at about seven to eight weeks old in Ardea cinerea, and 2-3 to 12-13 weeks among Ardeidae (YAMASHINA 1941, Starck & Ricklefs 1998; Kushlan & HANCOCK 2005). In this condition, hindlimbs would be released from drastic development in early ontogeny, allowing bone growth to continue until late ontogeny. Second, the difference could be related to the different proportion of limb sections between the two species, such as the extremely long distal leg in Ardea. If there exist any constraints on longitudinal growth rates in long bones (see CARRIER & AURIEMMA 1992), extremely long leg bones in *Ardea* would need a longer time period to reach adult size. Of course, these two explanations are not mutually exclusive, and it is fairly possible that the difference results from both factors. Comparative studies with more sample taxa, including longlegged precocial species (*e.g.*, gruids, ratites, etc.), would be fruitful.

Ossification centers. The presence of epiphysial ossification centers in long bones of birds has not been widely accepted (see BAUMEL & WIT-MER 1993: Annotation 2; but see also STARCK 1994: footnote in p. 121). In spite of repeated mentions to "epiphysis" by earlier authors (LATIMER 1927; HUGGINS et al. 1942), HAINES (1942) and Bellaris & Jenkin (1960) considered them as misidentifications. One exception is an ossification center in the proximal end of tibiotarsus. Hogg (1980) reported and figured a distinct ossification center at the cranial margin of the proximal end of tibiotarsus in the domestic fowl under the name of "proximal tibial centre" (pp. 735, 741, figs 11, 12, 14, 15) (but curiously his later study (Hogg 1982) did not mention it). HALL (2005) recognized its presence in the domestic fowl as a secondary ossification center, and considered it to be relevant to the rapid growth rate of tibiotarsus. Through a radiological study on a kiwi (Apteryx australis mantelli), BEALE (1985, 1991) showed the presence of an ossification center at the equivalent position, and called it "patella" (BEALE 1985: p. 190-191, fig. 5). TURVEY & HOLDAWAY (2005), studying ontogeny of the extinct Giant Moa (Dinornis), also figured and described this structure as "patella" (p. 73, fig. 3). A distinct ossification center in Grus grus from an archaeological site was figured by SERJEANTSON (1998). Recently, through their examination of osteological characters, LIVEZEY & ZUSI (2006) concluded that the ossification center at that position is not a patella but a distinct "tibial epiphysis" (p. 322).

The study series of *Ardea cinerea* clearly demonstrated the presence of a distinct epiphysial ossification center in the proximal tibiotarsus and supports LIVEZEY & ZUSI'S (2006) view, because the ossification center in this species first appears

at the middle part of the articular surface, rather than at the cranial margin where the patellar tendon inserts (Fig. 8B). This ossification center then extends craniolaterad, and later caudad to form the entire Extremitas proximalis tibiotarsi. It apparently starts fusing with the diaphysis of tibia around fledging, and the suture disappears in the early juvenile stage. The study series also showed the presence of distinct epiphysial ossification centers in the proximal and distal ends of femur. To date, there appears to be no definite descriptions of them in the literature. The one in the proximal end of femur appears in the middle chick stage (C10) in the proximal margin of cartilaginous Trochanter femoris (Fig. 7C). The one in the distal end of femur appears earlier (in C4) at the caudal margin of the distal condyles, and then extends to form entire Extremitas distalis femoris (Fig. 7D). Unfortunately, the process of fusion of these ossification centers could not be observed. Both proximal and distal ends of femur are ossified at the time of fledging with little trace of sutures. It is not clear whether these ossification centers are induced in response to mechanical loadings (CARTER et al. 1998) or not. Further studies are required to clarify phylogenetic distribution and histological nature of epiphysial ossification centers in birds.

Bone growth. Long bones grow both longitudinally and circumferentially. Longitudinal growth occurs through endochondral ossification in epiphyses, or in epiphysial growth plates (WOLBACH & HEGSTED 1952; STARCK 1996), whereas circumferential growth occurs through membranous ossification, or direct deposition of new bone tissue on existing bone surface in periosteum (Bellaris & JENKIN 1960). In the ontogenetic series of Ardea cinerea observed in this study, most long bones of the largest chick studied, C13, have equivalent length to those in small adults studied (Figs 2-6, Tab. 2), suggesting that long bones reach adult size range in length during chick stage (except for tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus). At the same time, both ends of long bones are ossified to retain no trace of epiphysial growth plates (except for the proximal ends of tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus, where fusion of epiphysial ossification center and Os distale tarsi, respectively, with each diaphysis is completed slightly later). These two facts suggest that longitudinal growth of long bones in this species ceases at (or slightly after) the end of the chick stage, or the time birds become capable of flight and leave birth colonies.

In contrast, circumferential growth of long bones does not appear to cease at this time in Ardea cinerea. Almost all dimensions of shaft diameters in long bones are larger in all adults and juveniles than in largest chicks (except for shaft depth at the midpoint in femur; Tab. 2). Although the sample size is too small for statistical tests, it would be reasonable to suppose that circumferential growth of long bones continues for a certain period after cessation of longitudinal growth in this species. Rough surface textures in chicks and juveniles, indicating active bone growth (TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN et al. 2006), support this hypothesis. Also, in the House Sparrow (Passer domesticus), it has been reported that most long bones of adults are significantly thicker, but not longer, than those of first year birds in females (though not in males; BJORDAL 1987).

Interestingly, the proximal shafts of tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus are considerably thicker in chicks than in juveniles and adults (Figs 5, 6, 8B, 8D, Tab. 2). These regions are characterized by extremely rough surface textures (Figs 9 and 10), suggesting active bone remodeling in these regions (see above). This fact strongly suggests that intensive resorption of bone tissue is taking place in the cortex of these leg bones in the ontogeny of Ardea cinerea. Although the exact significance of this resorption is not clear, one possible explanation is that the thick bone shaft in leg bones of Ardea chicks compensates for less dense, weak immature bone tissue, providing the leg bones with sufficient strength to sustain growing body weight. CARRIER & LEON (1990) observed thick bone walls in leg bones of the California Gull (Larus californicus) chicks, and concluded thick bone walls might compensate for weak bone tissue in rapidly growing animals. Similar compensation might take place in the leg bones of Ardea chicks.

Ontogenetic ageing in bird fossils. Recent birds, in general, are considered to undergo rapid growth in early ontogeny and attain skeletal maturity within a year (*e.g.*, PADIAN *et al.* 2001).

As far as for surface textures of long bones, available data on skeletal ontogeny in Branta canadensis (TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN et al. 2006) and Ardea cinerea (this study) are consistent with the idea. However, there are some exceptions. In kiwi (Apteryx), epiphyses of leg bones may retain unfused independent ossification centers for more than four years (BEALE 1985, 1991), and histological studies revealed that they undergo cyclical interrupted growth for five to six years (BOURDON et al. 2009). Similar growth pattern have been suggested for extinct moas (TURVEY et al. 2005; TURVEY & HOLDAWAY 2005). It should also be noted that some basal birds are likely to have had distinct growth strategies than modern birds, in which cortical bone deposition is frequently interrupted (CHINSAMY-TURAN 2005).

Through the study of both surface textures and histology of long bones in the American Alligator (Alligator mississippiensis), TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN et al. (2007) showed that an apparently smooth surface texture can occur on the long bones of immature individuals in animals with cyclical interrupted growth, and cautioned that textural ageing on fossil animals with unknown growth strategies would be problematic. At this time, textural ageing on fossil birds with unknown or interrupted growth strategies should be similarly problematic, as there are no detailed data on ontogenetic change of surface texture in birds with interrupted growth or longer growth periods. Clearly more studies are needed to establish reliable ageing criteria for bird fossils.

Conclusion

Postnatal ontogenetic changes of macroscopic morphology and surface texture in major long bones of the Gray Heron (*Ardea cinerea*) were described and illustrated. Both macroscopic morphology and surface texture of each element showed relatively consistent shifts through ontogeny, and thus these changes would be useful in ontogenetic ageing of fossil bird materials. Long bones of chicks are typically characterized by indistinct muscular/ligamental attachments and cartilaginous epiphyses. Those of adults are characterized by distinct muscular/ligamental attachments and completely ossified epiphyses. Those of juveniles (here, birds under one-yearold) can be distinguished from adults by some qualitative characters, including articular surfaces with more porous margins, large nutrient foramina, Foramen pneumatica of humerus extending distally to form a fossa, less distinct distal Papillae remigales of ulna, less developed Crista cnemialis cranialis of tibiotarsus, and much larger Foramina vascularia proximalia of tarsometatarsus. Long bones of chicks typically have a striated surface texture near both epiphyses and rough fibuous/porous surface textures with distinct longitudinal grooves and/or dimples and penetrating pits in the midshaft. Those of juveniles are dominated by an overall smooth surface texture with faint longitudinal grooves and/or dimples and few penetrating pits; surface textures with frequent penetrating pits can remain near either or both epiphyses. Adult long bones are characterized by an overall smooth surface texture with few longitudinal grooves and dimples, except for tarsometatarsus.

However, there can be considerable variation of surface textures among elements even within a single individual. For instance, a rough striated structure can be observed on the proximal regions of tibiotarsus and tarsometatarsus in juveniles of *Ardea cinerea*, whereas their distal regions and most other elements show only faint grooves or dimples. The presence of such variation suggests that assessment of ontogenetic age of an individual based on a single isolated fossil bone should be made with caution.

Preliminary comparisons suggest the presence of taxon-specific inter-elemental variation of surface textures. Provided that this variation represents differential sequence of the relative timing of maturity among long bones, the nature of the variation could be correlated to differences in limb proportions and/or ontogenetic strategies among various avian taxa. Comparative work among birds with various body sizes, limb proportions, life histories and phylogenetic positions is needed to evaluate the significance of the variation, as well as to establish reliable ageing criteria for bird fossils.

Acknowledgements

This study is largely based on graduate work by JW under the guidance of HM at the Department of Geology and Mineralogy, Kyoto University. Completion of the work is largely thanks to generous assistance and valuable discussions by the members of the department. Attendance at the 8th International Meeting of the Society of Avian Paleontology and Evolution by JW was supported by an "Accommodation Grant" by the organizing committee of the meeting. Sincere gratitude is expressed to U. Göhlich (Naturhistorisches Museum Wien) for kind editorial support, and A. TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN (Temple University, Philadelphia) and K. CAMPBELL (Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County) for constructive comments on the manuscript that greatly improved the manuscript.

References

- BAUMEL, J.J. & WITMER, L.M. (1993): Osteologia. In: BAUMEL, J.J., KING, A.S., BREAZILE, J.E., EVANS, H.E. & VANDEN BERGE, J.C. (eds.): Handbook of Avian Anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium. Second Edition. – Nuttall Ornithological Club Publications, 23: 45–132.
- BEALE, G. (1985): A radiological study of the kiwi (*Apteryx australis mantelli*). Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand, **15**/2: 187–200.
- BEALE, G. (1991): The maturation of the skeleton of a kiwi (*Apteryx australis mantelli*) – a ten year radiological study. – *Journal of the Royal Society* of New Zealand, **21**/2: 219–220.
- BELLARIS, A. D'A. & JENKIN, C.R. (1960): The skeleton of birds. – In: MARSHALL, A.J. (ed.): Biology and Comparative Physiology of Birds, volume 1. – pp. 241–300, New York (Academic Press).
- BJORDAL, H. (1987): Metrical and mechanical properties of some skeletal bones from the House Sparrow, *Passer domesticus*, a contribution to the understanding of zooarchaeological problems. – *Ossa*, 13/3: 49–59.
- BOEV, Z.N. (1987): [Morphometric features of the sexual dimorphism and individual variability of herons (Aves, Ardeidae) from Bulgaria II. Osteometric features.] – *Acta Zoologica Bulgarica*, 34: 53–67. [in Bulgarian with Russian and English summaries]
- BOURDON, E., CASTANET, J., DE RICQLÈS, A., SCOFIELD, P., TENNYSON, A., LAMROUS, H. & CUBO, J. (2009): Bone growth marks reveal protracted growth in

New Zealand kiwi (Aves, Apterygidae). – *Biology Letters*, **5**/5: 639–642.

- BOWLER, J. (2005): Breeding strategies and biology. In: KEAR, J. (ed.): Ducks, Geese and Swans. Bird Families of the World, 16. – pp. 68–111, Oxford (Oxford University Press).
- CALLISON, G. & QUIMBY, H.M. (1984): Tiny dinosaurs: are they fully grown? – *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, **3**/4: 200–209.
- CANE, W.P. (1993): The ontogeny of the postcranial integration in the common tern, *Sterna hirundo. Evolution*, **47**/4: 1138–1151.
- CARRIER, D.R. & AURIEMMA, J. (1992): A developmental constraint on the fledging time of birds. – *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **47**/1: 61–77.
- CARRIER, D. & LEON, L.R. (1990): Skeletal growth and function in the California gull (*Larus californicus*). – *Journal of Zoology, London*, **222**/3: 375–389.
- CARTER, D.R., MIKIĆ, B. & PADIAN, K. (1998): Epigenetic mechanical factors in the evolution of long bone epiphyses. – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **123**/2: 163–178.
- CHINSAMY-TURAN, A. (2005): The Microstructure of Dinosaur Bone: Deciphering Biology with Fine-Scale Techniques. – xii+195 pp. Baltimore (Johns Hopkins University Press).
- CLARK, A.H. (1907): Eighteen new species and one new genus of birds from eastern Asia and the Aletian Islands. – *Proceedings of the United States National Museum*, **32**/1539: 477–475.
- DIAL, T.R. & CARRIER, D.R. (2012): Precocial hindlimbs and altricial forelimbs: partitioning ontogenetic strategies in Mallard duck (*Anas platyrhynchos*). – *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215/21: 3703–3710.
- FUJIOKA, T. (1955): [Time and order of appearance of ossification centers in the chicken skeleton.] – *Acta Anatomica Nipponica*, **30**/2: 140–150. [in Japanese with English summary]
- HAINES, R.W. (1942): The evolution of epiphyses and of endochondral bone. *Biological Reviews*, **17**/4: 267–292.
- HALL, B.K. (2005): Bones and Cartilage: Developmental and Evolutionary Skeletal Biology. – xxviii+760 pp. San Diego (Elsevier Academic Press).
- HAYWARD, J.L., HENSON, S.M., BANKS, J.C. & LYN, S.L. (2009): Mathematical modeling of appendicular bone growth in glaucous-winged gulls. – *Journal* of Morphology, 270/1: 70–82.
- Hogg, D.A. (1980): A re-investigation of the centres of ossification in the avian skeleton at and after hatching. – *Journal of Anatomy*, **130**/4: 725–743.
- Hogg, D.A. (1982): Fusions occurring in the postcranial skeleton of the domestic fowl. – *Journal of Anatomy*, **135**/3: 501–512.

- HOHTOLA, E. & VISSER, G.H. (1998): Development of locomotion and endothermy in altricial and precocial birds. – In: STARCK, J.M. & RICKLEFS, R.E. (eds.): Avian Growth and Development: Evolution within the Altricial-Precocial Spectrum. Oxford Ornithology Series, 8. – pp. 157–173, Oxford (Oxford University Press).
- HOWARD, H. (1929): The avifauna of Emeryville Shellmound. – University of California Publications in Zoology, 32/2: 301–394.
- HUGGINS, R.A., HUGGINS, S.E., HELLWIG, I.H. & DEUTSCHLANDER, G. (1942): Ossification in the nestling House Wren. – Auk, 59/4: 532–543.
- KLÍMA, M. (1965): Evaluation of the so-called skeleton sum method, employed in investigations on growth allometry in birds. – *Zeitschrift für Morphologie der Tiere*, 55/3: 250–258.
- KUSHLAN, J.A. & HANCOCK, J.A. (2005): Herons. Bird Families of the World, 14. – xv+433 pp. Oxford (Oxford University Press).
- LATIMER, H.B. (1927): Postnatal growth of the chicken skeleton. *American Journal of Anatomy*, **40**/1: 1–57.
- LINNAEUS, C. (1758): Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus differentiis, synonymis, locis, I, 824pp. Stockholm (Laurentii Salvii).
- LIVEZEY, B.C. & ZUSI, R.J. (2006): Higher-order phylogeny of modern birds (Theropoda, Aves: Neornithes) based on comparative anatomy: I. – Methods and characters. – Bulletin of the Carnegie Museum of Natural History, 37: 1–544.
- DE MARGERIE, E., ROBIN, J.-P., VERRIER, D., CUBO, J., GROSCOLAS, R. & CASTANET, J. (2004): Assessing a relationship between bone microstructure and growth rate: a fluorescent labelling study in the king penguin chick (*Aptenodytes patagonicus*). – *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 207/5: 869–879.
- MARPLES, B.J. (1930): The proportion of birds' wings and their changes during development. *Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London*, **100**/4: 997–1008.
- MILSTEIN, P.S., PRESTT, I. & BELL, A.A. (1970): The breeding cycle of the Grey Heron. *Ardea*, **58**: 171–257.
- PADIAN, K., DE RICQLÈS, A.J. & HORNER, J.R. (2001): Dinosaurian growth rates and bird origins. – *Nature*, 412/6845: 405–408.
- PICASSO, M.B.J. (2012): Postnatal ontogeny of the locomotor skeleton of a cursorial bird: greater rhea. – *Journal of Zoology*, 286/4: 303–311.
- ROGULSKA, T. (1962): Differences in the process of ossification during the embryonic development of the chick (*Gallus domesticus* L.), rook (*Corvus frugilegus* L.) and black-headed gull (*Larus ridibundus* L.). – Zoologica Poloniae, **12**/2: 223–233.

- SANZ, J.L., CHIAPPE, L.M., PÉREZ-MORENO, B.P., MORATALLA, J.J., HERNÁNDEZ-CARRASQUILLA, F., BUSCALIONI, A.D., ORTEGA, F., POYATO-ARIZA, F.J., RASSKIN-GUTMAN, D. & MARTÍNEZ-DELCLÒS, X. (1997): A nestling bird from the Lower Cretaceous of Spain: implications for avian skull and neck evolution. – Science, 276/5318: 1543–1546.
- SERJEANTSON, D. (1998): Birds: a seasonal resource. Environmental Archaeology, 3: 23–33.
- SERJEANTSON, D. (2002): Goose husbandry in Medieval England, and the problem of ageing goose bones. – Acta Zoologica Cracoviensia, 45/special issue: 39–54.
- SEYMOUR, R.S., SMITH, S.L., WHITE, C.R., HENDERSON, D.M. & SCHWARZ-WINGS, D. (2012): Blood flow to long bones indicates activity metabolism in mammals, reptiles and dinosaurs. – *Proceedings* of the Royal Society, B: Biological Sciences, 279/1728: 451–456.
- STARCK, J.M. (1993): Evolution of avian ontogenies. In: POWER, D.M. (ed.): Current Ornithology, Volume 10. – pp. 275–366, New York (Plenum Press).
- STARCK, J.M. (1994): Quantitative design of the skeleton in bird hatchlings: does tissue compartmentalization limit posthatching growth rates? – Journal of Morphology, 222/2: 113–131.
- STARCK, J.M. (1996): Comparative morphology and cytokinetics of skeletal growth in hatchlings of altricial and precocial birds. *Zoologischer Anzeiger*, **235**: 53–75.
- STARCK, J.M. & CHINSAMY, A. (2002): Bone microstructure and developmental plasticity in birds and other dinosaurs. – *Journal of Morphology*, 254/3: 232–246.
- STARCK, J.M. & RICKLEFS, R.E. (1998): Patterns of development: the altricial-precocial spectrum. – In: STARCK, J.M. & RICKLEFS, R.E. (eds.): Avian Growth and Development: Evolution within the Altricial-Precocial Spectrum. Oxford Ornithology Series, 8. – pp. 3–30, Oxford (Oxford University Press).
- TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN, A.R., VANN, D.R. & DODSON, P. (2006): Bone surface texture as an ontogenetic indicator in long bones of the Canada goose *Branta canadensis* (Anseriformes: Anatidae). – *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 148/2: 133–168.
- TUMARKIN-DERATZIAN, A.R., VANN, D.R. & DODSON, P. (2007): Growth and textural ageing in long bones of the American alligator *Alligator mississippiensis* (Crocodylia: Alligatoridae). – *Zoological Journal* of the Linnean Society, **150**/1: 1–39.
- TURVEY, S.T., GREEN, O.R. & HOLDAWAY, R.N. (2005): Cortical growth marks reveal extended juvenile development of New Zealand moa. – *Nature*, 435/7044: 940–943.

- TURVEY, S.T. & HOLDAWAY, R.N. (2005): Postnatal ontogeny, population structure, and extinction of
- the giant moa *Dinornis*. *Journal of Morphology*, 265/1: 70–86.
 WOLBACH, S.B. & HEGSTED, D.M. (1952): Endochondral bone growth in the chick. *A.M.A. Archives of*
- Pathology, 54/1: 1–12. YAMASHINA, Y. (1941): A Natural History of Japanese Birds, volume 2. – 1080 pp. Tokyo (Iwanami Shoten). [in Japanese]

Göhlich: Cécile Mourer-Chauviré – life and works	ix
Mourer-Chauviré <i>et al.</i> : A new taxon of stem group Galliformes and the earliest record for stem group Cuculidae from the Eocene of Djebel Chambi, Tunisia	1
Mayr et al.: The tarsometatarsus of the Middle Eocene loon Colymbiculus udovichenkoi	. 17
Mayr & Smith: Galliformes, Upupiformes, Trogoniformes, and other avian remains (?Phaethontiformes and ?Threskiornithidae) from the Rupelian stratotype in Belgium, with comments on the identity of <i>"Anas" benedeni</i> Sharpe, 1899	. 23
Bochenski <i>et al.</i> : A review of avian remains from the Oligocene of the Outer Carpathians and Central Paleogene Basin	. 37
Boles <i>et al.</i> : A fossil stone-curlew (Aves: Burhinidae) from the Late Oligocene/Early Miocene of South Australia	. 43
Worthy <i>et al</i> .: Miocene fossils show that kiwi (<i>Apteryx</i> , Apterygidae) are probably not phyletic dwarves	. 63
Mourer-Chauviré <i>et al.</i> : A new roller (Aves: Coraciiformes s. s.: Coraciidae) from the early Miocene of the Saint-Gérand-le-Puy area, Allier, France	. 81
De Pietri <i>et al</i> .: A <i>Haematopus</i> -like skull and other remains of Charadrii (Aves, Charadriiformes) from the Early Miocene of Saint-Gérand-le-Puy (Allier, France)	. 93
Göhlich & Ballmann: A new barn owl (Aves: Strigiformes: Tytonidae) from the Middle Miocene of the Nördlinger Ries (Germany) with remarks on the history of the owls	103
Buffetaut: Who discovered the Phorusrhacidae? An episode in the history of avian palaeontology	123
Manegold <i>et al.</i> : The Early Pliocene avifauna of Langebaanweg (South Africa): a review and update	135
Zelenkov: New finds and revised taxa of Early Pliocene birds from Western Mongolia	153
Pavia & Bedetti: Early Pleistocene fossil birds from Cava Sud, Soave (Verona, North- Eastern Italy)	171
Campbell: Revisiting Asio priscus, the extinct eared owl of the California Channel Islands	185
Hume: A synopsis of the pre-human avifauna of the Mascarene Islands	195
Tennyson & Scofield: Holocene fossil bird remains from subantarctic Macquarie Island	239
Zinoviev: Notes on Pelvic and Hindlimb Myology and Syndesmology of <i>Emeus crassus</i> and <i>Dinornis robustus</i> (Aves: Dinornithiformes) 253	
Watanabe & Matsuoka: Ontogenetic change of morphology and surface texture of long bones in the Gray Heron (<i>Ardea cinerea</i> , Ardeidae) 279	10

Verlag Naturhistorisches Museum Wien ISBN 978-3-902421-82-1



